PERTURBATIONS IN METABOLIC CUES: IMPLICATIONS FOR ADVERSE CARDIAC FUNCTION LEADING TO SUDDEN CARDIAC DEATH

EDITED BY: Ademuyiwa S. Aromolaran and Brian P. Delisle PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Physiology







Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88971-999-0 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88971-999-0

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

PERTURBATIONS IN METABOLIC CUES: IMPLICATIONS FOR ADVERSE CARDIAC FUNCTION LEADING TO SUDDEN CARDIAC DEATH

Topic Editors:

Ademuyiwa S. Aromolaran, The University of Utah, United States Brian P. Delisle, University of Kentucky, United States

Citation: Aromolaran, A. S., Delisle, B. P., eds. (2021). Perturbations in Metabolic Cues: Implications for Adverse Cardiac Function Leading to Sudden Cardiac Death. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88971-999-0

Table of Contents

- 64 Editorial: Perturbations in Metabolic Cues: Implications for Adverse Cardiac Function Leading to Sudden Cardiac Death
 Brian P. Delisle and Ademuyiwa S. Aromolaran
- 07 Mitochondrial Dysfunction as Substrate for Arrhythmogenic Cardiomyopathy: A Search for New Disease Mechanisms Chantal J. M. van Opbergen, Lyanne den Braven, Mario Delmar and Toon A. B. van Veen
- 21 cBIN1 Score (CS) Identifies Ambulatory HFrEF Patients and Predicts Cardiovascular Events

Tara C. Hitzeman, Yu Xie, Ronit H. Zadikany, Andriana P. Nikolova, Rachel Baum, Ana-Maria Caldaruse, Sosse Agvanian, Gil Y. Melmed, Dermot P. B. McGovern, Dael R. Geft, David H. Chang, Jaime D. Moriguchi, Antoine Hage, Babak Azarbal, Lawrence S. Czer, Michelle M. Kittleson, Jignesh K. Patel, Alan H. B. Wu, Jon A. Kobashigawa, Michele Hamilton, TingTing Hong and Robin M. Shaw

- 29 Changes in Myocardial Metabolism Preceding Sudden Cardiac Death J. Snyder, R. Zhai, A. I. Lackey and P. Y. Sato
- 47 Exogenous Cardiac Bridging Integrator 1 Benefits Mouse Hearts With Pre-existing Pressure Overload-Induced Heart Failure

Jing Li, Sosse Agvanian, Kang Zhou, Robin M. Shaw and TingTing Hong

- 59 NAD⁺ Metabolism as an Emerging Therapeutic Target for Cardiovascular Diseases Associated With Sudden Cardiac Death Weiyi Xu, Le Li and Lilei Zhang
- 78 Myocardial Energy Metabolism in Non-ischemic Cardiomyopathy Amanda A. Greenwell, Keshav Gopal and John R. Ussher
- 96 Circadian Mechanisms: Cardiac Ion Channel Remodeling and Arrhythmias Joyce Bernardi, Kelly A. Aromolaran, Hua Zhu and Ademuyiwa S. Aromolaran
- **107** The ECG Characteristics of Patients With Isolated Hypomagnesemia Yiheng Yang, Cheng Chen, Penghong Duan, Suman Thapaliya, Lianjun Gao, Yingxue Dong, Xiaomeng Yin, Xiaolei Yang, Rongfeng Zhang, Ruopeng Tan, Simei Hui, Yue Wang, Richard Sutton and Yunlong Xia
- 116 Interplay Between Systemic Metabolic Cues and Autonomic Output: Connecting Cardiometabolic Function and Parasympathetic Circuits

Liliana Espinoza, Stephanie Fedorchak and Carie R. Boychuk

127 Cardiomyocyte Deletion of Bmal1 Exacerbates QT- and RR-Interval Prolongation in Scn5a^{+/AKPQ} Mice

Elizabeth A. Schroder, Jennifer L. Wayland, Kaitlyn M. Samuels, Syed F. Shah, Don E. Burgess, Tanya Seward, Claude S. Elayi, Karyn A. Esser and Brian P. Delisle

137 Thyroid Hormone Plays an Important Role in Cardiac Function: From Bench to Bedside

Hiroyuki Yamakawa, Tomoko S. Kato, Jaeduk Yoshimura Noh, Shinsuke Yuasa, Akio Kawamura, Keiichi Fukuda and Yoshiyasu Aizawa





Editorial: Perturbations in Metabolic Cues: Implications for Adverse Cardiac Function Leading to Sudden Cardiac Death

Brian P. Delisle¹ and Ademuyiwa S. Aromolaran^{2*}

¹ Department of Physiology, University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY, United States, ² Department of Surgery, Division of Cardiothoracic Surgery, Nora Eccles Harrison Cardiovascular Research and Training Institute and Molecular Medicine Program, University of Utah School of Medicine, Salt Lake City, UT, United States

Keywords: arrhythmia, sudden cardiac death, diabetes, obesity, inflammation, metabolism, cardiomyocyte

Editorial on the Research Topic

Perturbations in Metabolic Cues: Implications for Adverse Cardiac Function Leading to Sudden Cardiac Death

Sudden cardiac death (SCD) remains a leading cause of death in the United States and accounts for \sim 460,000 deaths annually (Zheng et al., 2001; Roger et al., 2012). Importantly, there is increasing evidence that metabolic syndrome, a disease process defined by a clustering of pathologies (obesity, diabetes, dyslipidemia and inflammation), is a significant contributor to the risk for SCD (Yang et al., 2015). Therefore, it is important to understand the intertwined complexity of metabolic disorders and how cardiomyocytes respond to the associated electrical and structural perturbations. In order to develop novel and effective strategies to prevent SCD in people with metabolic disorders there is a need to identify metabolic risk factors. In this Research Topic we present a series of articles from experts in various aspects of metabolic disorders and heart disease. Our hope is that the research ideas shared in these articles will create new discussions around existing gaps in knowledge and help initiate future metabolic studies in cardiac health and disease.

The Research Topic starts with a review article from van Opbergen et al. that describes an important role for pathological mitochondrial function in the development of arrhythmogenic cardiomyopathy (ACM), an electrical disease mechanism that increases the risk for SCD, particularly in young people and athletes (Corrado et al., 2017). While impaired mitochondrial function has been widely studied in the context of arrhythmogenesis, how this occurs in ACM remains unclear. The authors highlight defective mitochondrial ATP production and altered redox regulation as key mechanisms that may increase vulnerability to ACM. Thus, ACM studies that incorporate mitochondrial biology are emphasized with the expectation for novel mechanistic insights for the development of targeted therapies in people living with ACM.

A similar perspective to van Opbergen et al. is provided by Snyder et al.. In their review article, they discuss a critical role for cardiac metabolism, particularly as it relates to the electrical and structural properties that define normal cardiac sinus rhythm. Furthermore, they raise the possibility that a metabolism-based therapeutic strategy may be a promising approach in people with heart disease. The review by Xu et al. aims to emphasize the critical link between impaired cardiac metabolism and SCD. They elegantly guide the reader through the nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD⁺) pathway and how its impaired function may contribute to SCD. The authors conclude with a convincing argument in favor of NAD⁺-boosting therapies in people living with cardiovascular disease.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited and reviewed by:

Marcel van der Heyden, University Medical Center Utrecht, Netherlands

*Correspondence:

Ademuyiwa S. Aromolaran Ademuyiwa.Aromolaran@hsc.utah.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cardiac Electrophysiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 03 October 2021 Accepted: 15 October 2021 Published: 15 November 2021

Citation:

Delisle BP and Aromolaran AS (2021) Editorial: Perturbations in Metabolic Cues: Implications for Adverse Cardiac Function Leading to Sudden Cardiac Death. Front. Physiol. 12:788904. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2021.788904

4

In a continuing dialogue about ATP production, myocardial energy metabolism and cardiac contractility, the review by Greenwell et al. provides a comprehensive perspective into distinct metabolic triggers that underlie acquired or genetic cardiomyopathies. Taken together, these reviews offer an intriguing prospect of how existing, as well as emerging data, suggest that metabolic pathways are spatially and temporally intertwined at multiple levels. Therefore, future studies that consider potential outcomes due to multiple or compartmentalized pathologies are likely to be informative and shift current paradigms.

Impaired beat-to-beat Ca²⁺ dynamics predispose to fatal arrhythmias, leading to heart failure (HF) (Balke and Shorofsky, 1998; Mora et al., 2019), and two research articles on this topic provide crucial evidence for reduced expression of cardiac bridging integrator 1 (cBIN1), a membrane curvature protein that generates Ca²⁺ microdomains at the myocyte t-tubular system. First, Hitzeman et al. demonstrated a novel finding that a high cBIN1 score (or CS) is an important marker of pathologic cardiac remodeling and predicts a 1-year risk of cardiovascular events in ambulatory people who have HF with preserved ejection fraction. This conclusion is also supported by the findings of Li et al.. They revealed that, in a mouse model of preexisting HF, exogenous cBIN1 limited HF progression, improved cardiac function, and increased survival by normalizing ttubule Ca handling microdomains. These findings are clinically relevant and further underscore the importance of CS testing with the ability to detect smaller changes in t-tubule cBIN1 levels in pre-HF, especially those cases that are associated with metabolic disorder.

Two articles in this Research Topic focused on circadian mechanisms, arrhythmias, and risk for SCD. Bernardi et al. explores how the circadian-dependent modulation of metabolic and environmental cues, lead to altered hormonal and autonomic signaling and contribute to arrhythmias. Schroder et al. investigated how the disruption of the cardiac circadian clock by inducing the deletion of *Bmal1*, the core circadian clock transcription factor, impacts cardiac function in a knock-in mouse ($Scn5a^{+/\Delta KPQ}$) model of long QT syndrome type 3 (LQT3). The authors demonstrated that inducing the deletion of *Bmal1* in cardiomyocytes decreased the expression of several different cardiac ion channel mRNA transcripts and increased the QT interval at slow heart rates in wild-type and $Scn5a^{+/\Delta KPQ}$ mice.

The relationship between the metabolic syndrome and acquired arrhythmias was also studied by Yang et al. who investigated the effects of low magnesium (or hypomagnesemia) on electrocardiographic (ECG) parameters. Hypomagnesemia is

REFERENCES

- Balke, C. W., and Shorofsky, S. R. (1998). Alterations in calcium handling in cardiac hypertrophy and heart failure. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 37, 290–299. doi: 10.1016/S0008-6363(97)00272-1
- Corrado, D., Basso, C., and Judge, D. P. (2017). Arrhythmogenic cardiomyopathy. Circul. Res. 121, 784–802. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.117.309345

acquired in people with metabolic disorders (Guerrero-Romero and Rodríguez-Morán, 2002), and here Yang et al. shows that people with hypomagnesemia displayed significant ECG changes, including an increase in the heart rate corrected QT interval and P wave duration, consistent with both impaired atrial and ventricular repolarization. Overall, these findings highlight how individual metabolic mechanisms may independently modify cardiac function.

The article by Espinoza et al. highlights the interplay between cardiometabolic function, parasympathetic (or vagal) motor output and the effects on cardiac function. Specifically, the authors focus their discussion on how vagal motor output may modulate metabolic cues and affect cardiac function. The authors state that vagal brainstem circuits provide a unique integrative mechanism that regulates and responds to metabolic cues to impact cardiac function.

Impaired thyroid function and the metabolic syndrome are interlinked endocrine disorders with significant morbidity and mortality in people worldwide. Additionally, thyroid hormone (TH) plays an important role in modulating cardiac electrophysiological properties. The article by Yamakawa et al. discusses the current knowledge on TH action on the cardiovascular system, relevant clinical and hemodynamic laboratory findings, and the therapeutic management for people with hyper- or hypo-thyroid heart disease. They also discuss cardiovascular medications that can disrupt normal thyroid function, including amiodarone-induced thyroid toxicity.

Overall, this Research Topic continues the discussion for how perturbations in several distinct metabolic mechanisms can have significant implications for cardiac function. Specifically, the articles published in this topic highlight how normal and impaired metabolic cues can impact electrical, structural, neural, and hormonal modulation of cardiac function. Expanding research that explores how metabolic disorders impact and contribute to heart disease will advance the field in ways that improve therapeutic options, better the quality of life for people living with heart disease and reduce the risk for SCD.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

BD and ASA contributed significantly to this work, finalized, and approved it for publication. Both authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the NIH (R01 HL147044 to ASA; R01HL153042 and R01HL141343 to BD).

- Guerrero-Romero, F., and Rodríguez-Morán, M. (2002). Low serum magnesium levels and metabolic syndrome. *Acta Diabetol.* 39, 209–213. doi: 10.1007/s005920200036
- Mora, M. T., Gomez, J. F., Morley, G., Ferrero, J. M., and Trenor, B. (2019). Mechanistic investigation of Ca2+ alternans in human heart failure and its modulation by fibroblasts. *PLoS ONE* 14:e0217993. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0217993

- Roger, V. L., Go, A. S., Lloyd-Jones, D. M., Benjamin, E. J., Berry, J. D., Borden, W. B., et al. (2012). Heart disease and stroke statistics–2012 update. *Circulation* 125, e2–e220. doi: 10.1161/CIR.0b013e3182456d46
- Yang, K.-C., Kyle, J. W., Makielski, J. C., and Dudley, S. C. (2015). Mechanisms of sudden cardiac death. *Circul. Res.* 116, 1937–1955. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.116.304691
- Zheng, Z.-J., Croft, J. B., Giles, W. H., and Mensah, G. A. (2001). Sudden cardiac death in the United States, 1989 to 1998. *Circulation* 104, 2158–2163. doi: 10.1161/hc4301.098254

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Delisle and Aromolaran. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Mitochondrial Dysfunction as Substrate for Arrhythmogenic Cardiomyopathy: A Search for New Disease Mechanisms

Chantal J. M. van Opbergen^{1*}, Lyanne den Braven¹, Mario Delmar² and Toon A. B. van Veen¹

¹ Department of Medical Physiology, Division of Heart & Lungs, University Medical Center Utrecht, Utrecht, Netherlands, ² Division of Cardiology, NYU School of Medicine, New York, NY, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Brian P. Delisle, University of Kentucky, United States

Reviewed by:

Alexey V. Glukhov, University of Wisconsin System, United States Matthew William Gorr, The Ohio State University, United States

*Correspondence:

Chantal J. M. van Opbergen chantal.vanopbergen@ nyulangone.org

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cardiac Electrophysiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 11 September 2019 Accepted: 25 November 2019 Published: 10 December 2019

Citation:

van Opbergen CJM, den Braven L, Delmar M and van Veen TAB (2019) Mitochondrial Dysfunction as Substrate for Arrhythmogenic Cardiomyopathy: A Search for New Disease Mechanisms. Front. Physiol. 10:1496. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2019.01496 Arrhythmogenic cardiomyopathy (ACM) is a familial heart disease, associated with ventricular arrhythmias, fibrofatty replacement of the myocardial mass and an increased risk of sudden cardiac death (SCD). Malignant ventricular arrhythmias and SCD largely occur in the pre-clinical phase of the disease, before overt structural changes occur. To prevent or interfere with ACM disease progression, more insight in mechanisms related to electrical instability are needed. Currently, numerous studies are focused on the link between cardiac arrhythmias and metabolic disease. In line with that, a potential role of mitochondrial dysfunction in ACM pathology is unclear and mitochondrial biology in the ACM heart remains understudied. In this review, we explore mitochondrial dysfunction in relation to arrhythmogenesis, and postulate a link to typical hallmarks of ACM. Mitochondrial dysfunction depletes adenosine triphosphate (ATP) production and increases levels of reactive oxygen species in the heart. Both metabolic changes affect cardiac ion channel gating, electrical conduction, intracellular calcium handling, and fibrosis formation; all well-known aspects of ACM pathophysiology. ATP-mediated structural remodeling, apoptosis, and mitochondria-related alterations have already been shown in models of PKP2 dysfunction. Yet, the limited amount of experimental evidence in ACM models makes it difficult to determine whether mitochondrial dysfunction indeed precedes and/or accompanies ACM pathogenesis. Nevertheless, current experimental ACM models can be very useful in unraveling ACM-related mitochondrial biology and in testing potential therapeutic interventions.

Keywords: arrhythmogenic cardiomyopathy, cardiac metabolism, mitochondria, ATP, oxidative stress, plakophillin-2, calcium handling, connexin 43

INTRODUCTION

Arrhythmogenic cardiomyopathy (ACM) is a familial heart disease, associated with ventricular arrhythmias and an increased risk of sudden cardiac death (SCD). SCD often occurs as the first clinical manifestation, in particular in athletes and young adults (Basso et al., 2012). The prevalence of ACM in the general population ranges from 1:2000 to 1:5000, meaning that this disease is listed among the rare cardiovascular diseases (Basso et al., 2018). Age at time of diagnosis varies

7

widely, with most patients being first diagnosed between 20 and 50 years of age (Bennett et al., 2019). ACM is characterized by progressive replacement of the myocardium with fatty and fibrous tissue, ending in impairment of the ventricular systolic function and ventricular dilatation (Corrado et al., 2017a). Cardiac remodeling in ACM patients is of right ventricular predominance, though left-ventricular or biventricular involvement has been recognized (Bennett et al., 2019). The fibrofatty substitution likely contributes to the development of ventricular arrhythmias by creating an anatomic substrate (Corrado et al., 2017b) though cellular mechanisms of initiation have been invoked. ACM is considered an inheritable disease, as approximately 60% of the patients carry a genetic mutation, though likely not all genetic mutations related to ACM have been identified yet (Moncayo-Arlandi and Brugada, 2017). ACM is commonly considered as a disease of the intercalated disc (ID), whereby mutations in Plakophilin-2 (PKP2) associate with most cases of ACM in which a genetic cause can be found. Mutations in other genes that encode desmosomal proteins [Desmocollin2 (DSC2), Desmoglein2 (DSG2), Plakoglobin (PKG), Desmoplakin (DSP)], have been linked to ACM as well (Basso et al., 2018). Desmosomes mediate cell-cell mechanical coupling of adjacent cardiomyocytes at the ID. ID proteins are not just considered "junctional" and "non-junctional" single function entities, but multitasking molecular complexes that jointly regulate electrical conduction and mechanical force (Leo-Macias et al., 2016a,b). Recent studies show that ID proteins are also involved in modulation of transcription pathways fundamental for homeostasis within cardiomyocytes. Specifically, the transcription of genes involved in the intracellular calcium (Ca²⁺) homeostasis can be modified by the expression of PKP2 (Cerrone et al., 2017; Montnach et al., 2018). Besides that, PKP2 loss provokes non-transcriptional related Ca²⁺ handling dysregulation, via ID-located Cx43 hemichannels and a change in the phosphorylation state of the Ryanodine receptor (RyR2) (Kim et al., 2019). This stands along the notion that PKP2, like many others in the cardiac myocyte, is a pleiotropic gene (Cerrone et al., 2019), and it highlights the fact that ACM is not only a desmosomal disease, but aberrant activation of intracellular signaling pathways and subsequent destabilization of the intracellular homeostasis likely provokes the structural and electrical changes in the heart. Besides desmosomal mutations, ACM can also be caused by mutations in genes directly involved in cardiac Ca²⁺ dynamics, such as the ryanodine receptor (RyR2) and phospholamban (PLN). Variants in RyR2 are classically linked to the inherited arrhythmogenic disease Catecholaminergic polymorphic ventricular tachycardia (CPVT), although RyR2 missense mutations have also been found in ACM patients (Tiso et al., 2001). Moreover, the Dutch founder mutation PLN-R14del has been associated with the development of ACM (Van Der Zwaag et al., 2013).

Sudden cardiac death in ACM patients often occurs in the subclinical phase of the disease, before structural changes are present. To prevent or interfere with ACM disease progression, more insight in the mechanisms related to electrical instability in ACM hearts is needed. At present, there is widespread interest on the link between cardiac arrhythmias and metabolic disease. A common focal point is the case of Diabetes Mellitus (DM) where a changed metabolic state and altered mitochondrial balance caused by elevated blood glucose levels, glucose fluctuation, and hypoglycemia can set the stage for cardiac arrhythmias (Grisanti, 2018). The altered energy metabolism and increased oxidative stress in DM cardiomyocytes have proven to influence intracellular Ca²⁺ handling, activate Ca²⁺/calmodulindependent protein kinase II (CaMKII), and cause mitochondriainduced cell death and fibrosis (El Hadi et al., 2019). Apoptosis and necrosis are important elements in structural remodeling of ACM hearts and mitochondria-related alterations have been shown in iPSC-derived cardiomyocytes (iPSC-CMs) from a patient with mutated PKP2 (Nishikawa et al., 1999; Caspi et al., 2013; Kim et al., 2013; Austin et al., 2019). Mitochondria are essential for providing adenosine triphosphate (ATP) to the cell and satisfying the energy demand for electrical activity and contraction (Yang et al., 2014). Mitochondria are also involved in the intracellular Ca²⁺ homeostasis of cardiomyocytes and ATP generated by the mitochondria fuels various ion pumps (Doenst et al., 2013; Kolwicz et al., 2013). Mitochondrial dysfunction can thereby affect the electrical stability of cardiomyocytes and favor arrhythmogenesis. In the specific case of ACM, this hypothesis has not been tested yet, though it is tempting to speculate that metabolic and mitochondrial dysfunction can serve as substrates for electrical and structural changes in ACM patients. Especially since previous studies have indicated differences in mitochondrial metabolism between the left ventricle (LV) and right ventricle (RV) in the heart and ACM is regarded a (right) chamber specific disease (Schlüter et al., 2018). In this review, we describe the mitochondrial (patho)physiology, the link between mitochondrial dysfunction and development of cardiac arrhythmias and explore a potential relation between mitochondrial dysfunction and typical hallmarks of ACM.

CARDIAC MITOCHONDRIAL (PATHO)PHYSIOLOGY

The mechanical force required for cardiac contraction consumes large amounts of energy, which needs to be replenished via the mitochondria. The heart is capable of utilizing all classes of energy substrates for ATP production, including carbohydrates, lipids, amino acids, and ketone bodies (Kolwicz et al., 2013). Lactate and glucose are the major sources for energy production during the fetal stage. After birth, the heart undergoes a metabolic adaptation, switching substrate oxidation from glucose to fatty acids (FA). β-oxidation of free FA and oxidative phosphorylation (OXPHOS) become the primary mechanisms for ATP production and produces approximately 70% of all ATP in the heart (Torrealba et al., 2017). In the healthy heart, ATP production via OXPHOS is in balance with the rate of ATP hydrolysis. This balance mediates a constant ATP level in the cell, even during intense exercise (Stanley et al., 2005). The importance of mitochondrial function in cardiomyocytes is highlighted by their high abundance in the cell. Mitochondria occupy roughly 33% of the cellular volume in each ventricular cardiomyocyte and generate more than 95% of ATP consumed

by the heart (Williams et al., 2015). ATP production is established via the mitochondrial membrane potential ($\Delta \Psi m = -180 \text{ mV}$). The $\Delta \Psi m$ creates a proton motive force which provides energy necessary to phosphorylate adenosine diphosphate (ADP) to ATP (Gambardella et al., 2017). This mechanism is also one of the main sources for reactive oxygen species (ROS) in the cell (Yang et al., 2014). Under physiological conditions, $\Delta \Psi m$ is tightly controlled and ATP production is in equilibrium with the energy demands of the cell. In response to pathological stimuli, such as ischemia or structural injury, alterations in $\Delta \Psi m$ diminish the cellular ATP level and increase ROS production (Gambardella et al., 2017). If ROS production exceeds the detoxifying (scavenging) capacity of the cell, it creates oxidative stress (Gambardella et al., 2017).

The two most important factors regulating the cardiac energy production are cellular concentrations of ADP and Ca^{2+} (Granatiero et al., 2017). Cytosolic Ca^{2+} levels tightly regulate enzymes of the tricarboxylic acid cycle (TCA) cycle and excitation-contraction coupling in the heart, thereby linking myocyte contraction and energy production (Granatiero et al., 2017). The heart uses about 60-70% of all generated ATP to facilitate contraction, the remaining 30-40% is used for control of various ion pumps, such as the sarco/endoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺-ATPase (SERCA2a) (Doenst et al., 2013). About 15% of the cardiac energy is consumed via SERCA-ATPase activity, which highlights the energy cost of active Ca^{2+} signaling in the heart (Granatiero et al., 2017). The cellular Ca^{2+} homeostasis is maintained by both SR and mitochondrial Ca2+ cycling (Gadicherla et al., 2017). Mitochondria are defined by two structurally and functionally different membranes, the outer membrane (OMM) and the inner membrane (IMM) which surround the intermembrane space (IMS). The mitochondrial membrane contains large amounts of invaginations enclosing the mitochondrial matrix, referred to as "cristae." Cristae junctions are tubular structures, which regulate and limit the random diffusion of molecules into the IMS. Mitochondria are linked to several other intracellular structures, especially the SR, enabling Ca^{2+} and lipid transfer between these two organelles. The mitochondrial matrix $[Ca^{2+}]$ is tightly regulated via mitochondrial Ca²⁺ influx and efflux. Ca²⁺ influx requires a balanced mitochondrial membrane potential (negative charge inside) and an electrogenic Ca²⁺ uniporter (Granatiero et al., 2017). Ca^{2+} crosses the outer mitochondrial membrane (OMM) through voltage dependent anion channels (VDAC), large channels that are permanently permeable to Ca²⁺. VDAC permits Ca²⁺ flux into the intermembrane space and the mitochondrial Ca²⁺ uniporter (MCU) allows Ca²⁺ entry from the intermembrane space into the mitochondrial matrix. The mitochondrial [Ca²⁺] plays an important role in regulation of mitochondrial ATP production (Williams et al., 2015; De Stefani et al., 2016). Ca^{2+} that enters the mitochondrial matrix can be pumped back into the intermembrane space via the mitochondrial Na^+/Ca^{2+} exchanger (mNCX) and via ubiquitous H^+/Ca^{2+} exchange. This means that the mitochondrial $[Ca^{2+}]$ is set by the dynamic balance between MCU Ca²⁺ entry and Ca²⁺ extrusion via the mNCX (Williams et al., 2015). Under physiological circumstances, the mitochondrial Ca²⁺

influx and efflux is relatively small and unlikely to affect the cytosolic Ca²⁺ concentration (Williams et al., 2015). However, a prolonged and sustained increase of the mitochondrial Ca²⁺ level opens the permeability transition pore (mPTP), collapses the membrane potential ($\Delta \Psi m$) and activates apoptotic pathways (De Stefani et al., 2016).

Under pathological conditions, the fuel metabolism of the heart shifts back from FA oxidation (FAO) to an increased reliance on glucose, like in the fetal heart (Doenst et al., 2010, 2013). In addition, the metabolic gene expression shifts back to a fetal profile and the overall oxidative metabolism and energy reserve is thus reduced (Tuomainen and Tavi, 2017). Increased glucose consumption is characterized by enhanced glucose uptake and glycolysis, without prominent adaptations in glucose oxidation. As a consequence, glucose uptake and glucose oxidation become outbalanced. In combination with decreased FAO, the mitochondrial oxidative metabolism capacity gets depleted and ultimately the cardiac energy provision shrinks (Hajri et al., 2001). Cardiac hypertrophy and heart failure also enhance ketone body oxidation and disturb amino acid metabolism, particularly the branched-chain amino acid (BCAA) catabolism (Tuomainen and Tavi, 2017). The exact metabolic consequences and functional relevance of these changes remain to be understood.

MITOCHONDRIAL-ASSOCIATED CARDIAC ARRHYTHMIAS

Cardiomyocyte excitability and electrical cell-cell coupling are critical factors for electrical activation and a synchronized contraction of the heart. Changes in ion channel composition, function, and localization increase the susceptibility toward arrhythmias (Marbán, 2002). Multiple ion channels undergo structural and functional remodeling driven by pathophysiological stimuli, such as generated by mitochondrial dysfunction (Marbán, 2002). In this chapter, we will outline the effects of mitochondrial dysfunction on parameters critical for cardiomyocyte excitability, electrical impulse propagation and contractility, likely predisposing to cardiac arrhythmias.

ATP Driven Arrhythmogenic Substrate

During mitochondrial ATP production, mitochondrial proteins, and enzymes are subjected to various post-translational modifications, such as phosphorylation and acetylation. These modifications can alter the activity of metabolic enzymes and affect downstream metabolic pathways (Parihar and Parihar, 2017). Enzymes important in FA metabolism, TCA cycle metabolism, electron transport chain (ETC) and OXPHOS can severely be dysregulated by an imbalanced ATP production (Parihar and Parihar, 2017). Dysfunction of the mitochondrial oxygen consuming capacity leads to destabilization of $\Delta \Psi m$, which causes diminished ATP production and eventually energy deficiency in the cardiomyocyte (Parihar and Parihar, 2017). The impact of mitochondria on cellular excitability is mainly mediated by energy sensing, ATP sensitive K⁺ channels on the sarcolemma (sarcKATP) (Gambardella et al., 2017). These

channels are negatively regulated via intracellular ATP levels and form a crucial link between metabolism and electrical function of the cardiomyocyte. An altered intracellular ATP/ADP ratio, as a consequence of mitochondrial dysfunction, results in opening of sarcKATP channels. This increases the K⁺ efflux and shortens the action potential duration (APD) (Gambardella et al., 2017). Shortening of the APD via sarcKATP channels reduces the time for Ca^{2+} influx via L-type Ca^{2+} channels (LTCC) during the action potential plateau phase and increases the time for Ca²⁺ extrusion via NCX (Nakaya, 2014). As a consequence, less intracellular Ca²⁺ is available and excitation-contraction coupling of cardiomyocytes is impaired (Gambardella et al., 2017). Via this mechanism, insufficient ATP levels in the cardiomyocyte diminish the contractile capacity of the cell. If a large amount of sarcKATP channels open at the same time, they hold the membrane potential very close to the K⁺ Nernst equilibrium potential and keep the cardiomyocytes in a nonexcitable state (Brown and O'Rourke, 2010). As consequence, in regions where sarcKATP channels are open due to metabolic stress, a 'sink' is created for depolarization of the myocardium. This phenomenon is called the 'metabolic sink.' It impairs electrical conduction and is suggested to be an important substrate for cardiac arrhythmias (Figure 1) (Brown and O'Rourke, 2010). Blocking sarcKATP channels with HMR1883 showed to reduce the incidence of ventricular arrhythmia in rats, rabbits, pigs, and dogs (Billman et al., 1998; Wirth et al., 1999; Fischbach et al., 2004; Vajda et al., 2007). These findings have been confirmed in clinical studies where sarcKATP channel blockers reduced the incidence of ventricular arrhythmias in

patients with decompensated heart failure and DM (Cacciapuoti et al., 1991; Aronson et al., 2003).

Oxidative Stress Related Arrhythmogenic Substrate

A different and important aspect of mitochondrial dysfunction is the production of ROS, which may result in oxidative stress (Gambardella et al., 2017). Oxidative stress is defined as the imbalance between the generation of ROS and the cellular antioxidant defense (El Hadi et al., 2019). ROS are unstable molecular structures such as superoxide $(O_2^{\bullet-})$, hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂), peroxynitrite (ONOO⁻) and hydroxyl radicals (OH). They can damage proteins and lipids within the cell, activate intracellular signaling cascades and induce cellular dysfunction or cell death (Tse et al., 2016; El Hadi et al., 2019). To protect cellular functions from ROS, cells have two defense mechanisms: enzymatic and non-enzymatic pathways. The enzymatic pathway includes superoxide dismutase, catalase, and glutathione peroxidase. Together they are responsible for breaking down superoxide into water and oxygen. The nonenzymatic pathways include a variety of redox-defense systems, for example antioxidant scavengers (Jeong et al., 2012). The arrhythmogenic effect of ROS depends on ROS-induced ROS release (RIRR). This is an autocatalytic process by which high levels of ROS induce further ROS release from mitochondria (Gambardella et al., 2017). Increased oxidative stress through ROS is associated with the abnormal function of intracellular organelles, including the SR and mitochondria (Tse et al., 2016).



Via several pathways, oxidative stress leads to repolarizationand conduction abnormalities, eventually resulting in cardiac arrhythmias (Figure 1) (Tse et al., 2016). For example, destabilization of $\Delta \Psi m$ can cause oxidation of ion channels via ROS, and/or indirectly through phosphorylation of ion channels via activation of protein kinases (Figure 1) (Foteinou et al., 2015; Yang et al., 2015). Increased ROS production can also activate the unfolded protein response (UPR) that accordingly reduces ion channel functionality and creates repolarization abnormalities (Tse et al., 2016). In addition, oxidative stress impairs gap junction conduction and electrical coupling between cardiomyocytes. Elevation of ROS levels decreases the amount of Cx43 protein in the cell and hampers gap junction conduction, resulting in cardiac arrhythmias and SCD (Figure 1) (Iravanian et al., 2011; Sovari et al., 2011). Moreover, ROS production alters the intracellular Ca²⁺ homeostasis (by inducing SR Ca²⁺ sparks and increasing cytosolic Ca²⁺ levels) and causes fibrosis formation (Voigt et al., 2012; Köhler et al., 2014) creating two additional substrates for conduction abnormalities, triggered activity and re-entry based arrhythmias (Figure 1) (Köhler et al., 2014). The relationship between ROS production, Ca²⁺ handling disturbances and structural remodeling will be explained later in this review.

Effect of Oxidative Stress on Cardiac Calcium Dynamics

Mitochondrial Calcium Overload and Oxidative Stress The link between disturbed cytosolic Ca²⁺ levels and cardiac arrhythmias is well-established, although mitochondrial Ca2+ dysregulation as substrate for arrhythmias is less clear (Brown and O'Rourke, 2010). Oxidative stress can induce mitochondrial Ca²⁺ overload via the MCU. An overload of mitochondrial Ca^{2+} results in opening of mPTP, collapse of $\Delta\Psi m$, release of cytochrome c and eventually myocyte death (Figure 2) (Gambardella et al., 2017). It has been demonstrated that the H₂O₂-induced activation of MCU and subsequent mitochondrial Ca²⁺ overload can be decreased by overexpression of microRNA 25 (MiR-25). Overexpression of MiR-25 reduced the MCU protein levels, diminished H2O2 driven elevation of the mitochondrial Ca²⁺ levels and inactivated the mitochondrial apoptotic pathway (Pan et al., 2015). Prevention of mitochondrial Ca²⁺ overload, via inhibition of MCU, has also proven protective against the development of cardiac arrhythmias (Hamilton et al., 2018). Mitochondrial Ca²⁺ overload promotes excessive ROS production and oxidative stress, of which the consequences have already been discussed in the previous paragraphs.

Ryanodine Receptor Oxidation by ROS

RyR2 is a crucial component of Ca^{2+} -induced Ca^{2+} -release (CICR) and highly sensitive to oxidative stress, as it is oxidized by increased ROS levels in the cytosol (Joseph et al., 2016; Hamilton et al., 2018). Oxidation of RyR2 causes opening of the channel pore and Ca^{2+} leak out of the SR. This SR Ca^{2+} leak results in Ca^{2+} sparks, cytosolic Ca^{2+} overload and SR Ca^{2+} depletion, inducing delayed after depolarization's (DADs) and impairment of the cardiac contractile force (Figure 2) (Voigt et al., 2012; Santulli et al., 2015). Enhanced cytosolic

 Ca^{2+} levels cause mitochondrial Ca^{2+} overload via an increased MCU Ca^{2+} uptake, eventually provoking a pro-arrhythmic vicious cycle of malignant high cellular Ca^{2+} levels (**Figure 2**) (Voigt et al., 2012; Santulli et al., 2015). Elevated cytosolic Ca^{2+} levels also activate a variety of pathogenic Ca^{2+} sensitive signaling pathways in cardiomyocytes, as for example the one including $Ca^{2+}/Calmodulin-dependent$ kinase II (CaMKII) (van Opbergen et al., 2017).

Calcium/Calmodulin-Dependent Protein Kinase II Activation by ROS

CaMKII is a multifunctional serine/threonine kinase located at the cell membrane, cytoplasm and in the nucleus of cardiomyocytes. Ca²⁺ and Calmodulin facilitate CaMKII activation under physiological conditions, though CaMKII is also a substrate for its own monomers (Erickson, 2014). Under pathological conditions ROS can directly oxidize CaMKII, leading to its persistent activity (Foteinou et al., 2015). Once activated (via ROS or elevated cytosolic Ca²⁺ levels) CaMKII can target several ion channels and transcription factors, which coordinate cardiac electrical and mechanical mechanisms (Figure 2) (Rokita and Anderson, 2012). CaMKII can for example hyper-phosphorylate the L-type Ca²⁺ channel (Ca_V1.2), Na_V1.5 and RyR2, thereby increasing cytosolic Ca²⁺ levels (Rokita and Anderson, 2012). This leads to contractile dysfunction and after depolarization's, as discussed before. Moreover, the increased cytosolic Ca²⁺ levels can lead to mitochondrial Ca²⁺ overload, further increasing ROS production and ultimately resulting in cell death (Figure 2) (Gambardella et al., 2017). It has been shown that oxidative CaMKII activation leads to after depolarization's in isolated rabbit cardiomyocytes, caused by phosphorylation of L-type Ca²⁺ (LTCC) and Na⁺ channels (Yang et al., 2018). In addition, mitochondrial-targeted antioxidant treatment has shown to suppress early after depolarization's (EADs) in an in silico model of guinea pig cardiomyocytes (Yang et al., 2018). Phosphorylation of Na_V1.5 delays the I_{Na} recovery time after inactivation and enhances the persistent late Na⁺ current (Wagner et al., 2006). Under pathophysiological conditions, the CaMKII induced increased Na⁺ peak current further elevates diastolic Ca²⁺, as increased cytosolic Na⁺ levels stimulate the Ca²⁺ influx via the sodium- Ca^{2+} exchanger (NCX) (Yao et al., 2011). Elevated cytosolic Ca²⁺ levels enhance the phosphorylation and activation of CAMKII, ending in a positive feedback loop in which a CaMKII-dependent increase of I_{CaL}, alters the Ca²⁺ homeostasis and persistent activation of CaMKII. When during the plateau phase more Ca^{2+} and Na^{+} enter the cell, EADs can develop, provoking ectopic activity in the heart (Wagner et al., 2006). Overexpression of CaMKII8 in rabbit cardiomyocytes has proven to increase the I_{Na}, [Na]_i and cause accumulation of Ca²⁺_i (Wagner et al., 2011). CaMKIIδ knock out in murine cardiomyocytes blunts the ROS (H2O2)-induced intracellular accumulation of Na⁺ and Ca²⁺ and its subsequent incidence of ventricular arrhythmias, hyper-contraction, and SCD (Wagner et al., 2011). This implies that ROS-induced CaMKII activation causes cellular Na⁺ overload and, as a consequence, disturbs the Ca^{2+} balance in the cell.



activity and re-entry based cardiac arrhythmias. LTCC, I-type calcium channel; NCX, sodium calcium exchanger; NKA, sodium potassium ATPase; RyR2, ryanodine receptor; SERCA, sarco/endoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺-ATPase; PLN, phospholamban; Cx43, connexin43; mtCx43, mitochondrial connexin 43; MCU, mitochondrial Ca²⁺ uniporter; SR, sarcoplasmic reticulum; CAMKII, Ca²⁺/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II; ROS, reactive oxygen species.

The Effect of ROS on the L-Type Calcium Channel and Na^+/Ca^{2+} Exchanger

The L-type Ca^{2+} channel (LTCC) is a voltage gated Ca^{2+} channel that couples electrical activation, via an action potential, to contraction of the cardiomyocyte. The effects of ROS on LTCCs are controversial (Yang et al., 2014). On one hand, it has been shown that elevated mitochondrial ROS levels increase the I_{Ca} in guinea pig ventricular cardiomyocytes (Viola et al., 2007). On the other hand, increased ROS levels decreased I_{Ca} in hamster ventricular cardiomyocytes. This could be due to energy depletion or Ca²⁺ overload, rather than oxidation of the LTCC (Hammerschmidt and Wahn, 1998). It should be taken into account that results can vary between animal species and different types of ROS. The subset of ROS components differs in reactivity and oxidation potential (Yang et al., 2014). The Na^+/Ca^{2+} exchanger (NCX) is an antiporter membrane protein which mainly works in the forward mode, pumping 3 Na⁺ ions into the cardiomyocyte in exchange for 1 Ca^{2+} ion (Amin et al., 2010). Whether NCX acts in the forward or

reversed mode depends on the driving force of the intracellular ion concentrations: high cytosolic $[Ca^{2+}]$ favors the forward mode, whereas high cytosolic $[Na^+]$ and a positive membrane potential favor the reverse mode (Driessen et al., 2014). The effect of oxidative stress on NCX activity is also controversial, as ROS has proven to both stimulate and decrease NCX activity (Zhang et al., 2016). Nevertheless, both RyR2 oxidation and CaMKII activation elevates the cytosolic $[Ca^{2+}]$, forcing NCX into the forward mode, inducing a depolarizing current and making the cell susceptible for DADs (Driessen et al., 2014).

To conclude, mitochondrial dysfunction can result in inadequate ATP synthesis and an increased ROS production. Insufficient supply of ATP to the cardiomyocytes results in activation of sarcKATP channels, which impair cardiomyocyte excitability, electrical impulse propagation and cardiac contractility. Furthermore, enhanced cellular ROS levels cause RIRR, aberrant opening of various ion channels, repolarization abnormalities, impaired electrical conduction and eventually provokes different types of malignant cardiac arrhythmias.

Oxidative stress resulting from mitochondrial dysfunction can induce mitochondrial Ca^{2+} overload via the MCU. Mitochondrial Ca²⁺ overload increases ROS production, oxidizes RyR2 and will subsequently cause SR Ca²⁺ leakage. Excessive SR Ca²⁺ release creates elevated cytosolic Ca²⁺ levels and free Ca²⁺ ions will be transported into the mitochondria via MCU. Mitochondrial Ca²⁺ reuptake and subsequent ROS production creates a vicious pro-arrhythmic environment in the cardiomyocyte. The increased intracellular $[Ca^{2+}]$ prolongs the APD, initiates after depolarization's, causes contractile dysfunction and importantly activates pathologic Ca²⁺ dependent signaling pathways as for example CaMKII. ROS and Ca²⁺ induced sustained activation of CaMKII will hyper-phosphorylate Ca_V1.2, Na_V1.5 and RyR2, increasing I_{Na}, $[Na]_i$ and $[Ca^{2+}]_i$. Via these mechanism, a separate vicious pro-arrhythmic cycle of altered Ca²⁺ homeostasis and CaMKII activation is initiated in the cell (Wagner et al., 2011; Bertero and Maack, 2018). Whether these mechanisms, all or in part, are present in ACM hearts, remains to be studied.

MITOCHONDRIAL DYSFUNCTION AND ACM

Arrhythmogenic cardiomyopathy is a familial heart disease, associated with ventricular arrhythmias and progressive fibrofatty replacement of the myocardium. Ventricular arrhythmias in individuals with ACM are usually exercise-related and range from frequent premature ventricular complexes (PVCs) to ventricular tachycardia (VT) and ventricular fibrillation (VF) (Benito et al., 2011). The intimate mechanism of these ventricular arrhythmias is still unclear but triggered activity and reentry-based conduction are two likely factors. These two pro-arrhythmic factors are mainly based on disturbed intercellular communication and intracellular Ca²⁺ dynamics, fibrotic infiltrates in the heart and ion channel dysfunction (Cerrone et al., 2017; van Opbergen et al., 2017; Kim et al., 2019). Examination of cardiac biopsies and post-mortem cardiac material revealed diminished expression of Cx43 and Na_V1.5 at the ID of ACM patients, two critical determinants of cardiomyocyte excitability and electrical cell-cell coupling (Noorman et al., 2013). In this chapter, we will explore a potential link between parameters known to be involved in ACM development and mitochondrial dysfunction.

Mitochondrial Cx43 Hemichannels and Disturbed Calcium Dynamics in ACM

Gap junctions regulate cell-cell coupling between cardiomyocytes, conducting the passage of small molecules, metabolic substrates and electrical current between the adjacent cells (Kar et al., 2012). In ACM patients, a diminished expression of Cx43 at the ID was demonstrated in a large cohort of patients (Basso et al., 2018). Under pathological conditions, Cx43 can also be redistributed as Cx43 hemichannels to the lateral side of the cardiomyocyte (Cogliati et al., 2016). Cx43 hemichannels are large non-selective conduction pores, transporting small molecules and ions via concentration gradients across the cellular membrane. By this mechanism, hemichannels can release ATP, exchange Na⁺ and Ca²⁺ ions and release K⁺ ions (Boengler and Schulz, 2017). Reduced ID Cx43 expression and lateral Cx43 localization contribute to abnormal electrical impulse propagation and thereby create an arrhythmogenic substrate in the ACM heart. In addition, Cx43 hemichannels in the perinexus of the cardiomyocyte (outside of the gap junctions) are suggested as important arrhythmogenic substrates in a mouse model of PKP2 deficiency (Kim et al., 2019).

Cx43 resides not only in the ID, but is also present on the mitochondrial membrane, though almost exclusively at mitochondria that are located directly beneath the sarcolemma (Boengler and Schulz, 2017). It has been suggested that ROS can increase the expression of mtCx43, via activation of the p38-MAPK pathway (Matsuyama and Kawahara, 2011). Recent studies uncovered the contribution of mtCx43 hemichannels to mitochondrial Ca²⁺ entry (Gadicherla et al., 2017). Cardiac mitochondria play an important role in the intracellular ion homeostasis of cardiomyocytes, especially for Ca²⁺ ions (Kolwicz et al., 2013). Under pathological circumstances, mitochondrial Ca²⁺ overload increases ROS production, induces oxidative stress and thereby interferes with the SR Ca^{2+} cycling and elevates cytosolic Ca²⁺ levels (Gambardella et al., 2017). Close proximity of sarcolemmal Cx43 hemichannels, mitochondria and mtCx43 likely facilitate ATP and Ca2+ exchange that under pathological conditions can interfere with intracellular and mitochondrial Ca²⁺ dynamics. Elevated cytosolic Ca²⁺ levels activate several pro-arrhythmic pathways and cause triggered activity in the heart (Katra and Laurita, 2005; van Opbergen et al., 2017).

Nowadays, it is more and more recognized that in ACM patients RV mechanical deterioration precedes, or occurs in parallel, with the electrical disease progression, potentially initiated via Ca²⁺ handling disturbances and/or structural remodeling (Mast et al., 2016; Cerrone et al., 2017; Taha et al., 2019). In murine PKP2cKO-RV cardiomyocytes, Cx43 hemichannels in the sarcolemma increase the membrane permeability and cause intracellular Ca2+ overload and ISOinduced ventricular arrhythmias (Kim et al., 2019). It is tempting to speculate that an increased mitochondrial membrane permeability, via mtCx43 hemichannels, allows excessive entry of Ca²⁺ into the mitochondria and induces mitochondrial Ca²⁺ overload upon loss of PKP2 expression (Figure 2). As well, previous studies have suggested that mitochondrial metabolism differs between the LV and RV. Therefore, it might be the case that mitochondrial dysfunction alters intracellular Ca2+ sensitive pathways and break the Ca²⁺ balance in the cell, leading to RV initiated electrical disturbances and structural remodeling in ACM patients. This could for example be mediated via reduced ATP production, enhanced ROS production, direct interference with the Ca²⁺ handling related proteins or mtCx43 hemichannels, as explained in the previous chapter (Figure 2).

Mitochondrial Related Fibrosis Formation in ACM

Besides ventricular arrhythmias is ACM characterized by fibrofatty replacement of the ventricular myocardium

(Bennett et al., 2019). Fibroblasts can become activated upon injury or environmental stress, triggering their differentiation into myofibroblasts, the primary collagen-producing cell (Nguyen et al., 2014). Myofibroblast differentiation further induces pro-fibrotic responses, including the production of extracellular matrix proteins, collagen and cytokines (Thannickal et al., 2003). Excessive deposition of collagen, in between or in place of the healthy myocardium, interferes with the cardiac electrophysiology. Collagen deposition in the heart acts as a physical barrier to conduction, facilitating re-entry (Nguyen et al., 2017). Molecular signatures underlying the epicardium-initiated fibrofatty replacement in ACM hearts remain largely unexplored (Corrado et al., 2017b; Sepehrkhouy et al., 2017). Previous studies have proposed that abnormal trafficking of intracellular proteins to the ID and subsequent Wnt/β-catenin and Hippo-YAP pathway activation underlie the disease pathogenesis in ACM (Pilichou et al., 2016). Involvement of mitochondrial related processes in fibrofatty infiltration of ACM hearts have not been well-studied and may be an interesting new target. Especially, since previous studies showed apoptosis in ACM-affected hearts and RV vs. LV differences in (mitochondrial) Ca²⁺ handling during the concealed stage of the disease (Nishikawa et al., 1999; Akdis et al., 2016; Austin et al., 2019; Kim et al., 2019). This suggests that alterations in mitochondrial function might serve as early component in ACM, preceding overt structural disease and apoptosis.

ATP- and ROS-Induced Collagen Production in ACM

Multiple cellular and animal models have been used to explore the role of PKP2 in pro-fibrotic processes. Dubash et al. (2016) showed that paracrine pathways might be responsible for inducing fibrosis in the setting of PKP2 deficiency. In HL-1 cells lacking PKP2, transforming growth factor (TGF)-\u03b31 expression was increased and the p38-mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPK) pro-fibrotic program was activated. Importantly, this study also showed that p38-MAPK was activated in neighboring, PKP2-positive, HL-1 cells (Dubash et al., 2016). These data strongly suggest cell-cell communication between PKP2 positive and negative cells and the presence of a paracrine pathway for induction of the pro-fibrotic processes. The molecular carrier of this cell-cell communication was not identified. Recently, Cerrone et al. (2018) explored adenosine as a possible profibrotic molecular cell-cell messenger in the PKP2-deficient heart. Previous studies showed that binding of adenosine to the adenosine 2A receptor (A2AR) enhances collagen deposition in skin, lung, and liver tissue (Shaikh and Cronstein, 2016). A2AR activation can induce TGF-\u03b31 expression and activate GSK3-β and Wnt-signaling pathways (Giambelluca et al., 2013; Shaikh et al., 2016; Zhang et al., 2017). In the heart, ATP can rapidly convert to adenosine, which bind to its G-coupled protein receptor (A2AR) (Peng et al., 2008; Fernández et al., 2013). In the study of Cerrone et al. (2018), we showed that ATP release was significantly higher in PKP2-deficient cells and that this effect was blunted when Cx43 was also silenced. This suggests that Cx43 hemichannels may act as a conduit for ATP release in PKP2-deficient cells (Figure 3). As proposed in Kim et al. (2019),

reduced intercellular adhesion strength by PKP2 deficiency may disrupt the gap junction plaque integrity and create a pool of Cx43 hemichannels at the ID (perinexus). Cx43 hemichannels can passively leak intercellular solutes as ATP, via mitochondria closely resembling at the site of cell-cell contact (Leo-Macías et al., 2015). In this particular study, Cerrone et al. (2018) treated PKP2cKO mice with Istradefylline, a specific A2AR antagonist and indeed less collagen was found in both ventricles of PKP2cKO mice after treatment.

ROS-Induced Fibroblast Differentiation in ACM

Besides Cx43 hemichannels, pannexin-1 channels are also involved in cardiac fibrosis formation, likely via release of ATP from the cardiomyocytes (Nishida et al., 2008; Kar et al., 2012; Li et al., 2015). Pannexin-1 can be activated by Ca^{2+} released from the SR and allow passage of Ca²⁺, ATP and other small molecules across the membrane, in a manner similar to that of Cx43 hemichannels (Figure 3) (Li et al., 2015; Xu et al., 2018). Oxidative stress activates Pannexin-1 hemichannels and does increase ATP release of cardiomyocytes via Pannexin-1 (Zhang et al., 2008; Dolmatova et al., 2012). Pannexin-1 mediated ATP release activates G-coupled P2X and P2Y receptors, further triggering the accumulation of ROS, via their underlying pathways (Figure 3) (Onami et al., 2014; Díaz-Vegas et al., 2015; Xu et al., 2018). P2X and P2Y activation enhances the transcription of fibrotic genes such as TGF- β 1 (Nishida et al., 2008). ATP not only directly activates P2X and P2Y receptors, but can also be converted to AMP and adenosine, activating A2AR and underlying pro-fibrotic pathways, mechanisms proven to be involved in fibrosis formation in PKP2-cKO mice (Figure 3) (Shaikh et al., 2016; Cerrone et al., 2018).

The fact that Pannexin-1 is activated by intracellular Ca²⁺ levels and SR Ca²⁺ release, both increased by ROS-induced RyR2 oxidation, highlights Pannexin-1 as an interesting new target in mitochondrial related pro-fibrotic processes of ACM. In addition to the indirect (Pannexin-1 mediated) ROS-induced fibrosis formation, it has been demonstrated that mitochondrial ROS also directly promotes fibroblast differentiation (Choi et al., 2014). For example, superoxide activates TGF-β1 expression, fibroblast differentiation into myofibroblasts and subsequent extracellular matrix (ECM) deposition (Cucoranu et al., 2005; Choi et al., 2014). Myofibroblasts are characterized by expression of contractile proteins, such as smooth muscle α -actin (α -SMA). Cucoranu et al. (2005) showed that TGF-B1-mediated ROS production regulates α -SMA expression in the cell and the conversion of fibroblasts into myofibroblasts. In human cardiac fibroblasts, TGF-B1 promotes the production of superoxide via stimulating NADPH oxidase 4 (Nox4) and superoxide subsequently stimulates α -SMA expression and ECM deposition. Nox4 superoxide production is regulated via Smad2/3 activation. Moreover, Smad2/3 activation leads to enhanced activation of Nox4, creating a pro-fibrotic positive-feedback loop (**Figure 3**) (Cucoranu et al., 2005).

The most direct link between mitochondrial-related processes and collagen production in ACM has been found in PKP2cKO mice. However, there are several other ACM models were involvement of TGF- β 1, GSK3- β , and Wnt-signaling pathways



hemichannels to the lateral membrane enables release of adenosine triphosphate (ATP) into the extracellular space, via mitochondria close residing at sides of cell-cell contact. ATP can directly activate P2X/Y channels and also convert into adenosine diphosphate (ADP), adenosine monophosphate (AMP) and adenosine. Adenosine subsequently activates pro-fibrotic signaling pathways, via adenosine 2A receptor (A2AR) binding. Pannexin-1 is activated via enhanced cytosolic calcium (Ca^{2+}) levels and sarcoplasmic (SR) Ca^{2+} release and has the same ATP-mediated pro-fibrotic factor capacity as Cx43 hemichannels. Superoxide activates transforming growth factor (TGF)- β 1 expression, fibroblast differentiation into myofibroblasts and subsequent extracellular matrix (ECM) deposition. TGF- β 1 mediates reactive oxygen species (ROS) production, regulates α -smooth muscle actin (SMA) expression in the cell and the conversion of fibroblasts into myofibroblasts and TGF- β 1 promotes the production of superoxide via stimulating NADPH oxidase 4 (Nox4). Nox4 superoxide production is also regulated via Smad2/3 activation, Smad2/3 activation leads to enhanced activation of Nox4, creating a pro-fibrotic positive-feedback loop in the heart. Fibrosis formation in the heart acts as a physical barrier to conduction, facilitating re-entry based cardiac arrhythmias. Cx43, connexin43; ATP, adenosine triphosphate; ADP, adenosine diphosphate; AMP, adenosine triphosphate; AZAR, adenosine 2A receptor; AC, adenylate cyclase; CAMP, cyclic AMP; PKA, protein kinase A; ROS, reactive oxygen species; TFs, transcription factors; Col1 α , collagen 1 α ; Col3 α , collagen 3 α ; Nox4, NADPH oxidase 4; TGF- β 1, transforming growth factor beta 1; α -SMA, alpha smooth muscle actin.

in cardiac fibrosis formation has been proven (Chelko et al., 2016; Calore et al., 2019; Zheng et al., 2019). If activation of these pathways indeed is preceded by increased ROS levels, ATP release, P2X, P2Y, and/or A2AR activation would be an interesting topic for upcoming studies.

PPAR-Induced Apoptosis and Lipogenesis in ACM

Cardiac metabolic activity is tightly regulated by expression levels of metabolic enzymes and their post-translational modifiers. One important class of transcriptional regulators for FA use are nuclear Peroxisome proliferator–activated receptors (PPAR). PPAR α is the predominant isoform in the heart, although PPAR δ and PPAR γ also regulate lipid metabolism (Kersten et al., 2000; Lopaschuk et al., 2010). PPAR γ is mainly expressed in adipose tissue and contributes to adipogenesis, the differentiation of pre-adipocytes to adipocytes (Lecarpentier et al., 2010). PPARs interact with members of the PPAR- γ coactivator-1 (PGC-1) family and co-activation of these proteins increases the FA uptake capacity and FAO (Rowe et al., 2010). Recently, an interesting link was found between cardiomyocyte metabolism, apoptosis, and lipogenesis in an induced pluripotent stem cell cardiomyocyte (iPSC-CM) model of ACM. Dermal fibroblasts from patients harboring a *PKP2* mutation were reprogramed to generate iPSC-CMs and mutant PKP2 iPSC-CMs demonstrated exaggerated lipogenesis and apoptosis (Caspi et al., 2013; Kim et al., 2013). Kim et al. (2013) presented PPAR α , β/δ , and γ as key regulators in these processes, especially PPARy seem to be activated. Experimental PPARy over-activation in PKP2iPS-CMs also induced exaggerated lipogenesis and pronounced apoptosis, caused by pathogenic PPARy and PPARa co-activation (Kim et al., 2013). In addition, Kim et al. (2013) assessed the involvement of ROS in pathogenesis of PKP2 iPSC-CM and decreased ROS levels could indeed prevent cardiomyocyte death of these iPSC-CM. As discussed earlier, the heart experiences a metabolic switch after birth, changing substrate oxidation from glucose to FA (Torrealba et al., 2017). After pathogenic coactivation of PPARy and PPARa, the mutant PKP2 iPSC-CMs also demonstrated a fuel shift from FA and glucose metabolism to pre-dominant glucose utilization (Kim et al., 2013). These data strongly suggest that pathological metabolic changes underlie disease progression in ACM patients harboring a PKP2 mutation. The engagement of PPARs in a PKP2-related cardiomyopathy has been confirmed in the PKP2-cKO mouse model (Cerrone et al., 2017). KEGG analysis of transcriptional regulation in PKP2-cKO murine hearts presented the adipocytokine signaling pathway as one of the most upregulated pathways, with a predominant effect on PPARa (Cerrone et al., 2017). Moreover, GTEx-based analysis of human RNA abundance in the heart revealed that PPARa is a member of a PKP2-centered gene network, thus suggesting a direct regulation of PPARa levels by PKP2 expression (Montnach et al., 2018).

In conclusion, ACM is a progressive and predominantly RV disease, characterized by ventricular arrhythmias and fibrofatty infiltrates in the myocardium. Mitochondrial interference with the Ca²⁺ homeostasis in the cell, directly or indirectly via Cx43 hemichannals and mtCx43, tentatively serves as an important substrate in RV initiated electrical disturbances and structural remodeling in ACM patients. In murine PKP2cKO-RV cardiomyocytes, Cx43 hemichannels in the sarcolemma increase the membrane permeability and cause intracellular Ca²⁺ overload and ISO-induced ventricular arrhythmias. ROS can increase the expression of mtCx43 and close the proximity of sarcolemmal Cx43 hemichannels, mitochondria and mtCx43 might facilitate ATP and Ca²⁺ exchange that under pathological conditions can interfere with intracellular and mitochondrial Ca²⁺ dynamics. In addition, cellular ATP release and increased oxidative stress are important profibrotic aspects in the (ACM) heart. Cx43 hemichannels in the perinexus enable release of ATP into the extracellular space, via mitochondria close residing at sides of cell-cell contact. ATP can directly activate P2X/Y channels and also convert into ADP, AMP, and adenosine. Adenosine subsequently activates pro-fibrotic signaling pathways (as TGF-\beta1 activation) via A2AR binding. Pannexin-1 has the same ATP-mediated pro-fibrotic factor capacity as Cx43 hemichannels. Interestingly, pannexin hemichannels are activated via enhanced cytosolic Ca²⁺ levels and SR Ca²⁺ release, which is increased by ROS-induced RyR2 oxidation. Furthermore, Nox4-derived ROS can induce fibrosis via TGF-B1 activation and fibroblast differentiation into myofibroblasts. The increased apoptosis and adipogenesis in ACM patients is likely caused by co-activation of PPARy and PPARa, which points toward an altered metabolic state of the ACM heart.

DISCUSSION

In ACM patients, malignant ventricular arrhythmias and SCD largely occur in the pre-clinical phase of the disease, before overt structural changes. To prevent or interfere with the disease progression, more insight into the mechanisms related to electrical instability in ACM hearts is needed. At present, a large extent of research is focused on the link between cardiac arrhythmias and metabolic disease. Mitochondrial dysfunction can affect the electrical balance in cardiomyocytes and favor arrhythmogenesis. The role of mitochondrial biology and structure in the ACM heart remains understudied. Here, we reviewed cardiac mitochondrial dysfunction, cardiac arrhythmias and the potential links to typical hallmarks of ACM.

Mitochondrial dysfunction reduces ATP production and increases ROS production in the heart. Upon insufficient ATP supply, the predominantly closed sarcKATP channels can become conductive. Open sarcKATP channels can impair electrical conduction in the heart, by reducing cardiomyocyte excitability. In addition, increased ROS production leads to abnormal opening of various ion channels and reduces the expression of gap junctions. Mitochondrial Ca²⁺ overload (via for example mtCx43) increases ROS production, oxidizes RyR2 and subsequently induces SR Ca^{2+} leakage. This results in repolarization abnormalities, ectopic activity, conduction defects and eventually (re-entry based) cardiac arrhythmias. ROS oxidation also indirectly affects ion channels, transcription factors and (pathogenic) intracellular processes, through the multifunctional protein CaMKII. Appearance of fibrosis, apoptosis, and lipogenesis is highly related to mitochondrial (dys)function. Fibrosis formation can be induced via Cx43 hemichannel-mediated ATP release, SR Ca²⁺-driven Pannexin-1 activation and ROS-TGF-B1-Nox4 activated fibroblast differentiation. Whether some or all of these changes are present in cardiomyocytes of hearts deficient in desmosomal proteins remains to be determined. PPAR γ and PPAR α co-activation is a possible link between metabolic changes in PKP2-deficient patients, apoptosis and lipogenesis. Yet their relative contribution remains a subject of further investigation.

The limited amount of experimental evidence in ACM models makes it hard to determine whether mitochondrial dysfunction indeed precedes and/or accompanies ACM pathogenesis. Mutations in mitochondrial DNA can provoke mitochondrial dysfunction and activate the mechanisms we discussed. On the contrary, loss of ID integrity might also affect the intracellular ion homeostasis (e.g., Ca^{2+}) and alters mitochondrial activity and homeostasis. The cardiac stress responses upon mutations in ID-associated proteins likely activates several mechanisms related to mitochondrial dysfunction, such as inflammation and apoptosis. Postulated hypotheses are largely based upon findings in experimental PKP2 models, which are of course not representative for the entire ACM population, therefore extrapolations should be done with caution.

Nevertheless, these models can be very useful in discovering ACM-related mitochondrial biology and testing of therapeutic targets, as for example anti-oxidant treatment or genetic repair.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CO and LB prepared the primary manuscript. MD and TV critically revised the manuscript. CO produced the figures.

REFERENCES

- Akdis, D., Medeiros-Domingo, A., Gaertner-Rommel, A., Kast, J. I., Enseleit, F., Bode, P., et al. (2016). Myocardial expression profiles of candidate molecules in patients with arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy/dysplasia compared to those with dilated cardiomyopathy and healthy controls. *Heart Rhythm* 13, 731–741. doi: 10.1016/j.hrthm.2015.11.010
- Amin, A. S., Tan, H. L., and Wilde, A. A. M. (2010). Cardiac ion channels in health and disease. *Hear. Rhythm* 7, 117–126. doi: 10.1016/j.hrthm.2009. 08.005
- Aronson, D., Mittleman, M. A., and Burger, A. J. (2003). Effects of sulfonylurea hypoglycemic agents and adenosine triphosphate dependent potassium channel antagonists on ventricular arrhythmias in patients with decompensated heart failure. *Pacing Clin. Electrophysiol.* 26, 1254–1261. doi: 10.1046/j.1460-9592. 2003.t01-1-00177.x
- Austin, K. M., Trembley, M. A., Chandler, S. F., Sanders, S. P., Saffitz, J. E., Abrams, D. J., et al. (2019). Molecular mechanisms of arrhythmogenic cardiomyopathy. *Nat. Rev. Cardiol.* 16, 519–537. doi: 10.1038/s41569-019-0200-7
- Basso, C., Bauce, B., Corrado, D., and Thiene, G. (2012). Pathophysiology of arrhythmogenic cardiomyopathy. *Nat. Rev. Cardiol.* 9, 223–233. doi: 10.1038/ nrcardio.2011.173
- Basso, C., Pilichou, K., Bauce, B., Corrado, D., and Thiene, G. (2018). Diagnostic criteria, genetics, and molecular basis of arrhythmogenic cardiomyopathy. *Heart Fail. Clin.* 14, 201–213. doi: 10.1016/j.hfc.2018.01.002
- Benito, B., Gay-Jordi, G., Serrano-Mollar, A., Guasch, E., Shi, Y., Tardif, J.-C., et al. (2011). Cardiac arrhythmogenic remodeling in a rat model of long-term intensive exercise training. *Circulation* 123, 13–22. doi: 10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.110.938282
- Bennett, R. G., Haqqani, H. M., Berruezo, A., Della Bella, P., Marchlinski, F. E., Hsu, C.-J., et al. (2019). Arrhythmogenic cardiomyopathy in 2018–2019: ARVC/ALVC or both? *Hear. Lung Circ.* 28, 164–177. doi: 10.1016/j.hlc.2018. 10.013
- Bertero, E., and Maack, C. (2018). Calcium signaling and reactive Oxygen species in mitochondria. *Circ. Res.* 122, 1460–1478. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.118. 310082
- Billman, G. E., Englert, H. C., and Schölkens, B. A. (1998). HMR 1883, a novel cardioselective inhibitor of the ATP-sensitive potassium channel. Part II: effects on susceptibility to ventricular fibrillation induced by myocardial ischemia in conscious dogs. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 286, 1465–1473.
- Boengler, K., and Schulz, R. (2017). Connexin 43 and mitochondria in cardiovascular health and disease, Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 982, 227–246. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-55330-6_12
- Brown, D. A., and O'Rourke, B. (2010). Cardiac mitochondria and arrhythmias. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 88, 241–249. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvq231
- Cacciapuoti, F., Spiezia, R., Bianchi, U., Lama, D., D'Avino, M., and Varricchio, M. (1991). Effectiveness of glibenclamide on myocardial ischemic ventricular arrhythmias in non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *Am. J. Cardiol.* 67, 843–847. doi: 10.1016/0002-9149(91)90617-T
- Calore, M., Lorenzon, A., Vitiello, L., Poloni, G., Khan, M. A. F., Beffagna, G., et al. (2019). A novel murine model for arrhythmogenic cardiomyopathy points to a pathogenic role of Wnt signalling and miRNA dysregulation. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 115, 739–751. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvy253
- Caspi, O., Huber, I., Gepstein, A., Arbel, G., Maizels, L., Boulos, M., et al. (2013). Modeling of arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy with human

FUNDING

This work was supported by a grant from the Netherlands Cardio Vascular Research Initiative (CVON): the Dutch Heart Foundation, Dutch Federation of University Medical Centres, the Netherlands Organization for Health Research and Development and the Royal Netherlands Academy of Sciences (CVON-PREDICT 2012-10, 2018-30, CVON-eDETECT 2015-12) (TV), grants RO1 HL134328, RO1 HL136179, RO1 HL145911, and a Fondation Leducq Transatlantic Network (MD).

induced pluripotent stem cells. Circ. Cardiovasc. Genet. 6, 557–568. doi: 10. 1161/CIRCGENETICS.113.000188

- Cerrone, M., Montnach, J., Lin, X., Zhao, Y.-T., Zhang, M., Agullo-Pascual, E., et al. (2017). Plakophilin-2 is required for transcription of genes that control calcium cycling and cardiac rhythm. *Nat. Commun.* 8:106. doi: 10.1038/s41467-017-00127-0
- Cerrone, M., Remme, C. A., Tadros, R., Bezzina, C. R., and Delmar, M. (2019). Beyond the one gene-one disease paradigm. *Circulation* 140, 595–610. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.118.035954
- Cerrone, M., van Opbergen, C. J. M., Malkani, K., Irrera, N., Zhang, M., Van Veen, T. A. B., et al. (2018). Blockade of the adenosine 2A receptor mitigates the cardiomyopathy induced by loss of plakophilin-2 expression. *Front. Physiol.* 9:1750. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.01750
- Chelko, S. P., Asimaki, A., Andersen, P., Bedja, D., Amat-Alarcon, N., DeMazumder, D., et al. (2016). Central role for GSK3β in the pathogenesis of arrhythmogenic cardiomyopathy. *JCI Insight* 1:85923. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight. 85923
- Choi, Y. J., Kim, D. H., Kim, S. J., Kim, J., Jeong, S.-I., Chung, C. H., et al. (2014). Decursin attenuates hepatic fibrogenesis through interrupting TGFbeta-mediated NAD(P)H oxidase activation and Smad signaling in vivo and in vitro. *Life Sci.* 108, 94–103. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2014.05.012
- Cogliati, B., Mennecier, G., Willebrords, J., Da Silva, T. C., Maes, M., Pereira, I. V. A., et al. (2016). Connexins, pannexins, and their channels in fibroproliferative diseases. *J. Membr. Biol.* 249, 199–213. doi: 10.1007/s00232-016-9881-6
- Corrado, D., Basso, C., and Judge, D. P. (2017a). Arrhythmogenic cardiomyopathy. *Circ. Res.* 121, 784–802. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.117.309345
- Corrado, D., Link, M. S., and Calkins, H. (2017b). Arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy. N. Engl. J. Med. 376, 61–72. doi: 10.1056/ NEJMra1509267
- Cucoranu, I., Clempus, R., Dikalova, A., Phelan, P. J., Ariyan, S., Dikalov, S., et al. (2005). NAD(P)H oxidase 4 mediates transforming growth factor-beta1induced differentiation of cardiac fibroblasts into myofibroblasts. *Circ. Res.* 97, 900–907. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.0000187457.24338.3D
- De Stefani, D., Rizzuto, R., and Pozzan, T. (2016). Enjoy the trip: calcium in mitochondria back and forth. *Annu. Rev. Biochem.* 85, 161–192. doi: 10.1146/ annurev-biochem-060614-034216
- Díaz-Vegas, A., Campos, C. A., Contreras-Ferrat, A., Casas, M., Buvinic, S., Jaimovich, E., et al. (2015). ROS Production via P2Y1-PKC-NOX2 Is triggered by extracellular atp after electrical stimulation of skeletal muscle cells. *PLoS One* 10:e0129882. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0129882
- Doenst, T., Nguyen, T. D., and Abel, E. D. (2013). Cardiac metabolism in heart failure. *Circ. Res.* 113, 709-724. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.113.300376
- Doenst, T., Pytel, G., Schrepper, A., Amorim, P., Färber, G., Shingu, Y., et al. (2010). Decreased rates of substrate oxidation ex vivo predict the onset of heart failure and contractile dysfunction in rats with pressure overload. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 86, 461–470. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvp414
- Dolmatova, E., Spagnol, G., Boassa, D., Baum, J. R., Keith, K., Ambrosi, C., et al. (2012). Cardiomyocyte ATP release through pannexin 1 aids in early fibroblast activation. Am. J. Physiol. Circ. Physiol. 303, H1208–H1218. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00251.2012
- Driessen, H. E., Bourgonje, V. J. A., van Veen, T. A. B., and Vos, M. A. (2014). New antiarrhythmic targets to control intracellular calcium handling. *Neth. Heart J.* 22, 198–213. doi: 10.1007/s12471-014-0549-5

- Dubash, A. D., Kam, C. Y., Aguado, B. A., Patel, D. M., Delmar, M., Shea, L. D., et al. (2016). Plakophilin-2 loss promotes TGF-β1/p38 MAPK-dependent fibrotic gene expression in cardiomyocytes. J. Cell Biol. 212, 425–438. doi: 10.1083/jcb. 201507018
- El Hadi, H., Vettor, R., and Rossato, M. (2019). Cardiomyocyte mitochondrial dysfunction in diabetes and its contribution in cardiac arrhythmogenesis. *Mitochondrion* 46, 6–14. doi: 10.1016/j.mito.2019.03.005
- Erickson, J. R. (2014). Mechanisms of CaMKII activation in the heart. *Front. Pharmacol.* 5:59. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2014.00059
- Fernández, P., Perez-Aso, M., Smith, G., Wilder, T., Trzaska, S., Chiriboga, L., et al. (2013). Extracellular generation of adenosine by the ectonucleotidases CD39 and CD73 promotes dermal fibrosis. *Am. J. Pathol.* 183, 1740–1746. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2013.08.024
- Fischbach, P. S., White, A., Barrett, T. D., and Lucchesi, B. R. (2004). Risk of ventricular proarrhythmia with selective opening of the myocardial sarcolemmal versus mitochondrial ATP-gated potassium channel. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 309, 554–559. doi: 10.1124/jpet.103.060780
- Foteinou, P. T., Greenstein, J. L., and Winslow, R. L. (2015). Mechanistic investigation of the arrhythmogenic role of oxidized CaMKII in the heart. *Biophys. J.* 109, 838–849. doi: 10.1016/j.bpj.2015.06.064
- Gadicherla, A. K., Wang, N., Bulic, M., Agullo-Pascual, E., Lissoni, A., De Smet, M., et al. (2017). Mitochondrial Cx43 hemichannels contribute to mitochondrial calcium entry and cell death in the heart. *Basic Res. Cardiol.* 112:27. doi: 10. 1007/s00395-017-0618-1
- Gambardella, J., Sorriento, D., Ciccarelli, M., Del Giudice, C., Fiordelisi, A., Napolitano, L., et al. (2017). Functional Role of mitochondria in arrhythmogenesis. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 982, 191–202. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-55330-6_10
- Giambelluca, M. S., Cloutier, N., Rollet-Labelle, E., Boilard, E., and Pouliot, M. (2013). Expression and regulation of glycogen synthase kinase 3 in human neutrophils. *Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol.* 45, 2660–2665. doi: 10.1016/j.biocel.2013. 09.001
- Granatiero, V., De Stefani, D., and Rizzuto, R. (2017). Mitochondrial calcium handling in physiology and disease, *Adv. Exp. Med. Biol.* 982, 25–47. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-55330-6_2
- Grisanti, L. A. (2018). Diabetes and arrhythmias: pathophysiology, mechanisms and therapeutic outcomes. *Front. Physiol.* 9:1669. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018. 01669
- Hajri, T., Ibrahimi, A., Coburn, C. T., Knapp, F. F., Kurtz, T., Pravenec, M., et al. (2001). Defective fatty acid uptake in the spontaneously hypertensive rat is a primary determinant of altered glucose metabolism, hyperinsulinemia, and myocardial hypertrophy. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 23661–23666. doi: 10.1074/jbc. M100942200
- Hamilton, S., Terentyeva, R., Kim, T. Y., Bronk, P., Clements, R. T., O-Uchi, J., et al. (2018). Pharmacological modulation of mitochondrial Ca2+ content regulates sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca2+ release via oxidation of the ryanodine receptor by mitochondria-derived reactive oxygen species. *Front. Physiol.* 9:1831. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.01831
- Hammerschmidt, S., and Wahn, H. (1998). The effect of the oxidant hypochlorous acid on thel-type calcium current in isolated ventricular cardiomyocytes. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 30, 1855–1867. doi: 10.1006/jmcc.1998.0749
- Iravanian, S., Sovari, A. A., Lardin, H. A., Liu, H., Xiao, H. D., Dolmatova, E., et al. (2011). Inhibition of renin-angiotensin system (RAS) reduces ventricular tachycardia risk by altering connexin43. J. Mol. Med. 89, 677–687. doi: 10.1007/ s00109-011-0761-3
- Jeong, E.-M., Liu, M., Sturdy, M., Gao, G., Varghese, S. T., Sovari, A. A., et al. (2012). Metabolic stress, reactive oxygen species, and arrhythmia. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 52, 454–463. doi: 10.1016/J.YJMCC.2011.09.018
- Joseph, L. C., Subramanyam, P., Radlicz, C., Trent, C. M., Iyer, V., Colecraft, H. M., et al. (2016). Mitochondrial oxidative stress during cardiac lipid overload causes intracellular calcium leak and arrhythmia. *Hear. Rhythm* 13, 1699–1706. doi: 10.1016/j.hrthm.2016.05.002
- Kar, R., Batra, N., Riquelme, M. A., and Jiang, J. X. (2012). Biological role of connexin intercellular channels and hemichannels. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* 524, 2–15. doi: 10.1016/j.abb.2012.03.008
- Katra, R. P., and Laurita, K. R. (2005). Cellular mechanism of calcium-mediated triggered activity in the heart. *Circ. Res.* 96, 535–542. doi: 10.1161/01.RES. 0000159387.00749.3c

- Kersten, S., Desvergne, B., and Wahli, W. (2000). Roles of PPARs in health and disease. Nature 405, 421–424. doi: 10.1038/35013000
- Kim, C., Wong, J., Wen, J., Wang, S., Wang, C., Spiering, S., et al. (2013). Studying arrhythmogenic right ventricular dysplasia with patient-specific iPSCs. *Nature* 494, 105–110. doi: 10.1038/nature11799
- Kim, J.-C., Pérez-Hernández Duran, M., Alvarado, F. J., Maurya, S. R., Montnach, J., Yin, Y., et al. (2019). Disruption of Ca2+i homeostasis and Cx43 hemichannel function in the right ventricle precedes overt arrhythmogenic cardiomyopathy in PKP2-Deficient mice. *Circulation* 140, 1015–1030. doi: 10. 1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.119.039710
- Köhler, A. C., Sag, C. M., and Maier, L. S. (2014). Reactive oxygen species and excitation–contraction coupling in the context of cardiac pathology. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 73, 92–102. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2014.03.001
- Kolwicz, S. C. Jr., Purohit, S., and Tian, R. (2013). Cardiac metabolism and its interactions with contraction, growth, and survival of the cardiomyocte. *Circ. Res.* 113, 603–616. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.113.302095
- Lecarpentier, Y., Claes, V., and Hébert, J.-L. (2010). PPARs, cardiovascular metabolism, and function: near- or Far-from-Equilibrium Pathways. *PPAR Res.* 2010, 783273. doi: 10.1155/2010/783273
- Leo-Macias, A., Agullo-Pascual, E., and Delmar, M. (2016a). The cardiac connexome: non-canonical functions of connexin43 and their role in cardiac arrhythmias. *Semin. Cell Dev. Biol.* 50, 13–21. doi: 10.1016/j.semcdb.2015. 12.002
- Leo-Macias, A., Agullo-Pascual, E., Sanchez-Alonso, J. L., Keegan, S., Lin, X., Arcos, T., et al. (2016b). Nanoscale visualization of functional adhesion/excitability nodes at the intercalated disc. *Nat. Commun.* 7:10342. doi: 10.1038/ ncomms10342
- Leo-Macías, A., Liang, F.-X., and Delmar, M. (2015). Ultrastructure of the intercellular space in adult murine ventricle revealed by quantitative tomographic electron microscopy. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 107, 442–452. doi: 10.1093/ cvr/cvv182
- Li, L., He, L., Wu, D., Chen, L., and Jiang, Z. (2015). Pannexin-1 channels and their emerging functions in cardiovascular diseases. *Acta Biochim. Biophys. Sin.* 47, 391–396. doi: 10.1093/abbs/gmv028
- Lopaschuk, G. D., Ussher, J. R., Folmes, C. D. L., Jaswal, J. S., and Stanley, W. C. (2010). Myocardial fatty acid metabolism in health and disease. *Physiol. Rev.* 90, 207–258. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00015.2009
- Marbán, E. (2002). Cardiac channelopathies. Nature 415, 213–218. doi: 10.1038/ 415213a
- Mast, T. P., Teske, A. J., Walmsley, J., van der Heijden, J. F., van Es, R., Prinzen, F. W., et al. (2016). Right ventricular imaging and computer simulation for electromechanical substrate characterization in arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 68, 2185–2197. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2016.08.061
- Matsuyama, D., and Kawahara, K. (2011). Oxidative stress-induced formation of a positive-feedback loop for the sustained activation of p38 MAPK leading to the loss of cell division in cardiomyocytes soon after birth. *Basic Res. Cardiol.* 106, 815–828. doi: 10.1007/s00395-011-0178-8
- Moncayo-Arlandi, J., and Brugada, R. (2017). Unmasking the molecular link between arrhythmogenic cardiomyopathy and Brugada syndrome. *Nat. Rev. Cardiol.* 14, 744–756. doi: 10.1038/nrcardio.2017.103
- Montnach, J., Agullo-Pascual, E., Tadros, R., Bezzina, C. R., and Delmar, M. (2018). Bioinformatic analysis of a plakophilin-2-dependent transcription network: implications for the mechanisms of arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy in humans and in boxer dogs. *EP Eur.* 20, iii125–iii132. doi: 10.1093/europace/euy238
- Nakaya, H. (2014). Role of ATP-Sensitive K+ channels in cardiac arrhythmias. J. Cardiovasc. Pharmacol. Ther. 19, 237–243. doi: 10.1177/1074248413515078
- Nguyen, M.-N., Kiriazis, H., Gao, X.-M., and Du, X.-J. (2017). Cardiac Fibrosis and Arrhythmogenesis, in Comprehensive Physiology. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons, Inc, 1009–1049. doi: 10.1002/cphy.c160046
- Nguyen, T. P., Qu, Z., and Weiss, J. N. (2014). Cardiac fibrosis and arrhythmogenesis: the road to repair is paved with perils. *J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol.* 70, 83–91. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2013.10.018
- Nishida, M., Sato, Y., Uemura, A., Narita, Y., Tozaki-Saitoh, H., Nakaya, M., et al. (2008). P2Y6 receptor-Galpha12/13 signalling in cardiomyocytes triggers pressure overload-induced cardiac fibrosis. *EMBO J.* 27, 3104–3115. doi: 10. 1038/emboj.2008.237

- Nishikawa, T., Ishiyama, S., Nagata, M., Sakomura, Y., Nakazawa, M., Momma, K., et al. (1999). Programmed cell death in the myocardium of arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy in children and adults. Cardiovasc. *Pathol* 8, 185–189. doi: 10.1016/s1054-8807(99)00007-1
- Noorman, M., Hakim, S., Kessler, E., Groeneweg, J. A., Cox, M. G., Asimaki, A., et al. (2013). Remodeling of the cardiac sodium channel, connexin43, and plakoglobin at the intercalated disk in patients with arrhythmogenic cardiomyopathy. *Heart Rhythm* 10, 412–419. doi: 10.1016/j.hrthm.2012.1 1.018
- Onami, K., Kimura, Y., Ito, Y., Yamauchi, T., Yamasaki, K., and Aiba, S. (2014). Nonmetal haptens induce ATP release from keratinocytes through opening of pannexin hemichannels by reactive oxygen species. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* 134, 1951–1960. doi: 10.1038/jid.2014.93
- Pan, L., Huang, B.-J., Ma, X.-E., Wang, S.-Y., Feng, J., Lv, F., et al. (2015). MiR-25 protects cardiomyocytes against oxidative damage by targeting the mitochondrial calcium uniporter. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 16, 5420–5433. doi: 10.3390/ ijms16035420
- Parihar, P., and Parihar, M. S. (2017). Metabolic enzymes dysregulation in heart failure: the prospective therapy. *Heart Fail. Rev.* 22, 109–121. doi: 10.1007/ s10741-016-9588-x
- Peng, Z., Fernandez, P., Wilder, T., Yee, H., Chiriboga, L., Chan, E. S. L., et al. (2008). Ecto-5'-nucleotidase (CD73) -mediated extracellular adenosine production plays a critical role in hepatic fibrosis. *FASEB J.* 22, 2263–2272. doi: 10.1096/fj.07-100685
- Pilichou, K., Thiene, G., Bauce, B., Rigato, I., Lazzarini, E., Migliore, F., et al. (2016). Arrhythmogenic cardiomyopathy. Orphanet J. Rare Dis. 11:33. doi: 10.1186/S13023-016-0407-1
- Rokita, A. G., and Anderson, M. E. (2012). New therapeutic targets in cardiology: arrhythmias and CaMKII. *Circulation* 126:2125. doi: 10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.112.124990
- Rowe, G. C., Jiang, A., and Arany, Z. (2010). PGC-1 coactivators in cardiac development and disease. *Circ. Res.* 107, 825–838. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA. 110.223818
- Santulli, G., Xie, W., Reiken, S. R., and Marks, A. R. (2015). Mitochondrial calcium overload is a key determinant in heart failure. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 112, 11389–11394. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1513047112
- Schlüter, K.-D., Kutsche, H. S., Hirschhäuser, C., Schreckenberg, R., and Schulz, R. (2018). Review on chamber-specific differences in right and left heart reactive oxygen species handling. *Front. Physiol.* 9:1799. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.01799
- Sepehrkhouy, S., Gho, J. M. I. H., van Es, R., Harakalova, M., de Jonge, N., Dooijes, D., et al. (2017). Distinct fibrosis pattern in desmosomal and phospholamban mutation carriers in hereditary cardiomyopathies. *Hear. Rhythm* 14, 1024– 1032. doi: 10.1016/j.hrthm.2017.03.034
- Shaikh, G., and Cronstein, B. (2016). Signaling pathways involving adenosine A2A and A2B receptors in wound healing and fibrosis. *Purinergic Signal.* 12, 191–197. doi: 10.1007/s11302-016-9498-3
- Shaikh, G., Zhang, J., Perez-Aso, M., Mediero, A., and Cronstein, B. (2016). Adenosine A2A receptor promotes collagen type III synthesis via β-catenin activation in human dermal fibroblasts. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 173, 3279–3291. doi: 10.1111/bph.13615
- Sovari, A. A., Iravanian, S., Dolmatova, E., Jiao, Z., Liu, H., Zandieh, S., et al. (2011). Inhibition of c-Src tyrosine kinase prevents angiotensin II–Mediated connexin-43 remodeling and sudden cardiac death. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 58, 2332–2339. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2011.07.048
- Stanley, W. C., Recchia, F. A., and Lopaschuk, G. D. (2005). myocardial substrate metabolism in the normal and failing heart. *Physiol. Rev.* 85, 1093–1129. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00006.2004
- Taha, K., Mast, T. P., Cramer, M. J., van der Heijden, J. F., Asselbergs, F. W., Doevendans, P. A., et al. (2019). Evaluation of disease progression in arrhythmogenic cardiomyopathy. *JACC Cardiovasc. Imaging*
- Thannickal, V. J., Lee, D. Y., White, E. S., Cui, Z., Larios, J. M., Chacon, R., et al. (2003). Myofibroblast differentiation by transforming growth factor-β1 is dependent on cell adhesion and integrin signaling via focal adhesion kinase. *J. Biol. Chem.* 278, 12384–12389. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M208544200
- Tiso, N., Stephan, D. A., Nava, A., Bagattin, A., Devaney, J. M., Stanchi, F., et al. (2001). Identification of mutations in the cardiac ryanodine receptor gene in families affected with arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy type 2 (ARVD2). *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 10, 189–194. doi: 10.1093/hmg/10.3.189

- Torrealba, N., Aranguiz, P., Alonso, C., Rothermel, B. A., and Lavandero, S. (2017). Mitochondria in structural and functional cardiac remodeling. *Adv. Exp. Med. Biol.* 982, 277–306. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-55330-6_15
- Tse, G., Yan, B. P., Chan, Y. W. F., Tian, X. Y., and Huang, Y. (2016).). Reactive oxygen species, endoplasmic reticulum stress and mitochondrial dysfunction: the link with cardiac arrhythmogenesis. *Front. Physiol.* 7:313. doi: 10.3389/ fphys.2016.00313
- Tuomainen, T., and Tavi, P. (2017). The role of cardiac energy metabolism in cardiac hypertrophy and failure. *Exp. Cell Res.* 360, 12–18. doi: 10.1016/j.yexcr. 2017.03.052
- Vajda, S., Baczkó, I., and Leprán, I. (2007). Selective cardiac plasma-membrane K(ATP) channel inhibition is defibrillatory and improves survival during acute myocardial ischemia and reperfusion. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 577, 115–123. doi: 10.1016/j.ejphar.2007.08.016
- Van Der Zwaag, P. A., Van Rijsingen, I. A. W., De Ruiter, R., Nannenberg, E. A., Groeneweg, J. A., Post, J. G., et al. (2013). Recurrent and founder mutations in the Netherlands - phospholamban p.Arg14del mutation causes arrhythmogenic cardiomyopathy. Netherlands Heart J. 21, 286–293. doi: 10.1007/s12471-013-0401-3
- van Opbergen, C. J. M., Delmar, M., and van Veen, T. A. B. (2017). Potential new mechanisms of pro-arrhythmia in arrhythmogenic cardiomyopathy: focus on calcium sensitive pathways. *Netherlands Hear. J.* 25, 157–169. doi: 10.1007/ s12471-017-0946-7
- Viola, H. M., Arthur, P. G., and Hool, L. C. (2007). Transient exposure to hydrogen peroxide causes an increase in mitochondria-derived superoxide as a result of sustained alteration in L-Type Ca 2+ channel function in the absence of apoptosis in ventricular myocytes. *Circ. Res.* 100, 1036–1044. doi: 10.1161/01. RES.0000263010.19273.48
- Voigt, N., Li, N., Wang, Q., Wang, W., Trafford, A. W., Abu-Taha, I., et al. (2012). Enhanced sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca 2+ leak and increased Na + -Ca 2+ exchanger function underlie delayed afterdepolarizations in patients with chronic atrial fibrillation. *Circulation* 125, 2059–2070. doi: 10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.111.067306
- Wagner, S., Dybkova, N., Rasenack, E. C. L., Jacobshagen, C., Fabritz, L., Kirchhof, P., et al. (2006). Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II regulates cardiac Na+ channels. J. Clin. Invest. 116, 3127–3138. doi: 10.1172/JCI26620
- Wagner, S., Ruff, H. M., Weber, S. L., Bellmann, S., Sowa, T., Schulte, T., et al. (2011). Reactive oxygen species–activated Ca/Calmodulin kinase IIδ is required for Late *I* Na augmentation leading to cellular Na and Ca overload. *Circ. Res.* 108, 555–565. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.110.221911
- Williams, G. S. B., Boyman, L., and Lederer, W. J. (2015). Mitochondrial calcium and the regulation of metabolism in the heart. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 78, 35–45. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2014.10.019
- Wirth, K. J., Rosenstein, B., Uhde, J., Englert, H. C., Busch, A. E., and Schölkens, B. A. (1999). ATP-sensitive potassium channel blocker HMR 1883 reduces mortality and ischemia-associated electrocardiographic changes in pigs with coronary occlusion. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 291, 474–481.
- Xu, J., Chen, L., and Li, L. (2018). Pannexin hemichannels: a novel promising therapy target for oxidative stress related diseases. J. Cell. Physiol. 233, 2075– 2090. doi: 10.1002/jcp.25906
- Yang, K.-C., Bonini, M. G., and Dudley, S. C. Jr. (2014). Mitochondria and arrhythmias. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 71, 351–361. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed. 2014.03.033
- Yang, K.-C., Kyle, J. W., Makielski, J. C., and Dudley, S. Jr. (2015). Mechanisms of sudden cardiac death: oxidants and metabolism. *Circ. Res.* 116, 1937–1955. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.116.304691
- Yang, R., Ernst, P., Song, J., Liu, X. M., Huke, S., Wang, S., et al. (2018). mitochondrial-mediated oxidative Ca2+/Calmodulin-Dependent kinase II activation induces early afterdepolarizations in guinea pig cardiomyocytes: an in silico study. J. Am. Heart Assoc. 7, e008939. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.118.008939
- Yao, L., Fan, P., Jiang, Z., Viatchenko-Karpinski, S., Wu, Y., Kornyeyev, D., et al. (2011). Nav1.5-dependent persistent Na+ influx activates CaMKII in rat ventricular myocytes and N1325S mice. *Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol.* 301, C577–C586. doi: 10.1152/ajpcell.00125.2011
- Zhang, J., Corciulo, C., Liu, H., Wilder, T., Ito, M., and Cronstein, B. (2017). Adenosine A2a receptor blockade diminishes Wnt/β-Catenin signaling in a murine model of bleomycin-induced dermal fibrosis. Am. J. Pathol. 187, 1935– 1944. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2017.05.005

- Zhang, J., Wang, X., Vikash, V., Ye, Q., Wu, D., Liu, Y., et al. (2016). ROS and ROS-Mediated cellular signaling. *Oxid. Med. Cell. Longev.* 2016:4350965. doi: 10.1155/2016/4350965
- Zhang, L., Deng, T., Sun, Y., Liu, K., Yang, Y., and Zheng, X. (2008). Role for nitric oxide in permeability of hippocampal neuronal hemichannels during oxygen glucose deprivation. J. Neurosci. Res. 86, 2281–2291. doi: 10.1002/jnr. 21675
- Zheng, G., Jiang, C., Li, Y., Yang, D., Ma, Y., Zhang, B., et al. (2019). TMEM43-S358L mutation enhances NF-κB-TGFβ signal cascade in arrhythmogenic right ventricular dysplasia/cardiomyopathy. *Protein Cell* 10, 104–119. doi: 10.1007/ s13238-018-0563-2

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 van Opbergen, den Braven, Delmar and van Veen. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





cBIN1 Score (CS) Identifies Ambulatory HFrEF Patients and Predicts Cardiovascular Events

Tara C. Hitzeman^{1†}, Yu Xie^{2†}, Ronit H. Zadikany^{2†}, Andriana P. Nikolova², Rachel Baum^{1,2}, Ana-Maria Caldaruse², Sosse Agvanian², Gil Y. Melmed³, Dermot P. B. McGovern³, Dael R. Geft², David H. Chang², Jaime D. Moriguchi², Antoine Hage², Babak Azarbal², Lawrence S. Czer², Michelle M. Kittleson², Jignesh K. Patel², Alan H. B. Wu⁴, Jon A. Kobashigawa², Michele Hamilton², TingTing Hong^{2*} and Robin M. Shaw^{1*}

¹ Nora Eccles Harrison Cardiovascular Research and Training Institute, University of Utah, Salt Lake City, UT, United States,

⁴ Department of Laboratory Medicine, University of California, San Francisco, San Francisco, CA, United States

² Department of Medicine, Cedars-Sinai Medical Center, Cedars-Sinai Smidt Heart Institute, Los Angeles, CA, United States, ³ Division of Gastroenterology, Department of Medicine, Cedars-Sinai Medical Center, Los Angeles, CA, United States,

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Ademuyiwa S. Aromolaran, Masonic Medical Research Institute (MMRI), United States

Reviewed by:

Peter John Mohler, The Ohio State University, United States David R. Van Wagoner, Case Western Reserve University, United States

*Correspondence:

TingTing Hong tingting.hong@cshs.org Robin M. Shaw robin.shaw@hsc.utah.edu

[†]These authors share first authorship

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cardiac Electrophysiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

> **Received:** 01 April 2020 **Accepted:** 24 April 2020 **Published:** 25 May 2020

Citation:

Hitzeman TC, Xie Y, Zadikany RH, Nikolova AP, Baum R, Caldaruse A-M, Agvanian S, Melmed GY, McGovern DPB, Geft DR, Chang DH, Moriguchi JD, Hage A, Azarbal B, Czer LS, Kittleson MM, Patel JK, Wu AHB, Kobashigawa JA, Hamilton M, Hong T and Shaw RM (2020) cBIN1 Score (CS) Identifies Ambulatory HFrEF Patients and Predicts Cardiovascular Events. Front. Physiol. 11:503. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2020.00503 **Background:** Cardiac Bridging Integrator 1 (cBIN1) is a membrane deformation protein that generates calcium microdomains at cardiomyocyte t-tubules, whose transcription is reduced in heart failure, and is released into blood. cBIN1 score (CS), an inverse index of plasma cBIN1, measures cellular myocardial remodeling. In patients with heart failure with preserved ejection fraction (HFpEF), CS diagnoses ambulatory heart failure and prognosticates hospitalization. The performance of CS has not been tested in patients with heart failure with reduced ejection fraction (HFrEF).

Methods and Results: CS was determined from plasma of patients recruited in a prospective study. Two comparative cohorts consisted of 158 ambulatory HFrEF patients (left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF) \leq 40%, 57 \pm 10 years, 80% men) and 115 age and sex matched volunteers with no known history of HF. N-terminal pro-B-type natriuretic peptide (NT-proBNP) concentrations were also analyzed for comparison. CS follows a normal distribution with a median of 0 in the controls, which increases to a median of 1.9 (p < 0.0001) in HFrEF patients. CS correlates with clinically assessed New York Heart Association Class (p = 0.007). During 1-year follow-up, a high CS (\geq 1.9) in patients predicts increased cardiovascular events (43% vs. 26%, p = 0.01, hazard ratio 1.9). Compared to a model with demographics, clinical risk factors, and NT-proBNP, adding CS to the model improved the overall continuous net reclassification improvement (NRI 0.64; 95% CI 0.18-1.10; p = 0.006). Although performance for diagnosis and prognosis was similar to CS, NT-proBNP did not prognosticate between patients whose NT-proBNP values were > 400 pg/ml.

Conclusion: CS, which is mechanistically distinct from NT-proBNP, successfully differentiates myocardial health between patients with HFrEF and matched controls. A high CS reflects advanced NYHA stage, pathologic cardiac muscle remodeling, and predicts 1-year risk of cardiovascular events in ambulatory HFrEF patients. CS is a marker of myocardial remodeling in HFrEF patients, independent of volume status.

Keywords: heart failure, cardiac muscle remodeling, ion channels, calcium handling, cBIN1 score

INTRODUCTION

Heart failure (HF) is currently one of the most burdensome global public health problems. This complex, progressive condition is caused by a cascade of pathophysiologic insults that lead to abnormally functioning myocardium, which at the myocyte level is associated with disturbed intracellular calcium homeostasis and impaired mitochondrial function and cellular metabolism. The current prevalence of HF among adults in the United States is 6.2 million and is projected to keep increasing over the next 10 years (Virani et al., 2020). Half of this population have reduced ejection fraction (HFrEF) with high morbidity and mortality mainly caused by cardiac pump failure and sudden cardiac death. Clinical management remains challenging, with a total cost of care greater than \$30 billion per year. HF hospitalizations are already the highest single cost to Medicare for Americans over the age of 65, and this expense is expected to increase (Go et al., 2014). The substantial burden of this disease represents a healthcare and economic imperative to assess the health of cardiac muscle and use that information to limit future hospitalizations.

Unlike with most cancers which have advanced tissue based molecular diagnostics, our current methods at assessing prognosis in heart failure are more limited to status quo hemodynamics and organ function assessments (Murray et al., 2005; Chow and Senderovich, 2018; Zadikany et al., 2019). Current guidelines define HFrEF patients as having transthoracic echocardiogram obtained left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF) of less than 40% (Yancy et al., 2013). Traditional diagnostic tools for assessing the severity of HFrEF include not only the transthoracic echocardiogram (Loeppky et al., 1984), but New York Heart Association (NYHA) assessment (Dickstein et al., 2008), cardiopulmonary exercise testing (Weber and Janicki, 1985; Corra et al., 2002), and cardiac index obtained from right heart catheterization (Ganz et al., 1971). These assessments provide valuable information regarding overall cardiac function (Ponikowski et al., 2016). However, because these assessments will vary with loading conditions, they do not necessarily correlate with intrinsic myocardial health. Furthermore, current cardiac assessment tools often require specialized equipment and highly trained medical staff, limiting accessibility for patients being seen in a general clinician's office. Clinicians could be well served with a quantitative blood-based tool that is able to effectively assess the molecular health and reserve of cardiac muscle to assist with critical clinical decision making such as the need for left ventricular assist device (LVAD) and implantable cardioverter defibrillator (ICD), as well as heart transplant priorities.

The gold standard biomarkers to assess patients with HF symptoms are the brain natriuretic peptide (BNP) family (Sun et al., 2014). Both BNP and its more stable and nonactive version, N-terminal prohormone BNP (NT-proBNP) are secreted by cardiomyocytes in response to pressure and stretch. Active BNP results in a downstream natriuresis, diuresis, and vasodilatation (Lee and Daniels, 2016). As stretch-response molecules, blood available BNP biomarkers help assess fluid status and assist in evaluating patients with acute dyspnea (Januzzi et al., 2005). However, NT-proBNP is not more effective than a usual care strategy in high-risk patients with HFrEF (Felker et al., 2017). Furthermore, BNP values are affected by renal function and body mass index (BMI) (Myhre et al., 2018). Taken together, HF diagnosis and management of ambulatory patients could benefit from a quantitative assessment of the health of cardiac muscle that is insensitive to volume, BMI, or non-cardiac organ function.

Cardiac bridging integrator 1 (cBIN1) score (CS), a novel biomarker of HF, has recently been introduced as a diagnostic and prognostic test in patients with heart failure with preserved ejection fraction (HFpEF) (Nikolova et al., 2018). cBIN1 is a cardiac-specific transverse tubule (t-tubule) membrane sculpting protein, functioning to organize microdomains responsible for calcium release and excitation-contraction (EC) coupling (Hong et al., 2014), as well as efficient diastolic calcium reuptake (Liu et al., in press). In doing so, cBIN1 helps maintain intracellular calcium homeostasis particularly at functionally important microenvironment adjoining t-tubule, junctional sarcoplasmic reticulum, and mitochondria. As a result, low cardiomyocyte cBIN1, which is also measurable at the plasma level (Xu et al., 2017), is intrinsically linked to cardiac inotropy (Hong et al., 2012), lusitropy (Liu et al., in press), and arrhythmia risks (Hong et al., 2014) particularly during stress response (Fu et al., 2016). Derived from the inverse of plasma cBIN1 level (Nikolova et al., 2018), CS rises with worsening HF. In this study, we explored whether CS has the potential to diagnose HFrEF when compared with matched controls. We also explored CS's ability, within the HFrEF cohort, to accurately predict future cardiac events.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Design

All human studies were approved by the institutional review board at Cedars-Sinai Medical Center. Full informed consent was obtained from all subjects prior to participation in the study. The study involved two human populations, including patients with documented HFrEF and volunteers with no known history of HF.

The HFrEF cohort, followed longitudinally in the Advanced Heart Failure clinic at Cedars-Sinai Smidt Heart Institute, consisted of those in the clinic with a known diagnosis of HFrEF (left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF) \leq 40% and history of HF). From July 2014–November 2015, 158 patients were enrolled and a blood sample was obtained from patients at the time of clinic-scheduled phlebotomy. Patients with LVEF > 40% at the time of enrollment were excluded. Patient demographics, clinical information, medications, and laboratory and diagnostic test results were gathered from the hospital electronic medical records into a secure de-identified database. Subsequent clinical information was updated from chart review occurring every 3 months for 1 year.

The comparison cohort, consisting of 115 age and sex matched volunteers with no known history of HF, was obtained from the Cedars-Sinai MIRIAD IBD Consortium and Innovative Research, under similar plasma collection and preparation as the HFrEF samples. A clinical history, including patient demographics, medical history, and current medications was obtained from each volunteer.

Sample Processing and CS Determination

Whole venous blood was drawn into EDTA lavender tubes, stored immediately at 4°C for less than 4 h, and then processed to plasma and flash frozen for storage at -80° C prior to use, as previously described (Nikolova et al., 2018). The concentration of cBIN1 was determined using a cBIN1 specific sandwich-ELISA assay provided by Sarcotein Diagnostics, as previously described (Xu et al., 2017). Findings are reported using CS, the natural log of the inverse of cBIN1 plasma concentration (Nikolova et al., 2018), which increases as cBIN1 decreases.

NT-proBNP Assay

NT-proBNP values were obtained from the plasma of control and HFrEF patients. The Cedars-Sinai Medical Center clinical laboratory referred samples to Quest Diagnostics Laboratory to perform the NT-proBNP assay using electrochemiluminescence.

Cardiac Event Defined as the Primary Outcome During Follow-Up

Cardiac events were predefined as any HF or cardiac hospitalization, left ventricular assist device (LVAD) or mechanical circulatory support (MCS) placement, orthotopic heart transplantation (OHT), or death within the 1 year after time of blood draw. All chart review and adjudication were done by a two-physician panel, who were not involved in the clinical care of the patients (YX and RZ).

Statistical Analysis

Data distributions were assessed for normality by the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. Continuous variables with normal distributions were expressed as means and standard deviations and compared using two-sided t-tests. Continuous variables with non-normal distributions were analyzed with medians and interquartile ranges (IQR) and compared using Mann-Whitney U and Kruskal-Wallis tests. Categorical variables were compared using Fisher's exact or chi-square test. Receiver operating characteristic (ROC) analyses were performed to determine the sensitivity and specificity of CS and NT-proBNP to diagnose HF. Kaplan-Meier and Cox-proportional hazard analyses were used to compare the differences in event-free survival rates between patients with high and low values of CS. Model one included age, sex, BMI, NYHA class, LVEF, estimated glomular filtration rate (eGFR), and NT-proBNP. Model two included the same covariants with CS added to it. To determine the increase in discriminative value to predict 1 year outcomes following the addition of CS as a covariant in the survival model, we evaluated continuous net reclassification improvement (NRI). Two-sided *p*-values were reported and a p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant. Statistical analyses were conducted using SAS Version 9.3.1 software (SAS Institute, Inc.), RStudio Version 1.0.143 (RStudio, Inc.), and GraphPad Prism Version 6 (GraphPad Software).

RESULTS

Study Cohorts

158 HFrEF patients (57 \pm 10 years old, 80% men) were age and sex matched to 115 volunteers with no known history of HF (54 \pm 6 years old, 80% men) (**Table 1**). The HFrEF cohort consisted of 55 (35%) ischemic and 101 (64%) nonischemic patients. Most of the non-ischemic patients have idiopathic cardiomyopathy (68%), with the remainder due to valvular disease, toxin-mediated disease, or infiltrative disease. Most patients were classified as New York Heart Association (NYHA) II or III (35 and 48%, respectively) and the prevalence of comorbidities was 45% hypertension, 37% diabetes, and 23% chronic kidney disease. The baseline median LVEF on transthoracic echocardiography was 24 \pm 8%. Patients were

TABLE 1 | Baseline characteristics of HFrEF and matched controls.

Characteristics (%)	Heart failure with reduced EF (n = 158)	Matched controls (n = 115)	<i>p</i> -value
Age (SD)	57 ± 10.4	54 ± 6.1	<0.001
\leq 50 years	39 (25)	29 (25)	NS
> 50 years	119 (75)	86 (75)	
Male	126 (80)	92 (80)	NS
White	93 (59)	67 (58)	NS
BMI, kg/m2 (SD)	29 ± 6.1	29 ± 5.6	NS
Hypertension	71 (45)	13 (11)	< 0.001
Diabetes	59 (37)	8 (7)	< 0.001
CKD	36 (23)		
LVEF	24 ± 8.1		
Medications			
Beta-Blockers	139 (88)		
ACE-I/ARB	120 (76)		
Diuretics	125 (79)		
NYHA			
1	21 (13)		
1	55 (35)		
Ш	76 (48)		
IV	6 (4)		
Subtype of heart failure			
Ischemic	55 (35)		
Non-Ischemic	101 (64)		
Valvular	10 (10)		
Dilated	11 (11)		
Toxin	9 (9)		
Infiltrative	2 (2)		
Other	69 (68)		

HFrEF, heart failure with reduced ejection fraction; SD, standard deviation; BMI, body mass index; CKD, chronic kidney disease; LVEF, left ventricular ejection fraction; ACE-I, angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitor; ARB, angiotensin receptor blocker; NYHA, New York Heart Association.



treated with guideline-directed medical therapy by the Cedars-Sinai Advanced Heart Disease group.

CS Is Elevated in Patients With HFrEF

Violin plots of CS in HFrEF and matched controls are shown in **Figure 1**. The HFrEF cohort median CS is elevated relative to the controls, 1.9 (IQR 1.4–2.4; mean \pm SD 1.9 \pm 0.7) compared to 0 (IQR -0.5–0.7; mean \pm SD 0.1 \pm 0.9), respectively (p < 0.0001), with an approximately normal distribution in both cohorts. The HFrEF cohort median of ln NT-proBNP level, 7.0 (IQR 6.0–8.1), is also significantly elevated compared to the median level of the control cohort, 3.3 (IQR 2.7–4.1), with p < 0.0001 (**Supplementary Figure S1**). NT-proBNP levels (pg/ml) have a median of 28 (IQR 15–60) in controls and a median of 1,081 (IQR 409–3,419) in HFrEF patients.

Median CS (**Table 2**) and NT-proBNP (**Supplementary Table S1**) values were analyzed among different subgroups of demographics and clinical parameters. CS and NT-proBNP do not vary with sex or age. Unlike NT-proBNP, CS does not differ among BMI categories (normal, overweight, and obese) in controls or HFrEF patients. Among HFrEF patients with normal vs. decreased estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR < 60 ml/min/m²), CS does not differ (1.8 and 1.9, respectively), while patients with worsening eGFR had increased NT-proBNP levels (p = 0.01). CS an NT-proBNP correlate with clinically assessed New York Heart Association Class (p = 0.007 and p < 0.001, respectively). The lack of association with CS and obesity or renal function is consistent with results previously reported in patients with HFpEF and matched controls (Nikolova et al., 2018).

CS Diagnoses Failing Heart Muscle

Since CS is higher in HFrEF patients than controls, we generated receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curves for CS and NT-proBNP, adjusting for age, sex, and BMI (**Figure 2**). The area

under the curve (AUC) of the ROC indicates that both CS (AUC = 0.973, red) and NT-proBNP (AUC = 0.967, blue) distinguish patients with HF from the control population. When CS and NT-proBNP were combined, the ability to determine HF from the control population, while already strong, still improved with statistical significance (AUC = 0.995, green, p = 0.01) suggesting that CS (muscle health) and NT-proBNP (intracardiac volume) can be complementary.

Elevated CS Prognosticates Cardiovascular Hospitalization in HFrEF Patients

Next, we explored whether, in addition to its diagnostic value, CS can serve as a prognostic marker in predicting future clinical outcomes in patients with HFrEF. During the 12-month followup period, we found that 66 patients (42%) had at least one cardiovascular (CV) event: 41 (26%) patients had a HF-related hospitalization, 16 (10%) patients with a hospitalization diagnosis that was cardiac, but not HF, in origin, 31 (20%) patients had OHT, 4 (3%) went onto MCS or LVAD, and 9 (6%) patients died (6 of which were due to cardiac etiology). Kaplan-Meier survival curves were generated (Figure 3A). The median CS level of 1.9 (drawn at the initial visit) was used as a cutoff to differentiate high verse low CS (Nikolova et al., 2018). A cutoff higher than the median of 1.9 further increases specificity of 12-month event free survival (Figure 3B). Using a model including age, sex, BMI, NYHA class, LVEF, eGFR, and NT-proBNP (Table 3), the hazard ratio (HR) of a high CS > 1.9 predicting CV event rate among HFrEF patients during 1 year of follow-up was 1.9 (43 vs. 26%, p = 0.03). The addition of CS ≥ 1.9 significantly improved continuous net reclassification improvement (NRI 0.64; 95% CI 0.18-1.10; p = 0.006).

For NT-proBNP, the Kaplan-Meier survival curve using the median NT-proBNP cutoff value of 1078 pg/ml, was not quite significant in predicting 1-year CV event (40 vs. 28%, p = 0.06). Interestingly, the prognostic power of NT-proBNP was in the low values (<409 pg/ml in the 1st quartile) (**Supplementary Figure S2**). A low NT-proBNP predicted CV events with a HR of 3.3 (40 vs. 19%, p = 0.03). There was no significant prognostication in patients with NT-proBNP greater than 409 pg/ml.

DISCUSSION

The prevalence of HFrEF is increasing over time as our population continues to age, making this clinical syndrome a significant public health concern. The diagnosis of HF remains complex, involving a combination of history taking, physical examination, labs, imaging, and functional studies. Among the existing armamentarium of HF diagnostics, there is currently no invasive or non-invasive tool to measure intrinsic cardiomyocyte remodeling. CS can be used as a blood available biomarker to assist in this clinical need.

In pre-clinical animal models, pathophysiological changes in cardiomyocytes of failing hearts such as t-tubule remodeling is considered the transition point from functional compensation to TABLE 2 | CS among subgroups in matched controls and HFrEF patients.

Sex NS NS NS Men 92 0.0 -0.5-0.8 126 1.9 1.4-2.3 Women 23 0.0 -0.3-0.4 126 1.9 1.4-2.3 Age (years) NS NS .55 48 0.1 -0.5-0.7 54 1.8 1.5-2.1 ≥ 55 48 0.1 -0.6-0.7 104 2.0 1.4-2.4 Pace/Ethnicity NS .54 1.8 1.5-2.1 .0.0 White 67 0.1 -0.6-0.8 93 1.8 1.3-2.1 Black 24 0.0 -0.5-0.9 26 2.1 1.8-2.6 Mile (s/m²) . . .50 1.6 1.3-2.3 Mile (s/m²) . . .50 1.6 1.4-2.4 Overweight (25-29.9) 34 0.0 -0.6-0.7 29 1.9 1.4-2.4 Obesity (25) 14 -0.2 -0.4-0.7 165 1.9 1.4-2.4 Obesity (25) 14 -0.2 -0.4-0.7 165 1.9	Characteristics	N	Matched controls	IQR (Q1-Q3)	p-value	Ν	HFrEF	IQR (Q1-Q3)	<i>p</i> -value
<table-container>Men920.0-0.5-0.81261.91.4-2.3Women230.0-0.3-0.4321.91.3-2.4Age (vars)NSNSNS< 5567-0.1-0.5-0.7541.81.5-2.1255480.1-0.6-0.7541.81.5-2.1Bace/EthniotyNS0.031.81.3-2.10.03Whte670.1-0.6-0.8931.81.3-2.1Black240.1-0.6-0.9262.11.8-2.6Asian091.61.3-2.3Mt (kg/m²)NNSNSNSNormal (25)320.0-0.5-0.7291.91.4-2.4Overweight (25-29.9)340.0-0.4-0.7651.91.4-2.4Overweight (25-29.9)340.0-0.4-0.7291.91.4-2.4Overweight (25-29.9)340.0-0.4-0.7291.91.4-2.4Overweight (25-29.9)340.0-0.4-0.7251.01.4-2.4Overweight (25-29.9)340.0-0.4-0.7251.91.4-2.4Obes (30-34.9)25-0.1-1.0-0.4382.01.5-2.5Moral (25)14-0.2-0.4-0.7251.91.4-2.4Obes (30-34.9)25-0.1-1.0-0.4382.01.5-2.5Selfer (Ir/Im/Im²)1.4-0.2-0.61.6</table-container>	All patients	115	0.0	-0.5-0.7	-	158	1.9	1.4-2.4	-
<table-container>Women230.0-0.3-0.4321.91.3-2.4Age (vers)NSNS< 55</table-container>	Sex				NS				NS
Age (years) NS NS < 55 67 -0.1 $-0.5-0.7$ 54 1.8 $1.5-2.1$ ≥ 55 48 0.1 $-0.4-0.7$ 104 2.0 $1.4-2.4$ Race/Ethnicity NS	Men	92	0.0	-0.5-0.8		126	1.9	1.4-2.3	
< 55 67 -0.1 $-0.5-0.7$ 54 1.8 $1.5-2.1$ ≥ 55 48 0.1 $-0.4-0.7$ 104 2.0 $1.4-2.4$ Race/Ethnicity NS NS NS NS NS White 67 0.1 $-0.6-0.8$ 93 1.8 $1.3-2.1$ Black 24 0.0 $-0.5-0.7$ 9 1.6 $1.3-2.3$ Asian 0 $ 9$ 1.6 $1.3-2.3$ Vormal (< 25) 32 0.0 $-0.5-0.7$ 9 1.9 $1.4-2.4$ Obese ($30-34.9$) 25 -0.1 $-1.0-0.4$ 38 2.0 $1.7-2.5$ Morbid Obesity (255) 14 -0.2 $-0.4-0.1$ 25 1.7 $1.4-2.4$ Obese ($30-34.9$) 25 -0.1 $-1.0-0.4$ 38 2.0 $1.5-2.5$ Norbid Obesity (255) 14 -0.2 $-0.4-0.1$ 25 1.7 $1.2.3$ Storbid MirdEF 16 $1.4-2.4$	Women	23	0.0	-0.3-0.4		32	1.9	1.3-2.4	
\$\$55 48 0.1 -0.4-0.7 104 2.0 1.4-2.4 Race/Ethnicity 67 0.1 -0.6-0.8 93 1.8 1.3-2.1 Black 24 0.0 -0.5-0.9 26 2.1 1.8-2.6 Asian 0 -0 -0.3-0.4 28 2.0 1.5-2.5 Asian 0 -0 -0 9 1.6 1.3-2.3 BM (kg/m ²) 32 0.0 -0.5-0.7 29 1.9 1.4-2.4 Obese (30-34.9) 32 0.0 -0.5-0.7 29 1.9 1.4-2.4 Obese (30-34.9) 32 0.0 -0.4-0.7 65 1.9 1.4-2.4 Obese (30-34.9) 32 -0.1 -1.0-0.4 38 2.0 1.7-2.5 Korbid Obesity (\$55) 14 -0.2 -0.4-0.1 25 1.7 1.1-2.1 Korbid Obesity (\$55) 14 -0.2 -0.4-0.1 25 1.7 1.4-2.3 Korbid Obesity (\$55) 14 -0.2 -0.4-0.1 1.9 1.4-2.3 Korbid Obesity (\$	Age (years)				NS				NS
Race/Ethnicity NS 0.03 White 67 0.1 -0.6-0.8 93 1.8 1.3-2.1 Black 24 0.0 -0.5-0.9 26 2.1 1.8-2.6 Hispanic 24 -0.1 -0.3-0.4 28 2.0 1.8-2.6 Asian 0 -0 -0.3-0.4 28 2.0 1.8-2.6 SMI (sg/m) X -0.3 -0.6 28 2.0 1.8-2.6 Normal (-25) 32 0.0 -0.5-0.7 29 1.9 1.4-2.4 Overweight (25-29.9) 34 0.0 -0.4-0.7 65 1.9 1.4-2.4 Overweight (25-29.9) 34 0.0 -0.4-0.1 25 1.7 1.1-2.1 Morbid Obesity (>35) 14 -0.2 -0.4-0.1 25 1.7 1.1-2.1 Ethology Sectemic HFrEF 5 2.0 1.5-2.5 NS soft KHY Sectemic HFrEF 1.9 1.4-2.4 NS soft Sectemic HFrEF 1.6 1.8-2.3 1.4-2.5	< 55	67	-0.1	-0.5-0.7		54	1.8	1.5-2.1	
White 67 0.1 $-0.6-0.8$ 93 1.8 $1.3-2.1$ Black 24 0.0 $-0.5-0.9$ 26 2.1 $1.8-2.6$ Hispanic 24 -0.1 $-0.3-0.4$ 28 2.0 $1.5-2.5$ Asian 0 $ 9$ 1.6 $1.3-2.3$ BMI (kg/m ²) Ns Ns Ns Ns Normal (<25) 32 0.0 $-0.5-0.7$ 29 1.9 $1.4+2.4$ Obese ($30-34.9$) 25 -0.1 $-1.0-0.4$ 38 2.0 $1.7-2.5$ Morbid Obesity (253) 14 -0.2 $-0.4-0.1$ 25 1.7 $1.1-2.1$ Etology Etology 1.6 $1.5-2.5$ 1.5 1.6 $1.5-2.5$ Non-ischemic HFrEF 55 2.0 $1.5-2.5$ 1.5 < 60 1.6 $1.3-2.0$ $1.5-2.5$ 1.5 NYHA $1.5-2.3$ $1.5-2.3$ $1.5-2.3$ $1.5-2.3$ $1.5-2.3$ III 1.5 1.6	≥ 55	48	0.1	-0.4-0.7		104	2.0	1.4-2.4	
Black 24 0.0 -0.5-0.9 26 2.1 1.8-2.6 Hispanic 24 -0.1 -0.3-0.4 28 2.0 1.5-2.5 Asian 0 - - 9 1.6 1.3-2.3 BMI (kg/m ²) N NS NS NS Normal (<25)	Race/Ethnicity				NS				0.03
Hispanic 24 -0.1 -0.3-0.4 28 2.0 1.5-2.5 Asian 0 - - 9 1.6 1.3-2.3 BMI (kg/m ²) NS NS NS Normal (<25)	White	67	0.1	-0.6-0.8		93	1.8	1.3-2.1	
Asian 0 - - 9 1.6 1.3-2.3 BMI (kg/m ²) NS NS Normal (<25) 32 0.0 -0.5-0.7 29 1.9 1.4-2.4 Overweight (25-29.9) 34 0.0 -0.4-0.7 65 1.9 1.4-2.4 Obese (30-34.9) 25 -0.1 -1.0-0.4 38 2.0 1.7-2.5 Morbid Obesity (253) 14 -0.2 -0.4-0.1 25 1.7 1.1-2.1 Etiology 25 -0.1 -1.0-0.4 38 2.0 1.7-2.5 Non-ischemic HFrEF 5 2.0 1.5-2.5 0.0 RefFR (ml/min/m ²) - 94 1.9 1.5-2.2 Solo - 94 1.9 1.5-2.3 NYHA - 21 1.6 1.3-2.0 NH - - 0.07 I 1.5 1.0 1.5 NH - 1.6 1.3-2.0 NH - 1.5 1.6 I 1.6 1.3-2.0 NHA - 1.6 1.3-2.0 I 1.6 1.3-2.0 1.6 I 1.6 1.3 1.4 <td>Black</td> <td>24</td> <td>0.0</td> <td>-0.5-0.9</td> <td></td> <td>26</td> <td>2.1</td> <td>1.8-2.6</td> <td></td>	Black	24	0.0	-0.5-0.9		26	2.1	1.8-2.6	
BMI (kg/m ²) NS NS Normal (<25)	Hispanic	24	-0.1	-0.3-0.4		28	2.0	1.5–2.5	
Normal (-25) 32 0.0 -0.5-0.7 29 1.9 1.4-2.4 Overweight (25-29.9) 34 0.0 -0.4-0.7 65 1.9 1.4-2.4 Obese (30-34.9) 25 -0.1 -1.0-0.4 38 2.0 1.7-2.5 Morbid Obesity (≥35) 14 -0.2 -0.4-0.1 25 1.7 1.1-2.1 Etiology 14 -0.2 -0.4-0.1 25 2.0 1.5-2.5 Non-ischemic HFrEF 101 1.9 1.4-2.3 NS eGFR (m/min/m ²) 94 1.9 1.5-2.2 NS <60	Asian	0	-	-		9	1.6	1.3–2.3	
Norweight (25-29.9) 34 0.0 $-0.4-0.7$ 65 1.9 $1.4-2.4$ Obese (30-34.9) 25 -0.1 $-1.0-0.4$ 38 2.0 $1.7-2.5$ Morbid Obesity (≥ 35) 14 -0.2 $-0.4-0.1$ 25 1.7 $1.1-2.1$ Etiology t -0.2 $-0.4-0.1$ 25 1.7 $1.1-2.1$ Schemic HFrEF t 55 2.0 $1.5-2.5$ t Non-ischemic HFrEF t 55 2.0 $1.5-2.5$ t schemic HFrEF t <td>BMI (kg/m²)</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>NS</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>NS</td>	BMI (kg/m ²)				NS				NS
Note of the set of the	Normal (<25)	32	0.0	-0.5-0.7		29	1.9	1.4-2.4	
Morbid Obesity (\geq 35) 14 -0.2 $-0.4-0.1$ 25 1.7 $1.1-2.1$ Etiology 55 2.0 $1.5-2.5$ Non-ischemic HFrEF 101 1.9 $1.4-2.3$ eGFR (ml/min/m ²) NS <60	Overweight (25–29.9)	34	0.0	-0.4-0.7		65	1.9	1.4-2.4	
Etology NS Ischemic HFrEF 55 2.0 1.5–2.5 Non-ischemic HFrEF 101 1.9 1.4–2.3 eGFR (ml/min/m ²) NS <60	Obese (30–34.9)	25	-0.1	-1.0-0.4		38	2.0	1.7-2.5	
Non-ischemic HFrEF 55 2.0 1.5-2.5 Non-ischemic HFrEF 101 1.9 1.4-2.3 eGFR (ml/min/m²) NS <60	Morbid Obesity (≥35)	14	-0.2	-0.4-0.1		25	1.7	1.1-2.1	
Non-ischemic HFrEF 101 1.9 1.4-2.3 eGFR (ml/min/m²) NS <60	Etiology								NS
eGFR (ml/min/m²) NS <60	Ischemic HFrEF					55	2.0	1.5–2.5	
<60	Non-ischemic HFrEF					101	1.9	1.4-2.3	
>60 64 1.8 1.4-2.5 NYHA 21 1.6 1.3-2.0 I 21 1.6 1.3-2.0 II 55 1.8 1.5-2.3 IV 76 2.0 1.4-2.5 OHT 0.000 No 127 1.8 1.4-2.2	eGFR (ml/min/m ²)								NS
NYHA 21 1.6 1.3-2.0 I 55 1.8 1.5-2.3 II 76 2.0 1.4-2.5 IV 6 2.6 2.1-3.0 OHT 0.007 No 127 1.8 1.4-2.2	<60					94	1.9	1.5-2.2	
I 1.6 1.3-2.0 II 55 1.8 1.5-2.3 III 76 2.0 1.4-2.5 IV 6 2.6 2.1-3.0 OHT 0.0000 No 127 1.8 1.4-2.2	>60					64	1.8	1.4-2.5	
II 55 1.8 1.5–2.3 III 76 2.0 1.4–2.5 IV 6 2.6 2.1–3.0 OHT 0.0000 No 127 1.8 1.4–2.2	NYHA								0.007
III 76 2.0 1.4-2.5 IV 6 2.6 2.1-3.0 OHT 0.0000 No 127 1.8 1.4-2.2	I					21	1.6	1.3–2.0	
IV 6 2.6 2.1–3.0 OHT 0.0000 No 127 1.8 1.4–2.2	II					55	1.8	1.5–2.3	
OHT 0.000 No 127 1.8 1.4–2.2	III					76	2.0	1.4–2.5	
No 127 1.8 1.4–2.2	IV					6	2.6	2.1–3.0	
	ОНТ								0.0006
Yes 31 2.3 1.7–3.0	No					127	1.8	1.4–2.2	
	Yes					31	2.3	1.7–3.0	

HFrEF, heart failure with reduced ejection fraction; IQR, interquartile range; Q1, quartile 1; Q3, quartile 3; BMI, body mass index; eGFR, estimated glomular filtration rate; NYHA, New York Heart Association; OHT, orthotopic heart transplant.

decompensated heart failure (Wei et al., 2010). cBIN1 reductions are associated with t-tubule remodeling and the progression of heart failure (Hong et al., 2012, 2014; Xu et al., 2017). With recovery of muscle, cBIN1 levels also recover (Lyon et al., 2012). Given that cBIN1 is also blood available, CS provides a blood available "liquid biopsy" of cardiac muscle.

HF progression can be reflected by different biomarkers, with robust data demonstrating the ability of natriuretic peptides (BNP and NT-proBNP) to reflect myocardial wall stress (Iwanaga et al., 2006). As a marker of acute volume overload, the diagnostic utility of BNP peptides is well-validated in detecting acute decompensated HF (Januzzi et al., 2005). However, blood BNP values are affected by obesity and renal dysfunction, in addition to requiring adjustments for age and sex (Myhre et al., 2018). Furthermore, because natriuretic peptides are reflective of volume status, it can be difficult to use BNP as a marker to distinguish between patients with severe HFrEF and patients with non-cardiac origin volume overload, such as renal failure.

There is a need for additional HF biomarkers that can help identify the intrinsic health of cardiac muscle cells independent of volume status. Because CS reflects cardiac muscle cell health, it is stable and independent of fluctuations induced by intracardiac volume, inflammatory state, or body habitus (Nikolova et al., 2018). The characteristic performance of CS observed in the current HFrEF cohort indicates that a positive CS can help accurately identify failing heart muscle and is not sensitive to comorbid conditions. Thus, CS provides an unprecedent and non-invasive tool to help with evaluation of myocyte health from EC-coupling efficiency to electrical stability, determining individual's risks of pump failure and arrhythmias. As a signature footprint from myocytes, CS is therefore particularly important at many critical clinical decision-making points for HFrEF patients, guiding medical treatment choices, clinical surveillance intervals, criteria determination for LVAD and ICD implant, and evaluation of the need and the recovery potential of a heart transplant.



TABLE 3 | Risk of CV Event in HFrEF patients with multivariate Cox regression analysis.

Variables	Model without CS			Model with CS		
	HR	95% CI	p-value	HR	95% CI	p-value
Age, > 55 vs. < 55 years	0.88	0.45-1.72	0.71	0.95	0.49–1.86	0.88
Sex, female vs. male	0.45	0.20-1.03	0.06	0.47	0.20-1.07	0.07
BMI, kg/m ²	1.0	0.98-1.09	0.25	1.04	0.98-1.1	0.19
NYHA class, III-IV vs. I-II	2.75	1.39–5.43	<0.01	2.59	1.33–5.06	0.01
LVEF%	1.03	0.99–1.07	0.14	1.04	1.00-1.08	0.07
eGFR, ml/min/m ²	1.00	0.98–1.01	0.53	0.99	0.98–1.01	0.36
NT-proBNP, Q4 vs. Q1	3.05	1.00–9.30	0.05	3.30	1.1–10.0	0.03
CS, >1.9 vs. <1.9	-	-	-	1.93	1.07–3.48	0.03

CV, cardiovascular; HFrEF, heart failure with reduced ejection fraction; HR, hazard ratio; CI, confidence interval; eGFR, estimated glomular filtration rate; BMI, body mass index; NYHA, New York Heart Association; LVEF, left ventricular ejection fraction.

In this report we find that within a HFrEF cohort, a CS cutoff value of greater than 1.9 accurately predicts cardiac hospitalization during a 1 year follow-up period (**Figure 3**), as it did in a HFpEF cohort (Nikolova et al., 2018). In addition, our findings indicate that the addition of CS, to a model with established risk predictors, significantly improved risk classification for CV events in HFrEF patients. In an ambulatory clinic, a high CS may provide the added prognostic information needed to help sway the pendulum of clinical care toward more aggressive surveillance or escalating care to more advanced therapies. Conversely, an advanced HFrEF patient with a low, even normal CS, may indicate an ability to postpone advanced therapies and continue monitoring with periodic clinic visits.



hospitalization, cardiac hospitalization, LVAD, OHT, or death) during 12-months follow-up. A low CS (<1.9) predicted a higher event-free survival among all HFrEF patients ($\rho = 0.01$). **(B)** Scatterplot of 12-month event-free survival vs. CS for all CS \geq 1.9 indicates a negative correlation (Pearsons's correlation coefficient -0.91, ρ < 0.0001).

Clinical decompensation with a high CS would indicate failing heart, whereas clinical decompensation with a low CS could suggest extracardiac factors such as renal failure or medical non-compliance are dominating the clinical decline.

Limitations

This is a real-world single center clinical patient population with no exclusion criteria and the HFrEF patients had follow up at the discretion of clinical providers. We would like to reproduce these findings in a prospective multicenter HFrEF cohort. In keeping with our prior study, we used a CS cutoff of the median (1.9). Based on the data in **Figure 3B**, investigators may choose to use a higher cutoff than the median CS, which would improve test specificity.

CONCLUSION

A protein involved in cardiomyocyte t-tubule remodeling is blood available and can function as a biomarker that helps diagnose and prognosticate ambulatory HFrEF patients. The potential advantages of CS include early pre-clinical diagnosis in asymptomatic patients, differentiating cardiac origin volume overload from extracardiac source, prognosticating outcomes in stable ambulatory patients, and evaluating myocardial recovery once on a successful therapeutic regimen. In an era of ballooning health care costs, CS is a blood-available test that substantially adds to the assessment of ambulatory HFrEF.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The data that support the findings of this study are available from the corresponding author, RMS, upon reasonable request.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Cedars-Sinai Institutional Review Board. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

TCH, TTH, and RS contributed to conception and design of the study. TCH, YX, and RZ organized the database. TCH performed

REFERENCES

- Chow, J., and Senderovich, H. (2018). it's time to talk: challenges in providing integrated palliative care in advanced congestive Heart failure. a narrative review. *Curr. Cardiol. Rev.* 14, 128–137. doi: 10.2174/1573403X14666180123165203
- Corra, U., Mezzani, A., Bosimini, E., Scapellato, F., Imparato, A., and Giannuzzi, P. (2002). Ventilatory response to exercise improves risk stratification in patients with chronic heart failure and intermediate functional capacity. *Am. Heart J.* 143, 418–426. doi: 10.1067/mhj.2002.120772
- Dickstein, K., Cohen-Solal, A., Filippatos, G., McMurray, J. J., Ponikowski, P., Poole-Wilson, P. A., et al. (2008). ESC guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure 2008: the task force for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure 2008 of the European Society of Cardiology. Developed in collaboration with the Heart failure association of the ESC (HFA) and endorsed by the European Society of intensive care medicine (ESICM). *Eur. J. Heart Fail.* 10, 933–989.
- Felker, G. M., Anstrom, K. J., Adams, K. F., Ezekowitz, J. A., Fiuzat, M., Houston-Miller, N., et al. (2017). Effect of natriuretic peptide-guided therapy on hospitalization or cardiovascular mortality in high-risk patients with heart failure and reduced ejection fraction: a randomized clinical trial. *JAMA* 318, 713–720. doi: 10.1001/jama.2017.10565
- Fu, Y., Shaw, S. A., Naami, R., Vuong, C. L., Basheer, W. A., Guo, X., et al. (2016). Isoproterenol promotes rapid ryanodine receptor movement to bridging integrator 1 (BIN1)-organized dyads. *Circulation* 133, 388–397. doi: 10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.115.018535

the statistical analysis. YX wrote the first draft of the manuscript. TCH, YX, RZ, AN, MK, MH, AW, TTH, and RS wrote sections of the manuscript. GM, DM, DG, DC, JM, AH, BA, LC, MK, JP, JK, and MH consented patients and collected patient samples. RB, A-MC, and SA ran ELISA assays.

FUNDING

Funding for this research including NIH/NHLBI HL133286, HL152691, and HL138577. The MIRIAD IBD Biobank is supported by the Widjaja Foundation Inflammatory Bowel and Immunobiology Research Institute, NIH/NIDDK Grant No. P01DK046763, The European Union Grant No. 305479, NIH/NIDDK Grant No. DK062413, and The Leona M. and Harry B. Helmsley Charitable Trust.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Sarcotein Diagnostics (www.sarcotein.com) for providing the ELISA-based CS assay (Nikolova et al., 2018). Sarcotein Diagnostics has recently generated a standardized version of the CS assay for general use. To avoid confusion in CS values, future studies should use new standardized assay.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fphys. 2020.00503/full#supplementary-material

- Ganz, W., Donoso, R., Marcus, H. S., Forrester, J. S., and Swan, H. J. (1971). A new technique for measurement of cardiac output by thermodilution in man. Am. J. Cardiol. 27, 392–396.
- Go, A. S., Mozaffarian, D., Roger, V. L., Benjamin, E. J., Berry, J. D., Blaha, M. J., et al. (2014). Heart disease and stroke statistics–2014 update: a report from the American Heart Association. *Circulation* 129, e28–e292.
- Hong, T., Yang, H., Zhang, S. S., Cho, H. C., Kalashnikova, M., Sun, B., et al. (2014). Cardiac BIN1 folds T-tubule membrane, controlling ion flux and limiting arrhythmia. *Nat. Med.* 20, 624–632. doi: 10.1038/nm.3543
- Hong, T. T., Smyth, J. W., Chu, K. Y., Vogan, J. M., Fong, T. S., Jensen, B. C., et al. (2012). BIN1 is reduced and Cav1.2 trafficking is impaired in human failing cardiomyocytes. *Heart Rhythm.* 9, 812–820. doi: 10.1016/j.hrthm.2011.11.055
- Iwanaga, Y., Nishi, I., Furuichi, S., Noguchi, T., Sase, K., Kihara, Y., et al. (2006). B-type natriuretic peptide strongly reflects diastolic wall stress in patients with chronic heart failure: comparison between systolic and diastolic heart failure. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 47, 742–748. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2005.11.030
- Januzzi, J. L. Jr., Camargo, C. A., Anwaruddin, S., Baggish, A. L., Chen, A. A., Krauser, D. G., et al. (2005). The N-terminal Pro-BNP investigation of dyspnea in the emergency department (PRIDE) study. *Am J Cardiol* 95, 948–954. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2004.12.032
- Lee, N. S., and Daniels, L. B. (2016). Current understanding of the compensatory actions of cardiac natriuretic peptides in cardiac failure: a clinical perspective. *Card. Fail. Rev.* 2, 14–19. doi: 10.15420/cfr.2016:4:2
- Liu, Y. Z. K., Li, J., Agvanian, S., Caldaruse, A. M., Shaw, S., Hitzeman, T. C., et al. (in press). In mice subjected to chronic stress, exogenous cBIN1 preserves calcium handling machinery and cardiac function. *JACC Basic Transl. Res.*

- Loeppky, J. A., Hoekenga, D. E., Greene, E. R., and Luft, U. C. (1984). Comparison of noninvasive pulsed Doppler and Fick measurements of stroke volume in cardiac patients. *Am. Heart J.* 107, 339–346. 10.1016/0002-8703(84) 90384-3
- Lyon, A. R., Nikolaev, V. O., Miragoli, M., Sikkel, M. B., Paur, H., Benard, L., et al. (2012). Plasticity of surface structures and beta2-adrenergic receptor localization in failing ventricular cardiomyocytes during recovery from heart failure. *Circ Heart Fail.* 5, 357–365. doi: 10.1161/circheartfailure.111. 964692
- Murray, S. A., Kendall, M., Boyd, K., and Sheikh, A. (2005). Illness trajectories and palliative care. *BMJ* 330, 1007–1011. doi: 10.1136/bmj.330.7498.1007
- Myhre, P. L., Vaduganathan, M., Claggett, B. L. I, Anand, S., Sweitzer, N. K., Fang, J. C., et al. (2018). Association of natriuretic peptides with cardiovascular prognosis in heart failure with preserved ejection fraction: secondary analysis of the TOPCAT randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Cardiol.* 3, 1000–1005. doi: 10.1001/jamacardio.2018.2568
- Nikolova, A. P., Hitzeman, T. C., Baum, R., Caldaruse, A. M., Agvanian, S., Xie, Y., et al. (2018). Association of a novel diagnostic biomarker, the plasma cardiac bridging integrator 1 score, with heart failure with preserved ejection fraction and cardiovascular hospitalization. *JAMA Cardiol.* 3, 1206–1210. doi: 10.1001/ jamacardio.2018.3539
- Ponikowski, P., Voors, A. A., Anker, S. D., Bueno, H., Cleland, J. G. F., Coats, A. J. S., et al. (2016). 2016 ESC Guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure: the Task Force for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC)Developed with the special contribution of the Heart Failure Association (HFA) of the ESC. *Eur. Heart J.* 37, 2129–2200.
- Sun, R. R., Lu, L., Liu, M., Cao, Y., Li, X. C., Liu, H., et al. (2014). Biomarkers and heart disease. *Eur. Rev. Med. Pharmacol. Sci.* 18, 2927–2935.
- Virani, S. S., Alonso, A., Benjamin, E. J., Bittencourt, M. S., Callaway, C. W., Carson, A. P., et al. (2020). Heart disease and stroke statistics-2020 update:

a report from the American heart association. *Circulation* 141, e139–e596. doi: 10.1161/CIR.000000000000757

- Weber, K. T., and Janicki, J. S. (1985). Cardiopulmonary exercise testing for evaluation of chronic cardiac failure. *Am. J. Cardiol.* 55, 22a–31a.
- Wei, S., Guo, A., Chen, B., Kutschke, W., Xie, Y. P., Zimmerman, K., et al. (2010). T-tubule remodeling during transition from hypertrophy to heart failure. *Circ. Res.* 107, 520–531. doi: 10.1161/circresaha.109.212324
- Xu, B., Fu, Y., Liu, Y., Agvanian, S., Wirka, R. C., Baum, R., et al. (2017). The ESCRT-III pathway facilitates cardiomyocyte release of cBIN1-containing microparticles. *PLoS Biol.* 15:e2002354. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.2002354
- Yancy, C. W., Jessup, M., Bozkurt, B., Butler, J., Casey, D. E. Jr., Drazner, M. H., et al. (2013). 2013 ACCF/AHA guideline for the management of heart failure: a report of the American College of Cardiology Foundation/American Heart association task force on practice guidelines. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 62, e147– e239.
- Zadikany, R. H., Hong, T., and Shaw, R. M. (2019). Heart failure: distinguishing failing myocardium from volume overload. *Biomark. Med.* 13, 697–700. doi: 10.2217/bmm-2019-0168

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Hitzeman, Xie, Zadikany, Nikolova, Baum, Caldaruse, Agvanian, Melmed, McGovern, Geft, Chang, Moriguchi, Hage, Azarbal, Czer, Kittleson, Patel, Wu, Kobashigawa, Hamilton, Hong and Shaw. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Changes in Myocardial Metabolism Preceding Sudden Cardiac Death

J. Snyder[†], R. Zhai[†], A. I. Lackey and P. Y. Sato*

Department of Pharmacology and Physiology, Drexel University College of Medicine, Philadelphia, PA, United States

Heart disease is widely recognized as a major cause of death worldwide and is the leading cause of mortality in the United States. Centuries of research have focused on defining mechanistic alterations that drive cardiac pathogenesis, yet sudden cardiac death (SCD) remains a common unpredictable event that claims lives in every age group. The heart supplies blood to all tissues while maintaining a constant electrical and hormonal feedback communication with other parts of the body. As such, recent research has focused on understanding how myocardial electrical and structural properties are altered by cardiac metabolism and the various signaling pathways associated with it. The importance of cardiac metabolism in maintaining myocardial function, or lack thereof, is exemplified by shifts in cardiac substrate preference during normal development and various pathological conditions. For instance, a shift from fatty acid (FA) oxidation to oxygen-sparing glycolytic energy production has been reported in many types of cardiac pathologies. Compounded by an uncoupling of glycolysis and glucose oxidation this leads to accumulation of undesirable levels of intermediate metabolites. The resulting accumulation of intermediary metabolites impacts cardiac mitochondrial function and dysregulates metabolic pathways through several mechanisms, which will be reviewed here. Importantly, reversal of metabolic maladaptation has been shown to elicit positive therapeutic effects, limiting cardiac remodeling and at least partially restoring contractile efficiency. Therein, the underlying metabolic adaptations in an array of pathological conditions as well as recently discovered downstream effects of various substrate utilization provide guidance for future therapeutic targeting. Here, we will review recent data on alterations in substrate utilization in the healthy and diseased heart, metabolic pathways governing cardiac pathogenesis, mitochondrial function in the diseased myocardium, and potential metabolism-based therapeutic interventions in disease.

Keywords: mitochondria, heart failure, sudden cardiac death, substrate utilization, lipotoxicity, glucotoxicity

INTRODUCTION

Cardiovascular disease is the number one cause of death in the United States and worldwide, accounting for about 17.9 million deaths globally in 2015 (Benjamin et al., 2018). As the incidence of cardiac disease increases exponentially, estimates show that by 2035, expenditures related to chronic heart disease will exceed one trillion dollars (Benjamin et al., 2018). A common terminal event for cardiovascular disease is sudden cardiac arrest (SCA) leading to sudden cardiac death

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Brian P. Delisle, University of Kentucky, United States

Reviewed by:

Martin Young, The University of Alabama at Birmingham, United States Matthew W. Kay, The George Washington University, United States Douglas Andres, University of Kentucky, United States

*Correspondence:

P. Y. Sato pys26@drexel.edu [†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cardiac Electrophysiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 26 March 2020 Accepted: 20 May 2020 Published: 16 June 2020

Citation:

Snyder J, Zhai R, Lackey Al and Sato PY (2020) Changes in Myocardial Metabolism Preceding Sudden Cardiac Death. Front. Physiol. 11:640. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2020.00640

29

(SCD). SCA often results from ventricular tachyarrhythmias or ventricular fibrillation initiated by dysfunctional excitation contraction coupling. The genesis of the heartbeat is an intrinsic electrical phenomena of the heart, with electrical impulses driven by pacemaker cells at the sino-atrial node that propagate through the His-Purkinje bundle system, ultimately leading to synchronous ventricular contraction (Jalife et al., 2009). Ventricular contraction is a highly energetic process, as the heart is the most metabolically demanding organ in our body, contracting approximately 3 billion times during an average lifespan of 75 years. In spite of this extremely high energetic requirement, myocardial ATP stores are relatively low with a complete turnover of myocardial ATP pool every 10s (Neely and Morgan, 1974). To accomplish this highly bioenergetic coupling to mechanical contraction, the myocardium utilizes a gamut of circulating energetic substrates such as FAs, glucose, lactate, branched chain amino acids (BCAAs), and ketone bodies (Figure 1). These cytosolic metabolites are enzymatically processed, ultimately converging in the generation of acetyl-CoA, and/or reduced nucleotide electron carriers (FADH₂ and NADH), that through the electron transport chain (ETC) are used to develop the proton motive force driving ATP production.

While metabolic flexibility is an essential cardiac attribute, the use of each substrate is not only regulated but preference altered during development and in various cardiac pathologies. Under normal physiological conditions, energetic demand is primarily met by carbohydrates and FAs, with the latter being the major fuel source in the adult heart, where β oxidation contributes to 60-80% of ATP production (Opie, 1968, 1969; Neely and Morgan, 1974). Nevertheless, in several cardiomyopathies, such as left ventricular hypertrophy, the adult heart reverts to a more fetal-like cardiometabolic state, switching from FA oxidation as the primary energy source to oxygen sparing glycolytic energy production (Taegtmeyer and Overturf, 1988; Depre et al., 1998). This review will focus on alterations in metabolism that occur as the heart progresses from healthy to diseased states (Figure 2). We will discuss substrate transport, the role of substrate metabolism, metabolic pathways, mitochondrial function, and ion channel modifications that precede and contribute to SCA/SCD. Lastly, we will briefly discuss potential interventions that target myocardial energy metabolism, as an approach to treat and/or prevent heart failure (HF) and SCD.

REGULATION OF GLUCOSE AND FATTY ACID ENTRY IN CARDIOMYOCYTES

In order to meet its own bioenergetic demands, the heart expresses specialized proteins that regulate substrate entry from the blood into the cytosol of cardiomyocytes. While glucose and FAs are the major cardiac metabolic substrates, the heart can also use ketone bodies and BCAAs to meet its energetic demands (**Figure 1**). Transport of substrates is specific and dependent on concentration gradients and hormonal signaling. In this section, we will discuss current knowledge of various modes for glucose and FA entry into cardiomyocytes.

Transporters of Glucose

In the adult heart, about 25 to 30% of energy used for contractile function is generated by carbohydrates (Shao and Tian, 2015). There are three known modes of glucose transport across cellular plasma membranes: (i) facilitative glucose transporters (GLUTs), which are the major form of cardiac glucose entry; (ii) sodium-glucose cotransporters (SGLTs), which use the energy of a favorable sodium gradient to transport glucose against its concentration gradient; and (iii) recently identified sugars will eventually be exported transporters (SWEETs), which promote cellular efflux of glucose (Banerjee et al., 2009; Wright, 2013). SWEETS are novel transporters of glucose that are mostly found in plants, and although understudied in humans, the human SWEET1 gene has been identified in mammary glands where it is thought to provide glucose for lactose synthesis (Chen et al., 2010). Thus far, no other major physiological function of SWEETs is known in humans.

The major path of glucose entry into the heart is via GLUTs, a family of proteins consisting of 14 members, where the main cardiac isoforms are GLUT1 and GLUT4. The expression of GLUT1 and GLUT4 is dysregulated in various cardiac diseases. In response to chronic hypoxia and ischemia, GLUT1 expression increases, leading to cardioprotection via increased glucose influx independent of insulin signaling (Brosius et al., 1997). GLUT1 is localized on the plasma membrane and plays an important role in regulating basal metabolism of cardiomyocytes. GLUT1 can be regulated by fasting and is mainly expressed in embryonic or neonatal stages of cardiac development (Kraegen et al., 1993). Genetically modified animal models have revealed an important role for GLUT1 in regulating glucose utilization for cardiac function. Murine cardiac-specific overexpression of GLUT1 enhanced cardiac glucose utilization, attenuated the development of contractile dysfunction, and improved long-term survival after transverse aortic constriction (TAC; Liao et al., 2002; Luptak et al., 2007). Moreover, acute increases in glucose uptake mediated by inducible overexpression of GLUT1 improved mitochondrial function and reduced cardiac structural remodeling but did not prevent ventricular dysfunction (Pereira et al., 2013).

Following birth, the expression of GLUT4 increases and becomes the predominant glucose transporter in adult hearts. GLUT4 is located in intracellular vesicles that translocate to the plasma membrane upon insulin stimulation or muscular contraction (Rattigan et al., 1991; Slot et al., 1991; Kraegen et al., 1993). During the development of cardiac hypertrophy, and in response to myocardial ischemia (MI), GLUT4 translocates from intracellular vesicles to the plasma membrane, increasing glucose intracellular levels (Slot et al., 1991; Young et al., 1997; Shi et al., 2016). However, GLUT4 expression is decreased in human HF with a concurrent decrease in glucose-mediated energy production (Razeghi et al., 2001; Doehner et al., 2010). Similarly, decreases in GLUT4 expression are also observed in hypertensive models showing insulin-resistance (Paternostro et al., 1995). Mouse models of GLUT4 have revealed that this transporter plays a prominent role in cardiac function. Cardiac



overexpression of GLUT4 increased glycolysis but not glucose oxidation (Belke et al., 2001), while cardiac-specific deletion of GLUT4 led to cardiac hypertrophy with preserved contractile function (Abel et al., 1999). Notably, following downregulation of GLUT4, SGLT1 may mediate glucose utilization, as it is increased 2- to 3-fold in ischemic and type 2 diabetic mellitus (T2DM) hearts (Banerjee et al., 2009) and other studies have reported that SGLT1 colocalizes with GLUT1 at the sarcolemma (Turk et al., 1991; Zhou et al., 2003). Yet, the precise functional role of SGLT1 and any compensatory role in the heart remains poorly understood.

Noteworthy is the ability of incretins to promote GLUT1 expression in cardiomyocytes. In fact, incretins like glucagonlike peptide 1 (GLP-1; produced by enteroendocrine L-cells), and glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide (GIP; produced by enteroendocrine K-cells; Baggio and Drucker, 2007) can regulate appetite, glucose-mediated insulin secretion from pancreatic β -cells (Varndell et al., 1985), and increase GLUT1 expression and translocation to the sarcolemma in cardiomyopathy models (Bhashyam et al., 2010). Interestingly, the impact of incretins is not limited to diabetes-related cardiac dysfunction, as GLP-1 agonists restored cardiac function in dogs with advanced dilated cardiomyopathy (DCM; Nikolaidis et al., 2004). GIP also reduces angiotensin II-induced cardiac hypertrophy and fibrosis in mice (Hiromura et al., 2016). Nonetheless, the importance of incretin signaling in metabolism and chronic disease in humans has been underscored by the association of genetic variations in GLP-1 and GIP receptors with body weight, pancreatic islet function, and risk for T2DM (Sathananthan et al., 2010; Finan et al., 2016).

Transporters of Fatty Acids

As the healthy heart greatly depends on the oxidation of FAs for energy production, FA transport through the plasma membrane is key to myocardial metabolism (Nagoshi et al., 2011). Although FAs can passively diffuse into the plasma membrane of cells (Schaffer and Lodish, 1995), several proteins facilitate cardiomyocyte FA uptake and transport, including cluster of differentiation 36 (CD36 or FAT; Abumrad et al., 1993), plasma membrane-associated FA-binding protein or plasmalemmal FA-binding protein (FABP_{pm}; Stremmel et al., 1985), and FA transport proteins (FATPs; Schaffer and Lodish, 1994; Gimeno et al., 2003). In addition to these membrane bound lipid transport proteins, cardiac tissue also expresses heart-FABP (HFABP or FABP3), a cytosolic lipid binding protein that binds and transports hydrophobic lipid species through the cytoplasm (Binas et al., 1999; Storch and Thumser, 2010). In the heart, CD36 is the main transporter responsible for FA uptake.



CD36 was first identified as a cellular transporter of FAs in 1993 (Abumrad et al., 1993). Several ex vivo and in vivo studies support the hypothesis that CD36 is necessary for efficient myocardial FA uptake and accumulation (Coburn et al., 2000; Bharadwaj et al., 2010). Additionally, CD36 can transduce signals that influence how cardiac FAs are utilized. For example, CD36 induces a signaling cascade that favors FA oxidation by activation of 5' adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase (AMPK). CD36 forms as complex with LKB1 (AMPK Kinase) and Fyn (src kinase; Samovski et al., 2015). Binding of FA to CD36 disassociates the complex, allowing for LKB1 to phosphorylate and activate AMPK (Samovski et al., 2015). Although CD36 is thought to be the main regulator of cardiac FA transport through the plasma membrane, there does not appear to be a consensus on the role of CD36 in pathological cardiac hypertrophy (Nakamura et al., 1999). For example, in mice that were subjected to TAC, cardiomyocyte-specific ablation of CD36 resulted in a more rapid progression from compensated hypertrophy to HF (Sung et al., 2017). Conversely, in diet induced obese (DIO) mice, cardiomyocyte-specific knock down of CD36 was protective and reduced signs of pathological cardiac remodeling when compared to control mice (Zhang et al., 2015). In response to hypertrophy, the expression of FATPs are significantly decreased (Vork et al., 1992), but the physiological significance of this finding remains unclear. In order for FAs to enter the mitochondria for energy production, FAs must be activated by forming fatty-acyl-CoA. The mitochondrial enzyme that mediates FA entry, carnitine palmitoyltransferase 1 (CPT1), is located on the outer mitochondrial membrane, and modulation of its activity or expression results in alterations in FA substrate utilization in the myocardium (Opie and Knuuti, 2009). CPT1

catalyzes the transesterifcation of acetyl-CoA into acylcarnitine. Subsequently, carnitine acylcarnitine translocase (CACT) transports acylcarnitine across the inner mitochondrial membrane in exchange for a free carnitine molecule. The acylcarnitine is then reconverted into acetyl-CoA via CPT2, which is located on the inner mitochondrial membrane (Houten et al., 2016). CPT1 is the rate limiting enzyme of FA entry into the mitochondria, and its regulation is integral to the control of FA oxidation. An important post-transcriptional step in the regulation of FA oxidation involves the inhibition of CPT1 by malonyl CoA, which is formed from acetyl-CoA via acetyl-CoA carboxylase (ACC; Foster, 2012). Thus, the negative feedback inhibition of CPT1 via malonyl-CoA can avert FA-driven ATP generation, and lead to the incorporation of FA into lipid droplets in the cytosol. Excess intracellular palmitate can also lead to ceramide production and protein palmitoylation of ionic channels and mediators of cardiac conduction (Chien et al., 1996; Pei et al., 2016). Relevant to HF and SCD are the studies suggesting that reversible protein S-pamitoylation plays an important role for sodium and potassium channel biosynthesis (Schmidt and Catterall, 1987). Particularly pertinent to cardiac arrhythmias is the recent study showing that palmitoylation of the major cardiac sodium channel (Nav1.5) leads to increased channel availability and late sodium current activity, promoting the generation of arrhythmogenic events (Pei et al., 2016). Although it is currently not known if palmitovlation impacts the inward rectifier potassium channel (Ik1), there is a known reciprocity between the sodium and potassium channels at the plasma membrane that impacts excitability and arrhythmia generation (Milstein et al., 2012). Thus at the very least, the inward rectifier current could be indirectly impacted by

palmitoylation of Nav1.5, this could be significant as it could also alter resting membrane potential. Palmitoylation is also known to modify the L-type calcium beta2a subunit impacting channel function (Chien et al., 1996). Thus, while it is evident that a link between cardiac metabolism and SCD exists, specific mechanisms dictating this spatiotemporal relationship remain poorly understood.

METABOLIC PATHWAYS GOVERNING CARDIAC FUNCTION AND PATHOGENESIS

Metabolic Flexibility

Metabolic flexibility is a key functional aspect of a healthy heart and it relates to the ability of a cell to adapt to its environment as determined by the utilization of nutrients, oxygen, and hormonal input. It is specifically important in the heart due to the energetic demands of continuous repetitive cardiac muscle contractions and the detrimental feedback loops initiated in its absence, to be reviewed in this section. Loss of this flexibility is thought to be one of the earliest indications of cardiac dysfunction leading to HF (Harris and Das, 1991). Indeed, the failing heart has reduced bioenergetic capacity and phosphocreatine/ATP ratio (Neubauer, 2007). Glucose and FA oxidation are the two main cardiac energy sources, but chronic overreliance or overabundance of one substrate class without the corresponding bioenergetic coupling may have deleterious consequences for myocardial function (Sharma et al., 2004; Chess and Stanley, 2008). Exemplifying this metabolic-contractile link is the potential role for glucose and FA metabolism in regulating the sarcoplasmic-reticulum calcium pump (SERCA) 2a expression via SP1 (a glucose regulated transcription factor) and peroxisome proliferationactivated receptors (PPAR; a FA regulated transcription factor), respectively (Rupp and Zarain-Herzberg, 2002). Table 1 shows current models of cardiac pathology associated with SCD and their observed metabolic impact.

Cardiac substrate utilization is intertwined, crossing over and impacting parallel metabolic pathways and signaling integrations. For instance, cardiac-specific deletion of ACC prevented TACinduced decreases in FA oxidation and increased reliance on glucose (Kolwicz et al., 2012). Conversely, cardiac-specific inducible pyruvate dehydrogenase α (PDH α) deletion led to decreased glucose oxidation, decreased AMPK phosphorylation, and ischemic-induced cardiac injury (Sun W. et al., 2016). These mechanistic studies are particularly relevant to pathological conditions that involve altered substrate preferences. For example, in pathological hypertrophy and ischemic heart disease, the heart heavily relies on glucose to meet its bioenergetic needs (Eberli et al., 1991). In contrast, in T2DM cardiac glucose uptake is reduced with concurrent increase in FA oxidation enzymes leading to exacerbated cardiac hypertrophy (Paternostro et al., 1999; Domenighetti et al., 2010).

Under normal physiological conditions, more than 90% of myocardial ATP production is generated via mitochondrial

oxidative phosphorylation, with the remainder being produced by anaerobic glycolysis and GTP from the tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle (Harris and Das, 1991). Oxidative phosphorylation in the fetal heart mainly relies on glucose, while in adult stages, there is a shift in preference toward FA metabolism. Notably, in the heart, the majority of ATP produced is quickly consumed by myofilaments during contraction. Additionally, about 25% is used to fuel cardiac sarcolemmal and sarcoplasmic reticulum (SR) ion channels and transporters (Schramm et al., 1994). The link between cardiac rhythm, myocardial work, and metabolism was first explored in the early 1900s, when notable physiologists including E. H Starling developed in situ models of studying these relationships (Knowlton and Starling, 1912; Patterson et al., 1914). They were able to establish relationships between preload and afterload with energetic rates, oxygen consumption, and changing blood parameters (Evans, 1939). Notably, metabolic dysfunction is ubiquitously observed in chronic heart diseases that are associated with increased risk for SCD.

Lipotoxicity

In 1963, Philip Randle and colleagues hypothesized that the heart must utilize both glucose and FA to meet its high energy demands (Randle et al., 1963). However, successful oxidation of FA produces several factors that inhibit glycolysis, including NADH, ATP, citrate, and acetyl CoA. Thus, an environment where high glycolytic flux and FA oxidation simultaneously occur is rare. Flux through these pathways is influenced by feed/fast cycles and by exercise paradigms such that at different points, glucose and FA are used in different proportions and neither are over-accumulated (Randle et al., 1963). Overabundance of glucose or FA availability or dysregulation of the usage thereof may contribute to cytotoxic effects classified as lipotoxicity and glucotoxicity (Lundsgaard et al., 2019).

Lipotoxicity is induced by the abnormal accumulation of intra-myocellular fatty acids and lipid metabolites in non-adipose tissues such as the heart. Lipid storage in non-adipose sites contributes to altered cellular physiology and perhaps most notably insulin resistance. The summation of these detrimental effects of lipid accumulation is termed lipotoxicity (Sharma et al., 2004). Lipotoxicity can be mimicked via high fat diets that model western feeding habits and/or increased lipid transport into the myocardium (Chiu et al., 2001, 2005). However, the roles of various classes of lipid molecules in myocardial pathogenesis have only been recently explored. Increased levels of triacylglycerol (TG), the main dietary form of lipid, are associated with diseases such as obesity and T2DM. Yet, the role for TGs in inducing cellular lipotoxicity remains controversial (Drosatos and Schulze, 2013). Studies suggest that TG levels act as a marker of general lipid load, while an array of other lipid metabolites play a larger role in increasing or decreasing lipotoxicity. For example, while the role of TG in directly inducing lipotoxicity remains inconclusive, there is evidence that diacylglycerol (DG), a TG metabolite, is linked to lipotoxicity and induction of insulin resistance in muscle and liver (Inoguchi et al., 1992; Erion and Shulman, 2010). More recently, Law and colleagues have demonstrated that very long ceramide species (>24 carbons) diminish mitochondrial function and increase

Disease model	Change in metabolism	Metabolic toxicity	Potential therapeutic metabolic intervention	References
TAC	↓Fatty acid oxidation ↑Glycolysis ↓BCAA Catabolism ↑Ketone Body Catabolism	Glucotoxicity Lipotoxicity	Restoration of glucose Oxidation Redirection of lipid synthesis	Shao and Tian, 2015; Muthuramu et al., 2017
/R	↓Fatty acid oxidation ↑Glycolysis	Glucotoxicity Lipotoxicity	Restoration of FAO Restoration of glucose oxidation Redirection of lipid synthesis	Bonezzi et al., 2019; Goldenberg et al., 2019
-Adrenergic Overstimulation	↓Fatty acid oxidation †Glycolysis ↓BCAA Catabolism	Glucotoxicity Lipotoxicity Insulin Resistance	Restoration of glucose oxidation Restoration of insulin sensitivity	Opie and Knuuti, 2009; Shao and Tian, 2015
Diabetes	↑BCAA/BCKA Exposure ↑Ketone Body Exposure	Lipotoxicity Insulin Resistance	↑BCAA catabolism Restoration of insulin sensitivity	Lim et al., 2020

TABLE 1 | SCD-disease models with associated metabolic profiles and resultant toxicity.

apoptosis, autophagy, and mitophagy in cardiomyocytes (Law et al., 2018). Conversely, in a model where long-chain FA synthesis was re-directed toward long-chain ceramide synthesis (20-22 carbons) a cardioprotective phenotype was demonstrated in a TAC model of left ventricular hypertrophy, demonstrating the importance of lipid saturation and chain length. This latter study used a mouse model overexpressing cardiac acyl-coenzyme A synthetase 1, and thereby affected multiple lipid metabolism parameters (Goldenberg et al., 2019). However, the lipid profile following the TAC intervention specifically deviated in ceramide species accumulation (Goldenberg et al., 2019). Additionally, saturated FAs, such as palmitic acid, have been associated with increased ceramide synthesis and cardiomyocyte apoptosis when compared to unsaturated FAs, such as oleic acid (Okere et al., 2006). In fact, restoring FA oxidation in the heart by overexpression of Long-chain-FA-CoA ligase 1 (ACSL1) in a TAC model preserved cardiac function (Goldenberg et al., 2019). Together, this emphasizes the importance of lipid diversity in the heart and how they may differently impact the development of lipotoxicity.

The main source of FAs that fuel mitochondrial oxidative metabolism are circulating free FAs (FFAs) bound to albumin and/or released from TGs that are present in very-lowdensity lipoproteins (VLDL) or chylomicrons (Niu et al., 2004; Bharadwaj et al., 2010). As mentioned above, extracellular FAs can enter cardiomyocytes via passive diffusion, FATPs, or CD36 (Schaffer and Lodish, 1994; Gimeno et al., 2003; Bharadwaj et al., 2010). Once FFAs are in the cytosol, they are esterified to CoA via fatty acyl-CoA synthase enzymes, forming longchain fatty acyl-CoAs (Chiu et al., 2001, 2005). These fatty acyl-CoAs can then shuttle into mitochondria via CPT1 and CPT2. CPT1 converts the long chain fatty acyl-CoA to long chain acylcarnitine in the outer mitochondrial membrane, which is then subsequently converted back to long chain fatty acyl CoA by CPT2 in the mitochondrial inner membrane (Murthy and Pande, 1984; McGarry and Brown, 1997). As mentioned previously, a major point of regulation for fatty acyl-CoA transport into the mitochondria involves CPT1, which is robustly inhibited by the presence of malonyl CoA (Foster, 2012). The levels of malonyl CoA are determined by the balance of acetyl CoA synthesis via ACC, and degradation of malonyl CoA by malonyl CoA decarboxylase (Dyck and Lopaschuk, 2002; Ussher and Lopaschuk, 2008). For example, citrate produced from the TCA cycle can move to the cytosol and activate ACC (Lane et al., 1970; Beaty and Lane, 1983), which leads to greater production of malonyl CoA and a feedback response that reduces mitochondrial FA oxidation.

During HF, fatty acyl carnitines in the cytosol and sarcolemma are accumulated up to 10 times their normal levels, particularly in cardiac regions exposed to ischemia. The relationship between lipid accumulation and electrical abnormalities has been hypothesized in the 1980s (Corr et al., 1989). Since then multiple pathways have been established by which fatty acyl carnitines affect ion channel function and therefore arrhythmogenic events. Reactive oxygen species (ROS) generated from fatty acyl carnitines interact with redox sensitive channels, such as the ryanodine receptor, thus modulating calcium release from the SR during contraction. Palmitoyl carnitine, a fatty acyl carnitine, increases the oxidation of the ryanodine receptor 2 resulting in prolonged calcium leak following opening (Roussel et al., 2015). Direct infusion of palmitoyl carnitine at levels observed in diabetic cardiomyopathy is independently arrhythmogenic in healthy animals (Roussel et al., 2015). Palmitoyl carnitine exposure to cardiomyocytes induces the slow-inactivating sodium current, impacting current inactivation thereby augmenting intracellular sodium concentration. Subsequently, palmitoyl carnitine inhibited the sodium potassium exchanger by approximately 13%, inducing an elevation in intracellular calcium (Wu and Corr, 1995). Moreover, long-chain acyl carnitines are known to reduce gap junctional conductance by 68%, a phenomenon which has been linked to the preferential accumulation of endogenous long-chain acyl carnitines at the sarcolemma during hypoxia (Wu et al., 1993). These effects alter the incidence of early after depolarizations, delayed after depolarizations, and action potential propagation promoting the development of arrhythmias.

In addition to certain lipids that may directly induce lipotoxicity, such as ceramides and DGs, ROS is generated as a byproduct of the ETC which can induce cellular stress. ROS are generated when electrons leak from the mitochondrial ETC, allowing free electrons to reduce molecular oxygen (Turrens, 2003). Certain pathological conditions, such as MI and HF, can increase ROS production via mitochondrial membrane leakage. Elevation of mitochondrial ROS can damage ETC complexes, further impairing ATP production in a failing heart (Murray et al., 2003). This leads to a vicious circle in which the electron leak increases ROS formation, and ROS formation alters the ETC to favor additional production of ROS. ROS can damage ETC complex proteins and can react with polyunsaturated FAs, which enhances the formation of peroxidized lipids that can dysregulate phospholipid membranes (Mylonas and Kouretas, 1999). In humans with diabetic cardiomyopathy and obesity-related cardiomyopathy, insulin resistance diminishes glucose uptake and utilization enhancing cardiac lipid accumulation (Boudina and Abel, 2007; Montaigne et al., 2014). As such, impairments in cardiac lipid metabolism that reduce intracellular TG-derived FA mobilization and oxidation promote an accumulation of intracellular TG (McGavock et al., 2007; O'Donnell et al., 2008). Interestingly, similar to citrate, insulin also inhibits FA oxidation through activation of ACC (Witters and Kemp, 1992). In the failing heart, insulin-induced inhibition of FA oxidation is impaired, but the effect of chronic dysregulation of genes associated with FA metabolism dominates such that TG and DG are still accumulated (Inoguchi et al., 1992; Zhang et al., 2013; Fukushima and Lopaschuk, 2016).

Glucotoxicity

Glucotoxicity is characterized by an intracellular accumulation of glucose metabolites and subsequent impairment in glucosemediated oxidative phosphorylation. In multiple HF etiologies, such as left ventricular hypertrophy, the heart increases its reliance on oxygen sparing glycolytic energy production. Although glucose uptake is increased, oxidative phosphorylation is diminished, or unchanged (Mori et al., 2013; Li et al., 2017a). In HF patients, augmented glycolysis is uncoupled from oxidative phosphorylation, or mitochondrial energy production, leading to the accumulation of glycolytic byproducts such as lactate and protons (Diakos et al., 2016). These glycolytic byproducts can lead to acidosis, inducing aberrations in ATPases that regulate cytosolic Na⁺ and Ca²⁺, ultimately reducing cardiac contractility (Fiolet and Baartscheer, 2000; Jaswal et al., 2011).

High glucose alone can promote pathological cardiac development by accelerating hypertrophy, promoting ER stress, increasing ROS production, and ultimately leading to apoptosis (Ng et al., 2018; Zhang X. et al., 2018; Shi et al., 2019). When uncoupled from oxidative phosphorylation, glycolysis produces glycolytic intermediates that can accelerate flux through nonanapleurotic pathways, such as the pentose phosphate pathway (PPP), hexosamine biosynthetic pathway, or lactate shuttling (Gupte et al., 2006; Gibb et al., 2017). Specifically, increased flux through the PPP occurs in both hypertrophic and chronic HF (Meerson et al., 1967; Zimmer and Peffer, 1986). Li and colleagues recently demonstrated that restoring glucose oxidation by inhibiting pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase (PDK) 4, a rate controlling enzyme of glucose oxidation, improved cardiac function, and glucose uptake post-ischemia reperfusion injury (Li et al., 2017a). Increased glucose exposure over long periods reduces BCAA catabolism, leading to an accumulation of BCAA and BCAA metabolites (Zhang X. et al., 2018). It is well established that leucine, a BCAA, is a potent activator of the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) signaling pathway (Xu and Brink, 2016). Increased mTOR signaling, a known regulator of cell growth and metabolism, promotes the progression of cardiac hypertrophy and cell death (Xu and Brink, 2016). Moreover, increased glucose exposure has been shown to alter miRNAs that control protein expression and thereby regulate gross cell metabolism. For instance, elevation of miRNA-195 upregulates multiple genes associated with hypertrophic development. Exogenous administration of this oligonucleotide can promote hypertrophy and alter cardiac mitochondrial function, while the complementary oligonucleotide provides a protective effect (Shi et al., 2019; Wang et al., 2019). Lastly, increased use of glucose has been shown to induce cell growth (Kolwicz et al., 2013; Shao et al., 2018) and alter epigenetic regulation in the nucleus (Shao et al., 2018; Lombardi et al., 2019). Even though elevation in glucose appears to be an important signaling mechanism for cell growth and differentiation, specific mechanisms detailing how chronic exposure to high levels of glucose leads to glucotoxicity remains to be further characterized.

Glucotoxicity promotes protein glycation and glycosylation, which are, respectively, non-enzymatic and enzymatic protein modifications mediated by carbohydrates. These changes impact many pathways relevant to myocardial structure-functional relationships. Increased glycation drives the formation of advanced glycation end-products, which accumulate in tissues and contribute to inflammation and subsequent structural alterations, namely fibrosis (Dziubak et al., 2018). The deposition of advanced glycation end products contributes to electrical abnormalities through alterations of the myocyte cytoskeleton, altered ion channel activity, and damage to the local autonomic nervous system that contribute to regulating cardiac rhythm (Balcıoğlu and Müderrisoğlu, 2015). Advanced glycation end products specifically inhibit voltage gated K⁺ channels, Kv channels, that play a primary role in cardiac microcirculation and a secondary role in atrial repolarization, contributing to metabolic remodeling and arrhythmogenic susceptibility (Bai et al., 2015; Su et al., 2015). Relevant to atrial repolarization and His-Purkinje conduction is increased N-glycosylation of the K_{2P} potassium channel, enhancing its function and transport to the cell membrane. Interestingly, while acute or chronic high glucose exposure increase N-glycosylation of the K_{2P} channel, chronic exposure results in downregulation of its expression (Wiedmann et al., 2019). Acute hyperglycemia promotes the covalent modification of CaMKII by O-linked N-acetylglucosamine (O-GlcNAc) at Ser279, which activates CaMKII autonomously, leading to molecular memory as calcium concentration declines (Erickson et al., 2013). Increased O-GlcNAc-modified CaMKII, as observed in human diabetic hearts, enhances CaMKIIdependent activation of spontaneous SR calcium release, leading to augmented premature ventricular complexes that contribute to arrhythmogenicity (Erickson et al., 2013). Moreover, voltage gated sodium channels, the major ionic current responsible for ventricular membrane depolarization, are also heavily modulated by glucose-based and other posttranslational modifications that
can be dysregulated by metabolism. For instance, regulation of Nav1.5 glycosylation and sialyltransferase activity impacts the sodium voltage-gated activity and propensity for arrhythmias (Ufret-Vincenty et al., 2001; Ednie et al., 2013). Moreover, exposure of high glucose in CHO cells transiently overexpressing the human Nav1.5 channel led to a rightward shift in voltage dependence of conductance and steady-state fast inactivation, which was attributed to the observed increase in ROS (Fouda et al., 2020). Whether this mechanism is also pertinent to cardiac cells remains to be determined.

Ketone Body Metabolism

In HF, cardiac substrate utilization of glucose and FAs decrease with a concurrent increased reliance on ketone bodies and BCAAs (Kolwicz et al., 2013; Aubert et al., 2016; Bedi et al., 2016). In the hypertrophied and failing heart, ketone body metabolism supplements energy production following decreased FA oxidation (Aubert et al., 2016). Ketones are primarily produced within hepatocytes and form acetyl-CoA via 3oxoacid-CoA transferase (SCOT) in extrahepatic tissue to generate energy (Laffel, 1999). The major determinant of cardiac ketone oxidation rates is circulating ketone levels (Laffel, 1999; Ikegami et al., 2017). In human HF, ketone utilization plays an important role in maintaining cardiac metabolism (Aubert et al., 2016; Bedi et al., 2016). Recently, Schugar and colleagues reported that mice subjected to TAC with a cardiomyocyte-specific ablation of SCOT (the rate limiting enzyme in ketone oxidation) displayed increased mitochondrial dysfunction, and accelerated pathological cardiac remodeling (Schugar et al., 2014). Additionally, overexpression of cardiac D-\beta-hydroxybutyrate dehydrogenase 1 (BDH1) decreased ROS and apoptosis in mice subjected to TAC (Uchihashi et al., 2017). Studies in isolated rat cardiomyocytes exposed to simulated hypoxia showed that β-hydroxybutyrate increases contraction and calcium in a dose-dependent manner (Klos et al., 2019). Experiments in isolated working hearts subjected to 4-weeks of TAC showed that enhancing ketone body oxidation increased energy production although it did not show significantly improvement in cardiac efficiency (Ho et al., 2019). Thus, increased myocardial ketone oxidation may be an adaptive mechanism for the failing heart. These results from animal models are supported by recent findings in humans with chronic HF that show decreased expression of lipid utilization proteins with increased expression of ketone catabolic genes (Aubert et al., 2016; Bedi et al., 2016).

Recently, the "ketogenic diet" has become popular, yet it remains unknown whether enhancing long-term ketone oxidation is adaptive or maladaptive to the human heart. There is concern about the common use of this diet, especially in obese and diabetic individuals with an increased risk for SCA/SCD. Currently, it appears that the benefit of weight loss associated with this diet may outweigh potential adverse cardiac metabolic changes (Harvey et al., 2019). In wild-type mice, ketogenic diets increase ketone oxidation genes, decrease gene profiles associated with glucose utilization, and do not alter expression of FA utilization genes (Shimizu et al., 2018). Nevertheless, longterm effects of increasing ketone bioenergetics remain to be fully detailed.

BCAA Metabolism

Branched chain amino acids can be metabolized in the cardiac muscle via the branched-chain α-ketoacid dehydrogenase (BCKDH) complex (Neinast et al., 2019). Alterations in cardiac BCAA metabolism are associated with cardiac pathologies. For example, defective BCAA catabolism disrupts glucose signaling and sensitizes the heart to ischemic-reperfusion injury (Li et al., 2017b). The expression of BCAA catabolic enzymes is decreased in HF patients, in conjunction with increased levels of BCAA and branched chain keto acids (Sun H. et al., 2016). In fact, studies in TAC-induced mice suggest that increasing BCAA metabolism preserves cardiac structure and function (Chen et al., 2019). BCAA supplementation and more generally high protein diets are common practices in order to obtain desired physiological outcomes such as in resistance training. In a large observational study, it appears that both low (<1 g/kg body)weight) and high protein (>1.38 g/kg body weight) intake associate with increased risk for cardiovascular events as well as all-cause mortality even when accounting for risk factors and renal function (Halbesma et al., 2009). Specific conclusions regarding the BCAA element of these dietary classifications, however, require further studies. BCAAs only represent a small part of total protein intake, and high protein diets in observational studies will most likely differ in macronutrient and micronutrient makeup. BCAA supplementation in addition to resistance exercise training in late-stage HF patients does not improve physical and functional capacities (Pineda-Juarez et al., 2016). Nevertheless, multiple clinical trials continue to investigate a potential interaction between BCAA metabolism, BCAA supplementation, and exercise in different types of HF (Halbesma et al., 2009; Pineda-Juarez et al., 2016).

PATHOLOGICAL MITOCHONDRIAL FUNCTION

Mitochondrial Calcium Handling

Deterioration in contractile mechanics of a heart that is hypertrophied, dilated, or fibrotic correlates with altered excitation-contraction coupling and failing bioenergetics (Franz et al., 1992; Nishimura et al., 2006). Contractile force generation requires calcium signaling; while intracellular SR calcium is reviewed in detail elsewhere (Eisner et al., 2020), in this section, we will specifically provide a brief overview of mitochondrial calcium handling. Mitochondrial calcium dynamics are determined by ATP/ADP ratio, transporter expression levels, and other regulatory signals (Zhou and Tian, 2018). Calcium entry in the mitochondrial inner membrane can be facilitated by the mitochondrial calcium uniporter (MCU). Systemic MCU knockout studies did not reveal any major baseline phenotype although mitochondrial calcium handling was diminished (Pan et al., 2013). Cardiac-specific MCU deletion led to improved cardiac function post-IR (Luongo

et al., 2015), supporting the notion that MCU does not impact baseline physiology but instead modulates energetic upregulation by increasing contractility or sympathetic stress signaling. Moreover, MICU1, a regulator of the MCU (Mallilankaraman et al., 2012), was recently shown to possess an additional function where it controls cristae junction and anchoring of the MCU complex (Gottschalk et al., 2019). Mitochondrial calcium extrusion, however, is dependent on mitochondrial Na/Ca exchanger (NCLX). Murine models of inducible cardiacspecific NCLX knockout increased arrhythmogenicity and SCD, while overexpression of NCLX was cardioprotective post-IR (Luongo et al., 2017). Calcium extrusion can also be elicited via the mitochondrial permeability transition pore (MPTP), which promotes apoptotic signaling. Although the molecular identity of the MPTP is debated and unknown, recent studies have suggested that dimerization of the F1F0 ATP synthase is responsible for the pore forming MPTP (Urbani et al., 2019), with a prominent role for the c-subunit of the ATPase in MPTP formation (Neginskaya et al., 2019). Most importantly, recent studies have linked the relevance of mitochondrial calcium dynamics to human cardiac pathology. In diabetic rats, cardiac mitochondrial MCU expression is decreased, diminishing mitochondrial calcium and subsequently blunting pyruvate dehydrogenase activity, which it is the rate-limiting process in glucose oxidation (Suarez et al., 2018). In agreement are studies showing decreased levels of MCU and MICU1 in cardiac tissue from ischemic HF patients (Luongo et al., 2015). The feasibility and specificity of pharmacologically targeting these mitochondrial channels and signaling pathways remain to be determined.

Mitochondrial ROS Generation

ROS are generated when electrons leak from the mitochondrial ETC, allowing free electrons to reduce molecular oxygen (Turrens, 2003). Certain pathological conditions, such as MI and HF, increase ROS production via mitochondrial membrane leakage. Elevation of mitochondrial ROS damage ETC complexes further impairing ATP production in the failing heart (Murray et al., 2003; Redout et al., 2007; Dubouchaud et al., 2018). ROS generation is in concert with previously discussed alterations in mitochondrial calcium dynamics and reduced oxidative phosphorylation (Ide et al., 1999; Zhang H. et al., 2018). Dysfunction of complex 1, 2, and 3 of the ETC have been associated with ROS production (Redout et al., 2007; Dubouchaud et al., 2018). ROS can also trigger the reversible, transient, and minimally concerted opening of the MPTP, which is thought to have a housekeeping physiological function of releasing ROS to the cytosol. Prolonged ROS generation triggers MPTP opening, which leads to ROS-induced-ROS release promoting the destruction of the mitochondrion that may be propagated inter-mitochondrially, culminating in cell death (Zorov et al., 2000). Interestingly, deletion of cyclophilin-D, a regulator of the MPTP, led to resistance to MPTP opening and improved cell survival post-IR (Baines et al., 2005). Additionally, loss of cyclophilin-D led to greater hypertrophy and HF (Elrod et al., 2010). Mitochondrial oxygen levels can be sensed by the mitochondrially localized NADPH-oxidase 4 (Nox4). Unlike other Nox family members, Nox4 is constitutively active where 90% of the electron flux through isolated Nox4 produces H_2O_2 and 10% forms superoxide (Nisimoto et al., 2014). Cardiacspecific Nox4 overexpression is detrimental to cardiac function post-ischemia-reperfusion injury (Ago et al., 2010), re-enforcing the crucial role that Nox4 plays in regulating myocyte function. An extensive review of mitochondrial ROS is found elsewhere (Cadenas, 2018).

There is a strong link between ROS and cardiac ion channel dysfunction directly impacting cardiac electrophysiology, contractile deficiencies, and SCD. For instance, the ryanodine receptor, can be oxidized by ROS resulting in altered calcium release (Roussel et al., 2015). The carotid body is a group of neurosensory cells that sense blood oxygenation and inform ventilation and adrenergic stimulation to increase blood flow in response to ischemia. Voltage-gated potassium channels (Kv) channels are significantly impacted by redox-based reactions in the coronary vasculature and the carotid body. As a result of altered metabolism there is an increase in ROS in the coronary vasculature and carotid body, resulting in greater oxygenation and perfusion rates in an attempt to reduce hypoxic exposure (Rogers et al., 2006; Moreno-Dominguez et al., 2020). Therein ROS, plays an important direct role in the hyperemic response to increased cardiac output. Yet, long-term activation of this mechanism, either due to metabolic or structural remodeling, has adverse consequences as ROS alters a multitude of vital cardiac pathways that promote SCD. Although Kv channels are also found elsewhere in the heart, including the sino-atrial node and His-Purkinje system, how ROS alters action potential propagation in these specialized cardiac cells are currently unknown. Importantly, Kv channels have varying subunit composition in various tissues as well as modulation by other cellular redox agents such as NADH and NADPH which increase the activity of Kv channels (Dwenger et al., 2018). Kv channel activation via ROS in an acutely adaptive mechanism, such as increasing oxygenation and perfusion, contrasts Kv channel inhibition by glycation and products discussed in the section "Glucotoxicity" (Su et al., 2015; Moreno-Dominguez et al., 2020). While it is reasonable to conclude that metabolic toxicity would dysregulate this family of ion channels, further studies are required to delineate how ROS modification of various ionic channels are integrated in the resultant arrhythmic incidence of the heart.

PAST AND ON GOING THERAPEUTIC INTERVENTIONS TO IMPROVE GLUCOSE AND FA METABOLISM

Clinical Approaches to Modulate Glucose Metabolism

The interaction between insulin resistance and diabetic cardiomyopathy has been a major driver for unraveling therapies that enhance glucose metabolism. Enhancing glucose uptake has been attempted by insulin infusion called glucose–insulin–potassium (GIK) therapy, which involved exposure to high concentrations of insulin during acute ischemia (Sodi-Pallares

et al., 1962). Some studies have suggested that GIK infusion during ischemia reduced infarct size and improved post-ischemic cardiac dysfunction, but clinical trials were inconsistent and a meticulous glucose control was essential for those patients (Van den Berghe et al., 2003; Malmberg et al., 2005). GLP1 can increase glucose uptake by increasing GLUT2 expression in pancreatic islets (Villanueva-Penacarrillo et al., 2001). Exenatide is a human GLP1 receptor agonist that is currently being investigated as a potential adjunct therapy for HF. A study conducted in 2007 showed that patients treated with exenatide had decreased mortality from cardiovascular causes when compared to patients treated with placebo or standard of care (Erdmann et al., 2007). Exenatide can also contribute to vasorelaxation due to the effect on opening KATP channels and therefore preventing vessel dysfunction (Selley et al., 2014). Conversely, recent studies showed no significant benefit on cardiovascular events in T2DM patients (Mentz et al., 2018). Liraglutide is an FDA-approved drug that is currently used to treat T2DM patients. Liraglutide also activates the GLP1 receptor, and is currently being investigated as a potential treatment for HF. T2DM patients treated with liraglutide have improved mortality rates compared to placebo treated patients (Cohen and Beckey, 2016). Circulating GLP1 is quickly metabolized by dipeptidyl peptidase (DPP)-IV, and thus, a DPP-IV inhibitors can be used as adjuvant with GLP1 agonists to improve GLP1 efficacy (Deacon, 2004). One study demonstrated that an inhibitor of DPP-IV, sitagliptin, improves left ventricular function in patients with coronary artery disease (Read et al., 2010). It has been suggested that the mechanism for the cardioprotective effect of sitagliptin is via upregulation of the transient receptor potential channel (TRP), therefore increasing Ca²⁺ influx (Al-Awar et al., 2018). In contrast, a recent study revealed no benefit on reducing HF risk in patients with diabetes treated with sitagliptin (Nauck et al., 2019).

Pyruvate is a key glycolytic metabolite which has positive inotropic actions in both healthy and dysfunctional hearts, improving left ventricular function (Mentzer et al., 1989). Pyruvate can potentiate the inotropic response of β -adrenergic receptor compounds and result in increased intracellular Ca²⁺ transients via improvement of SERCA in failing human myocardium (Hermann et al., 2002). The pyruvate dehydrogenase complex (PDC) metabolizes pyruvate to acetyl-CoA, and PDK inactivates this complex via phosphorylation, leading to a buildup of glucose metabolites. Inhibiting PDK with dichloroacetate (DCA) is one approach that increases the utilization of glucose in the heart (Stacpoole et al., 1998). Clinical evidence has shown that DCA can weakly improve cardiac function through the regulation of voltage-gated K⁺ channels, but unfortunately, this compound has a major toxicity risk for the liver, kidney, and nervous system (Michelakis et al., 2002). Other alternative compounds currently under development for PDK inhibition have also shown substantial side effects in multiple organs (Morrell et al., 2003; Roche and Hiromasa, 2007). Currently, another effective modulator of PDK, PS10, is being evaluated as potential drug target (Wu et al., 2018). Moreover, SGLT2s are expressed in the early proximal tubule of the kidney (Vallon et al., 2011), and while SGLT2 inhibitors

have been developed with the intent to improve glucose control in diabetic patients via its impact on renal sodium-glucose reabsorptive function, it has sparked enthusiasm for the treatment of HF. The EMPA-trial revealed that T2DM patients treated with empagliflozin possessed a 38% relative risk reduction in death from cardiovascular causes (Zinman et al., 2015). Empagliflozin also significantly regulates calcium and sodium exchange, which can be a potential mechanism for the cardioprotective effect (Lee et al., 2019). While there is a consensus that improving glucose metabolism is an attractive pharmacological intervention, specific, safe, and effective compounds that provide cardiovascular benefits still need to be developed.

Therapeutic Strategies Targeting Fatty Acid Utilization

As mitochondrial FA utilization is dependent on CPT-1, this transporter is an attractive pharmacological target for HF, such that inhibiting FA oxidation can result in parallel increase of glucose utilization (Xu et al., 1995). Perhexiline maleate was developed as an antianginal drug in the 1970s (Ashrafian et al., 2007). It potentially inhibits the uptake of fatty-acyl-CoA via mitochondrial CPT-1 (Murray et al., 2005), and this inhibition of FA metabolism improves left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF) in patients with chronic HF (Lee et al., 2005). Perhexiline also potentially protects the heart from cardiac dysfunction by inhibiting Human ether-a-go-go-related gene (HERG) channels (Walker et al., 1999). Etomoxir is an irreversible inhibitor of CPT-1 (Lopaschuk et al., 1988) that also increased SERCA2a expression, improving SR Ca²⁺ handling and cardiac function (Vetter and Rupp, 1994). It was first developed and tested in clinical trials in 1984, passing phase I and II, and becoming a promising drug for HF patients (Schmidt-Schweda and Holubarsch, 2000). Unfortunately, etomoxir treatment resulted in abnormally high liver transaminase levels and now is only used as an experimental tool for inhibiting FA oxidation (Holubarsch et al., 2007).

Trimetazidine is an inhibitor of 3-ketoacyl CoA thiolase, the terminal enzyme of FA β -oxidation (Kantor et al., 2000; Lopaschuk et al., 2003). Trimetazidine treatment reduced FA oxidation and induced a compensatory increase in glucose oxidation. Trimetazidine also reduced the accumulation of lactic acid caused by the buildup of fatty acids. Further, this drug modified calcium dynamics by inhibiting SERCA activity and modifying the density of Ca²⁺ channels in cardiomyocytes impacting left ventricular systolic and diastolic function (Kiyosue et al., 1986; Banach et al., 2006; Meng et al., 2006). In clinical trials trimetazidine significantly increased LVEF (Vitale et al., 2004), myocardial perfusion, oxidative metabolism, and work efficiency (Fragasso et al., 2006), and is being investigated as a potential therapeutic strategy for HF patients (Dezsi, 2016).

Ranolazine was FDA-approved in 2006 for the treatment of stable angina pectoris (Reddy et al., 2010). Ranolazine was first thought to inhibit FA metabolism similarly to trimetazidine, but the drug concentration required to inhibit FA β -oxidation was much higher than the recommended therapeutic dose, indicating an alternative mechanism of action (McCormack et al.,

	Target	Name	Clinical use	Arrhythmia events	References
Glucose metabolism	GLP-1 agonist	Exenatide	Under investigation- No significant benefit	Yes, unknown ionic alteration	Mentz et al., 2018
		Liraglutide	Under investigation	No	Cohen and Beckey, 2016
	DPP-IV inhibitor	Sitagliptin	Under investigation- No significant benefit	No	Read et al., 2010; Nauck et al., 2019
	SGLT2 inhibitor	Empaglifloxin	Glucose management- Cardiac benefit under investigation	Antiarrhythmic effect via regulates Na ⁺ -Ca ²⁺ exchanger	Zinman et al., 2015
	PDK inhibitor	Dichloroacetate (DCA)	Toxicity	No	Stacpoole et al., 1998
		PS10	Under investigation	Not yet determined	Wu et al., 2018
Fatty acid metabolism	CPT-1 inhibitor	Etomoxir	Adverse effects	Antiarrhythmic effect via improving Ca ²⁺ handling	Vetter and Rupp, 1994; Holubarsch et al., 2007
		Perhexiline maleate	Under investigation	Antiarrhythmic effect via inhibit HERG channels	Lee et al., 2005
	β-oxidation inhibitor	Trimetazidine	Under investigation	Antiarrhythmic effect via modify Ca ²⁺ channels	Fragasso et al., 2006; Dezsi, 2016
		Ranolazine	Under investigation	Antiarrhythmic effect via regulate both Na ⁺ and Ca ²⁺	Sossalla et al., 2008; Maier et al., 2013
	PPAR α agonist	Fenofibrate	Under investigation	Antiarrhythmic effect via K ⁺ channel	Morgan et al., 2006; Elam et al., 2011, 2017

1996). Studies suggest that the primary mechanism of action for ranolazine is via inhibition of the late sodium current and diastolic Ca^{2+} overload, which benefit patients with diastolic dysfunction (Antzelevitch et al., 2004; Belardinelli et al., 2006; Fraser et al., 2006). Ranolazine has been shown in clinical studies to have therapeutic efficacy for many kinds of cardiomyopathies (Sossalla et al., 2008; Maier et al., 2013).

Lastly, PPARs are key transcriptional factors that regulate FA uptake and metabolism, and modulation of various PPAR family members may have a beneficial impact for HF. The expression of PPARa is decreased during TAC-induced HF (Kaimoto et al., 2017). However, ischemic failing rats hearts treated with the PPARa agonist fenofibrate did not show improvements in left ventricular function (Morgan et al., 2006). Additionally, fenofibrate treatment may lead to left ventricular dysfunction in mice with hypertension (Ogata et al., 2004; Brigadeau et al., 2007). Post-trial follow up from the ACCORD study confirmed the original overall neutral results of the study but revealed a beneficial impact of fenofibrate therapy in reducing cardiovascular diseases in a specific group of participants with diabetes, hypertriglyceridemia, and low high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (Elam et al., 2017). PPARy agonists are currently used in the treatment of T2DM with suggested indirect benefits to cardiovascular disease (Elam et al., 2011). Table 2 summarizes previous and ongoing therapeutic interventions for glucose and FA metabolism.

CONCLUSION

Atrial fibrillation, tachyarrhythmias, and dysfunction in mechanical junctions preceding cardiac structural remodeling and fibrosis may all contribute to SCD (Jalife et al., 2009; Sato et al., 2009, 2011, 2018). More recently, cardiac metabolism has been studied as a potential early causal mode that promotes and supports SCD (Wu et al., 1993; Roussel et al., 2015). Metabolic flexibility and shifts in metabolic utilization are major determinants of adaptive and maladaptive cardiac signaling. This is particularly evident in T2DM patients, where aberrant glucose control is thought to contribute to cardiac dysfunction in more than 50% of patients (Dunlay et al., 2019). While metabolic pathways are somewhat plastic, detangling specific substrate utilization pathways has been particularly challenging because substrate preference alterations include horizontal crosstalk of various metabolic pathways. Undoubtedly, intervening at early maladaptive stages is key to delay or impede the development of HF and SCD. Detailing which enzymatic reactions are critical and pharmacologically targetable is essential to developing specific compounds that intervene accurately and efficaciously in the fight against SCD events. Future studies will be paramount in unraveling key enzymatic events for the development of novel compounds and determining which population groups are more prone to be responsive to these interventions.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JS and RZ contributed equally to this work. JS, RZ, AL, and PS reviewed the literature, drafted the manuscript, and critically revised the manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the American Heart Association (17SDG33660407) to PS. We also acknowledge the NIH Funded Diabetes Research Center NIH DK 19525.

REFERENCES

- Abel, E. D., Kaulbach, H. C., Tian, R., Hopkins, J. C., Duffy, J., Doetschman, T., et al. (1999). Cardiac hypertrophy with preserved contractile function after selective deletion of GLUT4 from the heart. J. Clin. Invest. 104, 1703–1714. doi: 10.1172/jci7605
- Abumrad, N. A., El-Maghrabi, M. R., Amri, E. Z., Lopez, E., and Grimaldi, P. A. (1993). Cloning of a rat adipocyte membrane protein implicated in binding or transport of long-chain fatty acids that is induced during preadipocyte differentiation. Homology with human CD36. J. Biol. Chem. 268, 17665–17668.
- Ago, T., Kuroda, J., Pain, J., Fu, C., Li, H., and Sadoshima, J. (2010). Upregulation of Nox4 by hypertrophic stimuli promotes apoptosis and mitochondrial dysfunction in cardiac myocytes. *Circ. Res.* 106, 1253–1264. doi: 10.1161/ circresaha.109.213116
- Al-Awar, A., Almasi, N., Szabo, R., Takacs, I., Murlasits, Z., Szucs, G., et al. (2018). Novel Potentials of the DPP-4 inhibitor sitagliptin against Ischemia-Reperfusion (I/R) injury in Rat Ex-Vivo heart model. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 19:3226. doi: 10.3390/ijms19103226
- Antzelevitch, C., Belardinelli, L., Zygmunt, A. C., Burashnikov, A., Di Diego, J. M., Fish, J. M., et al. (2004). Electrophysiological effects of ranolazine, a novel antianginal agent with antiarrhythmic properties. *Circulation* 110, 904–910. doi: 10.1161/01.cir.0000139333.83620.5d
- Ashrafian, H., Horowitz, J. D., and Frenneaux, M. P. (2007). Perhexiline. Cardiovasc. Drug Rev. 25, 76–97. doi: 10.1111/j.1527-3466.2007.00006.x
- Aubert, G., Martin, O. J., Horton, J. L., Lai, L., Vega, R. B., Leone, T. C., et al. (2016). The failing heart relies on Ketone bodies as a fuel. *Circulation* 133, 698–705. doi: 10.1161/circulationaha.115.017355
- Baggio, L. L., and Drucker, D. J. (2007). Biology of incretins: GLP-1 and GIP. Gastroenterology 132, 2131–2157. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2007.03.054
- Bai, J. Y., Ding, W. G., Kojima, A., Seto, T., and Matsuura, H. (2015). Putative binding sites for arachidonic acid on the human cardiac Kv 1.5 channel. Br. J. Pharmacol. 172, 5281–5292. doi: 10.1111/bph.13314
- Baines, C. P., Kaiser, R. A., Purcell, N. H., Blair, N. S., Osinska, H., Hambleton, M. A., et al. (2005). Loss of cyclophilin D reveals a critical role for mitochondrial permeability transition in cell death. *Nature* 434, 658–662. doi: 10.1038/ nature03434
- Balcioğlu, A. S., and Müderrisoğlu, H. (2015). Diabetes and cardiac autonomic neuropathy: clinical manifestations, cardiovascular consequences, diagnosis and treatment. World J. Diabetes 6, 80–91.
- Banach, M., Okonski, P., Rysz, J., Drozdz, J., and Zaslonka, J. (2006). The role of Trimetazidine in the Treatment of Heart Diseases. Poznan: Termedia Publishing House.
- Banerjee, S. K., Mcgaffin, K. R., Pastor-Soler, N. M., and Ahmad, F. (2009). SGLT1 is a novel cardiac glucose transporter that is perturbed in disease states. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 84, 111–118. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvp190
- Beaty, N. B., and Lane, M. D. (1983). Kinetics of activation of acetyl-CoA carboxylase by citrate. Relationship to the rate of polymerization of the enzyme. *J. Biol. Chem.* 258, 13043–13050.
- Bedi, K. C. Jr., Snyder, N. W., Brandimarto, J., Aziz, M., Mesaros, C., Worth, A. J., et al. (2016). Evidence for Intramyocardial disruption of lipid metabolism and increased Myocardial Ketone utilization in advanced human heart failure. *Circulation* 133, 706–716. doi: 10.1161/circulationaha.115.017545
- Belardinelli, L., Shryock, J. C., and Fraser, H. (2006). Inhibition of the late sodium current as a potential cardioprotective principle: effects of the late sodium current inhibitor ranolazine. *Heart* 92(Suppl. 4), iv6–iv14. doi: 10.1136/hrt. 2005.078790
- Belke, D. D., Larsen, T. S., Gibbs, E. M., and Severson, D. L. (2001). Glucose metabolism in perfused mouse hearts overexpressing human GLUT-4 glucose transporter. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 280, E420–E427.
- Benjamin, E. J., Virani, S. S., Callaway, C. W., Chamberlain, A. M., Chang, A. R., Cheng, S., et al. (2018). Heart disease and stroke statistics-2018 update: a report from the American Heart Association. *Circulation* 137, e67–e492.
- Bharadwaj, K. G., Hiyama, Y., Hu, Y., Huggins, L. A., Ramakrishnan, R., Abumrad, N. A., et al. (2010). Chylomicron- and VLDL-derived lipids enter the heart through different pathways: in vivo evidence for receptor- and non-receptormediated fatty acid uptake. *J. Biol. Chem.* 285, 37976–37986. doi: 10.1074/jbc. m110.174458

- Bhashyam, S., Fields, A. V., Patterson, B., Testani, J. M., Chen, L., Shen, Y. T., et al. (2010). Glucagon-like peptide-1 increases myocardial glucose uptake via p38alpha MAP kinase-mediated, nitric oxide-dependent mechanisms in conscious dogs with dilated cardiomyopathy. *Circ. Heart Fail* 3, 512–521. doi: 10.1161/circheartfailure.109.900282
- Binas, B., Danneberg, H., Mcwhir, J., Mullins, L., and Clark, A. J. (1999). Requirement for the heart-type fatty acid binding protein in cardiac fatty acid utilization. *FASEB J.* 13, 805–812. doi: 10.1096/fasebj.13.8.805
- Bonezzi, F., Piccoli, M., Dei Cas, M., Paroni, R., Mingione, A., Monasky, M. M., et al. (2019). Sphingolipid Synthesis inhibition by Myriocin administration enhances lipid consumption and Ameliorates lipid response to Myocardial Ischemia reperfusion injury. *Front. Physiol.* 10:986. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2019. 00986
- Boudina, S., and Abel, E. D. (2007). Diabetic cardiomyopathy revisited. *Circulation* 115, 3213–3223. doi: 10.1161/circulationaha.106.679597
- Brigadeau, F., Gele, P., Wibaux, M., Marquie, C., Martin-Nizard, F., Torpier, G., et al. (2007). The PPARalpha activator fenofibrate slows down the progression of the left ventricular dysfunction in porcine tachycardia-induced cardiomyopathy. J. Cardiovasc. Pharmacol. 49, 408–415. doi: 10.1097/fjc. 0b013e3180544540
- Brosius, F. C. III, Liu, Y., Nguyen, N., Sun, D., Bartlett, J., and Schwaiger, M. (1997). Persistent myocardial ischemia increases GLUT1 glucose transporter expression in both ischemic and non-ischemic heart regions. *J. Mol. Cell Cardiol.* 29, 1675–1685. doi: 10.1006/jmcc.1997.0405
- Cadenas, S. (2018). Mitochondrial uncoupling. ROS generation and cardioprotection. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta Bioenerg.* 1859, 940–950. doi: 10.1016/j.bbabio.2018.05.019
- Chen, L. Q., Hou, B. H., Lalonde, S., Takanaga, H., Hartung, M. L., Qu, X. Q., et al. (2010). Sugar transporters for intercellular exchange and nutrition of pathogens. *Nature* 468, 527–532.
- Chen, M., Gao, C., Yu, J., Ren, S., Wang, M., Wynn, R. M., et al. (2019). Therapeutic effect of targeting branched-chain Amino acid catabolic flux in pressure-overload induced heart failure. *J. Am. Heart Assoc.* 8:e011625.
- Chess, D. J., and Stanley, W. C. (2008). Role of diet and fuel overabundance in the development and progression of heart failure. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 79, 269–278. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvn074
- Chien, A. J., Carr, K. M., Shirokov, R. E., Rios, E., and Hosey, M. M. (1996). Identification of palmitoylation sites within the L-type calcium channel beta2a subunit and effects on channel function. *J. Biol. Chem.* 271, 26465–26468. doi: 10.1074/jbc.271.43.26465
- Chiu, H. C., Kovacs, A., Blanton, R. M., Han, X., Courtois, M., Weinheimer, C. J., et al. (2005). Transgenic expression of fatty acid transport protein 1 in the heart causes lipotoxic cardiomyopathy. *Circ. Res.* 96, 225–233. doi: 10.1161/01.res. 0000154079.20681.b9
- Chiu, H. C., Kovacs, A., Ford, D. A., Hsu, F. F., Garcia, R., Herrero, P., et al. (2001). A novel mouse model of lipotoxic cardiomyopathy. *J. Clin. Invest.* 107, 813–822. doi: 10.1172/jci10947
- Coburn, C. T., Knapp, F. F. Jr., Febbraio, M., Beets, A. L., Silverstein, R. L., and Abumrad, N. A. (2000). Defective uptake and utilization of long chain fatty acids in muscle and adipose tissues of CD36 knockout mice. J. Biol. Chem. 275, 32523–32529. doi: 10.1074/jbc.m003826200
- Cohen, S., and Beckey, C. (2016). Liraglutide and cardiovascular outcomes in type 2 diabetes. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 375:1797. doi: 10.1056/nejmc1611289
- Corr, P. B., Creer, M. H., Yamada, K. A., Saffitz, J. E., and Sobel, B. E. (1989). Prophylaxis of early ventricular fibrillation by inhibition of acylcarnitine accumulation. J. Clin. Invest. 83, 927–936. doi: 10.1172/jci113978
- Deacon, C. F. (2004). Circulation and degradation of GIP and GLP-1. *Horm. Metab. Res.* 36, 761–765. doi: 10.1055/s-2004-826160
- Depre, C., Shipley, G. L., Chen, W., Han, Q., Doenst, T., Moore, M. L., et al. (1998). Unloaded heart in vivo replicates fetal gene expression of cardiac hypertrophy. *Nat. Med.* 4, 1269–1275. doi: 10.1038/3253
- Dezsi, C. A. (2016). Trimetazidine in practice: review of the clinical and experimental evidence. *Am. J. Ther.* 23, e871–e879. doi: 10.1097/mjt. 00000000000180
- Diakos, N. A., Navankasattusas, S., Abel, E. D., Rutter, J., Mccreath, L., Ferrin, P., et al. (2016). Evidence of Glycolysis up-regulation and Pyruvate Mitochondrial oxidation mismatch during mechanical unloading of the failing human heart:

implications for cardiac reloading and conditioning. JACC Basic Transl. Sci. 1, 432–444. doi: 10.1016/j.jacbts.2016.06.009

- Doehner, W., Gathercole, D., Cicoira, M., Krack, A., Coats, A. J., Camici, P. G., et al. (2010). Reduced glucose transporter GLUT4 in skeletal muscle predicts insulin resistance in non-diabetic chronic heart failure patients independently of body composition. *Int. J. Cardiol.* 138, 19–24. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2008.07.004
- Domenighetti, A. A., Danes, V. R., Curl, C. L., Favaloro, J. M., Proietto, J., and Delbridge, L. M. (2010). Targeted GLUT-4 deficiency in the heart induces cardiomyocyte hypertrophy and impaired contractility linked with Ca(2+) and proton flux dysregulation. *J. Mol. Cell Cardiol.* 48, 663–672. doi: 10.1016/j. yjmcc.2009.11.017
- Drosatos, K., and Schulze, P. C. (2013). Cardiac lipotoxicity: molecular pathways and therapeutic implications. *Curr. Heart Fail Rep.* 10, 109–121. doi: 10.1007/s11897-013-0133-0
- Dubouchaud, H., Walter, L., Rigoulet, M., and Batandier, C. (2018). Mitochondrial NADH redox potential impacts the reactive oxygen species production of reverse Electron transfer through complex I. J. Bioenerg. Biomembr. 50, 367–377. doi: 10.1007/s10863-018-9767-7
- Dunlay, S. M., Givertz, M. M., Aguilar, D., Allen, L. A., Chan, M., Desai, A. S., et al. (2019). Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus and Heart Failure: a Scientific Statement From the American Heart Association and the Heart Failure Society of America: this statement does not represent an update of the 2017 ACC/AHA/HFSA heart failure guideline update. *Circulation* 140, e294–e324.
- Dwenger, M. M., Ohanyan, V., Navedo, M. F., and Nystoriak, M. A. (2018). Coronary microvascular Kv1 channels as regulatory sensors of intracellular pyridine nucleotide redox potential. *Microcirculation* 25:e12426. doi: 10.1111/ micc.12426
- Dyck, J. R., and Lopaschuk, G. D. (2002). Malonyl CoA control of fatty acid oxidation in the ischemic heart. J. Mol. Cell Cardiol. 34, 1099–1109. doi: 10.1006/jmcc.2002.2060
- Dziubak, A., Wójcicka, G., Wojtak, A., and Bełtowski, J. (2018). Metabolic effects of metformin in the failing heart. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 19:2869. doi: 10.3390/ ijms19102869
- Eberli, F. R., Weinberg, E. O., Grice, W. N., Horowitz, G. L., and Apstein, C. S. (1991). Protective effect of increased glycolytic substrate against systolic and diastolic dysfunction and increased coronary resistance from prolonged global underperfusion and reperfusion in isolated rabbit hearts perfused with erythrocyte suspensions. *Circ. Res.* 68, 466–481. doi: 10.1161/01.res.68. 2.466
- Ednie, A. R., Horton, K. K., Wu, J., and Bennett, E. S. (2013). Expression of the sialyltransferase, ST3Gal4, impacts cardiac voltage-gated sodium channel activity, refractory period and ventricular conduction. *J. Mol. Cell Cardiol.* 59, 117–127. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2013.02.013
- Eisner, D. A., Caldwell, J. L., Trafford, A. W., and Hutchings, D. C. (2020). The control of diastolic calcium in the heart: basic mechanisms and functional implications. *Circ. Res.* 126, 395–412. doi: 10.1161/circresaha.119.315891
- Elam, M., Lovato, L. C., and Ginsberg, H. (2011). Role of fibrates in cardiovascular disease prevention, the ACCORD-Lipid perspective. *Curr. Opin. Lipidol.* 22, 55–61. doi: 10.1097/mol.0b013e328341a5a8
- Elam, M. B., Ginsberg, H. N., Lovato, L. C., Corson, M., Largay, J., Leiter, L. A., et al. (2017). Association of Fenofibrate therapy with long-term cardiovascular risk in Statin-treated patients with type 2 diabetes. *JAMA Cardiol.* 2, 370–380.
- Elrod, J. W., Wong, R., Mishra, S., Vagnozzi, R. J., Sakthievel, B., Goonasekera, S. A., et al. (2010). Cyclophilin D controls mitochondrial pore-dependent Ca(2+) exchange, metabolic flexibility, and propensity for heart failure in mice. *J. Clin. Invest.* 120, 3680–3687. doi: 10.1172/jci43171
- Erdmann, E., Charbonnel, B., Wilcox, R. G., Skene, A. M., Massi-Benedetti, M., Yates, J., et al. (2007). Pioglitazone use and heart failure in patients with type 2 diabetes and preexisting cardiovascular disease: data from the PROactive study (PROactive 08). *Diabetes Care* 30, 2773–2778. doi: 10.2337/dc07-0717
- Erickson, J. R., Pereira, L., Wang, L., Han, G., Ferguson, A., Dao, K., et al. (2013). Diabetic hyperglycaemia activates CaMKII and arrhythmias by O-linked glycosylation. *Nature* 502, 372–376. doi: 10.1038/nature12537
- Erion, D. M., and Shulman, G. I. (2010). Diacylglycerol-mediated insulin resistance. *Nat. Med.* 16, 400–402. doi: 10.1038/nm0410-400
- Evans, C. A. L. (1939). Metabolism of the Heart. Edinburgh Med. J. 46, 733-749.

- Finan, B., Muller, T. D., Clemmensen, C., Perez-Tilve, D., Dimarchi, R. D., and Tschop, M. H. (2016). Reappraisal of GIP Pharmacology for Metabolic Diseases. *Trends Mol. Med.* 22, 359–376. doi: 10.1016/j.molmed.2016.03.005
- Fiolet, J. W., and Baartscheer, A. (2000). Cellular calcium homeostasis during ischemia; a thermodynamic approach. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 45, 100–106. doi: 10. 1016/s0008-6363(99)00294-1
- Foster, D. W. (2012). Malonyl-CoA: the regulator of fatty acid synthesis and oxidation. J. Clin. Invest. 122, 1958–1959. doi: 10.1172/jci63967
- Fouda, M. A., Ghovanloo, M. R., and Ruben, P. C. (2020). Cannabidiol protects against high glucose-induced oxidative stress and cytotoxicity in cardiac voltage-gated sodium channels. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* doi: 10.1111/bph.15020 [Online ahead of print]
- Fragasso, G., Palloshi, A., Puccetti, P., Silipigni, C., Rossodivita, A., Pala, M., et al. (2006). A randomized clinical trial of trimetazidine, a partial free fatty acid oxidation inhibitor, in patients with heart failure. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 48, 992–998. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2006.03.060
- Franz, M. R., Cima, R., Wang, D., Profitt, D., and Kurz, R. (1992). Electrophysiological effects of myocardial stretch and mechanical determinants of stretch-activated arrhythmias. *Circulation* 86, 968–978. doi: 10.1161/01.cir.86.3.968
- Fraser, H., Belardinelli, L., Wang, L., Light, P. E., Mcveigh, J. J., and Clanachan, A. S. (2006). Ranolazine decreases diastolic calcium accumulation caused by ATX-II or ischemia in rat hearts. *J. Mol. Cell Cardiol.* 41, 1031–1038. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2006.08.012
- Fukushima, A., and Lopaschuk, G. D. (2016). Cardiac fatty acid oxidation in heart failure associated with obesity and diabetes. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1861, 1525–1534. doi: 10.1016/j.bbalip.2016.03.020
- Gibb, A. A., Lorkiewicz, P. K., Zheng, Y.-T., Zhang, X., Bhatnagar, A., Jones, S. P., et al. (2017). Integration of flux measurements to resolve changes in anabolic and catabolic metabolism in cardiac myocytes. *Biochem. J.* 474, 2785–2801. doi: 10.1042/bcj20170474
- Gimeno, R. E., Ortegon, A. M., Patel, S., Punreddy, S., Ge, P., Sun, Y., et al. (2003). Characterization of a heart-specific fatty acid transport protein. *J. Biol. Chem.* 278, 16039–16044. doi: 10.1074/jbc.m211412200
- Goldenberg, J. R., Carley, A. N., Ji, R., Zhang, X., Fasano, M., Schulze, P. C., et al. (2019). Preservation of Acyl Coenzyme a attenuates pathological and metabolic cardiac remodeling through selective lipid trafficking. *Circulation* 139, 2765–2777. doi: 10.1161/circulationaha.119.039610
- Gottschalk, B., Klec, C., Leitinger, G., Bernhart, E., Rost, R., Bischof, H., et al. (2019). MICU1 controls cristae junction and spatially anchors mitochondrial Ca(2+) uniporter complex. *Nat. Commun.* 10:3732.
- Gupte, S. A., Levine, R. J., Gupte, R. S., Young, M. E., Lionetti, V., Labinskyy, V., et al. (2006). Glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase-derived NADPH fuels superoxide production in the failing heart. J. Mol. Cell Cardiol. 41, 340–349. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2006.05.003
- Halbesma, N., Bakker, S. J. L., Jansen, D. F., Stolk, R. P., De Zeeuw, D., De Jong, P. E., et al. (2009). High protein intake associates with cardiovascular events but not with loss of renal function. *J. Am. Soc. Nephrology* 20, 1797–1804. doi: 10.1681/asn.2008060649
- Harris, D. A., and Das, A. M. (1991). Control of mitochondrial ATP synthesis in the heart. *Biochem. J.* 280(Pt 3), 561–573. doi: 10.1042/bj2800561
- Harvey, K. L., Holcomb, L. E., and Kolwicz, S. C. Jr. (2019). Ketogenic diets and exercise performance. *Nutrients* 11:2296. doi: 10.3390/nu11102296
- Hermann, H. P., Zeitz, O., Lehnart, S. E., Keweloh, B., Datz, N., Hasenfuss, G., et al. (2002). Potentiation of beta-adrenergic inotropic response by pyruvate in failing human myocardium. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 53, 116–123. doi: 10.1016/s0008-6363(01)00437-0
- Hiromura, M., Mori, Y., Kohashi, K., Terasaki, M., Shinmura, K., Negoro, T., et al. (2016). Suppressive effects of Glucose-Dependent insulinotropic polypeptide on cardiac hypertrophy and fibrosis in Angiotensin II-Infused mouse models. *Circ. J.* 80, 1988–1997. doi: 10.1253/circj.cj-16-0152
- Ho, K. L., Zhang, L., Wagg, C., Al Batran, R., Gopal, K., Levasseur, J., et al. (2019). Increased ketone body oxidation provides additional energy for the failing heart without improving cardiac efficiency. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 115, 1606–1616. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvz045
- Holubarsch, C. J., Rohrbach, M., Karrasch, M., Boehm, E., Polonski, L., Ponikowski, P., et al. (2007). A double-blind randomized multicentre clinical trial to evaluate the efficacy and safety of two doses of etomoxir in comparison

with placebo in patients with moderate congestive heart failure: the ERGO (etomoxir for the recovery of glucose oxidation) study. *Clin. Sci.* 113, 205–212. doi: 10.1042/cs20060307

- Houten, S. M., Violante, S., Ventura, F. V., and Wanders, R. J. (2016). The Biochemistry and Physiology of Mitochondrial Fatty Acid beta-Oxidation and Its Genetic Disorders. Annu. Rev. Physiol. 78, 23–44. doi: 10.1146/annurevphysiol-021115-105045
- Ide, T., Tsutsui, H., Kinugawa, S., Utsumi, H., Kang, D., Hattori, N., et al. (1999). Mitochondrial electron transport complex I is a potential source of oxygen free radicals in the failing myocardium. *Circ. Res.* 85, 357–363. doi: 10.1161/01.res. 85.4.357
- Ikegami, R., Shimizu, I., Yoshida, Y., and Minamino, T. (2017). Metabolomic Analysis in Heart Failure. Circ. J. 82, 10–16. doi: 10.1253/circj.cj-17-1184
- Inoguchi, T., Battan, R., Handler, E., Sportsman, J. R., Heath, W., and King, G. L. (1992). Preferential elevation of protein kinase C isoform beta II and diacylglycerol levels in the aorta and heart of diabetic rats: differential reversibility to glycemic control by islet cell transplantation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 89, 11059–11063. doi: 10.1073/pnas.89.22.11059
- Jalife, J. D. M., Anumonwo, J., Berenfeld, O., and Kalifa, J. (2009). Basic Cardiac Electrophysiology for the Clinician. Hoboken, NJ: Wiley-Blackwell.
- Jaswal, J. S., Keung, W., Wang, W., Ussher, J. R., and Lopaschuk, G. D. (2011). Targeting fatty acid and carbohydrate oxidation-a novel therapeutic intervention in the ischemic and failing heart. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1813, 1333–1350. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2011.01.015
- Kaimoto, S., Hoshino, A., Ariyoshi, M., Okawa, Y., Tateishi, S., Ono, K., et al. (2017). Activation of PPAR-alpha in the early stage of heart failure maintained myocardial function and energetics in pressure-overload heart failure. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol.* 312, H305–H313.
- Kantor, P. F., Lucien, A., Kozak, R., and Lopaschuk, G. D. (2000). The antianginal drug trimetazidine shifts cardiac energy metabolism from fatty acid oxidation to glucose oxidation by inhibiting mitochondrial long-chain 3-ketoacyl coenzyme A thiolase. *Circ. Res.* 86, 580–588. doi: 10.1161/01.res.86.5.580
- Kiyosue, T., Nakamura, S., and Arita, M. (1986). Effects of trimetazidine on action potentials and membrane currents of guinea-pig ventricular myocytes. J. Mol. Cell Cardiol. 18, 1301–1311. doi: 10.1016/s0022-2828(86)80433-3
- Klos, M., Morgenstern, S., Hicks, K., Suresh, S., and Devaney, E. J. (2019). The effects of the ketone body beta-hydroxybutyrate on isolated rat ventricular myocyte excitation-contraction coupling. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* 662, 143–150. doi: 10.1016/j.abb.2018.11.027
- Knowlton, F. P., and Starling, E. H. (1912). Experiments on the consumption of sugar in the normal and the diabetic heart. J. Physiol. 45, 146–163. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.1912.sp001542
- Kolwicz, S. C. Jr., Olson, D. P., Marney, L. C., Garcia-Menendez, L., Synovec, R. E., and Tian, R. (2012). Cardiac-specific deletion of acetyl CoA carboxylase 2 prevents metabolic remodeling during pressure-overload hypertrophy. *Circ. Res.* 111, 728–738. doi: 10.1161/circresaha.112.268128
- Kolwicz, S. C. Jr., Purohit, S., and Tian, R. (2013). Cardiac metabolism and its interactions with contraction, growth, and survival of cardiomyocytes. *Circ. Res.* 113, 603–616. doi: 10.1161/circresaha.113.302095
- Kraegen, E. W., Sowden, J. A., Halstead, M. B., Clark, P. W., Rodnick, K. J., Chisholm, D. J., et al. (1993). Glucose transporters and in vivo glucose uptake in skeletal and cardiac muscle: fasting, insulin stimulation and immunoisolation studies of GLUT1 and GLUT4. *Biochem. J.* 295(Pt 1), 287–293. doi: 10.1042/ bj2950287
- Laffel, L. (1999). Ketone bodies: a review of physiology, pathophysiology and application of monitoring to diabetes. *Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev.* 15, 412–426. doi: 10.1002/(sici)1520-7560(199911/12)15:6<412::aid-dmrr72>3.0.co;2-8
- Lane, M. D., Moss, J., Ryder, E., and Stoll, E. (1970). The activation of acetyl CoA carboxylase by tricarboxylic acids. Adv. Enzyme Regul. 9, 237–251. doi: 10.1016/s0065-2571(71)80047-x
- Law, B. A., Liao, X., Moore, K. S., Southard, A., Roddy, P., Ji, R., et al. (2018). Lipotoxic very-long-chain ceramides cause mitochondrial dysfunction, oxidative stress, and cell death in cardiomyocytes. *FASEB J.* 32, 1403–1416. doi: 10.1096/fj.201700300r
- Lee, L., Campbell, R., Scheuermann-Freestone, M., Taylor, R., Gunaruwan, P., Williams, L., et al. (2005). Metabolic modulation with perhexiline in chronic heart failure: a randomized, controlled trial of short-term use of a novel treatment. *Circulation* 112, 3280–3288. doi: 10.1161/circulationaha.105.551457

- Lee, T. I., Chen, Y. C., Lin, Y. K., Chung, C. C., Lu, Y. Y., Kao, Y. H., et al. (2019). Empagliflozin Attenuates Myocardial Sodium and Calcium Dysregulation and reverses cardiac remodeling in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 20:1680. doi: 10.3390/ijms20071680
- Li, T., Xu, J., Qin, X., Hou, Z., Guo, Y., Liu, Z., et al. (2017a). Glucose oxidation positively regulates glucose uptake and improves cardiac function recovery after myocardial reperfusion. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 313, E577–E585.
- Li, T., Zhang, Z., Kolwicz, S. C. Jr., Abell, L., Roe, N. D., Kim, M., et al. (2017b). Defective Branched-Chain Amino Acid catabolism disrupts glucose metabolism and sensitizes the Heart to Ischemia-reperfusion injury. *Cell Metab.* 25, 374–385. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2016.11.005
- Liao, R., Jain, M., Cui, L., D'agostino, J., Aiello, F., Luptak, I., et al. (2002). Cardiacspecific overexpression of GLUT1 prevents the development of heart failure attributable to pressure overload in mice. *Circulation* 106, 2125–2131. doi: 10.1161/01.cir.0000034049.61181.f3
- Lim, L. L., Lau, E. S. H., Fung, E., Lee, H. M., Ma, R. C. W., Tam, C. H. T., et al. (2020). Circulating branched-chain amino acids and incident heart failure in type 2 diabetes: the Hong Kong Diabetes Register. *Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev.* 36:e3253.
- Lombardi, A. A., Gibb, A. A., Arif, E., Kolmetzky, D. W., Tomar, D., Luongo, T. S., et al. (2019). Mitochondrial calcium exchange links metabolism with the epigenome to control cellular differentiation. *Nat. Commun.* 10:4509.
- Lopaschuk, G. D., Barr, R., Thomas, P. D., and Dyck, J. R. (2003). Beneficial effects of trimetazidine in ex vivo working ischemic hearts are due to a stimulation of glucose oxidation secondary to inhibition of long-chain 3-ketoacyl coenzyme a thiolase. *Circ. Res.* 93, e33–e37.
- Lopaschuk, G. D., Wall, S. R., Olley, P. M., and Davies, N. J. (1988). Etomoxir, a carnitine palmitoyltransferase I inhibitor, protects hearts from fatty acidinduced ischemic injury independent of changes in long chain acylcarnitine. *Circ. Res.* 63, 1036–1043. doi: 10.1161/01.res.63.6.1036
- Lundsgaard, A. M., Fritzen, A. M., Nicolaisen, T. S., Carl, C. S., Sjoberg, K. A., Raun, S. H., et al. (2019). Glucometabolic consequences of acute and prolonged inhibition of fatty acid oxidation. *J. Lipid Res.* 61, 10–19. doi: 10.1194/jlr. ra119000177
- Luongo, T. S., Lambert, J. P., Gross, P., Nwokedi, M., Lombardi, A. A., Shanmughapriya, S., et al. (2017). The mitochondrial Na(+)/Ca(2+) exchanger is essential for Ca(2+) homeostasis and viability. *Nature* 545, 93–97.
- Luongo, T. S., Lambert, J. P., Yuan, A., Zhang, X., Gross, P., Song, J., et al. (2015). The Mitochondrial Calcium uniporter matches energetic supply with cardiac workload during stress and modulates permeability transition. *Cell Rep.* 12, 23–34. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2015.06.017
- Luptak, I., Yan, J., Cui, L., Jain, M., Liao, R., and Tian, R. (2007). Long-term effects of increased glucose entry on mouse hearts during normal aging and ischemic stress. *Circulation* 116, 901–909. doi: 10.1161/circulationaha.107.691253
- Maier, L. S., Layug, B., Karwatowska-Prokopczuk, E., Belardinelli, L., Lee, S., Sander, J., et al. (2013). RAnoLazIne for the treatment of diastolic heart failure in patients with preserved ejection fraction: the RALI-DHF proof-of-concept study. *JACC Heart Fail* 1, 115–122. doi: 10.1016/j.jchf.2012.12.002
- Mallilankaraman, K., Doonan, P., Cardenas, C., Chandramoorthy, H. C., Muller, M., Miller, R., et al. (2012). MICU1 is an essential gatekeeper for MCU-mediated mitochondrial Ca(2+) uptake that regulates cell survival. *Cell* 151, 630–644. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2012.10.011
- Malmberg, K., Ryden, L., Wedel, H., Birkeland, K., Bootsma, A., Dickstein, K., et al. (2005). Intense metabolic control by means of insulin in patients with diabetes mellitus and acute myocardial infarction (DIGAMI 2): effects on mortality and morbidity. *Eur. Heart J.* 26, 650–661. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehi199
- McCormack, J. G., Barr, R. L., Wolff, A. A., and Lopaschuk, G. D. (1996). Ranolazine stimulates glucose oxidation in normoxic, ischemic, and reperfused ischemic rat hearts. *Circulation* 93, 135–142. doi: 10.1161/01.cir.93.1.135
- McGarry, J. D., and Brown, N. F. (1997). The mitochondrial carnitine palmitoyltransferase system. From concept to molecular analysis. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 244, 1–14. doi: 10.1111/j.1432-1033.1997.00001.x
- McGavock, J. M., Lingvay, I., Zib, I., Tillery, T., Salas, N., Unger, R., et al. (2007). Cardiac steatosis in diabetes mellitus: a 1H-magnetic resonance spectroscopy study. *Circulation* 116, 1170–1175. doi: 10.1161/circulationaha.106. 645614
- Meerson, F. Z., Spiritchev, V. B., Pshennikova, M. G., and Djachkova, L. V. (1967). The role of the pentose-phosphate pathway in adjustment of the heart to a high

load and the development of myocardial hypertrophy. *Experientia* 23, 530–532. doi: 10.1007/bf02137950

- Meng, D., Feng, L., Chen, X. J., Yang, D., and Zhang, J. N. (2006). Trimetazidine improved Ca2+ handling in isoprenaline-mediated myocardial injury of rats. *Exp. Physiol.* 91, 591–601. doi: 10.1113/expphysiol.2005.032615
- Mentz, R. J., Thompson, V. P., Aguilar, D., Choi, J., Gustavson, S. M., Iqbal, N., et al. (2018). Effects of Once-Weekly exenatide on clinical outcomes in patients with preexisting cardiovascular disease. *Circulation* 138, 2576–2578. doi: 10.1161/circulationaha.118.036811
- Mentzer, R. M. Jr., Van Wylen, D. G., Sodhi, J., Weiss, R. J., Lasley, R. D., Willis, J., et al. (1989). Effect of pyruvate on regional ventricular function in normal and stunned myocardium. *Ann. Surg.* 209, 629–633.
- Michelakis, E. D., Mcmurtry, M. S., Wu, X. C., Dyck, J. R., Moudgil, R., Hopkins, T. A., et al. (2002). Dichloroacetate, a metabolic modulator, prevents and reverses chronic hypoxic pulmonary hypertension in rats: role of increased expression and activity of voltage-gated potassium channels. *Circulation* 105, 244–250. doi: 10.1161/hc0202.101974
- Milstein, M. L., Musa, H., Balbuena, D. P., Anumonwo, J. M., Auerbach, D. S., Furspan, P. B., et al. (2012). Dynamic reciprocity of sodium and potassium channel expression in a macromolecular complex controls cardiac excitability and arrhythmia. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 109, E2134–E2143.
- Montaigne, D., Marechal, X., Coisne, A., Debry, N., Modine, T., Fayad, G., et al. (2014). Myocardial contractile dysfunction is associated with impaired mitochondrial function and dynamics in type 2 diabetic but not in obese patients. *Circulation* 130, 554–564. doi: 10.1161/circulationaha.113.008476
- Moreno-Dominguez, A., Ortega-Saenz, P., Gao, L., Colinas, O., Garcia-Flores, P., Bonilla-Henao, V., et al. (2020). Acute O2 sensing through HIF2alphadependent expression of atypical cytochrome oxidase subunits in arterial chemoreceptors. *Sci. Signal.* 13:eaay9452. doi: 10.1126/scisignal.aay9452
- Morgan, E. E., Rennison, J. H., Young, M. E., Mcelfresh, T. A., Kung, T. A., Tserng, K. Y., et al. (2006). Effects of chronic activation of peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor-alpha or high-fat feeding in a rat infarct model of heart failure. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol.* 290, H1899–H1904.
- Mori, J., Alrob, O. A., Wagg, C. S., Harris, R. A., Lopaschuk, G. D., and Oudit, G. Y. (2013). ANG II causes insulin resistance and induces cardiac metabolic switch and inefficiency: a critical role of PDK4. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol.* 304, H1103–H1113.
- Morrell, J. A., Orme, J., Butlin, R. J., Roche, T. E., Mayers, R. M., and Kilgour, E. (2003). AZD7545 is a selective inhibitor of pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase 2. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 31, 1168–1170. doi: 10.1042/bst0311168
- Murray, A. J., Panagia, M., Hauton, D., Gibbons, G. F., and Clarke, K. (2005). Plasma free fatty acids and peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha in the control of myocardial uncoupling protein levels. *Diabetes* 54, 3496–3502. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.54.12.3496
- Murray, J., Taylor, S. W., Zhang, B., Ghosh, S. S., and Capaldi, R. A. (2003). Oxidative damage to mitochondrial complex I due to peroxynitrite: identification of reactive tyrosines by mass spectrometry. *J. Biol. Chem.* 278, 37223–37230. doi: 10.1074/jbc.m305694200
- Murthy, M. S., and Pande, S. V. (1984). Mechanism of carnitine acylcarnitine translocase-catalyzed import of acylcarnitines into mitochondria. *J. Biol. Chem.* 259, 9082–9089.
- Muthuramu, I., Amin, R., Postnov, A., Mishra, M., Jacobs, F., Gheysens, O., et al. (2017). Coconut Oil aggravates pressure overload-induced cardiomyopathy without inducing obesity, systemic insulin resistance, or Cardiac Steatosis. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 18:1565. doi: 10.3390/ijms18071565
- Mylonas, C., and Kouretas, D. (1999). Lipid peroxidation and tissue damage. *In Vivo* 13, 295–309.
- Nagoshi, T., Yoshimura, M., Rosano, G. M., Lopaschuk, G. D., and Mochizuki, S. (2011). Optimization of cardiac metabolism in heart failure. *Curr. Pharm. Des.* 17, 3846–3853.
- Nakamura, T., Sugihara, H., Inaba, T., Kinoshita, N., Adachi, Y., Hirasaki, S., et al. (1999). CD36 deficiency has little influence on the pathophysiology of hypertrophic cardiomyopathy. J. Mol. Cell Cardiol. 31, 1253–1259. doi: 10. 1006/jmcc.1999.0957
- Nauck, M. A., Mcguire, D. K., Pieper, K. S., Lokhnygina, Y., Strandberg, T. E., Riefflin, A., et al. (2019). Sitagliptin does not reduce the risk of cardiovascular death or hospitalization for heart failure following myocardial infarction in patients with diabetes: observations from TECOS. *Cardiovasc. Diabetol.* 18:116.

- Neely, J. R., and Morgan, H. E. (1974). Relationship between carbohydrate and lipid metabolism and the energy balance of heart muscle. *Annu. Rev. Physiol.* 36, 413–459. doi: 10.1146/annurev.ph.36.030174.002213
- Neginskaya, M. A., Solesio, M. E., Berezhnaya, E. V., Amodeo, G. F., Mnatsakanyan, N., Jonas, E. A., et al. (2019). ATP Synthase C-Subunit-Deficient Mitochondria have a small Cyclosporine a-sensitive channel, but lack the permeability transition pore. *Cell Rep.* 26:e12.
- Neinast, M. D., Jang, C., Hui, S., Murashige, D. S., Chu, Q., Morscher, R. J., et al. (2019). Quantitative analysis of the whole-body metabolic fate of Branched-Chain Amino Acids. *Cell Metab.* 29:417-429.e4.
- Neubauer, S. (2007). The failing heart-an engine out of fuel. N. Engl. J. Med. 356, 1140-1151. doi: 10.1056/nejmra063052
- Ng, K.-M., Lau, Y.-M., Dhandhania, V., Cai, Z.-J., Lee, Y.-K., Lai, W.-H., et al. (2018). Empagliflozin Ammeliorates high glucose induced-Cardiac Dysfuntion in human iPSC-Derived Cardiomyocytes. *Sci. Rep.* 8, 14872–14872.
- Nikolaidis, L. A., Elahi, D., Hentosz, T., Doverspike, A., Huerbin, R., Zourelias, L., et al. (2004). Recombinant glucagon-like peptide-1 increases myocardial glucose uptake and improves left ventricular performance in conscious dogs with pacing-induced dilated cardiomyopathy. *Circulation* 110, 955–961. doi: 10.1161/01.cir.0000139339.85840.dd
- Nishimura, S., Kawai, Y., Nakajima, T., Hosoya, Y., Fujita, H., Katoh, M., et al. (2006). Membrane potential of rat ventricular myocytes responds to axial stretch in phase, amplitude and speed-dependent manners. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 72, 403–411. doi: 10.1016/j.cardiores.2006.08.011
- Nisimoto, Y., Diebold, B. A., Cosentino-Gomes, D., and Lambeth, J. D. (2014). Nox4: a hydrogen peroxide-generating oxygen sensor. *Biochemistry* 53, 5111–5120. doi: 10.1021/bi500331y
- Niu, Y. G., Hauton, D., and Evans, R. D. (2004). Utilization of triacylglycerol-rich lipoproteins by the working rat heart: routes of uptake and metabolic fates. *J. Physiol.* 558, 225–237. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2004.061473
- O'Donnell, J. M., Fields, A. D., Sorokina, N., and Lewandowski, E. D. (2008). The absence of endogenous lipid oxidation in early stage heart failure exposes limits in lipid storage and turnover. *J. Mol. Cell Cardiol.* 44, 315–322. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2007.11.006
- Ogata, T., Miyauchi, T., Sakai, S., Takanashi, M., Irukayama-Tomobe, Y., and Yamaguchi, I. (2004). Myocardial fibrosis and diastolic dysfunction in deoxycorticosterone acetate-salt hypertensive rats is ameliorated by the peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-alpha activator fenofibrate, partly by suppressing inflammatory responses associated with the nuclear factor-kappa-B pathway. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 43, 1481–1488. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2003.11.043
- Okere, I. C., Chandler, M. P., Mcelfresh, T. A., Rennison, J. H., Sharov, V., Sabbah, H. N., et al. (2006). Differential effects of saturated and unsaturated fatty acid diets on cardiomyocyte apoptosis, adipose distribution, and serum leptin. Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol. 291, H38–H44.
- Opie, L. H. (1968). Metabolism of the heart in health and disease. I. Am. Heart J. 76, 685–698. doi: 10.1016/0002-8703(68)90168-3
- Opie, L. H. (1969). Metabolism of the heart in health and disease. II. *Am. Heart J.* 77, 100–122. doi: 10.1016/0002-8703(69)90135-5
- Opie, L. H., and Knuuti, J. (2009). The adrenergic-fatty acid load in heart failure. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 54, 1637–1646. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2009.07.024
- Pan, X., Liu, J., Nguyen, T., Liu, C., Sun, J., Teng, Y., et al. (2013). The physiological role of mitochondrial calcium revealed by mice lacking the mitochondrial calcium uniporter. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 15, 1464–1472. doi: 10.1038/ncb2868
- Paternostro, G., Clarke, K., Heath, J., Seymour, A. M., and Radda, G. K. (1995). Decreased GLUT-4 mRNA content and insulin-sensitive deoxyglucose uptake show insulin resistance in the hypertensive rat heart. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 30, 205–211. doi: 10.1016/0008-6363(95)00019-4
- Paternostro, G., Pagano, D., Gnecchi-Ruscone, T., Bonser, R. S., and Camici, P. G. (1999). Insulin resistance in patients with cardiac hypertrophy. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 42, 246–253. doi: 10.1016/s0008-6363(98)00233-8
- Patterson, S. W., Piper, H., and Starling, E. H. (1914). The regulation of the heart beat. J. Physiol. 48, 465–513. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.1914.sp001676
- Pei, Z., Xiao, Y., Meng, J., Hudmon, A., and Cummins, T. R. (2016). Cardiac sodium channel palmitoylation regulates channel availability and myocyte excitability with implications for arrhythmia generation. *Nat. Commun.* 7:12035.
- Pereira, R. O., Wende, A. R., Olsen, C., Soto, J., Rawlings, T., Zhu, Y., et al. (2013). Inducible overexpression of GLUT1 prevents mitochondrial dysfunction and

attenuates structural remodeling in pressure overload but does not prevent left ventricular dysfunction. J. Am. Heart Assoc. 2:e000301.

- Pineda-Juarez, J. A., Sanchez-Ortiz, N. A., Castillo-Martinez, L., Orea-Tejeda, A., Cervantes-Gaytan, R., Keirns-Davis, C., et al. (2016). Changes in body composition in heart failure patients after a resistance exercise program and branched chain amino acid supplementation. *Clin. Nutr.* 35, 41–47. doi: 10. 1016/j.clnu.2015.02.004
- Randle, P. J., Garland, P. B., Hales, C. N., and Newsholme, E. A. (1963). The glucose fatty-acid cycle. Its role in insulin sensitivity and the metabolic disturbances of diabetes mellitus. *Lancet* 1, 785–789. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(63) 91500-9
- Rattigan, S., Appleby, G. J., and Clark, M. G. (1991). Insulin-like action of catecholamines and Ca2+ to stimulate glucose transport and GLUT4 translocation in perfused rat heart. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1094, 217–223. doi: 10.1016/0167-4889(91)90012-m
- Razeghi, P., Young, M. E., Alcorn, J. L., Moravec, C. S., Frazier, O. H., and Taegtmeyer, H. (2001). Metabolic gene expression in fetal and failing human heart. *Circulation* 104, 2923–2931. doi: 10.1161/hc4901. 100526
- Read, P. A., Khan, F. Z., Heck, P. M., Hoole, S. P., and Dutka, D. P. (2010). DPP-4 inhibition by sitagliptin improves the myocardial response to dobutamine stress and mitigates stunning in a pilot study of patients with coronary artery disease. *Circ. Cardiovasc. Imaging* 3, 195–201. doi: 10.1161/circimaging.109. 899377
- Reddy, B. M., Weintraub, H. S., and Schwartzbard, A. Z. (2010). Ranolazine: a new approach to treating an old problem. *Tex. Heart Inst. J.* 37, 641-647.
- Redout, E. M., Wagner, M. J., Zuidwijk, M. J., Boer, C., Musters, R. J., Van Hardeveld, C., et al. (2007). Right-ventricular failure is associated with increased mitochondrial complex II activity and production of reactive oxygen species. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 75, 770–781. doi: 10.1016/j.cardiores.2007. 05.012
- Roche, T. E., and Hiromasa, Y. (2007). Pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase regulatory mechanisms and inhibition in treating diabetes, heart ischemia, and cancer. *Cell Mol. Life Sci.* 64, 830–849. doi: 10.1007/s00018-007-6380-z
- Rogers, P. A., Dick, G. M., Knudson, J. D., Focardi, M., Bratz, I. N., Swafford, A. N. Jr., et al. (2006). H2O2-induced redox-sensitive coronary vasodilation is mediated by 4-aminopyridine-sensitive K+ channels. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol.* 291, H2473–H2482.
- Roussel, J., Thireau, J., Brenner, C., Saint, N., Scheuermann, V., Lacampagne, A., et al. (2015). Palmitoyl-carnitine increases RyR2 oxidation and sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca2+ leak in cardiomyocytes: role of adenine nucleotide translocase. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1852, 749–758. doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2015. 01.011
- Rupp, H., and Zarain-Herzberg, A. (2002). Therapeutic potential of CPT I inhibitors: cardiac gene transcription as a target. *Expert Opin. Invest. Drugs* 11, 345–356. doi: 10.1517/13543784.11.3.345
- Samovski, D., Sun, J., Pietka, T., Gross, R. W., Eckel, R. H., Su, X., et al. (2015). Regulation of AMPK activation by CD36 links fatty acid uptake to β -oxidation. *Diabetes* 64, 353–359. doi: 10.2337/db14-0582
- Sathananthan, A., Man, C. D., Micheletto, F., Zinsmeister, A. R., Camilleri, M., Giesler, P. D., et al. (2010). Common genetic variation in GLP1R and insulin secretion in response to exogenous GLP-1 in nondiabetic subjects: a pilot study. *Diabetes Care* 33, 2074–2076. doi: 10.2337/dc10-0200
- Sato, P. Y., Chuprun, J. K., Grisanti, L. A., Woodall, M. C., Brown, B. R., Roy, R., et al. (2018). Restricting mitochondrial GRK2 post-ischemia confers cardioprotection by reducing myocyte death and maintaining glucose oxidation. *Sci. Signal.* 11:eaau0144. doi: 10.1126/scisignal. aau0144
- Sato, P. Y., Coombs, W., Lin, X., Nekrasova, O., Green, K. J., Isom, L. L., et al. (2011). Interactions between ankyrin-G, Plakophilin-2, and Connexin43 at the cardiac intercalated disc. *Circ. Res.* 109, 193–201. doi: 10.1161/circresaha.111. 247023
- Sato, P. Y., Musa, H., Coombs, W., Guerrero-Serna, G., Patino, G. A., Taffet, S. M., et al. (2009). Loss of plakophilin-2 expression leads to decreased sodium current and slower conduction velocity in cultured cardiac myocytes. *Circ. Res.* 105, 523–526. doi: 10.1161/circresaha.109.201418

- Schaffer, J. E., and Lodish, H. F. (1994). Expression cloning and characterization of a novel adipocyte long chain fatty acid transport protein. *Cell* 79, 427–436. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(94)90252-6
- Schaffer, J. E., and Lodish, H. F. (1995). Molecular mechanism of long-chain fatty acid uptake. *Trends Cardiovasc. Med.* 5, 218–224. doi: 10.1016/1050-1738(95) 00102-6
- Schmidt, J. W., and Catterall, W. A. (1987). Palmitylation, sulfation, and glycosylation of the alpha subunit of the sodium channel. Role of posttranslational modifications in channel assembly. J. Biol. Chem. 262, 13713– 13723.
- Schmidt-Schweda, S., and Holubarsch, C. (2000). First clinical trial with etomoxir in patients with chronic congestive heart failure. *Clin. Sci.* 99, 27–35. doi: 10.1042/cs0990027
- Schramm, M., Klieber, H. G., and Daut, J. (1994). The energy expenditure of actomyosin-ATPase, Ca(2+)-ATPase and Na+,K(+)-ATPase in guinea-pig cardiac ventricular muscle. J. Physiol. 481(Pt 3), 647–662. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol. 1994.sp020471
- Schugar, R. C., Moll, A. R., André D'avignon, D., Weinheimer, C. J., Kovacs, A., and Crawford, P. A. (2014). Cardiomyocyte-specific deficiency of ketone body metabolism promotes accelerated pathological remodeling. *Mol. Metab.* 3, 754–769. doi: 10.1016/j.molmet.2014.07.010
- Selley, E., Kun, S., Szijarto, I. A., Laczy, B., Kovacs, T., Fulop, F., et al. (2014). Exenatide induces aortic vasodilation increasing hydrogen sulphide, carbon monoxide and nitric oxide production. *Cardiovasc. Diabetol.* 13:69. doi: 10. 1186/1475-2840-13-69
- Shao, D., and Tian, R. (2015). Glucose transporters in cardiac metabolism and hypertrophy. *Compr. Physiol.* 6, 331–351. doi: 10.1002/cphy.c150016
- Shao, D., Villet, O., Zhang, Z., Choi, S. W., Yan, J., Ritterhoff, J., et al. (2018). Glucose promotes cell growth by suppressing branched-chain amino acid degradation. *Nat. Commun.* 9:2935.
- Sharma, S., Adrogue, J. V., Golfman, L., Uray, I., Lemm, J., Youker, K., et al. (2004). Intramyocardial lipid accumulation in the failing human heart resembles the lipotoxic rat heart. *FASEB J.* 18, 1692–1700. doi: 10.1096/fj.04-2263com
- Shi, T., Papay, R. S., and Perez, D. M. (2016). alpha1A-Adrenergic receptor prevents cardiac ischemic damage through PKCdelta/GLUT1/4-mediated glucose uptake. J. Recept. Signal. Transduct. Res. 36, 261–270. doi: 10.3109/ 10799893.2015.1091475
- Shi, Y., Yan, C., Li, Y., Zhang, Y., Zhang, G., Li, M., et al. (2019). Expression signature of miRNAs and the potential role of miR-195-5p in high-glucose-treated rat cardiomyocytes. J. Biochem. Mol. Toxicol. 34: e22423.
- Shimizu, K., Saito, H., Sumi, K., Sakamoto, Y., Tachi, Y., and Iida, K. (2018). Short-term and long-term ketogenic diet therapy and the addition of exercise have differential impacts on metabolic gene expression in the mouse energyconsuming organs heart and skeletal muscle. *Nutr. Res.* 60, 77–86. doi: 10.1016/ j.nutres.2018.09.004
- Slot, J. W., Geuze, H. J., Gigengack, S., James, D. E., and Lienhard, G. E. (1991). Translocation of the glucose transporter GLUT4 in cardiac myocytes of the rat. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 88, 7815–7819. doi: 10.1073/pnas.88. 17.7815
- Sodi-Pallares, D., Testelli, M. R., Fishleder, B. L., Bisteni, A., Medrano, G. A., Friedland, C., et al. (1962). Effects of an intravenous infusion of a potassiumglucose-insulin solution on the electrocardiographic signs of myocardial infarction. A preliminary clinical report. *Am. J. Cardiol.* 9, 166–181. doi: 10. 1016/0002-9149(62)90035-8
- Sossalla, S., Wagner, S., Rasenack, E. C., Ruff, H., Weber, S. L., Schondube, F. A., et al. (2008). Ranolazine improves diastolic dysfunction in isolated myocardium from failing human hearts-role of late sodium current and intracellular ion accumulation. J. Mol. Cell Cardiol. 45, 32–43. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2008.03.006
- Stacpoole, P. W., Henderson, G. N., Yan, Z., and James, M. O. (1998). Clinical pharmacology and toxicology of dichloroacetate. *Environ. Health Perspect.* 106(Suppl. 4), 989–994. doi: 10.1289/ehp.98106s4989
- Storch, J., and Thumser, A. E. (2010). Tissue-specific functions in the fatty acidbinding protein family. J. Biol. Chem. 285, 32679–32683. doi: 10.1074/jbc.r110. 135210
- Stremmel, W., Strohmeyer, G., Borchard, F., Kochwa, S., and Berk, P. D. (1985). Isolation and partial characterization of a fatty acid binding protein in rat liver

plasma membranes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 82, 4–8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.82. 1.4

- Su, W., Li, W., Chen, H., Liu, H., Huang, H., and Li, H. (2015). Advanced Glycation end products impair Voltage-Gated K+ Channels-Mediated Coronary vasodilation in diabetic rats. *PLoS One* 10:e0142865. doi10.1371/journal.pone.0142865
- Suarez, J., Cividini, F., Scott, B. T., Lehmann, K., Diaz-Juarez, J., Diemer, T., et al. (2018). Restoring mitochondrial calcium uniporter expression in diabetic mouse heart improves mitochondrial calcium handling and cardiac function. J. Biol. Chem. 293, 8182–8195. doi: 10.1074/jbc.ra118. 002066
- Sun, H., Olson, K. C., Gao, C., Prosdocimo, D. A., Zhou, M., Wang, Z., et al. (2016). Catabolic Defect of Branched-Chain Amino Acids Promotes Heart Failure. *Circulation* 133, 2038–2049.
- Sun, W., Quan, N., Wang, L., Yang, H., Chu, D., Liu, Q., et al. (2016). Cardiac-Specific Deletion of the Pdha1 gene sensitizes heart to toxicological actions of ischemic stress. *Toxicol. Sci.* 151, 193–203. doi: 10.1093/toxsci/ kfw035
- Sung, M. M., Byrne, N. J., Kim, T. T., Levasseur, J., Masson, G., Boisvenue, J. J., et al. (2017). Cardiomyocyte-specific ablation of CD36 accelerates the progression from compensated cardiac hypertrophy to heart failure. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol.* 312, H552–H560.
- Taegtmeyer, H., and Overturf, M. L. (1988). Effects of moderate hypertension on cardiac function and metabolism in the rabbit. *Hypertension* 11, 416–426. doi: 10.1161/01.hyp.11.5.416
- Turk, E., Zabel, B., Mundlos, S., Dyer, J., and Wright, E. M. (1991). Glucose/galactose malabsorption caused by a defect in the Na+/glucose cotransporter. *Nature* 350, 354–356. doi: 10.1038/350354a0
- Turrens, J. F. (2003). Mitochondrial formation of reactive oxygen species. J. Physiol. 552, 335–344. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2003.049478
- Uchihashi, M., Hoshino, A., Okawa, Y., Ariyoshi, M., Kaimoto, S., Tateishi, S., et al. (2017). Cardiac-Specific Bdh1 Overexpression Ameliorates oxidative stress and cardiac remodeling in pressure overload-induced heart failure. *Circ. Heart Fail.* 10:e004417.
- Ufret-Vincenty, C. A., Baro, D. J., Lederer, W. J., Rockman, H. A., Quinones, L. E., and Santana, L. F. (2001). Role of sodium channel deglycosylation in the genesis of cardiac arrhythmias in heart failure. *J. Biol. Chem.* 276, 28197–28203. doi: 10.1074/jbc.m102548200
- Urbani, A., Giorgio, V., Carrer, A., Franchin, C., Arrigoni, G., Jiko, C., et al. (2019). Purified F-ATP synthase forms a Ca(2+)-dependent high-conductance channel matching the mitochondrial permeability transition pore. *Nat. Commun.* 10:4341.
- Ussher, J. R., and Lopaschuk, G. D. (2008). The malonyl CoA axis as a potential target for treating ischaemic heart disease. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 79, 259–268. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvn130
- Vallon, V., Platt, K. A., Cunard, R., Schroth, J., Whaley, J., Thomson, S. C., et al. (2011). SGLT2 mediates glucose reabsorption in the early proximal tubule. *J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.* 22, 104–112. doi: 10.1681/asn.20100 30246
- Van den Berghe, G., Wouters, P. J., Bouillon, R., Weekers, F., Verwaest, C., Schetz, M., et al. (2003). Outcome benefit of intensive insulin therapy in the critically ill: insulin dose versus glycemic control. *Crit. Care Med.* 31, 359–366. doi: 10.1097/01.ccm.0000045568.12881.10
- Varndell, I. M., Bishop, A. E., Sikri, K. L., Uttenthal, L. O., Bloom, S. R., and Polak, J. M. (1985). Localization of glucagon-like peptide (GLP) immunoreactants in human gut and pancreas using light and electron microscopic immunocytochemistry. J. Histochem. Cytochem. 33, 1080–1086. doi: 10.1177/33.10.3900195
- Vetter, R., and Rupp, H. (1994). CPT-1 inhibition by etomoxir has a chamberrelated action on cardiac sarcoplasmic reticulum and isomyosins. *Am. J. Physiol.* 267, H2091–H2099.
- Villanueva-Penacarrillo, M. L., Puente, J., Redondo, A., Clemente, F., and Valverde, I. (2001). Effect of GLP-1 treatment on GLUT2 and GLUT4 expression in type 1 and type 2 rat diabetic models. *Endocrine* 15, 241–248. doi: 10.1385/endo:15: 2:241
- Vitale, C., Wajngaten, M., Sposato, B., Gebara, O., Rossini, P., Fini, M., et al. (2004). Trimetazidine improves left ventricular function and quality of life

in elderly patients with coronary artery disease. Eur. Heart J. 25, 1814–1821. doi: 10.1016/j.ehj.2004.06.034

- Vork, M. M., Trigault, N., Snoeckx, L. H., Glatz, J. F., and Van Der Vusse, G. J. (1992). Heterogeneous distribution of fatty acid-binding protein in the hearts of Wistar Kyoto and spontaneously hypertensive rats. J. Mol. Cell Cardiol. 24, 317–321. doi: 10.1016/0022-2828(92)93 168-j
- Walker, B. D., Valenzuela, S. M., Singleton, C. B., Tie, H., Bursill, J. A., Wyse, K. R., et al. (1999). Inhibition of HERG channels stably expressed in a mammalian cell line by the antianginal agent perhexiline maleate. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 127, 243–251. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjp.0702502
- Wang, L., Qin, D., Shi, H., Zhang, Y., Li, H., and Han, Q. (2019). MiR-195-5p Promotes Cardiomyocyte Hypertrophy by Targeting MFN2 and FBXW7. *Biomed. Res. Int.* 2019:1580982.
- Wiedmann, F., Schlund, D., Voigt, N., Ratte, A., Kraft, M., Katus, H. A., et al. (2019). N-glycosylation-dependent regulation of hK(2P)17.1 currents. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 30, 1425–1436. doi: 10.1091/mbc.e18-10-0687
- Witters, L. A., and Kemp, B. E. (1992). Insulin activation of acetyl-CoA carboxylase accompanied by inhibition of the 5'-AMP-activated protein kinase. J. Biol. Chem. 267, 2864–2867.
- Wright, E. M. (2013). Glucose transport families SLC5 and SLC50. Mol. Aspects Med. 34, 183–196. doi: 10.1016/j.mam.2012.11.002
- Wu, C. Y., Satapati, S., Gui, W., Wynn, R. M., Sharma, G., Lou, M., et al. (2018). A novel inhibitor of pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase stimulates myocardial carbohydrate oxidation in diet-induced obesity. *J. Biol. Chem.* 293, 9604–9613. doi: 10.1074/jbc.ra118.002838
- Wu, J., and Corr, P. B. (1995). Palmitoylcarnitine increases [Na+]i and initiates transient inward current in adult ventricular myocytes. Am. J. Physiol. 268, H2405–H2417.
- Wu, J., Mchowat, J., Saffitz, J. E., Yamada, K. A., and Corr, P. B. (1993). Inhibition of gap junctional conductance by long-chain acylcarnitines and their preferential accumulation in junctional sarcolemma during hypoxia. *Circ. Res.* 72, 879–889. doi: 10.1161/01.res.72.4.879
- Xu, K. Y., Zweier, J. L., and Becker, L. C. (1995). Functional coupling between glycolysis and sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca2+ transport. *Circ. Res.* 77, 88–97. doi: 10.1161/01.res.77.1.88
- Xu, L., and Brink, M. (2016). mTOR, cardiomyocytes and inflammation in cardiac hypertrophy. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1863, 1894–1903. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamcr. 2016.01.003
- Young, L. H., Renfu, Y., Russell, R., Hu, X., Caplan, M., Ren, J., et al. (1997). Low-flow ischemia leads to translocation of canine heart GLUT-4 and GLUT-1 glucose transporters to the sarcolemma in vivo. *Circulation* 95, 415–422. doi: 10.1161/01.cir.95.2.415
- Zhang, H., Gong, G., Wang, P., Zhang, Z., Kolwicz, S. C., Rabinovitch, P. S., et al. (2018). Heart specific knockout of Ndufs4 ameliorates ischemia reperfusion injury. *J. Mol. Cell Cardiol.* 123, 38–45. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2018. 08.022
- Zhang, X., Lin, Q., Chen, J., Wei, T., Li, C., Zhao, L., et al. (2018). High glucose-induced cardiomyocyte death may be linked to unbalanced branchedchain amino acids and energy metabolism. *Molecules* 23:807. doi: 10.3390/ molecules23040807
- Zhang, L., Jaswal, J. S., Ussher, J. R., Sankaralingam, S., Wagg, C., Zaugg, M., et al. (2013). Cardiac insulin-resistance and decreased mitochondrial energy production precede the development of systolic heart failure after pressure-overload hypertrophy. *Circ. Heart Fail* 6, 1039–1048. doi: 10.1161/ circheartfailure.112.000228
- Zhang, Y., Bao, M., Dai, M., Wang, X., He, W., Tan, T., et al. (2015). Cardiospecific CD36 suppression by lentivirus-mediated RNA interference prevents cardiac hypertrophy and systolic dysfunction in high-fat-diet induced obese mice. *Cardiovasc. Diabetol.* 14:69.
- Zhou, B., and Tian, R. (2018). Mitochondrial dysfunction in pathophysiology of heart failure. *J. Clin. Invest.* 128, 3716–3726. doi: 10.1172/jci1 20849
- Zhou, L., Cryan, E. V., D'andrea, M. R., Belkowski, S., Conway, B. R., and Demarest, K. T. (2003). Human cardiomyocytes express high level of Na+/glucose cotransporter 1 (SGLT1). J. Cell Biochem. 90, 339–346. doi: 10.1002/jcb.10631

- Zimmer, H. G., and Peffer, H. (1986). Metabolic aspects of the development of experimental cardiac hypertrophy. *Basic Res. Cardiol.* 81(Suppl. 1), 127–137. doi: 10.1007/978-3-662-11374-5_13
- Zinman, B., Wanner, C., Lachin, J. M., Fitchett, D., Bluhmki, E., Hantel, S., et al. (2015). Empagliflozin, Cardiovascular Outcomes, and Mortality in Type 2 Diabetes. N. Engl. J. Med. 373, 2117–2128. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1504720
- Zorov, D. B., Filburn, C. R., Klotz, L. O., Zweier, J. L., and Sollott, S. J. (2000). Reactive oxygen species (ROS)-induced ROS release: a new phenomenon accompanying induction of the mitochondrial permeability transition in cardiac myocytes. J. Exp. Med. 192, 1001–1014. doi: 10.1084/jem.192.7.1001

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Snyder, Zhai, Lackey and Sato. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Exogenous Cardiac Bridging Integrator 1 Benefits Mouse Hearts With Pre-existing Pressure Overload-Induced Heart Failure

Jing Li¹, Sosse Agvanian¹, Kang Zhou¹, Robin M. Shaw² and TingTing Hong^{1,2,3*}

¹Department of Cardiology, Smidt Heart Institute, Cedars-Sinai Medical Center, Los Angeles, CA, United States, ²Nora Eccles Harrison Cardiovascular Research and Training Institute, University of Utah, Salt Lake City, UT, United States, ³Department of Pharmacology & Toxicology, College of Pharmacy, University of Utah, Salt Lake City, UT, United States

Background: Cardiac bridging integrator 1 (cBIN1) organizes transverse tubule (t-tubule) membrane calcium handling microdomains required for normal beat-to-beat contractility. cBIN1 is transcriptionally reduced in heart failure (HF). We recently found that cBIN1 pretreatment can limit HF development in stressed mice. Here, we aim to explore whether cBIN1 replacement therapy can improve myocardial function in continuously stressed hearts with pre-existing HF.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Ademuyiwa S. Aromolaran, Masonic Medical Research Institute (MMRI), United States

Reviewed by:

Nikolaos G. Frangogiannis, Albert Einstein College of Medicine, United States Wayne Rodney Giles, University of Calgary, Canada

*Correspondence:

TingTing Hong tingting.hong@pharm.utah.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cardiac Electrophysiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 01 April 2020 **Accepted:** 29 May 2020 **Published:** 24 June 2020

Citation:

Li J, Agvanian S, Zhou K, Shaw RM and Hong T (2020) Exogenous Cardiac Bridging Integrator 1 Benefits Mouse Hearts With Pre-existing Pressure Overload-Induced Heart Failure. Front. Physiol. 11:708. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2020.00708 **Methods**: Adult male mice were subjected to sham or transverse aortic constriction (TAC) surgery at the age of 8–10 weeks old. Adeno-associated virus 9 (AAV9) transducing cBIN1-V5 or GFP-V5 (3×10^{10} vg) was administered through retro-orbital injection at 5 weeks post-TAC. Mice were followed by echocardiography to monitor cardiac function until 20 weeks after TAC. Overall survival, heart and lung weight (LW), and HF incidence were determined. In a second set of animals in which AAV9-cBIN1 pretreatment prevents HF, we recorded cardiac pressure-volume (PV) loops and obtained myocardial immunofluorescence imaging.

Results: The overall Kaplan-Meir survival of AAV9-cBIN1 mice was 77.8%, indicating a significant partial rescue between AAV9-GFP (58.8%) and sham (100%) treated mice. In mice with ejection fraction (EF) \geq 30% prior to AAV9 injection at 5 weeks post-TAC, AAV9-cBIN1 significantly increased survival to 93.3%, compared to 62.5% survival for AAV9-GFP treated mice. The effect of exogenous cBIN1 was to attenuate TAC-induced left ventricular (LV) dilation and prevent further HF development. Recovery of EF also occurs in AAV9-cBIN1-treated mice. We found that EF increases to a peak at 6–8 weeks post-viral injection. Furthermore, PV loop analysis identified that AAV9-cBIN1 increases both systolic and diastolic function of the post-TAC hearts. At the myocyte level, AAV9-cBIN1 normalizes cBIN1 expression, t-tubule membrane intensity, and intracellular distribution of Cav1.2 and ryanodine receptors (RyRs).

Conclusions: In mice with pre-existing HF, exogenous cBIN1 can normalize t-tubule calcium handling microdomains, limit HF progression, rescue cardiac function, and improve survival.

Keywords: heart failure, ion channel, cardiac bridging integrator 1, calcium handling, gene therapy

47

INTRODUCTION

Heart failure (HF) is the fastest growing cardiovascular disorder affecting over 20 million people worldwide and 6.2 million Americans (Roger, 2013; Virani et al., 2020). The majority of HF-related mortality is associated with cardiac pump failure due to myocardial inotropic and lusitropic dysfunction, as well as sudden cardiac death due to increased arrhythmia burden of failing hearts. Furthermore, near 50% of HF patients are diagnosed with HF with preserved ejection fraction (HFpEF), which develops severe diastolic failure, has increased risk of arrhythmias, and lacks effective medical therapy (Virani et al., 2020). Thus, there is an urgent need to develop new therapeutic strategies that can limit and reverse HF progression.

During HF development, the pathophysiologic cellular hallmark of failing ventricular myocytes is abnormal calcium transients with impaired intracellular calcium homeostasis (Gomez et al., 1997, 2001; Litwin et al., 2000; Louch et al., 2004), which disrupts excitation-contraction (EC) coupling (Perreault et al., 1992), impairs electrical stability (Landstrom et al., 2017), and disturbs mitochondrial metabolism (Lopez-Crisosto et al., 2017). Normal beat-to-beat calcium transient relies on a sequence of intracellular events known as calciuminduced-calcium-release (CICR; Bers, 2002), where t-tubule L-type calcium channels (LTCCs)-mediated initial calcium influx will subsequently induce a massive calcium release via ryanodine receptors (RyRs) from the sarcoplasmic reticulum (SR) store. During relaxation, the accumulated calcium will then be removed from the cytoplasm mainly by calcium reuptake to SR via SR Ca²⁺-ATPase 2a (SERCA2a) together with calcium exclusion through sodium calcium exchanger from cytosol into the extracellular space (Bers, 2008). In HF, abnormal t-tubule remodeling (Lyon et al., 2009; Louch et al., 2010; Wei et al., 2010) impairs LTCC-RyR coupling and synchronous CICR (Gomez et al., 1997; Litwin et al., 2000), resulting in diminished systolic release, EC uncoupling, and thus reduced contractility. On the other hand, HF-associated leaky RyRs (Marx et al., 2000) and abnormal SERCA2a function (Houser et al., 2000) will result in SR depletion and elevated diastolic calcium (Periasamy and Huke, 2001), resulting in severe diastolic failure and electrical instability (Erkasap, 2007). In addition, impaired calcium homeostasis triggers loss of mitochondrial membrane potential (Santulli et al., 2015) and increased permeability (Odagiri et al., 2009), which promotes the risk of mitochondrialinitiated cell death (Nakayama et al., 2007; Kinnally et al., 2011) and HF progression (Nakayama et al., 2007; Zhou and Tian, 2018). Taken together, calcium homeostasis is critical in maintaining normal cardiac pump function, electrical stability, and metabolism. Disturbed beat-to-beat calcium dynamic, as occurs in diseased hearts, will therefore lead to pump failure, lethal arrhythmias, and severe metabolic disorder.

Recently, we reported that the reorganization of intracellular calcium handling machinery could be achieved by a new approach of targeting t-tubule membrane microdomains organized by the cardiac bridging integrator 1 (cBIN1; Liu et al., 2020). We previously found that BIN1 facilitates intracellular LTCC trafficking to t-tubule microdomains (Hong et al., 2010),

as well as surface clustering (Fu et al., 2016; Fu and Hong, 2016) at the t-tubule microdomains. RyRs are recruited to junctional SR (jSR) by cBIN1 for coupling with LTCCs (Fu et al., 2016). In addition to dyad organization, cBIN1 sculpted microdomains generate a protective slow diffusion zone for extracellular ions in t-tubule lumen to regulate ionic flux across t-tubule membrane (Hong et al., 2014). More recently, we found that cBIN1microdomain is also critical in organizing the intracellular distribution of SERCA2a for diastolic calcium regulation (Liu et al., 2020). In HF, cBIN1-microdomains are disrupted due to transcriptional reduction in cBIN1 (Hong et al., 2012b; Caldwell et al., 2014; Zhou and Hong, 2017), impairing dyad formation, calcium transient regulation, and cardiac contractility. Reduced myocardial cBIN1 can be detected in human blood, a result of cBIN1-membrane turnover and microparticle release (Xu et al., 2017). In humans, plasma CS (cBIN1 score) is an index of myocyte cBIN1 level, which identifies myocardial structural remodeling, facilitating HF diagnosis and prognosis (Nikolova et al., 2018). In mouse hearts subjected to chronic stress, pretreatment with exogenous cBIN1 preserves the microdomain-organized distribution of Cav1.2 and SERCA2a, maintaining normal inotropy and lusitropy (Liu et al., 2020). These data indicate that cBIN1 replacement can be an effective HF therapy with the potential to recover myocardial function in hearts with preexisting HF.

Since increased afterload is an important primary and secondary cause of HF (Blaufarb and Sonnenblick, 1996), our current study uses a mouse model of elevated afterload induced by transverse-aortic constriction (TAC). In TAC mice, we recently reported that cBIN1 pretreatment prevents HF development (Liu et al., 2020). Here, we used adeno-associated virus 9 (AAV9)-mediated gene transfer to introduce exogenous cBIN1 in post-TAC mouse hearts with pre-existing HF. We find that *cBin1* gene therapy reduces TAC-induced pathological remodeling, limits HF progression, causes functional recovery, and ultimately reduces death and improves survival.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Animal Model Design

All mouse procedures were reviewed and approved by the Cedars-Sinai Medical Center (CSMC) and University of Utah Institutional Animal Care and Use Committees (IACUC) and conform to the Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals published by the U.S. National Institutes of Health (NIH Publication No. 85–23, revised 2011).

Adult male C57BL/6 mice (The Jackson Laboratory) were used. All mice were anesthetized at the age of 8–10 weeks and subjected to open-chest sham or TAC surgery. TAC was performed by tying a 7-0 silk suture against a 27-gauge needle between the first and second branch of the aortic arch. For sham controls, age-matched mice were subjected to open-chest mock surgery without TAC being performed. For rescue experiments, at 5 weeks post the onset of TAC, mice received retro-orbital injection of 100 μ l of 3 × 10¹⁰ vector genome (vg) of AAV9 virus (Welgen, Inc.) transducing cBIN1-V5 or GFP-V5 (Basheer et al., 2017). In the prevention experiments where cBIN1-V5 was reported to provide protection of mouse hearts against subsequent TAC-induced HF (Liu et al., 2020), mice received the same dose (3×10^{10} vg) of AAV9 virus transducing cBIN1-V5 and GFP-V5 3 weeks before TAC surgery was done.

Echocardiography

In vivo systolic and diastolic left ventricular (LV) functions were monitored by echocardiography in anesthetized mice using Vevo 3100 at baseline, pre-surgery, and every other week thereafter until the end of the experimental protocol. The trans-aortic pressure gradient was recorded using the modified Bernoulli equation [Δ Pressure gradient (mmHg) = 4 × peak velocity² (m/s)²] at 2 weeks post-surgery. All surviving mice at 5 weeks post-TAC were included in the study.

Hemodynamic Measurements

In the prevention experiments, 8 weeks after TAC, mice were anesthetized with 3% isoflurane in 100% O2 at 1.2 L/min and maintained at 1.5% isoflurane during the measurement. After intubation to facilitate breathing, mice were placed on controlled heating pads maintained at 37°C. A 1-Fr pressure-conductance microcatheter (PVR-1045; Millar Instruments, Houston, TX) was inserted into the right carotid artery and advanced into the LV. After stabilization for 10 min, baseline P-V relations were recorded. Signals were continuously recorded using a P-V conductance system (MPVS-Ultra; Millar Instruments) connected to the PowerLab data acquisition system (AD Instruments, Colorado Springs, CO), stored, and displayed on a PC computer by the LabChart7 Software System (AD Instruments). With the use of a special P-V analysis program (PVAN; Millar Instruments), heart rate, the maximal slope of LV systolic pressure increment (dp/dt max) and diastolic pressure decrement (dp/dt min), EF, and Tau value were recorded and calculated as previously described (Pacher et al., 2008).

Immunofluorescence Labeling and Confocal Imaging

For cardiomyocyte membrane fluorescent labeling, freshly isolated ventricular cardiomyocytes from GFP-TAC and cBIN1-TAC mice were incubated with Di-8-ANNEPs for 20 min at room temperature (RT). The cells were then washed with HBSS to remove the remaining dye before live-cell imaging. For fixedcell V5 imaging (10×), isolated cardiomyocytes were fixed in methanol at -20°C for 5 min and permeabilized and blocked with 0.5% Triton X-100 and 5% normal goat serum (NGS) in PBS for 1 h at RT. Cells were incubated with rabbit anti-V5 (Sigma) overnight at 4°C and detected by Alexa555 conjugated goat anti rabbit IgG. For tissue immunofluorescent imaging, myocardial cryo-sections were fixed with ice-cold acetone for 5 min. The primary antibodies used were mouse anti-BIN1-BAR (2F11, Rockland), mouse anti-RyR (Abcam), or rabbit anti-Cav1.2 (Alomone). Following incubation with primary antibodies and several washes with 1× PBS, cells and tissue sections were then incubated with Alexa488 or Alexa555 conjugated goat anti-mouse or rabbit secondary antibodies (Life Technologies) and mounted with DAPI containing ProLong gold.

All confocal imaging was performed on a Nikon Eclipse Ti microscope with a 100×1.49 numerical aperture (NA) and 60×1.1 or $10 \times$ objectives. High-resolution cardiomyocyte images were obtained using a spinning-disc confocal unit (Yokogawa CSU10) with diode-pumped solid state (DPSS) lasers (486, 561, 647) generated from laser merge module 5 (Spectral applied research, CA). T-tubule membrane labeling fluorescent intensity profiles were generated by ImageJ, and peak intensity at t-tubules is quantified as previously reported (Hong et al., 2014). Power spectrum analysis was analyzed in Matlab using FFT conversion, and normalized peak power density at t-tubules was compared across groups (Hong et al., 2010; Wei et al., 2010).

Western Blotting

Tissue lysates were made from hearts flash frozen in liquid nitrogen. Frozen tissue was homogenized in radioimmunoprecipitation assay (RIPA) lysis buffer as previously described (Liu et al., 2020). Lysates were rotated head-to-toe in 4°C for 40 min, sonicated, followed by centrifugation (16,000 g for 25 min at 4°C) to clear cellular debris. Protein lysates were then prepared 2× sample buffer (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA) containing 5% β-mercaptoethanol, incubated in RT for 30 min, and separated on an 8-12% gradient sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS) polyacrylamide electrophoresis gel. Proteins were electrotransferred to polyvinylidene difluoride (PVDF) membrane. After transfer, membranes were fixed in methanol and blocked with 5% BSA in 1× tris-buffered saline (TBS) for 1 h at RT, and incubated with primary antibody in 5% BSA in 1× TBS overnight at 4°C, followed by incubation with Alexa 647 conjugated secondary antibody (Life Technology) for 1 h at RT. Primary antibodies consisted of a custom-made polyclonal rabbit anti-BIN1 exon 13 (Anaspec) (Hong et al., 2014), mouse anti RyR (Abcam), rabbit Cav1.2 antibody (Alomone), and mouse anti-GAPDH (Millipore).

Statistical Analysis

All data are expressed as mean \pm standard error of the mean (SEM). Normality was assessed using the Shapiro-Wilk test. Kaplan-Meier survival analysis was used to compare survival between two or three groups using the long-rank test. Continuous variables were compared using Mann-Whitney U and one-way ANOVA or Kruskal-Wallis tests. Two-way ANOVA followed by LSD *post-hoc* test was used to determine differences between two groups at two different time points. Categorical variables were analyzed using Fisher's exact or Chi-square tests. Data were analyzed using GraphPad Prism 7.0. Two-sided *p* values were used and p < 0.05 is considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

To explore whether targeting cBIN1-microdomain can be a new therapy for HF, we investigated how cardiac cBIN1 affects HF development in mice subjected to pressure overload stress.

As indicated in the experimental protocol in Figure 1A, mice were subjected to TAC first for 5 weeks before retro-orbital injection of AAV9 transducing cBIN1-V5 or control GFP-V5, followed by echocardiography monitoring for an additional 15 weeks after virus injection (end point at 20 weeks post-TAC). In addition to a group of mice subjected to an openchest mock surgery (sham control, N = 12), 36 mice were subjected to TAC surgery. One mouse died before reaching Time 0 (5 weeks post-TAC), the remaining 35 surviving mice were randomized to receive AAV9-GFP (N = 17) or cBIN1 (N = 18) at 3 × 10¹⁰ vg. Anti-V5 labeling of cardiomyocytes isolated from mice after 15 weeks of AAV9 injection identified positive V5 signal, indicating successful transduction of exogenous protein in cardiomyocytes (Supplementary Figure 1). Comparable trans-aortic pressure gradient at 2 weeks post-TAC (Figure 1B) and myocardial dysfunction at 5 weeks post-TAC in these two groups (Table 1) establish a similar level of TAC-generated pressure overload and its induction of dilated cardiomyopathy.

We, then, explored the overall survival rate (non-survival is death) in all groups. As indicated in the Kaplan-Meier curves in **Figure 2**, the survival curve of AAV9-cBIN1 treated TAC mice (survival rate 77.8%, 14/18) lies significantly between the two curves of sham control (survival rate 100%, 12/12) and AAV9-GFP treated TAC mice (survival rate 58.8%, 10/17; p = 0.045 by log-rank test when comparing the three groups; **Figure 2A**), indicating partial rescue. Next, in all TAC mice



FIGURE 1 | Experimental protocol of cardiac bridging integrator 1 (cBIN1) post-treatment in mice subjected to transverse aortic constriction (TAC). (**A**) Schematic protocol: 47 mice were randomized into three groups: sham (N = 12) or TAC mice with post-treatment of AAV9-GFP (N = 17) and AAV9-cBIN1 (N = 18) administered at 5 weeks post-TAC. (**B**) Echocardiography analysis of trans-aortic pressure gradient (TAP) in the three groups.

not yet at end stage disease with $EF \ge 30\%$ at Time 0 (5 weeks post-TAC and before virus injection), we further compared the survival rates between the two viral groups. The survival rate was significantly improved by AAV9-cBIN1 (p = 0.038 by log-rank test) when compared to the AAV9-GFP group (Figure 2B). Of the 16 AAV9-GFP mice with EF \geq 30% at Time 0, six died within 20 weeks post-TAC with progressive EF reduction. In comparison, of the 15 AAV9-cBIN1 mice with $EF \ge 30\%$ at Time 0, only one died within 20 weeks post-TAC. Note, all four animals from both groups with pre-AAV9 EF < 30% died during follow up, suggesting that AAV9-cBIN1 is not sufficient to improve survival in animals already at end-stage HF and with afterload still restricted. The surviving mice at 20 weeks post-TAC were then sacrificed for tissue collection for histological analysis (Figure 3A). Compared to the normal structure and size of the sham control hearts, AAV9-GFP hearts were visibly enlarged with an expanded left ventricle, which was reduced in AAV9-cBIN1 hearts. The ratios of heart weight (HW) and lung weight (LW) over tibial length (TL) were further evaluated. AAV9-cBIN1 mice did not have a significant increase in HW/ TL and LW/TL as occurred in AAV9-GFP mice when compared to sham control mice (Figures 3B,C). These data indicate that cBin1 gene therapy can block, postpone, or even reverse the worsening cycles of HF progression in hearts with pre-existing HF, resulting in functional protection and better survival.

Echocardiography-measured myocardial functional parameters were further compared across groups both before and after AAV9 treatment (Table 1). At 20 weeks post-TAC, AAV9-GFP mice developed significant LV contractile dysfunction (EF reduction) and chamber dilation (EDV elevation; Figures 4A-C and Table 1), which were normalized by AAV9-cBIN1 treatment. The increase in LV Mass at 20 weeks post-TAC was significantly reduced in AAV9-cBIN1 treated mice when compared to AAV9-GFP group (Figure 4D). In AAV9-GFP treated mice, TAC surgery resulted in a progressive increase in E/e', indicating the onset of diastolic dysfunction. AAV9-cBIN1, on the other hand, effectively blocked progressive worsening of E/e', indicating exogenous cBIN1-mediated preservation of cardiac lusitropy. As a result, E/e' values of 20 weeks post-TAC cBIN1 hearts were maintained at their pre-AAV levels, which were not significantly different from E/e' values of sham control hearts but tended to be lower than those of AAV9-GFP hearts (p = 0.071) at 20 weeks post-TAC (Figures 4E,F). Furthermore, the observed delta reductions in stroke volume and cardiac output in AAV9-GFP group were also abolished in AAV9-cBIN1 treated group (Figures 4G,H). These results indicate that *cBin1* gene therapy preserves myocardial function when administered to mice with failing hearts.

To explore the progression of systolic dysfunction in post-TAC hearts after viral injection at Time 0 (pre-AAV9, 5 weeks post-TAC), the delta EF changes (Δ EF) from pre-AAV to 3, 6, 8, 10, and 15 weeks post-AAV9 injection (corresponding to 8, 11,13, 15, and 20 weeks post-TAC) were monitored by echocardiography (**Figure 5A**). Exogenous cBIN1-induced EF recovery peaked at 6–8 weeks post-AAV9 injection with continuous improvement of EF in the following weeks, whereas progressive

	Pre-AAV9 (5w-post TAC)			Post-AAV9 (20w-post TAC)		
	SHAM	GFP	cBIN1	SHAM	GFP	cBIN1
EF (%)	53.72 ± 2.01	41.87 ± 3.20**	44.22 ± 2.83*	48.25 ± 2.22	27.65 ± 4.19***	41.72 ± 1.72##
LVEDV (µl)	62.34 ± 3.87	82.35 ± 5.32*	78.48 ± 6.22	58.24 ± 2.52	107.64 ± 10.01***	77.96 ± 4.55##
LVESV (µl)	28.97 ± 2.46	49.44 ± 4.96*	46.43 ± 5.89*	35.29 ± 2.03	79.92 ± 10.43***	45.76 ± 3.43###
HR (bpm)	482.04 ± 14.76	516.60 ± 8.49	481.41 ± 12.40	463.77 ± 12.28	557.35 ± 20.71***	504.94 ± 8.91*, ##
SV (µl)	33.38 ± 2.17	32.91 ± 2.38	32.05 ± 1.19	32.95 ± 1.98	27.72 ± 3.28	32.20 ± 1.79
CO (ml/min)	16.00 ± 1.08	16.92 ± 1.18	15.30 ± 0.53	15.35 ± 1.17	15.37 ± 1.83	16.34 ± 1.08
LVAWs (mm)	1.40 ± 0.04	1.61 ± 0.07*	1.56 ± 0.05	1.35 ± 0.08	1.52 ± 0.08	1.61 ± 0.06*
LVAWd (mm)	0.99 ± 0.03	1.26 ± 0.06***	1.20 ± 0.03**	0.97 ± 0.06	1.29 ± 0.07***	1.28 ± 0.05***
LVPWs (mm)	1.15 ± 0.07	1.46 ± 0.07**	1.34 ± 0.06	1.10 ± 0.03	1.41 ± 0.15*	1.33 ± 0.07
LVPWd (mm)	0.79 ± 0.05	1.15 ± 0.07***	1.06 ± 0.04**	0.84 ± 0.03	1.24 ± 0.16***	1.11 ± 0.06*
LV Mass (mm)	124.39 ± 4.76	232.36 ± 15.20***	202.30 ± 8.43***	137.17 ± 9.60	300.76 ± 29.55***	223.09 ± 12.41***, ###
BW (g)	27.83 ± 0.65	29.66 ± 0.56	29.28 ± 0.40	32.41 ± 1.19	33.97 ± 0.84	34.77 ± 0.95*
HW (mg)	-	-	-	196.98 ± 7.25	288.63 ± 31.63***	234.94 ± 10.75#
LW (mg)	-	-	-	158.32 ± 5.14	245.70 ± 63.18***	165.28 ± 3.68#
HW/TL (g/m)	-	-	-	9.85 ± 0.36	14.77 ± 1.40***	11.75 ± 0.54#
LW/TL (g/m)	-	-	-	7.92 ± 0.26	12.53 ± 3.09*	8.26 ± 0.18

TABLE 1 | Echocardiographic and physiological parameters of AAV9-GFP or AAV9-cBIN1 injected mice before and after AAV9 injection.

EF, ejection fraction; LVEDV, left ventricular end-diastolic volume; LVESV, left ventricular end-systolic volume; HR, heart rate; SV, stroke volume; CO, cardiac output; LVAWs/LVAWd, left ventricular anterior wall in systole/diastole; LVPWs/d, left ventricular posterior wall in systole/diastole; LV Mass, left ventricular mass; BW, body weight; HW, heart weight; LW, lung weight; TL, tibia length.

Data are expressed as mean ± SEM.

*Indicates p < 0.05.

**Indicates p < 0.01.

***Indicates p < 0.001 vs. sham.

*Indicates p < 0.05.

***Indicates p < 0.001 for AAV9-GFP vs. AAV9-cBIN1.

EF reduction was noted in the AAV9-GFP group. The observed recovery of EF is demonstrated on the histogram distribution of Δ EF with Gaussian fitting (**Figures 5B,C**). AAV9-cBIN1 has a right-shifted histogram distribution of Δ EF when compared to AAV9-GFP group. For instance, at 6 weeks post-AAV9, there is a medium EF (%) reduction of -15.0 in AAV9-GFP group, while a medium recovery of +6.9 in EF (%) is observed in the AAV9-cBIN1 group. These data indicate that exogenous cBIN1, when administered at 5 weeks post-TAC, can improve myocardial systolic function in hearts with TAC-induced HF.

We recently reported that, in mice receiving AAV9-cBIN1 pretreatment $(3 \times 10^{10} \text{ vg at } 3 \text{ weeks prior to TAC surgery};$ Figure 6A), the incidence of TAC-induced HF is significantly reduced with a resultant better HF-free survival at 8 weeks post-TAC (Liu et al., 2020). These data are consistent with the observed myocardial protection when AAV9 was administered after TAC surgery. To further establish the cardioprotective effect of exogenous-cBIN1 in the TAC mice, intracardiac hemodynamics were obtained in AAV9-pretreated mice using invasive PV loop recording. Figure 6B contains representative PV loops of sham, AAV9-GFP, and AAV9cBIN1 pretreated hearts 8 weeks after TAC surgery (Figure 6B). The EF and the maximal rate of pressure change during systole (dp/dt max) were decreased in AAV9-GFP group, which were normalized by exogenous cBIN1 (Figures 6C,D). When exploring the effects on relaxation kinetics, we found that the maximal rate of pressure decay (dp/dt min) was decreased in AAV9-GFP group but was normalized by AAV9-cBIN1 (Figure 6E). The increased time constant for isovolumic relaxation (Tau) in AAV9-GFP group was also rescued by *cBin1* gene transfer (**Figure 6F**), indicating improved cardiac relaxation. Together, these data indicate that exogenous cBIN1 improves cardiac inotropy and lusitropy in pressure overloaded hearts.

We previously identified that cBIN1 creates t-tubule microdomains and organizes LTCC-RyR dyads for efficient and dynamic regulation of cardiac function and EC coupling (Hong and Shaw, 2017). More recently, we found that in sympathetic overdriven mouse hearts developing diastolic dysfunction, cBIN1-microdomains are disrupted and are rescued by AAV9cBIN1. Here, we also explored the alterations in cardiac t-tubule cBIN1-microdomains and the effect of exogenous cBIN1 in post-TAC hearts. Western blotting (Figure 7A) identifies that myocardial cBIN1 protein is significantly reduced in mouse hearts 8 weeks after TAC (27% less than sham controls, p < 0.05), which is normalized by AAV9-cBIN1 pretreatment. Along with cBIN1 rescue, membrane labeling with Di-8-ANNEPs (Supplementary Figure 2) identifies that compared to sham cardiomyocytes, 8 weeks post-TAC cardiomyocytes have a significantly reduced t-tubule cBIN1-microdomain intensity, which is normalized in cardiomyocytes from mice with AAV9cBIN1 pretreatment. We, next used immunofluorescent imaging to analyze the organization of cBIN1-microdomains and dyads at the myocyte level. Power spectrum analysis of BIN1 signal identifies that the well-organized t-tubule distribution of cBIN1 in sham myocardium is disrupted in post-TAC hearts, which is preserved with AAV9-cBIN1 pretreatment (Figure 7C). Although total LTCC and RyR protein levels are not significantly altered

^{**}Indicates p < 0.01.



among groups by Western blotting (**Figure 7B**), myocardial distribution of LTCCs and RyRs (**Figure 7C**) becomes disorganized in post-TAC hearts, which is also significantly improved in hearts with AAV9-cBIN1 pretreatment (p < 0.05). These data indicate that exogenous cBIN1 normalizes TAC-induced reduction of myocardial cBIN1, resulting in preservation of cBIN1-scultped microdomains at t-tubules. *Via* normalizing t-tubule microdomains in pressure-overloaded hearts, cBIN1 replacement therapy thus reorganizes cardiac LTCC-RyR couplons required for beat-to-beat calcium cycling and efficient EC coupling.

DISCUSSION

In this study, we report that AAV9 virus transduced-exogenous cBIN1 in myocardium, applied after a reduction in EF, can



improve cardiac function and limit further development of ventricular chamber dilation and HF in mice subjected to chronic pressure overload stress. The critical role of cBIN1 in regulating cardiac function is consistent with previous findings that cBIN1-organized t-tubule microdomains are required for normal dyad formation and function (Hong et al., 2010, 2012a,b, 2014; Hong and Shaw, 2017), and that reduced cBIN1 expression contributes to weakened calcium transients and impaired cardiac contractility in failing hearts (Hong et al., 2012b; Lyon et al., 2012; Caldwell et al., 2014).

Under continuous pressure overload, myocardial remodeling starts with an adaptive hypertrophic response followed by transitioning into maladaptive cardiac dilatation, leading to worsening HF (Liu et al., 2011; Zhang et al., 2016; Zhou et al., 2016). In previous studies, we identified that the administration of AAV9-cBIN1 prior to TAC surgery preserves myocardial systolic and diastolic function, indicating the efficacy of cBin1 gene therapy in HF prevention. In the current study, we found that exogenous cBIN1 administration after TAC-induced HF blocks further disease progression and improves the overall survival with attenuated cardiac hypertrophy and lessened pulmonary edema in mice (Figures 2, 3). Furthermore, exogenous cBIN1 introduced by gene transfer improves myocardial remodeling and cardiac function as measured by echocardiography (Figures 4, 6). Most strikingly, mice with preexisting HF exhibited recovered







EF following *cBin1* gene therapy (**Figure 5**), indicating the protective effect of exogenous cBIN1 may serve as a translatable treatment for patients with diagnosed preexisting structural remodeling and HF. Furthermore, consistent with

results in isoproterenol chronically stressed mouse hearts (Liu et al., 2020), gene therapy-induced cBIN1 restoration in post-TAC hearts occurs at t-tubule microdomains and is capable of inducing the reorganization of LTCC-RyR



FIGURE 6 | Exogenous cBIN1 pretreatment improves myocardial pressure-volume (PV) loops. (A) Schematic protocol: sham (N = 5) or TAC with pretreatment of AAV9-GFP (N = 10) or cBIN1 (N = 10) administered 3 weeks prior to TAC. Representative PV loop (B), EF (C), dp/dt max (D), dp/dt min (E) and Tau (F) in sham, AAV9-GFP and -cBIN1 hearts at 8 weeks post TAC surgery. Data are presented as mean \pm SEM, and one-way ANOVA with Fisher's LSD test was used for statistical analysis. *****p < 0.01, 0.001 vs. sham; ^{†,t†}p < 0.05, 0.01 comparing between AAV9-GFP and AAV9-cBIN1 groups.

couplons (Figure 7), indicating the observed therapeutic effect is mechanistically linked to normalization of impaired calcium handling in failing cardiomyocytes.

Recently, AAV-mediated gene therapy has been shown as a promising modality for the treatment of HF (Rincon et al., 2015; Bass-Stringer et al., 2018). There are currently several completed or ongoing clinical trials of HF gene therapies targeting various pathways such as the β -adrenergic system, Ca²⁺ cycling proteins, and cell death pathways, as well as homing stem cells (Tilemann et al., 2012). We recently found that targeting the calcium regulating microdomains at t-tubules can be effectively achieved by transducing the essential microdomain-organizing protein cBIN1 (Liu et al., 2020). By stabilizing t-tubule microdomains, cBIN1 preserves cytosolic calcium homeostasis and contributes to increasing systolic calcium release, improving diastolic reuptake, limiting SR leak for electrical stability maintenance, and preserving mitochondrial function to limit mitochondrial-associated cell death. Our data indicate that this microdomain-targeting approach may serve as a new therapeutic strategy with improved efficiency in functional preservation, improving overall HF survival. Furthermore, the observed cBIN1-mediated improvement in overall survival (**Figure 2**) is a possible combined effect from improved pump function and reduced arrhythmias, both of which are regulated by cBIN1-microdomains (Hong et al., 2012b, 2014; Hong and Shaw, 2017). How cBIN1 therapy affects arrhythmia burden in failing hearts will need further analysis using *in vivo* telemetry monitoring in future studies. In addition, since TAC-induced HF is associated with mitochondrial disorder-associated



receptor (RyR), and Cav1.2 from sham, AAV9-GFP, and AAV9-cBIN1 pretreated post-TAC heart lysates. Quantitation is included in the bar graph at the bottom (n = 8 hearts per group for cBIN1, n = 6 hearts per group for cBIN1). (**C**) Representative myocardial immunofluorescent spinning-disc confocal images of BIN1 labeling (anti-BAR domain; top panel), RyR (middle panel), and Cav1.2 (bottom panel) from sham, AAV9-GFP, and AAV9-cBIN1 pretreated post-TAC hearts. The insets include enlarged images of the corresponding boxes areas. Bottom row (from left to right): Peak power density of BIN1, RyR, and Cav1.2 distribution in sham, AAV9-GFP and cBIN1-pretreated hearts at 8 weeks post-TAC surgery (n = 15-20 images from five hearts per group). Data are presented as mean ± SEM, and one-way ANOVA with Fisher's LSD test was used for statistical analysis. *,**,***p < 0.05, 0.01, 0.001 vs. sham; †,#p < 0.05, 0.01 comparing between AAV9-GFP and -cBIN1 groups.

myocyte death (Thai et al., 2018), it remains interesting in future studies to explore whether cBIN1 replacement therapy can preserve mitochondrial function and limit mitochondrialrelated cell death in failing hearts.

With regard to functional recovery, although EF changes monitored from the beginning of AAV9-cBIN1 treatment shows a peak recovery at week 6 post-AAV9 followed by descending therapeutic efficiency (**Figure 5**), the positive effect is maintained at 15-week post AAV9 injection as shown in **Figure 4**. These data indicate that even a single administration of AAV9-cBIN1 at a relatively low dose $(3 \times 10^{10} \text{ vg})$ is effective in preserving cardiac function. Whether multiple administrations of exogenous cBIN1 with increased dosage are needed to maximize its therapeutic effect remains to be tested. Nevertheless, our current data (**Figures 4, 5**) indicate that, for patients with existing HF, *cBin1* gene therapy could potentially break the worsening cycles of HF progression and result in functional recovery of failing hearts.

In conclusion, our study reveals a protective role of exogenous cBIN1 in mouse hearts with existing HF after subjected to pressure overload. For this proof-of-concept study, we used the AAV9 vector driven by the CMV promoter for gene delivery due to its consistent transduction efficiency and established cardiac tropism. Further experiments using *cBin1* packaged in AAV9 with a more efficient cardiacspecific promoter in mice and large mammals will be needed before clinical trials testing the efficacy and efficiency of *cBin1* gene therapy in HF patients. Future studies are also needed to explore the intracellular mechanism for cBIN1 in balancing calcium homeostasis among cytosolic microdomains at t-tubules, SR, and nearby mitochondria. Further understanding of the downstream targeting molecules and signaling pathways of cBIN1 will be needed as well for a better understanding of the interplay between *cBin1* gene therapy and HF pathophysiology.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The animal study was reviewed and approved by the Cedars-Sinai Medical Center (CSMC) and University of Utah Institutional Animal Care and Use Committees (IACUC).

REFERENCES

- Basheer, W. A., Xiao, S., Epifantseva, I., Fu, Y., Kleber, A. G., Hong, T., et al. (2017). GJA1-20k arranges actin to guide Cx43 delivery to cardiac intercalated discs. *Circ. Res.* 121, 1069–1080. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.117.311955
- Bass-Stringer, S., Bernardo, B. C., May, C. N., Thomas, C. J., Weeks, K. L., and Mcmullen, J. R. (2018). Adeno-associated virus gene therapy: translational progress and future prospects in the treatment of heart failure. *Heart Lung Circ.* 27, 1285–1300. doi: 10.1016/j.hlc.2018.03.005
- Bers, D. M. (2002). Cardiac excitation-contraction coupling. *Nature* 415, 198–205. doi: 10.1038/415198a
- Bers, D. M. (2008). Calcium cycling and signaling in cardiac myocytes. Annu. Rev. Physiol. 70, 23–49. doi: 10.1146/annurev.physiol.70.113006.100455
- Blaufarb, I. S., and Sonnenblick, E. H. (1996). The renin-angiotensin system in left ventricular remodeling. Am. J. Cardiol. 77, 8C–16C. doi: 10.1016/ s0002-9149(96)00183-x
- Caldwell, J. L., Smith, C. E., Taylor, R. F., Kitmitto, A., Eisner, D. A., Dibb, K. M., et al. (2014). Dependence of cardiac transverse tubules on the BAR domain protein amphiphysin II (BIN-1). *Circ. Res.* 115, 986–996. doi: 10.1161/ CIRCRESAHA.116.303448
- Erkasap, N. (2007). SERCA in genesis of arrhythmias: what we already know and what is new? *Anadolu Kardiyol. Derg.* 7(Suppl. 1), 43-46.
- Fu, Y., and Hong, T. (2016). BIN1 regulates dynamic t-tubule membrane. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1863, 1839–1847. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2015.11.004
- Fu, Y., Shaw, S. A., Naami, R., Vuong, C. L., Basheer, W. A., Guo, X., et al. (2016). Isoproterenol promotes rapid ryanodine receptor movement to bridging integrator 1 (BIN1)-organized dyads. *Circulation* 133, 388–397. doi: 10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.115.018535
- Gomez, A. M., Guatimosim, S., Dilly, K. W., Vassort, G., and Lederer, W. J. (2001). Heart failure after myocardial infarction: altered excitation-contraction coupling. *Circulation* 104, 688–693. doi: 10.1161/hc3201.092285
- Gomez, A. M., Valdivia, H. H., Cheng, H., Lederer, M. R., Santana, L. F., Cannell, M. B., et al. (1997). Defective excitation-contraction coupling in experimental cardiac hypertrophy and heart failure. *Science* 276, 800–806. doi: 10.1126/science.276.5313.800

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

TH and RS contributed to conception and design the study. TH supervised the experiments. JL and SA were responsible for performing experiments and analyzing the data. KZ performed the PV loop experiments. JL and TH wrote the manuscript. TH and RS revised the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was supported by National Institute of Health grants HL152691 and HL138577 (RS) and HL133286 (TH).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are grateful to Tara Hitzeman, MPH for help with statistics.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fphys.2020.00708/ full#supplementary-material.

- Hong, T. T., Cogswell, R., James, C. A., Kang, G., Pullinger, C. R., Malloy, M. J., et al. (2012a). Plasma BIN1 correlates with heart failure and predicts arrhythmia in patients with arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy. *Heart Rhythm.* 9, 961–967. doi: 10.1016/j.hrthm.2012.01.024
- Hong, T., and Shaw, R. M. (2017). Cardiac T-tubule microanatomy and function. *Physiol. Rev.* 97, 227–252. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00037.2015
- Hong, T. T., Smyth, J. W., Chu, K. Y., Vogan, J. M., Fong, T. S., Jensen, B. C., et al. (2012b). BIN1 is reduced and Cav1.2 trafficking is impaired in human failing cardiomyocytes. *Heart Rhythm.* 9, 812–820. doi: 10.1016/j. hrthm.2011.11.055
- Hong, T. T., Smyth, J. W., Gao, D., Chu, K. Y., Vogan, J. M., Fong, T. S., et al. (2010). BIN1 localizes the L-type calcium channel to cardiac T-tubules. *PLoS Biol.* 8:e1000312. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.1000312
- Hong, T., Yang, H., Zhang, S. S., Cho, H. C., Kalashnikova, M., Sun, B., et al. (2014). Cardiac BIN1 folds T-tubule membrane, controlling ion flux and limiting arrhythmia. *Nat. Med.* 20, 624–632. doi: 10.1038/nm.3543
- Houser, S. R., Piacentino, V. 3rd, Mattiello, J., Weisser, J., and Gaughan, J. P. (2000). Functional properties of failing human ventricular myocytes. *Trends Cardiovasc. Med.* 10, 101–107. doi: 10.1016/S1050-1738(00)00057-8
- Kinnally, K. W., Peixoto, P. M., Ryu, S. Y., and Dejean, L. M. (2011). Is mPTP the gatekeeper for necrosis, apoptosis, or both? *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1813, 616–622. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2010.09.013
- Landstrom, A. P., Dobrev, D., and Wehrens, X. H. T. (2017). Calcium signaling and cardiac arrhythmias. *Circ. Res.* 120, 1969–1993. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA. 117.310083
- Litwin, S. E., Zhang, D., and Bridge, J. H. (2000). Dyssynchronous Ca(2+) sparks in myocytes from infarcted hearts. *Circ. Res.* 87, 1040–1047. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.87.11.1040
- Liu, J., Wang, P., Luo, J., Huang, Y., He, L., Yang, H., et al. (2011). Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor beta/delta activation in adult hearts facilitates mitochondrial function and cardiac performance under pressure-overload condition. *Hypertension* 57, 223–230. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.110.164590
- Liu, Y., Zhou, K., Li, J., Agvanian, S., Caldaruse, A. M., Shaw, S., et al. (2020). In mice subjected to chronic stress, exogenous cBIN1 preserves calcium handling machinery and cardiac function. *JACC: Basic Trans. Sci.* (in press).

- Lopez-Crisosto, C., Pennanen, C., Vasquez-Trincado, C., Morales, P. E., Bravo-Sagua, R., Quest, A. F. G., et al. (2017). Sarcoplasmic reticulummitochondria communication in cardiovascular pathophysiology. *Nat. Rev. Cardiol.* 14, 342–360. doi: 10.1038/nrcardio.2017.23
- Louch, W. E., Bito, V., Heinzel, F. R., Macianskiene, R., Vanhaecke, J., Flameng, W., et al. (2004). Reduced synchrony of Ca2+ release with loss of T-tubules-a comparison to Ca2+ release in human failing cardiomyocytes. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 62, 63–73. doi: 10.1016/j.cardiores.2003.12.031
- Louch, W. E., Sejersted, O. M., and Swift, F. (2010). There goes the neighborhood: pathological alterations in T-tubule morphology and consequences for cardiomyocyte Ca2+ handling. *J. Biomed. Biotechnol.* 2010:503906. doi: 10.1155/2010/503906
- Lyon, A. R., Macleod, K. T., Zhang, Y., Garcia, E., Kanda, G. K., Lab, M. J., et al. (2009). Loss of T-tubules and other changes to surface topography in ventricular myocytes from failing human and rat heart. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 106, 6854–6859. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0809777106
- Lyon, A. R., Nikolaev, V. O., Miragoli, M., Sikkel, M. B., Paur, H., Benard, L., et al. (2012). Plasticity of surface structures and β(2)-adrenergic receptor localization in failing ventricular cardiomyocytes during recovery from heart failure. *Circ. Heart Fail.* 5, 357–365. doi: 10.1161/CIRCHEARTFAILURE.111. 964692
- Marx, S. O., Reiken, S., Hisamatsu, Y., Jayaraman, T., Burkhoff, D., Rosemblit, N., et al. (2000). PKA phosphorylation dissociates FKBP12.6 from the calcium release channel (ryanodine receptor): defective regulation in failing hearts. *Cell* 101, 365–376. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80847-8
- Nakayama, H., Chen, X., Baines, C. P., Klevitsky, R., Zhang, X., Zhang, H., et al. (2007). Ca2+- and mitochondrial-dependent cardiomyocyte necrosis as a primary mediator of heart failure. *J. Clin. Invest.* 117, 2431–2444. doi: 10.1172/JCI31060
- Nikolova, A. P., Hitzeman, T. C., Baum, R., Caldaruse, A. M., Agvanian, S., Xie, Y., et al. (2018). Association of the plasma cardiac bridging integrator 1 score, a novel diagnostic biomarker, with heart failure with preserved ejection fraction and cardiovascular hospitalizations. *JAMA Cardiol.* 3, 1206–1210. doi: 10.1001/jamacardio.2018.3539
- Odagiri, K., Katoh, H., Kawashima, H., Tanaka, T., Ohtani, H., Saotome, M., et al. (2009). Local control of mitochondrial membrane potential, permeability transition pore and reactive oxygen species by calcium and calmodulin in rat ventricular myocytes. *J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol.* 46, 989–997. doi: 10.1016/j. yjmcc.2008.12.022
- Pacher, P., Nagayama, T., Mukhopadhyay, P., Batkai, S., and Kass, D. A. (2008). Measurement of cardiac function using pressure-volume conductance catheter technique in mice and rats. *Nat. Protoc.* 3, 1422–1434. doi: 10.1038/nprot.2008.138
- Periasamy, M., and Huke, S. (2001). SERCA pump level is a critical determinant of Ca(2+) homeostasis and cardiac contractility. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 33, 1053–1063. doi: 10.1006/jmcc.2001.1366
- Perreault, C. L., Shannon, R. P., Komamura, K., Vatner, S. F., and Morgan, J. P. (1992). Abnormalities in intracellular calcium regulation and contractile function in myocardium from dogs with pacing-induced heart failure. *J. Clin. Invest.* 89, 932–938. doi: 10.1172/JCI115674

- Rincon, M. Y., Vandendriessche, T., and Chuah, M. K. (2015). Gene therapy for cardiovascular disease: advances in vector development, targeting, and delivery for clinical translation. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 108, 4–20. doi: 10.1093/ cvr/cvv205
- Roger, V. L. (2013). Epidemiology of heart failure. Circ. Res. 113, 646–659. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.113.300268
- Santulli, G., Xie, W., Reiken, S. R., and Marks, A. R. (2015). Mitochondrial calcium overload is a key determinant in heart failure. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 112, 11389–11394. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1513047112
- Thai, P. N., Daugherty, D. J., Frederich, B. J., Lu, X., Deng, W., Bers, D. M., et al. (2018). Cardiac-specific conditional knockout of the 18-kDa mitochondrial translocator protein protects from pressure overload induced heart failure. *Sci. Rep.* 8:16213. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-34451-2
- Tilemann, L., Ishikawa, K., Weber, T., and Hajjar, R. J. (2012). Gene therapy for heart failure. *Circ. Res.* 110, 777–793. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.111.252981
- Virani, S. S., Alonso, A., Benjamin, E. J., Bittencourt, M. S., Callaway, C. W., Carson, A. P., et al. (2020). Heart disease and stroke statistics-2020 update: a report from the American Heart Association. *Circulation* 141, e139–e596. doi: 10.1161/CIR.00000000000757
- Wei, S., Guo, A., Chen, B., Kutschke, W., Xie, Y. P., Zimmerman, K., et al. (2010). T-tubule remodeling during transition from hypertrophy to heart failure. *Circ. Res.* 107, 520–531. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.109.212324
- Xu, B., Fu, Y., Liu, Y., Agvanian, S., Wirka, R. C., Baum, R., et al. (2017). The ESCRT-III pathway facilitates cardiomyocyte release of cBIN1-containing microparticles. *PLoS Biol.* 15:e2002354. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.2002354
- Zhang, W., Qu, X., Chen, B., Snyder, M., Wang, M., Li, B., et al. (2016). Critical roles of STAT3 in beta-adrenergic functions in the heart. *Circulation* 133, 48–61. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.115.017472
- Zhou, K., and Hong, T. (2017). Cardiac BIN1 (cBIN1) is a regulator of cardiac contractile function and an emerging biomarker of heart muscle health. *Sci. China Life Sci.* 60, 257–263. doi: 10.1007/s11427-016-0249-x
- Zhou, B., and Tian, R. (2018). Mitochondrial dysfunction in pathophysiology of heart failure. J. Clin. Invest. 128, 3716–3726. doi: 10.1172/JCI120849
- Zhou, K., Zhou, Y., Zhao, Y., Tan, C., Yuan, Z., Li, J., et al. (2016). The relationship between Galectin-3 and different patterns of ventricular geometry remodelling in aortic valve stenosis. *Heart Lung Circ.* 25, 371–377. doi: 10.1016/j.hlc.2015.08.021

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Li, Agvanian, Zhou, Shaw and Hong. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





NAD⁺ Metabolism as an Emerging Therapeutic Target for Cardiovascular Diseases Associated With Sudden Cardiac Death

Weiyi Xu¹, Le Li^{1,2} and Lilei Zhang^{1*}

¹ Department of Molecular and Human Genetics, Baylor College of Medicine, Houston, TX, United States, ² Department of Anesthesiology, Zhujiang Hospital, Southern Medical University, Guangzhou, China

In addition to its central role in mediating oxidation reduction in fuel metabolism and bioenergetics, nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD⁺) has emerged as a vital co-substrate for a number of proteins involved in diverse cellular processes, including sirtuins, poly(ADP-ribose) polymerases and cyclic ADP-ribose synthetases. The connection with aging and age-associated diseases has led to a new wave of research in the cardiovascular field. Here, we review the basics of NAD⁺ homeostasis, the molecular physiology and new advances in ischemic-reperfusion injury, heart failure, and arrhythmias, all of which are associated with increased risks for sudden cardiac death. Finally, we summarize the progress of NAD⁺-boosting therapy in human cardiovascular diseases and the challenges for future studies.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Brian P. Delisle, University of Kentucky, United States

Reviewed by:

Ross Grant, University of New South Wales, Australia Guy Salama, University of Pittsburgh, United States

> *Correspondence: Lilei Zhang lileiz@bcm.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cardiac Electrophysiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 16 May 2020 **Accepted:** 06 July 2020 **Published:** 13 August 2020

Citation:

Xu W, Li L and Zhang L (2020) NAD⁺ Metabolism as an Emerging Therapeutic Target for Cardiovascular Diseases Associated With Sudden Cardiac Death. Front. Physiol. 11:901. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2020.00901 Keywords: NAD⁺, NAMPT, sirtuin, myocardium, sudden cardiac death, ischemia reperfusion, heart failure, arrhythmia

INTRODUCTION

Sudden cardiac death (SCD) is defined as a sudden, unexpected death caused by loss of cardiac function (Zipes and Wellens, 1998; Zipes et al., 2006). SCD is responsible for 300,000 – 400,000 deaths each year in the United States with an annual incidence of 60 per 100,000 (Stecker et al., 2014). Most SCD events occur in patients who were not previously identified as being at risk for SCD (Piccini Sr et al., 2016). Despite the improving resuscitation rate and the increasing use of implantable cardioverter defibrillator, the majority who suffer a SCD will not survive. SCD remains a major international public health problem in clinical cardiology, emergency medicine, and public health (Lown, 1979; Moss, 1980).

59

Abbreviations: ADPR, ADP-ribose; AF, atrial fibrillation; BMAL1, brain and muscle Arnt-like protein 1; CAD, coronary artery disease; cADPR, cyclic ADPR; CLOCK, circadian locomoter output cycles protein kaput; CVD, cardiovascular diseases; DCM, dilated cardiomyopathy; eNAMPT, extracellular NAMPT; ENT, equilibrative nucleoside transporter; ETC, electron transport chain; FOX, forkhead box; GATA4, GATA binding protein 4; I/R injury, ischemia/reperfusion injury; I_{Na}, sodium current; KLF15, Kruppel-like factor 15; K_m, Michaelis constant; MAS, malate-aspartate shuttle; MI, myocardial infarction; mPTP, mitochondrial permeability transition pore; NA, nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate; NAD⁺, nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide; NADP⁺, nicotinamide; NAMPT, NAM phosphoribosyltransferase; NMN, nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide; NMNAT1-3, NMN adenyltransferase 1-3; NOXs, NADPH oxidases; NR, nicotinamide iiokide; NRK1/2, NR kinase 1/2; PAR, poly ADP-ribose; PARP, PAR polymerases; PARylation, poly ADP-ribosylation; PLD, phospholipase D; PPP, pentose phosphate pathway; RISK, reperfusion injury salvage kinase (P13K/AKT and ERK1/2); ROS, reactive oxygen species; SCD, sudden cardiac death; SIRT, sirtuin; SLC12A8, solute carrier family 12 member 8; TCA, tricarboxylic acid; Trp, tryptophan.

Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide or NAD⁺, is one of the most essential small molecules in mammalian cells. NAD+ interacts with over 500 enzymes (Ansari and Raghava, 2010) and plays important roles in almost every vital aspect in cell biology and human physiology (Katsyuba et al., 2020). Dysregulation of NAD⁺ homeostasis is associated with a number of diseases including cardiovascular diseases (CVD) (Hershberger et al., 2017; Matasic et al., 2018; Rajman et al., 2018; Katsyuba et al., 2020; Ralto et al., 2020). Particularly, modulation of NAD+ metabolism has been proposed to provide beneficial effects for CVD settings that are highly associated with SCD, such as ischemia/reperfusion injury (I/R injury), heart failure and arrhythmia (Hershberger et al., 2017; Matasic et al., 2018). In this review, we will discuss how alteration in NAD⁺ metabolism can lead to heart disease with the focus on I/R injury, heart failure, and arrhythmia. We will also provide a comprehensive review on animal and human studies with NAD⁺ boosters, and discuss the feasibility of NAD⁺-boosting therapy for SCD-associated CVD.

NAD⁺ METABOLISM IN THE HEART

NAD⁺ Biosynthesis

The heart, along with the kidney and the liver has the highest level of NAD⁺ among all the organs (Mori et al., 2014). In mammalian cells, NAD⁺ is synthesized via two distinct pathways: the *de novo* pathway and the salvage pathway (Figure 1; Sporty et al., 2009). The *de novo* pathway generates NAD⁺ from tryptophan (Trp) through the kynurenine metabolic pathway (Badawy, 2017), or nicotinic acid (NA) through the Preiss-Handler pathway (Preiss and Handler, 1958a,b). Nevertheless, most of the extrahepatic organs including the heart, use the salvage pathway as the main route to generate NAD+ (Mori et al., 2014; Liu et al., 2018). Mori et al. (2014) established the metabolic profiling of NAD⁺ biosynthetic routes in mouse tissues by measuring the in vitro activity of enzymes, the levels of substrates and products, and revealed that 99.3% of NAD+ in the heart is generated by the salvage pathway. On the other hand, enzymes involved in the de novo pathway are of low expression and low activity in the heart (Ikeda et al., 1965).

Salvage pathway generates NAD+ from the NAD+ degradation product nicotinamide (NAM) (Figures 1, 2; Ralto et al., 2020). NAM is converted into an intermediate product nicotinamide mononucleotide (NMN) via NAM phosphoribosyltransferase (NAMPT) - the rate limiting enzyme in the salvage pathway. Extracellular NMN can also be transported into the cells through a NMN transporter which might be solute carrier family 12 member 8 (SLC12A8) (Grozio et al., 2019). NMN is then converted into NAD+ by NMN adenyltransferase 1-3 (NMNAT1-3) in the final step. In addition, NMN can also be generated from another NAD⁺ precursor nicotinamide riboside (NR) by NR kinase 1/2 (NRK1/2) (Figures 1, 2). Cardiac expression of NRK2 is much higher than NRK1 (Ratajczak et al., 2016), suggesting that NRK2 may control the phosphorylation of NR in the heart. Moreover, NR can be generated from extracellular NAD⁺ or NMN through CD73 (Grozio et al., 2013). Both NMN and NR

preserve the pyridine ring, and thus do not require NAMPT to be converted back to NAD⁺. Details of the NAD⁺ salvage pathway is illustrated in **Figure 2**.

The Rate-Limiting Enzyme for the Salvage Pathway: NAMPT

Much attention has been drawn to NAMPT as it directly correlates with the NAD⁺ levels in the heart (Revollo et al., 2004). For instance, *Nampt* expression and NAD⁺ level are both reduced in the heart after I/R injury, and ectopic expression of *Nampt* restored the NAD⁺ level (Hsu et al., 2009).

NAMPT expression oscillates in a circadian fashion in the heart (Um et al., 2011; Young et al., 2014; Peliciari-Garcia et al., 2016; Li et al., 2020). Previous studies have shown that Nampt gene expression is under the regulation of core clock machineries, circadian locomoter output cycles protein kaput (CLOCK) and brain and muscle Arnt-like protein 1 (BMAL1), as well as SIRT1, which leads to rhythmic cellular NAD⁺ levels (Nakahata et al., 2009; Ramsey et al., 2009; Wijnen, 2009). CLOCK:BMAL1 transcription complex binds to E-box on the Nampt promoter and activates its expression. Upregulation of NAMPT increases NAD⁺ production, which as a co-factor activates SIRT1 activity. In turn, SIRT1 deacetylates BMAL1 and histone H3 at the cisacting site and silences the Nampt gene expression. Thus, NAD+ connects the two feedback loops of circadian rhythmic gene expression and cellular metabolism (Figure 3). Furthermore, our recent study showed that Kruppel-like factor 15 (KLF15), a zinc finger transcription factor also directly regulates Nampt at the transcriptional level in a circadian fashion by binding to an enhancer element of Nampt in intron 1 (Li et al., 2020). It is interesting that KLF15 deficiency only abolishes the circadian rhythmic expression of Nampt and does not affect its baseline expression, while in BMAL1 knockout mice overall expression of Nampt is reduced (Ramsey et al., 2009). This may be explained by the observation that KLF15 and BMAL1 each binds to a different cis-regulatory element (Figure 3). And while KLF15 binding may be spared for basal level of *Nampt* expression during the resting phase, it is required for optimal Nampt expression during the active phase, when the metabolic demand is high. In addition, the oscillatory expression of Nampt is absent in AMPKa2 but not in AMPKa1 knockout mice, suggesting that AMPKa2 also participates in the regulation of circadian Nampt expression in the heart (Um et al., 2011) possibly through the core clock suppressors cryptochrome 1/2 (Lamia et al., 2009) and period 2 (Um et al., 2007).

Another intriguing feature about NAMPT is that it can also be secreted by multiple cell types, including the adipocytes (Revollo et al., 2007), hepatocytes (Garten et al., 2010), monocytes (Schilling and Hauschildt, 2012) and pancreatic β cells (Kover et al., 2013), and be present as an extracellular form (eNAMPT) in circulation. eNAMPT is secreted in extracellular vesicles (Yoshida et al., 2019), which may then be internalized by the recipient cells (Lu et al., 2019), thus elevates NAD⁺ biosynthesis in adjacent tissues through paracrine effects (Lu et al., 2019; Yoshida et al., 2019), or even in remote tissues through circulation (Revollo et al., 2007; Imai, 2016; Yoshino et al., 2018). Secretion of



eNAMPT can be enhanced by SIRT1- (Yoon et al., 2015) or SIRT6 (Sociali et al., 2019)-mediated deacetylation, which also increases the NAMPT enzymatic activity. On the other hand, eNAMPT has also been reported as a proinflammatory cytokine through mechanisms that are independent of its NAD⁺ biosynthetic activity (Grolla et al., 2016; Carbone et al., 2017; Dalamaga et al., 2018; Yoshino et al., 2018). In the heart, cardiomyocytes (Pillai et al., 2013; Hsu et al., 2014), perivascular (Wang et al., 2009) and epicardial adipose tissues (Cheng et al., 2008) were shown to secrete eNAMPT. Whether eNAMPT is beneficial or detrimental to heart function remains controversial (Montecucco et al., 2013; Pillai et al., 2013; Yano et al., 2015).

NAD(P)⁺-NAD(P)H Redox Cycling

NAD⁺ is a hydride acceptor that can be transformed into its reduced form NADH after accepting an electron (**Figures 1**, **4**). Reduction of NAD⁺ to NADH occurs during fuel catabolism. Fatty acid is the primary fuel source in the heart under physiological conditions (Grynberg and Demaison, 1996). β -oxidation of fatty acid and tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle reduce NAD⁺ to NADH. NADH is then fed into the electron transport chain to generate ATP in the mitochondria while being oxidized back to NAD⁺. NAD⁺ depletion reduces ATP content in cardiomyocytes (Hsu et al., 2009). Severe NAD⁺ depletion

(>95%) may even disable the ability of ATP generation in cells (Del Nagro et al., 2014).

In addition, NAD⁺ can be phosphorylated by NAD⁺ kinase and converted into nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADP⁺) (**Figures 1**, **4**). A redox cycling is also established between NADP⁺ and NADPH. NADP⁺ is mostly consumed in the pentose phosphate pathway (PPP) where it is reduced into NADPH. However, the capacity of PPP is very small in the heart due to the low activity of the rate-limiting enzyme glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase (Zimmer, 1992). NADPH is the substrate of NADPH oxidases (NOXs). NOXs are the major reactive oxygen species (ROS)-generating enzymes in the heart and have emerged as the primary source of oxidative stress underlying a variety of CVD (Zhang et al., 2020).

NAD⁺ Consumption and NAD⁺-Consuming Enzymes

The homeostasis of NAD⁺ relies on the balance between NAD⁺ biosynthesis and NAD⁺ consumption. There are three major types of enzymes that utilize NAD⁺ as a co-substrate, including cyclic ADP-ribose synthetases which is mainly CD38 in the heart (Lin et al., 2017), poly ADP-ribose (PAR) polymerases (PARPs) and sirtuins (SIRTs) (**Figures 1**, **4**). These enzymatic reactions convert NAD⁺ to NAM which must be recycled through salvage



pathway by rate-limiting enzyme NAMPT (**Figures 1**, 4). It is important to note that different NAD⁺-consuming enzymes have different enzymatic kinetics or Michaelis constant (K_m) for NAD⁺. Therefore, whether activation of a particular enzyme can actually lead to rapid depletion of NAD⁺ would depend on the quantitative relationship between the K_m value of that particular enzyme and the physiological level of NAD^+ as detailed below (Katsyuba et al., 2020).

CD38 and Ca²⁺ Signaling

CD38 is a multifunctional enzyme (Wei et al., 2014; Lin et al., 2017; Hogan et al., 2019) that metabolizes NAD⁺ to ADP-ribose



(ADPR) through its glycohydrolase activity (Kim et al., 1993; Takasawa et al., 1993) or cyclic ADP-ribose (cADPR) through its cyclase activity (Howard et al., 1993). In the presence of NA, CD38 can also mediate a base-exchange reaction in which NADP⁺ is converted to nicotinic acid adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NAADP) (Aarhus et al., 1995). The major activity of CD38 is the hydrolysis of NAD⁺ into ADPR (Dousa et al., 1996; Graeff et al., 2009). The K_m value of CD38 [16 μ M (Sauve et al., 1998), 26 μ M (Cakir-Kiefer et al., 2001)] for NAD⁺ is far below physiological range of intracellular NAD⁺ level (400– 700 μ M) (Hara et al., 2019), thus activation of CD38 can rapidly consume and deplete NAD⁺ content. Aging and inflammation are associated with upregulated CD38 gene expression and declined NAD⁺ level (Chini et al., 2018).

In the heart, CD38 expression is highest in the endothelial cells, with a relative enzymatic activity ratio of 100:20:1 in endothelium, cardiac fibroblasts and cardiomyocytes, respectively (Boslett et al., 2018). Activation of CD38 by hypoxia-reoxygenation depletes NAD(P)⁺ in cardiac endothelial cells and impairs nitric oxide production by endothelial nitric oxide synthase that utilizes NADPH as the reducing substrate (Forstermann and Sessa, 2012), suggesting that CD38 may cause endothelial dysfunction after ischemic injury (Boslett et al., 2018). In contrast, a CD38 inhibitor luteolinidin preserved NAD(P)⁺ level, endothelial and myocardial function in an *ex vivo* heart I/R model (Boslett et al., 2017). The cardioprotective effect of CD38 deficiency have been shown to be SIRT1- (Guan et al., 2016) or SIRT3-dependent (Wang et al., 2018) in mouse models.

Additionally, cADPR and NAADP, produced by CD38 from NAD⁺ catabolism, are both important Ca²⁺-mobilizing second messengers (Lee et al., 1989; Lee and Aarhus, 1995). cADPR activates ryanodine receptors and triggers the release of Ca²⁺ from the endoplasmic reticulum to the cytosol (Ogunbayo et al., 2011). NAADP is the most potent Ca²⁺-mobilizing second

messenger known to date with a working concentration ranging from picomolar to low nanomolar range (Galione, 2019). The receptor for NAADP remains an active pursuit but recent studies suggested a new class of Ca^{2+} -release channel, two-pore channels localized on the endolysosomes are likely to be the target for NAADP (Pitt et al., 2010; Galione, 2019). cADPR and NAADP are required for excitation-contraction coupling in the cardiomyocytes (Rakovic et al., 1996; Collins et al., 2011). Excessive production of these two messenger molecules by CD38 contributes to the pathogenesis of cardiac hypertrophy and arrhythmia (Rakovic et al., 1999; Nebel et al., 2013).

PARylation and DNA Damage

Protein poly ADP-ribosylation (PARylation) is a reversible posttranslational protein modification in response to DNA damage (Langelier et al., 2018). PARP hydrolyzes NAD⁺ to build up the PAR chains, which are subsequently degraded by PAR glycohydrolase to terminate the PAR signal (Feng and Koh, 2013). Among 17 PARP family members, PARP1 accounts for over 90% of PARP catalytic activity (Alemasova and Lavrik, 2019). The activity of PARP1 can be activated to as much as 500-fold by DNA double strand breaks (D'amours et al., 1999). Similar to CD38, PARP1 has a K_m [50 μ M (Ame et al., 1999), 59 µM (Mendoza-Alvarez and Alvarez-Gonzalez, 1993)] far below physiological range of NAD⁺ levels. Additionally, PARylation can be very extensive as the chain length can reach over 200 units on the target proteins (D'amours et al., 1999). Therefore, excessive activation of PARP may lead to rapid depletion of intracellular NAD⁺.

Increased PARP level has been found in human failing hearts (Pillai et al., 2005b). Reactive oxygen and nitrogen species generated from heart injuries induce DNA damage and activate PARP (Pacher and Szabo, 2007). In cardiomyocyte, PARP level has a linear correlation with the degree of cardiac hypertrophy induced by either swimming exercise or aortic banding (Pillai et al., 2005b). Overexpression of PARP in cardiomyocytes reduced the NAD+ and ATP contents by as much as 60% and causes more than 50% of cell death within 48 h (Pillai et al., 2005a). The PARP-induced cardiomyocyte death is mainly mediated by SIRT1 deactivation as ectopic expression or pharmacological activation of SIRT1 prevents the PARP-induced cell death (Pillai et al., 2005a). Elevation of cardiac PARP level has also been found in patients with atrial fibrillation (AF) (Zhang et al., 2019). Either NAD⁺ repletion or PARP inhibition ameliorates the contractile dysfunction in HL-1 atrial cardiomyocytes and Drosophila heart tubes after tachypacing (Zhang et al., 2019). Modulation of PARP activity by PARP inhibitors in a number of preclinical models showed improvement in the cellular energy status and cardiac function as well as attenuation in inflammation and cell death, which has been extensively reviewed elsewhere (Pacher and Szabo, 2007; Henning et al., 2018).

Sirtuins and Deacetylation

Sirtuins or SIRTs have attracted substantial attention since their life extending capability was first discovered in yeast in 1999 (Kaeberlein et al., 1999). The subsequent discovery that



SIRTs use NAD⁺ as an essential substrate led to the idea that NAD⁺ supplementation may be beneficial in prolonging life and healthy aging (Imai et al., 2000; Landry et al., 2000). It is now well established that SIRTs are NAD⁺-dependent deacetylases, which are involved in almost every aspect of human physiology including cell metabolism, cell survival, DNA repair, transcription regulation, inflammation and circadian rhythm (Kupis et al., 2016). SIRTs catalyze the protein deacetylation by transferring the acetyl group from a target protein to its co-substrate NAD⁺, which is then broken down into NAM and 2'-O-acetyl-ADPR (Sauve et al., 2001; Feldman et al., 2012). So far seven SIRT members have been discovered in mammalian cells with distinct subcellular localizations (Kupis et al., 2016). SIRT1, which is the most extensively studied SIRT, as well as SIRT6 and

SIRT7, are primarily located in the nucleus. SIRT2 resides in the cytoplasm. SIRT3, SIRT4 and SIRT5 are primarily found in the mitochondria.

Sirtuin activity and NAD⁺ levels have an intricate relationship. Although SIRTs are considered NAD⁺-consuming enzymes, in most physiological situations SIRTs activation does not lead to cellular NAD+ depletion due to their enzymatic kinetics (Canto et al., 2015; Anderson et al., 2017; Katsyuba et al., 2020). The K_m of SIRT1 [94 µM (Pacholec et al., 2010), 171 µM (Smith et al., 2009), 750 µM (Madsen et al., 2016), 888 µM (Gerhart-Hines et al., 2011)], SIRT3 [280 µM (Jin et al., 2009), 880 µM (Hirschey et al., 2011)] and SIRT5 [26 µM (Roessler et al., 2015), 200 µM (Madsen et al., 2016)] lie within the physiological range of NAD⁺, thus they are unlikely to cause NAD⁺ depletion, however, their activities are highly dependent on the cellular NAD⁺ levels. Significant disturbance on NAD⁺ homeostasis can lead to abnormal SIRT1/3/5 activity which is often seen in human diseases, particularly age-related diseases such as neurodegenerative diseases, CVD and cancer (Carafa et al., 2012). In contrast, the Km values of SIRT2 [83 µM (Borra et al., 2004)], SIRT4 [35 µM (Laurent et al., 2013)], SIRT6 [13 µM (Kugel et al., 2015)] for NAD⁺ are well below the physiological range of NAD⁺, so that the level of NAD⁺ will not be ratelimiting for those SIRT members, instead, activation of these low-K_m SIRTs may cause a rapid depletion of cellular NAD⁺ at least in theory, although supporting evidence is still lacking. Further, SIRT1 and SIRT6, directly regulate NAD⁺ biosynthesis through NAMPT (Audrito et al., 2020), the rate-limiting enzyme in the NAD⁺ salvage pathway (Figure 3). SIRT1 negatively regulates the expression of NAMPT through CLOCK:BMAL1 complex, an important mechanism that regulates the oscillatory NAD⁺ levels in a circadian fashion (Nakahata et al., 2009; Ramsey et al., 2009). In addition, deacetylation of NAMPT by SIRT1 (Yoon et al., 2015) or SIRT6 (Sociali et al., 2019) enhances NAMPT enzymatic activity and eNAMPT release.

Sirtuins play a vital role in maintaining normal cardiac function and are involved in various CVD (Sundaresan et al., 2011; Bindu et al., 2016; Hershberger et al., 2017; Ianni et al., 2018). In I/R injury model, SIRT1 (Hsu et al., 2010), SIRT3 (Porter et al., 2014), SIRT5 (Boylston et al., 2015) and SIRT6 (Wang et al., 2016) have all been shown to play a cardioprotective role. For instance, Hsu et al. (2009) demonstrated that I/R injury is associated with a reduction in NAMPT expression and depletion of NAD⁺ in heart, which leads to a SIRT1-dependent inhibition of autophagy and activation of apoptosis. SIRT3 also protects the heart from I/R injury by attenuating the myocardial oxidative stress and apoptosis through the SIRT3/forkhead box (FOX) O3/manganese superoxide dismutase (MnSOD) signaling pathway (Chang et al., 2019). Additionally, our recent study revealed that KLF15 deficiency caused a reduction in MnSOD activity due to hyperacetylation at MnSOD^{K122}, resulting in elevated oxidative stress and increased susceptibility of myocardium to I/R injury in mouse heart (Li et al., 2020). The KLF15 deficiency-induced oxidative stress in cardiomyocyte can be ameliorated by NMN, which is predominantly mediated by SIRT3 (unpublished data). Because mitochondrial NAD⁺ pool is the largest subcellular NAD⁺ pool in the cardiomyocytes (see section "Subcellular Compartmentalization of NAD⁺"), our study suggests that SIRT3, the main deacetylase in mitochondria (Lombard et al., 2007; Hebert et al., 2013), may be more sensitive to the NAD⁺ level change than any other SIRT in the myocardium.

SIRT2-7 all showed a protective effect against cardiac hypertrophy and fibrosis in mouse models (Sundaresan et al., 2012; Ryu et al., 2014; Sadhukhan et al., 2016; Luo et al., 2017; Tang et al., 2017; Yu et al., 2017) whereas the effect of SIRT1 appears to be dependent on its expression level. Alcendor et al. (2007) showed that low to moderate level expression of SIRT1 (2.5-7.5 fold) attenuated age-associated cardiac hypertrophy, fibrosis and cardiac dysfunction, while a high level expression of SIRT1 (12.5 fold) led to spontaneous cardiac pathological remodeling and heart failure. It is possible that excessively high level of SIRT1 leads to NAD+ depletion and mitochondria dysfunction (Kawashima et al., 2011). The role of SIRTs in nonischemic heart failure has not been extensively studied. Failing hearts from dilated cardiomyopathy (DCM) patients and mice hearts with mitochondrial complex I deficiency have increased level of mitochondrial protein acetylation (Horton et al., 2016; Lee et al., 2016), suggesting that SIRT3 may be protective against heart failure. In fact, cardiac overexpression of SIRT3 protected against angiotensin II- or doxorubicin-induced cardiac hypertrophy, dysfunction and fibrosis (Sundaresan et al., 2009; Pillai et al., 2016).

The roles of different SIRT isoforms in the context of arrhythmia remain to be further interrogated. Cardiac specific knockout of SIRT1 causes an arrhythmic phenotype resulting from Na_v1.5 channel hyperacetylation and dysfunction (Vikram et al., 2017). Overexpression of SIRT2 reversed the repolarization defects in check point kinase BubR1 hypomorphic mice, although the exact molecular mechanism is still unclear (North et al., 2014).

Apart from the deacetylation activity, SIRTs can also use NAD⁺ as a co-substrate to catalyze protein deacylation (Sauve, 2010; Feldman et al., 2012). Each SIRT isoform has its unique substrate preference and deacylase activity (Rauh et al., 2013; Tong et al., 2017; Kumar and Lombard, 2018; Carafa et al., 2019; de Ceu Teixeira et al., 2019). For instance, SIRT5 has a strong affinity for negatively charged substrate (Rauh et al., 2013) and mediates protein desuccinvlation, demalonylation, and deglutarylation (Du et al., 2011; Tan et al., 2014; Hirschey and Zhao, 2015; Kumar and Lombard, 2018). A recent study from Sadhukhan et al. (2016) revealed that succinyl-CoA is the most abundant acyl-CoA molecule in the heart. SIRT5 deletion causes an accumulation of protein lysine succinylation and leads to hypertrophic cardiomyopathy in mice. SIRT5-targeted proteins are mostly involved in metabolic pathways such as fatty acid β-oxidation, branched chain amino acid catabolism, and respiratory chain proteins (Boylston et al., 2015; Sadhukhan et al., 2016). These findings established a new paradigm of metabolic regulation by SIRT5-mediated lysine succinvlation in the heart, distinct from the classic SIRT deacetylation-mediated regulatory pathways. Whether deacylation by other SIRT isoforms could also regulate the cardiac function remains to be explored in future studies.

Subcellular Compartmentalization of NAD⁺

Different organelles have different membrane permeability to NAD⁺, and contain different NAD⁺-synthetic/consuming enzymes, which results in highly subcellular compartmentalization of NAD⁺ levels and NAD⁺-dependent cellular functions (Stein and Imai, 2012; Canto et al., 2015; Nikiforov et al., 2015; Cohen, 2020; Katsyuba et al., 2020; Ralto et al., 2020). In general, there are two major subcellular NAD⁺ pools in mammalian cells, the nucleocytoplasmic NAD⁺ pool and the mitochondrial NAD⁺ pool. The nuclear NAD⁺ pool and the cytoplasmic NAD⁺ pool are considered to be exchangeable as NAD⁺ is freely interchanged through the nuclear membrane pore (Berger et al., 2005; Houtkooper et al., 2010). By using a biosensor for NAD⁺, Cambronne et al. (2016) showed that in HEK293 cells, the cytoplasma (106 μ M) and the nucleus (109 μ M) had an almost identical level of free NAD⁺ under basal condition and the NAD⁺ levels decreased in a similar kinetics in response to a NAMPT inhibitor FK866. In cardiomyocytes the mitochondrial NAD⁺ pool is considerably larger than the nucleocytoplasmic pool (Stein and Imai, 2012). Over 80% of NAD⁺ is found in the mitochondrial NAD⁺ pool in rodent cardiomyocytes (Alano et al., 2007). As the inner mitochondrial membrane is impermeable to NAD⁺, the mitochondrial NAD⁺ must come from the import of NAD⁺ or NAD⁺ precursors from cytosol via transporters or indirect exchange through the malate-aspartate shuttle (MAS) where NAD⁺ is transferred out of the mitochondria in exchange for NADH into the mitochondria (Bakker et al., 2001; Nielsen et al., 2011; Satrustegui and Bak, 2015). Based on a comprehensive analysis of subcellular enzyme localizations and NAD⁺ precursors, Nikiforov et al. (2015) suggested that NMN is the mitochondria precursor for NAD⁺ generation. Another recent study using isotope labeling showed that NAD⁺ may be directly imported into mitochondria from cytosol (Davila et al., 2018).

Modulation of compartment-specific enzymes that consume or generate NAD⁺ can lead to changes in specific subcellular NAD⁺ pools. For instance, PARP inhibitor Tiq-A prevented the reduction in nuclear NAD⁺ level induced by inhibiting NAMPT, indicating that nuclear NAD⁺ level largely depends on PARP activity (Cambronne et al., 2016). Knockdown of nuclear NMNAT1 and cytoplasmic NMNAT2 lowered the level of nucleocytoplasmic NAD⁺, while knockdown of mitochondrial NMNAT3 reduced the mitochondrial NAD⁺ level (Cambronne et al., 2016).

Catabolic enzymes involved in fuel metabolism as well as SIRTs are highly compartmentalized and are regulated by local NAD⁺ levels. Changes in a specific subcellular NAD⁺ pool can alter the activity of these enzymes and related biological processes occurred in the specific subcellular compartment. The details have been recently reviewed elsewhere (Verdin, 2015; Matasic et al., 2018; Katsyuba et al., 2020).

NAD⁺ IN CVD

Both reductions in NAD^+ biosynthesis and activation of NAD^+ -consuming enzymes can cause NAD^+ depletion, which

in turn may lead to dysregulation of numerous vital cellular functions, including fuel metabolism, SIRT-dependent regulation and CD38-mediated Ca²⁺ signaling. Chronic dysregulation of NAD⁺-dependent cell functions ultimately results in the development of CVD. An increasing number of studies, particularly in rodent models, have shown that boosting NAD⁺ is beneficial for CVD (Matasic et al., 2018; Yoshino et al., 2018; Hosseini et al., 2019b). Elevation of NAD⁺ levels can be achieved by supplementing NAD⁺, NAD⁺ precursors or modulating activities of enzymes responsible for NAD⁺ generation or degradation such as NAMPT, PARP and CD38 (**Figure 5**). In this review, we will focus on the *in vivo* evidence supporting the cardioprotective effects of NAD⁺ restoration in etiologies and risk factors for SCD, including I/R injury, heart failure and arrhythmia.

I/R Injury

Ischemic heart disease is the main cause of SCD in the general population (El-Sherif et al., 2017). Ischemia causes ATP depletion and cardiomyocyte necrosis. Reperfusion restores the energy supply, however, paradoxically imposes oxidative stress by ROS production (Kalogeris et al., 2016). The NAD⁺ levels are reduced in the myocardium after both ischemia and I/R injury (Yamamoto et al., 2014). A variety of NAD⁺ precursors including NA (Trueblood et al., 2000), NAM (Sukhodub et al., 2010), NMN (Hosseini et al., 2019a), and NAD⁺ itself (Zhang et al., 2016; Zhai et al., 2019), have been consistently shown to restore the NAD⁺ levels, reduce myocardial infraction (MI) size and protect against I/R injury dysfunction *in vivo*.

Activation of NAD⁺-biosynthetic enzymes or inhibition of NAD⁺-consuming enzymes have also shown cardioprotective effects in response to I/R. Hsu et al. (2009) showed that cardiac expression of NAMPT was reduced by I/R in mice. Cardiac-specific overexpression of NAMPT increased the NAD⁺ levels and reduced MI size and cardiomyocyte apoptosis in response to ischemia and I/R (Hsu et al., 2009). On the other hand, the activity of CD38 is elevated by more than 5-fold in the post-ischemic heart (Reyes et al., 2015). CD38 deficiency reduced the MI size in response to I/R injury (Guan et al., 2016). Inhibition of PARP by genetic deletion or pharmacological inhibitors have also shown therapeutic effects against I/R injury in various animal models, which has been extensively reviewed elsewhere (Zingarelli et al., 1998, 2003, 2004; Grupp et al., 1999; Pieper et al., 2000; Yang et al., 2000; Zhou et al., 2006; Pacher and Szabo, 2007).

Multiple signaling pathways are involved in mediating the cardioprotective effects from NAD⁺ restoration. First, the SIRT1/FOXO1 pathway is upregulated by NAD⁺ restoration in response to I/R injury (Yamamoto et al., 2014; Guan et al., 2016; Zhang et al., 2016). Elevated NAD⁺ levels lead to SIRT1 activation and deacetylation of cytosolic FOXO1, which promotes its nuclear translocation (Frescas et al., 2005; Hsu et al., 2010). Nuclear FOXO1 then activates transcription of antioxidants such as *MnSOD*, which leads to increased ROS clearance and ameliorates the oxidative stress in the heart (Brunet et al., 2004; Hsu et al., 2010). FOXO1 also activates autophagic flux by transcriptional activation of *Rab7*, which preserves energy during ischemia (Hariharan et al., 2010). Second, the PI3K/AKT and ERK1/2 pro-survival kinase pathways, or the so-called



for arrhythmia.

reperfusion injury salvage kinase (RISK) pathways (Rossello and Yellon, 2018), are upregulated by NAD⁺ restoration under I/R conditions (Lim et al., 2008; Sukhodub et al., 2010). NAD⁺ restoration activates RISK pathways possibly through downregulation of AMPK activity. Elevation of NAD⁺ level increases glycolysis and fatty acid β -oxidation which generates more ATP and decreases the AMP/ATP ratio, which reduces

AMPK activity (Dyck and Lopaschuk, 2006). AMPK has been shown to suppress both PI3K/AKT signaling pathway (Tzatsos and Tsichlis, 2007) and ERK1/2 signaling pathway (Meng et al., 2011), therefore inhibition of AMPK activates the RISK pathways. RISK pathways are rapidly activated during the first few minutes of reperfusion and have been proposed as a potential therapeutic target for cardioprotective intervention (Hausenloy and Yellon, 2004; Rossello and Yellon, 2018). Noma et al. demonstrated that activation of RISK pathways through activation of EGFR signaling confers cardioprotective effect *in vivo* (Noma et al., 2007; Pinilla-Vera et al., 2019). Mechanistically, RISK pathways reduce the opening probability of mitochondrial permeability transition pore (mPTP) and mPTP-induced cell death *in vitro* (Davidson et al., 2006). The activation of RISK pathways also upregulates the activity of a cardiac ATP-sensitive K⁺ channel and leads to reduced Ca²⁺ entry, muscle contractility and energy consumption (Sukhodub et al., 2010), which potentially protects the myocardium during ischemia (Nichols, 2016).

In summary, repletion of NAD⁺ levels by either direct supplementation of NAD⁺ precursors or targeting the NAD⁺biosynthetic/consuming enzymes activity may be a potential therapeutic strategy to mitigate the cardiac injury from I/R. The SIRT1/FOXO1 and RISK pathways are two major players that mediate the beneficial effects through reducing ROS level, inhibiting cell death and preserving energy.

Heart Failure and Pathological Remodeling

Human failing hearts from patients with DCM showed reductions in NAD⁺ level and NAD⁺/NADH ratio (Horton et al., 2016; Lee et al., 2016). The cardioprotective effects of NAD⁺ and its precursors (NR, NMN, and NAM) have been demonstrated in a number of small animal models for heart failure (Riehle and Bauersachs, 2019), including (1) genetic models in which the mitochondrial function is disrupted such as Frataxin (Fxn)-knockout model (Puccio et al., 2001; Wagner et al., 2012) [NMN (Martin et al., 2017)], NADH dehydrogenase [ubiquinone] iron-sulfur protein 4 (Ndufs4)-knockout model (Karamanlidis et al., 2013) [NMN (Lee et al., 2016)] and transferrin receptor (Tfrc)-knockout model [NR (Xu et al., 2015)]; (2) genetic models in which a cytoskeletal component is dysfunctional such as MDX mice model (Quinlan et al., 2004) [NR (Ryu et al., 2016)]; (3) genetic models in which a cardiac transcription factor is deficient such as the serum response factor (Srf)-knockout model (Diguet et al., 2011) [NR (Diguet et al., 2018)]; (4) non-genetic models, including pressure overload (Rockman et al., 1994) [NR (Diguet et al., 2018) and NMN (Lee et al., 2016)], volume overload (Liu et al., 1991) [NAM (Cox et al., 2002)], angiotensin II-induced hypertension (Wollert and Drexler, 1999) [NAD⁺ (Pillai et al., 2010)], and isoproterenolinduced (Oudit et al., 2003) [NAD+ (Pillai et al., 2010)] heart failure models. The cardioprotective effects of boosting NAD⁺ level observed in various animal models suggest that raising the NAD⁺ levels may be a promising therapeutic strategy for heart failure (Walker and Tian, 2018).

Mitochondrial dysfunction and mitochondrial protein hyperacetylation are causally linked to the development of heart failure (Rosca and Hoppel, 2013; Lee and Tian, 2015; Horton et al., 2016; Zhou and Tian, 2018). NAD⁺ repletion restored SIRT3 activity and reversed mitochondrial protein hyperacetylation in the failing hearts and improved cardiac function (Lee et al., 2016). Using acetylome analysis, Lee et al. (2016) identified a subgroup of NAD⁺/NADH-sensitive mitochondrial proteins, the hyperacetylation of which are highly associated with the development of heart failure, including MAS components and mPTP regulatory proteins. Apart from SIRT3, expression of SIRT1 was found to be reduced in patients with advanced heart failure (Lu et al., 2014). Similar to that in I/R injury, SIRT1/FOXO1 pathway was suppressed, which reduced the expression of antioxidants such as MnSOD and Thioredoxin1, whereas the expression of pro-apoptotic molecule BAX was increased (Lu et al., 2014). Therefore, NAD⁺ repletion may reduce oxidative stress and apoptosis in failing hearts through activation of SIRT1/FOXO1 pathway. In addition, a recent study showed that NAD⁺ repletion by NMN supplement activates SIRT7/GATA binding protein 4 (GATA4) pathway which confers anti-hypertrophic effects in response to pressure overload (Yamamura et al., 2020). SIRT7 directly interacts and deacetylates GATA4, which regulates its transcriptional activity and suppresses the cardiac hypertrophy-related gene expression (Yamamura et al., 2020).

The cardioprotective effects of NAD⁺ repletion in heart failure may also come from inhibition of AMPK signaling pathways. AMPK is activated as a result of energy depletion and metabolic remodeling in the failing heart (Azevedo et al., 2013; Doenst et al., 2013). NAD⁺ repletion can suppress the elevated AMPK activity in heart failure (Lee et al., 2016; Ryu et al., 2016; Diguet et al., 2018). As mentioned above, NAD⁺ may inhibit AMPK activity indirectly through the activation of glycolysis and fatty acid β-oxidation. The effects of AMPK activation on cardiac function depends on the stage and the severity of the heart failure. In the early stage before decompensation, activation of AMPK is considered to be an adaptive mechanism which may help maintain the physiological level of autophagy (Nakamura and Sadoshima, 2018) by inhibiting mTORC1 signaling (Kim et al., 2011) and delay the transition from cardiac remodeling to heart failure (Pillai et al., 2010; Beauloye et al., 2011). Once decompensation occurs, chronic activation of AMPK can actually be detrimental to cardiac function. Overactivation of AMPK may lead to uncontrolled autophagy which triggers autophagy-dependent cell death and myocardial injury (Zhu et al., 2007; Sciarretta et al., 2018; Kaludercic et al., 2020). Further, long-term activation of AMPK suppresses the pro-survival RISK signaling pathways (Tzatsos and Tsichlis, 2007; Meng et al., 2011). Therefore, NAD⁺ repletion-induced inhibition on AMPK signaling pathway may be particularly beneficial for late stage heart failure.

Intriguingly, modulation of NAMPT activity has shown contradictory effects on heart failure. Lee et al. (2016) showed that overexpression of cardiac NAMPT partially restored the cardiac function after pressure overload and completely reversed the isoproterenol-induced cardiac dysfunction in the mitochondrial complex I defective mouse model. However, Byun et al. (2019) showed that both gain and loss of NAMPT function exacerbated the pressure overload-induced heart failure. On the other hand, animal studies on PARP inhibition consistently showed significant preservation in cardiac function and promotion in survival rate in heart failure models (Booz, 2007; Pacher and Szabo, 2007; Halmosi et al., 2016; Henning et al., 2018). In addition, knockout of CD38 was shown to be cardioprotective against angiotensin II-induced cardiac hypertrophy in mouse (Guan et al., 2017). This discrepancy may be due to the proinflammatory effect of eNAMPT (Montecucco et al., 2013; Byun et al., 2019). Further, overexpression of NAMPT may not necessarily elevate NAD⁺ level if the amount of NAM is limited (Byun et al., 2019). NAMPT overexpression may also lead to excessive amount of NAD⁺ and overactivation of SIRT1 which has been shown to impair mitochondrial and cardiac function (Kawashima et al., 2011).

In summary, NAD⁺ repletion could provide cardioprotective effects against cardiac remodeling and heart failure through multiple mechanisms, including reduction of oxidative stress, suppression of hypertrophy-related gene expression, prevention of autophagy overactivation, restoration of mitochondrial function and activation of RISK pro-survival pathways. These findings indicate that NAD⁺-boosting intervention may be a potential therapeutic strategy for cardiac remodeling and heart failure.

Arrhythmia

We have only started to explore the effects of NAD⁺ on arrhythmia. Cardiac sodium current (I_{Na}) upstroke during depolarization phase is predominantly mediated by Nav1.5 channel, which is the major voltage-gated sodium channel in the heart (Veerman et al., 2015). Mutations in Nav1.5 are associated with a number of cardiac diseases such as long QT syndrome, AF and cardiomyopathy (Song and Shou, 2012; Shy et al., 2013; Han et al., 2018; Wilde and Amin, 2018). Matasic et al. (2020) showed that NR increased I_{Na} and reduced residual late I_{Na} in vitro, and more importantly administration of NR decreased QTc in vivo. Mechanistically, NR supplementation elevates NADH level which increases phospholipase D (PLD) activity leading to activation of PKC signaling pathway (Martin et al., 2017). PKC phosphorylation at S1503 in Nav1.5 channel (Matasic et al., 2020) modulates the channel conductance and improves the INa profile in the heart (Valdivia et al., 2009; Martin et al., 2017). The anti-arrhythmic effect of NAD⁺ supplementation may not be exclusively dependent on the NAD⁺ levels. Liu et al. (2013) demonstrated that administration of NAD⁺ restored I_{Na} from 60% to 97% in mouse with non-ischemic cardiomyopathy and improved conduction velocity in human myopathic hearts. However, the I_{Na} restoration by NAD⁺ was diminished by CD38 inhibitor pelargonidin, suggesting that CD38-mediated Ca²⁺ signaling rather than the intracellular NAD⁺ level plays a direct role (Liu et al., 2013).

In patients with AF and tachypaced cardiomyocytes, PARP1 was found to be hyperactive, which leads to NAD⁺ depletion (Zhang et al., 2019). Excessive production of ROS observed in AF (Youn et al., 2013; Xie et al., 2015; Liang et al., 2018) may be associated with high level of DNA damage, which leads to activation of PARP1. Inhibition of PARP1 restored the NAD⁺ content, reduced oxidative stress and improved cardiomyocyte contractility in rat atrial cardiomyocytes and Drosophila hearts with tachypacing (Zhang et al., 2019).

Apart from Nav1.5, future study should look into other NAD⁺-regulated ion transporters (Kilfoil et al., 2013) that

are important for cardiac electrophysiology and their potential implications in anti-arrhythmic effects, such as Kv4.2 (Tur et al., 2016, 2017). In addition, severe NAD⁺ depletion (>95%) sabotages the ability to regenerate ATP (Del Nagro et al., 2014) which may potentially impair the normal phosphorylation state and function of ion transporters in the heart (Ismailov and Benos, 1995; Grant, 2009; Bartos et al., 2015). Future study may explore whether NAD⁺ repletion can restore a global level of phosphorylation on cardiac ion transporters after severe NAD⁺ depletion.

In summary, there is an emerging evidence suggesting that NAD^+ replenishment plays important roles in cardiac arrhythmia.

THE EMERGING NAD⁺-BOOSTING THERAPY

There has been a rapidly growing attention and expectation on the clinical usage of NAD⁺-boosting therapy for diseases associated with NAD⁺ depletion and metabolic syndrome. Over 300 clinical trials (clinicaltrials.gov) have been conducted to test the therapeutic potential of NAD⁺ precursors on Alzheimer's disease, psoriasis, obesity, diabetes, chronic kidney disease, dyslipidemia, and CVD etc (Katsyuba et al., 2020). Currently, NA (Niaspan) is the only US Food and Drug Administration (FDA)-approved NAD⁺ precursor product and is used to treat dyslipidemia in the US (Villines et al., 2012; Rajman et al., 2018). However, NR, NA, NMN, and NAM are all natural products and their use does not require FDA approval. As a result, they are taken as food supplements for a broad spectrum of indications in many situations but without evaluation from well-controlled clinical studies.

Human Studies on SCD-Associated CVD

As a basis for clinical translation, the safety of NAD⁺-boosting interventions in high-risk groups for CVD has been well evaluated (Dellinger et al., 2017; Martens et al., 2018). A recently published review from Katsyuba et al. (2020) summarized the human studies with NAD⁺ boosters in different disease settings. Here, we will focus on human studies on SCD-associated CVD.

Since the lipid-lowering effect of NA was found in 1950s (Altschul et al., 1955; Parsons et al., 1956), most of the human studies on coronary artery disease (CAD) or ischemic heart disease have chosen NA as the NAD⁺ booster of choice. Initiated in 1962, the Coronary Drug Project demonstrated that subjects treated with NA had a 10% reduction of the serum cholesterol levels (Berge and Canner, 1991). Moreover, NA was shown to reduce the levels of low-density lipoprotein while increase the level of high-density lipoprotein, and the combination therapy with colestipol (Brown et al., 1990) or statins (Guyton et al., 2008; Sang et al., 2009) offered even greater lipid lowering benefits. Consistent with the improved lipid profile, NA offers additional preventive effects on atherosclerotic progression in patients receiving colestipol (Blankenhorn et al., 1987a,b;

Brown et al., 1990) or statins (Brown et al., 2001; Taylor et al., 2004; Villines et al., 2010; Boden et al., 2011; Landray et al., 2014). Further, NA-treated subjects had a lower incidence of definite, non-fatal MI (10% vs. 14% in placebo group) (Berge and Canner, 1991). Most importantly, the NA treated group, although showing a trend toward lowering mortality at the conclusion of the trial, actually showed a significant (11%, Z = -3.52, p < 0.0004) reduction of mortality in the extended follow-up study 9 years from the conclusion of the active study. Subjects taking NA previously showed a 1.6 year extension of life (Berge and Canner, 1991). However, another two clinical trials with patients receiving statin-based therapy showed that the addition of NA failed to provide clinical benefits in reducing the risk of major vascular events or composite cardiovascular death (Boden et al., 2011; Landray et al., 2014). Because the NAD⁺ level is oscillating in a circadian fashion in heart, one possible explanation for the inconsistent results is that the timing of implementing NAD⁺-boosting intervention may have a significant impact on the clinical outcome. As a supportive evidence for this notion, our recent study showed that NMN administration elevated NAD⁺ level and reduced MI size in mice after I/R injury at ZT2 when the NAD+ level was at nadir, however, the improvement was not observed when NMN was supplemented at ZT14 when the NAD⁺ level was at peak (Li et al., 2020). Therefore, an optimal time window may be critical for NAD⁺-boosting therapy, which needs to be carefully examined in future studies. Another explanation might be the lack of a pharmacological effective dose. In fact, most of the human studies reported so far with NAD⁺ boosters, including those on non-CVD, did not provide evidence for elevated NAD⁺ level in experimental subjects (Katsyuba et al., 2020).

For heart failure, two small-scale pilot clinical studies, one with 5 and the other with 30 patients, aiming to assess the safety and feasibility of NR have been completed but the results have not been published yet (clinicaltrials.gov). Another pilot study on NAM is in the progress of recruiting 60 heart failure patients (clinicaltrials.gov). To date, no clinical trial has been conducted to examine the role of NAD⁺-boosting strategies on arrhythmia (clinicaltrials.gov). The effects of NAD⁺ boosters on patients

REFERENCES

- Aarhus, R., Graeff, R. M., Dickey, D. M., Walseth, T. F., and Lee, H. C. (1995). ADP-ribosyl cyclase and CD38 catalyze the synthesis of a calcium-mobilizing metabolite from NADP. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 30327–30333. doi: 10.1074/jbc.270. 51.30327
- Alano, C. C., Tran, A., Tao, R., Ying, W., Karliner, J. S., and Swanson, R. A. (2007). Differences among cell types in NAD(+) compartmentalization: a comparison of neurons, astrocytes, and cardiac myocytes. *J. Neurosci. Res.* 85, 3378–3385. doi: 10.1002/jnr.21479
- Alcendor, R. R., Gao, S., Zhai, P., Zablocki, D., Holle, E., Yu, X., et al. (2007). Sirt1 regulates aging and resistance to oxidative stress in the heart. *Circ. Res.* 100, 1512–1521. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.0000267723.65696.4a
- Alemasova, E. E., and Lavrik, O. I. (2019). Poly(ADP-ribosyl)ation by PARP1: reaction mechanism and regulatory proteins. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 47, 3811–3827. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkz120
- Altschul, R., Hoffer, A., and Stephen, J. D. (1955). Influence of nicotinic acid on serum cholesterol in man. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 54, 558–559. doi: 10.1016/ 0003-9861(55)90070-9

with heart failure and arrhythmia remain to be investigated in future studies.

In summary, current human studies have shown that NAD⁺boosting therapy can reduce mortality (Carlson and Rosenhamer, 1988; Berge and Canner, 1991; Brown et al., 2001; Landray et al., 2014) and provide moderate clinical benefits for patients with CAD. However, conflicting results on critical clinical outcomes such as incidence of composite mortality and major vascular events have raised the concern that whether NAD⁺-boosting therapy can ultimately become a primary treatment for CAD and other CVD. Several important aspects may help overcome these hurdles. First, it is critical to determine the effective dose of NAD⁺ boosters for each individual patient. Direct measurement for NAD⁺ level or NAD⁺ metabolome from accessible samples [i.e., plasma (Grant et al., 2019)] should be considered. It is possible to achieve the effective therapeutic level, novel NAD⁺ precursors or novel pharmaceutical formulations are required. Second, the optimal time window for NAD⁺ booster supplementation remains to be established in human subjects. NAD⁺-boosting therapy should coordinate with the intrinsic circadian oscillation of NAD+ level in human body so that maximal beneficial effects can be achieved. With a more nuanced understanding of NAD⁺ biology in the heart and clinical studies designed with more sophistication, we anticipate that NAD+boosting therapy would ultimately harness its potential for SCDassociated CVD.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

LZ conceived the manuscript. WX, LL, and LZ wrote the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

All sources of funding received for the research are submitted. This manuscript is supported by K08HL123551 and R01HL143067 (LZ).

- Ame, J. C., Rolli, V., Schreiber, V., Niedergang, C., Apiou, F., Decker, P., et al. (1999). PARP-2, A novel mammalian DNA damage-dependent poly(ADPribose) polymerase. J. Biol. Chem. 274, 17860–17868. doi: 10.1074/jbc.274.25. 17860
- Anderson, K. A., Madsen, A. S., Olsen, C. A., and Hirschey, M. D. (2017). Metabolic control by sirtuins and other enzymes that sense NAD(+), NADH, or their ratio. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta Bioenerg.* 1858, 991–998. doi: 10.1016/j.bbabio.2017.09. 005
- Ansari, H. R., and Raghava, G. P. (2010). Identification of NAD interacting residues in proteins. BMC Bioinformatics 11:160. doi: 10.1186/1471-2105-11-160
- Audrito, V., Messana, V. G., and Deaglio, S. (2020). NAMPT and NAPRT: two metabolic enzymes with key roles in inflammation. *Front. Oncol.* 10:358. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2020.00358
- Azevedo, P. S., Minicucci, M. F., Santos, P. P., Paiva, S. A., and Zornoff, L. A. (2013). Energy metabolism in cardiac remodeling and heart failure. *Cardiol. Rev.* 21, 135–140. doi: 10.1097/CRD.0b013e318274956d
- Badawy, A. A. (2017). Kynurenine pathway of tryptophan metabolism: regulatory and functional aspects. *Int. J. Tryptophan. Res.* 10:1178646917691938. doi: 10.1177/1178646917691938

- Bakker, B. M., Overkamp, K. M., Van Maris, A. J., Kotter, P., Luttik, M. A., Van Dijken, J. P., et al. (2001). Stoichiometry and compartmentation of NADH metabolism in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *FEMS Microbiol. Rev.* 25, 15–37. doi: 10.1111/j.1574-6976.2001.tb00570.x
- Bartos, D. C., Grandi, E., and Ripplinger, C. M. (2015). Ion channels in the heart. *Compr. Physiol.* 5, 1423–1464. doi: 10.1002/cphy.c140069
- Beauloye, C., Bertrand, L., Horman, S., and Hue, L. (2011). AMPK activation, a preventive therapeutic target in the transition from cardiac injury to heart failure. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 90, 224–233. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvr034
- Berge, K. G., and Canner, P. L. (1991). Coronary drug project: experience with niacin. coronary drug project research Group. *Eur. J. Clin. Pharmacol.* 40(Suppl. 1), S49–S51. doi: 10.1007/BF03216290
- Berger, F., Lau, C., Dahlmann, M., and Ziegler, M. (2005). Subcellular compartmentation and differential catalytic properties of the three human nicotinamide mononucleotide adenylyltransferase isoforms. J. Biol. Chem. 280, 36334–36341. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M508660200
- Bindu, S., Pillai, V. B., and Gupta, M. P. (2016). Role of sirtuins in regulating pathophysiology of the heart. *Trends Endocrinol. Metab.* 27, 563–573. doi: 10.1016/j.tem.2016.04.015
- Blankenhorn, D. H., Johnson, R. L., Nessim, S. A., Azen, S. P., Sanmarco, M. E., and Selzer, R. H. (1987a). The cholesterol lowering atherosclerosis study (CLAS): design, methods, and baseline results. *Control Clin. Trials* 8, 356–387. doi: 10.1016/0197-2456(87)90156-5
- Blankenhorn, D. H., Nessim, S. A., Johnson, R. L., Sanmarco, M. E., Azen, S. P., and Cashin-Hemphill, L. (1987b). Beneficial effects of combined colestipol-niacin therapy on coronary atherosclerosis and coronary venous bypass grafts. *JAMA* 257, 3233–3240. doi: 10.1001/jama.257.23.3233
- Boden, W. E., Probstfield, J. L., Anderson, T., Chaitman, B. R., Desvignes-Nickens, P., Koprowicz, K., et al. (2011). Niacin in patients with low HDL cholesterol levels receiving intensive statin therapy. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 365, 2255–2267. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1107579
- Booz, G. W. (2007). PARP inhibitors and heart failure-translational medicine caught in the act. *Congest. Heart Fail.* 13, 105–112. doi: 10.1111/j.1527-5299. 2007.06595.x
- Borra, M. T., Langer, M. R., Slama, J. T., and Denu, J. M. (2004). Substrate specificity and kinetic mechanism of the Sir2 family of NAD+-dependent histone/protein deacetylases. *Biochemistry* 43, 9877–9887. doi: 10.1021/ bi049592e
- Boslett, J., Hemann, C., Christofi, F. L., and Zweier, J. L. (2018). Characterization of CD38 in the major cell types of the heart: endothelial cells highly express CD38 with activation by hypoxia-reoxygenation triggering NAD(P)H depletion. *Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol.* 314, C297–C309. doi: 10.1152/ajpcell.00139.2017
- Boslett, J., Hemann, C., Zhao, Y. J., Lee, H. C., and Zweier, J. L. (2017). Luteolinidin protects the postischemic heart through CD38 inhibition with preservation of NAD(P)(H). *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* 361, 99–108. doi: 10.1124/jpet.116. 239459
- Boylston, J. A., Sun, J., Chen, Y., Gucek, M., Sack, M. N., and Murphy, E. (2015). Characterization of the cardiac succinylome and its role in ischemiareperfusion injury. J. Mol. Cell Cardiol. 88, 73–81. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2015. 09.005
- Brown, B. G., Zhao, X. Q., Chait, A., Fisher, L. D., Cheung, M. C., Morse, J. S., et al. (2001). Simvastatin and niacin, antioxidant vitamins, or the combination for the prevention of coronary disease. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 345, 1583–1592. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa011090
- Brown, G., Albers, J. J., Fisher, L. D., Schaefer, S. M., Lin, J. T., Kaplan, C., et al. (1990). Regression of coronary artery disease as a result of intensive lipidlowering therapy in men with high levels of apolipoprotein B. N. Engl. J. Med. 323, 1289–1298. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199011083231901
- Brunet, A., Sweeney, L. B., Sturgill, J. F., Chua, K. F., Greer, P. L., Lin, Y., et al. (2004). Stress-dependent regulation of FOXO transcription factors by the SIRT1 deacetylase. *Science* 303, 2011–2015. doi: 10.1126/science.1094637
- Byun, J., Oka, S. I., Imai, N., Huang, C. Y., Ralda, G., Zhai, P., et al. (2019). Both gain and loss of Nampt function promote pressure overload-induced heart failure. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol.* 317, H711–H725. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart. 00222.2019
- Cakir-Kiefer, C., Muller-Steffner, H., Oppenheimer, N., and Schuber, F. (2001). Kinetic competence of the cADP-ribose-CD38 complex as an intermediate

in the CD38/NAD+ glycohydrolase-catalysed reactions: implication for CD38 signalling. *Biochem. J.* 358, 399–406. doi: 10.1042/bj3580399

- Cambronne, X. A., Stewart, M. L., Kim, D., Jones-Brunette, A. M., Morgan, R. K., Farrens, D. L., et al. (2016). Biosensor reveals multiple sources for mitochondrial NAD(+). *Science* 352, 1474–1477. doi: 10.1126/science.aad5168
- Canto, C., Menzies, K. J., and Auwerx, J. (2015). NAD(+) metabolism and the control of energy homeostasis: a balancing act between mitochondria and the nucleus. *Cell. Metab.* 22, 31–53. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2015.05.023
- Carafa, V., Altucci, L., and Nebbioso, A. (2019). Dual tumor suppressor and tumor promoter action of sirtuins in determining malignant phenotype. *Front. Pharmacol.* 10:38. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2019.00038
- Carafa, V., Nebbioso, A., and Altucci, L. (2012). Sirtuins and disease: the road ahead. *Front. Pharmacol.* 3:4. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2012.00004
- Carbone, F., Liberale, L., Bonaventura, A., Vecchie, A., Casula, M., Cea, M., et al. (2017). Regulation and function of extracellular nicotinamide phosphoribosyltransferase/visfatin. *Compr. Physiol.* 7, 603–621. doi: 10.1002/ cphy.c160029
- Carlson, L. A., and Rosenhamer, G. (1988). Reduction of mortality in the Stockholm Ischaemic Heart Disease Secondary Prevention Study by combined treatment with clofibrate and nicotinic acid. Acta Med. Scand. 223, 405–418. doi: 10.1111/j.0954-6820.1988.tb15891.x
- Chang, G., Chen, Y., Zhang, H., and Zhou, W. (2019). Trans sodium crocetinate alleviates ischemia/reperfusion-induced myocardial oxidative stress and apoptosis via the SIRT3/FOXO3a/SOD2 signaling pathway. *Int. Immunopharmacol.* 71, 361–371. doi: 10.1016/j.intimp.2019.03.056
- Cheng, K. H., Chu, C. S., Lee, K. T., Lin, T. H., Hsieh, C. C., Chiu, C. C., et al. (2008). Adipocytokines and proinflammatory mediators from abdominal and epicardial adipose tissue in patients with coronary artery disease. *Int. J. Obes.* 32, 268–274. doi: 10.1038/sj.ijo.0803726
- Chini, E. N., Chini, C. C. S., Espindola Netto, J. M., De Oliveira, G. C., and Van Schooten, W. (2018). The pharmacology of CD38/NADase: an emerging target in cancer and diseases of aging. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* 39, 424–436. doi: 10.1016/j.tips.2018.02.001
- Cohen, M. S. (2020). Interplay between compartmentalized NAD(+) synthesis and consumption: a focus on the PARP family. *Genes Dev.* 34, 254–262. doi: 10.1101/gad.335109.119
- Collins, T. P., Bayliss, R., Churchill, G. C., Galione, A., and Terrar, D. A. (2011). NAADP influences excitation-contraction coupling by releasing calcium from lysosomes in atrial myocytes. *Cell Calcium* 50, 449–458. doi: 10.1016/j.ceca. 2011.07.007
- Cox, M. J., Sood, H. S., Hunt, M. J., Chandler, D., Henegar, J. R., Aru, G. M., et al. (2002). Apoptosis in the left ventricle of chronic volume overload causes endocardial endothelial dysfunction in rats. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol.* 282, H1197–H1205. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00483.2001
- Dalamaga, M., Christodoulatos, G. S., and Mantzoros, C. S. (2018). The role of extracellular and intracellular Nicotinamide phosphoribosyl-transferase in cancer: diagnostic and therapeutic perspectives and challenges. *Metabolism* 82, 72–87. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2018.01.001
- D'amours, D., Desnoyers, S., D'silva, I., and Poirier, G. G. (1999). Poly(ADPribosyl)ation reactions in the regulation of nuclear functions. *Biochem. J.* 342(Pt 2), 249–268. doi: 10.1042/bj3420249
- Davidson, S. M., Hausenloy, D., Duchen, M. R., and Yellon, D. M. (2006). Signalling via the reperfusion injury signalling kinase (RISK) pathway links closure of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore to cardioprotection. *Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol.* 38, 414–419. doi: 10.1016/j.biocel.2005.09.017
- Davila, A., Liu, L., Chellappa, K., Redpath, P., Nakamaru-Ogiso, E., Paolella, L. M., et al. (2018). Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide is transported into mammalian mitochondria. *eLife* 7:e33246. doi: 10.7554/eLife.33246.020
- de Ceu Teixeira, M., Sanchez-Lopez, E., Espina, M., Garcia, M. L., Durazzo, A., Lucarini, M., et al. (2019). Sirtuins and SIRT6 in carcinogenesis and in diet. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 20:E4945. doi: 10.3390/ijms20194945
- Del Nagro, C., Xiao, Y., Rangell, L., Reichelt, M., and O'brien, T. (2014). Depletion of the central metabolite NAD leads to oncosis-mediated cell death. J. Biol. Chem. 289, 35182–35192. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M114.580159
- Dellinger, R. W., Santos, S. R., Morris, M., Evans, M., Alminana, D., Guarente, L., et al. (2017). Repeat dose NRPT (nicotinamide riboside and pterostilbene) increases NAD(+) levels in humans safely and sustainably: a randomized,
double-blind, placebo-controlled study. NPJ Aging Mech. Dis. 3:17. doi: 10. 1038/s41514-017-0016-9

- Diguet, N., Mallat, Y., Ladouce, R., Clodic, G., Prola, A., Tritsch, E., et al. (2011). Muscle creatine kinase deficiency triggers both actin depolymerization and desmin disorganization by advanced glycation end products in dilated cardiomyopathy. *J. Biol. Chem.* 286, 35007–35019. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111. 252395
- Diguet, N., Trammell, S. A. J., Tannous, C., Deloux, R., Piquereau, J., Mougenot, N., et al. (2018). Nicotinamide riboside preserves cardiac function in a mouse model of dilated cardiomyopathy. *Circulation* 137, 2256–2273. doi: 10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.116.026099
- Doenst, T., Nguyen, T. D., and Abel, E. D. (2013). Cardiac metabolism in heart failure: implications beyond ATP production. *Circ. Res.* 113, 709–724. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.113.300376
- Dousa, T. P., Chini, E. N., and Beers, K. W. (1996). Adenine nucleotide diphosphates: emerging second messengers acting via intracellular Ca2+ release. Am. J. Physiol. 271, C1007–C1024. doi: 10.1152/ajpcell.1996.271.4. C1007
- Du, J., Zhou, Y., Su, X., Yu, J. J., Khan, S., Jiang, H., et al. (2011). Sirt5 is a NAD-dependent protein lysine demalonylase and desuccinylase. *Science* 334, 806–809. doi: 10.1126/science.1207861
- Dyck, J. R., and Lopaschuk, G. D. (2006). AMPK alterations in cardiac physiology and pathology: enemy or ally? *J. Physiol.* 574, 95–112. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol. 2006.109389
- El-Sherif, N., Boutjdir, M., and Turitto, G. (2017). Sudden cardiac death in ischemic heart disease: pathophysiology and risk stratification. *Card Electrophysiol. Clin.* 9, 681–691. doi: 10.1016/j.ccep.2017.08.003
- Feldman, J. L., Dittenhafer-Reed, K. E., and Denu, J. M. (2012). Sirtuin catalysis and regulation. J. Biol. Chem. 287, 42419–42427. doi: 10.1074/jbc.R112.378877
- Feng, X., and Koh, D. W. (2013). Roles of poly(ADP-ribose) glycohydrolase in DNA damage and apoptosis. *Int. Rev. Cell. Mol. Biol.* 304, 227–281. doi: 10. 1016/B978-0-12-407696-9.00005-1
- Forstermann, U., and Sessa, W. C. (2012). Nitric oxide synthases: regulation and function. Eur. Heart J. 33, 829–837. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehr304
- Frescas, D., Valenti, L., and Accili, D. (2005). Nuclear trapping of the forkhead transcription factor FoxO1 via Sirt-dependent deacetylation promotes expression of glucogenetic genes. J. Biol. Chem. 280, 20589–20595. doi: 10.1074/ jbc.M412357200
- Galione, A. (2019). NAADP receptors. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol. 11:a004036. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a035071
- Garten, A., Petzold, S., Barnikol-Oettler, A., Korner, A., Thasler, W. E., Kratzsch, J., et al. (2010). Nicotinamide phosphoribosyltransferase (NAMPT/PBEF/visfatin) is constitutively released from human hepatocytes. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 391, 376–381. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2009. 11.066
- Gerhart-Hines, Z., Dominy, J. E. Jr., Blattler, S. M., Jedrychowski, M. P., Banks, A. S., Lim, J. H., et al. (2011). The cAMP/PKA pathway rapidly activates SIRT1 to promote fatty acid oxidation independently of changes in NAD(+). *Mol. Cell.* 44, 851–863. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2011.12.005
- Graeff, R., Liu, Q., Kriksunov, I. A., Kotaka, M., Oppenheimer, N., Hao, Q., et al. (2009). Mechanism of cyclizing NAD to cyclic ADP-ribose by ADP-ribosyl cyclase and CD38. J. Biol. Chem. 284, 27629–27636. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109. 030965
- Grant, A. O. (2009). Cardiac ion channels. Circ. Arrhythm Electrophysiol. 2, 185–194. doi: 10.1161/CIRCEP.108.789081
- Grant, R., Berg, J., Mestayer, R., Braidy, N., Bennett, J., Broom, S., et al. (2019). A pilot study investigating changes in the human plasma and urine NAD+ metabolome during a 6 hour intravenous infusion of NAD. Front. Aging Neurosci. 11:257. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2019.00257
- Grolla, A. A., Travelli, C., Genazzani, A. A., and Sethi, J. K. (2016). Extracellular nicotinamide phosphoribosyltransferase, a new cancer metabokine. Br. J. Pharmacol. 173, 2182–2194. doi: 10.1111/bph.13505
- Grozio, A., Mills, K. F., Yoshino, J., Bruzzone, S., Sociali, G., Tokizane, K., et al. (2019). Slc12a8 is a nicotinamide mononucleotide transporter. *Nat. Metab.* 1, 47–57. doi: 10.1038/s42255-018-0009-4
- Grozio, A., Sociali, G., Sturla, L., Caffa, I., Soncini, D., Salis, A., et al. (2013). CD73 protein as a source of extracellular precursors for sustained NAD+ biosynthesis

in FK866-treated tumor cells. J. Biol. Chem. 288, 25938–25949. doi: 10.1074/ jbc.M113.470435

- Grupp, I. L., Jackson, T. M., Hake, P., Grupp, G., and Szabo, C. (1999). Protection against hypoxia-reoxygenation in the absence of poly (ADP-ribose) synthetase in isolated working hearts. *J. Mol. Cell Cardiol.* 31, 297–303. doi: 10.1006/jmcc. 1998.0864
- Grynberg, A., and Demaison, L. (1996). Fatty acid oxidation in the heart. J. Cardiovasc. Pharmacol. 28(Suppl. 1), S11–S17. doi: 10.1097/00005344-199600003-00003
- Guan, X. H., Hong, X., Zhao, N., Liu, X. H., Xiao, Y. F., Chen, T. T., et al. (2017). CD38 promotes angiotensin II-induced cardiac hypertrophy. J. Cell Mol. Med. 21, 1492–1502. doi: 10.1111/jcmm.13076
- Guan, X. H., Liu, X. H., Hong, X., Zhao, N., Xiao, Y. F., Wang, L. F., et al. (2016). CD38 deficiency protects the heart from ischemia/reperfusion injury through activating SIRT1/FOXOs-mediated antioxidative stress pathway. Oxid. Med. Cell. Longev. 2016:7410257. doi: 10.1155/2016/7410257
- Guyton, J. R., Brown, B. G., Fazio, S., Polis, A., Tomassini, J. E., and Tershakovec, A. M. (2008). Lipid-altering efficacy and safety of ezetimibe/simvastatin coadministered with extended-release niacin in patients with type IIa or type IIb hyperlipidemia. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 51, 1564–1572. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2008.03. 003
- Halmosi, R., Deres, L., Gal, R., Eros, K., Sumegi, B., and Toth, K. (2016). PARP inhibition and postinfarction myocardial remodeling. *Int. J. Cardiol.* 217(Suppl.), S52–S59. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2016.06.223
- Han, D., Tan, H., Sun, C., and Li, G. (2018). Dysfunctional Nav1.5 channels due to SCN5A mutations. *Exp. Biol. Med.* 243, 852–863. doi: 10.1177/ 1535370218777972
- Hara, N., Osago, H., Hiyoshi, M., Kobayashi-Miura, M., and Tsuchiya, M. (2019). Quantitative analysis of the effects of nicotinamide phosphoribosyltransferase induction on the rates of NAD+ synthesis and breakdown in mammalian cells using stable isotope-labeling combined with mass spectrometry. *PLoS One* 14:e0214000. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0214000
- Hariharan, N., Maejima, Y., Nakae, J., Paik, J., Depinho, R. A., and Sadoshima, J. (2010). Deacetylation of FoxO by Sirt1 plays an essential role in mediating starvation-induced autophagy in cardiac myocytes. *Circ. Res.* 107, 1470–1482. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.110.227371
- Hausenloy, D. J., and Yellon, D. M. (2004). New directions for protecting the heart against ischaemia-reperfusion injury: targeting the reperfusion injury salvage kinase (RISK)-pathway. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 61, 448–460. doi: 10.1016/j.cardiores. 2003.09.024
- Hebert, A. S., Dittenhafer-Reed, K. E., Yu, W., Bailey, D. J., Selen, E. S., Boersma, M. D., et al. (2013). Calorie restriction and SIRT3 trigger global reprogramming of the mitochondrial protein acetylome. *Mol. Cell.* 49, 186–199. doi: 10.1016/j. molcel.2012.10.024
- Henning, R. J., Bourgeois, M., and Harbison, R. D. (2018). Poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase (PARP) and PARP inhibitors: mechanisms of action and role in cardiovascular disorders. *Cardiovasc. Toxicol.* 18, 493–506. doi: 10.1007/ s12012-018-9462-2
- Hershberger, K. A., Martin, A. S., and Hirschey, M. D. (2017). Role of NAD(+) and mitochondrial sirtuins in cardiac and renal diseases. *Nat. Rev. Nephrol.* 13, 213–225. doi: 10.1038/nrneph.2017.5
- Hirschey, M. D., Shimazu, T., Jing, E., Grueter, C. A., Collins, A. M., Aouizerat, B., et al. (2011). SIRT3 deficiency and mitochondrial protein hyperacetylation accelerate the development of the metabolic syndrome. *Mol. Cell.* 44, 177–190. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2011.07.019
- Hirschey, M. D., and Zhao, Y. (2015). Metabolic regulation by lysine malonylation, succinylation, and glutarylation. *Mol. Cell. Proteomics* 14, 2308–2315. doi: 10.1074/mcp.R114.046664
- Hogan, K. A., Chini, C. C. S., and Chini, E. N. (2019). The multi-faceted ectoenzyme CD38: roles in immunomodulation, cancer, aging, and metabolic diseases. *Front. Immunol.* 10:1187. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01187
- Horton, J. L., Martin, O. J., Lai, L., Riley, N. M., Richards, A. L., Vega, R. B., et al. (2016). Mitochondrial protein hyperacetylation in the failing heart. *JCI Insight* 2:e84897. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.84897
- Hosseini, L., Vafaee, M. S., and Badalzadeh, R. (2019a). Melatonin and nicotinamide mononucleotide attenuate myocardial ischemia/reperfusion injury via modulation of mitochondrial function and hemodynamic parameters

in aged rats. J. Cardiovasc. Pharmacol. Ther. 25, 240-250. doi: 10.1177/1074248419882002

- Hosseini, L., Vafaee, M. S., Mahmoudi, J., and Badalzadeh, R. (2019b). Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide emerges as a therapeutic target in aging and ischemic conditions. *Biogerontology* 20, 381–395. doi: 10.1007/s10522-019-09805-6
- Houtkooper, R. H., Canto, C., Wanders, R. J., and Auwerx, J. (2010). The secret life of NAD+: an old metabolite controlling new metabolic signaling pathways. *Endocr. Rev.* 31, 194–223. doi: 10.1210/er.2009-0026
- Howard, M., Grimaldi, J. C., Bazan, J. F., Lund, F. E., Santos-Argumedo, L., Parkhouse, R. M., et al. (1993). Formation and hydrolysis of cyclic ADP-ribose catalyzed by lymphocyte antigen CD38. *Science* 262, 1056–1059. doi: 10.1126/ science.8235624
- Hsu, C. P., Oka, S., Shao, D., Hariharan, N., and Sadoshima, J. (2009). Nicotinamide phosphoribosyltransferase regulates cell survival through NAD+ synthesis in cardiac myocytes. *Circ. Res.* 105, 481–491. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.109. 203703
- Hsu, C. P., Yamamoto, T., Oka, S., and Sadoshima, J. (2014). The function of nicotinamide phosphoribosyltransferase in the heart. *DNA Repair* 23, 64–68. doi: 10.1016/j.dnarep.2014.08.005
- Hsu, C. P., Zhai, P., Yamamoto, T., Maejima, Y., Matsushima, S., Hariharan, N., et al. (2010). Silent information regulator 1 protects the heart from ischemia/reperfusion. *Circulation* 122, 2170–2182. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.110.958033
- Ianni, A., Yuan, X., Bober, E., and Braun, T. (2018). Sirtuins in the cardiovascular system: potential targets in pediatric cardiology. *Pediatr. Cardiol.* 39, 983–992. doi: 10.1007/s00246-018-1848-1
- Ikeda, M., Tsuji, H., Nakamura, S., Ichiyama, A., Nishizuka, Y., and Hayaishi, O. (1965). Studies on the biosynthesis of nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide. Ii.
 A role of picolinic carboxylase in the biosynthesis of nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide from tryptophan in mammals. J. Biol. Chem. 240, 1395–1401.
- Imai, S., Armstrong, C. M., Kaeberlein, M., and Guarente, L. (2000). Transcriptional silencing and longevity protein Sir2 is an NAD-dependent histone deacetylase. *Nature* 403, 795–800. doi: 10.1038/35001622
- Imai, S. I. (2016). The NAD World 2.0: the importance of the inter-tissue communication mediated by NAMPT/NAD(+)/SIRT1 in mammalian aging and longevity control. NPJ Syst. Biol. Appl. 2:16018. doi: 10.1038/npjsba.2016. 18
- Ismailov, I., and Benos, D. J. (1995). Effects of phosphorylation on ion channel function. *Kidney Int.* 48, 1167–1179. doi: 10.1038/ki.1995.400
- Jin, L., Galonek, H., Israelian, K., Choy, W., Morrison, M., Xia, Y., et al. (2009). Biochemical characterization, localization, and tissue distribution of the longer form of mouse SIRT3. *Protein Sci.* 18, 514–525. doi: 10.1002/pro.50
- Kaeberlein, M., Mcvey, M., and Guarente, L. (1999). The SIR2/3/4 complex and SIR2 alone promote longevity in Saccharomyces cerevisiae by two different mechanisms. *Genes Dev.* 13, 2570–2580. doi: 10.1101/gad.13.19.2570
- Kalogeris, T., Baines, C. P., Krenz, M., and Korthuis, R. J. (2016). Ischemia/Reperfusion. Compr. Physiol. 7, 113–170. doi: 10.1002/cphy.c160006
- Kaludercic, N., Maiuri, M. C., Kaushik, S., Fernandez, A. F., De Bruijn, J., Castoldi, F., et al. (2020). Comprehensive autophagy evaluation in cardiac disease models. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 116, 483–504. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvz233
- Karamanlidis, G., Lee, C. F., Garcia-Menendez, L., Kolwicz, S. C. Jr., Suthammarak, W., Gong, G., et al. (2013). Mitochondrial complex I deficiency increases protein acetylation and accelerates heart failure. *Cell. Metab.* 18, 239–250. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2013.07.002
- Katsyuba, E., Romani, M., Hofer, D., and Auwerx, J. (2020). NAD+ homeostasis in health and disease. *Nat. Metab.* 2, 9–31. doi: 10.1038/s42255-019-0161-5
- Kawashima, T., Inuzuka, Y., Okuda, J., Kato, T., Niizuma, S., Tamaki, Y., et al. (2011). Constitutive SIRT1 overexpression impairs mitochondria and reduces cardiac function in mice. *J. Mol. Cell Cardiol.* 51, 1026–1036. doi: 10.1016/j. yjmcc.2011.09.013
- Kilfoil, P. J., Tipparaju, S. M., Barski, O. A., and Bhatnagar, A. (2013). Regulation of ion channels by pyridine nucleotides. *Circ. Res.* 112, 721–741. doi: 10.1161/ CIRCRESAHA.111.247940
- Kim, H., Jacobson, E. L., and Jacobson, M. K. (1993). Synthesis and degradation of cyclic ADP-ribose by NAD glycohydrolases. *Science* 261, 1330–1333. doi: 10.1126/science.8395705

- Kim, J., Kundu, M., Viollet, B., and Guan, K. L. (2011). AMPK and mTOR regulate autophagy through direct phosphorylation of Ulk1. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 13, 132–141. doi: 10.1038/ncb2152
- Kover, K., Tong, P. Y., Watkins, D., Clements, M., Stehno-Bittel, L., Novikova, L., et al. (2013). Expression and regulation of nampt in human islets. *PLoS One* 8:e58767. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0058767
- Kugel, S., Feldman, J. L., Klein, M. A., Silberman, D. M., Sebastian, C., Mermel, C., et al. (2015). Identification of and molecular basis for SIRT6 loss-of-function point mutations in cancer. *Cell. Rep.* 13, 479–488. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2015. 09.022
- Kumar, S., and Lombard, D. B. (2018). Functions of the sirtuin deacylase SIRT5 in normal physiology and pathobiology. *Crit. Rev. Biochem. Mol. Biol.* 53, 311–334. doi: 10.1080/10409238.2018.1458071
- Kupis, W., Palyga, J., Tomal, E., and Niewiadomska, E. (2016). The role of sirtuins in cellular homeostasis. J. Physiol. Biochem. 72, 371–380. doi: 10.1007/s13105-016-0492-6
- Lamia, K. A., Sachdeva, U. M., Ditacchio, L., Williams, E. C., Alvarez, J. G., Egan, D. F., et al. (2009). AMPK regulates the circadian clock by cryptochrome phosphorylation and degradation. *Science* 326, 437–440. doi: 10.1126/science. 1172156
- Landray, M. J., Haynes, R., Hopewell, J. C., Parish, S., Aung, T., Tomson, J., et al. (2014). Effects of extended-release niacin with laropiprant in high-risk patients. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 371, 203–212. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1300955
- Landry, J., Sutton, A., Tafrov, S. T., Heller, R. C., Stebbins, J., Pillus, L., et al. (2000). The silencing protein SIR2 and its homologs are NAD-dependent protein deacetylases. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 97, 5807–5811. doi: 10.1073/pnas. 110148297
- Langelier, M. F., Eisemann, T., Riccio, A. A., and Pascal, J. M. (2018). PARP family enzymes: regulation and catalysis of the poly(ADP-ribose) posttranslational modification. *Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol.* 53, 187–198. doi: 10.1016/j.sbi.2018.11. 002
- Laurent, G., German, N. J., Saha, A. K., De Boer, V. C., Davies, M., Koves, T. R., et al. (2013). SIRT4 coordinates the balance between lipid synthesis and catabolism by repressing malonyl CoA decarboxylase. *Mol. Cell.* 50, 686–698. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2013.05.012
- Lee, C. F., Chavez, J. D., Garcia-Menendez, L., Choi, Y., Roe, N. D., Chiao, Y. A., et al. (2016). Normalization of NAD+ redox balance as a therapy for heart failure. *Circulation* 134, 883–894. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.116. 022495
- Lee, C. F., and Tian, R. (2015). Mitochondrion as a target for heart failure therapyrole of protein lysine acetylation. *Circ. J.* 79, 1863–1870. doi: 10.1253/circj.CJ-15-0742
- Lee, H. C., and Aarhus, R. (1995). A derivative of NADP mobilizes calcium stores insensitive to inositol trisphosphate and cyclic ADP-ribose. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 2152–2157. doi: 10.1074/jbc.270.5.2152
- Lee, H. C., Walseth, T. F., Bratt, G. T., Hayes, R. N., and Clapper, D. L. (1989). Structural determination of a cyclic metabolite of NAD+ with intracellular Ca2+-mobilizing activity. J. Biol. Chem. 264, 1608–1615.
- Li, L., Li, H., Tien, C. L., Jain, M. K., and Zhang, L. (2020). Kruppel-Like Factor 15 Regulates the Circadian Susceptibility to Ischemia Reperfusion Injury in the Heart. *Circulation* 141, 1427–1429. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.119. 041664
- Liang, X., Zhang, Q., Wang, X., Yuan, M., Zhang, Y., Xu, Z., et al. (2018). Reactive oxygen species mediated oxidative stress links diabetes and atrial fibrillation. *Mol. Med. Rep.* 17, 4933–4940. doi: 10.3892/mmr.2018.8472
- Lim, S. Y., Davidson, S. M., Paramanathan, A. J., Smith, C. C., Yellon, D. M., and Hausenloy, D. J. (2008). The novel adipocytokine visfatin exerts direct cardioprotective effects. *J. Cell Mol. Med.* 12, 1395–1403. doi: 10.1111/j.1582-4934.2008.00332.x
- Lin, W. K., Bolton, E. L., Cortopassi, W. A., Wang, Y., O'brien, F., Maciejewska, M., et al. (2017). Synthesis of the Ca(2+)-mobilizing messengers NAADP and cADPR by intracellular CD38 enzyme in the mouse heart: role in betaadrenoceptor signaling. *J. Biol. Chem.* 292, 13243–13257. doi: 10.1074/jbc. M117.789347
- Liu, L., Su, X., Quinn, W. J. III, Hui, S., Krukenberg, K., Frederick, D. W., et al. (2018). Quantitative analysis of NAD synthesis-breakdown fluxes. *Cell. Metab.* 27, 1067.e5–1080.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2018.03.018

- Liu, M., Gu, L., Sulkin, M. S., Liu, H., Jeong, E. M., Greener, I., et al. (2013). Mitochondrial dysfunction causing cardiac sodium channel downregulation in cardiomyopathy. *J. Mol. Cell Cardiol.* 54, 25–34. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2012.10. 011
- Liu, Z., Hilbelink, D. R., Crockett, W. B., and Gerdes, A. M. (1991). Regional changes in hemodynamics and cardiac myocyte size in rats with aortocaval fistulas. 1. Developing and established hypertrophy. *Circ. Res.* 69, 52–58. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.69.1.52
- Lombard, D. B., Alt, F. W., Cheng, H. L., Bunkenborg, J., Streeper, R. S., Mostoslavsky, R., et al. (2007). Mammalian Sir2 homolog SIRT3 regulates global mitochondrial lysine acetylation. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 27, 8807–8814. doi: 10.1128/ MCB.01636-07
- Lown, B. (1979). Sudden cardiac death: the major challenge confronting contemporary cardiology. Am. J. Cardiol. 43, 313–328. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9149(79)80021-1
- Lu, T. M., Tsai, J. Y., Chen, Y. C., Huang, C. Y., Hsu, H. L., Weng, C. F., et al. (2014). Downregulation of Sirt1 as aging change in advanced heart failure. J. Biomed. Sci. 21:57. doi: 10.1186/1423-0127-21-57
- Lu, Y. B., Chen, C. X., Huang, J., Tian, Y. X., Xie, X., Yang, P., et al. (2019). Nicotinamide phosphoribosyltransferase secreted from microglia via exosome during ischemic injury. J. Neurochem. 150, 723–737. doi: 10.1111/jnc.14811
- Luo, Y. X., Tang, X., An, X. Z., Xie, X. M., Chen, X. F., Zhao, X., et al. (2017). SIRT4 accelerates Ang II-induced pathological cardiac hypertrophy by inhibiting manganese superoxide dismutase activity. *Eur. Heart J.* 38, 1389–1398. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehw138
- Madsen, A. S., Andersen, C., Daoud, M., Anderson, K. A., Laursen, J. S., Chakladar, S., et al. (2016). Investigating the sensitivity of NAD+-dependent sirtuin deacylation activities to NADH. J. Biol. Chem. 291, 7128–7141. doi: 10.1074/ jbc.M115.668699
- Martens, C. R., Denman, B. A., Mazzo, M. R., Armstrong, M. L., Reisdorph, N., Mcqueen, M. B., et al. (2018). Chronic nicotinamide riboside supplementation is well-tolerated and elevates NAD(+) in healthy middle-aged and older adults. *Nat. Commun.* 9:1286. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-03421-7
- Martin, A. S., Abraham, D. M., Hershberger, K. A., Bhatt, D. P., Mao, L., Cui, H., et al. (2017). Nicotinamide mononucleotide requires SIRT3 to improve cardiac function and bioenergetics in a Friedreich's ataxia cardiomyopathy model. *JCI Insight* 2:e93885. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.93885
- Matasic, D. S., Brenner, C., and London, B. (2018). Emerging potential benefits of modulating NAD(+) metabolism in cardiovascular disease. Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol. 314, H839–H852. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00409.2017
- Matasic, D. S., Yoon, J. Y., Mclendon, J. M., Mehdi, H., Schmidt, M. S., Greiner, A. M., et al. (2020). Modulation of the cardiac sodium channel NaV1.5 peak and late currents by NAD(+) precursors. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 141, 70–81. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2020.01.013
- Mendoza-Alvarez, H., and Alvarez-Gonzalez, R. (1993). Poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase is a catalytic dimer and the automodification reaction is intermolecular. J. Biol. Chem. 268, 22575–22580.
- Meng, R., Pei, Z., Zhang, A., Zhou, Y., Cai, X., Chen, B., et al. (2011). AMPK activation enhances PPARalpha activity to inhibit cardiac hypertrophy via ERK1/2 MAPK signaling pathway. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 511, 1–7. doi: 10.1016/j.abb.2011.04.010
- Montecucco, F., Bauer, I., Braunersreuther, V., Bruzzone, S., Akhmedov, A., Luscher, T. F., et al. (2013). Inhibition of nicotinamide phosphoribosyltransferase reduces neutrophil-mediated injury in myocardial infarction. *Antioxid. Redox. Signal.* 18, 630–641. doi: 10.1089/ars.2011.4487
- Mori, V., Amici, A., Mazzola, F., Di Stefano, M., Conforti, L., Magni, G., et al. (2014). Metabolic profiling of alternative NAD biosynthetic routes in mouse tissues. *PLoS One* 9:e113939. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0113939
- Moss, A. J. (1980). Prediction and prevention of sudden cardiac death. Annu. Rev. Med. 31, 1–14. doi: 10.1146/annurev.me.31.020180.000245
- Nakahata, Y., Sahar, S., Astarita, G., Kaluzova, M., and Sassone-Corsi, P. (2009). Circadian control of the NAD+ salvage pathway by CLOCK-SIRT1. *Science* 324, 654–657. doi: 10.1126/science.1170803
- Nakamura, M., and Sadoshima, J. (2018). Mechanisms of physiological and pathological cardiac hypertrophy. *Nat. Rev. Cardiol.* 15, 387–407. doi: 10.1038/ s41569-018-0007-y
- Nebel, M., Schwoerer, A. P., Warszta, D., Siebrands, C. C., Limbrock, A. C., Swarbrick, J. M., et al. (2013). Nicotinic acid adenine dinucleotide phosphate

(NAADP)-mediated calcium signaling and arrhythmias in the heart evoked by beta-adrenergic stimulation. *J. Biol. Chem.* 288, 16017–16030. doi: 10.1074/jbc. M112.441246

- Nichols, C. G. (2016). Adenosine triphosphate-sensitive potassium currents in heart disease and cardioprotection. *Card Electrophysiol. Clin.* 8, 323–335. doi: 10.1016/j.ccep.2016.01.005
- Nielsen, T. T., Stottrup, N. B., Lofgren, B., and Botker, H. E. (2011). Metabolic fingerprint of ischaemic cardioprotection: importance of the malate-aspartate shuttle. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 91, 382–391. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvr051
- Nikiforov, A., Kulikova, V., and Ziegler, M. (2015). The human NAD metabolome: functions, metabolism and compartmentalization. *Crit. Rev. Biochem. Mol. Biol.* 50, 284–297. doi: 10.3109/10409238.2015.1028612
- Noma, T., Lemaire, A., Naga Prasad, S. V., Barki-Harrington, L., Tilley, D. G., Chen, J., et al. (2007). Beta-arrestin-mediated beta1-adrenergic receptor transactivation of the EGFR confers cardioprotection. *J. Clin. Invest.* 117, 2445–2458. doi: 10.1172/JCI31901
- North, B. J., Rosenberg, M. A., Jeganathan, K. B., Hafner, A. V., Michan, S., Dai, J., et al. (2014). SIRT2 induces the checkpoint kinase BubR1 to increase lifespan. *EMBO J.* 33, 1438–1453. doi: 10.15252/embj.201386907
- Ogunbayo, O. A., Zhu, Y., Rossi, D., Sorrentino, V., Ma, J., Zhu, M. X., et al. (2011). Cyclic adenosine diphosphate ribose activates ryanodine receptors, whereas NAADP activates two-pore domain channels. *J. Biol. Chem.* 286, 9136–9140. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M110.202002
- Oudit, G. Y., Crackower, M. A., Eriksson, U., Sarao, R., Kozieradzki, I., Sasaki, T., et al. (2003). Phosphoinositide 3-kinase gamma-deficient mice are protected from isoproterenol-induced heart failure. *Circulation* 108, 2147–2152. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000091403.62293.2B
- Pacher, P., and Szabo, C. (2007). Role of poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase 1 (PARP-1) in cardiovascular diseases: the therapeutic potential of PARP inhibitors. *Cardiovasc. Drug. Rev.* 25, 235–260. doi: 10.1111/j.1527-3466.2007.00018.x
- Pacholec, M., Bleasdale, J. E., Chrunyk, B., Cunningham, D., Flynn, D., Garofalo, R. S., et al. (2010). SRT1720, SRT2183, SRT1460, and resveratrol are not direct activators of SIRT1. *J. Biol. Chem.* 285, 8340–8351. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109. 088682
- Parsons, W. B. Jr., Achor, R. W., Berge, K. G., Mckenzie, B. F., and Barker, N. W. (1956). Changes in concentration of blood lipids following prolonged administration of large doses of nicotinic acid to persons with hypercholesterolemia: preliminary observations. *Proc. Staff Meet. Mayo Clin.* 31, 377–390.
- Peliciari-Garcia, R. A., Goel, M., Aristorenas, J. A., Shah, K., He, L., Yang, Q., et al. (2016). Altered myocardial metabolic adaptation to increased fatty acid availability in cardiomyocyte-specific CLOCK mutant mice. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1861, 1579–1595. doi: 10.1016/j.bbalip.2015.12.012
- Piccini Sr, J. P., Allen, L. A., Kudenchuk, P. J., Page, R. L., Patel, M. R., and Turakhia, M. P. J. C. (2016). Wearable cardioverter-defibrillator therapy for the prevention of sudden cardiac death: a science advisory from the american heart association. *Circulation* 133, 1715–1727. doi: 10.1161/CIR.00000000000394
- Pieper, A. A., Walles, T., Wei, G., Clements, E. E., Verma, A., Snyder, S. H., et al. (2000). Myocardial postischemic injury is reduced by polyADPripose polymerase-1 gene disruption. *Mol. Med.* 6, 271–282. doi: 10.1007/BF03401936
- Pillai, J. B., Isbatan, A., Imai, S., and Gupta, M. P. (2005a). Poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase-1-dependent cardiac myocyte cell death during heart failure is mediated by NAD+ depletion and reduced Sir2alpha deacetylase activity. *J. Biol. Chem.* 280, 43121–43130. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M506162200
- Pillai, J. B., Russell, H. M., Raman, J., Jeevanandam, V., and Gupta, M. P. (2005b). Increased expression of poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase-1 contributes to caspaseindependent myocyte cell death during heart failure. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol.* 288, H486–H496. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00437.2004
- Pillai, V. B., Bindu, S., Sharp, W., Fang, Y. H., Kim, G., Gupta, M., et al. (2016). Sirt3 protects mitochondrial DNA damage and blocks the development of doxorubicin-induced cardiomyopathy in mice. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol.* 310, H962–H972. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00832.2015
- Pillai, V. B., Sundaresan, N. R., Kim, G., Gupta, M., Rajamohan, S. B., Pillai, J. B., et al. (2010). Exogenous NAD blocks cardiac hypertrophic response via activation of the SIRT3-LKB1-AMP-activated kinase pathway. *J. Biol. Chem.* 285, 3133–3144. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.077271
- Pillai, V. B., Sundaresan, N. R., Kim, G., Samant, S., Moreno-Vinasco, L., Garcia, J. G., et al. (2013). Nampt secreted from cardiomyocytes promotes development

of cardiac hypertrophy and adverse ventricular remodeling. Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol. 304, H415–H426. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00468.2012

- Pinilla-Vera, M., Hahn, V. S., and Kass, D. A. (2019). Leveraging signaling pathways to treat heart failure with reduced ejection fraction. *Circ. Res.* 124, 1618–1632. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.119.313682
- Pitt, S. J., Funnell, T. M., Sitsapesan, M., Venturi, E., Rietdorf, K., Ruas, M., et al. (2010). TPC2 is a novel NAADP-sensitive Ca2+ release channel, operating as a dual sensor of luminal pH and Ca2+. J. Biol. Chem. 285, 35039–35046. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M110.156927
- Porter, G. A., Urciuoli, W. R., Brookes, P. S., and Nadtochiy, S. M. (2014). SIRT3 deficiency exacerbates ischemia-reperfusion injury: implication for aged hearts. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol.* 306, H1602–H1609. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart. 00027.2014
- Preiss, J., and Handler, P. (1958a). Biosynthesis of diphosphopyridine nucleotide. I. Identification of intermediates. *J. Biol. Chem.* 233, 488–492.
- Preiss, J., and Handler, P. (1958b). Biosynthesis of diphosphopyridine nucleotide. II. Enzymatic aspects. J. Biol. Chem. 233, 493–500.
- Puccio, H., Simon, D., Cossee, M., Criqui-Filipe, P., Tiziano, F., Melki, J., et al. (2001). Mouse models for Friedreich ataxia exhibit cardiomyopathy, sensory nerve defect and Fe-S enzyme deficiency followed by intramitochondrial iron deposits. *Nat. Genet.* 27, 181–186. doi: 10.1038/84818
- Quinlan, J. G., Hahn, H. S., Wong, B. L., Lorenz, J. N., Wenisch, A. S., and Levin, L. S. (2004). Evolution of the mdx mouse cardiomyopathy: physiological and morphological findings. *Neuromuscul. Disord.* 14, 491–496. doi: 10.1016/j.nmd. 2004.04.007
- Rajman, L., Chwalek, K., and Sinclair, D. A. (2018). Therapeutic potential of NADboosting molecules: the in vivo evidence. *Cell. Metab.* 27, 529–547. doi: 10. 1016/j.cmet.2018.02.011
- Rakovic, S., Cui, Y., Iino, S., Galione, A., Ashamu, G. A., Potter, B. V., et al. (1999). An antagonist of cADP-ribose inhibits arrhythmogenic oscillations of intracellular Ca2+ in heart cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* 274, 17820–17827. doi: 10.1074/ jbc.274.25.17820
- Rakovic, S., Galione, A., Ashamu, G. A., Potter, B. V., and Terrar, D. A. (1996). A specific cyclic ADP-ribose antagonist inhibits cardiac excitationcontraction coupling. *Curr. Biol.* 6, 989–996. doi: 10.1016/S0960-9822(02) 00643-7
- Ralto, K. M., Rhee, E. P., and Parikh, S. M. (2020). NAD(+) homeostasis in renal health and disease. *Nat. Rev. Nephrol.* 16, 99–111. doi: 10.1038/s41581-019-0216-6
- Ramsey, K. M., Yoshino, J., Brace, C. S., Abrassart, D., Kobayashi, Y., Marcheva, B., et al. (2009). Circadian clock feedback cycle through NAMPT-mediated NAD+ biosynthesis. *Science* 324, 651–654. doi: 10.1126/science.1171641
- Ratajczak, J., Joffraud, M., Trammell, S. A., Ras, R., Canela, N., Boutant, M., et al. (2016). NRK1 controls nicotinamide mononucleotide and nicotinamide riboside metabolism in mammalian cells. *Nat. Commun.* 7:13103. doi: 10.1038/ ncomms13103
- Rauh, D., Fischer, F., Gertz, M., Lakshminarasimhan, M., Bergbrede, T., Aladini, F., et al. (2013). An acetylome peptide microarray reveals specificities and deacetylation substrates for all human sirtuin isoforms. *Nat. Commun.* 4:2327. doi: 10.1038/ncomms3327
- Revollo, J. R., Grimm, A. A., and Imai, S. (2004). The NAD biosynthesis pathway mediated by nicotinamide phosphoribosyltransferase regulates Sir2 activity in mammalian cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* 279, 50754–50763. doi: 10.1074/jbc. M408388200
- Revollo, J. R., Korner, A., Mills, K. F., Satoh, A., Wang, T., Garten, A., et al. (2007). Nampt/PBEF/Visfatin regulates insulin secretion in beta cells as a systemic NAD biosynthetic enzyme. *Cell. Metab.* 6, 363–375. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2007. 09.003
- Reyes, L. A., Boslett, J., Varadharaj, S., De Pascali, F., Hemann, C., Druhan, L. J., et al. (2015). Depletion of NADP(H) due to CD38 activation triggers endothelial dysfunction in the postischemic heart. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 112, 11648–11653. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1505556112
- Riehle, C., and Bauersachs, J. (2019). Small animal models of heart failure. Cardiovasc. Res. 115, 1838–1849. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvz161
- Rockman, H. A., Wachhorst, S. P., Mao, L., and Ross, J. Jr. (1994). ANG II receptor blockade prevents ventricular hypertrophy and ANF gene expression with pressure overload in mice. *Am. J. Physiol.* 266, H2468–H2475. doi: 10. 1152/ajpheart.1994.266.6.H2468

- Roessler, C., Tuting, C., Meleshin, M., Steegborn, C., and Schutkowski, M. (2015). A novel continuous assay for the deacylase sirtuin 5 and other deacetylases. J. Med. Chem. 58, 7217–7223. doi: 10.1021/acs.jmedchem.5b00293
- Rosca, M. G., and Hoppel, C. L. (2013). Mitochondrial dysfunction in heart failure. *Heart Fail. Rev.* 18, 607–622. doi: 10.1007/s10741-012-9340-0
- Rossello, X., and Yellon, D. M. (2018). The RISK pathway and beyond. *Basic Res. Cardiol.* 113:2. doi: 10.1007/s00395-017-0662-x
- Ryu, D., Jo, Y. S., Lo Sasso, G., Stein, S., Zhang, H., Perino, A., et al. (2014). A SIRT7dependent acetylation switch of GABPbeta1 controls mitochondrial function. *Cell. Metab.* 20, 856–869. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2014.08.001
- Ryu, D., Zhang, H., Ropelle, E. R., Sorrentino, V., Mazala, D. A., Mouchiroud, L., et al. (2016). NAD+ repletion improves muscle function in muscular dystrophy and counters global PARylation. *Sci. Transl. Med.* 8:361ra139. doi: 10.1126/ scitranslmed.aaf5504
- Sadhukhan, S., Liu, X., Ryu, D., Nelson, O. D., Stupinski, J. A., Li, Z., et al. (2016). Metabolomics-assisted proteomics identifies succinylation and SIRT5 as important regulators of cardiac function. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 113, 4320–4325. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1519858113
- Sang, Z. C., Wang, F., Zhou, Q., Li, Y. H., Li, Y. G., Wang, H. P., et al. (2009). Combined use of extended-release niacin and atorvastatin: safety and effects on lipid modification. *Chin. Med. J.* 122, 1615–1620.
- Satrustegui, J., and Bak, L. K. (2015). Fluctuations in cytosolic calcium regulate the neuronal malate-aspartate NADH shuttle: implications for neuronal energy metabolism. *Neurochem. Res.* 40, 2425–2430. doi: 10.1007/s11064-015-1652-8
- Sauve, A. A. (2010). Sirtuin chemical mechanisms. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1804, 1591–1603. doi: 10.1016/j.bbapap.2010.01.021
- Sauve, A. A., Celic, I., Avalos, J., Deng, H., Boeke, J. D., and Schramm, V. L. (2001). Chemistry of gene silencing: the mechanism of NAD+-dependent deacetylation reactions. *Biochemistry* 40, 15456–15463. doi: 10.1021/bi011858j
- Sauve, A. A., Munshi, C., Lee, H. C., and Schramm, V. L. (1998). The reaction mechanism for CD38. A single intermediate is responsible for cyclization, hydrolysis, and base-exchange chemistries. *Biochemistry* 37, 13239–13249. doi: 10.1021/bi981248s
- Schilling, E., and Hauschildt, S. (2012). Extracellular ATP induces P2X7-dependent nicotinamide phosphoribosyltransferase release in LPS-activated human monocytes. *Innate Immun.* 18, 738–744. doi: 10.1177/1753425912439614
- Sciarretta, S., Maejima, Y., Zablocki, D., and Sadoshima, J. (2018). The role of autophagy in the heart. Annu. Rev. Physiol. 80, 1–26. doi: 10.1146/annurevphysiol-021317-121427
- Shy, D., Gillet, L., and Abriel, H. (2013). Cardiac sodium channel NaV1.5 distribution in myocytes via interacting proteins: the multiple pool model. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1833, 886–894. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2012.10.026
- Smith, B. C., Hallows, W. C., and Denu, J. M. (2009). A continuous microplate assay for sirtuins and nicotinamide-producing enzymes. *Anal. Biochem.* 394, 101–109. doi: 10.1016/j.ab.2009.07.019
- Sociali, G., Grozio, A., Caffa, I., Schuster, S., Becherini, P., Damonte, P., et al. (2019). SIRT6 deacetylase activity regulates NAMPT activity and NAD(P)(H) pools in cancer cells. *FASEB J.* 33, 3704–3717. doi: 10.1096/fj.201800321R
- Song, W., and Shou, W. (2012). Cardiac sodium channel Nav1.5 mutations and cardiac arrhythmia. *Pediatr. Cardiol.* 33, 943–949. doi: 10.1007/s00246-012-0303-y
- Sporty, J., Lin, S. J., Kato, M., Ognibene, T., Stewart, B., Turteltaub, K., et al. (2009). Quantitation of NAD+ biosynthesis from the salvage pathway in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Yeast 26, 363–369. doi: 10.1002/yea.1671
- Stecker, E. C., Reinier, K., Marijon, E., Narayanan, K., Teodorescu, C., Uy-Evanado, A., et al. (2014). Public health burden of sudden cardiac death in the United States. *Circ. Arrhythm Electrophysiol.* 7, 212–217. doi: 10.1161/CIRCEP. 113.001034
- Stein, L. R., and Imai, S. (2012). The dynamic regulation of NAD metabolism in mitochondria. *Trends Endocrinol. Metab.* 23, 420–428. doi: 10.1016/j.tem.2012. 06.005
- Sukhodub, A., Du, Q., Jovanovic, S., and Jovanovic, A. (2010). Nicotinamide-rich diet protects the heart against ischaemia-reperfusion in mice: a crucial role for cardiac SUR2A. *Pharmacol. Res.* 61, 564–570. doi: 10.1016/j.phrs.2010.01.008
- Sundaresan, N. R., Gupta, M., Kim, G., Rajamohan, S. B., Isbatan, A., and Gupta, M. P. (2009). Sirt3 blocks the cardiac hypertrophic response by augmenting Foxo3a-dependent antioxidant defense mechanisms in mice. *J. Clin. Invest.* 119, 2758–2771. doi: 10.1172/JCI39162

- Sundaresan, N. R., Pillai, V. B., and Gupta, M. P. (2011). Emerging roles of SIRT1 deacetylase in regulating cardiomyocyte survival and hypertrophy. J. Mol. Cell Cardiol. 51, 614–618. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2011.01.008
- Sundaresan, N. R., Vasudevan, P., Zhong, L., Kim, G., Samant, S., Parekh, V., et al. (2012). The sirtuin SIRT6 blocks IGF-Akt signaling and development of cardiac hypertrophy by targeting c-Jun. *Nat. Med.* 18, 1643–1650. doi: 10.1038/nm. 2961
- Takasawa, S., Tohgo, A., Noguchi, N., Koguma, T., Nata, K., Sugimoto, T., et al. (1993). Synthesis and hydrolysis of cyclic ADP-ribose by human leukocyte antigen CD38 and inhibition of the hydrolysis by ATP. *J. Biol. Chem.* 268, 26052–26054.
- Tan, M., Peng, C., Anderson, K. A., Chhoy, P., Xie, Z., Dai, L., et al. (2014). Lysine glutarylation is a protein posttranslational modification regulated by SIRT5. *Cell. Metab.* 19, 605–617. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2014.03.014
- Tang, X., Chen, X. F., Wang, N. Y., Wang, X. M., Liang, S. T., Zheng, W., et al. (2017). SIRT2 acts as a cardioprotective deacetylase in pathological cardiac hypertrophy. *Circulation* 136, 2051–2067. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA. 117.028728
- Taylor, A. J., Sullenberger, L. E., Lee, H. J., Lee, J. K., and Grace, K. A. (2004). Arterial biology for the investigation of the treatment effects of reducing cholesterol (ARBITER) 2: a double-blind, placebo-controlled study of extended-release niacin on atherosclerosis progression in secondary prevention patients treated with statins. *Circulation* 110, 3512–3517. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000148955. 19792.8D
- Tong, Z., Wang, M., Wang, Y., Kim, D. D., Grenier, J. K., Cao, J., et al. (2017). SIRT7 is an RNA-activated protein lysine deacylase. ACS Chem. Biol. 12, 300–310. doi: 10.1021/acschembio.6b00954
- Trueblood, N. A., Ramasamy, R., Wang, L. F., and Schaefer, S. (2000). Niacin protects the isolated heart from ischemia-reperfusion injury. Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol. 279, H764–H771. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.2000.279.2.H764
- Tur, J., Chapalamadugu, K. C., Katnik, C., Cuevas, J., Bhatnagar, A., and Tipparaju, S. M. (2017). Kvbeta1.1 (AKR6A8) senses pyridine nucleotide changes in the mouse heart and modulates cardiac electrical activity. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart. Circ. Physiol.* 312, H571–H583. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00281.2016
- Tur, J., Chapalamadugu, K. C., Padawer, T., Badole, S. L., Kilfoil, P. J. II, Bhatnagar, A., et al. (2016). Deletion of Kvbeta1.1 subunit leads to electrical and haemodynamic changes causing cardiac hypertrophy in female murine hearts. *Exp. Physiol.* 101, 494–508. doi: 10.1113/EP085405
- Tzatsos, A., and Tsichlis, P. N. (2007). Energy depletion inhibits phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/Akt signaling and induces apoptosis via AMP-activated protein kinase-dependent phosphorylation of IRS-1 at Ser-794. *J. Biol. Chem.* 282, 18069–18082. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M610101200
- Um, J. H., Pendergast, J. S., Springer, D. A., Foretz, M., Viollet, B., Brown, A., et al. (2011). AMPK regulates circadian rhythms in a tissue- and isoform-specific manner. *PLoS One* 6:e18450. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.00 18450
- Um, J. H., Yang, S., Yamazaki, S., Kang, H., Viollet, B., Foretz, M., et al. (2007). Activation of 5'-AMP-activated kinase with diabetes drug metformin induces casein kinase Iepsilon (CKIepsilon)-dependent degradation of clock protein mPer2. J. Biol. Chem. 282, 20794–20798. doi: 10.1074/jbc.C700070200
- Valdivia, C. R., Ueda, K., Ackerman, M. J., and Makielski, J. C. (2009). GPD1L links redox state to cardiac excitability by PKC-dependent phosphorylation of the sodium channel SCN5A. Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol. 297, H1446–H1452. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00513.2009
- Veerman, C. C., Wilde, A. A., and Lodder, E. M. (2015). The cardiac sodium channel gene SCN5A and its gene product NaV1.5: role in physiology and pathophysiology. *Gene* 573, 177–187. doi: 10.1016/j.gene.2015.08.062
- Verdin, E. (2015). NAD(+) in aging, metabolism, and neurodegeneration. Science 350, 1208–1213. doi: 10.1126/science.aac4854
- Vikram, A., Lewarchik, C. M., Yoon, J. Y., Naqvi, A., Kumar, S., Morgan, G. M., et al. (2017). Sirtuin 1 regulates cardiac electrical activity by deacetylating the cardiac sodium channel. *Nat. Med.* 23, 361–367. doi: 10.1038/nm.4284
- Villines, T. C., Kim, A. S., Gore, R. S., and Taylor, A. J. (2012). Niacin: the evidence, clinical use, and future directions. *Curr. Atheroscler. Rep.* 14, 49–59. doi: 10.1007/s11883-011-0212-1
- Villines, T. C., Stanek, E. J., Devine, P. J., Turco, M., Miller, M., Weissman, N. J., et al. (2010). The ARBITER 6-HALTS trial (arterial biology for the investigation of the treatment effects of reducing cholesterol 6-HDL and

LDL treatment strategies in atherosclerosis): final results and the impact of medication adherence, dose, and treatment duration. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 55, 2721–2726. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2010.03.017

- Wagner, G. R., Pride, P. M., Babbey, C. M., and Payne, R. M. (2012). Friedreich's ataxia reveals a mechanism for coordinate regulation of oxidative metabolism via feedback inhibition of the SIRT3 deacetylase. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 21, 2688– 2697. doi: 10.1093/hmg/dds095
- Walker, M. A., and Tian, R. (2018). Raising NAD in heart failure: time to translate? *Circulation* 137, 2274–2277. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.117.032626
- Wang, L. F., Huang, C. C., Xiao, Y. F., Guan, X. H., Wang, X. N., Cao, Q., et al. (2018). CD38 deficiency protects heart from high fat diet-induced oxidative stress via activating Sirt3/FOXO3 pathway. *Cell Physiol. Biochem.* 48, 2350– 2363. doi: 10.1159/000492651
- Wang, P., Xu, T. Y., Guan, Y. F., Su, D. F., Fan, G. R., and Miao, C. Y. (2009). Perivascular adipose tissue-derived visfatin is a vascular smooth muscle cell growth factor: role of nicotinamide mononucleotide. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 81, 370– 380. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvn288
- Wang, X. X., Wang, X. L., Tong, M. M., Gan, L., Chen, H., Wu, S. S., et al. (2016). SIRT6 protects cardiomyocytes against ischemia/reperfusion injury by augmenting FoxO3alpha-dependent antioxidant defense mechanisms. *Basic Res. Cardiol.* 111:13. doi: 10.1007/s00395-016-0531-z
- Wei, W., Graeff, R., and Yue, J. (2014). Roles and mechanisms of the CD38/cyclic adenosine diphosphate ribose/Ca(2+) signaling pathway. World J. Biol. Chem. 5, 58–67. doi: 10.4331/wjbc.v5.i1.58
- Wijnen, H. (2009). Circadian rhythms. A circadian loop asSIRTs itself. Science 324, 598–599. doi: 10.1126/science.1174132
- Wilde, A. A. M., and Amin, A. S. (2018). Clinical spectrum of SCN5A mutations: long QT syndrome, brugada syndrome, and cardiomyopathy. JACC Clin. Electrophysiol. 4, 569–579. doi: 10.1016/j.jacep.2018.03.006
- Wollert, K. C., and Drexler, H. (1999). The renin-angiotensin system and experimental heart failure. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 43, 838–849. doi: 10.1016/S0008-6363(99)00145-5
- Xie, W., Santulli, G., Reiken, S. R., Yuan, Q., Osborne, B. W., Chen, B. X., et al. (2015). Mitochondrial oxidative stress promotes atrial fibrillation. *Sci. Rep.* 5:11427. doi: 10.1038/srep11427
- Xu, W., Barrientos, T., Mao, L., Rockman, H. A., Sauve, A. A., and Andrews, N. C. (2015). Lethal cardiomyopathy in mice lacking transferrin receptor in the heart. *Cell. Rep.* 13, 533–545. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2015.09.023
- Yamamoto, T., Byun, J., Zhai, P., Ikeda, Y., Oka, S., and Sadoshima, J. (2014). Nicotinamide mononucleotide, an intermediate of NAD+ synthesis, protects the heart from ischemia and reperfusion. *PLoS One* 9:e98972. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0098972
- Yamamura, S., Izumiya, Y., Araki, S., Nakamura, T., Kimura, Y., Hanatani, S., et al. (2020). Cardiomyocyte Sirt (Sirtuin) 7 ameliorates stress-induced cardiac hypertrophy by interacting with and deacetylating GATA4. *Hypertension* 75, 98–108. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.119.13357
- Yang, Z., Zingarelli, B., and Szabo, C. (2000). Effect of genetic disruption of poly (ADP-ribose) synthetase on delayed production of inflammatory mediators and delayed necrosis during myocardial ischemia-reperfusion injury. *Shock* 13, 60–66. doi: 10.1097/00024382-200013010-00011
- Yano, M., Akazawa, H., Oka, T., Yabumoto, C., Kudo-Sakamoto, Y., Kamo, T., et al. (2015). Monocyte-derived extracellular Nampt-dependent biosynthesis of NAD(+) protects the heart against pressure overload. *Sci. Rep.* 5:15857. doi: 10.1038/srep15857
- Yoon, M. J., Yoshida, M., Johnson, S., Takikawa, A., Usui, I., Tobe, K., et al. (2015). SIRT1-mediated eNAMPT secretion from adipose tissue regulates hypothalamic NAD+ and function in mice. *Cell. Metab.* 21, 706–717. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2015.04.002
- Yoshida, M., Satoh, A., Lin, J. B., Mills, K. F., Sasaki, Y., Rensing, N., et al. (2019). Extracellular vesicle-contained eNAMPT delays aging and extends lifespan in mice. *Cell. Metab.* 30, 329.e5–342.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2019. 05.015
- Yoshino, J., Baur, J. A., and Imai, S. I. (2018). NAD(+) intermediates: the biology and therapeutic potential of NMN and NR. *Cell. Metab.* 27, 513–528. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2017.11.002
- Youn, J. Y., Zhang, J., Zhang, Y., Chen, H., Liu, D., Ping, P., et al. (2013). Oxidative stress in atrial fibrillation: an emerging role of NADPH oxidase. J. Mol. Cell Cardiol. 62, 72–79. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2013.04.019

- Young, M. E., Brewer, R. A., Peliciari-Garcia, R. A., Collins, H. E., He, L., Birky, T. L., et al. (2014). Cardiomyocyte-specific BMAL1 plays critical roles in metabolism, signaling, and maintenance of contractile function of the heart. *J. Biol. Rhythms* 29, 257–276. doi: 10.1177/0748730414543141
- Yu, W., Gao, B., Li, N., Wang, J., Qiu, C., Zhang, G., et al. (2017). Sirt3 deficiency exacerbates diabetic cardiac dysfunction: role of Foxo3A-Parkinmediated mitophagy. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta Mol. Basis Dis.* 1863, 1973–1983. doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2016.10.021
- Zhai, X., Han, W., Wang, M., Guan, S., and Qu, X. (2019). Exogenous supplemental NAD+ protect myocardium against myocardial ischemic/reperfusion injury in swine model. *Am. J. Transl. Res.* 11, 6066–6074.
- Zhang, D., Hu, X., Li, J., Liu, J., Baks-Te Bulte, L., Wiersma, M., et al. (2019). DNA damage-induced PARP1 activation confers cardiomyocyte dysfunction through NAD(+) depletion in experimental atrial fibrillation. *Nat. Commun.* 10:1307. doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-09014-2
- Zhang, Y., Murugesan, P., Huang, K., and Cai, H. (2020). NADPH oxidases and oxidase crosstalk in cardiovascular diseases: novel therapeutic targets. *Nat. Rev. Cardiol.* 17, 170–194. doi: 10.1038/s41569-019-0260-8
- Zhang, Y., Wang, B., Fu, X., Guan, S., Han, W., Zhang, J., et al. (2016). Exogenous NAD(+) administration significantly protects against myocardial ischemia/reperfusion injury in rat model. *Am. J. Transl. Res.* 8, 3342–3350.
- Zhou, B., and Tian, R. (2018). Mitochondrial dysfunction in pathophysiology of heart failure. J. Clin. Invest. 128, 3716–3726. doi: 10.1172/JCI120849
- Zhou, H. Z., Swanson, R. A., Simonis, U., Ma, X., Cecchini, G., and Gray, M. O. (2006). Poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase-1 hyperactivation and impairment of mitochondrial respiratory chain complex I function in reperfused mouse hearts. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol.* 291, H714–H723. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart. 00823.2005
- Zhu, H., Tannous, P., Johnstone, J. L., Kong, Y., Shelton, J. M., Richardson, J. A., et al. (2007). Cardiac autophagy is a maladaptive response to hemodynamic stress. J. Clin. Invest. 117, 1782–1793. doi: 10.1172/JCI27523
- Zimmer, H. G. (1992). The oxidative pentose phosphate pathway in the heart: regulation, physiological significance, and clinical implications. *Basic Res. Cardiol.* 87, 303–316. doi: 10.1007/BF00796517
- Zingarelli, B., Hake, P. W., O'connor, M., Denenberg, A., Kong, S., and Aronow, B. J. (2003). Absence of poly(ADP-ribose)polymerase-1 alters nuclear

factor-kappa B activation and gene expression of apoptosis regulators after reperfusion injury. *Mol. Med.* 9, 143–153. doi: 10.1007/BF03402179

- Zingarelli, B., Hake, P. W., O'connor, M., Denenberg, A., Wong, H. R., Kong, S., et al. (2004). Differential regulation of activator protein-1 and heat shock factor-1 in myocardial ischemia and reperfusion injury: role of poly(ADPribose) polymerase-1. Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol. 286, H1408–H1415. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00953.2003
- Zingarelli, B., Salzman, A. L., and Szabo, C. (1998). Genetic disruption of poly (ADP-ribose) synthetase inhibits the expression of P-selectin and intercellular adhesion molecule-1 in myocardial ischemia/reperfusion injury. *Circ. Res.* 83, 85–94. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.83.1.85
- Zipes, D. P., Camm, A. J., Borggrefe, M., Buxton, A. E., Chaitman, B., Fromer, M., et al. (2006). ACC/AHA/ESC 2006 guidelines for management of patients with ventricular arrhythmias and the prevention of sudden cardiac death-executive summary: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force and the European Society of Cardiology Committee for Practice Guidelines (Writing Committee to Develop Guidelines for Management of Patients with Ventricular Arrhythmias and the Prevention of Sudden Cardiac Death) Developed in collaboration with the European Heart Rhythm Association and the Heart Rhythm Society. *Eur. Heart J.* 27, 2099–2140. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ ehl199
- Zipes, D. P., and Wellens, H. J. J. (1998). Sudden cardiac death. *Circulation* 24, 2334–2351. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.98.21.2334

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Xu, Li and Zhang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Myocardial Energy Metabolism in Non-ischemic Cardiomyopathy

Amanda A. Greenwell^{1,2,3}, Keshav Gopal^{1,2,3} and John R. Ussher^{1,2,3*}

¹ Faculty of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences, University of Alberta, Edmonton, AB, Canada, ² Alberta Diabetes Institute, University of Alberta, Edmonton, AB, Canada, ³ Mazankowski Alberta Heart Institute, University of Alberta, Edmonton, AB, Canada

As the most metabolically demanding organ in the body, the heart must generate massive amounts of energy adenosine triphosphate (ATP) from the oxidation of fatty acids, carbohydrates and other fuels (e.g., amino acids, ketone bodies), in order to sustain constant contractile function. While the healthy mature heart acts omnivorously and is highly flexible in its ability to utilize the numerous fuel sources delivered to it through its coronary circulation, the heart's ability to produce ATP from these fuel sources becomes perturbed in numerous cardiovascular disorders. This includes ischemic heart disease and myocardial infarction, as well as in various cardiomyopathies that often precede the development of overt heart failure. We herein will provide an overview of myocardial energy metabolism in the healthy heart, while describing the numerous perturbations that take place in various non-ischemic cardiomyopathies such as hypertrophic cardiomyopathy, diabetic cardiomyopathy, arrhythmogenic cardiomyopathy, and the cardiomyopathy associated with the rare genetic disease, Barth Syndrome. Based on preclinical evidence where optimizing myocardial energy metabolism has been shown to attenuate cardiac dysfunction, we will discuss the feasibility of myocardial energetics optimization as an approach to treat the cardiac pathology associated with these various non-ischemic cardiomyopathies.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Ademuyiwa S. Aromolaran, Masonic Medical Research Institute (MMRI), United States

Reviewed by:

John Pearce Morrow, Columbia University, United States Long-Sheng Song, The University of Iowa, United States

> ***Correspondence:** John R. Ussher jussher@ualberta.ca

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cardiac Electrophysiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 07 June 2020 Accepted: 26 August 2020 Published: 16 September 2020

Citation:

Greenwell AA, Gopal K and Ussher JR (2020) Myocardial Energy Metabolism in Non-ischemic Cardiomyopathy. Front. Physiol. 11:570421. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2020.570421 Keywords: energy metabolism, cardiomyopathy, cardiac function, glucose oxidation, fatty acid oxidation

INTRODUCTION

Relative to its size, the heart possesses a metabolic demand that far exceeds that of any other organ in the body (Lopaschuk et al., 2010; Lopaschuk and Ussher, 2016). However, despite the extraordinary energy requirements necessary to sustain constant contractile function, basal metabolic processes, and ionic homeostasis, the heart has limited energy reserves and, therefore, must continually regenerate adenosine triphosphate (ATP) in order to maintain function. Although the heart relies preferentially on fatty acid metabolism to sustain a sufficient ATP supply, the heart acts omnivorously and demonstrates a unique capability to metabolize a variety of substrates in addition to fatty acids, such as carbohydrates (glucose and lactate), ketone bodies and amino acids (Lopaschuk et al., 2010; Lopaschuk and Ussher, 2016). This flexibility of substrate utilization allows the heart to accommodate alterations in substrate availability throughout various physiological states (e.g., nutrient ingestion, fasting). Of importance, this flexibility may deteriorate in response to pathological conditions where the heart must adjust its substrate preference to accommodate

78

a perturbation in energy supply or demand, such as that seen during myocardial ischemia or heart failure.

With regards to the latter, heart failure is defined as a complex clinical syndrome that results from any structural or functional cardiac disorder that hinders the ability of the ventricle to fill with (diastolic dysfunction) or eject blood (systolic dysfunction) (Hunt et al., 2001). Despite the pathology of heart failure being multifactorial, it is generally accepted that the failing heart is energy-starved (Neubauer, 2007; Ussher et al., 2016). Myocardial ATP production is reduced by 30-40% in heart failure, therefore placing emphasis on the potential role of perturbed myocardial energetics in the mechanisms leading to heart failure. Chronic alterations in energy substrate utilization have been reported in heart failure, as well as in preceding cardiomyopathies (Neubauer, 2007; Taha and Lopaschuk, 2007; Lopaschuk et al., 2010). Furthermore, impaired metabolic flexibility has been postulated to contribute to the myocardial insulin resistance that characterizes the failing heart (Lopaschuk et al., 2010; Zhang et al., 2013). While heart failure may be the end diagnosis in an individual's cardiac disease, many cases of heart failure are preceded initially by different forms of cardiomyopathy (Braunwald, 2017). Depending on the classification system used, cardiomyopathies can be classified as ischemic, dilated, hypertrophic, restrictive, inflammatory, arrhythmogenic, or diabetic to list a few. Given that alterations in myocardial energy metabolism are present in numerous cardiomyopathies that lead to heart failure, optimization of energetics during the cardiomyopathy stage may represent a promising therapeutic approach to attenuate or prevent subsequent heart failure development and progression.

Accordingly, we will review the primary metabolic pathways supporting cardiac function, the alterations in intermediary energy metabolism that accompany various cardiomyopathies, and whether these alterations can be targeted to mitigate cardiomyopathy and the eventual development of overt heart failure. We will not discuss energy metabolism in ischemic cardiomyopathy or dilated cardiomyopathy, as the perturbations of energy metabolism in these cardiac disorders have been extensively characterized in numerous reviews (Taha and Lopaschuk, 2007; Jaswal et al., 2011; Heusch et al., 2014; Gibb and Hill, 2018). Rather, we will focus our efforts on detailing the perturbations of intermediary energy metabolism accompanying various non-ischemic cardiomyopathies, including hypertrophic cardiomyopathy (HCM), diabetic cardiomyopathy, the cardiomyopathy associated with the rare genetic disorder, Barth Syndrome (BTHS), and arrhythmogenic cardiomyopathy.

ENERGY METABOLISM IN THE HEALTHY HEART

The heart derives the majority (~95%) of its ATP production from the mitochondrial oxidation of fatty acids, carbohydrates (e.g., glucose, lactate), ketone bodies (e.g., acetoacetate, β -hydroxybutyrate), and amino acids, with the remainder being produced through aerobic glycolysis (**Figure 1**; Lopaschuk et al., 2010; Lopaschuk and Ussher, 2016). In the mature heart, fatty acids account for the majority of oxidative metabolism (50-70%), with the oxidation of glucose primarily accounting for the remainder. However, in response to nutrient ingestion, carbohydrates (glucose) can become the predominant fuel in the mature, metabolically flexible heart, due to the ensuing insulin response (Lopaschuk et al., 2010; Lopaschuk and Ussher, 2016). Although the heart is capable of metabolizing ketone bodies and amino acids, the majority of studies have demonstrated minimal contribution of these substrates to myocardial ATP production (Lopaschuk and Ussher, 2016). Conversely, recent studies in isolated working mouse hearts have demonstrated that ketone bodies can become a major fuel source for the heart, particularly at circulating concentrations representative of prolonged fasting/starvation (Ho et al., 2020), and thus we will also describe the regulation of myocardial ketone body oxidation herein. In addition to supporting ATP production, it is becoming more apparent that these substrates, or various intermediates arising from the metabolism of these substrates, can also influence cardiac function via directly regulating cellular signaling pathways. This can include post-translational modifications of proteins (e.g., acetylation, O-N-acetyl glucosaminylation), allosteric regulation of enzymes, or via transducing G-protein coupled receptors, though these aspects will be minimally discussed herein, as they have been extensively characterized in recent reviews (D'Souza et al., 2016; Lopaschuk and Ussher, 2016; Puchalska and Crawford, 2017; Murphy and O'Neill, 2018; Collins and Chatham, 2020; Ritchie and Abel, 2020).

Fatty Acid Metabolism

The heart's coronary circulation provides it with its fatty acid supply either as free fatty acids bound to albumin, or following the release of fatty acids from the hydrolysis of triacylglycerol (TAG)-containing lipoproteins or chylomicrons, mediated predominantly by the actions of lipoprotein lipase (Teusink et al., 2003; Lopaschuk et al., 2010). The majority of extracellular fatty acid uptake into the cardiac myocyte occurs through protein-mediated transport, which involves transporters such as cluster of differentiation 36 (CD36) and fatty acid transport proteins (FATP), whereas passive diffusion is thought to contribute to a smaller extent (**Figure 1**; Luiken et al., 1999; Kuang et al., 2004; Lopaschuk et al., 2010). Once present in the cytosol, fatty acids are rapidly activated for further metabolism via esterification to coenzyme A (acyl CoA) in an ATP-dependent manner by fatty acyl CoA synthetase.

Acyl CoAs have three primary metabolic fates in the heart, where they can be stored as TAG, utilized for the biosynthesis of membranes, and most importantly, due to the heart's enormous energy demand, transported into the mitochondria for subsequent β -oxidation (Lopaschuk et al., 2010). Because the mitochondrial membrane is impermeable to long chain acyl CoAs, mitochondrial fatty acid uptake and subsequent β -oxidation is dependent upon a carnitine shuttle comprised of three enzymes. An outer mitochondrial membrane-localized carnitine palmitoyl transferase 1 (CPT-1) catalyzes the conversion of long chain acyl CoA into acylcarnitine for transport to the mitochondrial matrix by carnitine acyl translocase, following which the acyl CoA



FIGURE 1 Intermediary energy metabolism in the cardiac myocyte. Illustration depicts intermediary metabolism of carbohydrates (glucose), fatty acids, and ketone bodies (βOHB) in the myocardium. Key nodes depicting the control of uptake into the cardiac myocyte, uptake into the mitochondria, and subsequent metabolism to acetyl CoA are highlighted. Acetyl CoA from the oxidation of carbohydrates, fatty acids, and ketone bodies is subsequently metabolized further in the Krebs Cycle. This results in the formation of reducing equivalents (e.g., FADH₂/NADH) that donate their electrons to the complexes of the electron transport chain, driving oxidative phosphorylation and the ATP generation needed for sustaining contractile function. ACAT, acetoacetyl CoA thiolase; ACC, acetyl CoA carboxylase; BDH, β-hydroxybutyrate dehydrogenase; βOHB, β-hydroxybutyrate; CD36, cluster of differentiation 36; CPT, carnitine palmitoyl transferase; CT, carnitine translocase; FACS, fatty acyl CoA synthetase; FADH₂, reduced flavin adenine dinucleotide; FATP, fatty acid transport protein; GLUT, glucose transporter; LPL, lipoprotein lipase; MCD, malonyl CoA decarboxylase; MCT, monocarboxylic acid transporter; MPC, mitochondrial pyruvate carrier; NADH, reduced nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide; PDH, pyruvate dehydrogenase; PDHK, PDH kinase; PDHP, PDH phosphatase; SCOT, succinyl CoA:3-ketoacid CoA transferase; TAG, triacylglycerol; VLDL, very-low density lipoprotein.

is regenerated via CPT-2 present in the inner leaflet of the inner mitochondrial membrane (Figure 1; Lopaschuk et al., 2010). Of importance, this carnitine shuttle regulating mitochondrial fatty acid uptake and subsequent β-oxidation is highly sensitive to regulation via malonyl CoA, a potent endogenous inhibitor of CPT-1. Malonyl CoA is the product of acetyl CoA carboxylation via acetyl CoA carboxylase, whereas it is degraded by malonyl CoA decarboxylase. Once inside the mitochondrial matrix, the CPT-2 regenerated acyl CoA is finally subjected to repeated cycles of β-oxidation, a process involving four enzymes (acyl CoA dehydrogenase, enoyl CoA hydratase, 3-hydroxyacyl CoA dehydrogenase, and 3-ketoacyl CoA thiolase) that progressively shortens the acyl CoA via 2 carbons released as acetyl CoA with each cycle (Figure 1). Acetyl CoA subsequently enters the Krebs Cycle, where it joins with oxaloacetate to form citrate and undergo a series of redox reactions. The Krebs Cycle results in the formation of reducing equivalents (reduced flavin adenine dinucleotide/nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide) that donate their electrons to the complexes of the electron transport chain (ETC) for the generation of ATP during oxidative phosphorylation (Figure 1). The heart also contains endogenous TAG stores that can be used to support ATP production, with some studies suggesting that fatty acids taken up into the heart are first shuttled through the intracellular TAG pool prior to undergoing mitochondrial β -oxidation (Shipp et al., 1964b; Banke et al., 2010).

Glucose Metabolism

Myocardial glucose metabolism for energy production involves three major steps: glucose uptake, glycolysis, and the mitochondrial oxidation of glycolytically-derived pyruvate, a process referred to as glucose oxidation (Figure 1). Glucose uptake into cardiac myocytes is facilitated by glucose transporters (GLUT), of which GLUT4 and GLUT1 are responsible for insulin-dependent and insulin-independent glucose uptake, respectively (Brownsey et al., 1997; Jaswal et al., 2011). Glucose subsequently undergoes glycolysis in the cytosol, a metabolic pathway comprised of ten enzymes that result in the formation of minimal energy (2 ATP) and the three-carbon end-product, pyruvate. Glycolytically-derived pyruvate has two primary metabolic fates, where it can either be converted to lactate by lactate dehydrogenase or shuttled into the mitochondrial matrix by a monocarboxylic acid transporter [referred to as the mitochondrial pyruvate carrier (MPC)] for subsequent oxidation. In the healthy mature heart where oxygen is not limiting, the latter mechanism predominates and is regulated by the actions of pyruvate dehydrogenase (PDH), the rate-limiting enzyme of glucose oxidation (Patel and Korotchkina, 2006; Patel et al., 2014).

The PDH complex is a multienzyme complex that decarboxylates pyruvate into acetyl CoA, which has the same fate as fatty acid oxidation-derived acetyl CoA and enters the Krebs Cycle to generate reducing equivalents for supporting oxidative phosphorylation in the ETC (**Figure 1**). The PDH complex is intricately regulated by numerous post-translational modifications, including phosphorylation-mediated inactivation

via four PDH kinase (PDHK) isoforms, and dephosphorylationmediated activation via two PDH phosphatase isoforms (**Figure 1**; Patel and Korotchkina, 2006; Patel et al., 2014; Gopal et al., 2017). Recent studies have also demonstrated that PDH activity and subsequent glucose oxidation can be stimulated via sirtuin 3 mediated deacetylation (Jing et al., 2013). As many mitochondrial dehydrogenases including PDH are sensitive to calcium-mediated stimulation (Denton, 2009), it has been demonstrated that mitochondrial calcium uptake mediated by the mitochondrial calcium uniporter (MCU) can positively regulate PDH activity (Suarez et al., 2018).

The heart also contains endogenous glycogen stores from which glucose can be mobilized to support myocardial ATP production when needed. Another metabolic pathway of glucose includes the pentose phosphate pathway, which plays a major role in the production of reduced nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate needed to generate the endogenous antioxidant, reduced glutathione (Ussher et al., 2012). Although evidence suggests that perturbations in the pentose phosphate pathway may be implicated in the pathology of heart failure (Gupte et al., 2006), glucose flux through this pathway in the healthy mature heart is thought to be negligible (Shipp et al., 1964a; Ussher et al., 2012).

Ketone Body Metabolism

β-hydroxybutyrate and acetoacetate are the two primary ketone bodies that the heart utilizes to support energy production. While both are able to enter the cardiac myocyte via passive diffusion, at elevated concentrations it has also been suggested that ketone body uptake may involve monocarboxylic acid transporters (Halestrap, 1978; Puchalska and Crawford, 2017). β-hydroxybutyrate is converted into acetoacetate via the actions of β-hydroxybutyrate dehydrogenase (BDH1). Acetoacetate is subsequently activated for metabolism via esterification to CoA as acetoacetyl CoA, which is catalyzed via succinyl CoA:3ketoacid CoA transferase (SCOT). Acetoacetyl CoA thiolase then hydrolyzes acetoacetyl CoA into two molecules of acetyl CoA, which are subject to the same metabolic fate as either glucose or fatty acid oxidation-derived acetyl CoA, thereby entering the Krebs Cycle to generate reducing equivalents for supporting oxidative phosphorylation (Figure 1).

Substrate Competition for Oxidative Metabolism

A significant contributor to the heart's robust metabolic flexibility to switch between fatty acids and glucose as major fuel sources during fasting and nutrient ingestion, respectively, involves substrate competition for oxidative metabolism. Joseph Shipp and colleagues were the first to demonstrate that increasing fatty acid availability to the heart leads to a marked inhibition of glucose oxidation (Shipp et al., 1961). However, credit for the reciprocal relationship by which fatty acids and glucose compete for oxidative metabolism (glucose/fatty acid cycle) is attributed to the work of Randle et al. (1963), and is thus often referred to as the "Randle Cycle." A plethora of both animal and human studies have provided strong evidence to support substrate competition between fatty acids and glucose for oxidative metabolism in the heart (Wisneski et al., 1985; Wisneski et al., 1990; Liu et al., 2002; Buchanan et al., 2005). Conversely, recent evidence has suggested that increasing the heart's reliance on ketone bodies as an oxidative fuel source is not subject to the same reciprocal relationships that would be conjectured to lead to reduced glucose and fatty acid oxidation rates (Ho et al., 2020). Of relevance to the remainder of this review, numerous cardiac disorders including various cardiomyopathies and/or heart failure, are accompanied by metabolic alterations whereby this metabolic flexibility becomes impaired, which may directly contribute to their associated cardiac pathologies.

ENERGY METABOLISM IN HYPERTROPHIC CARDIOMYOPATHY

HCM is characterized by a thickening of the left or right ventricular wall secondary to cardiac myocyte hypertrophy and in the absence of ventricular dilation. With an estimated prevalence of 1:200, HCM is reported as the most frequent form of inherited cardiomyopathy (Semsarian et al., 2015; Braunwald, 2017; Marian and Braunwald, 2017). Our knowledge of the pathology of HCM has greatly improved through major advancements in hemodynamics and genetics, with pivotal studies by Christine and Jonathan Seidman uncovering a key role for a missense mutation in the β -myosin heavy chain gene (MYH7) causing familial HCM in a French Canadian family (Geisterfer-Lowrance et al., 1990). Presently, more than 1400 mutations have now been identified as being associated with a HCM phenotype, mainly in genes encoding for sarcomeric proteins (Ho et al., 2015). Numerous studies have proposed that mutation-induced changes in sarcomere function may be attributed to inefficient sarcomere contraction leading to myocardial ATP depletion in HCM (Chandra et al., 2005; Witjas-Paalberends et al., 2014). Furthermore, imaging studies have revealed that inefficient cardiac contractility may precede the development of HCM, as demonstrated by reduced myocardial external efficiency in asymptomatic mutation carriers (Timmer et al., 2011; Guclu et al., 2017). Therefore, myocardial energetics may be disturbed and potentially contribute to cardiac dysfunction in genetic/inherited HCM. However, the influence of HCM-associated mutations on myocardial energy metabolism requires further investigation as measurements of myocardial metabolic flux in humans with genetic causes of HCM is limited. On the contrary, a considerable number of studies have investigated the role of altered myocardial energy metabolism during the progression of pathological cardiac hypertrophy, and whether optimizing myocardial energy metabolism may be beneficial. Although there is much ongoing debate regarding the energy metabolism profiles that characterize the hypertrophied heart (summarized in Table 1), these studies may provide insight into the potential metabolic disturbances that contribute to cardiac dysfunction (primarily diastolic dysfunction) in genetic/inherited HCM.

A striking hallmark of pathological cardiac hypertrophy and subsequent heart failure is the reversion to fetal gene expression

patterns, which are associated with reductions in fatty acid oxidation and a concurrent increase in glucose utilization (Sack et al., 1996; Razeghi et al., 2001; Stanley et al., 2005). Reductions in protein expression and activity of fatty acid oxidation enzymes are only observed during the decompensated heart failure stage in spontaneously hypertensive and heart failure-prone rats, though mRNA expression is already markedly reduced in these rats at the compensated hypertrophy stage (Sack et al., 1996). Moreover, in male Wistar-Kvoto rats subjected to abdominal aortic constriction (AAC) for an 8 week duration to induce compensated hypertrophy, palmitate oxidation rates are reduced during aerobic perfusion of isolated working hearts compared to sham-operated rats (Allard et al., 1994). Similarly, AAC in male C57BL/6J mice also results in a reduction in fatty acid oxidation rates during aerobic isolated working heart perfusions (Zhang et al., 2013). This result is observed at 2 weeks post-surgery in C57BL/6J mice, a time-point where normal systolic function [e.g., left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF)] but abnormal diastolic function (e.g., reduced e'/a' ratios) are observed, reminiscent of cardiac function profiles often seen in cases of genetic HCM (Braunwald, 2017; McKenna et al., 2017). These observations in ex vivo models are also observed in vitro, as palmitate oxidation rates are markedly reduced in neonatal rat cardiac myocytes subjected to experimental hypertrophy via treatment with the α_1 -adrenergic receptor agonist, phenylephrine (100 μ M) (Barger et al., 2000).

In cardiac hypertrophy, the consensus regarding elevations in glucose utilization is defined by an enhancement of glucose uptake and glycolysis, with inconsistent changes in glucose oxidation (Jaswal et al., 2011), further contributing to an altered metabolic profile recapitulating that seen in the fetal heart (Huss and Kelly, 2005). Indeed, aerobic isolated working heart perfusions performed in male Wistar-Kyoto rats subjected to AAC for an 8 week duration demonstrate significant increases in glycolysis rates with no change in glucose oxidation rates (Allard et al., 1994). Unlike the similarities previously discussed for fatty acid oxidation, studies in C57BL/6J mice subjected to AAC do not support these metabolic perturbations regarding glucose utilization (Zhang et al., 2013). Glycolysis and glucose oxidation rates were both diminished during aerobic isolated working heart perfusions in the presence of insulin concentrations (100 μ U/mL) matching those used in the study in male Wistar Kyoto rats, whereas glycolysis and glucose oxidation rates were similar in the absence of insulin.

Reasons for the discrepancies in the energy metabolism profiles identified in the rat (Allard et al., 1994) and mouse (Zhang et al., 2013) studies just described remain unclear, however, they may involve species-specific differences, differences in perfusate conditions, or duration of the aortic constriction. Furthermore, while AAC in the male Wistar-Kyoto rats did produce significant cardiac hypertrophy, assessments of *in vivo* cardiac function were not performed, and thus it cannot be discerned whether both systolic and diastolic dysfunction was present in these rats. Conversely, serial assessments via ultrasound echocardiography were performed in the male C57BL/6J mice subjected to AAC. At the 2 week post-surgery time point when myocardial energy

TABLE 1	Alterations in r	nvocardial energy	/ metabolism in	cardiac hypertrophy.
		nyoouralar onorg	1110100010111111	our aldo hyportrophy.

	Experimental model	Alteration in myocardial metabolism	References
Fatty acid metabolism	Human failing heart samples and spontaneously hypertensive heart failure-prone rats	mRNA expression of fatty acid oxidation enzymes↓	Sack et al., 1996
	Human fetal, non-failing and failing adult heart samples	mRNA expression of fatty acid oxidation enzymes↓	Razeghi et al., 2001
	Male Wistar-Kyoto rats with AAC	Fatty acid oxidation↓	Allard et al., 1994
	Male C57BL/6J mice with AAC	Fatty acid oxidation↓	Zhang et al., 2013
	Male dogs with pacing-induced decompensated heart failure	Fatty acid oxidation↓	Osorio et al., 2002
	Male C57BL/6J mice with TAC	Fatty acid oxidation↓	Byrne et al., 2016
Glucose metabolism	Male Wistar-Kyoto rats with AAC	Glycolysis↑	Allard et al., 1994
	Male C57BL/6J mice with AAC	Glycolysis↓ Glucose oxidation↓	Zhang et al., 2013
	Dogs with pacing-induced decompensated heart failure	Glucose oxidation↑	Osorio et al., 2002
	Male C57BL/6J mice with TAC	Glucose oxidation↓	Byrne et al., 2016
	Male Wistar rats with AAC	Glucose uptake↑ Glycolysis↑	Tian et al., 2001; Nascimben et al., 2004
	AMPK γ2 subunit R302Q transgenic mice	Glucose uptake↑ Glycogen content↑	Folmes et al., 2009
Ketone body metabolism	Male and female C57BL/6J mice with TAC	Ketone body oxidation↑	Aubert et al., 2016; Ho et al., 2019

metabolism profiles were measured, these mice exhibited signs of diastolic dysfunction (reduced e'/a' ratios), without systolic dysfunction (normal LVEF), consistent with cardiac function profiles observed in HCM. The degree of dysfunction is, therefore, an important aspect to consider, as the presence of systolic dysfunction contributes to a decompensated heart failure phenotype where general reductions in overall oxidative metabolism, and increases in glycolytic rates to counteract these reductions, are more likely to be observed (Osorio et al., 2002; Byrne et al., 2016).

Alterations in the transcriptional regulation of genes involved in mitochondrial oxidative metabolism may contribute to the decline in fatty acid oxidation observed in pathological cardiac hypertrophy. Myocardial mRNA expression of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor- α (PPAR α), a master regulator of fatty acid metabolism, is reduced in male Sprague-Dawley rats and C57BL/6 mice following AAC and transverse aortic constriction (TAC), respectively (Barger et al., 2000; Akki et al., 2008). This leads to reductions in the expression of numerous PPARa downstream target genes, including CPT-1 and medium chain acyl-CoA dehydrogenase. Cardiac PPARy activity has also been linked to cardiac hypertrophy, as cardiacspecific PPARy deficient mice exhibit a robust increase in LV size/mass (Duan et al., 2005). Conversely, cardiac-specific PPARy overexpressing mice also demonstrate a robust cardiac hypertrophy, which is actually associated with elevations in mRNA expression of genes regulating fatty acid oxidation (e.g., CPT-1, acyl CoA oxidase) (Son et al., 2007). Reasons for these discrepancies are currently unknown, and surprisingly, deletion of PPARa alleviates the cardiac dysfunction present in cardiac-specific PPARy overexpressing mice without impacting

cardiac hypertrophy, yet actually increases myocardial fatty acid oxidation (Son et al., 2010). Reductions in myocardial carnitine content have also been observed in pathological cardiac hypertrophy in male Sprague-Dawley rats following AAC, which could contribute to decreases in fatty acid oxidation (Reibel et al., 1983).

Cardiac hypertrophy-related changes in glucose metabolism are more difficult to explain, due in part to inconsistency in the reported alterations, especially with regards to glucose oxidation. Nonetheless, despite reported differences on whether cardiac hypertrophy leads to increases, decreases, or no change in myocardial glucose oxidation rates, increases in glycolysis rates are often reported and significantly higher than glucose oxidation rates. This results in a marked uncoupling of glucose oxidation from glycolysis, thereby leading to increases in proton production and subsequent contractile inefficiency, as ATP is diverted away from supporting contractile function toward relieving intracellular acidosis (Liu et al., 2002; Jaswal et al., 2011). It has been postulated that the replenishment of Krebs Cycle intermediates via increases in anaplerosis may contribute to this uncoupling of glucose metabolism in cardiac hypertrophy (Des Rosiers et al., 2011). In male Sprague Dawley rats subjected to TAC-induced pressure overload, increases in myocardial anaplerosis are attributed to elevations of glycolytic pyruvate entering the mitochondria via malic enzyme mediated carboxylation to malate (Sorokina et al., 2007). Interestingly, cardiac hypertrophy related increases in glycolysis do not correlate with increased expression of glycolysis enzymes, however, may be due to increases in 5'AMP activated protein kinase (AMPK) activity (Tian et al., 2001; Nascimben et al., 2004), a cellular energy sensor that promotes ATP production during low energy states (Steinberg and Kemp, 2009). Indeed, increases in myocardial AMPK activity have been observed in male Wistar rats at least 17 weeks after ascending aortic constriction, resulting in increased GLUT1 protein expression and subsequent 2deoxyglucose uptake (Tian et al., 2001). In addition, the elevation in myocardial AMPK activity augments phosphofructokinase-2 mediated formation of fructose-2,6-bisphosphate, a potent allosteric stimulator of phosphofructokinase-1, the rate-limiting enzyme of glycolysis (Nascimben et al., 2004). It should be noted, though, that since in vivo cardiac function was not monitored in these rats, it is not possible to discern whether these metabolic alterations are due to potential systolic dysfunction rather than cardiac hypertrophy per se. Nonetheless, alterations in AMPK activity are a reasonable molecular culprit with regards to HCM, as mutations in the AMPK y2 subunit have been shown to induce familial HCM in humans (Gollob et al., 2001; Taha and Lopaschuk, 2007; McKenna et al., 2017). One notable mutation involves a missense mutation resulting in an arginine substitution for glutamine at position 302 of the AMPK γ 2 subunit (R302Q), which causes a glycogen storage HCM characterized by a familial form of Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome. Key studies by Folmes et al. (2009) demonstrated that adenoviral-mediated overexpression of an AMPK y2 subunit R302Q mutant increases AMPK activity, glucose uptake, glycogen synthase protein expression, and glycogen content in neonatal rat ventricular cardiac myocytes. Moreover, transgenic mice harboring a cardiac myocyte-specific AMPK y2 subunit R302Q mutation also exhibit robust cardiac hypertrophy that is associated with massive glycogen accumulation (Folmes et al., 2009). While the described studies support a key role for increased AMPK activity and its metabolic actions in the pathology of HCM, AMPK also has contrasting anti-hypertrophic actions that need to be considered, such as inhibiting protein synthesis (Chan and Dyck, 2005).

Of interest, it has now been demonstrated in preclinical and clinical studies that ketone body oxidation is increased in both compensated hypertrophy and heart failure (Lopaschuk and Ussher, 2016; Ussher et al., 2016; Ho et al., 2019). Compensated hypertrophy in female C57BL/6J mice in response to TAC increases myocardial protein expression of BDH1, which is associated with increased ketone body oxidation as indicated by increased ¹³C enrichment of acetyl CoA from ¹³C- β -hydroxybutyrate (Aubert et al., 2016). The shift toward greater ketone body utilization in compensated hypertrophy and/or heart failure has been postulated to be an adaptive response to maintain oxidative metabolism in the setting of decreased fatty acid oxidation. In further support that this metabolic alteration is adaptive, mice with a cardiac-specific deficiency of SCOT exhibit blunted myocardial ketone body oxidation, which is associated with accelerated pathological ventricular remodeling and cardiac dysfunction in response to TAC-induced pressure overload (Schugar et al., 2014). However, given that cardiac-specific SCOTdeficient mouse hearts also exhibited an increase in fatty acid oxidation, it remains unclear whether the increased pathological remodeling was attributed to the increase in fatty acid oxidation or the decrease in ketone body oxidation. Furthermore, it remains to be determined whether ketone body oxidation is increased in HCM that is characterized solely by diastolic dysfunction.

Taken together, a plethora of evidence has now been documented demonstrating that cardiac hypertrophy and heart failure are characterized by pronounced metabolic alterations. Whether these perturbations in myocardial energy metabolism contribute to the pathology of HCM, or whether they are due to the cardiac hypertrophy and subsequent dysfunction itself has not been conclusively determined. As mentioned previously, various intermediates of energy metabolism can directly regulate intracellular signaling, and one must also consider whether perturbations in myocardial energy metabolism regulate cardiac hypertrophy via such signaling changes. Indeed, the accumulation of glucose-6-phosphate as a result of elevated glycolysis in cardiac hypertrophy may directly promote ventricular hypertrophy, via activation of the mammalian target of rapamycin, a key signaling mediator of cardiac myocyte protein synthesis and subsequent growth (Shioi et al., 2003; Sen et al., 2013). Despite amino acids contributing minimally to myocardial energy metabolism, it has also been demonstrated that glucose can contribute to cardiac hypertrophy by preventing Kruppel-like factor 15 regulated transcription, thereby reducing branched chain amino acid metabolism and increasing mammalian target of rapamycin activation (Shao et al., 2018). Importantly, evidence is also limited that these metabolic alterations resulting from AAC- or TAC-induced cardiac hypertrophy are present and/or contribute to the pathology of genetic/familial HCM involving mutations in sarcomeric proteins. Nonetheless, HCM due to the AMPK y2 subunit R302Q mutation does support that this form of familial HCM shares consistency with some of the documented changes in energy metabolism in cardiac hypertrophy.

ENERGY METABOLISM IN DIABETIC CARDIOMYOPATHY

First described in diabetic patients with heart failure in the absence of myocardial ischemia, diabetic cardiomyopathy is characterized by ventricular dysfunction in the absence of underlying coronary artery disease and/or hypertension (Rubler et al., 1972). In addition, structural changes to the myocardium are present in diabetic cardiomyopathy, which include increased fibrosis and LV mass, and are often accompanied by underlying diastolic dysfunction with negligible impact on systolic function. Our understanding of diabetic cardiomyopathy has greatly improved since its original description in 1972, with numerous advancements regarding the mediators of its pathology. Some of the most extensively studied mechanisms include lipotoxicity, glucotoxicity, insulin resistance, alterations in calcium handling/signaling, fibrosis, endoplasmic reticulum stress, oxidative stress, cardiac myocyte apoptosis, and derangements in energy metabolism (Rubler et al., 1972; van de Weijer et al., 2011; Liu et al., 2012; Battiprolu et al., 2013; Ussher, 2014). With regards to the latter, myocardial energy metabolism in diabetic cardiomyopathy is substantially influenced by increased fatty acid delivery and insulin resistance, which leads to increases and decreases in fatty acid and glucose utilization, respectively. At a molecular level, increases in cardiac myocyte lipoprotein lipase activity lead to increased fatty acid delivery (Pulinilkunnil and Rodrigues, 2006; Kim et al., 2008), whereas hyperinsulinemia-mediated increases in cardiac myocyte protein kinase CC activity increase sarcolemmal CD36 protein expression and subsequent fatty acid uptake (Ouwens et al., 2007; Luiken et al., 2009). As fatty acid supply in obesity/type 2 diabetes (T2D) often exceeds increases in myocardial fatty acid oxidation rates, the build-up of myocardial lipid stores (TAG) and lipid intermediates (e.g., ceramide and diacylglycerol) frequently characterizes the diabetic myocardium (Lopaschuk et al., 2007; Zlobine et al., 2016). While the accumulation of TAGs, ceramides, diacylglycerols, and other lipid intermediates may promote myocardial insulin resistance, lipotoxicity, and cardiac myocyte apoptosis in diabetic cardiomyopathy, we encourage the reader to refer to the many excellent reviews already published on this topic (van de Weijer et al., 2011; D'Souza et al., 2016; Zlobine et al., 2016). The following section will detail the perturbations in myocardial energy metabolism that characterize the hearts of individuals with T2D (summarized in Table 2), and how these perturbations may potentially contribute to the pathology of diabetic cardiomyopathy.

While studies in isolated working hearts from fasted obese Zucker rats have shown that fatty acid oxidation rates are impaired (Young et al., 2002), the vast majority of literature has demonstrated that obesity and/or T2D lead to marked increases in myocardial fatty acid oxidation. For example, studies in genetic models of obesity/T2D have demonstrated that fatty acid oxidation rates are increased during aerobic perfusion of isolated working hearts from either 4 or 15-week-old male *db/db* and ob/ob mice (Buchanan et al., 2005). Similarly, fatty acid oxidation rates are increased during aerobic isolated working heart perfusions from male C57BL/6J mice after 2 weeks of high-fat feeding (45% kcal from lard) or 3 weeks of high-fat feeding (60% kcal from lard) (Wright et al., 2009; Zhang et al., 2011). These observations also translate to models of type 1 diabetes (T1D), as aerobic isolated working heart perfusions from rodents subjected to streptozotocin mediated destruction of islet β -cells, and Akita mice harboring a genetic mutation in the insulin 2 gene, demonstrate significant increases in fatty acid oxidation rates (Sakamoto et al., 2000; How et al., 2006; Basu et al., 2009). These observations have been recapitulated in humans, as positron emission tomography (PET) imaging with [1-11C]palmitate in obese women without cardiovascular disease, T1D subjects, or T2D subjects with non-ischemic cardiomyopathy, demonstrated significant increases in both myocardial fatty acid uptake and subsequent oxidation (Peterson et al., 2004; Herrero et al., 2006; Rijzewijk et al., 2009). It should be noted that many of these studies do not account for endogenous fatty acid oxidation from intracellular TAG stores, making it likely that fatty acid oxidation rates in preclinical and clinical studies of obesity/diabetes are actually being underestimated. As mentioned previously, myocardial TAG stores are increased in obesity/T2D. Furthermore, PET imaging studies with [1-¹¹C]palmitate and [¹H] magnetic resonance spectroscopy in obese patients without cardiovascular disease, reported that endogenous fatty acid oxidation rates are greater than exogenous

plasma fatty acid oxidation rates, though a lean, healthy group for comparison was not included (Bucci et al., 2012). As such, these observations suggest that obesity/T2D increases the heart's reliance on fatty acids from all sources (exogenous and endogenous) for energy metabolism. At a molecular level, PPARa is thought to be a key mediator of these metabolic alterations, as both T1D and T2D lead to increases in myocardial PPARa expression, and cardiac-specific PPARa overexpressing mice exhibit a cardiac phenotype mimicking that seen in diabetic cardiomyopathy (Finck et al., 2002, 2003). PPARa may also potentially be a key mediator of the increased reliance on TAG-derived fatty acid oxidation in obesity/T2D, as ¹³C nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy studies revealed increased TAG turnover in cardiac-specific PPARa overexpressing male mice fed a high-fat diet for 2 weeks (Banke et al., 2010). PPARa also contributes to the elevations in myocardial fatty acid uptake and subsequent lipotoxicity observed in obesity/T2D, which may be dependent on increased glycogen synthase kinase 3α (GSK3 α) activity. It was demonstrated in neonatal rat cardiac myocytes that GSK3a can translocate to the nucleus and phosphorylate PPAR α at serine residue 280, stimulating a biased PPARa transcriptional response that prompts increases in myocardial fatty acid uptake and lipid storage (Nakamura et al., 2019). Furthermore, mice with a cardiac-specific heterozygous GSK3a deficiency subjected to high-fat diet-induced obesity demonstrated significant improvements in diastolic function, as seen by a lower deceleration time during Tissue Doppler analysis. Conversely, increased myocardial PPARB/8 may be protective against obesity/T2D-related cardiomyopathy, as cardiac-specific overexpression of PPARB/8 prevents cardiac dysfunction following 8 weeks of high-fat diet supplementation (Burkart et al., 2007). This cardioprotection was attributed to PPARβ/δ increasing myocardial fatty acid oxidation but not fatty acid uptake, differing from PPARa activity, which increases both in the myocardium. Likewise, cardiac-specific deletion of PPAR β/δ in mice leads to a robust reduction in myocardial fatty acid oxidation, which results in a lipotoxic cardiomyopathy that leads to early mortality due to heart failure (Cheng et al., 2004).

With regards to impaired myocardial glucose utilization in obesity/T2D, cardiac myocytes isolated from adult ob/ob and *db/db* mice exhibit reduced insulin-stimulated Akt phosphorylation and 2-deoxyglucose uptake (Mazumder et al., 2004; Hafstad et al., 2006). Moreover, PET imaging with [¹⁸F]fluorodeoxyglucose demonstrated marked reductions in myocardial glucose uptake during a euglycemichyperinsulinemic clamp in male Wistar rats fed a high-fat and high-fructose diet for 6 weeks (Menard et al., 2010). Similarly, PET imaging revealed decreased [18F]fluorodeoxyglucose uptake in 12 h fasted male C57BL/6J mice fed a high-fat diet for at least 25 weeks (Battiprolu et al., 2012). On the contrary, other studies have suggested that myocardial insulin sensitivity remains intact in T2D, especially in the context of hyperinsulinemia and when plasma free fatty acid levels are matched (Lopaschuk et al., 2010). For example, 3 months of high-fat and high-cholesterol diet supplementation in male low-density lipoprotein receptor-deficient mice results in

	Experimental model	Alteration in myocardial metabolism	References
Fatty acid metabolism	Male Obese Zucker rats	Fatty acid oxidation↓	Young et al., 2002
	Male <i>db/db</i> and <i>ob/ob</i> mice	Fatty acid oxidation↑	Mazumder et al., 2004; Buchanan et al., 2005; Hafstad et al., 2006; How et al., 2006
	Male C57BL/6J mice fed a high-fat diet	Fatty acid oxidation↑	Wright et al., 2009; Zhang et al., 2011
	Obese women, men and women with T1D, or men with T2D and non-ischemic cardiomyopathy	Fatty acid uptake↑ Fatty acid oxidation↑	Peterson et al., 2004; Herrero et al., 2006; Rijzewijk et al., 2009
Glucose metabolism	Male <i>db/db</i> and <i>ob/ob</i> mice	Glucose uptake↓ Glucose oxidation↓	Mazumder et al., 2004; Buchanan et al., 2005; Hafstad et al., 2006; How et al., 2006
	Male Wistar rats fed a high-fat and high-fructose diet, or male C57BL/6J mice fed a high-fat diet	Glucose uptake↓	Menard et al., 2010; Battiprolu et al., 2012
	Male C57BL/6J mice fed a high-fat diet	Glucose oxidation↓	Ussher et al., 2009; Wright et al., 2009
	Male Wistar rats or male C57BL/6J mice subjected to experimental T2D (high-fat diet + low-dose streptozotocin	Glucose oxidation↓	Le Page et al., 2015; Almutairi et al., 2020
Ketone body metabolism	Men and women with T2D undergoing cardiac catheterization	Ketone body uptake↑	Mizuno et al., 2017
	Male non-obese diabetic Goto-Kakizaki rats	Ketone body oxidation↑	Abdurrachim et al., 2019

TABLE 2 | Alterations in myocardial energy metabolism in diabetic cardiomyopathy.

hyperinsulinemia and increased [¹⁸F]fluorodeoxyglucose uptake after a 4 h fast compared to standard chow fed lean mice (Gupte et al., 2013). Despite these divergent findings regarding myocardial glucose uptake in T2D, the marked impairment of myocardial glucose oxidation in the diabetic heart has been demonstrated in numerous studies. Aerobic perfusion of isolated working hearts from ob/ob mice, db/db mice, mice subjected to experimental obesity via high-fat diet supplementation, or mice and rats subjected to experimental T2D via high-fat diet supplementation plus low-dose streptozotocin administration, demonstrate impaired basal and insulin-stimulated glucose oxidation rates (Buchanan et al., 2005; Hafstad et al., 2006; How et al., 2006; Ussher et al., 2009; Wright et al., 2009; Le Page et al., 2015). The impaired glucose oxidation in the heart in the setting of obesity/T2D is partially attributed to the previously discussed "Randle Cycle" phenomenon, whereby elevated myocardial fatty acid oxidation rates decrease glucose oxidation via substrate competition (Lopaschuk et al., 2010). Reductions in MCU activity may also be involved, as C57BL/6NHsd mice subjected to experimental T1D via 5 daily injections with streptozotocin (40 mg/kg) exhibit decreased myocardial MCU protein expression and mitochondrial calcium levels in intact-paced contracting cardiac myocytes (Suarez et al., 2018). These changes are associated with reduced myocardial PDH activity and glucose oxidation rates during isolated working heart perfusions, but are completely normalized in mice with T1D administered an adeno-associated virus expressing murine MCU mRNA via the jugular vein. In addition, molecular control once again may involve increased PPARa activity, as PDHK4 mRNA expression, a transcriptional target of PPARa and the most prominent PDHK isoform in the heart, is increased in cardiac-specific PPARa overexpressing mice (Wu et al.,

2001; Finck et al., 2002). On the contrary, in the setting of obesity/T2D, increased myocardial forkhead box O1 (FoxO1) may contribute to increased PDHK4-mediated inhibition of PDH activity and subsequent glucose oxidation. Indeed, PDHK4 is also a transcriptional target of FoxO1, and pharmacological FoxO1 antagonism with the agent AS1842856 increases glucose oxidation rates in aerobically perfused isolated working hearts from male C57BL/6J mice (Gopal et al., 2017). Furthermore, cardiac-specific FoxO1 deficiency prevents chronic high-fat diet supplementation mediated increases in myocardial PDHK4 mRNA expression (Battiprolu et al., 2012). The marked reduction in myocardial glucose oxidation is thought to directly contribute to the pathology of diabetic cardiomyopathy via decreasing cardiac efficiency, whereby ATP utilization for non-contractile purposes (e.g., ionic homeostasis) is increased (Lopaschuk et al., 2007; Almutairi et al., 2020).

Although our knowledge of myocardial ketone body oxidation has grown considerably with regards to its perturbations in cardiac hypertrophy and heart failure, this is an area of limited study in the diabetic myocardium. Nonetheless, it is imperative we increase our understanding of myocardial ketone body oxidation, as it has been suggested that the marked improvement in cardiovascular outcomes in people with T2D taking sodium-glucose cotransporter 2 (SGLT2) inhibitors (e.g., empagliflozin) may be due to increased ketosis and subsequent ketone body utilization (Ferrannini et al., 2016; Lopaschuk and Verma, 2016). Studies to date suggest that ketone body utilization may be increased in T2D, as catheterization studies for blood sampling from the coronary sinus and aortic root in subjects with T2D and mild diastolic dysfunction revealed increased myocardial uptake of acetoacetate and β -hydroxybutyrate (Mizuno et al., 2017).

Furthermore, a recent study in non-obese diabetic male Goto-Kakizaki rats using hyperpolarized [3-13C]acetoacetate demonstrated increased myocardial ketone body utilization, as well as increases in myocardial SCOT activity (Abdurrachim et al., 2019). However, as these rats also demonstrated cardiac hypertrophy and systolic dysfunction, whether their metabolic perturbations are due to diabetes or systolic dysfunction cannot be discerned. Of interest, the increase in myocardial SCOT activity observed in diabetic male Goto-Kakizaki rats is also seen in skeletal muscles from C57BL/6J mice after 10 weeks of high-fat diet (60% kcal from lard) supplementation (Al Batran et al., 2020), suggesting that obesity/T2D may cause an increase in cardiac and skeletal muscle ketone body oxidation. While increased myocardial ketone body oxidation is a postulated mechanism by which SGLT2 inhibitors improve cardiovascular outcomes in T2D, careful consideration should be taken with regards to systemically boosting ketone body oxidation in humans with T2D, as increases in skeletal muscle ketone body oxidation appear to promote hyperglycemia (Al Batran et al., 2020).

ENERGY METABOLISM IN BARTH SYNDROME

Despite a decreased prevalence with respect to the adult population, pediatric cardiomyopathies and heart failure are associated with a significant mortality rate and cost of care burden (Woulfe and Bruns, 2019). Many inherited cardiomyopathies affecting children involve inborn errors of metabolism that cause derangements in myocardial fatty acid oxidation, or mutations in mitochondrial DNA that impair normal oxidative phosphorylation, both of which have been reviewed extensively (Kelly and Strauss, 1994; Lee et al., 2017; Towbin and Jefferies, 2017). In this particular section, we will focus on pediatric cardiomyopathy associated with the rare genetic disorder, BTHS, which is caused by mutations in the TAZ gene, encoding for tafazzin, a mitochondrial transacylase critical for catalyzing the final step in cardiolipin remodeling (Jefferies, 2013; Dudek and Maack, 2017). Cardiolipin is a structurally distinct mitochondrial phospholipid with essential roles in the maintenance of mitochondrial morphology, regulation of mitochondrial protein transport and dynamics, and in maintaining the integrity and optimal activity of the ETC (Dudek and Maack, 2017; Dudek et al., 2019). Furthermore, aberrant myocardial cardiolipin content and composition, specifically reduction of the predominant tetralinoleoyl cardiolipin species, has been reported in a variety of cardiac pathologies, including idiopathic dilated cardiomyopathy (Chatfield et al., 2014), and in both human and experimental models of heart failure (Sparagna et al., 2007). As such, infantile-onset cardiomyopathy is the most common clinical feature associated with BTHS, although other phenotypic traits can include neutropenia, skeletal myopathy, exercise intolerance, 3-methylglutaconic aciduria, and pre-pubertal growth retardation (Jefferies, 2013). The cardiomyopathy associated with BTHS is primarily dilated cardiomyopathy, though HCM has also been documented,

and may co-present with LV non-compaction or endocardial fibroelastosis (Spencer et al., 2006; Jefferies, 2013). In addition, the lack of a genotype-phenotype correlation suggests that physiological modifiers may exacerbate the tafazzin deficiency and contribute to the variability in clinical phenotypes of BTHS. However, due to cardiolipin's key role in maintaining the ETC, perturbations in myocardial energy metabolism may also contribute to BTHS associated cardiomyopathies, which will now be highlighted in the following section (summarized in **Table 3**).

In vitro studies have demonstrated that siRNA mediated Taz knockdown in neonatal rat ventricular cardiac myocytes decreases ATP levels, which was associated with increases in AMPK activity, cell surface area, and increased mRNA expression of brain natriuretic peptide, a biomarker of cardiac hypertrophy/heart failure (He, 2010). Decreases in ATP content are consistent with an impairment of oxidative phosphorylation, and cardiac mitochondria isolated from a mouse model of BTHS due to doxycycline mediated Taz knockdown (herein referred to as TazKD mice), display markedly reduced respiration, primarily attributed to impaired complex III activity (Kiebish et al., 2013; Powers et al., 2013). In young adults with BTHS (mean age of 26 years), a decreased myocardial energy reserve has also been observed, as indicated by a reduced phosphocreatine/ATP ratio during ³¹P magnetic resonance spectroscopy studies (Cade et al., 2019).

Despite well-characterized myocardial energy deficiency in BTHS, the actual alterations in myocardial intermediary energy metabolism are still being delineated. Paralleling the setting of heart failure, preclinical and clinical studies suggest that BTHS is associated with reductions in myocardial fatty acid oxidation. Isolated cardiac mitochondria from 3-month-old male TazKD mice subjected to proteomics analysis demonstrated disruption of ETC supercomplexes with the fatty acid oxidation enzymes, very long-chain acyl CoA dehydrogenase and long-chain 3hydroxyacyl CoA dehydrogenase (Huang et al., 2015). Likewise, cardiac mitochondria isolated from 2-month-old male TazKD mice demonstrated a 25% reduction in palmitoyl-L-carnitine supported fatty acid oxidation during state 3 respiration, as determined using high-resolution respirometry (Kiebish et al., 2013). Oxygen consumption rates using a Seahorse XF24 analyzer were also reduced in neonatal cardiac myocytes isolated from TazKD mice, once more suggesting that BTHS is associated with impaired myocardial fatty acid oxidation (Powers et al., 2013). Illustrating the translatability of these findings, young adults with BTHS (mean age of 26 years) exhibited reductions in myocardial fatty acid extraction as determined by PET imaging (Cade et al., 2019).

With regards to BTHS associated changes in myocardial glucose metabolism, tafazzin deficiency mediated reductions in tetralinoleoyl cardiolipin formation may influence glucose metabolism through the regulation of PDH activity. Studies in C2C12 myoblasts subjected to CRISPR/Cas9 mediated *Taz* knockout demonstrated decreased incorporation of [U- 13 C]glucose into acetyl CoA, which was associated with an ~50% inhibition of PDH activity (Li et al., 2019). Of interest, incubation of *Taz* knockout C2C12 myoblast mitochondria

	Experimental model	Alteration in myocardial metabolism	References
Fatty acid metabolism	Isolated cardiac mitochondria from male TazKD mice	Fatty acid oxidation↓ Fatty acid oxidation enzyme – ETC supercomplex interaction↓	Kiebish et al., 2013; Huang et al., 2015
	Neonatal cardiac myocytes from TazKD mice	Fatty acid oxidation↓	Powers et al., 2013
	Young adult males with BTHS	Fatty acid extraction↓	Cade et al., 2019
Glucose metabolism	Young adult males with BTHS	Glucose uptake↑ Glucose utilization↑	Cade et al., 2019
	Neonatal cardiac myocytes from TazKD mice	Glycolysis↑	Powers et al., 2013
Ketone body metabolism	Males (age range 6 months–32 years) with BTHS	Circulating β -hydroxybutyrate levels \uparrow	Sandlers et al., 2016

TABLE 3	Alterations in	myocardial	enerav	metabolism	in BTHS
INDEE 0	/ 1101010110110111	myoourulu	Chickgy	motaboliom	

with exogenous cardiolipin restored this defect, providing mechanistic support for cardiolipin having a direct regulatory role on PDH activity. While C2C12 myoblasts originate from mouse skeletal muscle, high-resolution respirometry in cardiac mitochondria isolated from 2-month-old TazKD mice revealed no impairment in pyruvate supported state 3 respiration (Kiebish et al., 2013). Likewise, significant increases in myocardial glucose extraction fraction, uptake, and utilization were observed in young adults with BTHS (mean age of 26 years) compared to healthy age-matched controls (Cade et al., 2019). While these contrasting findings in humans suggest that BTHS may be associated with increased myocardial glucose oxidation, it is important to note that glucose oxidation was not directly assessed in the aforementioned study. It remains possible that the increase in myocardial glucose uptake and extraction reflects increases in myocardial glycolysis rates that are not coupled to a proportional increase in glucose oxidation. Evidence supporting this paradigm has been observed in neonatal cardiac myocytes isolated from TazKD mice, whereby an increased rate of extracellular acidification (indicative of increased glycolysis) was reported using a Seahorse XF24 analyzer (Powers et al., 2013). Furthermore, circulating lactate levels were increased in \sim 4-5-month-old male TazKD mice in response to exercise, supporting that the increase in glucose utilization was not matched by a corresponding increase in glucose oxidation (Powers et al., 2013). Similar to what we have described in HCM and diabetic cardiomyopathy, the uncoupling of glucose oxidation from glycolysis may precipitate contractile inefficiency and contribute to the pathology of BTHS-related cardiomyopathy, as ATP is diverted toward supporting noncontractile purposes.

Regarding ketone metabolism, there has been limited investigation regarding potential alterations in myocardial ketone body utilization in BTHS. However, metabolomics in plasma collected from 23 subjects with BTHS demonstrated increases in circulating β -hydroxybutyrate levels compared to plasma from 15 age-matched control subjects not known to have an inborn error of metabolism (Sandlers et al., 2016). These findings are compatible with other preclinical and clinical

studies that have noted a metabolic shift toward increased myocardial ketone body utilization in both cardiac hypertrophy and heart failure (Aubert et al., 2016; BediJr., Snyder et al., 2016; Ho et al., 2019).

Although the metabolic profile characterizing the heart in BTHS remains the subject of ongoing study, it is evident that perturbations in intermediary energy metabolism are present, and it will be important to confirm whether these metabolic perturbations contribute to the pathology of BTHS-related cardiomyopathy. As a rare genetic disease, human BTHS studies of myocardial metabolism are limited in nature, and the furthering of our understanding of energy metabolism as a pathological mediator in this disorder will likely come from studies in the TazKD murine mouse model of BTHS (Acehan et al., 2011). However, cardiac phenotypes reported in TazKD mice are not consistent in the literature, with some studies demonstrating the more prevalent dilated cardiomyopathy seen in BTHS subjects (Acehan et al., 2011), whereas others have reported a HCM that is less frequently observed in BTHS subjects (Johnson et al., 2018). As such, it will be important for future studies to carefully dissect the specific cardiac phenotypes present in TazKD mice, and how they may relate to potential contrasting findings relating to perturbed myocardial energy metabolism.

ENERGY METABOLISM IN ARRHYTHMOGENIC CARDIOMYOPATHY

Arrhythmogenic cardiomyopathy is another form of inherited cardiomyopathy that is genetically heterogenous, typically caused by genetic mutations producing abnormalities in cardiac desmosomes, and it is a major risk factor for sudden cardiac death. The reader is encouraged to refer to (Corrado et al., 2017) for extensive review of the various mutations that can predispose to arrhythmogenic cardiomyopathy. Depending on geographic region the overall prevalence of arrhythmogenic cardiomyopathy can range from 1:1000 to 1:5000, though most specialists in this area are of the opinion that the real prevalence is closer to the latter (Corrado et al., 2017). Although originally referred to as arrhythmogenic right ventricular dysplasia or arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy, increasing reports characterized by early and greater LV involvement have resulted in use of the broader arrhythmogenic cardiomyopathy term (Norman et al., 2005). Arrhythmogenic cardiomyopathy is characterized by ventricular arrhythmias, systolic dysfunction, and replacement of myocardium with fibrofatty tissue (Corrado et al., 2017). Few studies to date have performed any meaningful assessment of myocardial energy metabolism in arrhythmogenic cardiomyopathy and other heart rhythm disorders such as atrial fibrillation or ventricular tachycardia, though there are reports alluding to perturbations in energy metabolism.

In a rat model of stress-induced cardiac damage and arrhythmias, administration of an overdose of isoproterenol (67 mg/kg) to male Wistar rats produces a mild systolic dysfunction and notable diastolic dysfunction in a hypercontractile state 2 weeks following isoproterenol treatment (Willis et al., 2015). Moreover, isolated mitochondria from the hearts of these rats at the same time point demonstrated significant reductions in both NADH and succinate linked respiration, whereas monitoring of aconitase activity demonstrated increases in oxidative stress. In 12 to 16-week old male B6.129S mice fed a high saturated fat diet (60% kcal from palm oil) for 4 weeks that does not induce significant weight gain (~3-4 grams) or cardiac dysfunction, in vivo telemetry revealed ventricular ectopy and a prolonged QT period due to an increase in NADPH oxidase 2 mediated oxidative stress (Joseph et al., 2019). Of interest, these observations were absent in mice with a whole-body deficiency of NADPH oxidase 2. Metabolic perturbations may also contribute to atrial fibrillation, as atrial expression of fatty acid binding protein 3, a key regulator of cellular fatty acid uptake and subsequent transport, is elevated in right atrial tissue biopsies from Japanese individuals undergoing heart surgery with established atrial fibrillation versus those with normal sinus rhythm (Shingu et al., 2020). Last, the cardiac ryanodine receptor (RYR2) plays a key role in excitation-contraction coupling, whereby sarcoplasmic reticulum release of calcium through the RYR2 allows for calcium to interact with cytosolic contractile proteins, and both gain and loss of function RYR2 mutations can promote arrhythmias and sudden cardiac death (Gomez and Richard, 2004). Studies in mice with a 50% reduction in cardiac RYR2 protein expression demonstrate significant reductions in heart rate assessed via in vivo radiotelemetry, which is associated with reductions in glucose oxidation rates assessed via isolated working heart perfusions (Bround et al., 2016).

While the above described studies lend credence to the notion that perturbations in energy metabolism may contribute to heart rhythm disturbances that are often present in people with arrhythmogenic cardiomyopathy, it should be noted that none of these studies actually assessed metabolic flux *per se*. Furthermore, whether these metabolic perturbations are causally related to heart rhythm disturbances or simply the result of arrhythmias remains to be determined, and it is also currently unknown whether such observations would translate to the

genetic mutations that predispose to inherited arrhythmogenic cardiomyopathy.

ENERGY METABOLISM AS A TARGET TO ALLEVIATE CARDIOMYOPATHY

As previously discussed, numerous studies have demonstrated that during the transition from compensated hypertrophy to decompensated heart failure, myocardial fatty acid oxidation rates decline as the heart adopts a phenotype mimicking fetal metabolism. Hence, the preservation of fatty acid oxidation has been investigated as a potential therapeutic strategy to reverse maladaptive metabolic remodeling and preserve cardiac function in the setting of pathological HCM. Cardiac-specific deletion of acetyl CoA carboxylase 2 in mice, which increases myocardial fatty acid oxidation via preventing the synthesis of malonyl CoA, is associated with reductions in cardiac hypertrophy and fibrosis, as well as improved ex vivo and in vivo cardiac function at 8 weeks post-TAC (KolwiczJr., Olson et al., 2012). However, as a genetic model where myocardial fatty acid oxidation rates are chronically elevated, it remains uncertain whether stimulating myocardial fatty acid oxidation specifically at the compensated hypertrophy stage, and prior to systolic dysfunction, would yield a similar result. Although there is inconsistency regarding myocardial glucose oxidation alterations in cardiac hypertrophy, treatment of isolated working hearts from male Sprague-Dawley rats after 10 weeks of AAC with dichloroacetate (DCA, 2 mM), a PDHK inhibitor, improves ex vivo cardiac function as indicated by increased LV pressures (Pound et al., 2009). In addition, infusion of angiotensin II $(1.5 \text{ mg} \cdot \text{kg}^{-1} \cdot \text{day}^{-1})$, a potent vasoconstrictor and mediator of cardiac injury, for 14 days via implanted micro osmotic pumps in male C57BL/6J mice induces cardiac hypertrophy and diastolic dysfunction (Mori et al., 2012). Moreover, isolated working hearts from these mice demonstrated significant reductions in glucose oxidation rates during aerobic perfusion, concomitant with a reduction in PDH activity. Interestingly, treatment with irbesartan (50 mg·kg⁻¹·day⁻¹), an angiotensin II type 1 receptor antagonist, prevents angiotensin II infusion-induced cardiac hypertrophy and diastolic dysfunction, which is associated with increased myocardial PDH activity and subsequent glucose oxidation rates. It should be noted, though, that it remains unclear whether the increase in myocardial glucose oxidation rates is mechanistically required for how irbesartan attenuates diastolic dysfunction in response to angiotensin II infusion. Myocardial anaplerosis can also be targeted to attenuate cardiac dysfunction in response to TAC-induced pressure overload in male Sprague Dawley rats, as adenoviral delivery of a microRNA specific to malic enzyme improved contractile function during isolated Langendorff perfusions at 12 weeks post-TAC (Lahey et al., 2018). Taken together, it does appear that modifying myocardial energy metabolism can mitigate cardiac dysfunction in experimental models of cardiac hypertrophy. Nevertheless, due to inconsistencies in the models utilized, as well as whether systolic or diastolic dysfunction predominates, or whether both are present, makes it challenging to discern whether targeting

myocardial energy metabolism can mitigate the diastolic dysfunction often observed in genetic/inherited HCM.

With regards to diabetic cardiomyopathy, numerous preclinical studies have demonstrated that correcting either elevated myocardial fatty acid oxidation rates or impaired myocardial glucose oxidation rates, yields salutary actions on cardiac function. For example, treatment for 3 weeks with the antianginal agent, trimetazidine (15 mg/kg once daily), which decreases fatty acid oxidation by inhibiting 3-ketoacyl-CoA thiolase, prevented diastolic dysfunction in 26-week-old male C57BL/6J mice fed a high-fat diet for 13 weeks (Ussher et al., 2014). These findings may translate to humans with T2D, as trimetazidine treatment for 6 months (20 mg 3x daily) in subjects with T2D and idiopathic dilated cardiomyopathy ameliorated both systolic and diastolic dysfunction (Zhao et al., 2013). Moreover, mice with a whole-body deficiency of malonyl CoA decarboxylase demonstrated reductions in fatty acid oxidation due to elevated malonyl CoA levels, while also displaying marked improvements in cardiac efficiency following high-fat diet-induced obesity (Ussher et al., 2009). As the reduction in myocardial fatty acid oxidation in response to treatment with trimetazidine, or due to malonyl CoA decarboxylase deficiency, is accompanied by corresponding increases in myocardial glucose oxidation, directly stimulating glucose oxidation in the heart also yields salutary actions in diabetic cardiomyopathy. In particular, supplementation of the drinking water for 4 weeks with DCA (1 mM), augmented myocardial PDH activity and glucose oxidation rates in male Wistar rats subjected to experimental T2D via high-fat diet supplementation and low-dose streptozotocin (25 mg/kg) administration (Le Page et al., 2015). Importantly, diastolic dysfunction was also ameliorated in these rats following treatment with DCA. Similarly, liraglutide, a T2D therapy that improves cardiovascular outcomes (Al Batran et al., 2018), also increases glucose oxidation rates in male C57BL/6J mice subjected to experimental T2D via high-fat diet supplementation and low-dose streptozotocin (75 mg/kg) administration, which was once again accompanied by an alleviation of diastolic dysfunction (Almutairi et al., 2020). On the contrary, increasing myocardial fatty acid oxidation via cardiac-specific deletion of acetyl CoA carboxylase 2 alleviates both systolic and diastolic dysfunction in a mouse model of obesity-induced cardiomyopathy following 24 weeks of supplementation with a high-fat diet (Shao et al., 2020). As mentioned previously, it has been suggested that SGLT2 inhibitors (e.g., empagliflozin) may improve cardiovascular outcomes in people with T2D via increasing myocardial ketone body oxidation rates (Lopaschuk and Verma, 2016). While cardiovascular outcomes studies with SGLT2 inhibitors have not assessed diabetic cardiomyopathy per se, preclinical studies have demonstrated that the SGLT2 inhibitor, empagliflozin, can attenuate diastolic dysfunction in obesity-induced cardiomyopathy (Sun et al., 2020). Nonetheless, whether myocardial ketone body oxidation rates were increased was not assessed, and treatment of genetically obese *db/db* mice with empagliflozin did not increase ketone body oxidation rates assessed during aerobic isolated working heart perfusions (Verma et al., 2018). Therefore, future studies are necessary to further elucidate whether modulating myocardial ketone body

oxidation can meaningfully impact the pathology of diabetic cardiomyopathy, and whether this may represent a potential cardioprotective mechanism of SGLT2 inhibitors.

Although there are no curative therapies for BTHS, BTHS-related cardiomyopathy is primarily managed using standard heart failure pharmacotherapy. However, in light of the documented myocardial metabolic perturbations in BTHS previously discussed, pharmacological optimization of myocardial energetics may represent a promising therapeutic approach to attenuate this form of inherited cardiomyopathy. To date, few studies have examined whether correcting defects in myocardial energy metabolism can reduce the risk for cardiomyopathy in people with BTHS. Intriguingly, treatment of 3-month-old TazKD mice with the pan-PPAR agonist (primarily PPARa), bezafibrate, via supplementation in the diet (0.05% weight/weight) for 4 months, prevented the development of dilated cardiomyopathy and systolic dysfunction (Schafer et al., 2018). Despite myocardial energy metabolism not being directly assessed, gene-ontology analysis revealed that bezafibrate treatment resulted in increased expression of genes involved in multiple intermediary energy metabolism pathways, and the actions of PPAR agonists to increase fatty acid oxidation are well documented (Lopaschuk et al., 2010). Nonetheless, Aasum et al. (2008) have shown that systemic administration of fibrates decreases myocardial fatty oxidation rates due to an elevation of hepatic fatty acid oxidation, which lowers circulating free fatty acids and TAGs, thereby decreasing fatty acid delivery to the heart. This decrease precipitated a corresponding increase in myocardial glucose oxidation and improvement in cardiac efficiency, suggesting that the potential benefit seen with bezafibrate therapy in TazKD mice may involve a similar mechanism. Furthermore, a mitochondrial targeted antioxidant that binds selectively to and stabilizes cardiolipin, elamipretide, is being investigated as a novel therapy for heart failure (Birk et al., 2013). While studies in a swine model of obesity and ex vivo human failing heart samples have demonstrated that elamipretide can improve mitochondrial function and integrity, it would be of interest to assess its potential utility for correcting cardiolipin defects in BTHS, and whether that is associated with a normalization of myocardial energy metabolism. Overall, future studies are still required to further delineate the specific metabolic perturbations that characterize the myocardium in BTHS, in order to better assess whether therapeutic interventions aimed at modulating myocardial energy metabolism may indeed be beneficial.

FINAL SUMMARY

Both ischemic and non-ischemic dilated cardiomyopathies often lead to overt heart failure and are characterized by perturbations in myocardial energy metabolism that may represent modifiable targets for reversing disease pathology (Taha and Lopaschuk, 2007; Jaswal et al., 2011; Heusch et al., 2014; Gibb and Hill, 2018). As our understanding of other forms of cardiomyopathies (e.g., HCM, diabetic cardiomyopathy, BTHS-related cardiomyopathy, arrhythmogenic cardiomyopathy) continues to grow, it does

Non-ischemic Cardiomyopathy and Metabolism

appear that perturbations in myocardial energy metabolism may actually represent a shared feature of cardiomyopathy in general. Before optimization of myocardial energy metabolism should even be considered as a possible therapeutic approach to improve cardiac function in genetic/inherited HCM, it will be important to develop novel mouse models harboring the same genetic mutations responsible for the numerous inherited HCMs identified to date. Indeed, BTHS represents a form of genetic/inherited cardiomyopathy where substantial advancements in defining myocardial energy metabolism defects have been made, due to the generation of the TazKD mouse model. Likewise, as non-invasive in vivo imaging techniques improve for quantifying myocardial energy metabolism in humans (e.g., hyperpolarized ¹³C magnetic resonance imaging to assess glucose oxidation), future opportunities to advance our understanding of myocardial energy metabolism in genetic/inherited HCM will likely follow. These same issues also apply to and should be considered in arrhythmogenic cardiomyopathy. If both avenues of pursuit indicate metabolic perturbations that parallel those observed in cardiac hypertrophy or cardiac arrhythmias, then identifying novel ways to feasibly reverse these defects in myocardial energy metabolism with pharmacotherapies should be explored. Finally, the perturbations in myocardial energy metabolism characterizing diabetic cardiomyopathy have

REFERENCES

- Aasum, E., Khalid, A. M., Gudbrandsen, O. A., How, O. J., Berge, R. K., and Larsen, T. S. (2008). Fenofibrate modulates cardiac and hepatic metabolism and increases ischemic tolerance in diet-induced obese mice. *J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol.* 44, 201–209. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2007.08.020
- Abdurrachim, D., Woo, C. C., Teo, X. Q., Chan, W. X., Radda, G. K., and Lee, P. T. H. (2019). A new hyperpolarized (13)C ketone body probe reveals an increase in acetoacetate utilization in the diabetic rat heart. *Sci. Rep.* 9:5532.
- Acehan, D., Vaz, F., Houtkooper, R. H., James, J., Moore, V., Tokunaga, C., et al. (2011). Cardiac and skeletal muscle defects in a mouse model of human Barth syndrome. J. Biol. Chem. 286, 899–908. doi: 10.1074/jbc.m110.171439
- Akki, A., Smith, K., and Seymour, A. M. (2008). Compensated cardiac hypertrophy is characterised by a decline in palmitate oxidation. *Mol. Cell. Biochem.* 311, 215–224. doi: 10.1007/s11010-008-9711-y
- Al Batran, R., Almutairi, M., and Ussher, J. R. (2018). Glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor mediated control of cardiac energy metabolism. *Peptides* 100, 94–100. doi: 10.1016/j.peptides.2017.12.005
- Al Batran, R., Gopal, K., Capozzi, M. E., Chahade, J. J., Saleme, B., Tabatabaei-Dakhili, S. A., et al. (2020). Pimozide alleviates hyperglycemia in diet-induced obesity by inhibiting skeletal muscle ketone oxidation. *Cell Metab.* 31, 909– 919.e8.
- Allard, M. F., Schonekess, B. O., Henning, S. L., English, D. R., and Lopaschuk, G. D. (1994). Contribution of oxidative metabolism and glycolysis to ATP production in hypertrophied hearts. *Am. J. Physiol.* 267, H742–H750.
- Almutairi, M., Gopal, K., Greenwell, A. A., Young, A., Gill, R., Aburasayn, H., et al. (2020). The GLP-1R agonist liraglutide increases myocardial glucose oxidation rates via indirect mechanisms and mitigates experimental diabetic cardiomyopathy. *Can. J. Cardiol.* [Epub ahead of print].
- Aubert, G., Martin, O. J., Horton, J. L., Lai, L., Vega, R. B., Leone, T. C., et al. (2016). The failing heart relies on ketone bodies as a fuel. *Circulation* 133, 698–705. doi: 10.1161/circulationaha.115.017355
- Banke, N. H., Wende, A. R., Leone, T. C., O'donnell, J. M., Abel, E. D., Kelly, D. P., et al. (2010). Preferential oxidation of triacylglyceride-derived fatty acids in

been extensively studied, and appear to be a promising approach for improving cardiac function in people with T2D. Therefore, as we continue to further understand the metabolic perturbations present in various cardiomyopathies, while delineating the molecular mechanisms responsible, it should pave the way for unique targets that can be modified using a personalized medicine approach to treat human cardiomyopathy.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors researched literature, drafted and wrote the review article, and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This review was supported by a Project Grant from the Canadian Institutes of Health Research, and a Grant-in-Aid from the Heart and Stroke Foundation of Canada to JU. JU was a Tier 2 Canada Research Chair (Pharmacotherapy of Energy Metabolism in Obesity). AG was supported by the Canada Graduate Scholarship from the Canadian Institutes of Health Research, and a Graduate Studentship from the Women and Children's Health Research Institute of the University of Alberta.

heart is augmented by the nuclear receptor PPARalpha. *Circ. Res.* 107, 233–241. doi: 10.1161/circresaha.110.221713

- Barger, P. M., Brandt, J. M., Leone, T. C., Weinheimer, C. J., and Kelly, D. P. (2000). Deactivation of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-alpha during cardiac hypertrophic growth. J. Clin. Invest. 105, 1723–1730. doi: 10. 1172/jci9056
- Basu, R., Oudit, G. Y., Wang, X., Zhang, L., Ussher, J. R., Lopaschuk, G. D., et al. (2009). Type 1 diabetic cardiomyopathy in the Akita (Ins2WT/C96Y) mouse model is characterized by lipotoxicity and diastolic dysfunction with preserved systolic function. Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol. 297, H2096–H2108.
- Battiprolu, P. K., Hojayev, B., Jiang, N., Wang, Z. V., Luo, X., Iglewski, M., et al. (2012). Metabolic stress-induced activation of FoxO1 triggers diabetic cardiomyopathy in mice. J. Clin. Invest. 122, 1109–1118. doi: 10.1172/jci60329
- Battiprolu, P. K., Lopez-Crisosto, C., Wang, Z. V., Nemchenko, A., Lavandero, S., and Hill, J. A. (2013). Diabetic cardiomyopathy and metabolic remodeling of the heart. *Life Sci.* 92, 609–615. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2012.10.011
- Bedi, K. C. Jr., Snyder, N. W., Brandimarto, J., Aziz, M., Mesaros, C., Worth, A. J., et al. (2016). Evidence for intramyocardial disruption of lipid metabolism and increased myocardial ketone utilization in advanced human heart failure. *Circulation* 133, 706–716. doi: 10.1161/circulationaha.115.017545
- Birk, A. V., Liu, S., Soong, Y., Mills, W., Singh, P., Warren, J. D., et al. (2013). The mitochondrial-targeted compound SS-31 re-energizes ischemic mitochondria by interacting with cardiolipin. *J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.* 24, 1250–1261. doi: 10. 1681/asn.2012121216
- Braunwald, E. (2017). Cardiomyopathies: an overview. Circ. Res. 121, 711–721. doi: 10.1161/circresaha.117.311812
- Bround, M. J., Wambolt, R., Cen, H., Asghari, P., Albu, R. F., Han, J., et al. (2016). Cardiac ryanodine receptor (Ryr2)-mediated calcium signals specifically promote glucose oxidation via pyruvate dehydrogenase. *J. Biol. Chem.* 291, 23490–23505. doi: 10.1074/jbc.m116.756973
- Brownsey, R. W., Boone, A. N., and Allard, M. F. (1997). Actions of insulin on the mammalian heart: metabolism, pathology and biochemical mechanisms. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 34, 3–24. doi: 10.1016/s0008-6363(97)00051-5
- Bucci, M., Borra, R., Nagren, K., Parkka, J. P., Del Ry, S., Maggio, R., et al. (2012). Trimetazidine reduces endogenous free fatty acid oxidation and improves

myocardial efficiency in obese humans. *Cardiovasc. Ther.* 30, 333–341. doi: 10.1111/j.1755-5922.2011.00275.x

- Buchanan, J., Mazumder, P. K., Hu, P., Chakrabarti, G., Roberts, M. W., Yun, U. J., et al. (2005). Reduced cardiac efficiency and altered substrate metabolism precedes the onset of hyperglycemia and contractile dysfunction in two mouse models of insulin resistance and obesity. *Endocrinology* 146, 5341–5349. doi: 10.1210/en.2005-0938
- Burkart, E. M., Sambandam, N., Han, X., Gross, R. W., Courtois, M., Gierasch, C. M., et al. (2007). Nuclear receptors PPARbeta/delta and PPARalpha direct distinct metabolic regulatory programs in the mouse heart. *J. Clin. Invest.* 117, 3930–3939.
- Byrne, N. J., Levasseur, J., Sung, M. M., Masson, G., Boisvenue, J., Young, M. E., et al. (2016). Normalization of cardiac substrate utilization and left ventricular hypertrophy precede functional recovery in heart failure regression. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 110, 249–257. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvw051
- Cade, W. T., Laforest, R., Bohnert, K. L., Reeds, D. N., Bittel, A. J., De Las Fuentes, L., et al. (2019). Myocardial glucose and fatty acid metabolism is altered and associated with lower cardiac function in young adults with Barth syndrome. *J. Nucl. Cardiol.* [Eoub ahead of print].
- Chan, A. Y., and Dyck, J. R. (2005). Activation of AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) inhibits protein synthesis: a potential strategy to prevent the development of cardiac hypertrophy. *Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol.* 83, 24–28. doi: 10.1139/y04-107
- Chandra, M., Tschirgi, M. L., and Tardiff, J. C. (2005). Increase in tensiondependent ATP consumption induced by cardiac troponin T mutation. Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol. 289, H2112–H2119.
- Chatfield, K. C., Sparagna, G. C., Sucharov, C. C., Miyamoto, S. D., Grudis, J. E., Sobus, R. D., et al. (2014). Dysregulation of cardiolipin biosynthesis in pediatric heart failure. *J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol.* 74, 251–259. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2014.06. 002
- Cheng, L., Ding, G., Qin, Q., Huang, Y., Lewis, W., He, N., et al. (2004). Cardiomyocyte-restricted peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-delta deletion perturbs myocardial fatty acid oxidation and leads to cardiomyopathy. *Nat. Med.* 10, 1245–1250. doi: 10.1038/nm1116
- Collins, H. E., and Chatham, J. C. (2020). Regulation of cardiac O-GlcNAcylation: more than just nutrient availability. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta Mol. Basis Dis.* 1866:165712. doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2020.165712
- Corrado, D., Basso, C., and Judge, D. P. (2017). Arrhythmogenic cardiomyopathy. *Circ. Res.* 121, 784–802.
- Denton, R. M. (2009). Regulation of mitochondrial dehydrogenases by calcium ions. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1787, 1309–1316. doi: 10.1016/j.bbabio.2009.01. 005
- Des Rosiers, C., Labarthe, F., Lloyd, S. G., and Chatham, J. C. (2011). Cardiac anaplerosis in health and disease: food for thought. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 90, 210– 219. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvr055
- D'Souza, K., Nzirorera, C., and Kienesberger, P. C. (2016). Lipid metabolism and signaling in cardiac lipotoxicity. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1861, 1513–1524. doi: 10.1016/j.bbalip.2016.02.016
- Duan, S. Z., Ivashchenko, C. Y., Russell, M. W., Milstone, D. S., and Mortensen, R. M. (2005). Cardiomyocyte-specific knockout and agonist of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma both induce cardiac hypertrophy in mice. *Circ. Res.* 97, 372–379. doi: 10.1161/01.res.0000179226.34112.6d
- Dudek, J., Hartmann, M., and Rehling, P. (2019). The role of mitochondrial cardiolipin in heart function and its implication in cardiac disease. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta Mol. Basis Dis.* 1865, 810–821. doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2018.08.025
- Dudek, J., and Maack, C. (2017). Barth syndrome cardiomyopathy. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 113, 399–410. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvx014
- Ferrannini, E., Mark, M., and Mayoux, E. (2016). CV protection in the EMPA-REG OUTCOME trial: a "thrifty substrate" hypothesis. *Diabetes Care* 39, 1108–1114. doi: 10.2337/dc16-0330
- Finck, B., Lehman, J., Leone, T., Welch, M., Bennett, M., Kovacs, A., et al. (2002). The cardiac phenotype induced by PPARα overexpression mimics that caused by diabetes mellitus. *J. Clin. Invest.* 109, 121–130. doi: 10.1172/jci021 4080
- Finck, B. N., Han, X., Courtois, M., Aimond, F., Nerbonne, J. M., Kovacs, A., et al. (2003). A critical role for PPARalpha-mediated lipotoxicity in the pathogenesis of diabetic cardiomyopathy: modulation by dietary fat content. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 100, 1226–1231. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0336724100

- Folmes, K. D., Chan, A. Y., Koonen, D. P., Pulinilkunnil, T. C., Baczko, I., Hunter, B. E., et al. (2009). Distinct early signaling events resulting from the expression of the PRKAG2 R302Q mutant of AMPK contribute to increased myocardial glycogen. *Circ. Cardiovasc. Genet.* 2, 457–466. doi: 10.1161/circgenetics.108. 834564
- Geisterfer-Lowrance, A. A., Kass, S., Tanigawa, G., Vosberg, H. P., Mckenna, W., Seidman, C. E., et al. (1990). A molecular basis for familial hypertrophic cardiomyopathy: a beta cardiac myosin heavy chain gene missense mutation. *Cell* 62, 999–1006. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(90)90274-i
- Gibb, A. A., and Hill, B. G. (2018). Metabolic coordination of physiological and pathological cardiac remodeling. *Circ. Res.* 123, 107–128.
- Gollob, M. H., Green, M. S., Tang, A. S., Gollob, T., Karibe, A., Ali Hassan, A. S., et al. (2001). Identification of a gene responsible for familial wolff-Parkinsonwhite syndrome. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 344, 1823–1831.
- Gomez, A. M., and Richard, S. (2004). Mutant cardiac ryanodine receptors and ventricular arrhythmias: is 'gain-of-function' obligatory? *Cardiovasc. Res.* 64, 3–5.
- Gopal, K., Saleme, B., Al Batran, R., Aburasayn, H., Eshreif, A., Ho, K. L., et al. (2017). FoxO1 regulates myocardial glucose oxidation rates via transcriptional control of pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase 4 expression. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol.* 313, H479–H490.
- Guclu, A., Knaapen, P., Harms, H. J., Parbhudayal, R. Y., Michels, M., Lammertsma, A. A., et al. (2017). Disease stage-dependent changes in cardiac contractile performance and oxygen utilization underlie reduced myocardial efficiency in human inherited hypertrophic cardiomyopathy. *Circ. Cardiovasc. Imaging* 10:e005604.
- Gupte, A. A., Minze, L. J., Reyes, M., Ren, Y., Wang, X., Brunner, G., et al. (2013). High-fat feeding-induced hyperinsulinemia increases cardiac glucose uptake and mitochondrial function despite peripheral insulin resistance. *Endocrinology* 154, 2650–2662.
- Gupte, S. A., Levine, R. J., Gupte, R. S., Young, M. E., Lionetti, V., Labinskyy, V., et al. (2006). Glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase-derived NADPH fuels superoxide production in the failing heart. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 41, 340–349.
- Hafstad, A. D., Solevag, G. H., Severson, D. L., Larsen, T. S., and Aasum, E. (2006). Perfused hearts from type 2 diabetic (db/db) mice show metabolic responsiveness to insulin. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol.* 290, H1763– H1769.
- Halestrap, A. P. (1978). Pyruvate and ketone-body transport across the mitochondrial membrane. Exchange properties, pH-dependence and mechanism of the carrier. *Biochem. J.* 172, 377–387.
- He, Q. (2010). Tafazzin knockdown causes hypertrophy of neonatal ventricular myocytes. Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol. 299, H210–H216.
- Herrero, P., Peterson, L. R., Mcgill, J. B., Matthew, S., Lesniak, D., Dence, C., et al. (2006). Increased myocardial fatty acid metabolism in patients with type 1 diabetes mellitus. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 47, 598–604.
- Heusch, G., Libby, P., Gersh, B., Yellon, D., Bohm, M., Lopaschuk, G., et al. (2014). Cardiovascular remodelling in coronary artery disease and heart failure. *Lancet* 383, 1933–1943.
- Ho, C. Y., Charron, P., Richard, P., Girolami, F., Van Spaendonck-Zwarts, K. Y., and Pinto, Y. (2015). Genetic advances in sarcomeric cardiomyopathies: state of the art. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 105, 397–408.
- Ho, K. L., Karwi, Q. G., Wagg, C., Zhang, L., Vo, K., Altamimi, T., et al. (2020). Ketones can become the major fuel source for the heart but do not increase cardiac efficiency. *Cardiovasc. Res.* doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvaa143 [Epub ahead of print].
- Ho, K. L., Zhang, L., Wagg, C., Al Batran, R., Gopal, K., Levasseur, J., et al. (2019). Increased ketone body oxidation provides additional energy for the failing heart without improving cardiac efficiency. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 115, 1606–1616.
- How, O. J., Aasum, E., Severson, D. L., Chan, W. Y., Essop, M. F., and Larsen, T. S. (2006). Increased myocardial oxygen consumption reduces cardiac efficiency in diabetic mice. *Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev.* 55, 466–473.
- Huang, Y., Powers, C., Madala, S. K., Greis, K. D., Haffey, W. D., Towbin, J. A., et al. (2015). Cardiac metabolic pathways affected in the mouse model of Barth syndrome. *PLoS One* 10:e0128561. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0128561
- Hunt, S. A., Baker, D. W., Chin, M. H., Cinquegrani, M. P., Feldman, A. M., Francis, G. S., et al. (2001). ACC/AHA guidelines for the evaluation and management of chronic heart failure in the adult: executive summary a report of the American college of cardiology/American heart association task

force on practice guidelines (committee to revise the 1995 guidelines for the evaluation and management of heart failure): developed in collaboration with the international society for heart and lung transplantation; endorsed by the heart failure society of America. *Circulation* 104, 2996–3007.

- Huss, J. M., and Kelly, D. P. (2005). Mitochondrial energy metabolism in heart failure: a question of balance. J. Clin. Invest. 115, 547–555.
- Jaswal, J. S., Keung, W., Wang, W., Ussher, J. R., and Lopaschuk, G. D. (2011). Targeting fatty acid and carbohydrate oxidation-a novel therapeutic intervention in the ischemic and failing heart. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1813, 1333–1350.
- Jefferies, J. L. (2013). Barth syndrome. Am. J. Med. Genet. C Semin. Med. Genet. 163C, 198–205.
- Jing, E., O'neill, B. T., Rardin, M. J., Kleinridders, A., Ilkeyeva, O. R., Ussar, S., et al. (2013). Sirt3 regulates metabolic flexibility of skeletal muscle through reversible enzymatic deacetylation. *Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev.* 62, 3404–3417.
- Johnson, J. M., Ferrara, P. J., Verkerke, A. R. P., Coleman, C. B., Wentzler, E. J., Neufer, P. D., et al. (2018). Targeted overexpression of catalase to mitochondria does not prevent cardioskeletal myopathy in Barth syndrome. *J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol.* 121, 94–102.
- Joseph, L. C., Avula, U. M. R., Wan, E. Y., Reyes, M. V., Lakkadi, K. R., Subramanyam, P., et al. (2019). Dietary saturated fat promotes arrhythmia by activating NOX2 (NADPH Oxidase 2). *Circ. Arrhythm. Electrophysiol.* 12:e007573.
- Kelly, D. P., and Strauss, A. W. (1994). Inherited cardiomyopathies. N. Engl. J. Med. 330, 913–919.
- Kiebish, M. A., Yang, K., Liu, X., Mancuso, D. J., Guan, S., Zhao, Z., et al. (2013). Dysfunctional cardiac mitochondrial bioenergetic, lipidomic, and signaling in a murine model of Barth syndrome. J. Lipid Res. 54, 1312–1325.
- Kim, M. S., Wang, F., Puthanveetil, P., Kewalramani, G., Hosseini-Beheshti, E., Ng, N., et al. (2008). Protein kinase D is a key regulator of cardiomyocyte lipoprotein lipase secretion after diabetes. *Circ. Res.* 103, 252–260.
- Kolwicz, S. C. Jr., Olson, D. P., Marney, L. C., Garcia-Menendez, L., Synovec, R. E., and Tian, R. (2012). Cardiac-specific deletion of acetyl CoA carboxylase 2 prevents metabolic remodeling during pressure-overload hypertrophy. *Circ. Res.* 111, 728–738.
- Kuang, M., Febbraio, M., Wagg, C., Lopaschuk, G. D., and Dyck, J. R. (2004). Fatty acid translocase/CD36 deficiency does not energetically or functionally compromise hearts before or after ischemia. *Circulation* 109, 1550–1557.
- Lahey, R., Carley, A. N., Wang, X., Glass, C. E., Accola, K. D., Silvestry, S., et al. (2018). Enhanced redox state and efficiency of glucose oxidation with miR based suppression of maladaptive NADPH-dependent malic enzyme 1 expression in hypertrophied hearts. *Circ. Res.* 122, 836–845. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.118. 312660
- Le Page, L. M., Rider, O. J., Lewis, A. J., Ball, V., Clarke, K., Johansson, E., et al. (2015). Increasing pyruvate dehydrogenase flux as a treatment for diabetic cardiomyopathy: a combined 13C hyperpolarized magnetic resonance and echocardiography study. *Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev.* 64, 2735–2743. doi: 10.2337/ db14-1560
- Lee, T. M., Hsu, D. T., Kantor, P., Towbin, J. A., Ware, S. M., Colan, S. D., et al. (2017). Pediatric cardiomyopathies. *Circ. Res.* 121, 855–873. doi: 10.1161/ CIRCRESAHA.116.309386
- Li, Y., Lou, W., Raja, V., Denis, S., Yu, W., Schmidtke, M. W., et al. (2019). Cardiolipin-induced activation of pyruvate dehydrogenase links mitochondrial lipid biosynthesis to TCA cycle function. *J. Biol. Chem.* 294, 11568–11578. doi: 10.1074/jbc.RA119.009037
- Liu, J. W., Liu, D., Cui, K. Z., Xu, Y., Li, Y. B., Sun, Y. M., et al. (2012). Recent advances in understanding the biochemical and molecular mechanism of diabetic cardiomyopathy. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 427, 441–443. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2012.09.058
- Liu, Q., Docherty, J. C., Rendell, J. C., Clanachan, A. S., and Lopaschuk, G. D. (2002). High levels of fatty acids delay the recovery of intracellular pH and cardiac efficiency in post-ischemic hearts by inhibiting glucose oxidation. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 39, 718–725. doi: 10.1016/S0735-1097(01)01803-4
- Lopaschuk, G. D., Folmes, C. D., and Stanley, W. C. (2007). Cardiac energy metabolism in obesity. *Circ. Res.* 101, 335–347. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA. 107.150417

- Lopaschuk, G. D., and Ussher, J. R. (2016). Evolving concepts of myocardial energy metabolism: more than just fats and carbohydrates. *Circ. Res.* 119, 1173–1176. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.116.310078
- Lopaschuk, G. D., Ussher, J. R., Folmes, C. D., Jaswal, J. S., and Stanley, W. C. (2010). Myocardial fatty acid metabolism in health and disease. *Physiol. Rev.* 90, 207–258. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00015.2009
- Lopaschuk, G. D., and Verma, S. (2016). Empagliflozin's fuel hypothesis: not so soon. *Cell Metab.* 24, 200–202. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2016.07.018
- Luiken, J. J., Ouwens, D. M., Habets, D. D., Van Der Zon, G. C., Coumans, W. A., Schwenk, R. W., et al. (2009). Permissive action of protein kinase C-zeta in insulin-induced CD36- and GLUT4 translocation in cardiac myocytes. *J. Endocrinol.* 201, 199–209. doi: 10.1677/JOE-09-0046
- Luiken, J. J., Turcotte, L. P., and Bonen, A. (1999). Protein-mediated palmitate uptake and expression of fatty acid transport proteins in heart giant vesicles. *J. Lipid Res.* 40, 1007–1016.
- Marian, A. J., and Braunwald, E. (2017). Hypertrophic cardiomyopathy: genetics, pathogenesis, clinical manifestations, diagnosis, and therapy. *Circ. Res.* 121, 749–770. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.117.311059
- Mazumder, P. K., O'neill, B. T., Roberts, M. W., Buchanan, J., Yun, U. J., Cooksey, R. C., et al. (2004). Impaired cardiac efficiency and increased fatty acid oxidation in insulin-resistant ob/ob mouse hearts. *Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev.* 53, 2366– 2374. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.53.9.2366
- McKenna, W. J., Maron, B. J., and Thiene, G. (2017). Classification, epidemiology, and global burden of cardiomyopathies. *Circ. Res.* 121, 722–730. doi: 10.1161/ CIRCRESAHA.117.309711
- Menard, S. L., Croteau, E., Sarrhini, O., Gelinas, R., Brassard, P., Ouellet, R., et al. (2010). Abnormal in vivo myocardial energy substrate uptake in diet-induced type 2 diabetic cardiomyopathy in rats. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 298, E1049–E1057. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00560.2009
- Mizuno, Y., Harada, E., Nakagawa, H., Morikawa, Y., Shono, M., Kugimiya, F., et al. (2017). The diabetic heart utilizes ketone bodies as an energy source. *Metabolism* 77, 65–72. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2017.08.005
- Mori, J., Basu, R., Mclean, B. A., Das, S. K., Zhang, L., Patel, V. B., et al. (2012). Agonist-induced hypertrophy and diastolic dysfunction are associated with selective reduction in glucose oxidation: a metabolic contribution to heart failure with normal ejection fraction. *Circ. Heart Fail.* 5, 493–503. doi: 10.1161/ CIRCHEARTFAILURE.112.966705
- Murphy, M. P., and O'Neill, L. A. J. (2018). Krebs cycle reimagined: the emerging roles of succinate and itaconate as signal transducers. *Cell* 174, 780–784. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2018.07.030
- Nakamura, M., Liu, T., Husain, S., Zhai, P., Warren, J. S., Hsu, C. P., et al. (2019). Glycogen synthase kinase-3alpha promotes fatty acid uptake and lipotoxic cardiomyopathy. *Cell Metab.* 29, 1119–1134.e12. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2019.01. 005
- Nascimben, L., Ingwall, J. S., Lorell, B. H., Pinz, I., Schultz, V., Tornheim, K., et al. (2004). Mechanisms for increased glycolysis in the hypertrophied rat heart. *Hypertension* 44, 662–667. doi: 10.1161/01.HYP.0000144292.69599.0c
- Neubauer, S. (2007). The failing heart-an engine out of fuel. N. Engl. J. Med. 356, 1140-1151. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra063052
- Norman, M., Simpson, M., Mogensen, J., Shaw, A., Hughes, S., Syrris, P., et al. (2005). Novel mutation in desmoplakin causes arrhythmogenic left ventricular cardiomyopathy. *Circulation* 112, 636–642. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA. 104.532234
- Osorio, J. C., Stanley, W. C., Linke, A., Castellari, M., Diep, Q. N., Panchal, A. R., et al. (2002). Impaired myocardial fatty acid oxidation and reduced protein expression of retinoid X receptor-alpha in pacing-induced heart failure. *Circulation* 106, 606–612. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000023531.22727.C1
- Ouwens, D. M., Diamant, M., Fodor, M., Habets, D. D. J., Pelsers, M., El Hasnaoui, M., et al. (2007). Cardiac contractile dysfunction in insulin-resistant rats fed a high-fat diet is associated with elevated CD36-mediated fatty acid uptake and esterification. *Diabetologia* 50, 1938–1948. doi: 10.1007/s00125-007-0735-8
- Patel, M. S., and Korotchkina, L. G. (2006). Regulation of the pyruvate dehydrogenase complex. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 34, 217–222. doi: 10.1042/ BST0340217
- Patel, M. S., Nemeria, N. S., Furey, W., and Jordan, F. (2014). The pyruvate dehydrogenase complexes: structure-based function and regulation. *J. Biol. Chem.* 289, 16615–16623. doi: 10.1074/jbc.R114.563148

- Peterson, L. R., Herrero, P., Schechtman, K. B., Racette, S. B., Waggoner, A. D., Kisrieva-Ware, Z., et al. (2004). Effect of obesity and insulin resistance on myocardial substrate metabolism and efficiency in young women. *Circulation* 109, 2191–2196. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000127959.28627.F8
- Pound, K. M., Sorokina, N., Ballal, K., Berkich, D. A., Fasano, M., Lanoue, K. F., et al. (2009). Substrate-enzyme competition attenuates upregulated anaplerotic flux through malic enzyme in hypertrophied rat heart and restores triacylglyceride content: attenuating upregulated anaplerosis in hypertrophy. *Circ. Res.* 104, 805–812. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.108.189951
- Powers, C., Huang, Y., Strauss, A., and Khuchua, Z. (2013). Diminished exercise capacity and mitochondrial *bc1* complex deficiency in tafazzin-knockdown mice. *Front. Physiol.* 4:74. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2013.00074
- Puchalska, P., and Crawford, P. A. (2017). Multi-dimensional roles of ketone bodies in fuel metabolism, signaling, and therapeutics. *Cell Metab.* 25, 262–284. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2016.12.022
- Pulinilkunnil, T., and Rodrigues, B. (2006). Cardiac lipoprotein lipase: metabolic basis for diabetic heart disease. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 69, 329–340. doi: 10.1016/j. cardiores.2005.09.017
- Randle, P. J., Garland, P. B., Hales, C. N., and Newsholme, E. A. (1963). The glucose fatty-acid cycle. Its role in insulin sensitivity and the metabolic disturbances of diabetes mellitus. *Lancet* 1, 785–789. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(63)91500-9
- Razeghi, P., Young, M. E., Alcorn, J. L., Moravec, C. S., Frazier, O. H., and Taegtmeyer, H. (2001). Metabolic gene expression in fetal and failing human heart. *Circulation* 104, 2923–2931. doi: 10.1161/hc4901.100526
- Reibel, D. K., Uboh, C. E., and Kent, R. L. (1983). Altered coenzyme A and carnitine metabolism in pressure-overload hypertrophied hearts. Am. J. Physiol. 244, H839–H843. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.1983.244.6.H839
- Rijzewijk, L. J., Van Der Meer, R. W., Lamb, H. J., De Jong, H. W., Lubberink, M., Romijn, J. A., et al. (2009). Altered myocardial substrate metabolism and decreased diastolic function in nonischemic human diabetic cardiomyopathy: studies with cardiac positron emission tomography and magnetic resonance imaging. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 54, 1524–1532. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2009.04.074
- Ritchie, R. H., and Abel, E. D. (2020). Basic mechanisms of diabetic heart disease. *Circ. Res.* 126, 1501–1525. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.120.315913
- Rubler, S., Dlugash, J., Yuceoglu, Y. Z., Kumral, T., Branwood, A. W., and Grishman, A. (1972). New type of cardiomyopathy associated with diabetic glomerulosclerosis. *Am. J. Cardiol.* 30, 595–602. doi: 10.1016/0002-9149(72) 90595-4
- Sack, M. N., Rader, T. A., Park, S., Bastin, J., Mccune, S. A., and Kelly, D. P. (1996). Fatty acid oxidation enzyme gene expression is downregulated in the failing heart. *Circulation* 94, 2837–2842. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.94.11.2837
- Sakamoto, J., Barr, R. L., Kavanagh, K. M., and Lopaschuk, G. D. (2000). Contribution of malonyl-CoA decarboxylase to the high fatty acid oxidation rates seen in the diabetic heart. Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol. 278, H1196–H1204. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.2000.278.4.H1196
- Sandlers, Y., Mercier, K., Pathmasiri, W., Carlson, J., Mcritchie, S., Sumner, S., et al. (2016). Metabolomics reveals new mechanisms for pathogenesis in Barth syndrome and introduces novel roles for cardiolipin in cellular function. *PLoS One* 11:e0151802. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0151802
- Schafer, C., Moore, V., Dasgupta, N., Javadov, S., James, J. F., Glukhov, A. I., et al. (2018). The effects of PPAR stimulation on cardiac metabolic pathways in Barth syndrome mice. *Front. Pharmacol.* 9:318. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2018.00318
- Schugar, R. C., Moll, A. R., Andre D'avignon, D., Weinheimer, C. J., Kovacs, A., and Crawford, P. A. (2014). Cardiomyocyte-specific deficiency of ketone body metabolism promotes accelerated pathological remodeling. *Mol. Metab.* 3, 754–769. doi: 10.1016/j.molmet.2014.07.010
- Semsarian, C., Ingles, J., Maron, M. S., and Maron, B. J. (2015). New perspectives on the prevalence of hypertrophic cardiomyopathy. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 65, 1249–1254. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2015.01.019
- Sen, S., Kundu, B. K., Wu, H. C., Hashmi, S. S., Guthrie, P., Locke, L. W., et al. (2013). Glucose regulation of load-induced mTOR signaling and ER stress in mammalian heart. J. Am. Heart Assoc. 2:e004796. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.113. 004796
- Shao, D., Kolwicz, S. C., Wang, P., Roe, N. D., Villet, O., Nishi, K., et al. (2020). Increasing fatty acid oxidation prevents high fat diet induced cardiomyopathy through regulating Parkin mediated mitophagy. *Circulation* doi: 10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.119.043319 [Epub ahead of print].

- Shao, D., Villet, O., Zhang, Z., Choi, S. W., Yan, J., Ritterhoff, J., et al. (2018). Glucose promotes cell growth by suppressing branched-chain amino acid degradation. *Nat. Commun.* 9:2935. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-05362-7
- Shingu, Y., Takada, S., Yokota, T., Shirakawa, R., Yamada, A., Ooka, T., et al. (2020). Correlation between increased atrial expression of genes related to fatty acid metabolism and autophagy in patients with chronic atrial fibrillation. *PLoS One* 15:e0224713. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0224713
- Shioi, T., Mcmullen, J. R., Tarnavski, O., Converso, K., Sherwood, M. C., Manning, W. J., et al. (2003). Rapamycin attenuates load-induced cardiac hypertrophy in mice. *Circulation* 107, 1664–1670. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000057979.36322.88
- Shipp, J. C., Delcher, H. K., and Crevasse, L. E. (1964a). Glucose metabolism by the hexose monophosphate pathway in the perfused rat heart. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 86, 399–402. doi: 10.1016/0304-4165(64)90070-4
- Shipp, J. C., Thomas, J. M., and Crevasse, L. (1964b). Oxidation of carbon-14labeled endogenous lipids by isolated perfused rat heart. *Science* 143, 371–373. doi: 10.1126/science.143.3604.371
- Shipp, J. C., Opie, L. H., and Challoner, D. (1961). Fatty acid and glucose metabolism in the perfused heart. *Nature* 189, 1018–1019. doi: 10.1038/ 1891018a0
- Son, N. H., Park, T. S., Yamashita, H., Yokoyama, M., Huggins, L. A., Okajima, K., et al. (2007). Cardiomyocyte expression of PPARgamma leads to cardiac dysfunction in mice. J. Clin. Invest. 117, 2791–2801. doi: 10.1172/JCI30335
- Son, N. H., Yu, S., Tuinei, J., Arai, K., Hamai, H., Homma, S., et al. (2010). PPARgamma-induced cardiolipotoxicity in mice is ameliorated by PPARalpha deficiency despite increases in fatty acid oxidation. *J. Clin. Invest.* 120, 3443– 3454. doi: 10.1172/JCI40905
- Sorokina, N., O'donnell, J. M., Mckinney, R. D., Pound, K. M., Woldegiorgis, G., Lanoue, K. F., et al. (2007). Recruitment of compensatory pathways to sustain oxidative flux with reduced carnitine palmitoyltransferase I activity characterizes inefficiency in energy metabolism in hypertrophied hearts. *Circulation* 115, 2033–2041. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.106.668665
- Sparagna, G. C., Chicco, A. J., Murphy, R. C., Bristow, M. R., Johnson, C. A., Rees, M. L., et al. (2007). Loss of cardiac tetralinoleoyl cardiolipin in human and experimental heart failure. *J. Lipid Res.* 48, 1559–1570. doi: 10.1194/jlr. M600551-JLR200
- Spencer, C. T., Bryant, R. M., Day, J., Gonzalez, I. L., Colan, S. D., Thompson, W. R., et al. (2006). Cardiac and clinical phenotype in Barth syndrome. *Pediatrics* 118, e337–e346. doi: 10.1542/peds.2005-2667
- Stanley, W. C., Recchia, F. A., and Lopaschuk, G. D. (2005). Myocardial substrate metabolism in the normal and failing heart. *Physiol. Rev.* 85, 1093–1129. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00006.2004
- Steinberg, G. R., and Kemp, B. E. (2009). AMPK in health and disease. *Physiol. Rev.* 89, 1025–1078. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00011.2008
- Suarez, J., Cividini, F., Scott, B. T., Lehmann, K., Diaz-Juarez, J., Diemer, T., et al. (2018). Restoring mitochondrial calcium uniporter expression in diabetic mouse heart improves mitochondrial calcium handling and cardiac function. *J. Biol. Chem.* 293, 8182–8195. doi: 10.1074/jbc.RA118.002066
- Sun, X., Han, F., Lu, Q., Li, X., Ren, D., Zhang, J., et al. (2020). Empagliflozin ameliorates obesity-related cardiac dysfunction by regulating sestrin2-mediated AMPK-mTOR signaling and redox homeostasis in high-fat diet-induced obese mice. *Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev.* 69, 1292–1305. doi: 10.2337/db19-0991
- Taha, M., and Lopaschuk, G. D. (2007). Alterations in energy metabolism in cardiomyopathies. Ann. Med. 39, 594–607. doi: 10.1080/0785389070161 8305
- Teusink, B., Voshol, P. J., Dahlmans, V. E., Rensen, P. C., Pijl, H., Romijn, J. A., et al. (2003). Contribution of fatty acids released from lipolysis of plasma triglycerides to total plasma fatty acid flux and tissue-specific fatty acid uptake. *Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev.* 52, 614–620. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.52.3.614
- Tian, R., Musi, N., D'agostino, J., Hirshman, M. F., and Goodyear, L. J. (2001). Increased adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase activity in rat hearts with pressure-overload hypertrophy. *Circulation* 104, 1664–1669. doi: 10.1161/hc4001.097183
- Timmer, S. A., Germans, T., Brouwer, W. P., Lubberink, M., Van Der Velden, J., Wilde, A. A., et al. (2011). Carriers of the hypertrophic cardiomyopathy MYBPC3 mutation are characterized by reduced myocardial efficiency in the absence of hypertrophy and microvascular dysfunction. *Eur. J. Heart Fail.* 13, 1283–1289. doi: 10.1093/eurjhf/hfr135

- Towbin, J. A., and Jefferies, J. L. (2017). Cardiomyopathies due to left ventricular noncompaction, mitochondrial and storage diseases, and inborn errors of metabolism. *Circ. Res.* 121, 838–854. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.117.3 10987
- Ussher, J. R. (2014). The role of cardiac lipotoxicity in the pathogenesis of diabetic cardiomyopathy. *Expert Rev. Cardiovasc. Ther.* 12, 345–358. doi: 10.1586/ 14779072.2014.891939
- Ussher, J. R., Elmariah, S., Gerszten, R. E., and Dyck, J. R. (2016). The emerging role of metabolomics in the diagnosis and prognosis of cardiovascular disease. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 68, 2850–2870. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2016.09.972
- Ussher, J. R., Fillmore, N., Keung, W., Mori, J., Beker, D. L., Wagg, C. S., et al. (2014). Trimetazidine therapy prevents obesity-induced cardiomyopathy in mice. *Can. J. Cardiol.* 30, 940–944. doi: 10.1016/j.cjca.2014. 04.023
- Ussher, J. R., Jaswal, J. S., and Lopaschuk, G. D. (2012). Pyridine nucleotide regulation of cardiac intermediary metabolism. *Circ. Res.* 111, 628–641. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.111.246371
- Ussher, J. R., Koves, T. R., Jaswal, J. S., Zhang, L., Ilkayeva, O., Dyck, J. R., et al. (2009). Insulin-stimulated cardiac glucose oxidation is increased in high-fat diet-induced obese mice lacking malonyl CoA decarboxylase. *Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev.* 58, 1766–1775. doi: 10.2337/db09-0011
- van de Weijer, T., Schrauwen-Hinderling, V. B., and Schrauwen, P. (2011). Lipotoxicity in type 2 diabetic cardiomyopathy. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 92, 10–18. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvr212
- Verma, S., Rawat, S., Ho, K. L., Wagg, C. S., Zhang, L., Teoh, H., et al. (2018). Empagliflozin increases cardiac energy production in diabetes: novel translational insights into the heart failure benefits of SGLT2 inhibitors. *JACC Basic Transl. Sci.* 3, 575–587. doi: 10.1016/j.jacbts.2018.07.006
- Willis, B. C., Salazar-Cantu, A., Silva-Platas, C., Fernandez-Sada, E., Villegas, C. A., Rios-Argaiz, E., et al. (2015). Impaired oxidative metabolism and calcium mishandling underlie cardiac dysfunction in a rat model of post-acute isoproterenol-induced cardiomyopathy. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol.* 308, H467–H477. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00734.2013
- Wisneski, J. A., Gertz, E. W., Neese, R. A., Gruenke, L. D., Morris, D. L., and Craig, J. C. (1985). Metabolic fate of extracted glucose in normal human myocardium. *J. Clin. Invest.* 76, 1819–1827. doi: 10.1172/JCI112174
- Wisneski, J. A., Stanley, W. C., Neese, R. A., and Gertz, E. W. (1990). Effects of acute hyperglycemia on myocardial glycolytic activity in humans. J. Clin. Invest. 85, 1648–1656. doi: 10.1172/JCI114616
- Witjas-Paalberends, E. R., Guclu, A., Germans, T., Knaapen, P., Harms, H. J., Vermeer, A. M., et al. (2014). Gene-specific increase in the energetic cost of contraction in hypertrophic cardiomyopathy caused by thick filament mutations. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 103, 248–257. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvu127

- Woulfe, K. C., and Bruns, D. R. (2019). From pediatrics to geriatrics: mechanisms of heart failure across the life-course. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 126, 70–76. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2018.11.009
- Wright, J. J., Kim, J., Buchanan, J., Boudina, S., Sena, S., Bakirtzi, K., et al. (2009). Mechanisms for increased myocardial fatty acid utilization following short-term high-fat feeding. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 82, 351–360. doi: 10.1093/cvr/ cvp017
- Wu, P., Peters, J. M., and Harris, R. A. (2001). Adaptive increase in pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase 4 during starvation is mediated by peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 287, 391–396. doi: 10.1006/bbrc.2001.5608
- Young, M. E., Guthrie, P. H., Razeghi, P., Leighton, B., Abbasi, S., Patil, S., et al. (2002). Impaired long-chain fatty acid oxidation and contractile dysfunction in the obese Zucker rat heart. *Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev.* 51, 2587–2595. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.51.8.2587
- Zhang, L., Jaswal, J. S., Ussher, J. R., Sankaralingam, S., Wagg, C., Zaugg, M., et al. (2013). Cardiac insulin-resistance and decreased mitochondrial energy production precede the development of systolic heart failure after pressure-overload hypertrophy. *Circ. Heart Fail.* 6, 1039–1048. doi: 10.1161/ CIRCHEARTFAILURE.112.000228
- Zhang, L., Ussher, J. R., Oka, T., Cadete, V. J., Wagg, C., and Lopaschuk, G. D. (2011). Cardiac diacylglycerol accumulation in high fat-fed mice is associated with impaired insulin-stimulated glucose oxidation. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 89, 148– 156. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvq266
- Zhao, P., Zhang, J., Yin, X. G., Maharaj, P., Narraindoo, S., Cui, L. Q., et al. (2013). The effect of trimetazidine on cardiac function in diabetic patients with idiopathic dilated cardiomyopathy. *Life Sci.* 92, 633–638. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2012. 03.015
- Zlobine, I., Gopal, K., and Ussher, J. R. (2016). Lipotoxicity in obesity and diabetesrelated cardiac dysfunction. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1861, 1555–1568. doi: 10.1016/j.bbalip.2016.02.011

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Greenwell, Gopal and Ussher. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Circadian Mechanisms: Cardiac Ion Channel Remodeling and Arrhythmias

Joyce Bernardi¹, Kelly A. Aromolaran¹, Hua Zhu² and Ademuyiwa S. Aromolaran^{1*}

¹ Masonic Medical Research Institute, Utica, NY, United States, ² Department of Surgery, The Ohio State University Wexner Medical Center, Columbus, OH, United States

Circadian rhythms are involved in many physiological and pathological processes in different tissues, including the heart. Circadian rhythms play a critical role in adverse cardiac function with implications for heart failure and sudden cardiac death, highlighting a significant contribution of circadian mechanisms to normal sinus rhythm in health and disease. Cardiac arrhythmias are a leading cause of morbidity and mortality in patients with heart failure and likely cause ~250,000 deaths annually in the United States alone; however, the molecular mechanisms are poorly understood. This suggests the need to improve our current understanding of the underlying molecular mechanisms that increase vulnerability to arrhythmias. Obesity and its associated pathologies, including diabetes, have emerged as dangerous disease conditions that predispose to adverse cardiac electrical remodeling leading to fatal arrhythmias. The increasing epidemic of obesity and diabetes suggests vulnerability to arrhythmias will remain high in patients. An important objective would be to identify novel and unappreciated cellular mechanisms or signaling pathways that modulate obesity and/or diabetes. In this review we discuss circadian rhythms control of metabolic and environmental cues, cardiac ion channels, and mechanisms that predispose to supraventricular and ventricular arrhythmias including hormonal signaling and the autonomic nervous system, and how understanding their functional interplay may help to inform the development and optimization of effective clinical and therapeutic interventions with implications for chronotherapy.

Keywords: circadian rhythm, metabolic disorders, autonomic regulation, ion channel remodeling, long QT syndrome, atrial fibrillation

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

David Christini, SUNY Downstate Medical Center, United States

Reviewed by:

Elizabeth Anne Schroder, University of Kentucky, United States Henrik Oster, University of Lübeck, Germany

> *Correspondence: Ademuyiwa S. Aromolaran aaromolaran@mmri.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cardiac Electrophysiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 29 September 2020 Accepted: 18 December 2020 Published: 14 January 2021

Citation:

Bernardi J, Aromolaran KA, Zhu H and Aromolaran AS (2021) Circadian Mechanisms: Cardiac Ion Channel Remodeling and Arrhythmias. Front. Physiol. 11:611860. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2020.611860

96

Abbreviations: AF, atrial fibrillation; ANS, autonomic nervous system; AP, action potential; APD, action potential duration; BP, blood pressure; CVD, cardiovascular disease; EAD, early afterdepolarization; ECG, electrocardiogram; ERG, ether-A-go-go-related gene; HR, heart rate; hiPSC-CM, human induced pluripotent stem cell-derived cardiomyocyte; $I_{Ca,L}$, L-type calcium current; I_f , funny current; $I_{K,ACh}$, acetylcholine-activated potassium current; I_{Kr} , rapid delayed rectifier potassium current; I_{Ks} , slow delayed rectifier potassium current; I_{Kur} , ultra-rapid delayed rectifier potassium current; I_{Na} , sodium current; I_{to} , transient outward potassium current; LQTS, long QT syndrome; SAN, sinus atrial node; SERCA, sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺-ATPase; SCD, sudden cardiac death; SCN, suprachiasmatic nuclei; TRF, time-restricted feeding; VF, ventricular fibrillation; VT, ventricular tachycardia.

INTRODUCTION

The circadian rhythm is an oscillatory physiological process that occurs within a 24-h period. This rhythmic behavior is evolutionarily conserved and has an critical role in the ability of organisms to modulate endogenous cellular and molecular activities in response to biological cues involving day/night and sleep/wake variations (Andreani et al., 2015). Adverse modulation of circadian rhythms predisposes to sleep disorders and increases risk of cardiovascular diseases and metabolic disorders with significant implications for the quality of life and longevity of patients (Bhupathiraju and Hu, 2016).

The circadian system is composed of a central clock located in the suprachiasmatic nuclei (SCN) of the hypothalamus, consisting of over 20,000 neurons, and peripheral clocks that are present in virtually all tissues. The central clock is synchronized with the environment through external cues, particularly by light, and can entrain peripheral clocks via neuronal and humoral factors (Buhr and Takahashi, 2013), such as autonomic tone and glucocorticoid signaling. The rhythm of peripheral clocks can also be regulated by external stimuli, that includes light, food, temperature, physical activity, and sleep. The significance of these distinct regulatory pathways has been extensively discussed in the literature (Xie et al., 2019), and therefore not fully considered in this review. The temporal patterns of food intake have also been identified as a crucial factor that sets the timing (phase) of peripheral clocks (Damiola et al., 2000). Furthermore, the phase of central and peripheral clocks is controlled and/or regulated by different physiological cues, suggesting these phase differences can lead to pathological disease mechanisms that underlie vulnerability to heart failure or cardiovascular diseases.

The molecular machinery of the central and peripheral clocks can be defined by transcriptional/translational feedback loops consisting of the two core transcriptional factors, CLOCK and BMAL1. These transcription factors have been shown to bind to the enhancer boxes (Ebox) in the promoter region of the negative regulators PERIOD (PER) and CRYPTOCHROME (CRY; Gekakis et al., 1998). The PER and CRY proteins accumulate in the cytoplasm, which is then followed by their translocation to the nucleus, where they form a dimer complex which, in turn, suppresses the innate transcriptional activity of CLOCK and BMAL1, resulting in an oscillatory negative feedback loop mechanism (Buhr and Takahashi, 2013). This core loop is interconnected with a second loop of nuclear receptors, a transcriptional activator ROR (A/B) and a transcriptional repressor REV-ERB (A/B), both of which are activated by the heterodimer CLOCK-BMAL1, that compete for responsive elements in the regulatory sequences of the core clock genes to modulate their transcriptional activities including BMAL1 (Buhr and Takahashi, 2013). More specifically, ROR (A/B) stimulates BMAL1 transcription while REV-ERB (A/B) inhibits it (Guillaumond et al., 2005).

Furthermore, circadian oscillations can also modulate cellular posttranslational processes (Green, 2018), through targeted protein phosphorylation, ubiquitination (Robles et al., 2017), redox and metabolic modulatory pathways (Wang et al., 2012). Approximately 10–40% of the genes expressed in specific tissues follow a circadian pattern and these intrinsic clocks are important for the maintenance of tissue and cellular homeostatic control (Panda et al., 2002; Zhang et al., 2014). A peripheral clock is also known to be present in the heart, where it plays a pivotal role in regulating cardiac electrical excitability, metabolism, and the biophysical properties of major cardiac ionic channels (Bray and Young, 2008; Black et al., 2019). This further highlights a critical role for circadian rhythms in the modulation of cellular mechanisms that contribute to cardiac function in health and disease (**Figure 1**). In this review we discuss recent studies on circadian rhythms and the pathophysiology of cardiac ion channels. We further discuss the contribution of circadian rhythms in disease states that lead to altered cardiac electrical remodeling with implications for cardiac arrhythmias and cardiovascular disorders in general.

CIRCADIAN MODULATION OF THE AUTONOMIC NERVOUS SYSTEM AND ION CHANNEL REGULATION

The rhythmic control of cardiac events could be explained by the existence of daily oscillations in several cardiovascular parameters, including heart rate (HR; Furlan et al., 1990), heart rate variability (HRV; Bonnemeier et al., 2003a), blood pressure (BP; Millar-Craig et al., 1978), cardiac output (Cugini et al., 1993) or QT interval duration (Bonnemeier et al., 2003b), and the activity of the autonomic nervous system (ANS). Typically, ANS activity has been indirectly evaluated by measuring HRV, which is affected by HR, an index of sympathovagal balance (Bootsma et al., 1994).

Furthermore, HR, BP, and cardiac output follow diurnal patterns, defined by a morning peak (acrophase) and a nocturnal decrease (nadir) (Degaute et al., 1991; Veerman et al., 1995) and reinforces an important role for these cardiovascular parameters in defining vulnerability to arrhythmogenic events. For example, myocardial infarction, stroke, and ultimately sudden cardiac death (SCD) show a higher prevalence during morning hours.

The slowing of the HR at night, leads to a lengthening of the heart rate corrected QT interval (QT_c) (an index of ventricular repolarization) (Browne et al., 1983). This diurnal variability of repolarization is consistent with the circadian profile of catecholamine circulation (Bexton et al., 1986). In fact, the variations that occur in HR are largely regulated by the two branches of the ANS, the sympathetic and the parasympathetic nervous systems through circulating neurohumoral factors including vasoconstrictive, vasodilative, and proinflammatory cytokines. Nadir in HR diurnal oscillation is generally associated with increased parasympathetic activity at night, while the acrophase is linked with changes in the sympathetic tone during daytime (Furlan et al., 1990).

Despite a critical role for the ANS in circadian rhythms, its contribution to the diurnal variation in HR is not completely clear. The majority of studies suggest that the central clock is not involved in the control of HR by circadian rhythms, as demonstrated in transplanted hearts (Bigger et al., 1996), Langendorff-perfused hearts (Young et al., 2001), cultured



shiftwork etc.). Metabolic diseases (e.g., obesity and diabetes) can influence the circadian rhythms in different tissues and processes, particularly in the heart, leading to ion channel expression remodeling and increasing the risk of cardiovascular disease (CVD) and arrhythmias. HR, heart rate; HRV, heart rate variability, BP, blood pressure; I_{to} , transient outward potassium current, I_r , funny current, I_{Kr} , rapid delayed rectifier potassium current; I_{Kur} , ultra-rapid delayed rectifier potassium current; I_{Na} , sodium current; I_{caL} , L-type calcium current.

cardiomyocyte monolayers (Durgan et al., 2005), possibly due to a lack of an intact autonomic innervation, as well as β -adrenergic receptor deficient-mice (Kim et al., 2008; Swoap et al., 2008) or models of autonomic blockade (Makino et al., 1997; Oosting et al., 1997). Moreover, in pheochromocytoma patients that show sustained and elevated levels of circulating catecholamines, the circadian mediated decrease in BP persists (Statius van Eps et al., 1993), suggesting a role for peripheral clocks in the regulation of these biological parameters. However, Tong et al. (2013) demonstrated that both SCN lesion and pharmacological ANS blockade in mice lead to a loss of circadian rhythmicity in HR, and that ANS seems to influence some cardiac ion channels gene expression. There are other systemic rhythmic factors, including glucocorticoids (e.g., cortisol) or mineralocorticoids that may also influence the circadian rhythms of the cardiovascular system but with contrasting outcomes associated with diurnal patterns. For example, Shea et al. have demonstrated that the diurnal variation in BP is modulated or controlled by the circadian rhythms in cortisol or catecholamines (Shea et al., 2011). By contrast Imai and others showed that exogenous administration of glucocorticoids changes the rhythmic pattern of BP variations, and prevents the nocturnal-dependent decreases in BP and further suggests an important role for the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis in influencing the circadian rhythm of BP (Imai et al., 1989).

In native cardiomyocytes, mineralocorticoids, and glucocorticoids have been shown to exert their effects on cellular functions through the mineralocorticoid receptor leading to distinct functional and transcriptional outcomes (Jaisser et al., 2011; Oakley and Cidlowski, 2015). For example, glucocorticoid receptor signaling in cardiomyocytes is critical for the normal development and function of the heart. In contrast, mineralocorticoid receptor signaling in cardiomyocytes participates in the development and progression of cardiac diseases (Imai et al., 1989; Jaisser et al., 2011).

Moreover, there is a paucity of studies that have investigated the potential role of the aldosterone/cortisolmediated mineralocorticoid receptor in the regulation of the cardiomyocyte circadian clock. However, both Tanaka et al. (2007) and Fletcher et al. (2019), have provided strong evidence for an important link between mineralocorticoid receptor and circadian clock signaling, by demonstrating that aldosterone promotes circadian rhythm dependent functional expression of clock genes (Bmal1, Per1, Per2, and Rev-ErbA) in rat cardiomyoblasts and mouse hearts. The β-adrenergic receptor agonist isoproterenol has been shown to increase the circadian rhythms of the Per2 clock gene in ventricular mice explants (Beesley et al., 2016). This suggests that modulation of the ANS may determine the functional outcomes of cardiac ion channel expression possibly via synchronization of the circadian rhythms in the peripheral cardiac clock. It would also be interesting for future circadian rhythm and cardiac studies to evaluate whether mineralocorticoids and glucocorticoids can affect cardiac ion channel expression and promote arrhythmogenesis.

It is widely known that the functional expression of major cardiac ionic channels is critical for normal sinus rhythm and cardiac function. The physiological link between cardiac action potential and its ionic channels is vital for mechanistic insights into the clinical consequences that occur when there are disease-induced changes in the functional properties of these ionic channels.

A critical balance of cardiac ionic depolarizing (Na and Ca channels), and repolarizing mechanisms (K channels), is an important determinant of the duration of the cardiac action potential (AP) and refractory period (Carmeliet, 2006). This means that disease processes that either increase depolarizing currents or decrease repolarizing currents will alter this balance and predispose to reentry and/or induction of ectopic foci, that increases the likelihood of developing arrhythmogenic events (Antzelevitch and Burashnikov, 2011), and ultimately the transition to heart failure and SCD. Research efforts that are directed toward a comprehensive understanding of the link between the cardiomyocyte molecular clock and electrical instability have identified and validated novel mechanistic links associated with oscillatory ion channel expression (summarized in Table 1). Our hope is that these findings will trigger additional research investigations into unappreciated but significant pathways that are directly or indirectly linked to circadian molecular pathways and help to provide insights that will

lon Channel	Channel Subunit	Current	Localization	Circadian Rhythm	Circadian Expression	Assessment Type	Species	References
Na	Nav1.5	INa	>	yes	↑ dark	mRNA	rat, mouse	Schroder et al., 2013
	HCN4	If	SAN	yes	↑ light	mRNA, protein, current	mouse	Wang et al., 2016
Ca	Cav 1.2	I _{Ca,L}	>	yes	↑ light	protein, current	guinea pig	Chen et al., 2016
¥	Kv4.2	Ito	Α, V	yes	↑ light	mRNA, protein, current	rat, mouse	Yamashita et al., 2003; Jeyaraj et al., 2012
	KChiP2	l_{to} b subunit	Α, V	yes	\uparrow dark	mRNA, protein	mouse	Jeyaraj et al., 2012
	K _{ir} 3.1/3.4	IK,ACh	A	NO		mRNA	rat	Yamashita et al., 2003
	Kv1.5	Ikur	Α, V	yes	↑ dark	mRNA, protein, current	rat	Yamashita et al., 2003
	ERG	Ikr	Α, V	yes	↑ light	mRNA	mouse, rat	Schroder et al., 2015
	Kv7.1	Iks	A, V	no		mRNA	mouse, rat	Yamashita et al., 2003; Schroder et al., 2015

further advance the field of chronological modulation of cardiac function.

CIRCADIAN MODULATION OF SUPRAVENTRICULAR AND VENTRICULAR ARRHYTHMIAS

Supraventricular and ventricular arrhythmias display opposing circadian patterns. Among the supraventricular arrhythmias, atrial fibrillation (AF) is one of the most common arrhythmias in both men and women and it is characterized by increased morbidity and mortality. One major mechanism that underlies the pathogenesis of AF is rapid and disorganized atrial electrical activity that ultimately leads to loss of efficient atrial function, and altered ventricular contraction (Nattel, 2002). This means we need to have a good understanding of how major atrial ionic currents may be modulated in disease states that increase AF risk. Obesity has been shown to be an independent risk factor for AF (Vyas and Lambiase, 2019; Javed et al., 2020), suggesting that understanding how obesity-related mechanisms modulate ion channel function may inform effective pharmacological and dietary interventions in patients.

Electrical remodeling in AF includes increases in the pacemaker current, If (Lai et al., 1999), a strong reduction of the transient outward (I_{to}) and the ultra-rapid (I_{Kur}) K current densities (Brandt et al., 2000), and a significant reduction in the L-type Ca current, ICa,L (Christ et al., 2004), which is one of the most consistent features. Furthermore, constitutive activation of the acetylcholine-activated K current (IK,Ach), is important for the maintenance of chronic AF (Dobrev et al., 2005). AF incidence is higher during nighttime, and this has been confirmed in ICD data reported by Shusterman et al. (2012). This nocturnal prevalence is consistent with a predominance of vagal activity at night that can stimulate $I_{K,ACh}$ in atrial cardiomyocytes and inhibits I_f and $I_{Ca,L}$, thus promoting a shortening of refractory period and reentry (Chen et al., 2014). There are also more recent reports of the contribution of altered function of the rapidly (I_{Kr}) and slowly (I_{Ks}) activating components of the delayed rectifier K currents (I_K) in AF (Caballero et al., 2010; Gonzalez de la Fuente et al., 2013). We have recently shown increased current density of the delayed rectifier K current (composed of I_{Kr} and I_{Ks}) in a high-fat diet (HFD)-induced obese guinea pig model (Martinez-Mateu et al., 2019), with implications for an abbreviated atrial AP duration (APD), and propensity for AF tachycardia (Martinez-Mateu et al., 2019). There is a paucity of arrhythmia studies that investigate the modulation, by the cardiomyocyte molecular clock, of I_K function in metabolic disorders. The important role of delayed rectifier K currents in limiting cardiac repolarization in health and disease suggests that future studies that investigate their modulation by the cardiomyocyte molecular clock are likely to reveal crucial mechanistic insights that will inform targeted interventions with implications for precision medicine. Alterations in tissue properties (or impaired tissue structural integrity), and autonomic (manifested as altered sympathovagal activity) remodeling (Nattel, 2002), also predispose to AF risk.

Circadian rhythms in HR is widely attributed to variations in sympathovagal tone (Bootsma et al., 1994). Recent reports have provided evidence that HR diurnal oscillations could also be due to intrinsic circadian rhythms in the activity of the pacemaker of the heart or the sinus atrial node (SAN; Wang et al., 2016). The hyperpolarization activated cyclic nucleotide gated K channel (HCN)4 currents have been proposed to contribute to several functions including pacemaker activity in heart and brain, control of resting membrane potential, and neuronal plasticity (DiFrancesco and DiFrancesco, 2015). The hyperpolarizationactivated "funny" current (or I_f), is carried by HCN channels, which exists in native cells as heterotetramers built of four HCN subunits (Novella Romanelli et al., 2016). The transcript and protein expression of HCN4 in mice SAN biopsies have been shown to exhibit circadian rhythm profiles compatible with the oscillations of HR. The density of I_f was double at the start of the awake period (higher HR) compared to the sleep period (lower HR) (Wang et al., 2016). Moreover, an in silico analysis of the Hcn4 promoter has revealed the presence of conserved Ebox binding sites for the Clock-Bmal1 heterodimer (Wang et al., 2016), suggesting that its expression may be directly under the control of the cardiomyocyte molecular clock.

Gene transcripts, protein expression, and current densities of the I_{Kur} channel subunit K_v1.5 and I_{to} subunit K_v4.2 have shown significant circadian variations in rats. K_v1.5 is increased during the dark period, while K_v4.2 displayed a completely reverse pattern, with an increase during the light period (Yamashita et al., 2003). Moreover, the reversal of light stimulation for 2-weeks attenuated and reversed the circadian pattern of these channel transcripts, while β -adrenergic stimulation solely influenced oscillation in K_v1.5, suggesting that rhythmicity of both channels could be the result of multiple factors (internal cardiomyocyte clock, light/dark cycle, ANS activity, etc.) (Yamashita et al., 2003).

In contrast to AF, ventricular arrhythmias, including ventricular tachycardia (VT) and ventricular fibrillation (VF), are prevalent during morning hours (Siegel et al., 1992; Englund et al., 1999). One potential mechanism is possibly through increases in sympathetic activity after awakening, with β -adrenergic stimulation promoting Ca overload, afterdepolarizations, and reentry mechanisms, and therefore acting as substrates for pro-arrhythmic triggers (Gardner et al., 2016).

These observations emphasize a role for the involvement of sympathetic stimulatory pathways in the propensity and prevalence of SCD in the mornings and reinforces the importance of targeted clinical interventions that utilize β -blockers to limit the morning peaks in SCD especially after myocardial infarction (Peters et al., 1989). Furthermore, circadian variation studies (based on 24-h ECG monitoring), have also been described for distinct ventricular arrhythmias. For example, long QT Syndrome Type 1 (LQT1) and long QT Syndrome Type 2 (LQT2), display a morning prevalence, while LQT Type 3 and Brugada Syndrome, have been shown to display increased incidence at night (Stramba-Badiale et al., 2000; van den Berg et al., 2006; Takigawa et al., 2012).

Long QT Syndrome Type 2 is caused by mutations in the *KCNH2* gene leading to a loss of function of the K_v 11.1 (hERG)

channel, and pathological decreases in the repolarizing I_{Kr} current (Curran et al., 1995; Puckerin et al., 2016). Two different variants of the ERG subunit, ERG 1a and ERG 1b, are expressed in human ventricle (Jones et al., 2004) and functional I_{Kr} is likely to consist of a combination of both variants (hERG 1a/1b) (London et al., 1997). Interestingly, compared with homomeric hERG 1a currents, hERG 1a/1b currents exhibit a twofold increase in density, rate of activation, recovery from inactivation, and deactivation (Sale et al., 2008; Aromolaran et al., 2016; Puckerin et al., 2016; Martinez-Mateu et al., 2019). It has been demonstrated that reducing hERG 1b subunit levels alters I_{Kr} kinetics and leads to cellular manifestations of pro-arrhythmia, such as APD prolongation and early afterdepolarizations (EADs), in human induced pluripotent stem cell-derived ventricular cardiomyocytes (hiPSC-CMs; Jones et al., 2014). The expression of hERG channels have been reported to follow a circadian variation, and its diurnal pattern is disrupted after cardiacspecific Bmal1 knockout, suggesting that its control is under the cardiomyocyte molecular clock (Schroder et al., 2015). Compatible with a decrease in gene expression, I_{Kr} density in the Bmal1 cardiac knockout was 50% smaller than in control ventricular myocytes, with no differences in gating properties (Schroder et al., 2015). In this study, the specific contribution of the distinct hERG variants to this outcome was not examined. Thus, it would be of particular interest to evaluate if the subunits are under differential circadian control, particularly considering the differences in biophysical properties of channel function, and the implication in a variety of cardiovascular disease conditions.

In a recent retrospective study in heart failure patients, an increase in QT and QT_c diurnality (QT_d and $QT_{c,d}$), representing the amplitude of their diurnal variation, has been associated with ventricular arrhythmias (Du Pre et al., 2017). The QT_d and $QT_{c,d}$ have also been shown to be increased in both congenital (LQT2) or drug-induced (Sotalol) ERG channel dysfunction (Du Pre et al., 2017), supporting the hypothesis that loss of circadian control of ion channel functional expression leads to adverse cardiovascular parameters and increased incidence of arrhythmias.

In human ventricular myocytes I_{Kr} and I_{Ks} , together with $I_{Ca,L}$, are important determinants of APD. This dynamic ion channel relationship underscores the relevance of cardiac repolarization reserve, which would be expected to limit vulnerability to arrhythmia risk by maintaining normal cardiac repolarization (Carmeliet, 2006). A novel clock-dependent oscillator, Kruppel-like factor 15 (Klf15) has been identified as a rhythmic regulator of repolarization. It has been shown to target the rhythmic expression of the α -subunit (K_v4.2) and the regulatory β -subunit (KChiP2), of the I_{to} current (Jeyaraj et al., 2012). Both Klf15 deletion and overexpression in mice led to modification of Ito density and APD with corresponding alterations in the QT interval length, resulting in increased susceptibility to arrhythmias. This is supported by the evidence that an ECG pattern (ST-segment changes), similar to that found in Brugada syndrome, has been observed after deletion of Klf15 in mice (Jeyaraj et al., 2012).

Expression levels of several other K channels without a circadian pattern were lower in *Bmal1* mice knockout hearts

compared to control, suggesting that cardiomyocyte clock signaling might indirectly contribute to the expression of noncircadian K⁺ channels genes (Schroder et al., 2015). Furthermore, in the *Bmal1* mice model, the authors demonstrated a loss of rhythmic expression of SCN5A, which encodes for the cardiac voltage-gated Na channel, with a reduction of the corresponding current I_{Na} (50%), a slowed HR and an increased incidence of arrhythmias in mice and rat ventricular myocytes (Schroder et al., 2013). It would be of particular interest to evaluate whether oscillations in Na channels are altered in LQT3 patients.

In guinea pig ventricular myocytes, Clock-Bmal1 heterodimers have been shown to regulate the circadian expression and function of L-type Ca channels, and this occurs through the PI3K-Akt signaling pathway, with corresponding oscillations in APD (Chen et al., 2016). We and others have shown that I_{Ks} and I_{Kr} contribute prominently to cardiac repolarization in guinea pig ventricular myocytes (Sanguinetti and Jurkiewicz, 1990; Bryant et al., 1998; Aromolaran et al., 2014, 2018). To our knowledge, there have been no reports of diurnal variations in IKs and IKr functional expression in guinea pig ventricular myocytes. Pathological decreases in I_{Ks} either due to congenital or inherited mutations in KCNQ1 channel subunits (Aromolaran et al., 2014; Puckerin et al., 2016), or acquired in disease states delay cardiac repolarization leading to prolongation of the QT interval (or LQT1), a disease mechanism that increases vulnerability to fatal arrhythmias such as Torsades des Pointes (Khan, 2002; El-Sherif and Turitto, 2003). Therefore, it is important to determine whether these ion channels may be regulated by circadian regulation. This premise is underscored by a previous report by Schroder and others (Schroder et al., 2015) showing that the molecular clock in the heart regulates the circadian expression of KCNH2 (which encodes the hERG channel) and modifies channel gene expression. The authors suggested that a disruption of cardiomyocyte circadian clock mechanisms likely unmasks the diurnal changes in ventricular action potential repolarization and predispose to an increased risk of fatal arrhythmias that underlie SCD. It will be important to determine whether similar mechanisms control cardiac KCNQ1- I_{Ks} channel functional expression.

Together, it is intriguing to speculate that modulation by circadian rhythms of ion channel functional expression and ANS activity may underlie alterations in the day/night pattern of arrhythmias and SCD.

TIME RESTRICTED FEEDING, METABOLIC DISORDERS, ION CHANNEL BIOPHYSICS AND CIRCADIAN RHYTHM PATHWAYS

Changes in the intracellular concentration of several metabolites (e.g., heme, NAD/NADH, CO, glucose, AMP/ATP, etc.) can influence the activity of the clock machinery by regulating histone modifications, DNA interactions or protein modifications (Panda, 2016). Extracellular factors, including hormones and temperature that regulate the peripheral clocks permit their alignment with the central clock. These rhythmic patterns enable a temporal separation of distinct biochemical pathways in a more energy-efficient fashion (Panda, 2016), such that misalignment of central and peripheral clock phases may promote the development of metabolic diseases. Additionally, dietary habits associated with excessive feeding can affect circadian rhythms in distinct organs leading to a higher likelihood of developing the metabolic syndrome (Pickel and Sung, 2020; **Figure 1**).

Daily eating patterns (feeding-fasting cycle and day vs night meals), and time-restricted feeding (TRF) can affect peripheral circadian rhythms. For example, experiments conducted in mice fed ad libitum or exposed to TRF have shown how quantity, quality and timing of food intake can alter circadian rhythm physiology. Mice exposed to HFD ad libitum (used to induce obesity) have altered diurnal oscillations in hepatic transcriptome, compared to mice fed a standard diet (Eckel-Mahan et al., 2013). Moreover, TRF of HFD improves molecular oscillations (similar to mice fed a standard diet) (Hatori et al., 2012), and therefore suggests its potential ability to attenuate the adverse metabolic consequences of diet-induced pathologies. This suggestion is further reinforced by the demonstration that TRF is able to reduce age-dependent or HFD-dependent deterioration of cardiac function in insects (Gill et al., 2015), and that implementation of a 10-hour TRF may promote weight loss and improve sleep in humans (Gill and Panda, 2015). Moreover, changes in metabolism, as seen after TRF, can lead to an uncoupling of peripheral oscillators from the central clock, with consequent alterations of the phase of circadian gene expression in different tissues, including the heart, while not affecting the SCN clock genes (Damiola et al., 2000).

Obesity and diabetes are functionally related to alterations in circadian rhythms with an impact on cardiac function. Studies on the effect of obesity on circadian rhythmicity of cardiometabolic functions are limited, but obesity has been associated with a decrease in HRV and with a shift in its circadian pattern (Rodriguez-Colon et al., 2014). Notably, polymorphisms in the *CLOCK* gene have been associated with a differential incidence of obesity in humans, further supporting the idea that circadian rhythms have a pivotal role in the development of metabolic syndrome (Scott et al., 2008).

Diabetes leads to alterations in circadian rhythms and adversely affects cardiac function. This functional remodeling process is exemplified by circadian rhythm studies in a rat model of streptozotocin-induced diabetes (Young et al., 2002). The authors demonstrated that diabetes-induced alteration of circulating humoral factors, leads to a loss of normal synchronization of the peripheral heart clock (Young et al., 2002). This observation is further supported by pathological diurnal variations in diabetes biomarkers (including insulin, leptin, glucocorticoids, growth hormone, glucose, and circulating of free-fatty acids) (Ortiz-Caro et al., 1984; Velasco et al., 1988; Havel et al., 1998), and ANS activity (Bernardi et al., 1992). Moreover, two different BMAL1 SNP haplotypes have been shown to be associated with type 2 diabetes and hypertension in patients, suggesting an important contribution of BMAL1 variants to the pathogenesis of these disease mechanisms (Woon et al., 2007).

The circadian rhythm distribution of the onset of cardiovascular events is also altered in diabetes. For example, compared to non-diabetic patients the peak in acute myocardial infarction is lower in the morning, and this is followed by a second peak in the evening, with the risk of developing myocardial infarction higher during the nighttime (Hjalmarson et al., 1989). This chronological-dependent susceptibility to myocardial infarction can be explained by alterations in the circadian patterns associated with sympathovagal balance in diabetic patients that display a range of autonomic abnormalities (Bernardi et al., 1992).

There is also evidence of lower parasympathetic activity during the night, and a marked dominance in sympathetic tone in diabetic patients during both day and night (Bernardi et al., 1992). Furthermore, diabetic patients, particularly those with autonomic neuropathy, showed no decrease in BP during the night when compared to non-diabetic patients. This disruption of the circadian rhythm dependent modulation of BP is frequently associated with a poor prognosis (Felici et al., 1991). Therefore, prolonged sympathetic activity in diabetic patients may counteract the protective effect of parasympathetic tone on the cardiovascular system, which normally would then be manifested by a lower incidence of cardiac events during the nighttime (Bernardi et al., 1992). Diurnal differences in the ECG have been observed during hypoglycemia and this is generally manifested as a larger prolongation in QT_c interval throughout the daytime, suggesting a higher vulnerability to arrhythmias; while the incidence of bradycardia episodes was found to be increased during the sleep cycle (Andersen et al., 2020).

FUTURE DIRECTIONS AND CONCLUSIONS

There is increasing evidence that cardiac diseases can be influenced by circadian rhythms, and peripheral clocks can be altered in the setting of different pathologies, including diabetes, obesity, and hypertension (Maury et al., 2010). There is a lack of progress in the knowledge of arrhythmia mechanisms. However, in recent years there has been a great deal of effort to understand the molecular mechanisms of circadian rhythms that regulate cellular mechanisms in health and disease. For example, hiPSC-CMs have been widely used as disease models for arrhythmias (including LQT) (van Mil et al., 2018) and have been validated as reliable sources for drug safety studies and the assessment of a new drugs pro-arrhythmic risk with translational implications in patients. The evidence that differentiated hiPSCs acquire and exhibit circadian variation in clock genes (Umemura et al., 2019; Kaneko et al., 2020), provides the rationale for the use of these cells in circadian rhythms studies that could provide relevant mechanism-based insights that may be better predictive of disease penetrance with significant implications in patients.

The existence of circadian variations in the manifestation of cardiac events and arrhythmogenesis highlights the critical link between chronotherapy and cardiovascular disorders, particularly arrhythmias. This suggests that the timing of dietary or therapeutic interventions may be key to limiting the incidence of disease mechanisms that impact the quality of life of patients. Several clinical trials have demonstrated a better tolerability and increased efficacy for chronotherapy compared to non-time-based treatment for different pathologies (Levi et al., 1985; Giacchetti et al., 2006; Buttgereit et al., 2008), while some other trials have failed to establish a similar and positive outcome (Levi and Okyar, 2011). This could be attributed to inter-individual circadian differences that can result from sex, age, lifestyle, genetic or disease profile. Therefore, a further understanding of the mechanisms involved in circadian regulation of biological processes is required to further improve the rigor of these approaches.

Existing molecular mechanisms of how circadian rhythms may modulate cardiovascular function are obtained in rodent models including mice and rats, that unlike humans, are nocturnal. Therefore, future studies that incorporate mechanisms in larger animal models are more likely to be rewarded with additional and/or novel mechanism-based insights that could be better translated into therapeutic and clinical significance.

There is also the added complexity of species differences associated with rational development of targeted therapeutics in patients with cardiovascular diseases. This is also because most of the current knowledge about the regulation of genes (ion channels and metabolic factors) targeted by the molecular clock, have been obtained in animal models of clock

REFERENCES

- Andersen, A., Jørgensen, P. G., Knop, F. K., and Vilsbøll, T. (2020). Hypoglycaemia and cardiac arrhythmias in diabetes. *Ther. Adv. Endocrinol. Metab.* 11:2042018820911803.
- Andreani, T. S., Itoh, T. Q., Yildirim, E., Hwangbo, D. S., and Allada, R. (2015). Genetics of circadian rhythms. *Sleep Med. Clin.* 10, 413–421.
- Antzelevitch, C., and Burashnikov, A. (2011). Overview of basic mechanisms of cardiac arrhythmia. *Card. Electrophysiol. Clin.* 3, 23–45. doi: 10.1016/j.ccep. 2010.10.012
- Aromolaran, A. S., Colecraft, H. M., and Boutjdir, M. (2016). High-fat dietdependent modulation of the delayed rectifier K(+) current in adult guinea pig atrial myocytes. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 474, 554–559. doi: 10.1016/j. bbrc.2016.04.113
- Aromolaran, A. S., Srivastava, U., Alí, A., Chahine, M., Lazaro, D., and El-Sherif, N. (2018). Interleukin-6 inhibition of hERG underlies risk for acquired long QT in cardiac and systemic inflammation. *PLoS One* 13:e0208321. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0208321
- Aromolaran, A. S., Subramanyam, P., Chang, D. D., Kobertz, W. R., and Colecraft, H. M. (2014). LQT1 mutations in KCNQ1 C-terminus assembly domain suppress IKs using different mechanisms. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 104, 501–511. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvu231
- Beesley, S., Noguchi, T., and Welsh, D. K. (2016). Cardiomyocyte circadian oscillations are cell-autonomous, amplified by beta-adrenergic signaling, and synchronized in cardiac ventricle tissue. *PLoS One* 11:e0159618. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0159618
- Bernardi, L., Ricordi, L., Lazzari, P., Soldá, P., Calciati, A., and Ferrari, M. R. (1992). Impaired circadian modulation of sympathovagal activity in diabetes. a possible explanation for altered temporal onset of cardiovascular disease. *Circulation* 86, 1443–1452. doi: 10.1161/01.cir.86.5.1443
- Bexton, R. S., Vallin, H. O., and Camm, A. J. (1986). Diurnal variation of the QT interval-influence of the autonomic nervous system. *Br. Heart J.* 55, 253–258. doi: 10.1136/hrt.55.3.253
- Bhupathiraju, S. N., and Hu, F. B. (2016). Epidemiology of obesity and diabetes and their cardiovascular complications. *Circ. Res.* 118, 1723–1735. doi: 10.1161/ circresaha.115.306825

component manipulation, mainly *Bmal1* and *Clock*. Therefore, we need to exercise caution in the interpretation of outcomes in future studies due to an indirect effect of clock gene modulation, in models where these modulations may not be tissue specific. Therefore, a further analysis of clock genes and associated upstream and downstream molecular pathways could inform or potentially shift current paradigm of the circadian rhythms-dependent regulation of the cardiovascular system, and more specifically arrhythmia substrates that promote ion channel dysfunction.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JB and AA researched the concepts. JB wrote the first draft of the manuscript. HZ and KA edited and finalized the manuscript. AA obtained funding, conceived of, wrote, and finalized the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the NIH (R01 HL147044 to AA and R01 HL153876 to HZ).

- Bigger, J. T., Jr., Steinman, R. C., Rolnitzky, L. M., Fleiss, J. L., Albrecht, P., and Cohen, R. J. (1996). Power law behavior of RR-interval variability in healthy middle-aged persons, patients with recent acute myocardial infarction, and patients with heart transplants. *Circulation* 93, 2142–2151. doi: 10.1161/01.cir. 93.12.2142
- Black, N., D'Souza, A., Wang, Y., Piggins, H., Dobrzynski, H., and Morris, G. (2019). Circadian rhythm of cardiac electrophysiology, arrhythmogenesis, and the underlying mechanisms. *Heart Rhythm* 16, 298–307. doi: 10.1016/j.hrthm. 2018.08.026
- Bonnemeier, H., Richardt, G., Potratz, J., Wiegand, U. K., Brandes, A., and Kluge, N. (2003a). Circadian profile of cardiac autonomic nervous modulation in healthy subjects: differing effects of aging and gender on heart rate variability. *J. Cardiovasc. Electrophysiol.* 14, 791–799. doi: 10.1046/j.1540-8167.2003. 03078.x
- Bonnemeier, H., Wiegand, U. K., Braasch, W., Brandes, A., Richardt, G., and Potratz, J. (2003b). Circadian profile of QT interval and QT interval variability in 172 healthy volunteers. *Pacing Clin. Electrophysiol.* 26, 377–382. doi: 10.1046/ j.1460-9592.2003.00053.x
- Bootsma, M., Swenne, C. A., Van Bolhuis, H. H., Chang, P. C., Cats, V. M., and Bruschke, A. V. (1994). Heart rate and heart rate variability as indexes of sympathovagal balance. *Am. J. Physiol.* 266(4 Pt 2), H1565–H1571.
- Brandt, M. C., Priebe, L., Böhle, T., Südkamp, M., and Beuckelmann, D. J. (2000). The ultrarapid and the transient outward K(+) current in human atrial fibrillation. their possible role in postoperative atrial fibrillation. *J. Mol. Cell Cardiol.* 32, 1885–1896. doi: 10.1006/jmcc.2000.1221
- Bray, M. S., and Young, M. E. (2008). Diurnal variations in myocardial metabolism. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 79, 228–237. doi: 10.1093/cvr/ cvn054
- Browne, K. F., Prystowsky, E., Heger, J. J., Chilson, D. A., and Zipes, D. P. (1983). Prolongation of the Q-T interval in man during sleep. *Am. J. Cardiol.* 52, 55–59. doi: 10.1016/0002-9149(83)90068-1
- Bryant, S. M., Wan, X., Shipsey, S. J., and Hart, G. (1998). Regional differences in the delayed rectifier current (IKr and IKs) contribute to the differences in action potential duration in basal left ventricular myocytes in guinea-pig. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 40, 322–331. doi: 10.1016/s0008-6363(98)00133-3

- Buhr, E. D., and Takahashi, J. S. (2013). Molecular components of the mammalian circadian clock. *Handb. Exp. Pharmacol.* 217, 3–27. doi: 10.1007/978-3-642-25950-0_1
- Buttgereit, F., Doering, G., Schaeffler, A., Witte, S., Sierakowski, S., and Gromnica-Ihle, E. (2008). Efficacy of modified-release versus standard prednisone to reduce duration of morning stiffness of the joints in rheumatoid arthritis (CAPRA-1): a double-blind, randomised controlled trial. *Lancet* 371, 205–214. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(08)60132-4
- Caballero, R., de la Fuente, M. G., Gómez, R., Barana, A., Amorós, I., and Dolz-Gaitón, P. (2010). In humans, chronic atrial fibrillation decreases the transient outward current and ultrarapid component of the delayed rectifier current differentially on each atria and increases the slow component of the delayed rectifier current in both. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 55, 2346–2354. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc. 2010.02.028
- Carmeliet, E. (2006). Repolarization reserve in cardiac cells. J. Med. Biol. Eng. 26, 97–105.
- Chen, P. S., Chen, L. S., Fishbein, M. C., Lin, S. F., and Nattel, S. (2014). Role of the autonomic nervous system in atrial fibrillation: pathophysiology and therapy. *Circ. Res.* 114, 1500–1515. doi: 10.1161/circresaha.114.303772
- Chen, Y., Zhu, D., Yuan, J., Han, Z., Wang, Y., and Qian, Z. (2016). CLOCK-BMAL1 regulate the cardiac L-type calcium channel subunit CACNA1C through PI3K-Akt signaling pathway. *Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol.* 94, 1023– 1032. doi: 10.1139/cjpp-2015-0398
- Christ, T., Boknik, P., Wöhrl, S., Wettwer, E., Graf, E. M., and Bosch, R. F. (2004). L-type Ca2+ current downregulation in chronic human atrial fibrillation is associated with increased activity of protein phosphatases. *Circulation* 110, 2651–2657. doi: 10.1161/01.cir.0000145659.80212.6a
- Cugini, P., Di Palma, L., Di Simone, S., Lucia, P., Battisti, P., and Coppola, A. (1993). Circadian rhythm of cardiac output, peripheral vascular resistance, and related variables by a beat-to-beat monitoring. *Chronobiol. Int.* 10, 73–78. doi: 10.3109/07420529309064484
- Curran, M. E., Splawski, I., Timothy, K. W., Vincent, G. M., Green, E. D., and Keating, M. T. (1995). A molecular basis for cardiac arrhythmia: HERG mutations cause long QT syndrome. *Cell* 80, 795–803. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(95)90358-5
- Damiola, F., Le Minh, N., Preitner, N., Kornmann, B., Fleury-Olela, F., and Schibler, U. (2000). Restricted feeding uncouples circadian oscillators in peripheral tissues from the central pacemaker in the suprachiasmatic nucleus. *Genes Dev.* 14, 2950–2961. doi: 10.1101/gad. 183500
- Degaute, J. P., van de Borne, P., Linkowski, P., and Van Cauter, E. (1991). Quantitative analysis of the 24-hour blood pressure and heart rate patterns in young men. *Hypertension* 18, 199–210. doi: 10.1161/01.hyp.18. 2.199
- DiFrancesco, J. C., and DiFrancesco, D. (2015). Dysfunctional HCN ion channels in neurological diseases. *Front. Cell Neurosci.* 6:174.
- Dobrev, D., Friedrich, A., Voigt, N., Jost, N., Wettwer, E., and Christ, T. (2005). The G protein-gated potassium current I(K,ACh) is constitutively active in patients with chronic atrial fibrillation. *Circulation* 112, 3697–3706. doi: 10. 1161/circulationaha.105.575332
- Du Pre, B. C., Van Laake, L. W., Meine, M., Van der Heijden, J. F., Doevendans, P. A., and Vos, M. A. (2017). Analysis of 24-h rhythm in ventricular repolarization identifies QT diurnality as a novel clinical parameter associated with previous ventricular arrhythmias in heart failure patients. *Front Physiol.* 8:590.
- Durgan, D. J., Hotze, M. A, Tomlin, T. M., Egbejimi, O., Graveleau, C., and Abel, E. D. (2005). The intrinsic circadian clock within the cardiomyocyte. Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol. 289, H1530–H1541.
- Eckel-Mahan, K. L., Patel, V. R., de Mateo, S., Orozco-Solis, R., Ceglia, N. J., and Sahar, S. (2013). Reprogramming of the circadian clock by nutritional challenge. *Cell* 155, 1464–1478. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2013.11.034
- El-Sherif, N., and Turitto, G. (2003). Torsade de pointes. *Curr. Opin. Cardiol.* 18, 6–13.
- Englund, A., Behrens, S., Wegscheider, K., and Rowland, E. (1999). Circadian variation of malignant ventricular arrhythmias in patients with ischemic and nonischemic heart disease after cardioverter defibrillator implantation. European 7219 jewel investigators. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 34, 1560–1568. doi: 10.1016/s0735-1097(99)00369-1

- Felici, M. G., Spallone, V., Maiello, M. R., Gatta, R., Civetta, E., and Frontoni, S. (1991). Twenty-four hours blood pressure and heart rate profiles in diabetics with and without autonomic neuropathy. *Funct. Neurol.* 6, 299–304.
- Fletcher, E. K., Kanki, M., Morgan, J., Ray, D. W., Delbridge, L., and Fuller, P. J. (2019). Cardiomyocyte transcription is controlled by combined MR and circadian clock signalling. *J. Endocrinol.* doi: 10.1530/JOE-18-0584 Online ahead of print
- Furlan, R., Guzzetti, S., Crivellaro, W., Dassi, S., Tinelli, M., and Baselli, G. (1990). Continuous 24-hour assessment of the neural regulation of systemic arterial pressure and RR variabilities in ambulant subjects. *Circulation* 81, 537–547. doi: 10.1161/01.cir.81.2.537
- Gardner, R. T., Ripplinger, C. M., Myles, R. C., and Habecker, B. A. (2016). Molecular mechanisms of sympathetic remodeling and arrhythmias. *Circ. Arrhythm. Electrophysiol.* 9:e001359.
- Gekakis, N., Staknis, D., Nguyen, H. B., Davis, F. C., Wilsbacher, L. D., and King, D. P. (1998). Role of the CLOCK protein in the mammalian circadian mechanism. *Science* 280, 1564–1569. doi: 10.1126/science.280.5369.1564
- Giacchetti, S., Bjarnason, G., Garufi, C., Genet, D., Iacobelli, S., and Tampellini, M. (2006). Phase III trial comparing 4-day chronomodulated therapy versus 2-day conventional delivery of fluorouracil, leucovorin, and oxaliplatin as firstline chemotherapy of metastatic colorectal cancer: the European organisation for research and treatment of cancer chronotherapy group. J. Clin. Oncol. 24, 3562–3569. doi: 10.1200/jco.2006.06.1440
- Gill, S., and Panda, S. (2015). A smartphone app reveals erratic diurnal eating patterns in humans that can be modulated for health benefits. *Cell Metab.* 22, 789–798. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2015.09.005
- Gill, S., Le, H. D., Melkani, G. C., and Panda, S. (2015). Time-restricted feeding attenuates age-related cardiac decline in Drosophila. *Science* 347, 1265–1269. doi: 10.1126/science.1256682
- Gonzalez de la Fuente, M., Barana, A., Gómez, R., Amorós, I., Dolz-Gaitón, P., and Sacristán, S. (2013). Chronic atrial fibrillation up-regulates beta1-Adrenoceptors affecting repolarizing currents and action potential duration. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 97, 379–388. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvs313
- Green, C. B. (2018). Circadian posttranscriptional regulatory mechanisms in mammals. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol. 10:a030692. doi: 10.1101/ cshperspect.a030692
- Guillaumond, F., Dardente, H., Giguère, V., and Cermakian, N. (2005). Differential control of bmal1 circadian transcription by REV-ERB and ROR nuclear receptors. J. Biol. Rhythms 20, 391–403. doi: 10.1177/0748730405277232
- Hatori, M., Vollmers, C., Zarrinpar, A., DiTacchio, L., Bushong, E. A., and Gill, S. (2012). Time-restricted feeding without reducing caloric intake prevents metabolic diseases in mice fed a high-fat diet. *Cell Metab.* 15, 848–860. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2012.04.019
- Havel, P. J., Uriu-Hare, J. Y., Liu, T., Stanhope, K. L., Stern, J. S., and Keen, C. L. (1998). Marked and rapid decreases of circulating leptin in streptozotocin diabetic rats: reversal by insulin. Am. J. Physiol. 274, R1482–R1491.
- Hjalmarson, A., Gilpin, E. A., Nicod, P., Dittrich, H., Henning, H., and Engler, R. (1989). Differing circadian patterns of symptom onset in subgroups of patients with acute myocardial infarction. *Circulation* 80, 267–275. doi: 10.1161/01.cir. 80.2.267
- Imai, Y., Abe, K., Sasaki, S., Minami, N., Munakata, M., and Nihei, M. (1989). Exogenous glucocorticoid eliminates or reverses circadian blood pressure variations. J. Hypertens. 7, 113–120.
- Jaisser, F., Swynghedauw, B., and Delcayre, C. (2011). The mineralocorticoid receptor in heart: different effects in different cells. *Hypertension* 57, 679–680. doi: 10.1161/hypertensionaha.110.164962
- Javed, S., Gupta, D., and Lip, G. Y. H. (2020). Obesity and atrial fibrillation: making inroads through fat. *Eur. Heart J. Cardiovasc. Pharmacother.* doi: 10.1093/ ehjcvp/pvaa013 Online ahead of print
- Jeyaraj, D., Haldar, S. M., Wan, X., McCauley, M. D., Ripperger, J. A., and Hu, K. (2012). Circadian rhythms govern cardiac repolarization and arrhythmogenesis. *Nature* 483, 96–99. doi: 10.1038/nature10852
- Jones, D. K., Liu, F., Vaidyanathan, R., Eckhardt, L. L., Trudeau, M. C., and Robertson, G. A. (2014). hERG 1b is critical for human cardiac repolarization. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 111, 18073–18077. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1414945111
- Jones, E. M., Roti Roti, E. C., Wang, J., Delfosse, S. A., and Robertson, G. A. (2004). Cardiac IKr channels minimally comprise hERG 1a and 1b subunits. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 44690–44694. doi: 10.1074/jbc.m408344200

- Kaneko, H., Kaitsuka, T., and Tomizawa, K. (2020). Response to stimulations inducing circadian rhythm in human induced pluripotent stem cells. *Cells* 9:620. doi: 10.3390/cells9030620
- Khan, I. A. (2002). Clinical and therapeutic aspects of congenital and acquired long QT syndrome. Am. J. Med. 112, 58–66. doi: 10.1016/s0002-9343(01)01011-7
- Kim, S. M., Huang, Y., Qin, Y., Mizel, D., Schnermann, J., and Briggs, J. P. (2008). Persistence of circadian variation in arterial blood pressure in beta1/beta2adrenergic receptor-deficient mice. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 294, R1427–R1434.
- Lai, L. P., Su, M. J., Lin, J. L., Tsai, C. H., Lin, F. Y., and Chen, Y. S. (1999). Measurement of funny current (I(f)) channel mRNA in human atrial tissue: correlation with left atrial filling pressure and atrial fibrillation. *J. Cardiovasc. Electrophysiol.* 10, 947–953. doi: 10.1111/j.1540-8167.1999.tb01265.x
- Levi, F., and Okyar, A. (2011). Circadian clocks and drug delivery systems: impact and opportunities in chronotherapeutics. *Expert. Opin. Drug Deliv.* 8, 1535– 1541. doi: 10.1517/17425247.2011.618184
- Levi, F., Le Louarn, C., and Reinberg, A. (1985). Timing optimizes sustained-release indomethacin treatment of osteoarthritis. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 37, 77–84. doi: 10.1038/clpt.1985.15
- London, B., Trudeau, M. C., Newton, K. P., Beyer, A. K., Copeland, N. G., and Gilbert, D. J. (1997). Two isoforms of the mouse ether-a-go-go-related gene coassemble to form channels with properties similar to the rapidly activating component of the cardiac delayed rectifier K+ current. *Circ. Res.* 81, 870–878. doi: 10.1161/01.res.81.5.870
- Makino, M., Hayashi, H., Takezawa, H., Hirai, M., Saito, H., and Ebihara, S. (1997). Circadian rhythms of cardiovascular functions are modulated by the baroreflex and the autonomic nervous system in the rat. *Circulation* 96, 1667–1674. doi: 10.1161/01.cir.96.5.1667
- Martinez-Mateu, L., Saiz, J., and Aromolaran, A. S. (2019). Differential modulation of IK and ICa,L channels in high-fat diet-induced obese Guinea Pig Atria. *Front. Physiol.* 10:1212.
- Maury, E., Ramsey, K. M., and Bass, J. (2010). Circadian rhythms and metabolic syndrome: from experimental genetics to human disease. *Circ. Res.* 106, 447– 462. doi: 10.1161/circresaha.109.208355
- Millar-Craig, M. W., Bishop, C. N., and Raftery, E. B. (1978). Circadian variation of blood-pressure. *Lancet* 1, 795–797.
- Nattel, S. (2002). New ideas about atrial fibrillation 50 years on. *Nature* 415, 219–226. doi: 10.1038/415219a
- Novella Romanelli, M., Sartiani, L., Masi, A., Mannaioni, G., Manetti, D., and Mugelli, A. (2016). HCN channels modulators: the need for selectivity. *Curr. Top. Med. Chem.* 16, 1764–1791. doi: 10.2174/1568026616999160315130832
- Oakley, R. H., and Cidlowski, J. A. (2015). Glucocorticoid signaling in the heart: a cardiomyocyte perspective. *J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol.* 153, 27–34. doi: 10.1016/j.jsbmb.2015.03.009
- Oosting, J., Struijker-Boudier, H. A., and Janssen, B. J. (1997). Autonomic control of ultradian and circadian rhythms of blood pressure, heart rate, and baroreflex sensitivity in spontaneously hypertensive rats. J. Hypertens. 15, 401–410. doi: 10.1097/00004872-199715040-00011
- Ortiz-Caro, J., Gonzalez, C., and Jolin, T. (1984). Diurnal variations of plasma growth hormone, thyrotropin, thyroxine, and triiodothyronine in streptozotocin-diabetic and food-restricted rats. *Endocrinology* 115, 2227–2232. doi: 10.1210/endo-115-6-2227
- Panda, S. (2016). Circadian physiology of metabolism. Science 354, 1008–1015. doi: 10.1126/science.aah4967
- Panda, S., Antoch, M. P., Miller, B. H., Su, A. I., Schook, A. B., and Straume, M. (2002). Coordinated transcription of key pathways in the mouse by the circadian clock. *Cell* 109, 307–320. doi: 10.1016/s0092-8674(02)00722-5
- Peters, R. W., Muller, J. E., Goldstein, S., Byington, R., and Friedman, L. M. (1989). Propranolol and the morning increase in the frequency of sudden cardiac death (BHAT Study). Am. J. Cardiol. 63, 1518–1520. doi: 10.1016/0002-9149(89) 90019-2
- Pickel, L., and Sung, H. K. (2020). Feeding rhythms and the circadian regulation of metabolism. *Front. Nutr.* 7:39.
- Puckerin, A., Aromolaran, K. A., Chang, D. D., Zukin, R. S., Colecraft, H. M., and Boutjdir, M. (2016). hERG 1a LQT2 C-terminus truncation mutants display hERG 1b-dependent dominant negative mechanisms. *Heart Rhythm* 13, 1121–1130. doi: 10.1016/j.hrthm.2016.01.012

- Robles, M. S., Humphrey, S. J., and Mann, M. (2017). Phosphorylation is a central mechanism for circadian control of metabolism and physiology. *Cell Metab.* 25, 118–127. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2016.10.004
- Rodriguez-Colon, S., He, F., Bixler, E. O., Fernandez-Mendoza, J., Vgontzas, A. N., and Berg, A. (2014). The circadian pattern of cardiac autonomic modulation and obesity in adolescents. *Clin. Auton. Res.* 24, 265–273. doi: 10.1007/s10286-014-0257-7
- Sale, H., Wang, J., O'Hara, T. J., Tester, D. J., Phartiyal, P., and He, J. Q. (2008). Physiological properties of hERG 1a/1b heteromeric currents and a hERG 1b-specific mutation associated with long-QT syndrome. *Circ. Res.* 103:e81-95.
- Sanguinetti, M. C., and Jurkiewicz, N. K. (1990). Two components of cardiac delayed rectifier K+ current. differential sensitivity to block by class III antiarrhythmic agents. J. Gen. Physiol. 96, 195–215. doi: 10.1085/jgp.96.1.195
- Schroder, E. A., Burgess, D. E., Zhang, X., Lefta, M., Smith, J. L., and Patwardhan, A. (2015). The cardiomyocyte molecular clock regulates the circadian expression of Kcnh2 and contributes to ventricular repolarization. *Heart Rhythm* 12, 1306–1314. doi: 10.1016/j.hrthm.2015.02.019
- Schroder, E. A., Lefta, M., Zhang, X., Bartos, D. C., Feng, H. Z., and Zhao, Y. (2013). The cardiomyocyte molecular clock, regulation of Scn5a, and arrhythmia susceptibility. Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol. 304, C954–C965.
- Scott, E. M., Carter, A. M., and Grant, P. J. (2008). Association between polymorphisms in the Clock gene, obesity and the metabolic syndrome in man. *Int. J. Obes.* 32, 658–662. doi: 10.1038/sj.ijo.0803778
- Shea, S. A., Hilton, M. F., Hu, K., and Scheer, F. A. (2011). Existence of an endogenous circadian blood pressure rhythm in humans that peaks in the evening. *Circ. Res.* 108, 980–984. doi: 10.1161/circresaha.110.233668
- Shusterman, V., Warman, E., London, B., and Schwartzman, D. (2012). Nocturnal peak in atrial tachyarrhythmia occurrence as a function of arrhythmia burden. *J. Cardiovasc. Electrophysiol.* 23, 604–611. doi: 10.1111/j.1540-8167.2011. 02263.x
- Siegel, D., Black, D. M., Seeley, D. G., and Hulley, S. B. (1992). Circadian variation in ventricular arrhythmias in hypertensive men. Am. J. Cardiol. 69, 344–347. doi: 10.1016/0002-9149(92)90231-m
- Statius van Eps, R. G., van den Meiracker, A. H., Boomsma, F., Man in 't Veld, A. J., and Schalekamp, M. A. (1993). Partial preservation of nocturnal fall in blood pressure in patients with catecholamine-producing tumours. *J. Hypertens. Suppl.* 11, S168–S169.
- Stramba-Badiale, M., Priori, S. G., Napolitano, C., Locati, E. H., Viñolas, X., and Haverkamp, W. (2000). Gene-specific differences in the circadian variation of ventricular repolarization in the long QT syndrome: a key to sudden death during sleep? *Ital. Heart J.* 1, 323–328.
- Swoap, S. J., Li, C., Wess, J., Parsons, A. D., Williams, T. D., and Overton, J. M. (2008). Vagal tone dominates autonomic control of mouse heart rate at thermoneutrality. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol.* 294, H1581–H1588.
- Takigawa, M., Kawamura, M., Noda, T., Yamada, Y., Miyamoto, K., and Okamura, H. (2012). Seasonal and circadian distributions of cardiac events in genotyped patients with congenital long QT syndrome. *Circ. J.* 76, 2112–2118. doi: 10. 1253/circj.cj-12-0213
- Tanaka, K., Ashizawa, N., Kawano, H., Sato, O., Seto, S., and Nishihara, E. (2007). Aldosterone induces circadian gene expression of clock genes in H9c2 cardiomyoblasts. *Heart Vessels* 22, 254–260. doi: 10.1007/s00380-006-0968-3
- Tong, M., Watanabe, E., Yamamoto, N., Nagahata-Ishiguro, M., Maemura, K., and Takeda, N. (2013). Circadian expressions of cardiac ion channel genes in mouse might be associated with the central clock in the SCN but not the peripheral clock in the heart. *Biol. Rhythm Res.* 44, 519–530. doi: 10.1080/09291016.2012. 704801
- Umemura, Y., Maki, I., Tsuchiya, Y., Koike, N., and Yagita, K. (2019). Human circadian molecular oscillation development using induced pluripotent stem cells. J. Biol. Rhythms 34, 525–532. doi: 10.1177/0748730419865436
- van den Berg, M. P., Haaksma, J., Veeger, N. J., and Wilde, A. A. (2006). Diurnal variation of ventricular repolarization in a large family with LQT3-Brugada syndrome characterized by nocturnal sudden death. *Heart Rhythm* 3, 290–295. doi: 10.1016/j.hrthm.2005.11.023
- van Mil, A., Balk, G. M., Neef, K., Buikema, J. W., Asselbergs, F. W., and Wu, S. M. (2018). Modelling inherited cardiac disease using human induced pluripotent stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes: progress, pitfalls, and potential. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 114, 1828–1842. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvy208

- Veerman, D. P., Imholz, B. P., Wieling, W., Wesseling, K. H., and van Montfrans, G. A. (1995). Circadian profile of systemic hemodynamics. *Hypertension* 26, 55–59. doi: 10.1161/01.hyp.26.1.55
- Velasco, A., Huerta, I., and Marin, B. (1988). Plasma corticosterone, motor activity and metabolic circadian patterns in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. *Chronobiol. Int.* 5, 127–135. doi: 10.3109/07420528809079553
- Vyas, V., and Lambiase, P. (2019). Obesity and atrial fibrillation: epidemiology, pathophysiology and novel therapeutic opportunities. *Arrhythm. Electrophysiol. Rev.* 8, 28–36. doi: 10.15420/aer.2018.76.2
- Wang Y., Johnsen, A., Olieslagers, S., Cox, C., Bucchi, A., and Wegner, S. (2016). Circadian rhythm in heart rate is due to an intrinsic circadian clock in the sinus node. *Eur. Heart J.* 37:618.
- Wang, T. A., Yu, Y. V., Govindaiah, G., Ye, X., Artinian, L., and Coleman, T. P. (2012). Circadian rhythm of redox state regulates excitability in suprachiasmatic nucleus neurons. *Science* 337, 839–842. doi: 10.1126/science.1222826
- Woon, P. Y., Kaisaki, P. J., Bragança, J., Bihoreau, M. T., Levy, J. C., and Farrall, M. (2007). Aryl hydrocarbon receptor nuclear translocator-like (BMAL1) is associated with susceptibility to hypertension and type 2 diabetes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 104, 14412–14417. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0703247104
- Xie, Y., Tang, Q., Chen, G., Xie, M., Yu, S., and Zhao, J. (2019). New insights into the circadian rhythm and its related diseases. *Front. Physiol.* 10:682.
- Yamashita, T., Sekiguchi, A., Iwasaki, Y. K., Sagara, K., Iinuma, H., and Hatano, S. (2003). Circadian variation of cardiac K+ channel gene expression. *Circulation* 107, 1917–1922. doi: 10.1161/01.cir.0000058752.79734.f0

- Young, M. E., Razeghi, P., Cedars, A. M., Guthrie, P. H., and Taegtmeyer, H. (2001). Intrinsic diurnal variations in cardiac metabolism and contractile function. *Circ. Res.* 89, 1199–1208. doi: 10.1161/hh2401. 100741
- Young, M. E., Wilson, C. R., Razeghi, P., Guthrie, P. H., and Taegtmeyer, H. (2002). Alterations of the circadian clock in the heart by streptozotocininduced diabetes. *J. Mol. Cell Cardiol.* 34, 223–231. doi: 10.1006/jmcc.2001. 1504
- Zhang, R., Lahens, N. F., Ballance, H. I., Hughes, M. E., and Hogenesch, J. B. (2014). A circadian gene expression atlas in mammals: implications for biology and medicine. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 111, 16219–16224. doi: 10.1073/pnas. 1408886111

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Bernardi, Aromolaran, Zhu and Aromolaran. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The ECG Characteristics of Patients With Isolated Hypomagnesemia

Yiheng Yang^{1†}, Cheng Chen^{1†}, Penghong Duan², Suman Thapaliya¹, Lianjun Gao¹, Yingxue Dong¹, Xiaomeng Yin¹, Xiaolei Yang¹, Rongfeng Zhang¹, Ruopeng Tan¹, Simei Hui¹, Yue Wang¹, Richard Sutton^{3*} and Yunlong Xia^{1*}

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Ruben Coronel, University of Amsterdam, Netherlands

Reviewed by:

Christopher O'Shea, University of Birmingham, United Kingdom Pieter Postema, Amsterdam University Medical Center, Netherlands Konstantinos Letsas, Evaggelismos General Hospital, Greece Erhan Tenekecioglu, University of Health Sciences, Turkey

*Correspondence:

Richard Sutton r.sutton@imperial.ac.uk Yunlong Xia yunlong_xia@126.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cardiac Electrophysiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 14 October 2020 Accepted: 30 December 2020 Published: 27 January 2021

Citation:

Yang Y, Chen C, Duan P, Thapaliya S, Gao L, Dong Y, Yin X, Yang X, Zhang R, Tan R, Hui S, Wang Y, Sutton R and Xia Y (2021) The ECG Characteristics of Patients With Isolated Hypomagnesemia. Front. Physiol. 11:617374. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2020.617374 ¹ Department of Cardiology, First Affiliated Hospital of Dalian Medical University, Dalian, China, ² Department of Cardiology, First Affiliated Hospital of Xinxiang Medical University, Xinxiang, China, ³ Department of Cardiology, Hammersmith Hospital, Imperial College London, London, United Kingdom

Background: Electrocardiographic (ECG) characteristics of patients with isolated hypomagnesemia are not well defined. We aimed to investigate these ECG characteristics in order to define clearly the features of isolated hypomagnesemia.

Hypothesis: Lower serum magnesium could affect ECG parameters after excluding potential confounders.

Methods: This retrospective study was of patients with low serum magnesium <0.65 mmol/L compared with the same patients after restoration to normal serum magnesium. Patients with hypokalemia, hypocalcemia and other electrolyte disturbances were excluded. ECG parameters manually determined and analyzed were P wave dispersion, PR interval, QRS duration, ST-T changes, T wave amplitude, T peak-to-end interval (Tpe), corrected Tpe (Tpec), QT, corrected QT (QTc), QT peak corrected (QTpc) and Tpe dispersion, Tpe/QT ratio.

Results: Two-hundred-and-fourteen patients with isolated hypomagnesemia were identified with 50 of them (56.9 ± 13.6 years; 25 males) being eligible for final analysis from 270,997 patients presenting April 2011–October 2017. In the period of isolated hypomagnesemia, P wave duration was found prolonged ($p \le 0.02$); as was QTc (439 ± 27 vs. 433 ± 22, p = 0.01). Tpec (122 ± 24vs. 111 ± 22, p = 0.000) and Tpe/QT ratio (0.29 ± 0.05 vs. 0.27 ± 0.05, p = 0.000) were increased. QTpc decreased during hypomagnesemia (334 ± 28 vs. 342 ± 21, p = 0.02). However, no significant differences were found in PR interval, QRS duration (85 ± 12 ms vs. 86 ± 12 ms, p = 0.122) and ST-T segments between the patients and their own controls.

Conclusions: In patients with isolated hypomagnesemia, P wave duration, QTc, Tpec, and Tpe/QT ratio suggesting atrial depolarization and ventricular repolarization dispersion were significantly increased compared with normal magnesium levels in the same patients after restoration to normal levels.

Keywords: electrocardiogram, serum magnesium, ventricular arrhythmia, sudden cardiac death, repolarization dispersion

107
Sudden cardiac death (SCD) has been widely studied because of its important public health implications (Ackerman et al., 2016); electrolyte disturbances have been thought to be related to its etiology. Magnesium is the second most abundant intra-cellular fluid cation, and is considered to be an important factor in facilitating influx of potassium ions into the myocyte, which relates to QT duration. Low serum magnesium is also regarded as a risk factor for ventricular tachycardia/fibrillation (VT/VF) and SCD (Adamopoulos et al., 2009; Del Gobbo et al., 2013; Kieboom et al., 2016). Moreover, administration of magnesium has been first line treatment for Torsades des Pointes (TdP; Neumar et al., 2010).

Studies focusing on isolated hypomagnesemia are limited. Early studies observed ST depression or T wave changes in magnesium deficient dogs (Seta et al., 1966). Other reports have suggested that low serum magnesium level is related to a higher incidence of various arrhythmias, including VT and VF and SCD (American Heart Association, 2000; Peacock et al., 2010). The possible mechanisms are thought to involve QT prolongation (Kieboom et al., 2016). However, these studies have, generally, not excluded hypokalemia, hypocalcemia and other electrolyte disturbances, or were based only on animal data. The electrocardiographic (ECG) characteristics of isolated hypomagnesemia remain not clearly defined. We, therefore, performed this study to investigate the specific changes in various ECG parameters among patients with isolated hypomagnesemia.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Design

The study population comprised patients admitted to The First Affiliated Hospital of Dalian Medical University between April 2011 and October 2017. The study sample collected subjects with documented isolated low serum magnesium and those same patients when magnesium levels were returned to the normal range as their own controls to offer comparison of ECG parameters between the two states. Seven-hundred-and-sixtyseven patients with intermittent low serum magnesium levels were selected from 270,997 patients from electronic medical records; The inclusion criteria were as follows:

- (1) Patients with isolated hypomagnesemia (serum magnesium levels <0.65 mmol/L) without other electrolyte disturbance according to laboratory criteria in The First Affiliated Hospital of Dalian Medical University (serum calcium levels between 2.02 and 2.60 mmol/L, serum sodium levels between 137 and 147 mmol/L, serum potassium levels between 3.50 and 5.30 mmol/L, serum chlorine levels between 99 and 110 mmol/L and serum phosphate levels between 0.87 and 1.45 mmol/L).</p>
- (2) The patients in whom both normal and low magnesium levels were available, where the separate magnesium measurements were <3 months apart.</p>

- (3) ECGs were available contemporaneously with the blood samples. Two-hundred-and-fourteen of these 767 patients were shown to have isolated hypomagnesemia and 175 patients with intermittent low serum magnesium fulfilled all the above inclusion criteria. Additionally, those patients with diagnosis of bundle branch block, fascicular block, atrial flutter/fibrillation, atrioventricular block, VT were excluded.
- (4) Patients taking QT-prolonging drugs were also excluded guided by crediblemeds.¹
- (5) Further, patients with end-stage heart failure results from various etiologies.

After these exclusions, 50 patients were eligible for comparison with their own controls (**Figure 1**). Our study conforms to the Declaration of Helsinki and was approved by the Medical Ethics Committee of The First Affiliated Hospital of Dalian Medical University. Informed Patient consent was not required in our institution as this was a retrospective study according to local ethics rules.

Assessment of Serum Magnesium

Fasting blood samples were drawn from an antecubital vein and sent immediately to the laboratory in the medical center. The timing of blood drawing and ECG recording was within 24 h. Magnesium was measured in serum by the clinical laboratory in the medical center using a Hitachi 7600-210 automatic analyzer (selective electrode method). Low serum magnesium levels were defined as <0.65 mmol/L. The laboratory coefficient of variation for Mg, based on split samples sent 1 week apart blindly to our laboratory, was 2.2–3.2%, rechecked on an annual basis.

Measurements of ECGs

Standard 12-lead ECGs recorded by GE Healthcare, Chicago, IL, United States MAC5500 at a paper speed of 25 mm/s and voltage of 10 mm/mV. All ECG recordings were made with 40 Hz filtering which was carefully and correctly set in our GE machines. These devices offered some automated measurements but since we wished to record a number of measurements that were not provided, we opted to make all measurements manually. Definition of ECG parameters is shown in Figure 2. QT interval was manually measured as the beginning of the QRS complex to the endpoint of the T-wave. The terminal aspect of the T wave was identified as the point where the descending limb reaches the baseline. The methods of QT interval measurement have been shown in Figure 3 and well described in our previous publications (Wang et al., 2017; Yu et al., 2017; Vink et al., 2018). According to Bazett's formula, QT-corrected (QTc) was defined as:

$$QTc = QT_{maximum} / \sqrt{RR interval}$$

 $QT_{maximum}$ was measured from the earliest deflection of the QRS complex to the latest termination of T-wave among leads II, V2, and V5. Bazett's formula was also used for correction of other parameters including corrected Tpe (Tpec), QTpc, and

¹https://www.crediblemeds.org/new-drug-list/



JT-corrected (JTc) interval. The other ECG parameters were measured as follows:

- T peak-to-end interval (Tpe) intervals were calculated in lead II, V2, V5;
- P wave duration was measured in lead II, V2 and V3;
- QT-peak (QTp) interval was measured from the beginning of the QRS complex to the peak of T-wave in lead II, V2, V5;



- the peak of the T wave was defined as the highest amplitude reached by the T-wave deflection;
- the longest Tpe interval from among the leads stated above was selected as Tpe_{maximum};
- the longest P wave duration_{maximum} and QTp_{maximum};
- JT interval was calculated by the difference between the $\ensuremath{QT_{maximum}}$ and QRS duration.

Intervals were calculated as follows;

- Tpe interval = QT interval QTp interval; Tpec = Tpe corrected;
- Tpe/QT ratio = Tpe_{maximum}/QT_{maximum};
- Tpe dispersion = Tpe_{maximum} Tpe_{minmum};
- QT dispersion = QT_{maximum} QT_{minmum};
- P wave dispersion = P wave duration_{maximum} P wave duration_{minmum};
- JT interval = QT_{maximum} QRS duration;
- $QTpc = QTp_{maximum} / \sqrt{RR interval};$
- Tpec = Tpe/ \sqrt{RR} interval.

According to the recommendation of the American Heart Association (AHA), T-wave amplitude was measured from the baseline to the peak of the T wave in lead II, V2, and V3



(Rautaharju et al., 2009). ST depression was defined as ST segments depressed >0.1mv in any lead. All ECG measurements were made by two cardiologists from among the authors who were blind to which group each patient belonged, and verified each other's work. Measurements were performed on consecutive complexes on these leads (II, V2, and V5) whichever QT interval was the longest. We printed the ECG on A4 paper and indices were measured by calipers.

Statistical Analyses

Based on the use of patients as their own controls described above, the electrolyte levels and ECG characteristics were compared between the two measurements, abnormal (serum magnesium <0.65 mmol/L) and normal (>0.65 to <0.8 mmol/L). Continuous variables were described by mean \pm (standard deviation). The Student's paired *t*-test was used to evaluate the difference for normally distributed continuous variables and Wilcoxon test for abnormally distributed variables. Kolmogorov–Smirnov test was used to test the distribution of continuous variables. Categorical variables were described in percentages and were compared using paired χ^2 tests (McNemar's test). We considered a two-sided *p*-value <0.05 to be statistically significant.

RESULTS

Patient Characteristics

Of the 767 patients with low serum magnesium levels, 159 (20.7%) also had low serum potassium and 364 (47.5%) had both low serum potassium and calcium and, thus, were excluded. **Table 1** shows the distribution of serum electrolytes stratified by serum magnesium level. No significant differences were found in other electrolytes in the included patients, neither in hypomagnesemia nor when normal.

We collected the clinical characteristics of the final studied sample, mean age 56.94 \pm 13.63 years; males 50%. The average time between the two ECG recordings was 1.3 \pm 0.8 (0.1–3.5)

TABLE 1 Serum electrolyte characteristics of patients stratified by
serum magnesium.

	Hypomagnesemia group	Normal group	P value	
Serum magnesium (mmol/L)	0.60 ± 0.05	0.76 ± 0.09	0.000	
Serum potassium (mmol/L)	4.06 ± 0.37	4.11 ± 0.34	0.39	
Serum calcium (mmol/L)	2.25 ± 0.14	2.24 ± 0.13	0.70	
Serum sodium (mmol/L)	139.88 ± 3.40	140.14 ± 3.51	0.63	
Serum chlorine (mmol/L)	104.08 ± 4.13	103.58 ± 4.24	0.46	

Study group <0.65 mmol/L, control group 0.65–0.8 mmol/L. Data are presented as mean \pm standard deviation. P value derived from paired t-tests for normally distributed variables and Wilcoxon test for abnormally distributed variables.

months. The common clinical diagnoses, including various cancers (38), hypertension (10), and diabetes (7), are shown in **Table 2**. Regarding the in-patient departments concerned (**Figure 4**), 66% patients (33/50) were from Oncology, the second most common department concerned was Obstetrics and Gynecology with 10% of patients, followed by Hematology (6%). Diagnoses including coronary artery disease/myocardial infarction/PCI history were not found.

Descriptions and Comparison of ECG Parameters

In the study group with isolated hypomagnesemia, we identified PR prolongation in 30 patients (60%). ST depression was found in 4 patients in both groups (8%). Amongst repolarization parameters, there were 24 patients (48%) with QTc prolongation, 26 (52%) patients with lower T wave amplitude in lead V2 compared with normal magnesium levels. Forty-six patients (92%) showed Tpec prolongation in lead V3 where was also the greatest increment (mean 16.9 ms). The ECG parameters of patients with low serum magnesium are presented in **Table 3**. Moreover, the inter-observer variability of QT measurement was calculated and provided in **Table 4**.

We found that patients with isolated hypomagnesemia presented significantly higher Tpe/QT ratio (0.29 \pm 0.05 vs.

TABLE 2 | Baseline characteristics and clinical diagnosis of total sample.

	Study population
Demographics	
Mean age (Mean \pm SD)	56.94 ± 13.63
Men (N, %)	25 (50%)
Diagnosis (N)	
Cancer	38
Hypertension	10
Diabetes	7
Anemia	3
Renal dysfunction	3
Pregnancy	4
Rheumatoid disease	4
Liver cirrhosis	3
COPD	2
Gout	2
Peptic ulcer	2
Arrhythmia	2
Stroke	1
Heart failure	1

SD, standard deviation; COPD, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease.



 0.27 ± 0.05 , p = 0.000), longer QTc interval (439 ± 27 vs. 433 ± 22 , p = 0.01). and JTc interval (345 ± 29 vs. 338 ± 24 , p = 0.05). Decreased QTpc interval (338 ± 28 vs. 342 ± 21 , p = 0.02) and Tpec interval prolongation (122 ± 24 vs. 111 ± 22 , p = 0.000) were also observed at the time of low magnesium. These patients with low magnesium also presented longer P wave duration in all measured leads. Notably, patients with low serum magnesium

TABLE 3 | ECG characteristics of patients with isolated hypomagnesemia.

N	Percentage (%)
30	60.0
22	44.0
4	8.0
24	48.0
30	60.0
35	70.0
46	92.0
38	76.9
33	66.0
28	53.0
14	28.0
26	52.0
18	26.0
	30 22 4 24 30 35 46 38 33 28 14 26

QTc, QT corrected; Tpec, Tpeak to end corrected.

TABLE 4 | Inter-observer variability of QT interval measurements.

		Miss/cases	Observer 1	Observer 2	P value
Lead II	Study group (ms)	47/50	360 ± 38	363 ± 38	0.100
	Control group(ms)		363 ± 37	367 ± 36	0.062
Lead V2	Study group (ms)	50/50	365 ± 34	366 ± 35	0.496
	Control group (ms)		366 ± 37	369 ± 36	0.142
Lead V5	Study group (ms)	49/50	359 ± 34	362 ± 33	0.093
	Control group (ms)		365 ± 36	368 ± 36	0.171

have shorter QRS duration (85 ± 12 vs. 87 ± 12 , p = 0.122) but not significantly so. No significant differences were found in other ECG parameters between patients at time of isolated hypomagnesemia and with normal magnesium (**Table 5**).

Difference of these ECG parameters with significant changes are shown in **Figure 5**.

DISCUSSION

Isolated hypomagnesemia has been relatively rare in our clinical practice. In this study, we analyzed the ECG parameters of patients with isolated hypomagnesemia, after excluding the concurrence of hypokalemia and/or hypocalcemia, and compared the findings with the same ECG parameters when normal serum magnesium levels were restored. We found that isolated hypomagnesemia was associated with longer P wave duration, QTc, Tpec interval and Tpe/QT ratio, indicating increased dispersion of ventricular repolarization.

Role of Serum Magnesium in vivo

Magnesium, the second key intracellular cation in the human body, intracellular magnesium level varies between 5 and 20 mmol/L, depending on the different tissues, with the highest concentrations in skeletal and cardiac muscle (Kamonwan and Davenport, 2018). Consequently, serum magnesium level

		Hypomagnesemia group	Normal group	P value
	P wave dispersion	15 ± 8	16 ± 7	0.46
	P wave duration (ms)			
	Lead II	101 ± 21	93 ± 19	0.02
	Lead V2	94 ± 19	86 ± 19	0.005
	Lead V3	89 ± 19	82 ± 16	0.01
	PR interval (ms)	150 ± 21	149 ± 23	0.64
	QRS duration (ms)	85 ± 12	87 ± 12	0.122
	Heart rate (beats/min)	84.84 ± 16.50	82.33 ± 16.69	0.09
	ST depression	2(4.0)	2(4.0)	1.000
	QTc (ms)	439 ± 27	433 ± 22	0.01
	QTp_max (ms)	284 ± 38	298 ± 36	0.001
	QTpc (ms)	334 ± 28	342 ± 21	0.02
	Tpe_max (ms)	103 ± 20	96 ± 18	0.000
	Tpec_max (ms)	122 ± 24	111 ± 22	0.000
	JT_max (ms)	295 ± 36	296 ± 36	0.71
	JTc (ms)	345 ± 29	338 ± 24	0.05
	Tpe/QT	0.29 ± 0.05	0.27 ± 0.05	0.000
	Tpe dispersion	38 ± 16	34 ± 15	0.199
	QT dispersion	29 ± 19	27 ± 15	0.594
Lead II	QTpc (ms)	323 ± 27	332 ± 22	0.04
	Tpec	102 ± 25	89 ± 22	0.001
Lead V2	T ampltitude (mv)	0.22 ± 0.10	0.22 ± 0.11	0.97
	QTpc (ms)	313 ± 29	319 ± 25	0.15
	Tpec (ms)	117 ± 25	105 ± 23	0.000
Lead V5	QTpc (ms)	326 ± 31	332 ± 29	0.351
	Tpec (ms)	100 ± 21	95 ± 21	0.05

TABLE 5 | ECG parameter comparison between low serum magnesium and normal serum magnesium groups.

Data are presented as mean \pm standard deviation or number (%). P value derived from the paired t-test or Wilcoxon test (for continuous variables), and the paired χ^2 test (for categorical variables) when appropriate.

QTc, QT corrected, Tpec, Tpeak to end corrected, QTp, QTpeak interval, QTpc, QTpeak corrected.

reflects only 1% of the body magnesium content and the clinical impact of magnesium deficiency on cardiac function may be underestimated (Jeroen et al., 2015). Magnesium exerts effects on cardiac function by regulating ion channels, plays a role in activation of Na+-K+ ATPase, which participates in transportation of K+ into cells and Na+ out of cells, and is a natural calcium antagonist. These functions could be adversely affected in magnesium deficiency, which, further, may result in hypokalemia and/or hypocalcemia and alteration of ECG characteristics. Previous studies have demonstrated that patients with hypertension and coronary heart disease are likely associated with more arrhythmias such as VT/VF and SCD (Peacock et al., 2010; Reffelmann et al., 2011). The Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC) study also observed 45% SCD risk reduction in individuals with higher serum magnesium level (>0.87 mmol/L) compared with those with serum magnesium level <0.75 mmol/L (Peacock et al., 2010). Beneficial effects of magnesium in suppression of arrhythmia secondary to myocardial ischemia or quinidine have previously been reported. The main mechanism may be

that magnesium can suppress the early afterdepolarizationinduced triggered activity that may be responsible for initiating episodes of Torsade de Pointes and triggered activity suppression may be related to a "stabilizing" or surface charge effect (Davidenko et al., 1989). Elevated magnesium levels shift the threshold potential to less negative values and produce a membrane stabilizing effect which is similar but less than that of calcium (Castillo and Engbaek, 1954; Frankenhaeuser and Hodgkin, 1957). In addition, magnesium also acts to suppress triggered activity by inhibition of slow inward current (Isi) and consequently shorten phase 2 of the action potential, which is reported in canine Purkinje fibers (Sebeszta et al., 1981; Davidenko et al., 1989). Moreover, other studies have indicated that serum magnesium acts by blocking the increase in intracellular calcium during myocardial ischemia (Prielipp et al., 1995; Peacock et al., 2010). Consequently, low serum magnesium contributes to the increase in intracellular calcium, and results in calcium overload during acute ischemia and reperfusion, thus, playing an important role in arrhythmogenesis. Other possible pathways may contribute to the association between lower serum magnesium levels and dyslipidemia, metabolic syndrome, endothelial dysfunction, inflammation, atherosclerosis, and vascular calcification, all of which could be mechanisms to explain the above observations (Yang et al., 2016).

However, in these early studies almost all the baseline characteristics including serum potassium levels were significantly abnormal (P < 0.0001), which may confound the electrophysiological effect of depletion of serum magnesium. Zhang et al. (2012) reported that individuals with magnesium deficiency were found to have associated severe ischemic heart disease and fatal arrhythmias but there were no descriptions of ECG parameters including QTc in their regression model. Therefore, our results that reveal the relationship between QTc, Tpec, and Tpe/QT ratio suggesting increased ventricular repolarization dispersion may, therefore, verify the relationship between hypomagnesemia and SCD.

P-QRS-T Complex

P wave duration was significantly prolonged with low magnesium levels. Increased P wave duration reflected slow or uncoordinated conduction in the atria. The mechanism is as yet unclear but may be a direct effect of low serum magnesium, or indirect by inhibition of K+ channels and result in a block of inward K+ current in phase 3 of the Action potential, considered as prolongation of effective refractory period. Consistent with our results in patients with hypomagnesemia, no difference was detected in PR interval in magnesium deficient beagles reported by Seta et al. (1966).

We identified a tendency to QRS shortening in 41 of 65 (63.1%) patients with low magnesium but it was not statistically significant. However, in an experimental study conducted in dogs (Syllm-Rapoport, 1962), Syllm-Rapoport (1962) found that dogs on a magnesium deficient diet had a shorter QRS duration in the resting state after several days but the observed abnormality could be attributed to diet, the resting state or other effects of the experiment. The Seta group's study (Seta et al., 1966) detected



widening of the QRS in the early stage of magnesium deficiency with peaked T waves and ST depression after 2 weeks. Thus, the most probable explanation for these differences is the fact that it is almost impossible to control all aspects of magnesium metabolism and maintain low serum magnesium levels for long durations in humans and in animals.

QTc Interval and Tpe Interval

A recent study reported that hypomagnesemia was associated with QTc prolongation and SCD from the Rotterdam cohort (Kieboom et al., 2016). However, it must be noted that they did not report the baseline data on serum potassium and other electrolytes. Possible mechanism of QTc prolongation in hypomagnesemia patients is thought to be caused, at least in part, by the effect of hypokalemia or other electrolytes disturbances. Thus, our study may add some confirmation of the possible mechanism. Similarly, another earlier study showed a significant increase in QT interval in magnesium deficient dogs but QTc was not calculated (Syllm-Rapoport, 1962). The difference in results between these two studies (Syllm-Rapoport, 1962; Kieboom et al., 2016) could be due to changes in R-R interval. Subjects with hypomagnesemia in our study had slightly higher heart rates than those with normal magnesium levels potentially increasing QTc. Moreover, reduction in Mg²⁺ ions blocks inward flow of potassium which also potentially prolongs QTc. With respect to Tpec interval, generally, the apex of the T-wave represents epicardial repolarization while the end of the T-wave represents M-cell repolarization. The global dispersion of repolarization in different regions of the ventricular wall can be represented by Tpe and Tpe/QT ratio (Xia et al., 2005; Tse et al., 2018a). Tpe also reflects the length of the ventricular vulnerable period, increase in which has been thought to be a pro-arrhythmic factor for VT/VF in patients with prolonged QTc interval (Tse

et al., 2017, 2018b). Recently, our team conducted a retrospective study comparing the outcomes of 293 patients with long QT syndrome (LQTS) compared with 542 patients without LQTS. LQTS patients, as expected, had higher mortality (Yu et al., 2017). Additionally, we found, in the present study, a significant increase in Tpec interval and Tpe/QT ratio among those with QTc prolongation, suggesting that serum magnesium could directly affect electrophysiologic characteristics via prolongation of Tpec. Low serum magnesium significantly shortened the QTpc interval in our study, which raises the possibility that QTc prolongation could be the result of increased Tpec. In terms of mechanism of these changes, it is possible that Tpec prolongation was observed in the early stage of serum magnesium deficiency and, at this early stage, the effect of hypomagnesemia on Na⁺-K⁺ ATPase is too small to have impact on serum potassium and QTc prolongation. Presently, the electrophysiologic action of low serum magnesium on cellular function is unclear but our results suggest Tpec interval prolongation may have importance in hypomagnesemic patients in clinical practice.

In this study, we draw a conclusion that atrial depolarization and ventricular repolarization dispersion were significantly increased in patients with isolated hypomagnesemia based on our results. However, we are unable to explain the reason why atrial and ventricular cardiomyocytes behave differently in electrolyte disturbances. There is currently insufficient knowledge on the influence of magnesium on the different phases of the cardiac action potential, and that it is also unknown whether there are different effects on different subtypes of cardiomyocytes or the specialized conduction system. Furthermore, we also think it should not be simply concluded that atrial and ventricular cardiomyocytes behave in opposite ways with this electrolyte disturbance, as atrial repolarization is not well reflected by the ECG, preventing us from being certain of the change in atrial repolarization. We anticipate that further study may illuminate this area in the future.

Clinical Aspects

We identified 36 patients (72%) from Oncology and Hematology departments, the main diagnosis including lung cancer (25), leukemia (2), and lymphoma (3) that accounted for almost 80% of the total. We investigated the patients' medications and found that some chemotherapeutic drugs increase renal magnesium loss by inhibition of reabsorption. Use of cisplatin has been found to be associated with renal magnesium loss, by protein-binding adversely affecting distal tubular reabsorption of magnesium in up to 90% of cancer patients (Goren, 2003; Taguchi et al., 2005) and 19 of our total of 50 patients received intravenous cisplatin. Two patients received ifosfamide or amphotericin B, both of which may cause distal renal tubular damage, and thereby reduce serum magnesium (Klastersky, 2003; Goldman and Koren, 2004). Furthermore, leukemic cells could affect renal tubular function increasing magnesium excretion (Miltiadous et al., 2008). Five patients (10%) from the Obstetrics and Gynecology department were included in our study where magnesium metabolism may be critical; reduction of serum magnesium can enhance uterine sensitivity, thus, helping to initiate delivery in late pregnancy. Moreover, serum magnesium deficiency plays a key role in eclampsia.

Strengths and Limitations

There are limitations of our study to be acknowledged; the study has been performed in a single center, we only have a single measurement of serum magnesium without serial measurements. This methodological limitation also pertains to other studies in this field (Kieboom et al., 2016; Wannamethee et al., 2018). Further, we are unable to be certain of the temporal association between hypomagnesemia and SCD because we were unable to obtain the clinical outcome of all patients. Indeed, we may have failed to obtain all subtle changes during the fluctuation of magnesium in these patients. Preclinical studies focus on the wedge preparations, single myocardial cells may reveal more details of pathological changes in the future.

The strengths of our study are inclusion of only isolated hypomagnesemia excluding other electrolyte disturbances, patients acting as their own controls, and the availability of much of the clinical picture. Since isolated hypomagnesemia is relatively rare, monitoring of serum electrolytes including magnesium is of great value in prompting the maintenance of electrolyte balance which may reduce the risk of life-threating arrhythmia and SCD. In clinical practice, hypomagnesemia which is also likely to lead to serious clinical conditions

REFERENCES

- Ackerman, M., Atkins, D. L., and Triedman, J. K. (2016). Sudden cardiac death in the young. *Circulation* 133, 1006–1026.
- Adamopoulos, C., Pitt, B., Sui, X., Love, T. E., Zannad, F., and Ahmed, A. (2009). Low serum magnesium and cardiovascular mortality in chronic heart failure: a propensity-matched study. *Int. J. Cardiol.* 136, 270–277. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2008.05.006

such as SCD is not scrutinized by physicians as much as hypokalemia. More detailed descriptions of ECG characteristics of hypomagnesemia may trigger greater attention to this abnormality. Furthermore, prolongation of Tpec and Tpe/QT ratio indicating increased dispersion of ventricular repolarization can bring more understanding of the relationship between hypomagnesemia and SCD. Further clinical trials are needed in order to determine the clinical benefit and ECG characteristics of magnesium supplementation.

CONCLUSION

In patients with isolated hypomagnesemia, P wave duration, QTc, Tpec, and Tpe/QT ratio suggesting atrial depolarization and ventricular repolarization dispersion were significantly increased compared with normal magnesium levels in the same patients after restoration to normal levels.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

YX designed the study in which RS also played a part. YY and XY wrote the manuscript. CC, ST, SH, RT, YW, and RZ conducted the patient selection and the ECG measurements. YY maintained the database and conducted data analysis. XY and YD provided the electronic medical record database and reviewed the flow of study. RS, LG, and YX conducted the quality assurance and reviewed and edited the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This study was supported by grants from Liaoning Clinical Capacity Construction Funding (LNCCC-D20-2015) and Dalian Medical scientific research program (1912020).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We appreciated all the participants of this study.

American Heart Association (2000). Guidelines 2000 for Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation and Emergency Cardiovascular Care. Part 8: advanced challenges in resuscitation: section 1: life-threatening electrolyte abnormalities. The American Heart Association in collaboration with the International Liaison Committee on Resuscitation. Circulation 102(8 Suppl.), I217–I222.

Castillo, D., and Engbaek, L. (1954). The nature of the neuromuscular block produced by magnesium. *J. Physiol.* 124, 370–384. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.1954. sp005114

- Davidenko, J. M., Cohen, L., Goodrow, R., and Antzelevitch, C. (1989). Quinidineinduced action potential prolongation, early afterdepolarizations, and triggered activity in canine Purkinje fibers. Effects of stimulation rate, potassium, and magnesium. [J]. *Circulation* 79:674. doi: 10.1161/01.cir.79.3.674
- Del Gobbo, L. C., Imamura, F., Wu, J., de Oliveira Otto, M. C., Chiuve, S. E., and Mozaffarian, D. (2013). Circulating and dietary magnesium and risk of cardiovascular disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective studies. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 98, 160–173. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.112.053132
- Frankenhaeuser, B., and Hodgkin, A. L. (1957). The action of calcium on the electrical properties of squid axons[J]. J. Physiol. 137, 218–244. doi: 10.1113/ jphysiol.1957.sp005808
- Goldman, R. D., and Koren, G. (2004). Amphotericin B nephrotoxicity in children. J. Pediatr. Hematol. Oncol. 26, 421–426. doi: 10.1097/00043426-200407000-00004
- Goren, M. P. (2003). Cisplatin nephrotoxicity affects magnesium and calcium metabolism. Med. Pediatr. Oncol. 41, 186–189. doi: 10.1002/mpo.10335
- Jeroen, H. F., Joost, G. J., Hoenderop, J. G., and René, J. M. (2015). Magnesium in man: implications for health and disease. *Physiol. Rev.* 95, 1–46. doi: 10.1152/ physrev.00012.2014
- Kamonwan, T., and Davenport, A. (2018). Magnesium and cardiovascular disease. Adv. Chronic. Kidney Dis. 25, 251–260. doi: 10.1053/j.ackd.2018.02.010
- Kieboom, B. C., Niemeijer, M. N., Leening, M. J., van den Berg, M. E., Franco, O. H., Deckers, J. W., et al. (2016). Serum magnesium and the risk of death from coronary heart disease and sudden cardiac death. J. Am. Heart Assoc. 5:e002707.
- Klastersky, J. (2003). Side effects of ifosfamide. Oncology 65(Suppl. 2), 7–10. doi: 10.1159/000073351
- Miltiadous, G., Christidis, D., Kalogirou, M., and Elisaf, M. (2008). Causes and mechanisms of acid-base and electrolyte abnormalities in cancer patients. *Eur. J. Intern. Med.* 19, 1–7. doi: 10.1016/j.ejim.2007.04.016
- Neumar, R. W., Otto, C. W., Link, M. S., Kronick, S. L., Shuster, M., Callaway, C. W., et al. (2010). Part 8: adult advanced cardiovascular life support: 2010 american heart association guidelines for cardiopulmonary resuscitation and emergency cardiovascular care. *Circulation* 122(18 Suppl. 3), S729–S767.
- Peacock, J. M., Ohira, T., Post, W., Sotoodehnia, N., Rosamond, W., and Folsom, A. R. (2010). Serum magnesium and risk of sudden cardiac death in the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC) Study. Am. Heart J. 160, 464–470. doi: 10.1016/j.ahj.2010.06.012
- Prielipp, R. C., Butterworth, J. F., Roberts, P. R., Black, K. W., and Zaloga, G. P. (1995). Magnesium antagonizes the actions of lysophosphatidyl choline (LPC) in myocardial cells: a possible mechanism for its antiarrhythmic effects. *Anesth. Analg.* 80, 1083–1087. doi: 10.1213/00000539-199506000-00003
- Rautaharju, P. M., Surawicz, B., Gettes, L. S., American Heart Association Electrocardiography and Arrhythmias Committee, Council on Clinical Cardiology, American College of Cardiology Foundation, et al. (2009). AHA/ACCF/HRS recommendations for the standardization and interpretation of the electrocardiogram: part IV: the ST segment, T and U waves, and the QT interval: a scientific statement from the american heart association electrocardiography and arrhythmias committee, council on clinical cardiology; the american college of cardiology foundation; and the heart rhythm society. endorsed by the international society for computerized electrocardiology. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 53, 982–991. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2008.12.014
- Reffelmann, T., Ittermann, T., Dorr, M., Volzke, H., Reinthaler, M., Petersmann, A., et al. (2011). Low serum magnesium concentrations predict cardiovascular and all-cause mortality. *Atherosclerosis* 219, 280–284. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis. 2011.05.038
- Sebeszta, M., Coraboeuf, E., Deroubaix, E., and Floch, L. M. (1981). Effect of tetraethylammonium, 4-aminopyridine, cesium and magnesium on slow responses in the guinea pig papillary muscle[J]. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 15, 468–474. doi: 10.1093/cvr/15.8.468

- Seta, K., Kleiger, R., Hellerstein, E. E., Lown, B., and Vitale, J. J. (1966). Effect of potassium and magnesium deficiency on the electrocardiogram and plasma electrolytes of pure-bred beagles. *Am. J. Cardiol.* 17, 516–519. doi: 10.1016/ 0002-9149(66)90242-6
- Syllm-Rapoport, I. (1962). Electrocardiographic studies in dogs with magnesium deficiency. J. Pediatr. 60, 801–804. doi: 10.1016/s0022-3476(62)80106-1
- Taguchi, T., Nazneen, A., Abid, M. R., and Razzaque, M. S. (2005). Cisplatinassociated nephrotoxicity and pathological events. *Contrib. Nephrol.* 148, 107– 121. doi: 10.1159/000086055
- Tse, G., Gong, M., Meng, L., Wong, C. W., Bazoukis, G., Chan, M. T. V., et al. (2018a). Predictive value of T peak – T end indices for adverse outcomes in acquired QT prolongation: a meta-analysis. *Front. Physiol.* 9:1226. doi: 10.3389/ fphys.2018.01226
- Tse, G., Gong, M., Meng, L., Wong, C. W., Georgopoulos, S., Bazoukis, G., et al. (2018b). Meta-analysis of Tpeak-Tend and Tpeak-Tend/QT ratio for risk stratification in congenital long QT syndrome. *J. Electrocardiol.* 51, 396–401.
- Tse, G., Gong, M., Wong, W. T., Georgopoulos, S., Letas, K. P., Vassiliou, V. S., et al. (2017). The Tpeak – Tend interval as an electrocardiographic risk marker of arrhythmic and mortality outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Heart Rhythm.* 14, 1131–1137.
- Vink, A. S., Neumann, B., Lieve, K. V., Sinner, M. F., and Postema, P. G. (2018). Determination and interpretation of the QT interval: Comprehensive analysis of a large cohort of long QT syndrome patients and controls. *Circulation* 138, 2345–2358. doi: 10.1161/circulationaha.118.03 3943
- Wang, B., Zhang, L., Cong, P., Chu, H., Liu, Y., Liu, J., et al. (2017). A new formula for estimating the true QT interval in left bundle branch block. J. Cardiovasc. Electrophysiol. 28, 684–689. doi: 10.1111/jce.13203
- Wannamethee, S. G., Papacosta, O., Lennon, L., and Whincup, P. H. (2018). Serum magnesium and risk of incident heart failure in older men: the British Regional Heart Study. *Eur. J. Epidemiol.* 33, 873–882. doi: 10.1007/s10654-018-0388-6
- Xia, Y., Liang, Y., Kongstad, O., Holm, M., Olsson, B., and Yuan, S. (2005). Tpeak-Tend interval as an index of global dispersion of ventricular repolarization: evaluations using monophasic action potential mapping of the epi- and endocardium in swine. *J. Interv. Card Electrophysiol.* 14, 79–87. doi: 10.1007/ s10840-005-4592-4
- Yang, X., Soohoo, M., Streja, E., Rivara, M. B., Obi, Y., Adams, S. V., et al. (2016). Serum magnesium levels and hospitalization and mortality in incident peritoneal dialysis patients: a cohort study. *Am. J. Kidney Dis.* 68, 619–627. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2016.03.428
- Yu, H., Zhang, L., Liu, J., Liu, Y., Kowley, P. R., Zhang, Y., et al. (2017). Acquired long QT syndrome in hospitalized patients. *Heart Rhythm.* 14, 974–978.
- Zhang, W., Iso, H., Ohira, T., Date, C., and Tamakoshi, A. (2012). Associations of dietary magnesium intake with mortality from cardiovascular disease: the JACC study. *Atherosclerosis* 221, 587–595. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2012. 01.034

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Yang, Chen, Duan, Thapaliya, Gao, Dong, Yin, Yang, Zhang, Tan, Hui, Wang, Sutton and Xia. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Interplay Between Systemic Metabolic Cues and Autonomic Output: Connecting Cardiometabolic Function and Parasympathetic Circuits

Liliana Espinoza, Stephanie Fedorchak and Carie R. Boychuk*

Department of Cellular and Integrative Physiology, Long School of Medicine, University of Texas Health San Antonio, San Antonio, TX, United States

There is consensus that the heart is innervated by both the parasympathetic and sympathetic nervous system. However, the role of the parasympathetic nervous system in controlling cardiac function has received significantly less attention than the sympathetic nervous system. New neuromodulatory strategies have renewed interest in the potential of parasympathetic (or vagal) motor output to treat cardiovascular disease and poor cardiac function. This renewed interest emphasizes a critical need to better understand how vagal motor output is generated and regulated. With clear clinical links between cardiovascular and metabolic diseases, addressing this gap in knowledge is undeniably critical to our understanding of the interaction between metabolic cues and vagal motor output, notwithstanding the classical role of the parasympathetic nervous system in regulating gastrointestinal function and energy homeostasis. For this reason, this review focuses on the central, vagal circuits involved in sensing metabolic state(s) and enacting vagal motor output to influence cardiac function. It will review our current understanding of brainstem vagal circuits and their unique position to integrate metabolic signaling into cardiac activity. This will include an overview of not only how metabolic cues alter vagal brainstem circuits, but also how vagal motor output might influence overall systemic concentrations of metabolic cues known to act on the cardiac tissue. Overall, this review proposes that the vagal brainstem circuits provide an integrative network capable of regulating and responding to metabolic cues to control cardiac function.

Keywords: autonomic, metabolic, parasympathetic, cardiovascular disease, brainstem, vagus

INTRODUCTION

While sympathoexcitation may be widely accepted as a hallmark of the pathogenesis of cardiovascular disease, decreased parasympathetic, or vagal, tone is linked to a broad spectrum of diseases, including cardiac arrhythmias, coronary heart disease, and heart failure, and is an accurate predictor of morbidity and mortality in humans and animals (Barkai and Madacsy, 1995; La Rovere et al., 1998; Nolan et al., 1998; Thayer and Lane, 2007; Franciosi et al., 2017). Experiments conducted more than 150 years ago first established the anti-arrhythmogenic effect of

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Brian P. Delisle, University of Kentucky, United States

Reviewed by:

Marc Van Bilsen, Maastricht University, Netherlands Ademuyiwa S. Aromolaran, Masonic Medical Research Institute (MMRI), United States

> *Correspondence: Carie R. Boychuk boychukc@uthscsa.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cardiac Electrophysiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 31 October 2020 Accepted: 12 February 2021 Published: 11 March 2021

Citation:

Espinoza L, Fedorchak S and Boychuk CR (2021) Interplay Between Systemic Metabolic Cues and Autonomic Output: Connecting Cardiometabolic Function and Parasympathetic Circuits. Front. Physiol. 12:624595. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2021.624595

116

Metabolic Cues and Vagal Output

vagal stimulation (Lown and Verrier, 1976). With later seminal work in dogs demonstrating that blocking muscarinic acetylcholine receptors abolished this effect of vagal nerve stimulation, there is now convincing evidence that increased vagal nerve activity can ameliorate poor cardiac function (Schwartz et al., 1984; Vanoli et al., 1991).

Significant clinical evidence also implicates metabolic diseases (i.e., obesity and diabetes) as independent risk factors for the development of cardiovascular disease (Benjamin et al., 1994; Bonow and Eckel, 2003; Baek et al., 2017; Aune et al., 2018; Rawshani et al., 2018a,b). Notably, diseases of metabolism also associate with autonomic dysfunction (Barkai and Madacsy, 1995; Vinik et al., 2013). While the mechanism(s) linking metabolic disorders with cardiac dysfunction remain heavily debated, the role of the central autonomic nervous system in the orchestration of cardiometabolic homeostasis warrants a discussion on its potential role as a neuromechanistic link between metabolic signaling and cardiovascular function. While the heart as an isolated entity is important, it is critical to understand that it represents a single part of a larger system.

Although a large scale clinical investigation suggested that chronic vagal stimulation did not improve cardiac function in patients with heart failure (Zannad et al., 2015), this study emphasizes the need for better strategies to target efferent cardiac vagal output given the known disadvantages of activating noncardiac vagal motor neurons and vagal sensory afferent fibers (Buckley et al., 2015). Therefore, understanding the neuronal modulation of cardiac activity could provide novel mechanistic details into the pathogenesis and treatment of cardiovascular disease. This idea is further reinforced since advanced neural modulation techniques have proven effective treatments for other cardiovascular diseases, including cardiac arrhythmias (Kapa et al., 2010; Shen et al., 2011).

This review then will focus on autonomic function in the context of cardiometabolic physiology, particularly as it relates to vagal motor output. Therefore, it will aim to define basic brainstem circuits and the influence of metabolic signaling on plasticity within these circuits. It will hopefully compel more investigations into how vagal motor output is both affected by and an effector of metabolic cues.

PARASYMPATHETIC CIRCUITS AND THEIR REGULATION OF HEART RATE

Ever since the first description of cardiac innervations in the 19th century (Hirsch, 1970), significant work has been done to map cardiac autonomic networks. Therefore, it is well established that the heart is innervated by two distinct branches of the autonomic nervous system, the sympathetic and parasympathetic. Despite the well acknowledged understanding of these two divisions, the paradigm generally used in textbooks and cardiology reviews overly simplifies the regulation of cardiac function as dependent almost exclusively on sympathetic activity. Therefore, our current dogma discounts the contributions of the parasympathetic nervous system to cardiac function. All of this despite consensus that in most vertebrates, including humans, the activity of myogenic pacemaker sinoatrial (SA) nodal cells is largely



FIGURE 1 The autonomic nervous system as an integrative control center for cardiac control. Sympathetic ganglia are located in the intermediolateral (IML) cell column of the thoracic spinal cord. The sympathetic ganglia send prominent projections to both cardiac tissue and the vascular system. Efferent parasympathetic, or vagal, originate within the brainstem and project to the epicardial fat sac in close apposition to cardiac tissue. It is these ganglia, along with their postganglionic fibers and their interconnections, that represent the final pathway for autonomic regulation of cardiac function.

regulated by the tonic, inhibitory influence of parasympathetic motor output, making vagal tonus the predominant determinant of resting heart rate (Gordan et al., 2015).

Vagal motor innervation of cardiac tissue is comprised of cholinergic, preganglionic motor neurons whose cell bodies are located in the brainstem (**Figure 1**). These preganglionic neurons send their axons through the vagus nerve, and synapse onto intracardiac postganglionic motor neurons. Intracardiac vagal postganglionic neurons are also cholinergic, and traditionally thought to be subservient relay stations since the majority of these neurons lose their ability to generate spontaneous electrochemical activity when preganglionic motor neuron innervations are severed (Armour, 2008). Consequently, cardiacrelated vagal efferent nerve activity is initiated at the soma of preganglionic cardiac vagal motor neurons, and alterations in their firing properties affect vagal nerve motor efferent output.

These preganglionic cardiac vagal motor neurons originate from two brainstem regions: the nucleus ambiguus (NA) and the dorsal motor nucleus of the vagus (DMV) (Standish et al., 1994; Massari et al., 1995; Cheng and Powley, 2000). The vast majority of cardiac innervation (approximately 80%) in higher mammals originates from motor neurons located in the NA. These NA cardiac vagal motor neurons uniformly exert a strong cardioinhibitory influence on heart rate (McAllen and Spyer, 1977; Geis and Wurster, 1980; Gilbey et al., 1984). Importantly, NA neurons are intrinsically silent, implicating synaptic input as a strong regulator of their overall activity (Mendelowitz, 1996). Cardiac vagal motor neurons in the NA are also critical to cardiovascular disease development. Studies conducted in animal models of obstructive sleep apnea, for example, demonstrated that diminished vagal output activity and blunted baroreflex control of heart rate are due to changes in cardiac vagal motor neurons located in the NA, and not due to changes in intracardiac ganglia activity or innervation (Gu et al., 2007; Lin et al., 2007; Yan et al., 2009).

Little is known, however, about the innervation arising from the cardiac-projecting neurons residing within the DMV. Retrograde tracing studies indicate that cardiac motor neurons do originate in the DMV (Calaresu and Cottle, 1965; Sturrock, 1990; Standish et al., 1994), providing instrumental evidence of the existence of DMV cardiac-projecting motor neurons. However, while several studies reported cardioinhibitory activity from the DMV (Schwaber and Schneiderman, 1975; McAllen and Spyer, 1977), others suggest a lack of an effect on heart rate (Geis and Wurster, 1980). It is important to note that the majority of previous studies relied heavily on techniques with limited spatial precision and specificity. This is critical to our understanding of the DMV's contribution to heart rate since nonmotor inhibitory interneurons exist within this nucleus as well (Jarvinen and Powley, 1999; Gao et al., 2009). Using techniques with improved specificity, like optogenetics, activation of DMV motor neurons increased cardiac ventricular contractility and enhanced exercise endurance in rodents (Machhada et al., 2017), protected ventricular cardiomyocytes from ischemic/reperfusion injury (Mastitskaya et al., 2012), and altered the electrical properties of cardiac tissue (Machhada et al., 2015). Importantly, these latter two results were independent of changes in heart rate, providing key experimental evidence that the DMV might be the source of vagal nerve-dependent coronary artery dilation (Reid et al., 1985; Kovach et al., 1995). However, these studies utilized a viral expression system for Phox2 cholinergic DMV neurons and could not distinguish between cardiac-projecting DMV neurons and those that project to other visceral organs. As discussed later in this review, DMV vagal motor neurons are critical in the regulation of metabolic cues, such as insulin and glucagon, and there is a possibility that these secondary humoral factors played a role. However, both anatomical and more traditional stimulation approaches do support a role for DMV activity in direct regulation of ventricular cardiomyocyte regulation (Dickerson et al., 1998; Lewis et al., 2001; Ulphani et al., 2010).

We also know relatively little in terms of the electrophysiological properties and upstream signaling network governing the activity of cardiac-projecting DMV neurons. While cardiac NA neurons have low resting membrane potentials and are silent when devoid of synaptic input, DMV neurons with other visceral organ targets exhibit a slow pace-making current (Browning et al., 1999). The presence of pace-making currents fundamentally alters the relationship of neuronal excitability and synaptic input. Therefore, if cardiac-projecting DMV neurons possess similar pace-making currents, these neurons could serve a unique role in cardiovascular autonomic regulation. In support of such a role, synaptic input to cardiac-projecting DMV neurons after heart failure undergoes unique signaling plasticity compared to cardiac-projecting NA neurons (Cauley et al.,

2015). Still, given the existing controversy over the contribution of cardiac DMV motor neurons to cardiac regulation, future studies will continue to provide a more accurate depiction of cardiac parasympathetic innervation and regulation.

Central Brainstem Parasympathetic Circuits

Regardless of the location and electrophysiological properties of cardiac vagal motor neurons, upstream central brainstem signaling is critical to their final motor output. Centrallymediated autonomic motor control of the cardiovascular system is sensitive to various sensory afferent information carried in large part by peripheral neurons located in the intrathoracic nodose ganglia, which synapse in the nucleus tractus solitarius (NTS) (**Figure 2**; Armour, 2008). First and second order NTS neurons integrate the excitatory, glutamatergic information from these peripheral afferents to influence the activity of downstream



FIGURE 2 | Brainstem parasympathetic circuits. Efferent parasympathetic, or vagal, innervation (illustrated in green) to cardiac tissue originates from preganglionic brainstem motor neurons predominantly residing within the nucleus ambiguus (NA) and the dorsal motor nucleus of the vagus (DMV). These preganglionic neurons send their projections through the vagus nerve to synapse onto intracardiac parasympathetic ganglia located in close apposition to cardiac tissue [e.g., pacemaker nodal cells in the sinoatrial (SA) node].Conversely, sensory afferent information is carried by sensory neurons (shown in blue) located throughout the heart, especially in ventricular and atrial tissues, and aortic arch. Most prominent in cardiometabolic regulation are those vagal afferents in the intrathoracic nodose ganglia. Nodose ganglia afferent inputs synapse directly onto the nucleus tractus solitarius (NTS). NTS neurons [and the circumventricular organ, area postrema (AP)] integrate this sensory information from the heart (in addition to other peripheral sensory information from viscera important in the regulation of respiratory, gastrointestinal, and metabolic homeostasis). This integrated sensory information is either relayed to descending vagal motor neurons in a pathway termed "vago-vagal" reflexes or to upstream brain regions for further processing and integration. Therefore, the brainstem is a critical location for the orchestration of central motor control of cardiovascular function.

parasympathetic motor neurons. Traditionally, the caudal aspect of the NTS contains the majority of cardiovascular-related afferent synapses, following a general topographic organization (Loewy and Spyer, 1990). Important to cardiovascular regulation is the baroreceptor reflex. Increases in arterial blood pressure result in the activation of baroreceptors, which then convey this information to NTS neurons to initiate a reflexive decrease in heart rate. This is primarily achieved through increases in cardiac vagal nerve activity, and requires little to no inhibition of cardiac sympathetic nerve activity (Dun et al., 2004). Vagal motor output is also critical to other cardiovascular reflex responses including respiratory sinus arrhythmia (Dergacheva et al., 2010).

However, there is considerable overlap in visceral organbased topography within the NTS with sensory afferent innervations from other organ systems (i.e., pulmonary stretch receptors (Katona and Jih, 1975; Taylor et al., 2014) and arterial chemoreceptors (Accorsi-Mendonca and Machado, 2013), including subdiaphragmatic organs involved in metabolic regulation (Browning et al., 1999; Browning and Travagli, 2011; Taylor et al., 2014). The NTS and its neighboring circumventricular organ, area postrema (AP), are also implicated as central metabolic sensors, including neurons that respond to insulin (Ruggeri et al., 2001; Blake and Smith, 2012), glucose (Balfour et al., 2006; Lamy et al., 2014; Boychuk et al., 2015a; Roberts et al., 2017), ghrelin (Cui et al., 2011), and leptin (Barrera et al., 2011). Importantly, the ability of these brain regions to directly sense metabolic state can influence peripheral physiology (Ritter et al., 2000; Ferreira et al., 2001; Lamy et al., 2014; Boychuk et al., 2019). For example, in terms of cardiometabolic behavior, insulin microinjections into the NTS decreased the activity of baroreceptor-sensitive NTS neurons (McKernan and Calaresu, 1996; Ruggeri et al., 2001), and despite only limited effects on resting heart rate (McKernan and Calaresu, 1996; Krowicki et al., 1998), insulin in the NTS significantly reduced the baroreflex response (McKernan and Calaresu, 1996; Ruggeri et al., 2001). Similar interactions likely occur with other metabolic signals since leptin has also been implicated in a reduction of baroreflex responses (Arnold and Diz, 2014). Therefore, information related to metabolic status is quickly and efficiently integrated into cardiovascular regulatory networks within the dorsal hindbrain. These integrated circuits are likely evolutionary mechanisms developed to allow for gross matching of cardiac output to both metabolism and respiration (Castro et al., 2003; Srivastava, 2012; Taylor et al., 2014). Therefore, the brainstem represents an integrative network of neurons responsible for sensing systemic cardiorespiratory and metabolic states and coordinating motor neuron control of such systems, resulting ultimately in the maintenance of internal homeostasis.

THE INFLUENCE OF METABOLIC DISRUPTIONS ON PARASYMPATHETIC FUNCTION

Metabolic dysregulation (i.e., obesity and diabetes) is an independent risk factor for the development of cardiovascular disease (Benjamin et al., 1994; Bonow and Eckel, 2003; Baek

et al., 2017; Aune et al., 2018; Rawshani et al., 2018a,b). While metabolic disorders come with complex multisystem morbidities, longitudinal studies conducted in human patients have long indicated that vagal dysfunction is first in the autonomic dysfunction sequelae and occurs prior to overt cardiac complications (Ewing et al., 1980; Vinik et al., 2011) or induction of fasting hyperglycemia (Wu et al., 2007). Despite consensus that autonomic dysfunction is a hallmark of most cardiovascular diseases, the precise role of autonomic cardiac-related activity in the context of metabolic disruption remains debated. This section will discuss the role of two important metabolic cues, diet and inflammation, and their potential to alter vagal regulatory circuits.

High Fat Diet as a Metabolic Disruption

The nuances surrounding different diets and their relationship to cardiovascular disease are best reviewed elsewhere (Sacks et al., 2017). However, it has long been recommended that individuals wishing to reduce their risk of cardiovascular disease should reduce dietary saturated fatty acid consumption. This evidence includes randomized clinical trials reporting improvements in the incidence of poor cardiac outcomes, including sudden death, after reductions in saturated fat intake (Dayton et al., 1962; Leren, 1970). Importantly, animal models exposed to high dietary fat content mimic several characteristics of cardiovascular disease (Dobrian et al., 2000), and while the mechanisms mediating the effects of high fat diet are still up for debate, it remains possible that the effects of high fat diets on vagal circuits contribute to the development of cardiovascular disease.

In animal models, diets high in saturated fats can induce tachycardia (Van Vliet et al., 1995; Dobrian et al., 2001; Bruder-Nascimento et al., 2017), even if only a mild tachycardia (Carroll et al., 2006). Moreover, in studies that failed to identify this tachycardia, there was still significant evidence for reduced cardiac vagal tone (Williams et al., 2003; Chaar et al., 2016). This reduction in vagal drive includes an abolishment of vagal responsivity during the baroreflex (Van Vliet et al., 1995). Historically, decreased cardiac vagal tone during disease (purely cardiovascular or metabolic in nature) is attributed to vagal neuropathy (Bolinder et al., 2002; Horowitz et al., 2002). However, emerging evidence from other peripheral nerve systems demonstrates that lack of neuronal activity itself can eventually lead to neuronal degeneration and neuropathy (Gibson et al., 2014). Similar experimental evidence has not been examined for vagal motor output, but at the very least, the reduced baroreflex activity appears consistent with a reorganization of central cardiovascular circuits that results in a lack of vagal motor output early in disease progression (McCully et al., 2012).

Unfortunately, the mechanism(s) responsible for vagal circuit reorganization of the brain regions involved are still largely unknown. There are now substantial data implicating vagal afferents and the NTS as important sites in the effects of high fat diet in the context of feeding regulation (de Lartigue et al., 2011), suggesting it as a possible location for the effects of high fat diet on cardiovascular regulation. To our knowledge, only a limited number of studies examine the role of high fat diet in the regulation of cardiac-projecting vagal motor neuron excitability and function. However, these studies do support the idea that reduced vagal drive originates from reduced vagal motor activity. High fat diet decreases c-Fos expression in the NA, suggesting a reduction in neuronal activation compared to normal chow controls (Alsuhaymi et al., 2017). Although to date there is no data on the effects of high fat diet on cardiacprojecting DMV neurons, high fat diet for 12 weeks reduces gastric-projecting DMV motor neuron excitability as measured by whole-cell patch-clamp techniques (Browning et al., 2013). Similarly, perinatal exposure to high fat diet increases GABAergic inhibitory synaptic signaling in DMV neurons (McMenamin et al., 2018; Clyburn et al., 2019). Interestingly, other conditions of metabolic dysregulation of vagal motor neurons suggest that altered synaptic signaling occurs through inappropriately low trafficking of select synaptic receptor populations out of the cellular membrane (Zsombok et al., 2011; Boychuk et al., 2015b), but this mechanism has yet to be confirmed for high fat diet or cardiac-projecting vagal motor neurons. Taken together, it remains possible that decreased neuronal activity within vagal motor neurons themselves eventually leads to reductions in vagal motor efferent drive.

The case for early inhibition of the vagal motor system can only be made through longitudinal evaluations of consumption of high fat diets (that includes earlier timepoints in the feeding paradigms). While a significant amount of research is appropriately dedicated to investigating the role of long-term high fat diet and ultimately the obesity that follows long term consumption of these diets, there is increasing evidence that consumption of high fat for a few days can affect neuronal function. Part of this reevaluation includes the emerging concept that metabolic challenges lead to neural adaptions, rendering the brain insensitive to future metabolic cues (Beutler et al., 2020; Mazzone et al., 2020). Importantly, some aspects of adaptive neural plasticity occur quickly, for example after a single bout of exercise (He et al., 2018). There are several investigations suggesting similar effects likely exist in vagal circuits. For example, patients with type 2 diabetes first show impaired glucose intolerance during the vagally-mediated component of insulin release (Gallwitz et al., 2013), and reducing dietary fat intake increases cardiac vagal activity even in non-obese patients (Pellizzer et al., 1999). In animal studies, DMV vagal motor neurons exhibit increased glutamatergic neurotransmission after short term (less than 5 days) high fat consumption (Clyburn et al., 2018). Although it has not been determined if this increase in glutamatergic signaling can drive disease pathogenesis or is compensatory in nature (for say elevated inhibitory signaling), it does confirm that high fat diet alters synaptic signaling to vagal efferent motor neurons earlier than previously considered. Reduced parasympathetic motor activity during early disease progression would not be unique to metabolic dysfunction. Reductions in parasympathetic tone occurred early and often preceded increased sympathetic activity in both animal models of and patients with heart failure (Ishise et al., 1998; Motte et al., 2005). Therefore, these types of investigations into the early influence of diets may help elucidate the neuromechanism(s) through which high fat diet contributes to the pathogenesis of cardiovascular disease (Fleming, 2002; Hartnett et al., 2015).

Inflammation as a Metabolic Disruption

Chronic inflammation is also considered a significant risk factor for the development of cardiovascular disease (de Kloet et al., 2013). Of particular importance is the role of neuroinflammation through brainstem autonomic mechanisms. As the brain's resident immune cells (Ransohoff and Brown, 2012), microglia play an important role in this signaling within the brainstem. For example, microglial activation is noted within the NTS in both experimentally-induced type-1 diabetes (Rana et al., 2014) and high fat diet animal models (Minaya et al., 2020). Additionally, vagal afferents are directly activated by proinflammatory signals (Besedovsky et al., 1986; Waise et al., 2015), suggesting that in addition to direct effects on neurons residing within the brainstem, inflammation can modulate autonomic feedback control mechanisms by modulation of vagal afferent signaling.

Another emerging modulator of central cardiovascular regulatory networks is the most abundant glial cell in the central nervous system, the astrocyte (Martinez and Kline, 2021). Originally identified for their importance in the generation of the blood brain barrier, astrocytes not only contain multiple immune receptors, but respond to a number of immune signals (Colombo and Farina, 2016). Astrocytic activity in the brainstem can influence cardiovascular function (Martinez et al., 2020). Importantly, activation of astrocytes is linked to cardiovascular dysregulation after high fat diet consumption (Worker et al., 2020), and astrocyte signaling is required for high fat diet-induced hyperphagia and obesity (Douglass et al., 2017).

Indirect pathways of neuroinflammatory activation are also implicated in cardiovascular (dys)function. The reninangiotensin system (RAS) is classically considered an endocrine regulator of the cardiovascular system. However, it is now recognized that components of the RAS system are present within the brain, including the brainstem (Cuadra et al., 2010), and RAS signaling is elevated during metabolic disorders (Giacchetti et al., 2005). Convincing evidence now exists suggesting that central RAS signaling is critical to the development of hypertension through sympathetic activation of peripheral inflammation (de Kloet et al., 2013). However, convincing evidence now implicates the activation of vagal signaling in reducing the inflammatory response (Pavlov and Tracey, 2012), and the DMV was recently identified as the critical brain region for the generation of this response (Kressel et al., 2020). Moreover, elevated RAS signaling also increases the permeability of the blood-brain barrier (Biancardi et al., 2014). Therefore, brainstem autonomic circuits are likely exposed to other systemically circulating factors (e.g., inflammatory cytokines). Therefore, it remains possible that reduced vagal signaling promotes the inflammation typically seen during chronic metabolic conditions, like diabetes and obesity.

THE INFLUENCE OF PARASYMPATHETIC SIGNALING ON METABOLIC CUES

To fully understand the role of perturbations in metabolic cues on cardiac function, it is important to understand the role of autonomics in mediating the concentrations and sensitivities of metabolic hormones with known cardiac modulatory abilities. It is worth mentioning that much of our understanding of the role of metabolic signaling perturbations has been insulin-centric. However, it is becoming evident that metabolic diseases come with a complex hormonal milieu. As such, there have been calls for a more diverse focus, such as on glucagon (Unger and Cherrington, 2012; Lee et al., 2014). Therefore, this section will focus on the role of the parasympathetic nervous system to regulate the concentration of and sensitivity to key metabolic cues which have established roles in cardiac regulation, namely insulin, glucagon, and GLP-1.

Insulin

First discovered more than 100 years ago, insulin is secreted from pancreatic beta cells in response to high blood glucose concentrations and its role in metabolic dysregulation is well established. Insulin receptors are widely expressed throughout the cardiovascular system, including cardiac tissue (Wang et al., 1997; Muniyappa et al., 2007; Riehle et al., 2014). Insulin resistance in cardiac tissue is suggested as a major risk factor for cardiovascular disease (Paternostro et al., 1996), and insulin resistance appears in cardiovascular diseases not explicitly related to energy homeostatic changes in metabolism, like heart failure (Mori et al., 2012; Zhang et al., 2013). Elevated sympathetic nervous system activity has been linked to the development of insulin resistance in cardiac tissue (Morisco et al., 2005; Mangmool et al., 2016), and to our knowledge similar studies have not been conducted for vagal signaling in cardiac tissue. This is a significant gap in knowledge since vagal signaling promotes insulin sensitivity in other peripheral organs, and the loss of vagal activity associates with insulin resistance (Xie et al., 1993; Xie and Lautt, 1994, 1995, 1996), leading some to conclude that vagal activity is critical to overall insulin sensitivity (Lautt, 1999).

The parasympathetic nervous system also plays an important role in the secretion of insulin. Preganglionic vagal innervation to the pancreas originates from the DMV, with little known contribution from the NA (Berthoud and Powley, 1990; Love et al., 2007; Rodriguez-Diaz et al., 2011; Chandra and Liddle, 2013). These DMV preganglionic fibers terminate on cholinergic intrapancreatic ganglia that influence pancreatic beta cells to release insulin (Thorens, 2014). However, intrapancreatic vagal ganglia also signal through non-adrenergic non-cholinergic (NANC) pathways such as nitric oxide or vasoactive intestinal polypeptide signaling (Wang et al., 1999; Love et al., 2007; Di Cairano et al., 2016) and these pathways can trigger insulin release as well (Mussa et al., 2011). While vagal motor innervation to the pancreas is relatively limited (Berthoud and Powley, 1990), there is evidence that abnormal, vagally-mediated insulin release is an early marker of diabetes (Gallwitz et al., 2013), suggesting that this may ultimately contribute to the pathogenesis of cardiovascular disease with strong metabolic connections.

Glucagon

Serving in opposition to insulin (Cherrington and Vranic, 1971), glucagon is secreted from pancreatic alpha cells in response to low blood glucose concentrations and works to increase glucose production in and secretion from the liver. In humans, a single bolus of glucagon increases heart rate (Parmley et al., 1968), which has made it a useful therapy for reversing the effects of many cardioinhibitory drugs (White, 1999). However, hyperglucagonemia is present in metabolic disorders, including type 1 and 2 diabetes (Muller et al., 1973; Ichikawa et al., 2019) and has received renewed attention in terms of its role in the hyperglycemia associated with these conditions. Therefore, the influence of vagal activity on glucagon secretion may also influence cardiac regulation.

Unlike insulin, however, our understanding of how the parasympathetic nervous system regulates glucagon secretion is more controversial. Despite evidence of parasympathetic innervation to the pancreas, very few studies have dissected out the precise innervation to alpha cells themselves (Rodriguez-Diaz et al., 2011). Using more functional approaches, there is evidence that similar to insulin, vagal stimulation increases glucagon release (Ionescu et al., 1983; Ahren and Taborsky, 1986; Berthoud et al., 1990). This has been proposed as the mechanism behind the cephalic response to food consumption when glucagon is released to prevent an insulin-induced drop in blood glucose before food is ingested (Berthoud and Powley, 1990). More recent experiments continue to link increased glucagon concentration with increased vagal nerve bundle activity through brainstem glucose sensing mechanisms (Lamy et al., 2014). However, attempts to dissect out efferent vs. afferent vagal stimulation have suggested that increases in blood glucose levels (as would occur when glucagon is released) are achieved by efferent inhibition not activation (Meyers et al., 2016). Moreover, reduced preparations such as whole-cell patch-clamp combined with in vivo glucagon measures also suggest that inhibition of DMV motor activity increases glucagon concentrations (Boychuk et al., 2019). Taken together, these latter data provide evidence that parasympathetic efferent tone might serve as a brake for glucagon secretion. Therefore, the renewed interest in investigations into the role of glucagon in glucose homeostasis must continue to dissect out the autonomic nervous system's contribution to its regulation since these types of studies likely have importance far beyond just glucose homeostasis.

Glucagon-Like Peptide

The small peptide hormone glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) is an incretin hormone produced from L-cells within the intestine and released during digestion of fat and carbohydrates (Drucker, 2001). Upon release, GLP-1 acts to increase gastric volume, inhibit gut motility, and increase insulin secretion (Lim and Brubaker, 2006). GLP-1 receptors are also present in cardiac tissue (Pyke et al., 2014; Baggio et al., 2018) and GLP-1 signaling in cardiac tissue results in increased heart rate *in vivo* (Hayes et al., 2008; Baggio et al., 2017) and *in vitro* (Zhao, 2013; Ang et al., 2018).

However, the action of GLP-1 in cardiac regulation may be more complex (Ussher and Drucker, 2012). There is consensus that vagal signaling positively influences the release of GLP-1 (Anini and Brubaker, 2003) since either pharmacological inhibition of vagal signaling or vagotomy reduces serum concentration of GLP-1 (Rocca and Brubaker, 1999; Anini and Brubaker, 2003). However, acute bolus of GLP-1 induces a tachycardia through activation of GLP-1 receptors in central sympathetic regulatory networks, and not through activity at cardiac tissue itself (Hayes et al., 2008; Ghosal et al., 2013; Baggio et al., 2017). Moreover, GLP-1 receptor agonist injected into the NA not only decreased indices of cardiac vagal activity, but also depressed neurotransmission to cardiac vagal motor neurons (Griffioen et al., 2011), suggesting that NA neurons could also mediate the GLP-1-induced tachycardia. Therefore, while vagal activation likely supports the release of GLP-1, GLP-1 may negatively feedback on cardiac regulation to decrease vagal drive and induce sympathoexcitation. Adding further complexity, despite inducing a tachycardia and sympathoexcitation, GLP-1 mimetics not only improve glucose intolerance but provide cardioprotective benefits (Barnett, 2012; Zhao, 2013; Del Olmo-Garcia and Merino-Torres, 2018). These paradoxical effects of GLP-1 signaling could be the result of species-specific biology, as well as differences in approaches and outcomes tested. Since the cardioprotective nature of GLP-1 mimetics is typically examined after long term exposure, it is also possible that GLP-1 has multiple tissue specific intracellular signaling cascades based on time of exposure or concentration (Jessen et al., 2017; Tomas et al., 2020).

CONCLUSION

Given the long history of both basic science and clinical investigations into cardiac autonomic function, it can be easy to assume that we fully understand how these systems work. While we know a great deal about the anatomy of these circuits, how they process the wide variety of complex signals they receive and ultimately integrate and relay this information to peripheral organs, such as the heart, is still under active investigation. Despite the scarcity of studies investigating the effect of metabolic signaling on cardiac vagal motor neuron physiology, reports have confirmed the therapeutic potential—although varied in magnitude—of activating vagal pathways, most notably through vagal stimulation. Although these results may provide a

REFERENCES

- Accorsi-Mendonca, D., and Machado, B. H. (2013). Synaptic transmission of baro- and chemoreceptors afferents in the NTS second order neurons. *Auton. Neurosci.* 175, 3–8. doi: 10.1016/j.autneu.2012.12.002
- Ahren, B., and Taborsky, G. J. Jr. (1986). The mechanism of vagal nerve stimulation of glucagon and insulin secretion in the dog. *Endocrinology* 118, 1551–1557. doi: 10.1210/endo-118-4-1551
- Alsuhaymi, N., Habeeballah, H., Stebbing, M. J., and Badoer, E. (2017). High fat diet decreases neuronal activation in the brain induced by resistin and leptin. *Front. Physiol.* 8:867. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2017.00867
- Ang, R., Mastitskaya, S., Hosford, P. S., Basalay, M., Specterman, M., Aziz, Q., et al. (2018). Modulation of cardiac ventricular excitability by GLP-1 (Glucagon-like Peptide-1). *Circ. Arrhythm. Electrophysiol.* 11:e006740.
- Anini, Y., and Brubaker, P. L. (2003). Muscarinic receptors control glucagon-like peptide 1 secretion by human endocrine L cells. *Endocrinology* 144, 3244–3250. doi: 10.1210/en.2003-0143
- Armour, J. A. (2008). Potential clinical relevance of the 'little brain' on the mammalian heart. *Exp. Physiol.* 93, 165–176. doi: 10.1113/expphysiol.2007. 041178

mechanistic rationale for the importance of cardiac-related vagal tone and health, more studies investigating the plasticity within autonomic regulatory circuits related to various metabolic cues are needed to better understand the fundamental role of vagal signaling in metabolic and cardiovascular physiology.

During this discussion, it is also important to consider that the plasticity associated with a disease may not simply be an exaggeration of normal physiology. Therefore, considerable work must be done to determine the role of the brain in mediating cardiometabolic integrative homeostasis in both health and disease. These examinations into autonomic contributions to cardiometabolic function need to include time courses throughout disease progression. This will determine when important neuronal remodeling occurs, revealing important biological milestones for intervention. Continued investigation into these autonomic pathways will not only increase our understanding of these circuits, but will develop a more informed perspective that will influence current clinical treatment guidelines for patients to provide early and reliable detection markers of autonomic dysregulation, as well as a more complete management of a patient's disease and the prevention of cardiac-related morbidity and mortality.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

LE, SF, and CB wrote and edited the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by an AHA SDG 16SDG26590000 to CB. This work was also supported by an AHA Predoctoral Award 20PRE35180105 to LE and the NIH Jointly Sponsored Predoctoral Training Program in the Neurosciences training grant T32 NS082145 to SF.

- Arnold, A. C., and Diz, D. I. (2014). Endogenous leptin contributes to baroreflex suppression within the solitary tract nucleus of aged rats. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol.* 307, H1539–H1546.
- Aune, D., Feng, T., Schlesinger, S., Janszky, I., Norat, T., and Riboli, E. (2018). Diabetes mellitus, blood glucose and the risk of atrial fibrillation: a systematic review and meta-analysis of cohort studies. *J. Diabetes Complications* 32, 501– 511.
- Baek, Y. S., Yang, P. S., Kim, T. H., Uhm, J. S., Park, J., Pak, H. N., et al. (2017). Associations of abdominal obesity and new-onset atrial fibrillation in the general population. J. Am. Heart Assoc. 6:e004705.
- Baggio, L. L., Ussher, J. R., McLean, B. A., Cao, X., Kabir, M. G., Mulvihill, E. E., et al. (2017). The autonomic nervous system and cardiac GLP-1 receptors control heart rate in mice. *Mol. Metab.* 6, 1339–1349. doi: 10.1016/j.molmet.2017.08. 010
- Baggio, L. L., Yusta, B., Mulvihill, E. E., Cao, X., Streutker, C. J., Butany, J., et al. (2018). GLP-1 receptor expression within the human heart. *Endocrinology* 159, 1570–1584. doi: 10.1210/en.2018-00004
- Balfour, R. H., Hansen, A. M., and Trapp, S. (2006). Neuronal responses to transient hypoglycaemia in the dorsal vagal complex of the rat brainstem. *J. Physiol.* 570, 469–484. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2005.098822

- Barkai, L., and Madacsy, L. (1995). Cardiovascular autonomic dysfunction in diabetes mellitus. Arch. Dis. Child. 73, 515–518.
- Barnett, A. H. (2012). The role of GLP-1 mimetics and basal insulin analogues in type 2 diabetes mellitus: guidance from studies of liraglutide. *Diabetes Obes. Metab.* 14, 304–314. doi: 10.1111/j.1463-1326.2011.01523.x
- Barrera, J. G., Jones, K. R., Herman, J. P., D'Alessio, D. A., Woods, S. C., and Seeley, R. J. (2011). Hyperphagia and increased fat accumulation in two models of chronic CNS glucagon-like peptide-1 loss of function. *J. Neurosci.* 31, 3904–3913. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.2212-10.2011
- Benjamin, E. J., Levy, D., Vaziri, S. M., D'Agostino, R. B., Belanger, A. J., and Wolf, P. A. (1994). Independent risk factors for atrial fibrillation in a population-based cohort. The Framingham heart study. *JAMA* 271, 840–844. doi: 10.1001/jama. 1994.03510350050036
- Berthoud, H. R., Fox, E. A., and Powley, T. L. (1990). Localization of vagal preganglionics that stimulate insulin and glucagon secretion. Am. J. Physiol. 258, R160–R168.
- Berthoud, H. R., and Powley, T. L. (1990). Identification of vagal preganglionics that mediate cephalic phase insulin response. Am. J. Physiol. 258, R523–R530.
- Besedovsky, H., del Rey, A., Sorkin, E., and Dinarello, C. A. (1986). Immunoregulatory feedback between interleukin-1 and glucocorticoid hormones. *Science* 233, 652–654. doi: 10.1126/science.3014662
- Beutler, L. R., Corpuz, T. V., Ahn, J. S., Kosar, S., Song, W., Chen, Y., et al. (2020). Obesity causes selective and long-lasting desensitization of AgRP neurons to dietary fat. *eLife* 9:e55909.
- Biancardi, V. C., Son, S. J., Ahmadi, S., Filosa, J. A., and Stern, J. E. (2014). Circulating angiotensin II gains access to the hypothalamus and brain stem during hypertension via breakdown of the blood-brain barrier. *Hypertension* 63, 572–579. doi: 10.1161/hypertensionaha.113.01743
- Blake, C. B., and Smith, B. N. (2012). Insulin reduces excitation in gastric-related neurons of the dorsal motor nucleus of the vagus. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 303, R807–R814.
- Bolinder, J., Sjoberg, S., Persson, A., Ahren, B., and Sundkvist, G. (2002). Autonomic neuropathy is associated with impaired pancreatic polypeptide and neuropeptide Y responses to insulin-induced hypoglycaemia in Type I diabetic patients. *Diabetologia* 45, 1043–1044. doi: 10.1007/s00125-002-0821-x
- Bonow, R. O., and Eckel, R. H. (2003). Diet, obesity, and cardiovascular risk. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 348, 2057–2058.
- Boychuk, C. R., Gyarmati, P., Xu, H., and Smith, B. N. (2015a). Glucose sensing by GABAergic neurons in the mouse nucleus tractus solitarii. *J. Neurophysiol.* 114, 999–1007. doi: 10.1152/jn.00310.2015
- Boychuk, C. R., Halmos, K. C., and Smith, B. N. (2015b). Diabetes induces GABA receptor plasticity in murine vagal motor neurons. J. Neurophysiol. 114, 698–706. doi: 10.1152/jn.00209.2015
- Boychuk, C. R., Smith, K. C., Peterson, L. E., Boychuk, J. A., Butler, C. R., Derera, I. D., et al. (2019). A hindbrain inhibitory microcircuit mediates vagally-coordinated glucose regulation. *Sci. Rep.* 9:2722.
- Browning, K. N., Fortna, S. R., and Hajnal, A. (2013). Roux-en-Y gastric bypass reverses the effects of diet-induced obesity to inhibit the responsiveness of central vagal motoneurones. *J. Physiol.* 591, 2357–2372. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol. 2012.249268
- Browning, K. N., Renehan, W. E., and Travagli, R. A. (1999). Electrophysiological and morphological heterogeneity of rat dorsal vagal neurones which project to specific areas of the gastrointestinal tract. J. Physiol. 517 (Pt 2), 521–532. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7793.1999.0521t.x
- Browning, K. N., and Travagli, R. A. (2011). Plasticity of vagal brainstem circuits in the control of gastrointestinal function. *Auton. Neurosci.* 161, 6–13. doi: 10.1016/j.autneu.2010.11.001
- Bruder-Nascimento, T., Ekeledo, O. J., Anderson, R., Le, H. B., and Belin de Chantemele, E. J. (2017). Long term high fat diet treatment: an appropriate approach to study the sex-specificity of the autonomic and cardiovascular responses to obesity in mice. *Front. Physiol.* 8:32. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2017.00032
- Buckley, U., Shivkumar, K., and Ardell, J. L. (2015). Autonomic regulation therapy in heart failure. *Curr. Heart Fail. Rep.* 12, 284–293. doi: 10.1007/s11897-015-0263-7
- Calaresu, F. R., and Cottle, M. K. (1965). Origin of cardiomotor fibres in the dorsal nucleus of the vagus in the cat: a histological study. *J. Physiol.* 176, 252–260. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.1965.sp007548

- Carroll, J. F., Zenebe, W. J., and Strange, T. B. (2006). Cardiovascular function in a rat model of diet-induced obesity. *Hypertension* 48, 65–72. doi: 10.1161/01. hyp.0000224147.01024.77
- Castro, J. P., El-Atat, F. A., McFarlane, S. I., Aneja, A., and Sowers, J. R. (2003). Cardiometabolic syndrome: pathophysiology and treatment. *Curr. Hypertens. Rep.* 5, 393–401. doi: 10.1007/s11906-003-0085-y
- Cauley, E., Wang, X., Dyavanapalli, J., Sun, K., Garrott, K., Kuzmiak-Glancy, S., et al. (2015). Neurotransmission to parasympathetic cardiac vagal neurons in the brain stem is altered with left ventricular hypertrophy-induced heart failure. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol.* 309, H1281–H1287.
- Chaar, L. J., Coelho, A., Silva, N. M., Festuccia, W. L., and Antunes, V. R. (2016). High-fat diet-induced hypertension and autonomic imbalance are associated with an upregulation of CART in the dorsomedial hypothalamus of mice. *Physiol. Rep.* 4:e12811. doi: 10.14814/phy2.12811
- Chandra, R., and Liddle, R. A. (2013). Modulation of pancreatic exocrine and endocrine secretion. *Curr. Opin. Gastroenterol.* 29, 517–522. doi: 10.1097/mog. 0b013e3283639326
- Cheng, Z., and Powley, T. L. (2000). Nucleus ambiguus projections to cardiac ganglia of rat atria: an anterograde tracing study. *J. Comp. Neurol.* 424, 588–606. doi: 10.1002/1096-9861(20000904)424:4<588::aid-cne3>3.0.co;2-7
- Cherrington, A., and Vranic, M. (1971). Role of glucagon and insulin in control of glucose turnover. *Metabolism* 20, 625–628. doi: 10.1016/0026-0495(71)90010-2
- Clyburn, C., Howe, C. A., Arnold, A. C., Lang, C. H., Travagli, R. A., and Browning, K. N. (2019). Perinatal high-fat diet alters development of GABAA receptor subunits in dorsal motor nucleus of vagus. *Am. J. Physiol. Gastrointest. Liver Physiol.* 317, G40–G50.
- Clyburn, C., Travagli, R. A., and Browning, K. N. (2018). Acute high-fat diet upregulates glutamatergic signaling in the dorsal motor nucleus of the vagus. *Am. J. Physiol. Gastrointest. Liver Physiol.* 314, G623–G634.
- Colombo, E., and Farina, C. (2016). Astrocytes: key regulators of neuroinflammation. *Trends Immunol.* 37, 608–620. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2016. 06.006
- Cuadra, A. E., Shan, Z., Sumners, C., and Raizada, M. K. (2010). A current view of brain renin-angiotensin system: is the (pro)renin receptor the missing link? *Pharmacol. Ther.* 125, 27–38. doi: 10.1016/j.pharmthera.2009.07.007
- Cui, R. J., Li, X., and Appleyard, S. M. (2011). Ghrelin inhibits visceral afferent activation of catecholamine neurons in the solitary tract nucleus. *J. Neurosci.* 31, 3484–3492. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.3187-10.2011
- Dayton, S., Pearce, M. L., Hashimoto, S., Fakler, L. J., Hiscock, E., and Dixon, W. J. (1962). A controlled clinical trial of a diet high in unsaturated fat. Preliminary observations. N. Engl. J. Med. 266, 1017–1023. doi: 10.1056/ nejm196205172662001
- de Kloet, A. D., Krause, E. G., Shi, P. D., Zubcevic, J., Raizada, M. K., and Sumners, C. (2013). Neuroimmune communication in hypertension and obesity: a new therapeutic angle? *Pharmacol. Ther.* 138, 428–440.
- de Lartigue, G., de La Serre, C. B., and Raybould, H. E. (2011). Vagal afferent neurons in high fat diet-induced obesity; intestinal microflora, gut inflammation and cholecystokinin. *Physiol. Behav.* 105, 100–105. doi: 10.1016/ j.physbeh.2011.02.040
- Del Olmo-Garcia, M. I., and Merino-Torres, J. F. (2018). GLP-1 receptor agonists and cardiovascular disease in patients with Type 2 diabetes. *J. Diabetes Res.* 2018:4020492.
- Dergacheva, O., Griffioen, K. J., Neff, R. A., and Mendelowitz, D. (2010). Respiratory modulation of premotor cardiac vagal neurons in the brainstem. *Respir. Physiol. Neurobiol.* 174, 102–110. doi: 10.1016/j.resp.2010.05.005
- Di Cairano, E. S., Moretti, S., Marciani, P., Sacchi, V. F., Castagna, M., Davalli, A., et al. (2016). Neurotransmitters and neuropeptides: new players in the control of Islet of Langerhans' cell mass and function. *J. Cell. Physiol.* 231, 756–767. doi: 10.1002/jcp.25176
- Dickerson, L. W., Rodak, D. J., Fleming, T. J., Gatti, P. J., Massari, V. J., McKenzie, J. C., et al. (1998). Parasympathetic neurons in the cranial medial ventricular fat pad on the dog heart selectively decrease ventricular contractility. J. Auton. Nerv. Syst. 70, 129–141. doi: 10.1016/s0165-1838(98) 00048-4
- Dobrian, A. D., Davies, M. J., Prewitt, R. L., and Lauterio, T. J. (2000). Development of hypertension in a rat model of diet-induced obesity. *Hypertension* 35, 1009–1015. doi: 10.1161/01.hyp.35.4.1009

- Dobrian, A. D., Davies, M. J., Schriver, S. D., Lauterio, T. J., and Prewitt, R. L. (2001). Oxidative stress in a rat model of obesity-induced hypertension. *Hypertension* 37, 554–560. doi: 10.1161/01.hyp.37.2.554
- Douglass, J. D., Dorfman, M. D., Fasnacht, R., Shaffer, L. D., and Thaler, J. P. (2017). Astrocyte IKKbeta/NF-kappaB signaling is required for diet-induced obesity and hypothalamic inflammation. *Mol. Metab.* 6, 366–373. doi: 10.1016/ j.molmet.2017.01.010
- Drucker, D. J. (2001). Minireview: the glucagon-like peptides. *Endocrinology* 142, 521–527. doi: 10.1210/endo.142.2.7983
- Dun, N. J., Machado, B. H., and Pilowsky, P. M. (2004). Neural Mechanisms of Cardiovascular Regulation. Boston: Kluwer Academic Publishers.
- Ewing, D. J., Campbell, W. I., and Clarke, B. F. (1980). Assessment of cardiovascular effects in diabetic autonomic neuropathy and prognostic implications. Ann. Intern. Med. 92, 308–311. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-92-2-308
- Ferreira, M. Jr., Browning, K. N., Sahibzada, N., Verbalis, J. G., Gillis, R. A., and Travagli, R. A. (2001). Glucose effects on gastric motility and tone evoked from the rat dorsal vagal complex. *J. Physiol.* 536, 141–152. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7793. 2001.t01-1-00141.x
- Fleming, R. M. (2002). The effect of high-, moderate-, and low-fat diets on weight loss and cardiovascular disease risk factors. *Prev. Cardiol.* 5, 110–118. doi: 10.1111/j.1520-037x.2002.01231.x
- Franciosi, S., Perry, F. K. G., Roston, T. M., Armstrong, K. R., Claydon, V. E., and Sanatani, S. (2017). The role of the autonomic nervous system in arrhythmias and sudden cardiac death. *Auton. Neurosci.* 205, 1–11. doi: 10.1016/j.autneu. 2017.03.005
- Gallwitz, B., Kazda, C., Kraus, P., Nicolay, C., and Schernthaner, G. (2013). Contribution of insulin deficiency and insulin resistance to the development of type 2 diabetes: nature of early stage diabetes. *Acta Diabetol.* 50, 39–45. doi: 10.1007/s00592-011-0319-4
- Gao, H., Glatzer, N. R., Williams, K. W., Derbenev, A. V., Liu, D., and Smith, B. N. (2009). Morphological and electrophysiological features of motor neurons and putative interneurons in the dorsal vagal complex of rats and mice. *Brain Res.* 1291, 40–52. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2009.07.024
- Geis, G. S., and Wurster, R. D. (1980). Cardiac responses during stimulation of the dorsal motor nucleus and nucleus ambiguus in the cat. *Circ. Res.* 46, 606–611. doi: 10.1161/01.res.46.5.606
- Ghosal, S., Myers, B., and Herman, J. P. (2013). Role of central glucagon-like peptide-1 in stress regulation. *Physiol. Behav.* 122, 201–207. doi: 10.1016/j. physbeh.2013.04.003
- Giacchetti, G., Sechi, L. A., Rilli, S., and Carey, R. M. (2005). The renin-angiotensinaldosterone system, glucose metabolism and diabetes. *Trends Endocrinol. Metab.* 16, 120–126. doi: 10.1016/j.tem.2005.02.003
- Gibson, E. M., Purger, D., Mount, C. W., Goldstein, A. K., Lin, G. L., Wood, L. S., et al. (2014). Neuronal activity promotes oligodendrogenesis and adaptive myelination in the mammalian brain. *Science* 344:1252304. doi: 10.1126/ science.1252304
- Gilbey, M. P., Jordan, D., Richter, D. W., and Spyer, K. M. (1984). Synaptic mechanisms involved in the inspiratory modulation of vagal cardio-inhibitory neurones in the cat. J. Physiol. 356, 65–78. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.1984.sp015453
- Gordan, R., Gwathmey, J. K., and Xie, L. H. (2015). Autonomic and endocrine control of cardiovascular function. World J. Cardiol. 7, 204–214. doi: 10.4330/ wjc.v7.i4.204
- Griffioen, K. J., Wan, R., Okun, E., Wang, X., Lovett-Barr, M. R., Li, Y., et al. (2011). GLP-1 receptor stimulation depresses heart rate variability and inhibits neurotransmission to cardiac vagal neurons. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 89, 72–78. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvq271
- Gu, H., Lin, M., Liu, J., Gozal, D., Scrogin, K. E., Wurster, R., et al. (2007). Selective impairment of central mediation of baroreflex in anesthetized young adult Fischer 344 rats after chronic intermittent hypoxia. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol.* 293, H2809–H2818.
- Hartnett, S., Gao, H., Schnack, S., and Li, Y. (2015). Reduced vagal control of the heart in high-fat diet mice: a potential role of increased butyrylcholinesterase. *Physiol. Rep.* 3:e12609. doi: 10.14814/phy2.12609
- Hayes, M. R., Skibicka, K. P., and Grill, H. J. (2008). Caudal brainstem processing is sufficient for behavioral, sympathetic, and parasympathetic responses driven by peripheral and hindbrain glucagon-like-peptide-1 receptor stimulation. *Endocrinology* 149, 4059–4068. doi: 10.1210/en.2007-1743

- He, Z., Gao, Y., Alhadeff, A. L., Castorena, C. M., Huang, Y., Lieu, L., et al. (2018). Cellular and synaptic reorganization of arcuate NPY/AgRP and POMC neurons after exercise. *Mol. Metab.* 18, 107–119. doi: 10.1016/j.molmet.2018.08.011
- Hirsch, E. F. (1970). *The Innervation of the Vertebrate Heart*. Springfield, IL: Charles C. Thomas.
- Horowitz, M., O'Donovan, D., Jones, K. L., Feinle, C., Rayner, C. K., and Samsom, M. (2002). Gastric emptying in diabetes: clinical significance and treatment. *Diabet. Med.* 19, 177–194. doi: 10.1046/j.1464-5491.2002.00658.x
- Ichikawa, R., Takano, K., Fujimoto, K., Motomiya, T., Kobayashi, M., Kitamura, T., et al. (2019). Basal glucagon hypersecretion and response to oral glucose load in prediabetes and mild type 2 diabetes. *Endocr. J.* 66, 663–675. doi: 10.1507/endocrj.ej18-0372
- Ionescu, E., Rohner-Jeanrenaud, F., Berthoud, H. R., and Jeanrenaud, B. (1983). Increases in plasma insulin levels in response to electrical stimulation of the dorsal motor nucleus of the vagus nerve. *Endocrinology* 112, 904–910. doi: 10.1210/endo-112-3-904
- Ishise, H., Asanoi, H., Ishizaka, S., Joho, S., Kameyama, T., Umeno, K., et al. (1998). Time course of sympathovagal imbalance and left ventricular dysfunction in conscious dogs with heart failure. J. Appl. Physiol. (1985) 84, 1234–1241. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1998.84.4.1234
- Jarvinen, M. K., and Powley, T. L. (1999). Dorsal motor nucleus of the vagus neurons: a multivariate taxonomy. J. Comp. Neurol. 403, 359–377. doi: 10.1002/ (sici)1096-9861(19990118)403:3<359::aid-cne6>3.0.co;2-z
- Jessen, L., Smith, E. P., Ulrich-Lai, Y., Herman, J. P., Seeley, R. J., Sandoval, D., et al. (2017). Central nervous system glp-1 receptors regulate Islet hormone secretion and glucose homeostasis in male rats. *Endocrinology* 158, 2124–2133. doi: 10.1210/en.2016-1826
- Kapa, S., Venkatachalam, K. L., and Asirvatham, S. J. (2010). The autonomic nervous system in cardiac electrophysiology: an elegant interaction and emerging concepts. *Cardiol Rev.* 18, 275–284. doi: 10.1097/crd.0b013e3181ebb152
- Katona, P. G., and Jih, F. (1975). Respiratory sinus arrhythmia: noninvasive measure of parasympathetic cardiac control. J. Appl. Physiol. 39, 801–805. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1975.39.5.801
- Kovach, J. A., Gottdiener, J. S., and Verrier, R. L. (1995). Vagal modulation of epicardial coronary artery size in dogs. A two-dimensional intravascular ultrasound study. *Circulation* 92, 2291–2298. doi: 10.1161/01.cir.92.8.2291
- Kressel, A. M., Tsaava, T., Levine, Y. A., Chang, E. H., Addorisio, M. E., Chang, Q., et al. (2020). Identification of a brainstem locus that inhibits tumor necrosis factor. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 117, 29803–29810. doi: 10.1073/pnas. 2008213117
- Krowicki, Z. K., Nathan, N. A., and Hornby, P. J. (1998). Gastric motor and cardiovascular effects of insulin in dorsal vagal complex of the rat. Am. J. Physiol. 275, G964–G972.
- La Rovere, M. T., Bigger, J. T. Jr., Marcus, F. I., Mortara, A., and Schwartz, P. J. (1998). Baroreflex sensitivity and heart-rate variability in prediction of total cardiac mortality after myocardial infarction. ATRAMI (Autonomic Tone and Reflexes After Myocardial Infarction) investigators. *Lancet* 351, 478–484. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(97)11144-8
- Lamy, C. M., Sanno, H., Labouebe, G., Picard, A., Magnan, C., Chatton, J. Y., et al. (2014). Hypoglycemia-activated GLUT2 neurons of the nucleus tractus solitarius stimulate vagal activity and glucagon secretion. *Cell Metab.* 19, 527– 538. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2014.02.003
- Lautt, W. W. (1999). The HISS story overview: a novel hepatic neurohumoral regulation of peripheral insulin sensitivity in health and diabetes. *Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol.* 77, 553–562. doi: 10.1139/y99-067
- Lee, Y., Berglund, E. D., Yu, X., Wang, M. Y., Evans, M. R., Scherer, P. E., et al. (2014). Hyperglycemia in rodent models of type 2 diabetes requires insulinresistant alpha cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 111, 13217–13222. doi: 10. 1073/pnas.1409638111
- Leren, P. (1970). The Oslo diet-heart study. Eleven-year report. Circulation 42, 935–942. doi: 10.1161/01.cir.42.5.935
- Lewis, M. E., Al-Khalidi, A. H., Bonser, R. S., Clutton-Brock, T., Morton, D., Paterson, D., et al. (2001). Vagus nerve stimulation decreases left ventricular contractility in vivo in the human and pig heart. J. Physiol. 534, 547–552. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7793.2001.00547.x
- Lim, G. E., and Brubaker, P. L. (2006). Glucagon-Like peptide 1 secretion by the L-Cell: the view from within. *Diabetes* 55, S70–S77.

- Lin, M., Liu, R., Gozal, D., Wead, W. B., Chapleau, M. W., Wurster, R., et al. (2007). Chronic intermittent hypoxia impairs baroreflex control of heart rate but enhances heart rate responses to vagal efferent stimulation in anesthetized mice. Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol. 293, H997–H1006.
- Loewy, A. D., and Spyer, K. M. (1990). *Central Regulation of Autonomic Functions*. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Love, J. A., Yi, E., and Smith, T. G. (2007). Autonomic pathways regulating pancreatic exocrine secretion. Auton. Neurosci. 133, 19–34. doi: 10.1016/j. autneu.2006.10.001
- Lown, B., and Verrier, R. L. (1976). Neural activity and ventricular fibrillation. N. Engl. J. Med. 294, 1165–1170. doi: 10.1056/nejm197605202942107
- Machhada, A., Ang, R., Ackland, G. L., Ninkina, N., Buchman, V. L., Lythgoe, M. F., et al. (2015). Control of ventricular excitability by neurons of the dorsal motor nucleus of the vagus nerve. *Heart Rhythm* 12, 2285–2293. doi: 10.1016/j.hrthm. 2015.06.005
- Machhada, A., Trapp, S., Marina, N., Stephens, R. C. M., Whittle, J., Lythgoe, M. F., et al. (2017). Vagal determinants of exercise capacity. *Nat. Commun.* 8:15097.
- Mangmool, S., Denkaew, T., Phosri, S., Pinthong, D., Parichatikanond, W., Shimauchi, T., et al. (2016). Sustained betaAR stimulation mediates cardiac insulin resistance in a PKA-dependent manner. *Mol. Endocrinol.* 30, 118–132. doi: 10.1210/me.2015-1201
- Martinez, D., and Kline, D. D. (2021). The role of astrocytes in the nucleus Tractus Solitarii in maintaining central control of autonomic function. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. [Epub ahead of print].
- Martinez, D., Rogers, R. C., Hermann, G. E., Hasser, E. M., and Kline, D. D. (2020). Astrocytic glutamate transporters reduce the neuronal and physiological influence of metabotropic glutamate receptors in nucleus tractus solitarii. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 318, R545–R564.
- Massari, V. J., Johnson, T. A., and Gatti, P. J. (1995). Cardiotopic organization of the nucleus ambiguus? An anatomical and physiological analysis of neurons regulating atrioventricular conduction. *Brain Res.* 679, 227–240. doi: 10.1016/ 0006-8993(95)00227-h
- Mastitskaya, S., Marina, N., Gourine, A., Gilbey, M. P., Spyer, K. M., Teschemacher, A. G., et al. (2012). Cardioprotection evoked by remote ischaemic preconditioning is critically dependent on the activity of vagal pre-ganglionic neurones. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 95, 487–494. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvs212
- Mazzone, C. M., Liang-Guallpa, J., Li, C., Wolcott, N. S., Boone, M. H., Southern, M., et al. (2020). High-fat food biases hypothalamic and mesolimbic expression of consummatory drives. *Nat. Neurosci.* 23, 1253–1266. doi: 10.1038/s41593-020-0684-9
- McAllen, R. M., and Spyer, K. M. (1977). Bradycardia produced by iontophoretic activation of preganglionic vagal motoneurones [proceedings]. *J. Physiol.* 269:49.
- McCully, B. H., Brooks, V. L., and Andresen, M. C. (2012). Diet-induced obesity severely impairs myelinated aortic baroreceptor reflex responses. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol.* 302, H2083–H2091.
- McKernan, A. M., and Calaresu, F. R. (1996). Insulin microinjection into the nucleus tractus solitarii of the rat attenuates the baroreceptor reflex. J. Auton. Nerv. Syst. 61, 128–138. doi: 10.1016/s0165-1838(96)00074-4
- McMenamin, C. A., Travagli, R. A., and Browning, K. N. (2018). Perinatal high fat diet increases inhibition of dorsal motor nucleus of the vagus neurons regulating gastric functions. *Neurogastroenterol. Motil.* 30:e13150. doi: 10.1111/ nmo.13150
- Mendelowitz, D. (1996). Firing properties of identified parasympathetic cardiac neurons in nucleus ambiguus. Am. J. Physiol. 271, H2609–H2614.
- Meyers, E. E., Kronemberger, A., Lira, V., Rahmouni, K., and Stauss, H. M. (2016). Contrasting effects of afferent and efferent vagal nerve stimulation on insulin secretion and blood glucose regulation. *Physiol. Rep.* 4:e12718. doi: 10.14814/ phy2.12718
- Minaya, D. M., Turlej, A., Joshi, A., Nagy, T., Weinstein, N., DiLorenzo, P., et al. (2020). Consumption of a high energy density diet triggers microbiota dysbiosis, hepatic lipidosis, and microglia activation in the nucleus of the solitary tract in rats. *Nutr. Diabetes* 10:20.
- Mori, J., Basu, R., McLean, B. A., Das, S. K., Zhang, L., Patel, V. B., et al. (2012). Agonist-induced hypertrophy and diastolic dysfunction are associated with selective reduction in glucose oxidation: a metabolic contribution to heart failure with normal ejection fraction. *Circ. Heart Fail.* 5, 493–503. doi: 10.1161/ circheartfailure.112.966705

- Morisco, C., Condorelli, G., Trimarco, V., Bellis, A., Marrone, C., Condorelli, G., et al. (2005). Akt mediates the cross-talk between beta-adrenergic and insulin receptors in neonatal cardiomyocytes. *Circ. Res.* 96, 180–188. doi: 10.1161/01. res.0000152968.71868.c3
- Motte, S., Mathieu, M., Brimioulle, S., Pensis, A., Ray, L., Ketelslegers, J. M., et al. (2005). Respiratory-related heart rate variability in progressive experimental heart failure. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol.* 289, H1729–H1735.
- Muller, W. A., Faloona, G. R., and Unger, R. H. (1973). Hyperglucagonemia in diabetic ketoacidosis. Its prevalence and significance. Am. J. Med. 54, 52–57. doi: 10.1016/0002-9343(73)90083-1
- Muniyappa, R., Montagnani, M., Koh, K. K., and Quon, M. J. (2007). Cardiovascular actions of insulin. *Endocr. Rev.* 28, 463–491. doi: 10.1210/er. 2007-0006
- Mussa, B. M., Sartor, D. M., Rantzau, C., and Verberne, A. J. (2011). Effects of nitric oxide synthase blockade on dorsal vagal stimulation-induced pancreatic insulin secretion. *Brain Res.* 1394, 62–70. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2011. 04.015
- Nolan, J., Batin, P. D., Andrews, R., Lindsay, S. J., Brooksby, P., Mullen, M., et al. (1998). Prospective study of heart rate variability and mortality in chronic heart failure: results of the United Kingdom heart failure evaluation and assessment of risk trial (UK-heart). *Circulation* 98, 1510–1516. doi: 10.1161/01.cir.98.15. 1510
- Parmley, W. W., Glick, G., and Sonnenblick, E. H. (1968). Cardiovascular effects of glucagon in man. N. Engl. J. Med. 279, 12–17. doi: 10.1056/ nejm196807042790103
- Paternostro, G., Camici, P. G., Lammerstma, A. A., Marinho, N., Baliga, R. R., Kooner, J. S., et al. (1996). Cardiac and skeletal muscle insulin resistance in patients with coronary heart disease. A study with positron emission tomography. J. Clin. Invest. 98, 2094–2099. doi: 10.1172/jci119015
- Pavlov, V. A., and Tracey, K. J. (2012). The vagus nerve and the inflammatory reflex-linking immunity and metabolism. *Nat. Rev. Endocrinol.* 8, 743–754. doi: 10.1038/nrendo.2012.189
- Pellizzer, A. M., Straznicky, N. E., Lim, S., Kamen, P. W., and Krum, H. (1999). Reduced dietary fat intake increases parasympathetic activity in healthy premenopausal women. *Clin. Exp. Pharmacol. Physiol.* 26, 656–660. doi: 10. 1046/j.1440-1681.1999.03103.x
- Pyke, C., Heller, R. S., Kirk, R. K., Orskov, C., Reedtz-Runge, S., Kaastrup, P., et al. (2014). GLP-1 receptor localization in monkey and human tissue: novel distribution revealed with extensively validated monoclonal antibody. *Endocrinology* 155, 1280–1290. doi: 10.1210/en.2013-1934
- Rana, I., Badoer, E., Alahmadi, E., Leo, C. H., Woodman, O. L., and Stebbing, M. J. (2014). Microglia are selectively activated in endocrine and cardiovascular control centres in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. *J. Neuroendocrinol.* 26, 413–425. doi: 10.1111/jne.12161
- Ransohoff, R. M., and Brown, M. A. (2012). Innate immunity in the central nervous system. J. Clin. Invest. 122, 1164–1171. doi: 10.1172/jci58644
- Rawshani, A., Rawshani, A., Franzen, S., Sattar, N., Eliasson, B., Svensson, A. M., et al. (2018a). Risk factors, mortality, and cardiovascular outcomes in patients with Type 2 diabetes. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 379, 633–644.
- Rawshani, A., Sattar, N., Franzen, S., Rawshani, A., Hattersley, A. T., Svensson, A. M., et al. (2018b). Excess mortality and cardiovascular disease in young adults with type 1 diabetes in relation to age at onset: a nationwide, register-based cohort study. *Lancet* 392, 477–486. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(18) 31506-x
- Reid, J. V., Ito, B. R., Huang, A. H., Buffington, C. W., and Feigl, E. O. (1985). Parasympathetic control of transmural coronary blood flow in dogs. Am. J. Physiol. 249, H337–H343.
- Riehle, C., Wende, A. R., Zhu, Y., Oliveira, K. J., Pereira, R. O., Jaishy, B. P., et al. (2014). Insulin receptor substrates are essential for the bioenergetic and hypertrophic response of the heart to exercise training. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 34, 3450–3460. doi: 10.1128/mcb.00426-14
- Ritter, S., Dinh, T. T., and Zhang, Y. (2000). Localization of hindbrain glucoreceptive sites controlling food intake and blood glucose. *Brain Res.* 856, 37–47. doi: 10.1016/s0006-8993(99)02327-6
- Roberts, B. L., Zhu, M., Zhao, H., Dillon, C., and Appleyard, S. M. (2017). High glucose increases action potential firing of catecholamine neurons in the nucleus of the solitary tract by increasing spontaneous glutamate inputs. *Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol.* 313, R229–R239.

- Rocca, A. S., and Brubaker, P. L. (1999). Role of the vagus nerve in mediating proximal nutrient-induced glucagon-like peptide-1 secretion. *Endocrinology* 140, 1687–1694. doi: 10.1210/endo.140.4.6643
- Rodriguez-Diaz, R., Abdulreda, M. H., Formoso, A. L., Gans, I., Ricordi, C., Berggren, P. O., et al. (2011). Innervation patterns of autonomic axons in the human endocrine pancreas. *Cell Metab.* 14, 45–54. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2011. 05.008
- Ruggeri, P., Molinari, C., Brunori, A., Cogo, C. E., Mary, D. A., Picchio, V., et al. (2001). The direct effect of insulin on barosensitive neurones in the nucleus tractus solitarii of rats. *Neuroreport* 12, 3719–3722. doi: 10.1097/00001756-200112040-00023
- Sacks, F. M., Lichtenstein, A. H., Wu, J. H. Y., Appel, L. J., Creager, M. A., Kris-Etherton, P. M., et al. (2017). Dietary fats and cardiovascular disease: a presidential advisory from the American heart association. *Circulation* 136, e1–e23.
- Schwaber, J., and Schneiderman, N. (1975). Aortic nerve-activated cardioinhibitory neurons and interneurons. Am. J. Physiol. 229, 783–789. doi: 10.1152/ajplegacy. 1975.229.3.783
- Schwartz, P. J., Billman, G. E., and Stone, H. L. (1984). Autonomic mechanisms in ventricular fibrillation induced by myocardial ischemia during exercise in dogs with healed myocardial infarction. An experimental preparation for sudden cardiac death. *Circulation* 69, 790–800. doi: 10.1161/01.cir.69.4.790
- Shen, M. J., Choi, E. K., Tan, A. Y., Lin, S. F., Fishbein, M. C., Chen, L. S., et al. (2011). Neural mechanisms of atrial arrhythmias. *Nat. Rev. Cardiol.* 9, 30–39.
- Srivastava, A. K. (2012). Challenges in the treatment of cardiometabolic syndrome. Indian J. Pharmacol. 44, 155–156. doi: 10.4103/0253-7613.93579
- Standish, A., Enquist, L. W., and Schwaber, J. S. (1994). Innervation of the heart and its central medullary origin defined by viral tracing. *Science* 263, 232–234. doi: 10.1126/science.8284675
- Sturrock, R. R. (1990). A comparison of age-related changes in neuron number in the dorsal motor nucleus of the vagus and the nucleus ambiguus of the mouse. *J. Anat.* 173, 169–176.
- Taylor, E. W., Leite, C. A., Sartori, M. R., Wang, T., Abe, A. S., and Crossley, D. A. II (2014). The phylogeny and ontogeny of autonomic control of the heart and cardiorespiratory interactions in vertebrates. *J. Exp. Biol.* 217, 690–703. doi: 10.1242/jeb.086199
- Thayer, J. F., and Lane, R. D. (2007). The role of vagal function in the risk for cardiovascular disease and mortality. *Biol. Psychol.* 74, 224–242. doi: 10.1016/j. biopsycho.2005.11.013
- Thorens, B. (2014). Neural regulation of pancreatic islet cell mass and function. *Diabetes Obes. Metab.* 16(Suppl. 1), 87–95. doi: 10.1111/dom.12346
- Tomas, A., Jones, B., and Leech, C. (2020). New insights into beta-Cell GLP-1 receptor and cAMP signaling. *J. Mol. Biol.* 432, 1347–1366. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb. 2019.08.009
- Ulphani, J. S., Cain, J. H., Inderyas, F., Gordon, D., Gikas, P. V., Shade, G., et al. (2010). Quantitative analysis of parasympathetic innervation of the porcine heart. *Heart Rhythm* 7, 1113–1119. doi: 10.1016/j.hrthm.2010.03.043
- Unger, R. H., and Cherrington, A. D. (2012). Glucagonocentric restructuring of diabetes: a pathophysiologic and therapeutic makeover. J. Clin. Invest. 122, 4–12. doi: 10.1172/jci60016
- Ussher, J. R., and Drucker, D. J. (2012). Cardiovascular biology of the incretin system. *Endocr. Rev.* 33, 187–215. doi: 10.1210/er.2011-1052
- Van Vliet, B. N., Hall, J. E., Mizelle, H. L., Montani, J. P., and Smith, M. J. Jr. (1995). Reduced parasympathetic control of heart rate in obese dogs. *Am. J. Physiol.* 269, H629–H637.
- Vanoli, E., De Ferrari, G. M., Stramba-Badiale, M., Hull, S. S. Jr., Foreman, R. D., and Schwartz, P. J. (1991). Vagal stimulation and prevention of sudden death in conscious dogs with a healed myocardial infarction. *Circ. Res.* 68, 1471–1481. doi: 10.1161/01.res.68.5.1471
- Vinik, A. I., Erbas, T., and Casellini, C. M. (2013). Diabetic cardiac autonomic neuropathy, inflammation and cardiovascular disease. J. Diabetes Investig. 4, 4–18. doi: 10.1111/jdi.12042
- Vinik, A. I., Maser, R. E., and Ziegler, D. (2011). Autonomic imbalance: prophet of doom or scope for hope? *Diabet. Med.* 28, 643–651. doi: 10.1111/j.1464-5491. 2010.03184.x
- Waise, T. M. Z., Toshinai, K., Naznin, F., NamKoong, C., Md Moin, A. S., Sakoda, H., et al. (2015). One-day high-fat diet induces inflammation in the nodose

ganglion and hypothalamus of mice. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 464, 1157-1162. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2015.07.097

- Wang, J., Zheng, H., and Berthoud, H. R. (1999). Functional vagal input to chemically identified neurons in pancreatic ganglia as revealed by Fos expression. Am. J. Physiol. 277, E958–E964.
- Wang, Z. Q., Bell-Farrow, A. D., Sonntag, W., and Cefalu, W. T. (1997). Effect of age and caloric restriction on insulin receptor binding and glucose transporter levels in aging rats. *Exp. Gerontol.* 32, 671–684. doi: 10.1016/s0531-5565(97) 00054-5
- White, C. M. (1999). A review of potential cardiovascular uses of intravenous glucagon administration. J. Clin. Pharmacol. 39, 442–447.
- Williams, T. D., Chambers, J. B., Roberts, L. M., Henderson, R. P., and Overton, J. M. (2003). Diet-induced obesity and cardiovascular regulation in C57BL/6J mice. *Clin. Exp. Pharmacol. Physiol.* 30, 769–778. doi: 10.1046/j.1440-1681. 2003.t01-1-03808.x
- Worker, C. J., Li, W., Feng, C. Y., Souza, L. A. C., Gayban, A. J. B., Cooper, S. G., et al. (2020). The neuronal (pro)renin receptor and astrocyte inflammation in the central regulation of blood pressure and blood glucose in mice fed a high-fat diet. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 318, E765–E778.
- Wu, J. S., Yang, Y. C., Lin, T. S., Huang, Y. H., Chen, J. J., Lu, F. H., et al. (2007). Epidemiological evidence of altered cardiac autonomic function in subjects with impaired glucose tolerance but not isolated impaired fasting glucose. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 92, 3885–3889. doi: 10.1210/jc.2006-2175
- Xie, H., and Lautt, W. W. (1994). Insulin resistance produced by hepatic denervation or muscarinic cholinergic blockade. *Proc. West. Pharmacol. Soc.* 37, 39–40.
- Xie, H., and Lautt, W. W. (1995). Induction of insulin resistance by cholinergic blockade with atropine in the cat. J. Auton. Pharmacol. 15, 361–369. doi: 10.1111/j.1474-8673.1995.tb00402.x
- Xie, H., and Lautt, W. W. (1996). Insulin resistance of skeletal muscle produced by hepatic parasympathetic interruption. Am. J. Physiol. 270, E858–E863.
- Xie, H., Tsybenko, V. A., Johnson, M. V., and Lautt, W. W. (1993). Insulin resistance of glucose response produced by hepatic denervations. *Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol.* 71, 175–178. doi: 10.1139/y93-024
- Yan, B., Li, L., Harden, S. W., Epstein, P. N., Wurster, R. D., and Cheng, Z. J. (2009). Diabetes induces neural degeneration in nucleus ambiguus (NA) and attenuates heart rate control in OVE26 mice. *Exp. Neurol.* 220, 34–43. doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol.2009.07.006
- Zannad, F., De Ferrari, G. M., Tuinenburg, A. E., Wright, D., Brugada, J., Butter, C., et al. (2015). Chronic vagal stimulation for the treatment of low ejection fraction heart failure: results of the NEural Cardiac TherApy foR Heart Failure (NECTAR-HF) randomized controlled trial. *Eur. Heart J.* 36, 425–433. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehu345
- Zhang, L., Jaswal, J. S., Ussher, J. R., Sankaralingam, S., Wagg, C., Zaugg, M., et al. (2013). Cardiac insulin-resistance and decreased mitochondrial energy production precede the development of systolic heart failure after pressure-overload hypertrophy. *Circ. Heart Fail.* 6, 1039–1048. doi: 10.1161/ circheartfailure.112.000228
- Zhao, T. C. (2013). Glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) and protective effects in cardiovascular disease: a new therapeutic approach for myocardial protection. *Cardiovasc. Diabetol.* 12:90. doi: 10.1186/1475-2840-12-90
- Zsombok, A., Bhaskaran, M. D., Gao, H., Derbenev, A. V., and Smith, B. N. (2011). Functional plasticity of central TRPV1 receptors in brainstem dorsal vagal complex circuits of streptozotocin-treated hyperglycemic mice. *J. Neurosci.* 31, 14024–14031. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.2081-11.2011

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Espinoza, Fedorchak and Boychuk. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Cardiomyocyte Deletion of *Bmal1* Exacerbates QT- and RR-Interval Prolongation in *Scn5a*^{+/ ΔKPQ} Mice

Elizabeth A. Schroder^{1,2*†}, Jennifer L. Wayland¹, Kaitlyn M. Samuels¹, Syed F. Shah¹, Don E. Burgess¹, Tanya Seward¹, Claude S. Elayi³, Karyn A. Esser⁴ and Brian P. Delisle^{1*†}

¹ Department of Physiology, University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY, United States, ² Internal Medicine and Pulmonary, University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY, United States, ³ CHI Saint Joseph Hospital, Lexington, KY, United States, ⁴ Department of Physiology and Functional Genomics, University of Florida, Gainesville, FL, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Carol Ann Remme, University of Amsterdam, Netherlands

Reviewed by:

Bastiaan J. Boukens, University of Amsterdam, Netherlands Patrick Schweizer, Heidelberg University, Germany

*Correspondence:

Elizabeth A. Schroder eschr0@uky.edu Brian P. Delisle brian.delisle@uky.edu

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cardiac Electrophysiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 15 March 2021 Accepted: 18 May 2021 Published: 24 June 2021

Citation:

Schroder EA, Wayland JL, Samuels KM, Shah SF, Burgess DE, Seward T, Elayi CS, Esser KA and Delisle BP (2021) Cardiomyocyte Deletion of Bmal1 Exacerbates QTand RR-Interval Prolongation in Scn5a^{+/ΔKPQ} Mice. Front. Physiol. 12:681011. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2021.681011 Circadian rhythms are generated by cell autonomous circadian clocks that perform a ubiquitous cellular time-keeping function and cell type-specific functions important for normal physiology. Studies show inducing the deletion of the core circadian clock transcription factor Bmal1 in adult mouse cardiomyocytes disrupts cardiac circadian clock function, cardiac ion channel expression, slows heart rate, and prolongs the QT-interval at slow heart rates. This study determined how inducing the deletion of Bmal1 in adult cardiomyocytes impacted the in vivo electrophysiological phenotype of a knock-in mouse model for the arrhythmogenic long QT syndrome $(Scn5a^{+/\Delta KPQ})$. Electrocardiographic telemetry showed inducing the deletion of *Bmal1* in the cardiomyocytes of mice with or without the ΔKPQ -Scn5a mutation increased the QT-interval at RR-intervals that were \geq 130 ms. Inducing the deletion of *Bmal1* in the cardiomyocytes of mice with or without the Δ KPQ-Scn5a mutation also increased the day/night rhythm-adjusted mean in the RR-interval, but it did not change the period, phase or amplitude. Compared to mice without the Δ KPQ-Scn5a mutation, mice with the ΔKPQ -Scn5a mutation had reduced heart rate variability (HRV) during the peak of the day/night rhythm in the RR-interval. Inducing the deletion of Bmal1 in cardiomyocytes did not affect HRV in mice without the Δ KPQ-Scn5a mutation, but it did increase HRV in mice with the ∆KPQ-Scn5a mutation. The data demonstrate that deleting Bmal1 in cardiomyocytes exacerbates QT- and RR-interval prolongation in mice with the Δ KPQ-Scn5a mutation.

Keywords: heart, electrophysiology, ion channel, SCN5A, long QT syndrome, Bmal1, circadian

INTRODUCTION

Circadian rhythms alter physiology in anticipation of predictable changes in the daily environment. They are generated by cell autonomous circadian clocks in most of the cells in the body (Reppert and Weaver, 2002; Hastings et al., 2018; Michel and Meijer, 2020). Circadian clocks are formed by transcription-translation feedback loops that drive rhythmic changes in clock gene and protein expression with a periodicity of ~24 h (Hastings et al., 2018; Michel and Meijer, 2020). The positive limb of the feedback loop is initiated by the transcription factors BMAL1 and CLOCK, which

127

heterodimerize to activate the transcription of Period (PER) and Cryptochrome (CRY). PER and CRY proteins negatively feedback on BMAL1 and CLOCK activity. In addition to functioning as ubiquitous cellular timekeepers, circadian clocks also contribute to cell- and tissue-specific changes in physiology by regulating the expression of genes outside the timekeeping network. Studies using transgenic mouse models that allow for the selective deletion of *Bmal1* in adult cardiomyocytes show the cardiomyocyte circadian clock mechanism contributes to heart rate, ventricular repolarization and the functional expression of several cardiac ion channels (Schroder et al., 2013, 2015; Delisle et al., 2020). In this study, we determined how inducing the deletion of *Bmal1* in adult cardiomyocytes impacted cardiac electrophysiology in a genetic mouse model of long QT syndrome (LQTS).

People living with congenital LQTS have a high risk for ventricular arrhythmias that can lead to syncope, seizures, and/or sudden cardiac death (SCD) (Schwartz et al., 1993; Moss, 2003). Most cases of LQTS are caused by mutations in one of three different cardiac ion channel genes (LQT1-LQT3). LQT3 is caused by mutations in the predominant voltagegated Na+ channel expressed in the heart (SCN5A/Nav1.5). Some LQT3-linked mutations associate with more than one type of arrhythmia syndrome/phenotype in people, including cardiac conduction defects, atrial arrhythmias, and/or Brugada Syndrome (Remme, 2013). People who have the LQT3-linked SCN5A deletion mutation Δ KPQ1505-1507 can suffer LQT3 and cardiac conduction defects (Zareba et al., 2001). Heterozygous knock-in mice with the equivalent ΔKPQ -Scn5a mutation $(Scn5a^{+/\Delta KPQ})$ have abnormally long QT- and RR-intervals (Nuyens et al., 2001; Fabritz et al., 2010; Lemoine et al., 2011; Wu et al., 2012). We tested the hypothesis that inducing the deletion of *Bmal1* in $Scn5a^{+/\Delta KPQ}$ mice would exacerbate QT- and RR-interval prolongation using electrocardiographic (ECG) telemetry.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Animals

All animal procedures were conducted in compliance with the guidelines of the Association for Assessment and Accreditation of Laboratory Animal Care and were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee at University of Kentucky. Mice for these studies were bred by crossing the floxed Bmal1 (Bmal1^{f/f}) mouse and the cardiac-specific, Myh6-*MerCreMer* recombinase mouse (iCS Δ *Bmal1*) (Schroder et al., 2013). The $Scn5a^{+/\Delta KPQ}$ mice (kindly provided by Dr. Peter Carmeliet) were bred with the iCS $\Delta Bmal1$ mice to generate an B6Cre[±];B6Bmal1^{f/f};129Scn5a^{+/ ΔKPQ} (iCS $\Delta Bmal1/Scn5a^{+/\Delta KPQ}$) mouse. The iCS $\Delta Bmal1^{+/+}$ mice consisted of vehicle injected mice or iCS Δ Bmal1 mice assessed prior to tamoxifen injection. Cre-recombination was activated by intraperitoneal injections of tamoxifen (2 mg/day) for 5 consecutive days to generate $iCS\Delta Bmal1^{-/-}$ mice. The concentration and duration of the tamoxifen injections used have been shown to cause effective cardiomyocyte-specific

recombination without any obvious long-term tamoxifen toxicity as assessed by changes in the structure, function, and the ECG (Eckardt et al., 2004; Andersson et al., 2009; Hall et al., 2011; Schroder et al., 2013). Mice were housed in 12 h light and 12 h dark cycles with *ad libitum* access to food and water.

Circadian Collections

mRNA collections were done as described previously (Schroder et al., 2013). Male and female iCS $\Delta Bmal1$ mice at 14–16 weeks of age were housed in light boxes and entrained to a 12:12-h light-dark cycle. Two weeks after the final injection of vehicle (32 mice) or tamoxifen (32 mice), mice were released into constant darkness. After 30 h in darkness (18 h after the beginning of the subjective light phase, Circadian Time or CT = 18 h), mice were euthanized under dim red light (< 5 lux) and hearts were collected every 4 h for 28 h, a total of 8 time points. RNA was prepared for quantitative PCR (qtPCR) using TaqMan (Applied Biosystems) assays to examine transcript expression. The $\Delta \Delta CT$ method was used for the quantification of qtPCR data. Gene expression is shown as the relative value compared with the mean vehicle value.

ECG Telemetry

In vivo ECG telemetry was performed as described previously (Schroder et al., 2013, 2014). Briefly, male mice at 14 weeks of age were anesthetized with isoflurane and transmitter units (DSI, TA11ETA-F10) were implanted in the peritoneal cavity. The two ECG leads were secured near the apex of the heart and the right acromion. Mice were housed singly and allowed to recover for 1 week before beginning recording. Telemetry data were recorded at 1000 Hz before and after the intraperitoneal injection of tamoxifen to activate deletion of *Bmal1* by *Cre*-recombination. After injection, mice were given at least 4 weeks to recover before ECG data were recorded.

Ponemah telemetry software (Data Science International) was used to quantify QT-intervals. QT-intervals were analyzed at RR-intervals ranging from 90 ± 3 ms to 140 ± 3 ms in 10 ms bins. Two independent investigators performed these analyses.

Ponemah was also used to measure RR-intervals and HRV. We plotted 3-days of averaged RR-intervals (15-min averages) and fit the individual data with the following cosine function:

Interval =
$$A * cos(2\pi(t - \tau)/T) + m$$

This allowed calculation of the period (T), phase (τ) , amplitude of the oscillation (A), and rhythm-adjusted mean (m).

HRV was analyzed using the time domain parameters for the standard deviation of all RR-intervals in sinus rhythm (SDNN, in ms); the root mean square differences between successive RR-intervals (RMSSD, in ms); and the percentage of normal consecutive RR-intervals differing by ≥ 6 ms similar to that previously described (Thireau et al., 2008; Fenske et al., 2016; Moghtadaei et al., 2017). SDNN is an index of total sinus rhythm HRV, whereas RMSSD is a beat to beat index of HRV and reflects abrupt changes in RR-intervals. PNN6 is thought to reflect HRV secondary to parasympathetic tone. Each parameter was measured in 15-min episodes. Individual mouse data sets

were not well described using a cosine function, so we compared averaged values that corresponded to 2–5, 8–11, 14–17, or 20–23 h after the start of the light phase (Zeitgeber time or ZT = 2-5, 8–11, 14–17, or 20–23 h, respectively).

Statistical Analysis

The data were analyzed using a two-way ANOVA to identify significant interactions (PRISM, MathWorks). We used the Šidák correction method to correct for multiple comparisons. For gene expression studies, the statistical JTK_CYCLE package was used to identify mRNA transcripts that had circadian expression profiles (Hughes et al., 2010).

RESULTS

Inducing the Deletion of *Bmal1* in Adult Cardiomyocyte Decreases the mRNA Transcript Levels for Several Cardiac Ion Channels and Transcription Factors Important for Repolarization and Conduction

Studies suggest that Bmal1 directly and indirectly contributes to the transcription of cardiac ion channel genes Scn5a, Kcnh2, *Hcn4*, and *Kchip2* (Jeyaraj et al., 2012; Schroder et al., 2013, 2015; D'Souza et al., 2020). Bmal1 may regulate cardiac ion channel transcription by binding to enhancer box (E-box) elements in the promoters of ion channel genes, or Bmal1 can modify the expression of other transcription factors that regulate ion channel transcription. We wanted to determine how inducing the deletion of Bmal1 in the adult heart impacts the expression profiles for a large number of candidate ion channel genes that encode proteins important for cardiac depolarization, repolarization, conduction, and ion channel transcription in humans and mice (London, 2001; Eckardt et al., 2004; Nerbonne and Kass, 2005; Arnolds et al., 2012; Herrmann et al., 2012; Jeyaraj et al., 2012; Mao et al., 2012; Cai et al., 2014; Nerbonne, 2014; Wahl-Schott et al., 2014; Tarradas et al., 2017).

In mice and humans, the cardiac Na⁺ current (I_{Na}) generates the rapid upstroke of the action potential in the working myocardium and the funny current (I_F) initiates depolarization in the autorhythmic myocardium. Scn5a and Hcn4 encode the major pore-forming proteins that conduct I_{Na} and I_F (Abriel, 2007; Kozasa et al., 2018; D'Souza et al., 2020). Also similar to humans, the inward rectifier K^+ current (I_{K1}) in the mouse working myocardium is responsible for stabilizing the resting membrane potential. Kcnj2 encodes a critical pore-forming subunit that conducts I_{K1} (Nerbonne and Kass, 2005; Nerbonne, 2014). Unlike humans, the rapid and slowly activating delayed rectifier K⁺ currents (I_{Ks} and I_{Kr}, respectively) are not major contributors to ventricular repolarization in mice. However, the genes that encode the pore-forming proteins for I_{Ks} and I_{Kr} , Kcnq1, and Kcnh2, are expressed in the mouse myocardium (Pond et al., 2000; Knollmann et al., 2007). Ventricular repolarization in mice is regulated by several K⁺ currents, including the transient outward K⁺ currents (I_{to}) and the slow

 K^+ currents ($I_{K,slow}$). Kcnd2, Kchip2, Kcna5, and Kcnb1 encode important pore-forming and auxiliary ion channel proteins that contribute to I_{to} and $I_{K,slow}$ (Nerbonne and Kass, 2005; Nerbonne, 2014). Gja1, Gja5, and Gjc1 encode the cardiac gap junction proteins (connexins) that mediate conduction between cardiomyocytes (Jalife et al., 1999). The Scn4b auxiliary Na⁺ channel subunit is a genetic modifier of cardiac conduction speed in mouse models of Na⁺ channelopathies (Remme et al., 2009). The transcription factor genes Klf15, Tbx5, Gata4, and Foxo1 regulate the expression of certain cardiac ion channel genes, including Kchip2 or Scn5a, previous studies show that these transcription factors have circadian expression profiles in the mouse heart (Arnolds et al., 2012; Jeyaraj et al., 2012; Mao et al., 2012; Pizarro et al., 2013; Cai et al., 2014; Tarradas et al., 2017).

We previously reported the *Scn5a*, *Kcnh2*, and *Kcnd2* mRNA transcript expression profiles in iCS $\Delta Bmal1^{+/+}$ and iCS $\Delta Bmal1^{-/-}$ mouse hearts (Schroder et al., 2013, 2015). We found that *Scn5a*, *Kcnh2* and *Kcnd2* had circadian expression profiles in iCS $\Delta Bmal1^{+/+}$ mouse hearts. The circadian expression profiles for *Scn5a* and *Kcnh2* (but not *Kcnd2*) were lost after inducing the deletion of *Bmal1* (iCS $\Delta Bmal1^{-/-}$), and, compared to mRNA transcript levels in iCS $\Delta Bmal1^{+/+}$ mouse hearts, the mRNA transcript levels for *Scn5a* and *Kcnh2* (but not *Kcnd2*) were reduced in iCS $\Delta Bmal1^{-/-}$ mice.

In this study, *Hcn4*, *Kcnj2*, *Kcnq1*, *Kchip2*, *Kcna5*, *Kcnb1*, *Gja1*, *Gja5*, *Gjc1*, *Scn4b*, *Klf15*, *Tbx5*, *Gata4*, and *Foxo1* transcripts were assessed for both the circadian expression and overall expression level by quantitative PCR. These data demonstrate that *Hcn4*, *Kcnj2*, *Kcnq1*, *Scn4b*, *Tbx5*, *Gata4*, *Gja5*, and *Gjc1* mRNA transcript levels have circadian expression profiles in the hearts of iCS Δ Bmal1^{+/+} mice but not in iCS Δ Bmal1^{-/-} mice (**Figures 1A,B**). Compared to mRNA transcript levels in the hearts of iCS Δ Bmal1^{-/-} mice for *Hcn4*, *Kcnj2*, *Kcnq1*, *Scn4b*, *Gata4*, and *Tbx5* (but not *Gja5* or *Gjc1*) were reduced.

Klf15, *Kchip2*, *Kcna5*, *Kcnb1*, *Gja1*, and *Foxo1* mRNA transcripts did not show a circadian expression profile in the hearts of $iCS\Delta Bmal1^{+/+}$ or $iCS\Delta Bmal1^{-/-}$ mice (**Figures 1C,D**). However, compared to mRNA transcript levels in the hearts of $iCS\Delta Bmal1^{+/+}$ mice, the mRNA transcript levels for *Klf15*, *Kchip2*, *Kcna5*, and *Kcnb1* in $iCS\Delta Bmal1^{-/-}$ mice were reduced (**Figure 1C**). The mRNA transcript levels for *Gja1* and *Foxo1* in $iCS\Delta Bmal1^{+/+}$ and $iCS\Delta Bmal1^{-/-}$ mice were not different (**Figure 1D**). Together, these findings demonstrate that the loss of *Bmal1* in adult cardiomyocytes causes a loss of circadian expression and/or a reduction in overall mRNA transcript levels for several cardiac ion channels and transcription factors important for cardiac depolarization, repolarization and conduction.

Inducing the Deletion of *Bmal1* Increases the QT-Interval at Slow Heart Rates

The changes in cardiac ion channel expression that occurred after inducing the deletion of *Bmal1* in adult cardiomyocytes motivated us to determine how it would impact the cardiac



FIGURE 1 Inducing the deletion of *Bmal1* in adult cardiomyocytes differentially impacts the temporal expression of cardiac ion channel transcripts. Shown are qPCR profiles for mRNA transcripts measured from iCS $\Delta Bmal1^{+/+}$ (black circles) and iCS $\Delta Bmal1^{-/-}$ (red squares) mouse hearts plotted as a function of circadian time (CT). Light and shaded regions on x-axis represent subjective light and dark cycles. (A) *Hcn4*, *Scn4b*, *Kcnj2*, *Kcnq1*, *Tbx5*, and *Gata4* mRNA transcripts had circadian expression profiles in the hearts of iCS $\Delta Bmal1^{+/+}$ mice (JTK_Cycle < 0.05) but not iCS $\Delta Bmal1^{-/-}$ mice. mRNA expression was lower at most time points in the hearts of iCS $\Delta Bmal1^{+/+}$ mouse hearts (n = 3-4/time point; *p < 0.05). (B) *Gja5* and *Gjc1* mRNA transcripts had circadian expression profiles in iCS $\Delta Bmal1^{+/+}$ mouse hearts (JTK_Cycle < 0.05) but not iCS $\Delta Bmal1^{-/-}$ mouse hearts. The overall transcript levels were similar in iCS $\Delta Bmal1^{+/+}$ and iCS $\Delta Bmal1^{+/+}$ mouse hearts (JTK_Cycle < 0.05) but not iCS $\Delta Bmal1^{-/-}$ mouse hearts. The overall transcript levels were similar in iCS $\Delta Bmal1^{+/+}$ and iCS $\Delta Bmal1^{-/-}$ mice at most circadian time points (n = 3-4/time point; *p < 0.05). (C) *Klf15*, *Kchip2*, *Kcna5*, and *Kcnb1* mRNA transcripts did not have circadian expression profiles in the hearts of iCS $\Delta Bmal1^{+/+}$ or iCS $\Delta Bmal1^{-/-}$ mouse hearts compared to transcript levels in iCS $\Delta Bmal1^{-/-}$ mouse hearts at most circadian time points (n = 3-4/time point; *p < 0.05). (D) *Kja1* and *Fox01* mRNA transcripts did not have circadian expression profiles in the hearts of iCS $\Delta Bmal1^{+/+}$ or iCS $\Delta Bmal1^{-/-}$ mice (JTK_Cycle > 0.05) and the overall transcript levels were similar at most circadian time points (n = 3-4/time point; *p < 0.05). (D) *Gja1* and *Fox01* mRNA transcripts did not have circadian time points (n = 3-4/time point; *p < 0.05).

electrophysiological phenotype of mice with the Δ KPQ-*Scn5a* mutation. We used ECG telemetry to measure QT- and RR-intervals in conscious free moving mice housed in 12-h light and 12-h dark cycles prior to and after inducing *Bmal1* deletion in cardiomyocytes (**Figure 2A**). Previous studies show that the QT-intervals measured from wildtype C57BL/6 mice do not depend on the preceding RR-intervals (Drici et al., 1998; Speerschneider and Thomsen, 2013; Roussel et al., 2016). We confirmed these findings in the iCS Δ *Bmal1*^{+/+} mice by measuring the QT-intervals at RR-intervals ranging from 90 to 140 ms in 10 ms bins (**Figure 2B**). Deletion of *Bmal1* in cardiomyocytes caused the QT-intervals to become longer at slower RR-intervals. Compared to iCS Δ *Bmal1*^{+/+} mice, the iCS Δ *Bmal1*^{-/-} mice had longer QT-intervals at RR-intervals at RR-intervals to the tervals that were \geq 130 ms.

QT-intervals in mice with the Δ KPQ-*Scn5a* mutation were dependent on the duration of preceding RR-intervals (**Figure 2B**). Compared to the QT-intervals

measured in the iCS $\Delta Bmal1^{+/+}$ mice, the QT-intervals in iCS $\Delta Bmal1^{+/+}/Scn5a^{+/\Delta KPQ}$ mice were longer at RR-intervals that were ≥ 110 ms. Compared to the iCS $\Delta Bmal1^{-/-}$ mice, the iCS $\Delta Bmal1^{-/-}/Scn5a^{+/\Delta KPQ}$ mice had longer QT-intervals at RR-intervals that were ≥ 100 ms. Inducing the deletion of *Bmal1* in mice with the ΔKPQ -*Scn5a* mutation also increased the QT-interval at RR-intervals that were ≥ 130 ms. These data demonstrate that *Bmal1* deletion in adult cardiomyocytes prolongs the QT-interval at slow heart rates in mice with or without the ΔKPQ -*Scn5a* mutation.

Inducing the Deletion of *Bmal1* Increases the Day/Night Rhythm-Adjusted Mean in *the* RR-Interval in Mice With or Without the Δ KPQ-*Scn5a* Mutation

We quantified the day/night rhythm in the RR-interval recorded from mice before and after inducing the deletion of *Bmal1*



in adult cardiomyocytes with or without the ΔKPQ -Scn5a mutation. Mice were housed in 12 h light and 12 h dark cycles. The RR-intervals were averaged every 15-min and plotted as a function of ZT for 3 days (Figure 3A). The individual data from each mouse were fit with a cosine function to calculate the day/night period, acrophase (the ZT at which the rhythms peaked), amplitude, and rhythm adjusted mean (Figure 3B). The day/night rhythm in the RR-intervals had periods that were \sim 24 h in mice before and after deletion of Bmall in cardiomyocytes with or without the ΔKPQ -Scn5a mutation. The day/night rhythm in the RR-intervals peaked after the beginning of the light cycle and did not change after deletion of Bmal1 in the cardiomyocytes of mice with or without the ΔKPQ -Scn5a mutation. The amplitudes in the day/night rhythm of the RR-intervals were not different before or after deletion of Bmal1 in cardiomyocytes in both groups of mice, however, the iCS $\Delta Bmal1^{-/-}$ mice had larger amplitudes compared to $iCS\Delta Bmal1^{-/-}/Scn5a^{+/\Delta KPQ}$ mice. The biggest differences among the groups of mice were in day/night rhythm-adjusted means of the RR-intervals. Compared to $iCS\Delta Bmal1^{+/+}$ mice, the rhythm-adjusted means for the RR-intervals were longer in iCS $\Delta Bmal1^{+/+}/Scn5a^{+/\Delta KPQ}$ mice. Inducing the deletion of Bmal1 in cardiomyocytes increased the rhythm-adjusted means for both groups of mice by similar amounts (Figure 3B). These data demonstrate that deletion of Bmall in cardiomyocytes does not impact the period, phase or amplitude in the day/night rhythm in RR-intervals in mice with or without the ΔKPQ -Scn5a mutation. Deletion of Bmal1 in adult cardiomyocytes prolongs the day/night rhythm-adjusted mean in the RR-intervals of mice with or without the ΔKPQ -Scn5a mutation.

Mice With the \triangle KPQ-Scn5a Mutation Have Reduced HRV That Is Normalized After Inducing the Deletion of *Bmal1*

Heart rate variability measures changes in sinoatrial node function secondary to autonomic drive, autonomic sensitivity of the sinoatrial nodal cells, and/or changes in the spontaneous depolarization of SAN cells (Fenske et al., 2016). We tested the hypothesis that the HRV in the iCS $\Delta Bmal1^{+/+}/Scn5a^{+/\Delta KPQ}$ mice was different than the iCS $\Delta Bmal1^{+/+}$ mice. We measured the 3-day average in the SDNN, RMSSD, and pNN6 at ZT = 2-5 h, ZT = 8-11 h, ZT = 14-17 h, or ZT = 20-23 h. We found that when RR-intervals were longest (ZT = 2-5 h), the SDNN, RMSSD and pNN6 were smaller in the iCS $\Delta Bmal1^{+/+}/Scn5a^{+/\Delta KPQ}$ mice compared to $iCS\Delta Bmal1^{+/+}$ mice (Figure 4). Compared to the iCS $\Delta Bmal1^{+/+}$ mice, the HRV did not change in the iCS $\Delta Bmal1^{-/-}$ mice at any of the timepoints tested. Compared to $iCS\Delta Bmal1^{+/+}/Scn5a^{+/\Delta KPQ}$ mice, the $iCS\Delta Bmal1^{-/-}/Scn5a^{+/\Delta KPQ}$ mice had SDNN values that increased at all the timepoints tested; RMSSD values that increased at ZT = 2-5 h and ZT = 20-23 h; and pNN6 values that increased at ZT = 2-5 h, ZT = 8-11 h, and ZT = 20-23 h. The data demonstrate that inducing the deletion of *Bmal1* in the cardiomyocytes of mice with the Δ KPQ-Scn5a mutation normalize the HRV to levels similar to those seen in $iCS\Delta Bmal1^{+/+}$ or $iCS\Delta Bmal1^{-/-}$ mice.

DISCUSSION

This study showed that the deletion of *Bmal1* in adult cardiomyocytes disrupts the expression profiles for a number



of cardiac ion channel and transcription factor transcripts important for normal cardiac repolarization, depolarization, and conduction. We tested the hypothesis that the deletion of Bmal1 in adult cardiomyocytes would modify the cardiac electrophysiological phenotype in mice that harbor the ΔKPQ -Scn5a mutation in vivo. We found that the mice with the Δ KPQ-Scn5a mutation had abnormally long QT-intervals, steeper QTand RR-interval relations, slower day/night rhythm-adjusted means in RR-intervals and decreased HRV. Inducing the deletion of *Bmal1* in the hearts of mice with the Δ KPQ-*Scn5a* mutation prolonged the QT-intervals measured at slower RR-intervals and increased the day/night rhythm-adjusted mean in RR-interval. The absolute magnitude of these changes was similar in mice without the Δ KPQ-Scn5a mutation, suggesting that the changes caused by deletion of *Bmal1* in cardiomyocytes were additive. The deletion of *Bmal1* in cardiomyocytes did not alter HRV in mice without the Δ KPQ-Scn5a mutation, but it increased the abnormally low HRV in mice with the Δ KPQ-*Scn5a* mutation. We conclude that deletion of *Bmal1* in cardiomyocytes disrupts the expression for a number of cardiac ion channel genes, prolongs the QT- and RR-intervals in mice with or without the Δ KPQ-Scn5a mutation, and normalizes HRV in mice with the Δ KPQ-*Scn5a* mutation.

Bmal1 Is Important for Normal Ventricular Repolarization at Slow Heart Rates

Inducing the deletion of *Bmal1* prolongs the QT-intervals at slower heart rates in mice with and without the Δ KPQ-*Scn5a* mutation (**Figure 2**). This might not have been expected in mice with the Δ KPQ-*Scn5a* mutation since previous studies show that inducing the deletion of *Bmal1* in adult cardiomyocytes decreases the functional expression of *Scn5a* by ~30% (Schroder et al., 2013). We now show that *Bmal1* directly or indirectly contributes to the expression of many different cardiac transcripts that regulate normal depolarization, repolarization and conduction in mice (**Figure 1**; Jeyaraj et al., 2012; Schroder et al., 2015; Delisle et al., 2020). Thus, the cardiac electrophysiological properties likely do not reflect the changes in one gene but rather many different genes.

The Day/Night Rhythm in Heart Rate in vivo Does Not Depend on the Cardiomyocyte Circadian Clock

Inducing the deletion of *Bmal1* did not change the phase, amplitude or period in the day/night rhythm of heart rate in mice



with or without Δ KPQ-*Scn5a* mutation (**Figure 3**; Schroder et al., 2013). These data provide additional support that the day/night rhythm in heart rate *in vivo* does not depend on the functional circadian clock mechanism in cardiomyocytes but rather other factors including the autonomic nervous system, nocturnal behavioral patterns, core body temperature, circadian rhythms in neurohumoral signaling, etc (Sheward et al., 2010; Tong et al., 2013; Schroder et al., 2014). This study confirms previous findings that the deletion of *Bmal1* in adult cardiomyocytes slows the day/night rhythm-adjusted mean in heart rate (Schroder et al., 2013). The slowing of the mean heart rate after inducing the deletion of *Bmal1* was observed in mice with or without the Δ KPQ-*Scn5a* mutation.

The Reduction in HRV in Mice With ∆KPQ-Scn5a Is Not Secondary to Slower Heart Rates

Another novel finding in this study is that, compared to mice without the Δ KPQ-*Scn5a* mutation, mice with the Δ KPQ-*Scn5a* mutation had a lower HRV when heart rate was slowest. The lower HRV likely reflects sinoatrial node dysfunction, changes in

the autonomic sensitivity of the sinoatrial node and/or changes in autonomic tone (Fabritz et al., 2010; Wu et al., 2012). Although studies have not shown changes in the autonomic sensitivity of the sinoatrial node in $Scn5a^{+/\Delta KPQ}$ mice, studies do show that, compared to WT mice, the working myocardium of $Scn5a^{+/\Delta KPQ}$ mice expresses fewer β -adrenergic receptors (Fabritz et al., 2010). Another possibility is that the reduction in HRV measured in the iCS $\Delta Bmal1^{+/+}/Scn5a^{+/\Delta KPQ}$ mice reflects differences in basal heart rate compared to the iCS Δ *Bmal1*^{+/+} mice. However, this seems unlikely because HRV increases as the heart rates become slower (Monfredi et al., 2014). The increase in HRV normally seen at slower heart rates might explain why HRV increased in the iCS $\Delta Bmal1^{-/-}/Scn5a^{+/\Delta KPQ}$ mice (Figures 3, 4). Another possible explanation for the effect on HRV is the recent observation that the loss of Bmal1 in the heart alters the intrinsic beating rate of sinoatrial node preparations (D'Souza et al., 2020). The time of day changes in sinoatrial node intrinsic beating rate were suggested to be secondary to a reduction in the functional expression of the Hcn4. Consistent with these studies, we found that cardiac Hcn4 mRNA transcripts in the hearts of iCS $\Delta Bmal1^{+/+}$ mice had a circadian expression profile that was lost and reduced iCS $\Delta Bmal1^{-/-}$ mice

(Figure 1). Whether or not the decreased expression of *Hcn4* mRNA transcript levels and/or other cardiac ion channel genes is responsible for the slower rhythm-adjusted mean in heart rate or increased HRV in mice with the Δ KPQ-*Scn5a* mutation warrants further investigation.

Study Limitations

There are several limitations to this study. Mouse models are widely employed by cardiac electrophysiologists because they are practical for determining how genetic, pharmacological and/or environmental manipulations impact arrhythmogenic triggers and/or pro-arrhythmic changes in the cardiac substrate (Dobrev and Wehrens, 2018; Clauss et al., 2019). However, there are clear species-specific differences in cardiac electrophysiology that limit extrapolation to humans (Sabir et al., 2008; Nerbonne, 2014). Mouse hearts are small and beat about 10 times faster than humans. Although human and mouse ECG waveforms have P, QRS, and T-waves, mouse hearts repolarize quickly to generate a predominant J wave and a small inverted T-wave (Mitchell et al., 1998; Kaese and Verheule, 2012; Boukens et al., 2014). As such, the underlying mechanisms for cardiac excitability and arrhythmias in mouse and human hearts are different (Sabir et al., 2008).

We did not observe any obvious spontaneous ventricular symptoms (e.g., ventricular tachyarrhythmias) in $iCS\Delta Bmal1^{+/+}/Scn5a^{+/\Delta KPQ}$ or $iCS\Delta Bmal1^{+/+}/Scn5a^{+/\Delta KPQ}$ mice during the ECG recordings (\sim 6-9 days). Therefore, we cannot conclude that inducing the deletion of Bmal1 in cardiomyocytes increases arrhythmogenicity in mice with the ΔKPQ -Scn5a mutation. However, similar to the Nuvens et al., 2001 study (Nuvens et al., 2001), we did see that mice harboring the ΔKPQ -Scn5a mutation had a higher number of sinus pauses, atrioventricular block and bradyarrhythmias. The absolute number of hourly pauses/blocks during the inactive phase trended higher in the iCS $\Delta Bmal1^{-/-}/Scn5a^{+/\Delta KPQ}$ mice compared to the iCS $\Delta Bmal1^{+/+}/Scn5a^{+/\Delta KPQ}$ mice but was not significant $(iCS\Delta Bmal1^{+/+}/Scn5a^{+/\Delta KPQ} = 6.7 \pm 2.5 \text{ pauses/blocks})$ per hour vs $iCS\Delta Bmal1^{-/-}/Scn5a^{+/\Delta KPQ} = 20.3 \pm 7.8$ pauses/blocks per hour, n = 6 mice, p = 0.06). More invasive studies are needed to determine whether the loss of the Bmal1 in mice with the Δ KPQ-Scn5a mutation have higher susceptibility to arrhythmias and/or ventricular tachyarrhythmias.

Conclusion

In summary, this study shows inducing the deletion of *Bmal1* in mouse hearts exacerbates the prolongation in the QT- and RR-intervals in mice with the Δ KPQ-*Scn5a* mutation. Specifically,

REFERENCES

- Abriel, H. (2007). Roles and regulation of the cardiac sodium channel Na v 1.5: recent insights from experimental studies. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 76, 381–389. doi: 10.1016/j.cardiores.2007.07.019
- Andersson, K. B., Birkeland, J. A., Finsen, A. V., Louch, W. E., Sjaastad, I., Wang, Y., et al. (2009). Moderate heart dysfunction in mice with inducible cardiomyocyte-specific excision of the Serca2

it increases the abnormal prolongation in the QT-intervals at slower heart rates and causes an overall slowing of the heart rate over 24-h. These effects combine to increase the absolute number of abnormal QT-intervals during the 24-h cycle. However, due to the low absolute probability of ventricular symptoms, we cannot conclude it increases the likelihood of ventricular tachyarrhythmias. Future studies that explore the molecular mechanisms with which *Bmal1* functions to limit QT-interval prolongation at slow heart rates might lead to the identification of novel therapeutic targets.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The animal study was reviewed and approved by Association for Assessment and Accreditation of Laboratory Animal Care and was approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee at University of Kentucky.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

ES, KE, CE, and BD contributed and developed the research design. ES, JW, KS, SS, DB, and BD worked on data acquisition and analyses. ES and TS generated the animals and performed the experiments. ES, JW, KS, SS, DB, TS, CE, KE, and BD wrote, edited, and prepared the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by National Heart Lung and Blood Institute grants R01HL153042, R01HL141343, and the American Heart Association grant 16GRNT30800003.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to acknowledge Dr. Peter Carmeliet (VIB, Flanders, Belgium) for providing the $Scn5a^{+/\Delta KPQ}$ mice.

gene. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 47, 180-187. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2009. 03.013

- Arnolds, D. E., Liu, F., Fahrenbach, J. P., Kim, G. H., Schillinger, K. J., Smemo, S., et al. (2012). TBX5 drives Scn5a expression to regulate cardiac conduction system function. J. Clin. Invest. 122, 2509–2518. doi: 10.1172/jci62617
- Boukens, B. J., Rivaud, M. R., Rentschler, S., and Coronel, R. (2014). Misinterpretation of the mouse ECG: 'musing the waves of Mus musculus'. J. Physiol. 592, 4613–4626. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2014.279380

- Cai, B., Wang, N., Mao, W., You, T., Lu, Y., Li, X., et al. (2014). Deletion of FoxO1 leads to shortening of QRS by increasing Na(+) channel activity through enhanced expression of both cardiac NaV1.5 and beta3 subunit. *J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol.* 74, 297–306. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2014.06.006
- Clauss, S., Bleyer, C., Schüttler, D., Tomsits, P., Renner, S., Klymiuk, N., et al. (2019). Animal models of arrhythmia: classic electrophysiology to genetically modified large animals. *Nat. Rev. Cardiol.* 16, 457–475. doi: 10.1038/s41569-019-0179-0
- Delisle, B. P., Stumpf, J. L., Wayland, J. L., Johnson, S. R., Ono, M., Hall, D., et al. (2020). Circadian clocks regulate cardiac arrhythmia susceptibility, repolarization, and ion channels. *Curr. Opin. Pharmacol.* 57, 13–20. doi: 10. 1016/j.coph.2020.09.015
- Dobrev, D., and Wehrens, X. H. T. (2018). Mouse Models of Cardiac Arrhythmias. *Circ. Res.* 123, 332–334. doi: 10.1161/circresaha.118.313406
- Drici, M. D., Arrighi, I., Chouabe, C., Mann, J. R., Lazdunski, M., Romey, G., et al. (1998). Involvement of IsK-associated K+ channel in heart rate control of repolarization in a murine engineered model of Jervell and Lange-Nielsen syndrome. *Circ. Res.* 83, 95–102. doi: 10.1161/01.res.83.1.95
- D'Souza, A., Wang, Y., Anderson, C., Bucchi, A., Baruscotti, M., Olieslagers, S., et al. (2020). A circadian clock in the sinus node mediates day-night rhythms in Hcn4 and heart rate. *Heart Rhythm* 18, 801–810. doi: 10.1016/j.hrthm.2020.11. 026
- Eckardt, D., Theis, M., Degen, J., Ott, T., van Rijen, H. V., Kirchhoff, S., et al. (2004). Functional role of connexin43 gap junction channels in adult mouse heart assessed by inducible gene deletion. J. Mol. Cell Cardiol. 36, 101–110. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2003.10.006
- Fabritz, L., Damke, D., Emmerich, M., Kaufmann, S. G., Theis, K., Blana, A., et al. (2010). Autonomic modulation and antiarrhythmic therapy in a model of long QT syndrome type 3. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 87, 60–72. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvq029
- Fenske, S., Probstle, R., Auer, F., Hassan, S., Marks, V., Pauza, D. H., et al. (2016). Comprehensive multilevel in vivo and in vitro analysis of heart rate fluctuations in mice by ECG telemetry and electrophysiology. *Nat. Protoc.* 11, 61–86. doi: 10.1038/nprot.2015.139
- Hall, M. E., Smith, G., Hall, J. E., and Stec, D. E. (2011). Systolic dysfunction in cardiac-specific ligand-inducible MerCreMer transgenic mice. Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol. 301, H253–H260.
- Hastings, M. H., Maywood, E. S., and Brancaccio, M. (2018). Generation of circadian rhythms in the suprachiasmatic nucleus. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 19, 453–469.
- Herrmann, S., Hofmann, F., Stieber, J., and Ludwig, A. (2012). HCN. Br. J. Pharmacol. 166, 501–509.
- Hughes, M. E., Hogenesch, J. B., and Kornacker, K. (2010). JTK_CYCLE: An Efficient Nonparametric Algorithm for Detecting Rhythmic Components in Genome-Scale Data Sets. J. Biol. Rhythms 25, 372–380. doi: 10.1177/ 0748730410379711
- Jalife, J., Morley, G. E., and Vaidya, D. (1999). Connexins and impulse propagation in the mouse heart. J. Cardiovasc. Electrophysiol. 10, 1649–1663. doi: 10.1111/j. 1540-8167.1999.tb00230.x
- Jeyaraj, D., Haldar, S. M., Wan, X., McCauley, M. D., Ripperger, J. A., Hu, K., et al. (2012). Circadian rhythms govern cardiac repolarization and arrhythmogenesis. *Nature* 483, 96–99. doi: 10.1038/nature10852
- Kaese, S., and Verheule, S. (2012). Cardiac electrophysiology in mice: a matter of size. Front. Physiol. 3:345. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2012.00345
- Knollmann, B. C., Sirenko, S., Rong, Q., Katchman, A. N., Casimiro, M., Pfeifer, K., et al. (2007). Kcnq1 contributes to an adrenergic-sensitive steady-state K+ current in mouse heart. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 360, 212–218. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2007.06.038
- Kozasa, Y., Nakashima, N., Ito, M., Ishikawa, T., Kimoto, H., Ushijima, K., et al. (2018). HCN4 pacemaker channels attenuate the parasympathetic response and stabilize the spontaneous firing of the sinoatrial node. *J. Physiol.* 596, 809–825. doi: 10.1113/jp275303
- Lemoine, M. D., Duverger, J. E., Naud, P., Chartier, D., Qi, X. Y., Comtois, P., et al. (2011). Arrhythmogenic left atrial cellular electrophysiology in a murine genetic long QT syndrome model. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 92, 67–74. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvr166

- London, B. (2001). Cardiac arrhythmias: from (transgenic) mice to men. J. Cardiovasc. Electrophysiol. 12, 1089–1091. doi: 10.1046/j.1540-8167.2001. 01089.x
- Mao, W., You, T., Ye, B., Li, X., Dong, H. H., Hill, J. A., et al. (2012). Reactive oxygen species suppress cardiac NaV1.5 expression through Foxo1. *PLoS One*. 7:e32738. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0032738
- Michel, S., and Meijer, J. H. (2020). From clock to functional pacemaker. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 51, 482–493. doi: 10.1111/ejn.14388
- Mitchell, G. F., Jeron, A., and Koren, G. (1998). Measurement of heart rate and Q-T interval in the conscious mouse. Am. J. Physiol. 274, H747–H751.
- Moghtadaei, M., Langille, E., Rafferty, S. A., Bogachev, O., and Rose, R. A. (2017). Altered heart rate regulation by the autonomic nervous system in mice lacking natriuretic peptide receptor C (NPR-C). *Sci. Rep.* 7:17564.
- Monfredi, O., Lyashkov, A. E., Johnsen, A. B., Inada, S., Schneider, H., Wang, R., et al. (2014). Biophysical characterization of the underappreciated and important relationship between heart rate variability and heart rate. *Hypertension* 64, 1334–1343. doi: 10.1161/hypertensionaha.114.03782
- Moss, A. J. (2003). Long QT Syndrome. JAMA 289, 2041-2044.
- Nerbonne, J. M. (2014). Mouse models of arrhythmogenic cardiovascular disease: challenges and opportunities. *Curr. Opin. Pharmacol.* 15, 107–114. doi: 10. 1016/j.coph.2014.02.003
- Nerbonne, J. M., and Kass, R. S. (2005). Molecular physiology of cardiac repolarization. *Physiol. Rev.* 85, 1205–1253. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00002.2005
- Nuyens, D., Stengl, M., Dugarmaa, S., Rossenbacker, T., Compernolle, V., Rudy, Y., et al. (2001). Abrupt rate accelerations or premature beats cause life-threatening arrhythmias in mice with long-QT3 syndrome. *Nat. Med.* 7, 1021–1027. doi: 10.1038/nm0901-1021
- Pizarro, A., Hayer, K., Lahens, N. F., and Hogenesch, J. B. (2013). CircaDB: a database of mammalian circadian gene expression profiles. *Nucleic. Acids. Res.* 41, D1009–D1013.
- Pond, A. L., Scheve, B. K., Benedict, A. T., Petrecca, K., Van Wagoner, D. R., Shrier, A., et al. (2000). Expression of distinct ERG proteins in rat, mouse, and human heart. Relation to functional I(Kr) channels. J. Biol. Chem. 275, 5997–6006. doi: 10.1074/jbc.275.8.5997
- Remme, C. A. (2013). Cardiac sodium channelopathy associated with SCN5A mutations: electrophysiological, molecular and genetic aspects. J. Physiol. 591, 4099–4116. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2013.256461
- Remme, C. A., Scicluna, B. P., Verkerk, A. O., Amin, A. S., van Brunschot, S., Beekman, L., et al. (2009). Genetically determined differences in sodium current characteristics modulate conduction disease severity in mice with cardiac sodium channelopathy. *Circ. Res.* 104, 1283–1292. doi: 10.1161/circresaha.109. 194423
- Reppert, S. M., and Weaver, D. R. (2002). Coordination of circadian timing in mammals. *Nature* 418, 935–941. doi: 10.1038/nature00965
- Roussel, J., Champeroux, P., Roy, J., Richard, S., Fauconnier, J., Le Guennec, J. Y., et al. (2016). The Complex QT/RR Relationship in Mice. *Sci. Rep.* 6:25388.
- Sabir, I. N., Killeen, M. J., Grace, A. A., and Huang, C. L. (2008). Ventricular arrhythmogenesis: insights from murine models. *Prog. Biophys. Mol. Biol.* 98, 208–218. doi: 10.1016/j.pbiomolbio.2008.10.011
- Schroder, E. A., Burgess, D. E., Manning, C. L., Zhao, Y., Moss, A. J., Patwardhan, A., et al. (2014). Light phase-restricted feeding slows basal heart rate to exaggerate the type-3 long QT syndrome phenotype in mice. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol.* 307, H1777–H1785.
- Schroder, E. A., Burgess, D. E., Zhang, X., Lefta, M., Smith, J. L., Patwardhan, A., et al. (2015). The cardiomyocyte molecular clock regulates the circadian expression of Kcnh2 and contributes to ventricular repolarization. *Heart Rhythm* 12, 1306–1314. doi: 10.1016/j.hrthm.2015.02.019
- Schroder, E. A., Lefta, M., Zhang, X., Bartos, D. C., Feng, H. Z., Zhao, Y., et al. (2013). The cardiomyocyte molecular clock, regulation of Scn5a, and arrhythmia susceptibility. *Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol.* 304, C954–C965.
- Schwartz, P. J., Moss, A. J., Vincent, G. M., and Crampton, R. S. (1993). Diagnostic criteria for the long QT syndrome. An update. *Circulation* 88, 782–784. doi: 10.1161/01.cir.88.2.782
- Sheward, W. J., Naylor, E., Knowles-Barley, S., Armstrong, J. D., Brooker, G. A., Seckl, J. R., et al. (2010). Circadian control of mouse heart rate and blood pressure by the suprachiasmatic nuclei: behavioral

effects are more significant than direct outputs. *PLoS One.* 5:e9783. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0009783

- Speerschneider, T., and Thomsen, M. B. (2013). Physiology and analysis of the electrocardiographic T wave in mice. *Acta. Physiol.* 209, 262–271. doi: 10.1111/ apha.12172
- Tarradas, A., Pinsach-Abuin, M. L., Mackintosh, C., Llora-Batlle, O., Perez-Serra, A., Batlle, M., et al. (2017). Transcriptional regulation of the sodium channel gene (SCN5A) by GATA4 in human heart. *J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol.* 102, 74–82. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2016.10.013
- Thireau, J., Zhang, B. L., Poisson, D., and Babuty, D. (2008). Heart rate variability in mice: a theoretical and practical guide. *Exp. Physiol.* 93, 83–94. doi: 10.1113/ expphysiol.2007.040733
- Tong, M., Watanabe, E., Yamamoto, N., Nagahata-Ishiguro, M., Maemura, K., Takeda, N., et al. (2013). Circadian expressions of cardiac ion channel genes in mouse might be associated with the central clock in the SCN but not the peripheral clock in the heart. *Biol. Rhythm. Res.* 44, 519–530. doi: 10.1080/ 09291016.2012.704801
- Wahl-Schott, C., Fenske, S., and Biel, M. (2014). HCN channels: new roles in sinoatrial node function. *Curr. Opin. Pharmacol.* 15, 83–90. doi: 10.1016/j.coph. 2013.12.005

- Wu, J., Zhang, Y., Zhang, X., Cheng, L., Lammers, W. J., Grace, A. A., et al. (2012). Altered sinoatrial node function and intra-atrial conduction in murine gain-offunction Scn5a+/DeltaKPQ hearts suggest an overlap syndrome. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol.* 302, H1510–H1523.
- Zareba, W., Sattari, M. N., Rosero, S., Couderc, J. P., and Moss, A. J. (2001). Altered atrial, atrioventricular, and ventricular conduction in patients with the long QT syndrome caused by the DeltaKPQ SCN5A sodium channel gene mutation. *Am. J. Cardiol.* 88, 1311–1314. doi: 10.1016/s0002-9149(01)02097-5

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Schroder, Wayland, Samuels, Shah, Burgess, Seward, Elayi, Esser and Delisle. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Thyroid Hormone Plays an Important Role in Cardiac Function: From Bench to Bedside

Hiroyuki Yamakawa^{1,2}, Tomoko S. Kato³, Jaeduk Yoshimura Noh⁴, Shinsuke Yuasa¹, Akio Kawamura³, Keiichi Fukuda¹ and Yoshiyasu Aizawa^{3*}

¹ Department of Cardiology, Keio University School of Medicine, Tokyo, Japan, ² Center for Preventive Medicine, Keio University School of Medicine, Tokyo, Japan, ³ Department of Cardiology, International University of Health and Welfare Narita Hospital, Chiba, Japan, ⁴ Department of Internal Medicine, Ito Hospital, Tokyo, Japan

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Brian P. Delisle, University of Kentucky, United States

Reviewed by:

Félix Vargas, University of Granada, Spain Carie Renee Boychuk, University of Texas Health Science Center at San Antonio, United States

> ***Correspondence:** Yoshiyasu Aizawa yoshiyasu612@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cardiac Electrophysiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 16 September 2020 Accepted: 28 September 2021 Published: 18 October 2021

Citation:

Yamakawa H, Kato TS, Noh JY, Yuasa S, Kawamura A, Fukuda K and Aizawa Y (2021) Thyroid Hormone Plays an Important Role in Cardiac Function: From Bench to Bedside. Front. Physiol. 12:606931 doi: 10.3389/fphys.2021.606931 Thyroid hormones (THs) are synthesized in the thyroid gland, and they circulate in the blood to regulate cells, tissues, and organs in the body. In particular, they exert several effects on the cardiovascular system. It is well known that THs raise the heart rate and cardiac contractility, improve the systolic and diastolic function of the heart, and decrease systemic vascular resistance. In the past 30 years, some researchers have studied the molecular pathways that mediate the role of TH in the cardiovascular system, to better understand its mechanisms of action. Two types of mechanisms, which are genomic and non-genomic pathways, underlie the effects of THs on cardiomyocytes. In this review, we summarize the current knowledge of the action of THs in the cardiac function, the clinical manifestation and parameters of their hemodynamics, and treatment principles for patients with hyperthyroid- or hypothyroid-associated heart disease. We also describe the cardiovascular drugs that induce thyroid dysfunction and explain the mechanism underlying the thyroid toxicity of amiodarone, which is considered the most effective antiarrhythmic agent. Finally, we discuss the recent reports on the involvement of thyroid hormones in the regulation of myocardial regeneration and metabolism in the adult heart.

Keywords: thyroid hormone, hyperthyroidism, hypothyroidism, cardiovascular disease, genomic pathways, nongenomic pathways, amiodarone, cardiac regeneration

INTRODUCTION

The thyroid gland secretes two thyroid hormones (THs), 3,5,3'-triiodothyronine (T3) and 3,5,3',5'-tetraiodothyronine (T4 also known as thyroxine). Moreover, THs are synthesized using iodine, influence metabolism, and biosynthesize proteins in the body. These THs are regulated by thyroid stimulating hormone (TSH), which is secreted by the anterior pituitary gland. In turn, TSH is regulated by the hypothalamus via thyrotropin-releasing hormone (TRH). Thyroid hormones exhibit a variety of effects on the heart and peripheral vascular system It is well known that they raise the heart rate and cardiac contractility, improve the systolic and diastolic function of the heart, and decrease the systemic vascular resistance (SVR) in resting condition (Klein and Ojamaa, 2001).

137

Thyroid dysfunction, which causes hyperthyroidism and hypothyroidism, is associated with increased cardiovascular risk factors (Klein and Ojamaa, 2001; Rodondi et al., 2010; Collet et al., 2012). For example, hyperthyroidism increases the risk of atrial fibrillation (AF), cardiovascular disease (CVD), and heart failure (HF) (Biondi, 2012). Conversely, hypothyroidism is associated with hypertension and dyslipidemia and also causes CVD (Rodondi et al., 2010; Pearce, 2012). In particular, the intracellular effects of THs in cardiomyocytes occur via two types of mechanisms, genomic and non-genomic, with the genomic pathway predominating (Khan et al., 2020). The details of the mechanisms are described in Section 3.

There has been a long controversy regarding whether increased cardiovascular risk is related to thyroid dysfunction (Langén et al., 2018) and whether there is an association between thyroid disorder and the risk of sudden cardiac death (SCD) (Chaker et al., 2016). Sudden cardiac death is an unexpected death or arrest from a cardiovascular cause that occurs outside a hospital or in the emergency room (Lopshire and Zipes, 2006). The major cause of SCDs is lethal ventricular arrhythmias in patients with underlying coronary heart disease (Weisfeldt et al., 2011; Hayashi et al., 2015). Moreover, SCD also develops within 1 h. Over 50% of SCD cases are due to coronary hearts diseases (Hayashi et al., 2015), and these account for almost 20% of the total mortality.

Several groups have reported a relationship between thyroid function and SCD. Charker et al. concluded that elevated free T4 levels might increase the risk of SCD in patients with euthyroid thyroid disease, studied in a prospective populationbased cohort (Chaker et al., 2016). Mitchell et al. investigated whether patients with HF with a reduced ejection fraction (HFrEF) and a thyroid functional disorder had an increased risk of SCD (Mitchell et al., 2013). They concluded that a thyroid dysfunction in patients with symptomatic HF and an ejection fraction \leq 35% had a strong positive correlation with risk of death. Similar results were obtained after adjusting for known mortality predictors [Sudden Cardiac Death in Heart Failure Trial (SCD-HeFT)] (Mitchell et al., 2013). Langén et al. reported that thyroid dysfunction could be related to an increased overall mortality and risk of SCD and that large-scale randomized control trials are essential to decide whether to treat patients with mild thyroid insufficiency (Langén et al., 2018).

In this review, we summarize the effects of TH on the heart (Klein and Ojamaa, 2001) and the clinical symptoms of thyroid dysfunction from the viewpoint of the cardiology (Klein and Danzi, 2007). In addition, we discuss the changes in and the mechanisms of TH metabolism that have an influence on arrhythmias and congestive HF (Danzi and Klein, 2014). Further, we specify the cardiovascular drugs that induce thyroid dysfunction and explain the mechanism underlying the thyroid toxicity of amiodarone, which is considered the most effective antiarrhythmic agent.

EFFECTS OF THYROID HORMONES ON THE CARDIOVASCULAR SYSTEM

In the thyroid gland, two main iodinated hormones, T3 (triiodothyronine) and T4, (tetraiodothyronine; also known as thyroxine) are secreted. By binding to thyroid hormone receptors (TRs), T3 and T4 exert biological activity in responsive tissues. T3 is regarded as a biologically active hormone (Jabbar et al., 2017), and T4 has a few documented non-genomic effects but is largely regarded as a prohormone. Most T4 is deiodinated to T3 in the liver, kidneys, and skeletal muscle (Klein and Danzi, 2007). T3 is carried through blood circulation to each target tissue and organ such as the heart and peripheral blood vessels. Then, these tissues and organs are regulated by serum levels of T3 solely or preponderantly (Danzi and Klein, 2014).

Symptoms of hyperthyroidism include cardiac and hemodynamic symptoms, such as palpitations, widened pulse pressure, dyspnea on exertion, tachycardia, exercise intolerance, and AF (**Table 1**) (Dahl et al., 2008). Cardiac contractility, as well as resting heart rate, is increased by THs. Cardiac output can increase by 50–300% under hyperthyroidism compared to that in normal conditions. This enhancement of cardiac output is based on synergistic effects of a raised heart rate, increased cardiac contractility, and dilation of peripheral blood vessels (Biondi et al., 2002).

The cardiovascular symptoms of hypothyroidism are not obvious, in contrast to the distinct clinical manifestations of hyperthyroidism. Multiple characteristic phenotypes of hypothyroidism have been described, including bradycardia, diastolic hypertension, narrow pulse pressure, fatigue, myalgia, elevated cholesterol, and a feeling of puffiness (**Table 1**), but the serum TSH level is an accurate diagnostic indicator of hypothyroidism (Dahl et al., 2008). The cardiovascular effects of hypothyroidism significantly differ from those of hyperthyroidism; for example, cardiac output can be reduced by 30 to 50%, compared to that in a normal state (Danzi and Klein, 2004). However, it is significant that the treatment of hypothyroidism can normalize cardiovascular hemodynamics with a slight change in the resting heart rate (Crowley et al., 1977).

Abbreviations: AF, atrial fibrillation; AIT, amiodarone-induced thyrotoxicosis; AKT, serine/threonine-protein kinase; AMI, acute myocardial infarction; ANCA, anti-neutrophil cytoplasmic antibodies; ATD, antithyroid drugs; CBZ, carbimazole; CVD, cardiovascular disease; DUSP5, specific dualspecificity phosphatase 5; EC coupling, excitation-contraction coupling; ECG, electrocardiogram; ECM, extracellular matrix; ERK, extracellular signal-regulated kinase; ES, electrical storm; GD, Graves' disease; HF, heart failure; HFpEF, heart failure with preserved ejection fraction; HFrEF, heart failure with reduced ejection fraction; HIF-1a, Hypoxia-Inducible Factor alpha; IGF-1, insulin-like growth factor-1; IV, intravenous administration; JNK2α2, c-Jun N-terminal kinase-2a2; LT3S, low T3 syndrome; MAPK, mitogen-activated protein kinase; MMI, methimazole; MMP, matrix metalloproteinase; mH2O2, mitochondriagenerated H2O2; mtRXR, mitochondrial RXR; MYH, myosin heavy chain; NCX, Na + /Ca2 + exchanger; PI3K, phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase; PKB, protein kinase B; PLN, phospholamban; PTU, propylthiouracil; PWV, pluse wave velocity; RAI, radioactive iodine; RXR, retinoid X receptor; SCD, sudden cardiac death; SERCA2, sarcoplasmic/endoplasmic reticulum calcium ATPase 2; SVR, systemic vascular resistance; SVR, synergistic effects of reducing; TdP, torsade de pointes; TGB, thyroxine binding globulin; TH, thyroid hormone; TR, thyroid hormone receptor; TRE, thyroid hormone response element; TRH, thyrotropin-releasing hormone; VT, Ventricular tachycardia.

TABLE 1 Cardiovascular clinical manifestations and laboratory findings associated with hyperthyroidism and hypothyroidism (Danzi and Klein, 2014).

Hyperthyroidism					
Palpitations	Anginal chest pain	Exercise intolerance	Atrial fibrillation	Cardiac hypertrophy	
Systolic hypertension	Peripheral edema	Hyperdynamic precordium	Pulmonary hypertension	Heart failure	
Hypothyroidism					
Fatigue	Decreased endurance	Increased serum cholesterol	Impaired cardiac contractility	Increased SVR	
Bradycardia	Decreased endothelial-derived relaxation factor	Increased homocysteine	Increased C-reactive protein		

SVR, systemic vascular resistance.

MECHANISMS OF THYROID HORMONE EFFECTS AT THE CELLULAR LEVEL

Mechanisms Underlying the Intracellular Cardiac Effects of Thyroid Hormones

The effects of THs at the cardiac intracellular level are divided into genomic and non-genomic pathways (Khan et al., 2020). In the genomic pathway, THs regulate the expression of target genes by binding to nuclear receptors in cardiomyocytes. In contrast, the non-genomic pathway includes effects on ion channels of the cardiomyocytes and effects of THs on the peripheral circulation, which regulate hemodynamics and the cardiac ejection fraction (Klein and Ojamaa, 2001; Cooper and Biondi, 2012).

Genomic Response to Thyroid Hormones

Thyroid hormones (THs) regulate the expression of genes coding for cardiac proteins. T3 binds to TRs in the cardiomyocyte nucleus, and this regulates transcription by binding to thyroid hormone response elements (TREs) in regulatory regions of target genes (Kahaly and Dillmann, 2005). Thyroid hormone responses (TRs) are members of the superfamily of steroid hormone receptors. An important feature of their activity is that they bind to TREs with or without ligand, which is distinct from other steroid hormone receptors. TRs bind to TREs as retinoid X receptors (RXRa, RXRb, or RXRg) (Lazar and Chin, 1990; Giammanco et al., 2020).

Table 2 shows the regulation by TH of genes coding for cardiac proteins (Klein and Ojamaa, 2001). One effect of TH in cardiomyocytes is to control cardiac contractility and ejection fraction. THs upregulate the expression of genes encoding sodium/potassium-transporting ATPases (Na⁺/K⁺ ATPase), α -myosin heavy chain (myosin heavy chain 6; encoded by *MYH6*), and sarcoplasmic/endoplasmic reticulum calcium ATPase 2 (SERCA2; encoded by *ATP2A2*) and downregulate the transcription of β -myosin heavy chain (myosin heavy chain 7; encoded by *MYH7*) and phospholamban (PLN; encoded by *PLN*) (He et al., 1997; Kaasik et al., 1997; Holt et al., 1999).

 α -myosin and β -myosin heavy chains are major components of the cardiomyocyte contractile structures called sarcomeres (Nadal-Ginard and Mahdavi, 1989). The upregulation of SERCA2 and the downregulation of PLN increase calcium concentrations in cardiomyocytes and enhance systolic contraction. Thyroid hormones can increase the protein

expression of SERCA2 and decrease the protein expression of PLN in the sarcoplasmic reticulum, leading to improved ventricular relaxation (Kiss et al., 1994; Kranias and Hajjar, 2012). Thyroid hormones (especially T3) also have a direct inotropic effect on cardiomyocytes by upregulating the expression of the β 1-adrenergic receptors (Hoit et al., 1997). On the other hand, T3 has been reported to suppress the expression of adenylate cyclase (Klein and Danzi, 2007, 2016). In another study, the authors hypothesized that T3 primarily regulates genes that control cardiac pacemaker cells, exerting a positive chronotropic effect in these cells (Klein and Danzi, 2016).

Chen et al. reported that treatment with a T4 antagonist decreases the collagen fibers in the left ventricular non-infarcted area, with increasing expression of matrix metalloproteinase-2 (MMP2) and tissue inhibitor of matrix metalloproteinases 1 to 4 (MMP1 to 4). Paradoxically, atrial fibrosis is also decreased by T4 (Chen et al., 2013; Zhang et al., 2014), and stimulation by various THs increased cardiac angiogenesis as well as cardiomyocyte growth (von Hafe et al., 2019). In addition, THs regulate several plasma membrane and ion transporters, for example Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase, Na⁺/Ca²⁺ exchanger (NCX) and voltage-gated potassium channels, including Kv1.5, Kv4.2, and Kv4.3, at both the transcriptional and post-transcriptional levels. Consequently, THs regulate cardiomyocyte excitation-contraction coupling (EC coupling) responses (Gick et al., 1990; Ojamaa et al., 1999).

TABLE 2 | Regulation of the genes coding for cardiac proteins by THs [modified from reference (Klein and Ojamaa, 2001)].

	Upregulate	Downregulate	
Myofilament			
	α-MHC (<i>MYH6</i>)	β-MHC (<i>MYH7</i>)	
Ca handling protein			
	SERCA (ATP2A2)	Phosphlamban (<i>PLN</i>)	
Membrane channel			
	Na ⁺ /K ⁺ ATPase	Na ⁺ /Ca ²⁺ exchanger	
Adrenergic receptor pathway			
	b1 Adrenergic receptor	Adenylyl cyclase type V, V	
Fibrosis			
	MMP2, TIMP1-4		
Voltage-gated potassium channels			
	Kv1.5, Kv4.2, Kv4.3		

Non-genomic Response to Thyroid Hormone

Thyroid hormones (THs) have two major non-genomic effects, on cardiomyocytes of several membrane ion channels, such as Na⁺, K⁺, and Ca²⁺ channels (Klein and Ojamaa, 2001; Giammanco et al., 2020). In neonatal rat cardiomyocytes, they regulate phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K) or serine/threonine-protein kinase (AKT) signaling pathways (Kuzman et al., 2005). Thyroid hormone prevents cell death by AKT pathway in the vascular smooth muscle (Ojamaa et al., 1996).

Other than these pathways, PI3K/AKT-induced physiological hypertrophy is regulated by insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1) (Fujio et al., 2000), p85 α (Kenessey and Ojamaa, 2006), angiotensin-1 receptor (Diniz et al., 2009), ubiquitin proteasomes (Rajagopalan et al., 2013), epidermal growth factor receptor (Rajagopalan et al., 2008), and extracellular signal-regulated kinases (Pantos et al., 2007). THs also influence cardiac mitochondrial function (Marín-García, 2010) and regulate impaired myocardial bioenergetic status and function (Madathil et al., 2015).

In addition, plasma membrane-bound sites include integrin $\alpha\nu\beta3$, a member of a family of proteins that mediate bidirectional interactions between cells and the extracellular matrix (ECM) and regulate tissue organization and cell migration processes. The integrin $\alpha\nu\beta3$, which is a member of a family of proteins that interactions between cell and the ECM and regulate migration processes, dependent pathway is primary T4-sensitive and effective some intracellular signals, such as protein kinase B (PKB/AKT) and mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPKs) that phosphorylate intracellular proteins. In addition, some of them can regulate the nucleus and transcription (Cayrol et al., 2019; Davis et al., 2019; Hercbergs, 2019).

The mitochondrial isoforms of other hormone receptors, including mtRXR (mitochondrial RXR), have also been identified (Casas et al., 2003). In addition of the localization of TR (thyroid receptor) in mitochondria there may be TH-mediated pathway between the nuclear and mitochondrial genome (Wirth and Meyer, 2017).

HYPERTHYROIDISM AND THE CARDIOVASCULAR SYSTEM

Overview of Hyperthyroidism

Hyperthyroidism is commonly affected by stimulation of the TSH receptors by autoantibodies [Graves' disease (GD)] or as a result of the autonomous production of THs by thyroid nodules (Cooper and Biondi, 2012). In general, the prevalence of hyperthyroidism is approximately 0.5% (Cooper and Biondi, 2012). It predominantly affects women aged 30–50 and is caused by GD in 70% of cases. Graves' disease with TSH receptor antibodies is characterized by a diffuse goiter, exophthalmos, and pretibial myxedema. Aside from GD, 20% of patients with hyperthyroidism show autonomous production of THs by a nodular goiter (Toft and Boon, 2000).

The cardiac effects in thyroid hormones upregulate resting heart rate, blood volume, and myocardial contractility compared to normal. However, as shown in **Table 1**, exacerbation of hyperthyroidism can also be detrimental to cardiac function (von Hafe et al., 2019). In patients with hyperthyroidism, exercise intolerance is caused by impaired ability to further increase the heart rate and cardiac contraction and to lower the SVR (Forfar et al., 1982). In a consecutive case series study of 24 patients, Duyff et al. reported that 16 patients showed objective signs or symptoms of neuromuscular dysfunction (Duyff et al., 2000). Cardiac output is markedly elevated in patients with hyperthyroidism. The hyperthyroidism has been implicated in a 16% increase in the risk of major cardiovascular events, as well as involvement in an increase in cardiovascular death (Selmer et al., 2014).

Hyperthyroidism and Arrhythmias

Cardiac arrhythmias or electrocardiogram (ECG) abnormalities, which include sinus tachycardia, AF, and shortened PR and QT intervals, are sometimes observed in patients with hyperthyroidism (Kahaly and Dillmann, 2005). Although it is rare, atrio-ventricular blockage might be observed in patients with GD (Mohr-Kahaly et al., 1996). In almost all patients with hyperthyroidism, the most common rhythm disturbance is sinus tachycardia (Nordyke et al., 1988; Biondi et al., 2000).

Atrial fibrillation (AF) is recognized as the most common supraventricular arrhythmia in patients with thyrotoxicosis (Nakazawa et al., 2000). In patients with hyperthyroidism, the prevalence of AF ranges between 2 and 20%, and their risk of AF is approximately six-fold higher than that of healthy people (Klein and Danzi, 2007). The primary consideration for the management of AF is to control heart rate. β-blockers are one of the widely used drugs in the treatment of AF in cases of hyperthyroidism (Klein and Danzi, 2007). These drugs can bring down the ventricular rate and stabilize the rapid symptoms, but they have little effect on converting AF to sinus rhythm or on hyperthyroidism. Therefore, treatment of hyperthyroidism is optimal for long-term AF management. This normally employs radioiodine treatment or antithyroid drugs (ATDs), which can restore sinus rhythms within a few months in the majority of hyperthyroidism patients (Nakazawa et al., 2000). One prospective study in middle-aged and elderly people in Rotterdam (Rotterdam Study) reported that the risk of AF, sudden cardiac death, and decreased life expectancy is associated with elevated free T4 levels, even if thyroid function is within normal limits (Bano et al., 2017; Razvi et al., 2018).

While the major arrythmias in patients with hyperthyroidism are atrial, ventricular arrhythmias are rare and occur about as often as in healthy people (Osman et al., 2002). Ventricular tachycardia (VT) is one of the major causes of death in patients with CVD. A cardiac electrical storm (ES) is defined as electrical instability involving hemodynamic disturbances with significant VT, occurring in at least three or more episodes within 24 h, and requiring direct current cardioversion (Dorian and Cass, 1997). This is likely in patients with hyperthyroidism, in whom VT is typically severe (Colzani et al., 2001; Jao et al., 2004). Ventricular arrhythmia is seen in thyrotoxicosis patients undergoing antithyroid therapy, though only rarely (von Olshausen et al., 1989; Osman et al., 2002). Ventricular tachycardia usually occurs in association with underlying structural heart diseases or HF from various etiologies (Polikar et al., 1993; Marrakchi et al., 2015).

Hyperthyroidism and Heart Failure

Hypothyroidism and hyperthyroidism can both lead to HF (Schmidt-Ott and Ascheim, 2006), and the prognosis for patients with hyperthyroidism even at a mild level is poor, as these patients suffer from arrythmia, as well as HF. When these patients do not receive treatment, hyperthyroidism might lead to HF because of arrhythmias, cardiac hypertrophy, and increased blood volumes (Biondi, 2012). Furthermore, in a case-based study, patients with hyperthyroidism who did not get proper medical treatment had a higher mortality risk with CVD (Franklyn et al., 2005; Vale et al., 2019). Patients with severe hyperthyroidism can suffer from "high-output HF". Precisely, high-output HF is defined as congestive HF with increasing cardiac output (DeGroot and Leonard, 1970); resulting "tachycardia-induced cardiomyopathy" depends on the duration of high-output HF with hyperthyroidism (Cruz et al., 1990).

In young patients with hyperthyroidism, this thyrotoxicosis is not associated with underlying heart disease, and therefore, the heart is not damaged. However, symptoms of HF occur in cases of enlarged cardiac output and low SVR, and enlarged blood flow volumes caused by chronic stimulation of the renin angiotensin aldosterone system can be present. The symptoms of patients with high-output HF are breathlessness at rest, fatigability, and the accumulation of fluid with peripheral edema, pleural effusion, pulmonary hypertension, and hepatic congestion (Biondi, 2012).

Siu et al. have estimated that the risk of low-output HF is 6–15% in patients with hyperthyroidism (Siu et al., 2007). Elderly patients with hyperthyroidism might suffer from HF with a reduced ejection fraction. These low-output HF patients have low cardiac output, increasing the SVR, a reduction in ventricular contractility, and impaired left ventricular filling, without increased blood volume. The risk of HF with reduced ejection fraction is increased in patients with hyperthyroidism suffering from cardiac disorders such as ischemic heart disease, hypertensive heart, valvular disease and/or AF (Biondi, 2012). Clinically apparent hyperthyroidism with a hyperdynamic state increases the risk of AF (Cooper and Biondi, 2012). The synergistic effects of reducing SVR, increasing contractility, and increasing the heart rate augments cardiac output (Cooper and Biondi, 2012).

It has been reported that cardiovascular diseases related to thyroid function can be further improved by treating the thyroid gland (Barreto-Chaves et al., 2020). Muthukumar et al. reported that patients with cardiovascular dysfunction related to hyperthyroidism could improve their cardiac function by bringing the thyroid to normal levels with thyroid medication (Muthukumar et al., 2016). And they reported that these aforementioned patients could also have their cardiac function completely restored after total thyroidectomy (Muthukumar et al., 2016). In fact, Saad et al. have reported that treatment of the thyroid gland significantly prevented cardiac dysfunction in a mouse model of T4-induced cardiac dysfunction (Saad et al., 2017). Furthermore, reversibility of heart disease was observed after 2 weeks of T4 treatment, including cardiac hypertrophy (Saad et al., 2017).

In SardiNIA study, Delitala et al. demonstrated that serum FT4 levels are associated with carotid-femoral artery PWV (pulse wave velocity), and high levels of free T4 was is one aggravating factor of aortic stiffness. And they considered that T4 may contribute to the atherosclerosis and the aging process in the vascular system (Delitala et al., 2015; Vale et al., 2019).

Importantly, death from heart failure is the major cause of cardiovascular death in both hyperthyroidism and subclinical hyperthyroidism (Selmer et al., 2014).

Subclinical Hyperthyroidism

Subclinical hyperthyroidism is defined as a condition in which serum TSH levels are below the lower limit of normal, but the width of serum T3 and T4 concentrations is within the normal range (Surks et al., 2004; Biondi and Cooper, 2008; Bahn et al., 2011). Subclinical hyperthyroidism has two major causes. The first encompasses exogenous factors such as an excessive dosage of thyroid hormone replacement drugs, high-dose glucocorticoids, and others. The second is an endogenous factor, namely underlying thyroid disease that causes the overactivity of THs. A considerable proportion (15-20%) of patients who take levothyroxine have a low TSH serum level (Canaris et al., 2000; Vadiveloo et al., 2011; Taylor et al., 2014). In the USA, the prevalence of endogenous subclinical hyperthyroidism varies and depends on age, sex, and iodine intake. Cappola et al. reported that the prevalence of subclinical hyperthyroidism in iodine-sufficient cases is almost 2% (Cappola et al., 2006).

Several observational clinical studies have reported a relationship between subclinical hyperthyroidism and incident CVD (Parle et al., 2001; Iervasi et al., 2007), AF (Cappola et al., 2006; Collet et al., 2012), HF (Rodondi et al., 2008; Biondi et al., 2015), and cardiovascular mortality (Collet et al., 2012). It is not clear whether subclinical hyperthyroidism is associated with high-risk cardiovascular morbidity and mortality. However, the European Thyroid Association guidelines recommend that older patients with hyperthyroidism should have a serum TSH < 0.1 mU/L (Biondi et al., 2015).

Treatment of Hyperthyroidism

In this section, we review the medical history of GD, which is a major cause of hyperthyroidism. Graves' disease is treated by ATDs, which decrease TH synthesis, by radioactive iodine (RAI) therapy, or total thyroidectomy (Smith and Hegedüs, 2016; Kahaly et al., 2018). Antithyroid drugs is the major treatment in Europe, United States, and Asia (Brito et al., 2016). The main ATDs are thionamides, for example propylthiouracil (PTU), carbimazole (CBZ), and methimazole (MMI). Propylthiouracil controls the conversion from T4 to T3 by inhibiting enzymatic activity in the peripheral organs such as the liver or kidney. As a result, PTU further reduces the density of blood T3. Carbimazole acts by obstructing hormone generation in the thyroid gland, and more significantly, by affecting the hyperstimulation of the thyroid gland at a level prior to biosynthesis. Carbimazole must be decarboxylated to produce MMI in the liver. Methimazole, as well as PTU, is absorbed immediately and accumulates at a high density in the thyroid gland, restraining the synthesis process of TH. All thionamides inhibit the coupling of iodothyronines and reduce the biosynthesis of THs (Cappola and Ladenson, 2003). As a result, these drugs inhibit the production of TH by iodide peroxidase. Specifically, iodide peroxidase oxidizes an iodide ion to iodine and iodinates a tyrosine residue of the thyroglobulin, and this process is indispensable in the production of T4. ATD has been recommended as a first choice drug for the treatment of GD, particularly for short-period GD treatment prior to thyroidectomy or RAI therapy (Bartalena, 2013; Smith and Hegedüs, 2016). Higher doses of PTU inhibit the deiodination of T4 to T3 (Cooper, 2005) and have severe side effects, such as severe hepatic disorder and anti-neutrophil cytoplasmic antibodies (ANCA)-associated vasculitis. However, the half-life of PTU (75 min-150 min) is much shorter than that of MMI (6 h) (Kahaly et al., 2018). Hyperthyroidism is linked to risk of enlargement in CVD and mortality in the first year following radioiodine treatment, but early diagnosis and proper treatment of hyperthyroidism along with cardiac treatment might reduce mortality (Toft and Boon, 2000).

HYPOTHYROIDISM AND THE CARDIOVASCULAR SYSTEM

Overview of Hypothyroidism

In general, hypothyroidism is diagnosed when serum TSH levels are high (usually > 10 mU/L) and serum-free T4 levels are low (< 9-10 pmol/L). Clinically apparent hypothyroidism can be seen in 0.2-2.0% of non-pregnant adults (Canaris et al., 2000). Symptomatic thyroid dysfunction is found in 1-2% of the population and is more frequent in women. Except for previous radioiodine treatment or thyroidectomy for GD, the most common cause is autoimmunity of the thyroid gland or Hashimoto's thyroiditis (Hashimoto's disease). Hashimoto's thyroiditis can often be accompanied by hard goiter, in which the thyroid gland becomes atrophied causing progressive fibrosis during the course of the disease, and resulting in diminished function of the thyroid gland. Distinct from hyperthyroidism, there is a link between low serum concentrations of HTs (T3 and T4) and a reduction in cardiac output, heart rate, stroke volume, and myocardial contractility (Toft and Boon, 2000).

One of the most important cardiac dysfunctions, especially among patients with hypothyroidism, is diastolic dysfunction. This diastolic dysfunction is observed not only at rest, but also during exercise. This exacerbates the symptoms and worsens the prognosis of potential heart failure patients in hypothyroid patients (Selmer et al., 2014; von Hafe et al., 2019). It is well known that hypothyroidism is associated with chronic heart failure. However, in rare cases, hypothyroidism may also be associated with pericardial effusion and cardiac tamponade (Grais, 2010; Patil et al., 2011).

In addition to the abovementioned clinical symptoms, remarkable changes in modifiable atherosclerotic risk factors are also observed in clinically apparent hypothyroidism, including hypercholesterolemia, diastolic hypertension, carotid intimamedia thickening, and reduced production of endothelial-derived relaxation factor (nitric oxide) (Cappola and Ladenson, 2003). All of these clinical manifestations are improved by TH replacement therapy (Cappola and Ladenson, 2003).

Hypothyroidism and Arrhythmias

It is generally accepted that typical hypothyroid ECG changes include bradycardia, long-PQ segment, low voltage of the QRS complex, and flattening or T-wave inversion. However, it is important, though not well known, that hypothyroidism induces atrioventricular blockage and acquired long QT syndrome (Marrakchi et al., 2015). In the case of supraventricular arrhythmias, hypothyroidism or subclinical hypothyroidism has a certain clinical impact. For example, patients with thyroid dysfunction have a higher probability of having AF than healthy people (Sawin, 1995; Baumgartner et al., 2017). Klemperer et al. reported that perioperative T3 treatment reduces the incidence or necessity of postoperative AF in patients with normal thyroid function during cardiopulmonary bypass surgery. However, experiments on the mechanism underlying this discovery have not yet been reproduced (Klemperer et al., 1996). Kim et al. confirmed that hypothyroidism has no relationship with 10-year risk of incident AF from the famous cardiovascular cohort of the Framingham Heart Study (Kim et al., 2014).

Regarding ventricular arrhythmias, some groups have reported that patients with hypothyroidism might experience life-threatening arrhythmia, for example a torsade de pointes type ventricular tachycardia (TdP type ventricular tachycardia) and VT due to prolonged QT syndrome (Chojnowski et al., 2007). That study also reported that hypothyroidism decreases the expression of protein T3 in cardiomyocytes and that it can cause reduced cardiac contractility and heart rate, as well as delayed conduction of electrical stimulation in the heart. This might be the reason for bradycardia and elongation of the QT interval and consequent fatal arrhythmia, such as TdP-type ventricular tachycardia. In this case, the causes of long QT syndrome and shock include the decreased T3 expression and disorders of the electrolyte balance, for example hypokalemia and hypocalcemia (Chojnowski et al., 2007). For patients with hypothyroidism, it is necessary to monitor the effectiveness of amiodarone for the prevention of ventricular arrhythmic recurrence. It has been reported that lidocaine (class IB antiarrhythmic drug) or bretylium tosylate (class III antiarrhythmic drug) might be useful to prevent these paroxysmal ventricular tachycardias and endocavitary electrode stimulation, in place of amiodarone (Chess-Williams and Coker, 1989).

Hypothyroidism and Heart Failure

It is thought that TH deficiency raises the risk of developing and exacerbates HF (Rodondi et al., 2008). Basic experiments have reported that hypothyroidism suppresses myosin heavy chain 6 protein expression and enhances myosin heavy chain 7 protein expression and that hypothyroidism induces cardiac atrophy as a result. In addition, hypothyroidism is associated with the increased dilation of ventricular chambers and reduced myocardial perfusion (Liu et al., 2008; Biondi, 2012). Congestive HF and myxedema have been recognized in patients with hypothyroidism (Schwimmer et al., 1947), and their HF and myxedema symptoms improved with treatment for hypothyroidism. More recently, it was reported that patients with hypothyroidism were among patients with reversible dilated cardiomyopathy (Khochtali et al., 2011). Recent clinical studies have reported that patients with cardiovascular disease who have reduced T3 levels have a higher risk of death from heart failure (Wang et al., 2017; Neves et al., 2019). Rezvi et al. reviewed thyroid hormone supplementation in HF (Neves et al., 2020). Studies in patients without HF as well as HFrEF suggest an effect of thyroid hormone supplementation in improving diastolic function (Pingitore et al., 2008). In the HFrEF animal model, it has been suggested that thyroid hormone supplementation in HF improves cardiac function (Vale et al., 2019).

It is interesting that the metabolism and serum levels of THs are changed by conditions of HF, myocardial infarction, and cardiac surgery. In these situations, the conversion of T4 to T3 decreases. Diseases with normal serum levels of TSH and no symptoms suggestive of hypothyroidism despite a decrease in blood thyroid hormone are called euthyroid sick syndrome or non-thyroidal illness. Among them, those with only low T3 levels are called low T3 syndrome (LT3S) (Nagayo, 2018).

Amin et al. reported that the Patients with heart failure with HFrEF (left ventricular ejection fraction < 40%) and with LT3S take the oral T3 supplements (Liothyronine) for 1.5 months, and that the patients can be found to improve cardiac function considering the blood laboratory data and echocardiographic data (Liothyronine group N = 25, Placebo grouper N = 25) (Amin et al., 2015). Further, LT3S impairs cardiac dysfunction and as a result induces heart disease. Patients with advanced heart disease and LT3S have increased mortality (Pingitore et al., 2005; Gerdes and Iervasi, 2010; Mourouzis et al., 2011).

Pingitore et al. conducted a clinical study to determine whether T3 administration improves cardiac function in patients with low T3 syndrome (LT3S) who have suffered an acute myocardial infarction (AMI) (LT3S/AMI) (Pingitore et al., 2019). Pingitore et al. concluded that the patients with LTS3S/AMI had improved cardiac functions, which were assessed using cardiac MRI to evaluate various parameters (for example infarct sizes, and cardiac function), after 6 months of treatment with liothyronine (T3) therapy [The THIRST Study (Thyroid Hormone Replacement Therapy in ST elevation myocardial infarction); Phase II study] (T3 supplement group N = 19, Placebo grouper N = 18) (Pingitore et al., 2019; Lisco et al., 2020). Some researchers reported that the changes in gene expression associated with cardiac dysfunction are similar to those induced in hypothyroidism, suggesting that TH dysfunction might be one aggravating factor for HF (Kinugawa et al., 2001; Biondi, 2012).

Hyperlipidemia and Coronary Artery Disease in Hypothyroidism

THs are involved in lipid metabolism (Cappola and Ladenson, 2003). Hyperthyroidism is not an exacerbating factor for the lipid profile. For several years, hypothyroidism was thought to be linked to hyperlipidemia. In fact, many patients with clinical

hypothyroidism show obvious clinical symptoms (Klein and Danzi, 2007; Jabbar et al., 2017).

There are two aspects of the association between hypothyroidism and coronary disease. First, hypothyroidism has an influence on hypertension and hypercholesterolemia in these patients. In particular, this hypertension and hypercholesterolemia due to hypothyroidism accelerate atherosclerosis. Second, it is thought that hypothyroidism reduces cardiac oxygen requirements and decreases their effective use and that this process induces CVD (Kahaly and Dillmann, 2005). It is notable that low serum T4 levels are associated with increased low-density lipoprotein-cholesterol and that hypothyroidism has also been implicated in hyper-triglyceridemia and low free fatty acid levels.

Thyroid hormone replacement is desirable in patients with hypothyroidism, even in patients with myocardial infarction. In fact, this is because thyroid hormone is said to be an important factor in regulating the structure and function of the left ventricle in the late post-myocardial infarction period (Jankauskienė et al., 2016; von Hafe et al., 2019). In molecular biology, low T3 levels can induce oxidative stress and apoptosis, which may exacerbate ventricular dysfunction (Jankauskienė et al., 2016).

Zhang et al. reported that in a rat model of cardiac reperfusion injury, the addition of T3 enhances the gene expression of transcription factor Hypoxia-Inducible Factor alpha (HIF- 1α). It thereby regulates mitochondrial opening and protects cardiomyocytes (Zhang et al., 2018).

Subclinical Hypothyroidism

Subclinical hypothyroidism is defined as being associated with a serum TSH level above the normal range, but with normal TH levels. Subclinical hypothyroidism is classified into two types according to the level of TSH. Mild subclinical hypothyroidism is diagnosed by a mildly high TSH level (between 4.0-4.5 and 10.0 mU/L). Severe subclinical hypothyroidism is diagnosed by a TSH level > 10.0 mU/L. However, the upper limit of normal TSH has not been clearly defined. For the diagnosis of subclinical hypothyroidism, it is necessary to consider both clinical symptoms and the level of TSH (Hamilton et al., 2008; Razvi et al., 2018). In general, the prevalence of subclinical hypothyroidism is 4-20% in adults (Biondi and Cooper, 2008; Abreu et al., 2017). There are many causes for this wide range of reported prevalence. Specifically, differences in age, sex, race, body mass index, dietary iodine intake, and serum TSH measurements at different diagnostic institutions might contribute to this. The prevalence of a high serum level of TSH is higher in Caucasians than in African-American people (Hollowell et al., 2002). It is also thought that at least 10% of older women (aged 60 and older) are diagnosed with subclinical hypothyroidism (Parle et al., 1991). This wide prevalence suggests that patients with more cardiovascular risk factors than expected are present. The cardiac function of patients with subclinical hypothyroidism shows abnormalities including extended isovolumic relaxation time and impaired ventricular filling (Monzani et al., 2001). To date, several studies of systolic dysfunction in patients with subclinical hypothyroidism have been conducted. Ripoli et al. reported that there is an association between subclinical hypothyroidism and systolic dysfunction and that thyroxine replacement therapy improves cardiac contractility in patients with hypothyroidism (Ripoli et al., 2005). In patients with subclinical hypothyroidism during exercise, both diastolic and systolic function are impaired and as a result, exercise tolerance is reduced in these patients (Brenta et al., 2003).

It is not currently known whether there is an association between the severity of subclinical hypothyroidism and increased risk of CVD. According to meta-analyses of observational studies, patients aged < 65 years (Razvi et al., 2008) with severe hypothyroidism, defined as a TSH level > 10 mU/L, do have a high risk of CVD (Rodondi et al., 2010). According to the guidelines of the European Thyroid Association, treatment for hypothyroidism is recommended for patients with severe hypothyroid disease (serum THS > 10 mU/L), symptoms of hypothyroidism, an age < 70 years, and elevated risk of CVD (Pearce et al., 2013).

Treatment of Hypothyroidism

One favored therapy involves taking levothyroxine (L-thyroxine) with solid preparation on an empty stomach. Patients who not only have clinical manifestations of hypothyroidism, but also a diagnosis based on biochemical examinations, are recommended treatment. Levothyroxine is marketed by several pharmaceutical companies, but switching to generic levothyroxines is not recommended for patients who are stable with one regimen (Jonklaas et al., 2014; Chaker et al., 2017). In patients with clinically manifesting hypothyroidism, 1.5–1.8 mg/kg/day of levothyroxine is desirable as a daily optimal dose (Pearce et al., 2013; Jonklaas et al., 2014). Generally, in patients with CVD, the initial dose is 12.5–25.0 mg/day. Based on symptoms and the serum TSH level, it is desirable to gradually increase the dose afterward (Jonklaas et al., 2014).

Thyroid hormone replacement therapy improves diastolic function in patients with hypothyroidism and also in patients with heart failure with preserved ejection fraction (HFpEF). Thyroid hormone is said to improve cardiac diastolic function, both pathophysiologically and through gene expression. However, further preclinical and clinical studies are needed to clarify the role of thyroid hormones in the treatment of HFpEF (Neves et al., 2020). In patients with HFpEF, it is advisable to use beta-blockers in combination with thyroid hormones when they are used. The risk of cardiovascular events due to sympathetic hyperactivity in thyroid hormones can be inhibited by the combined use of beta-blockers. As a result, the combination of the two drugs can improve cardiac function while foreshadowing arrhythmias, cardiac hypertrophy, and cardiac dysfunction (Ortiz et al., 2019).

For some CVD patients with hypothyroidism, cardiac function is improved by hypothyroidism treatment. Furthermore, treatment can improve prognostic factors of thyroid function and the cardiovascular system (Crowley et al., 1977). However, it has not been clarified whether patients treated for hypothyroidism have exacerbated heart disease when the treatment is discontinued (Klein and Danzi, 2007). The clinical implications of low T3 levels in patients with normal TSH levels have also not yet been determined. Measurement of T3 does not correlate with therapeutic efficacy (Abdalla and Bianco, 2014).

DRUG-INDUCED THYROID DYSFUNCTION

Effects of Cardiovascular Drugs on Thyroid Function

The interrelationship between thyroid hormones and the heart is a very important focus area. Thus far, we have described how changes in THs cause cardiovascular dysfunction. In this section, we summarize the ways in which cardiac medications routinely used by cardiologists affect thyroid hormones.

As mentioned above, among drugs used commonly by many cardiologists, there are some that alter TH levels in patients with normal thyroid function. Several of these can alter the levels of THs in euthyroid patients. Fadel et al. summarized the effects of cardiovascular drugs on thyroid function [Table 3, (Fadel et al., 2000)]. When cardiovascular drugs are used, TH levels must be checked every 3-4 months. The most widely used drug that affects thyroid function is amiodarone. Approximately 50% of patients taking amiodarone for a long period have elevated serum T4 levels. However, the serum levels of T3 and TSH are within a normal range (Harjai and Licata, 1997). One of the main effects of amiodarone on thyroid function is the inhibition of the conversion of T4 to T3 by amiodarone and its major active metabolite, desethylamiodarone (Burch, 2019). Ruzieh et al. reported that the likelihood of experiencing an amiodaronerelated adverse event was greater than with placebo. (relative risk about 4.44 versus placebo) (Ruzieh et al., 2019). In the following sections (6.2 to 6.4), we summarize the effect of amiodarone on thyroid function in detail.

This section summarizes the relation between some drugs in cardiology and thyroid function.

Dopamine suppressed TSH secretion in about 50% of humans. Administration of the dopamine receptor antagonists metoclopramide or domperidone increases TSH in primary hypothyroidism. Normal level of THs suppresses TSH elevation, but hypothyroidism does not respond to this suppression, resulting in an elevation response (Cooper et al., 1983). High dose fulosemide is said to attenuate the effects of thyroid hormones by binding to TGB (thyroxine binding globulin), which is one of transporter portein of THs (Fadel et al., 2000; Burch, 2019). However, there are few documents that explain the above in pharmacokinetics, and it is necessary to examine it in detail in the future. Heparin increases T3 and T4 from binding proteins indirectly by increasing free fatty acids (Mendel et al., 1987; Burch, 2019). Propranolol in high volume inhibits the conversion of T4 to T3. As a result, it increases T4 and free T4 (Burch and Wartofsky, 2018; Burch, 2019). In hyperthyroidism, the effect of propranolol is enhanced (Shenfield, 1981), and vice versa in hypothyroidism (Burch, 2019).

Drugs	Medical effect	Thyroid hormone serum concentrations		Mechanism of action in the thyroid	References	
		TSH	ТЗ	T4		
Amiodarone (~3months)	Class III antiarrhythmic drug	¢	Ļ	¢	Inhibition of conversion of T4 toT3 inhibition the biosynthesis and release of TH	Harjai and Licata, 1997; Martino et al., 2001; Burch, 2019
Amiodarone chronic therapy (chronic phase: 3 months \sim)	Class III antiarrhythmic drug	\rightarrow	\rightarrow or \downarrow	↑	Inhibition of T4 to T3 conversion Inhibition the biosynthesis and release of TH	Harjai and Licata, 1997; Martino et al., 2001; Burch, 2019
Dopamine	Adrenergic drug	\downarrow	\rightarrow	\rightarrow	Suppression of TSH production	Cooper et al., 1983; Fadel et al., 2000
Furosemide (high dose)	Loop diuretic drug		\downarrow	↓, slight ↑free T4 ?	Inhibition of T3/T4 binding to TBG	Fadel et al., 2000; Burch, 2019
Heparin (IV)	Anticoagulant drug			slight ↑, slight ↑ free T4	Inhibition of T4distribution in targeted tissue	Mendel et al., 1987; Burch, 2019
Propranolol (high dose)	β1 Non-selective blocker			↑, ↑free T4	Inhibition of T4 uptake in targeted tissue	Shenfield, 1981; Burch and Wartofsky, 2018; Burch, 2019

IV; intravenous administration, TGB; thyroxine binding globulin, \uparrow ; increase, \downarrow ; decrease, \rightarrow ; unchange, ?; unknown.

Overview of Amiodarone and Thyroid Function

Amiodarone is regarded as the most effective antiarrhythmic drug but has various toxicities, and cardiologists need to exercise caution (Trohman et al., 2019). The combination of amiodarone and a beta-blocker is the preferred treatment for ES (Nademanee et al., 2000). According to the 2017 AHA/ACC/HRS Guidelines for Management of Patients with Ventricular Arrhythmias and the Prevention of Sudden Cardiac Death, amiodarone is recommended as a Class IIb indication for the acute treatment of hemodynamically stable VT (Al-Khatib et al., 2018). Amiodarone is effective at suppressing AF, as well as ventricular arrhythmia. In particular, it is thought to be the most effective drug for maintaining sinus rhythms against paroxysmal and persistent AF for a long duration. It is also recognized as the first-choice agent for patients with AF due to HF or symptomatic AF (Singh, 2008; Al-Khatib et al., 2018).

The numerous side effects of amiodarone might involve the skin, eyes, brain, lungs, liver, and peripheral nervous system (Trohman et al., 2019). The major side effect is the production of corneal microdeposits (> 90% of treated patients). These are very similar in appearance to vortex keratopathy, which is associated with Fabry disease (D'Amico et al., 1981; Wasielica-Poslednik et al., 2011).

It is important for clinical physicians, as well as cardiologists, to keep in mind that the use of amiodarone affects thyroid function. That is, some patients using amiodarone suffer from hypothyroidism (5% to 10% of treated patients) and some suffer from hyperthyroidism (0.9–10% of treated patients) (Harjai and Licata, 1997; Trohman et al., 2019). The iodine richness of amiodarone is the recognized cause of its thyrotoxic side effects.

Changes in serum TSH, T4, and T3 levels are seen in patients receiving amiodarone treatment. The pattern of TH levels differs

between the acute phase (\sim 3 months) and the chronic phase (after 3 months) after the start of amiodarone use. In both the acute and chronic phases, the serum T4 level rises and the serum T3 level decreases, though the serum reverse T3 (rT3) level rises. Interestingly, the serum TSH levels are elevated in the acute phase, but return to a normal range during the chronic phase (Martino et al., 2001). There are two reasons why serum TH levels change during these two phases, specifically (1) the unique effects of amiodarone and (2) the effects of its constituent iodine (Basaria and Cooper, 2005).

Amiodarone-Induced Hyperthyroidism

Amiodarone can cause hyperthyroidism (amiodarone-induced thyrotoxicosis: AIT), which is subdivided into two main forms. Type I AIT is usually a predisposing factor for goiter abnormalities (for example asymptomatic GD) and results from the over-synthesis and over-release of THs. The self-regulatory mechanism of THs regulates iodine metabolism in the thyroid gland according to iodine content (Harjai and Licata, 1997). Typical cases of type I AIT occur in patients with a background of non-toxic goiter or asymptomatic GD with an overdose of iodine (Trohman et al., 2019). The prevalence of type I AIT is higher in areas with low iodine intake. Treatment for AIT type I is similar to that for normal hyperthyroidism (Hamilton et al., 2020).

Type II AIT is a thyrotoxicosis cause by destructive thyroiditis and is characterized by acute or subacute destruction of the thyroid gland and massive leakage of THs in patients with no underlying thyroid disease while taking amiodarone (Tsang and Houlden, 2009). The prevalence of type II AIT is higher in areas with high iodine intake. Mild thyroiditis of type II AIT (with mild elevation of free T4 and free T3) is likely to improve spontaneously with follow-up alone. In severe type II AIT, the use of glucocorticoid is beneficial even under amiodarone administration (Daniels, 2001; Hamilton et al., 2020). Sometimes we find the patients who have a combination of the two types of AIT. In such cases, it is advisable to treat them in both types of AIT. Specifically, type 1 should be treated with antithyroid therapy and type 2 with steroids (Osuna et al., 2017; Omidi et al., 2020).

Amiodarone-Induced Hypothyroidism

Amiodarone can also cause hypothyroidism, which inhibits the biosynthesis and release of THs. This is called amiodaroneinduced hypothyroidism. This is because large amounts of iodine are released during amiodarone metabolism (Harjai and Licata, 1997). Intrathyroid iodine organization resumes with the normal synthesis of T4 and T3 (Martino et al., 1984). The development of hypothyroidism with amiodarone has been associated with previous Hashimoto's thyroiditis. However, the use of amiodarone is not contraindicated even if serum TSH levels are elevated before or during treatment, because thyroid dysfunction can be easily treated with T4 (Toft and Boon, 2000). After discontinuing amiodarone treatment, thyroid function might recover, but persistent reduced function has been observed. In particular, many patients for whom thyroid function does not improve even after the discontinuation of oral amiodarone administration are considered to have underlying autoimmune thyroid (Martino et al., 2001).

CONCLUSION

In this manuscript, we discussed how TH plays an important role in cardiovascular disease at the molecular level via genomic and non-genomic pathways. Serious cardiac complications such as arrythmia, congestive HF, and angina pectoris might arise in patients with hyperthyroidism or hypothyroidism, and their treatment requires control of the underlying TH levels. Judging from previous clinical observational studies and small-scale intervention studies, which have evaluated the association between THs and risk factors for CVD, it can be concluded that among patients who should be treated for thyroid function, those with severe CVD should be given priority thyroid treatment (Biondi and Cooper, 2008). Abnormal levels of THs might also serve as a prognostic marker (Jabbar et al., 2017).

Since the discovery of iPS cells by Takahashi and Yamanaka (2006), the study of myocardial regeneration has attracted the attention of scientists worldwide (Takahashi and Yamanaka, 2006). Several hormones have been suggested to be involved in myocardial regeneration. One of these is TH, which was recently reported to affect both the metabolic profile and the mitotic cycle in cardiomyocytes (Nakada et al., 2017; Hirose et al., 2019; Tan et al., 2019; Bogush et al., 2020).

In mouse cardiomyocytes, prolonged inhibition of TH with propylthiouracil prolongs the proliferative period of

REFERENCES

Abdalla, S. M., and Bianco, A. C. (2014). Defending plasma T3 is a biological priority. *Clin. Endocrinol.* 81, 633–641. doi: 10.1111/cen.12538

cardiomyocytes during cardiac development (Hirose et al., 2019). Transgenic mice with cardiac-specific suppression of TR α exhibited a higher number of cardiomyocytes and higher expression of cell cycle markers compared to normal mice during cardiac development. In addition, adult TR α transgenic mice demonstrated a 10-fold increase in the number of proliferating diploid cardiomyocytes, as well as improved recovery of cardiac function after ischemia-reperfusion injury (Hirose et al., 2019).

Two recent reports have shown that exogenous administration of thyroid hormone (T3) increases the number of cardiomyocytes in neonatal mouse hearts (Tan et al., 2019; Bogush et al., 2020). Tan et al. determined that T3 activates mitochondria-generated H_2O_2 (m H_2O_2), which in turn activates c-Jun N-terminal kinase-2 α 2 (JNK2 α 2) via peroxiredoxin-1 (Tan et al., 2019) to promote cardiomyocyte proliferation. Exogenous T3 stimulates proliferative ERK1/2 signaling and affects cardiomyocytes in the cardiac apex, but is suppressed in P8 by the expression of DUSP5, a nuclear phosphho-ERK1/2-specific dual-specificity phosphatase (Bogush et al., 2020).

It is important to maintain optimal levels of THs in the cardiac tissue, as well as suitable serum TH levels, to stabilize homeostasis. Further, basic studies (such as molecular biology and omics-based analysis), and clinical studies (such as cohort studies and randomized clinical trials) of THs will help us understand their effects on CVD. Moreover, we can elucidate the mechanisms of the demonstrated effects via induced arrhythmia or myocyte remodeling and dysfunction.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

HY and YA: conceptualization and funding acquisition. HY: writing – original draft preparation. TK and YA: writing – review and editing. HY, SY, and KF: supervision. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by a Grant-in-Aid for Scientific Research (C) from the Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science and Technology (MEXT KAKENHI) [Grant Nos. 17K09524 (YA) and 18K08047 (HY)], the Fukuda Foundation for Medical Technology, the Daiwa Securities Health Foundation, and the Miyata Cardiac Research Promotion Foundation.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are grateful to John Martin for editing this manuscript.

Abreu, I. M., Lau, E., de Sousa Pinto, B., and Carvalho, D. (2017). Subclinical hypothyroidism: to treat or not to treat, that is the question! A systematic review with meta-analysis on lipid profile. *Endocr. Connect.* 6, 188–199. doi: 10.1530/ec-17-0028

- Al-Khatib, S. M., Stevenson, W. G., Ackerman, M. J., Bryant, W. J., Callans, D. J., Curtis, A. B., et al. (2018). 2017 AHA/ACC/HRS guideline for management of patients with ventricular arrhythmias and the prevention of sudden cardiac death: Executive summary: A Report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Clinical Practice Guidelines and the Heart Rhythm Society. *Heart Rhythm* 15, e190–e252. doi: 10.1016/j.hrthm.2017.10.035
- Amin, A., Chitsazan, M., Taghavi, S., and Ardeshiri, M. (2015). Effects of triiodothyronine replacement therapy in patients with chronic stable heart failure and low-triiodothyronine syndrome: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. ESC Heart Fail 2, 5–11. doi: 10.1002/ehf2.12025
- Bahn, R. S., Burch, H. B., Cooper, D. S., Garber, J. R., Greenlee, M. C., Klein, I., et al. (2011). Hyperthyroidism and other causes of thyrotoxicosis: management guidelines of the American Thyroid Association and American Association of Clinical Endocrinologists. *Endocr. Pract.* 17, 456–520. doi: 10.4158/ep.17.3.456
- Bano, A., Dhana, K., Chaker, L., Kavousi, M., Ikram, M. A., Mattace-Raso, F. U. S., et al. (2017). Association of Thyroid Function With Life Expectancy With and Without Cardiovascular Disease: The Rotterdam Study. *JAMA Intern. Med.* 177, 1650–1657. doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2017.4836
- Barreto-Chaves, M. L., Senger, N., Fevereiro, M., Parletta, A. C., and Takano, A. (2020). Impact of hyperthyroidism on cardiac hypertrophy. *Endocr. Connect* 9, R59–R69. doi: 10.1530/ec-19-0543
- Bartalena, L. (2013). Diagnosis and management of Graves disease: a global overview. Nat. Rev. Endocrinol. 9, 724–734. doi: 10.1038/nrendo.2013.193
- Basaria, S., and Cooper, D. S. (2005). Amiodarone and the thyroid. Am. J. Med. 118, 706–714. doi: 10.1016/j.amjmed.2004.11.028
- Baumgartner, C., da Costa, B. R., Collet, T. H., Feller, M., Floriani, C., Bauer, D. C., et al. (2017). Thyroid Function Within the Normal Range, Subclinical Hypothyroidism, and the Risk of Atrial Fibrillation. *Circulation* 136, 2100– 2116. doi: 10.1161/circulationaha.117.028753
- Biondi, B. (2012). Mechanisms in endocrinology: Heart failure and thyroid dysfunction. *Eur. J. Endocrinol.* 167, 609–618. doi: 10.1530/eje-12-0627
- Biondi, B., and Cooper, D. S. (2008). The clinical significance of subclinical thyroid dysfunction. *Endocr. Rev.* 29, 76–131. doi: 10.1210/er.2006-0043
- Biondi, B., Bartalena, L., Cooper, D. S., Hegedüs, L., Laurberg, P., and Kahaly, G. J. (2015). The 2015 European Thyroid Association Guidelines on Diagnosis and Treatment of Endogenous Subclinical Hyperthyroidism. *Eur. Thyroid J.* 4, 149–163. doi: 10.1159/000438750
- Biondi, B., Palmieri, E. A., Fazio, S., Cosco, C., Nocera, M., Saccà, L., et al. (2000). Endogenous subclinical hyperthyroidism affects quality of life and cardiac morphology and function in young and middle-aged patients. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 85, 4701–4705. doi: 10.1210/jcem.85.12. 7085
- Biondi, B., Palmieri, E. A., Lombardi, G., and Fazio, S. (2002). Effects of thyroid hormone on cardiac function: the relative importance of heart rate, loading conditions, and myocardial contractility in the regulation of cardiac performance in human hyperthyroidism. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 87, 968– 974. doi: 10.1210/jcem.87.3.8302
- Bogush, N., Tan, L., Naib, H., Faizullabhoy, E., Calvert, J. W., Iismaa, S. E., et al. (2020). DUSP5 expression in left ventricular cardiomyocytes of young hearts regulates thyroid hormone (T3)-induced proliferative ERK1/2 signaling. *Sci. Rep.* 10:21918. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-78825-x
- Brenta, G., Mutti, L. A., Schnitman, M., Fretes, O., Perrone, A., and Matute, M. L. (2003). Assessment of left ventricular diastolic function by radionuclide ventriculography at rest and exercise in subclinical hypothyroidism, and its response to L-thyroxine therapy. Am. J. Cardiol. 91, 1327–1330. doi: 10.1016/ s0002-9149(03)00322-9
- Brito, J. P., Schilz, S., Singh Ospina, N., Rodriguez-Gutierrez, R., Maraka, S., Sangaralingham, L. R., et al. (2016). Antithyroid Drugs-The Most Common Treatment for Graves' Disease in the United States: A Nationwide Population-Based Study. *Thyroid* 26, 1144–1145. doi: 10.1089/thy.2016.0222
- Burch, H. B. (2019). Drug Effects on the Thyroid. N. Engl. J. Med. 381, 749–761. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra1901214
- Burch, H. B., and Wartofsky, L. (2018). Life-Threatening Thyrotoxicosis: Thyroid Storm. Endocr. Metabol. Med. Emergenc. Clinic. Guide 22, 262–283.
- Canaris, G. J., Manowitz, N. R., Mayor, G., and Ridgway, E. C. (2000). The Colorado thyroid disease prevalence study. Arch. Intern. Med. 160, 526–534. doi: 10.1001/archinte.160.4.526

- Cappola, A. R., and Ladenson, P. W. (2003). Hypothyroidism and atherosclerosis. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 88, 2438–2444. doi: 10.1210/jc.2003-030398
- Cappola, A. R., Fried, L. P., Arnold, A. M., Danese, M. D., Kuller, L. H., Burke, G. L., et al. (2006). Thyroid status, cardiovascular risk, and mortality in older adults. *JAMA* 295, 1033–1041. doi: 10.1001/jama.295.9.1033
- Casas, F., Daury, L., Grandemange, S., Busson, M., Seyer, P., Hatier, R., et al. (2003). Endocrine regulation of mitochondrial activity: involvement of truncated RXRalpha and c-Erb Aalpha1 proteins. *FASEB J.* 17, 426–436. doi: 10.1096/fj. 02-0732com
- Cayrol, F., Sterle, H. A., Díaz Flaqué, M. C., Barreiro Arcos, M. L., and Cremaschi, G. A. (2019). Non-genomic Actions of Thyroid Hormones Regulate the Growth and Angiogenesis of T Cell Lymphomas. *Front. Endocrinol.* 10:63. doi: 10.3389/ fendo.2019.00063
- Chaker, L., Bianco, A. C., Jonklaas, J., and Peeters, R. P. (2017). Hypothyroidism. Lancet 390, 1550–1562. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(17)30703-1
- Chaker, L., van den Berg, M. E., Niemeijer, M. N., Franco, O. H., Dehghan, A., Hofman, A., et al. (2016). Thyroid Function and Sudden Cardiac Death: A Prospective Population-Based Cohort Study. *Circulation* 134, 713–722. doi: 10.1161/circulationaha.115.020789
- Chen, Y. F., Weltman, N. Y., Li, X., Youmans, S., Krause, D., and Gerdes, A. M. (2013). Improvement of left ventricular remodeling after myocardial infarction with eight weeks L-thyroxine treatment in rats. *J. Transl. Med.* 11:40. doi: 10.1186/1479-5876-11-40
- Chess-Williams, R., and Coker, S. J. (1989). Ventricular fibrillation is reduced in hypothyroid rats with enhanced myocardial alpha-adrenoceptor responsiveness. Br. J. Pharmacol. 98, 95–100. doi: 10.1111/j.1476-5381. 1989.tb16867.x
- Chojnowski, K., Bielec, A., Czarkowski, M., Dmowska-Chalaba, J., Kochanowski, J., and Wasowska, A. (2007). Repeated ventricular. *Cardiol. J.* 14, 198–201.
- Collet, T. H., Gussekloo, J., Bauer, D. C., den Elzen, W. P., Cappola, A. R., Balmer, P., et al. (2012). Subclinical hyperthyroidism and the risk of coronary heart disease and mortality. *Arch. Intern. Med.* 172, 799–809. doi: 10.1001/ archinternmed.2012.402
- Colzani, R. M., Emdin, M., Conforti, F., Passino, C., Scarlattini, M., and Iervasi, G. (2001). Hyperthyroidism is associated with lengthening of ventricular repolarization. *Clin. Endocrinol.* 55, 27–32. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2265.2001. 01295.x
- Cooper, D. S. (2005). Antithyroid drugs. N. Engl. J. Med. 352, 905–917. doi: 10. 1056/NEJMra042972
- Cooper, D. S., and Biondi, B. (2012). Subclinical thyroid disease. *Lancet* 379, 1142–1154. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(11)60276-6
- Cooper, D. S., Klibanski, A., and Ridgway, E. C. (1983). Dopaminergic modulation of TSH and its subunits: in vivo and in vitro studies. *Clin. Endocrinol.* 18, 265–275. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2265.1983.tb03211.x
- Crowley, W. F. Jr., Ridgway, E. C., Bough, E. W., Francis, G. S., Daniels, G. H., Kourides, I. A., et al. (1977). Noninvasive evaluation of cardiac function in hypothyroidism. Response to gradual thyroxine replacement. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 296, 1–6. doi: 10.1056/nejm197701062960101
- Cruz, F. E., Cheriex, E. C., Smeets, J. L., Atié, J., Peres, A. K., Penn, O. C., et al. (1990). Reversibility of tachycardia-induced cardiomyopathy after cure of incessant supraventricular tachycardia. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 16, 739–744. doi: 10.1016/0735-1097(90)90368-y
- Dahl, P., Danzi, S., and Klein, I. (2008). Thyrotoxic cardiac disease. *Curr. Heart Fail Rep.* 5, 170–176. doi: 10.1007/s11897-008-0026-9
- D'Amico, D. J., Kenyon, K. R., and Ruskin, J. N. (1981). Amiodarone keratopathy: drug-induced lipid storage disease. Arch. Ophthalmol. 99, 257–261. doi: 10. 1001/archopht.1981.03930010259007
- Daniels, G. H. (2001). Amiodarone-induced thyrotoxicosis. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 86, 3–8. doi: 10.1210/jcem.86.1.7119
- Danzi, S., and Klein, I. (2004). Thyroid hormone and the cardiovascular system. *Minerva Endocrinol.* 29, 139–150.
- Danzi, S., and Klein, I. (2014). Thyroid disease and the cardiovascular system. Endocrinol. Metab. Clin. North Am. 43, 517–528. doi: 10.1016/j.ecl.2014.02.005
- Davis, P. J., Ashur-Fabian, O., Incerpi, S., and Mousa, S. A. (2019). Editorial: Non Genomic Actions of Thyroid Hormones in Cancer. *Front. Endocrinol.* 10:847. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2019.00847
- DeGroot, W. J., and Leonard, J. J. (1970). Hyperthyroidism as a high cardiac output state. Am. Heart J. 79, 265–275. doi: 10.1016/0002-8703(70)90318-2

- Delitala, A. P., Orrù, M., Filigheddu, F., Pilia, M. G., Delitala, G., Ganau, A., et al. (2015). Serum free thyroxine levels are positively associated with arterial stiffness in the SardiNIA study. *Clin. Endocrinol.* 82, 592–597. doi: 10.1111/cen. 12532
- Diniz, G. P., Carneiro-Ramos, M. S., and Barreto-Chaves, M. L. (2009). Angiotensin type 1 receptor mediates thyroid hormone-induced cardiomyocyte hypertrophy through the Akt/GSK-3beta/mTOR signaling pathway. *Basic Res. Cardiol.* 104, 653–667. doi: 10.1007/s00395-009-0043-1
- Dorian, P., and Cass, D. (1997). An overview of the management of electrical storm. *Can. J. Cardiol.* 13(Suppl. A), 13a–17a.
- Duyff, R. F., Van den Bosch, J., Laman, D. M., van Loon, B. J., and Linssen, W. H. (2000). Neuromuscular findings in thyroid dysfunction: a prospective clinical and electrodiagnostic study. *J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry* 68, 750–755. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.68.6.750
- Fadel, B. M., Ellahham, S., Ringel, M. D., Lindsay, J. Jr., Wartofsky, L., and Burman, K. D. (2000). Hyperthyroid heart disease. *Clin. Cardiol.* 23, 402–408. doi: 10.1002/clc.4960230605
- Forfar, J. C., Muir, A. L., Sawers, S. A., and Toft, A. D. (1982). Abnormal left ventricular function in hyperthyroidism: evidence for a possible reversible cardiomyopathy. N. Engl. J. Med. 307, 1165–1170. doi: 10.1056/ nejm198211043071901
- Franklyn, J. A., Sheppard, M. C., and Maisonneuve, P. (2005). Thyroid function and mortality in patients treated for hyperthyroidism. JAMA 294, 71–80. doi: 10.1001/jama.294.1.71
- Fujio, Y., Nguyen, T., Wencker, D., Kitsis, R. N., and Walsh, K. (2000). Akt promotes survival of cardiomyocytes in vitro and protects against ischemiareperfusion injury in mouse heart. *Circulation* 101, 660–667. doi: 10.1161/01. cir.101.6.660
- Gerdes, A. M., and Iervasi, G. (2010). Thyroid replacement therapy and heart failure. *Circulation* 122, 385–393. doi: 10.1161/circulationaha.109.917922
- Giammanco, M., Di Liegro, C. M., Schiera, G., and Di Liegro, I. (2020). Genomic and Non-Genomic Mechanisms of Action of Thyroid Hormones and Their Catabolite 3,5-Diiodo-L-Thyronine in Mammals. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 21:ijms21114140. doi: 10.3390/ijms21114140
- Gick, G. G., Melikian, J., and Ismail-Beigi, F. (1990). Thyroidal enhancement of rat myocardial Na,K-ATPase: preferential expression of alpha 2 activity and mRNA abundance. J. Membr. Biol. 115, 273–282. doi: 10.1007/bf01868642
- Grais, I. M. (2010). Bedside skills: a 50-year personal retrospective. *Tex. Heart Inst. J.* 37, 629–632.
- Hamilton, D. Sr., Nandkeolyar, S., Lan, H., Desai, P., Evans, J., Hauschild, C., et al. (2020). Amiodarone: A Comprehensive Guide for Clinicians. Am. J. Cardiovasc. Drugs 20, 549–558. doi: 10.1007/s40256-020-00401-5
- Hamilton, T. E., Davis, S., Onstad, L., and Kopecky, K. J. (2008). Thyrotropin levels in a population with no clinical, autoantibody, or ultrasonographic evidence of thyroid disease: implications for the diagnosis of subclinical hypothyroidism. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 93, 1224–1230. doi: 10.1210/jc.2006-2300
- Harjai, K. J., and Licata, A. A. (1997). Effects of amiodarone on thyroid function. *Ann. Intern. Med.* 126, 63–73. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-126-1-199701010-00009
- Hayashi, M., Shimizu, W., and Albert, C. M. (2015). The spectrum of epidemiology underlying sudden cardiac death. *Circ. Res.* 116, 1887–1906. doi: 10.1161/ circresaha.116.304521
- He, H., Giordano, F. J., Hilal-Dandan, R., Choi, D. J., Rockman, H. A., McDonough, P. M., et al. (1997). Overexpression of the rat sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca2+ ATPase gene in the heart of transgenic mice accelerates calcium transients and cardiac relaxation. *J. Clin. Invest.* 100, 380–389. doi: 10.1172/ jci119544
- Hercbergs, A. (2019). Clinical Implications and Impact of Discovery of the Thyroid Hormone Receptor on Integrin ανβ3-A Review. *Front. Endocrinol.* 10:565. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2019.00565
- Hirose, K., Payumo, A. Y., Cutie, S., Hoang, A., Zhang, H., Guyot, R., et al. (2019). Evidence for hormonal control of heart regenerative capacity during endothermy acquisition. *Science* 364, 184–188. doi: 10.1126/science.aar2038
- Hoit, B. D., Khoury, S. F., Shao, Y., Gabel, M., Liggett, S. B., and Walsh, R. A. (1997). Effects of thyroid hormone on cardiac beta-adrenergic responsiveness in conscious baboons. *Circulation* 96, 592–598. doi: 10.1161/01.cir.96.2.592
- Hollowell, J. G., Staehling, N. W., Flanders, W. D., Hannon, W. H., Gunter, E. W., Spencer, C. A., et al. (2002). Serum TSH, T(4), and thyroid antibodies in

the United States population (1988 to 1994): National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES III). J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 87, 489–499. doi: 10.1210/jcem.87.2.8182

- Holt, E., Sjaastad, I., Lunde, P. K., Christensen, G., and Sejersted, O. M. (1999). Thyroid hormone control of contraction and the Ca(2+)-ATPase/phospholamban complex in adult rat ventricular myocytes. J. Mol. Cell Cardiol. 31, 645–656. doi: 10.1006/jmcc.1998.0900
- Iervasi, G., Molinaro, S., Landi, P., Taddei, M. C., Galli, E., Mariani, F., et al. (2007). Association between increased mortality and mild thyroid dysfunction in cardiac patients. *Arch. Intern. Med.* 167, 1526–1532. doi: 10.1001/archinte. 167.14.1526
- Jabbar, A., Pingitore, A., Pearce, S. H., Zaman, A., Iervasi, G., and Razvi, S. (2017). Thyroid hormones and cardiovascular disease. *Nat. Rev. Cardiol.* 14, 39–55. doi: 10.1038/nrcardio.2016.174
- Jankauskienė, E., Orda, P., Barauskienė, G., Mickuvienė, N., Brožaitienė, J., Vaškelytė, J. J., et al. (2016). Relationship between left ventricular mechanics and low free triiodothyronine levels after myocardial infarction: a prospective study. *Intern. Emerg. Med.* 11, 391–398. doi: 10.1007/s11739-015-1370-x
- Jao, Y. T., Chen, Y., Lee, W. H., and Tai, F. T. (2004). Thyroid storm and ventricular tachycardia. South Med. J. 97, 604–607. doi: 10.1097/00007611-200406000-00020
- Jonklaas, J., Bianco, A. C., Bauer, A. J., Burman, K. D., Cappola, A. R., Celi, F. S., et al. (2014). Guidelines for the treatment of hypothyroidism: prepared by the american thyroid association task force on thyroid hormone replacement. *Thyroid* 24, 1670–1751. doi: 10.1089/thy.2014.0028
- Kaasik, A., Paju, K., Vetter, R., and Seppet, E. K. (1997). Thyroid hormones increase the contractility but suppress the effects of beta-adrenergic agonist by decreasing phospholamban expression in rat atria. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 35, 106–112. doi: 10.1016/s0008-6363(97)00069-2
- Kahaly, G. J., and Dillmann, W. H. (2005). Thyroid hormone action in the heart. Endocr. Rev. 26, 704–728. doi: 10.1210/er.2003-0033
- Kahaly, G. J., Bartalena, L., Hegedüs, L., Leenhardt, L., Poppe, K., and Pearce, S. H. (2018). 2018 European Thyroid Association Guideline for the Management of Graves' Hyperthyroidism. *Eur. Thyroid J.* 7, 167–186. doi: 10.1159/000490384
- Kenessey, A., and Ojamaa, K. (2006). Thyroid hormone stimulates protein synthesis in the cardiomyocyte by activating the Akt-mTOR and p70S6K pathways. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 20666–20672. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M512671200
- Khan, R., Sikanderkhel, S., Gui, J., Adeniyi, A. R., O'Dell, K., Erickson, M., et al. (2020). Thyroid and Cardiovascular Disease: A Focused Review on the Impact of Hyperthyroidism in Heart Failure. *Cardiol. Res.* 11, 68–75. doi: 10.14740/ cr1034
- Khochtali, I., Hamza, N., Harzallah, O., Hamdi, S., Saad, J., Golli, M., et al. (2011). Reversible dilated cardiomyopathy caused by hypothyroidism. *Int. Arch. Med.* 4:20. doi: 10.1186/1755-7682-4-20
- Kim, E. J., Lyass, A., Wang, N., Massaro, J. M., Fox, C. S., Benjamin, E. J., et al. (2014). Relation of hypothyroidism and incident atrial fibrillation (from the Framingham Heart Study). *Am. Heart J.* 167, 123–126. doi: 10.1016/j.ahj.2013. 10.012
- Kinugawa, K., Minobe, W. A., Wood, W. M., Ridgway, E. C., Baxter, J. D., Ribeiro, R. C., et al. (2001). Signaling pathways responsible for fetal gene induction in the failing human heart: evidence for altered thyroid hormone receptor gene expression. *Circulation* 103, 1089–1094. doi: 10.1161/01.cir.103.8. 1089
- Kiss, E., Jakab, G., Kranias, E. G., and Edes, I. (1994). Thyroid hormoneinduced alterations in phospholamban protein expression. Regulatory effects on sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca2+ transport and myocardial relaxation. *Circ. Res.* 75, 245–251. doi: 10.1161/01.res.75.2.245
- Klein, I., and Danzi, S. (2007). Thyroid disease and the heart. *Circulation* 116, 1725–1735. doi: 10.1161/circulationaha.106.678326
- Klein, I., and Danzi, S. (2016). Thyroid Disease and the Heart. *Curr. Probl. Cardiol.* 41, 65–92. doi: 10.1016/j.cpcardiol.2015.04.002
- Klein, I., and Ojamaa, K. (2001). Thyroid hormone and the cardiovascular system. N. Engl. J. Med. 344, 501–509. doi: 10.1056/nejm2001021534 40707
- Klemperer, J. D., Klein, I. L., Ojamaa, K., Helm, R. E., Gomez, M., Isom, O. W., et al. (1996). Triiodothyronine therapy lowers the incidence of atrial fibrillation after cardiac operations. *Ann. Thorac. Surg.* 61, 1323–1327. doi: 10.1016/0003-4975(96)00102-6

- Kranias, E. G., and Hajjar, R. J. (2012). Modulation of cardiac contractility by the phospholamban/SERCA2a regulatome. *Circ. Res.* 110, 1646–1660. doi: 10.1161/ circresaha.111.259754
- Kuzman, J. A., Gerdes, A. M., Kobayashi, S., and Liang, Q. (2005). Thyroid hormone activates Akt and prevents serum starvation-induced cell death in neonatal rat cardiomyocytes. *J. Mol. Cell Cardiol.* 39, 841–844. doi: 10.1016/j. yjmcc.2005.07.019
- Langén, V. L., Niiranen, T. J., Puukka, P., Lehtonen, A. O., Hernesniemi, J. A., Sundvall, J., et al. (2018). Thyroid-stimulating hormone and risk of sudden cardiac death, total mortality and cardiovascular morbidity. *Clin. Endocrinol.* 88, 105–113. doi: 10.1111/cen.13472
- Lazar, M. A., and Chin, W. W. (1990). Nuclear thyroid hormone receptors. J. Clin. Invest. 86, 1777–1782. doi: 10.1172/jci114906
- Lisco, G., De Tullio, A., Iacoviello, M., and Triggiani, V. (2020). Congestive Heart Failure and Thyroid Dysfunction: The Role of the Low T3 Syndrome and Therapeutic Aspects. *Endocr. Metab. Immune Disord. Drug Targets* 20, 646–653. doi: 10.2174/1871530319666191119112950
- Liu, Y., Redetzke, R. A., Said, S., Pottala, J. V., de Escobar, G. M., and Gerdes, A. M. (2008). Serum thyroid hormone levels may not accurately reflect thyroid tissue levels and cardiac function in mild hypothyroidism. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol.* 294, H2137–H2143. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.01379.2007
- Lopshire, J. C., and Zipes, D. P. (2006). Sudden cardiac death: better understanding of risks, mechanisms, and treatment. *Circulation* 114, 1134–1136. doi: 10.1161/ circulationaha.106.647933
- Madathil, A., Hollingsworth, K. G., Blamire, A. M., Razvi, S., Newton, J. L., Taylor, R., et al. (2015). Levothyroxine improves abnormal cardiac bioenergetics in subclinical hypothyroidism: a cardiac magnetic resonance spectroscopic study. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 100, E607–E610. doi: 10.1210/jc.2014-2942
- Marín-García, J. (2010). Thyroid hormone and myocardial mitochondrial biogenesis. Vascul. Pharmacol. 52, 120–130. doi: 10.1016/j.vph.2009.10.008
- Marrakchi, S., Kanoun, F., Idriss, S., Kammoun, I., and Kachboura, S. (2015). Arrhythmia and thyroid dysfunction. *Herz* 40(Suppl. 2), 101–109. doi: 10.1007/ s00059-014-4123-0
- Martino, E., Bartalena, L., Bogazzi, F., and Braverman, L. E. (2001). The effects of amiodarone on the thyroid. *Endocr. Rev.* 22, 240–254. doi: 10.1210/edrv.22.2. 0427
- Martino, E., Safran, M., Aghini-Lombardi, F., Rajatanavin, R., Lenziardi, M., Fay, M., et al. (1984). Environmental iodine intake and thyroid dysfunction during chronic amiodarone therapy. *Ann. Intern. Med.* 101, 28–34. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-101-1-28
- Mendel, C. M., Frost, P. H., Kunitake, S. T., and Cavalieri, R. R. (1987). Mechanism of the heparin-induced increase in the concentration of free thyroxine in plasma. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 65, 1259–1264. doi: 10.1210/jcem-65-6-1259
- Mitchell, J. E., Hellkamp, A. S., Mark, D. B., Anderson, J., Johnson, G. W., Poole, J. E., et al. (2013). Thyroid function in heart failure and impact on mortality. *JACC Heart Fail* 1, 48–55. doi: 10.1016/j.jchf.2012.10.004
- Mohr-Kahaly, S., Kahaly, G., and Meyer, J. (1996). [Cardiovascular effects of thyroid hormones]. Z. Kardiol. 85(Suppl. 6), 219–231.
- Monzani, F., Di Bello, V., Caraccio, N., Bertini, A., Giorgi, D., Giusti, C., et al. (2001). Effect of levothyroxine on cardiac function and structure in subclinical hypothyroidism: a double blind, placebo-controlled study. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 86, 1110–1115. doi: 10.1210/jcem.86.3.7291
- Mourouzis, I., Forini, F., Pantos, C., and Iervasi, G. (2011). Thyroid hormone and cardiac disease: from basic concepts to clinical application. *J. Thyroid Res.* 2011:958626. doi: 10.4061/2011/958626
- Muthukumar, S., Sadacharan, D., Ravikumar, K., Mohanapriya, G., Hussain, Z., and Suresh, R. V. (2016). A prospective study on cardiovascular dysfunction in patients with hyperthyroidism and its reversal after surgical cure. *World J. Surg.* 40, 622–628.
- Nadal-Ginard, B., and Mahdavi, V. (1989). Molecular basis of cardiac performance. Plasticity of the myocardium generated through protein isoform switches. *J. Clin. Invest.* 84, 1693–1700. doi: 10.1172/jci114351
- Nademanee, K., Taylor, R., Bailey, W. E., Rieders, D. E., and Kosar, E. M. (2000). Treating electrical storm : sympathetic blockade versus advanced cardiac life support-guided therapy. *Circulation* 102, 742–747. doi: 10.1161/01.cir.102.7.742
- Nagayo, T. (2018). Low T3 syndrome, Low T4 syndrome (euthyroido sick syndrome). Nihon Rinsho Jap. J. Clin. Med. 2018(Suppl. 1), 504–507.

- Nakada, Y., Canseco, D. C., Thet, S., Abdisalaam, S., Asaithamby, A., Santos, C. X., et al. (2017). Hypoxia induces heart regeneration in adult mice. *Nature* 541, 222–227. doi: 10.1038/nature20173
- Nakazawa, H., Lythall, D. A., Noh, J., Ishikawa, N., Sugino, K., Ito, K., et al. (2000). Is there a place for the late cardioversion of atrial fibrillation? A long-term follow-up study of patients with post-thyrotoxic atrial fibrillation. *Eur. Heart J.* 21, 327–333. doi: 10.1053/euhj.1999.1956
- Neves, J. S., Leitão, L., Baeta Baptista, R., Bigotte Vieira, M., Magriço, R., Viegas Dias, C., et al. (2019). Lower free triiodothyronine levels within the reference range are associated with higher cardiovascular mortality: An analysis of the NHANES. *Int. J. Cardiol.* 285, 115–120.
- Neves, J. S., Vale, C., von Hafe, M., Borges-Canha, M., Leite, A. R., Almeida-Coelho, J., et al. (2020). Thyroid hormones and modulation of diastolic function: a promising target for heart failure with preserved ejection fraction. *Ther. Adv. Endocrinol. Metab.* 11:2042018820958331. doi: 10.1177/2042018820958331
- Nordyke, R. A., Gilbert, F. I. Jr., and Harada, A. S. (1988). Graves' disease. Influence of age on clinical findings. Arch. Intern. Med. 148, 626–631. doi: 10.1001/ archinte.148.3.626
- Ojamaa, K., Klemperer, J. D., and Klein, I. (1996). Acute effects of thyroid hormone on vascular smooth muscle. *Thyroid* 6, 505–512. doi: 10.1089/thy.1996.6.505
- Ojamaa, K., Sabet, A., Kenessey, A., Shenoy, R., and Klein, I. (1999). Regulation of rat cardiac Kv1.5 gene expression by thyroid hormone is rapid and chamber specific. *Endocrinology* 140, 3170–3176. doi: 10.1210/endo.140.7.6776
- Omidi, N., Khorgami, M., Tajrishi, F. Z., Seyedhoseinpour, A., and Pasbakhsh, P. (2020). The Role of Thyroid Diseases and their Medications in Cardiovascular Disorders: A Review of the Literature. *Curr. Cardiol. Rev.* 16, 103–116. doi: 10.2174/1573403x15666191008111238
- Ortiz, V. D., Türck, P., Teixeira, R., Lima-Seolin, B. G., Lacerda, D., Fraga, S. F., et al. (2019). Carvedilol and thyroid hormones co-administration mitigates oxidative stress and improves cardiac function after acute myocardial infarction. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 854, 159–166.
- Osman, F., Gammage, M. D., Sheppard, M. C., and Franklyn, J. A. (2002). Clinical review 142: cardiac dysrhythmias and thyroid dysfunction: the hidden menace? *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 87, 963–967. doi: 10.1210/jcem.87.3. 8217
- Osuna, P. M., Udovcic, M., and Sharma, M. D. (2017). Hyperthyroidism and the Heart. Methodist Debakey Cardiovasc. J. 13, 60–63. doi: 10.14797/mdcj-13-2-60
- Pantos, C., Mourouzis, I., Markakis, K., Dimopoulos, A., Xinaris, C., Kokkinos, A. D., et al. (2007). Thyroid hormone attenuates cardiac remodeling and improves hemodynamics early after acute myocardial infarction in rats. *Eur. J. Cardiothorac. Surg.* 32, 333–339. doi: 10.1016/j.ejcts.2007.05.004
- Parle, J. V., Franklyn, J. A., Cross, K. W., Jones, S. C., and Sheppard, M. C. (1991). Prevalence and follow-up of abnormal thyrotrophin (TSH) concentrations in the elderly in the United Kingdom. *Clin. Endocrinol.* 34, 77–83. doi: 10.1111/j. 1365-2265.1991.tb01739.x
- Parle, J. V., Maisonneuve, P., Sheppard, M. C., Boyle, P., and Franklyn, J. A. (2001). Prediction of all-cause and cardiovascular mortality in elderly people from one low serum thyrotropin result: a 10-year cohort study. *Lancet* 358, 861–865. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(01)06067-6
- Patil, V. C., Patil, H. V., Agrawal, V., and Patil, S. (2011). Cardiac tamponade in a patient with primary hypothyroidism. *Ind. J. Endocr. Metab.* 15, S144–S146. doi: 10.4103/2230-8210.83358
- Pearce, E. N. (2012). Update in lipid alterations in subclinical hypothyroidism. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 97, 326–333. doi: 10.1210/jc.2011-2532
- Pearce, S. H., Brabant, G., Duntas, L. H., Monzani, F., Peeters, R. P., Razvi, S., et al. (2013). 2013 ETA Guideline: Management of Subclinical Hypothyroidism. *Eur. Thyroid J.* 2, 215–228. doi: 10.1159/000356507
- Pingitore, A., Galli, E., Barison, A., Iervasi, A., Scarlattini, M., Nucci, D., et al. (2008). Acute effects of triiodothyronine (T3) replacement therapy in patients with chronic heart failure and low-T3 syndrome: a randomized, placebocontrolled study. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 93, 1351–1358. doi: 10.1210/jc. 2007-2210
- Pingitore, A., Landi, P., Taddei, M. C., Ripoli, A., L'Abbate, A., and Iervasi, G. (2005). Triiodothyronine levels for risk stratification of patients with chronic heart failure. *Am. J. Med.* 118, 132–136. doi: 10.1016/j.amjmed.2004.07.052
- Pingitore, A., Mastorci, F., Piaggi, P., Aquaro, G. D., Molinaro, S., Ravani, M., et al. (2019). Usefulness of Triiodothyronine Replacement Therapy in Patients With ST Elevation Myocardial Infarction and Borderline/Reduced Triiodothyronine

Levels (from the THIRST Study). Am. J. Cardiol. 123, 905–912. doi: 10.1016/j. amjcard.2018.12.020

- Polikar, R., Burger, A. G., Scherrer, U., and Nicod, P. (1993). The thyroid and the heart. *Circulation* 87, 1435–1441. doi: 10.1161/01.cir.87.5.1435
- Rajagopalan, V., Zhao, M., Reddy, S., Fajardo, G., Wang, X., Dewey, S., et al. (2013). Altered ubiquitin-proteasome signaling in right ventricular hypertrophy and failure. Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol. 305, H551–H562. doi: 10.1152/ ajpheart.00771.2012
- Rajagopalan, V., Zucker, I. H., Jones, J. A., Carlson, M., and Ma, Y. J. (2008). Cardiac ErbB-1/ErbB-2 mutant expression in young adult mice leads to cardiac dysfunction. Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol. 295, H543–H554. doi: 10.1152/ ajpheart.91436.2007
- Razvi, S., Jabbar, A., Pingitore, A., Danzi, S., Biondi, B., Klein, I., et al. (2018). Thyroid Hormones and Cardiovascular Function and Diseases. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 71, 1781–1796. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2018.02.045
- Razvi, S., Shakoor, A., Vanderpump, M., Weaver, J. U., and Pearce, S. H. (2008). The influence of age on the relationship between subclinical hypothyroidism and ischemic heart disease: a metaanalysis. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 93, 2998–3007. doi: 10.1210/jc.2008-0167
- Ripoli, A., Pingitore, A., Favilli, B., Bottoni, A., Turchi, S., Osman, N. F., et al. (2005). Does subclinical hypothyroidism affect cardiac pump performance? Evidence from a magnetic resonance imaging study. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 45, 439–445. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2004.10.044
- Rodondi, N., Bauer, D. C., Cappola, A. R., Cornuz, J., Robbins, J., Fried, L. P., et al. (2008). Subclinical thyroid dysfunction, cardiac function, and the risk of heart failure. The Cardiovascular Health study. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 52, 1152–1159. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2008.07.009
- Rodondi, N., den Elzen, W. P., Bauer, D. C., Cappola, A. R., Razvi, S., Walsh, J. P., et al. (2010). Subclinical hypothyroidism and the risk of coronary heart disease and mortality. *JAMA* 304, 1365–1374. doi: 10.1001/jama.2010.1361
- Ruzieh, M., Moroi, M. K., Aboujamous, N. M., Ghahramani, M., Naccarelli, G. V., Mandrola, J., et al. (2019). Meta-Analysis Comparing the Relative Risk of Adverse Events for Amiodarone Versus Placebo. Am. J. Cardiol. 124, 1889– 1893. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2019.09.008
- Saad, N. S., Repas, S. J., Floyd, K., Janssen, P. M. L., and Elnakish, M. T. (2017). Recovery following Thyroxine Treatment Withdrawal, but Not Propylthiouracil, Averts In Vivo and Ex Vivo Thyroxine-Provoked Cardiac Complications in Adult FVB/N Mice. *BioMed Res. Int.* 2017:6071031. doi: 10. 1155/2017/6071031
- Sawin, C. T. (1995). Subclinical hypothyroidism in older persons. Clin. Geriatr. Med. 11, 231–238.
- Schmidt-Ott, U. M., and Ascheim, D. D. (2006). Thyroid hormone and heart failure. *Curr. Heart Fail Rep.* 3, 114–119. doi: 10.1007/s11897-006-0010-1
- Schwimmer, D., Vogel, M., and Mc, G. T. (1947). Clinical manifestations in forty cases of myxedema. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 7:468.
- Selmer, C., Olesen, J. B., Hansen, M. L., Kappelgaard, L. M. V., Madsen, J. C., Hansen, P. R., et al. (2014). Subclinical and overt thyroid dysfunction and risk of all-cause mortality and cardiovascular events: a large population study. *J. Clin. Endocr. Metabol.* 99, 2372–2382. doi: 10.1210/jc.2013-4184
- Shenfield, G. M. (1981). Influence of Thyroid Dysfunction on Drug Pharmacokinetics. Clin. Pharmacokinet. 6, 275–297. doi: 10.2165/00003088-198106040-00003
- Singh, B. N. (2008). Amiodarone as paradigm for developing new drugs for atrial fibrillation. J. Cardiovasc. Pharmacol. 52, 300–305. doi: 10.1097/FJC. 0b013e31818914b6
- Siu, C. W., Yeung, C. Y., Lau, C. P., Kung, A. W., and Tse, H. F. (2007). Incidence, clinical characteristics and outcome of congestive heart failure as the initial presentation in patients with primary hyperthyroidism. *Heart* 93, 483–487. doi: 10.1136/hrt.2006.100628
- Smith, T. J., and Hegedüs, L. (2016). Graves' Disease. N. Engl. J. Med. 375, 1552–1565. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra1510030
- Surks, M. I., Ortiz, E., Daniels, G. H., Sawin, C. T., Col, N. F., Cobin, R. H., et al. (2004). Subclinical thyroid disease: scientific review and guidelines for diagnosis and management. *JAMA* 291, 228–238. doi: 10.1001/jama.291.2.228
- Takahashi, K., and Yamanaka, S. (2006). Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. *Cell* 126, 663–676. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2006.07.024

- Tan, L., Bogush, N., Naib, H., Perry, J., Calvert, J. W., Martin, D. I. K., et al. (2019). Redox activation of JNK2α2 mediates thyroid hormone-stimulated proliferation of neonatal murine cardiomyocytes. *Sci. Rep.* 9:17731. doi: 10. 1038/s41598-019-53705-1
- Taylor, P. N., Iqbal, A., Minassian, C., Sayers, A., Draman, M. S., Greenwood, R., et al. (2014). Falling threshold for treatment of borderline elevated thyrotropin levels-balancing benefits and risks: evidence from a large community-based study. JAMA Intern. Med. 174, 32–39. doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2013.11312
- Toft, A. D., and Boon, N. A. (2000). Thyroid disease and the heart. *Heart* 84, 455–460. doi: 10.1136/heart.84.4.455
- Trohman, R. G., Sharma, P. S., McAninch, E. A., and Bianco, A. C. (2019). Amiodarone and thyroid physiology, pathophysiology, diagnosis and management. *Trends Cardiovasc. Med.* 29, 285–295. doi: 10.1016/j.tcm.2018.09. 005
- Tsang, W., and Houlden, R. L. (2009). Amiodarone-induced thyrotoxicosis: a review. Can. J. Cardiol. 25, 421–424. doi: 10.1016/s0828-282x(09)70512-4
- Vadiveloo, T., Donnan, P. T., Cochrane, L., and Leese, G. P. (2011). The Thyroid Epidemiology, Audit, and Research Study (TEARS): morbidity in patients with endogenous subclinical hyperthyroidism. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 96, 1344–1351. doi: 10.1210/jc.2010-2693
- Vale, C., Neves, J. S., von Hafe, M., Borges-Canha, M., and Leite-Moreira, A. (2019). The Role of Thyroid Hormones in Heart Failure. *Cardiovasc. Drugs Ther.* 33, 179–188. doi: 10.1007/s10557-019-06870-4
- von Hafe, M., Neves, J. S., Vale, C., Borges-Canha, M., and Leite-Moreira, A. (2019). The impact of thyroid hormone dysfunction on ischemic heart disease. *Endocr. Connect.* 8, R76–R90. doi: 10.1530/ec-19-0096
- von Olshausen, K., Bischoff, S., Kahaly, G., Mohr-Kahaly, S., Erbel, R., Beyer, J., et al. (1989). Cardiac arrhythmias and heart rate in hyperthyroidism. *Am. J. Cardiol.* 63, 930–933. doi: 10.1016/0002-9149(89)90142-2
- Wang, B., Liu, S., Li, L., Yao, Q., Song, R., Shao, X., et al. (2017). Non-thyroidal illness syndrome in patients with cardiovascular diseases: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int. J. Cardiol.* 226, 1–10.
- Wasielica-Poslednik, J., Pfeiffer, N., Reinke, J., and Pitz, S. (2011). Confocal laser-scanning microscopy allows differentiation between Fabry disease and amiodarone-induced keratopathy. *Graefes Arch. Clin. Exp. Ophthalmol.* 249, 1689–1696. doi: 10.1007/s00417-011-1726-5
- Weisfeldt, M. L., Everson-Stewart, S., Sitlani, C., Rea, T., Aufderheide, T. P., Atkins, D. L., et al. (2011). Ventricular tachyarrhythmias after cardiac arrest in public versus at home. N. Engl. J. Med. 364, 313–321. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1010663
- Wirth, E. K., and Meyer, F. (2017). Neuronal effects of thyroid hormone metabolites. *Mol. Cell Endocrinol*. 458, 136–142. doi: 10.1016/j.mce.2017.01.007
- Zhang, K., Tang, Y. D., Zhang, Y., Ojamaa, K., Li, Y., Saini, A. S., et al. (2018). Comparison of Therapeutic Triiodothyronine Versus Metoprolol in the Treatment of Myocardial Infarction in Rats. *Thyroid* 28, 799–810. doi: 10.1089/thy.2017.0544
- Zhang, Y., Dedkov, E. I., Lee, B. III, Li, Y., Pun, K., and Gerdes, A. M. (2014). Thyroid hormone replacement therapy attenuates atrial remodeling and reduces atrial fibrillation inducibility in a rat myocardial infarction-heart failure model. J. Card. Fail 20, 1012–1019. doi: 10.1016/j.cardfail.2014.10.003

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Yamakawa, Kato, Noh, Yuasa, Kawamura, Fukuda and Aizawa. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Ø

Avenue du Tribunal-Fédéral 34 1005 Lausanne | Switzerland

Visit us: www.frontiersin.org

Contact us: frontiersin.org/about/contact

Frontiers

FOLLOW US @frontiersin



IMPACT METRICS Advanced article metrics track visibility across digital media EXTENSIVE PROMOTION Marketing and promotion of impactful research

Our network